PERSPECTIVES ON TERRORISM

Volume XIII, Issue 1 February 2019

A JOURNAL OF THE



Table of Contents

Welcome from the Editors1
Articles
The Islamic State After the Caliphate
Ideological Infighting in the Islamic State12 by Cole Bunzel
The Islamic State's Way of War in Iraq and Syria: From its Origins to the Post Caliphate Era22 by Ahmed H. Hashim
Who are the ISIS People?
From Directorate of Intelligence to Directorate of Everything: The Islamic State's Emergent Amni-Media Nexus
by Asaad Almohammad and Charlie Winter
Making Sense of Jihadi Stratcom: The Case of the Islamic State53 by Charlie Winter
Not Gonna Be Able To Do It: al-Qaeda in Tunisia's Inability to Take Advantage of the Islamic State's Setbacks
The Failing Islamic State Within the Failed State of Yemen
The Islamic State's Provinces on the Periphery: Juxtaposing the Pledges from Boko Haram in Nigeria and Abu Sayyaf and Maute Group in the Philippines
Research Notes
Understanding Muslims' Support for Suicide Bombing in West Africa: A Replication Study105 by C. Christine Fair and Samta Savla
Resources
Counterterrorism Bookshelf: 14 Books on Terrorism & Counter-Terrorism-Related Subjects123 by Joshua Sinai
Henry Prunckun and Troy Whitford, Terrorism and Counterterrorism: A Comprehensive Introduction to Actors and Actions
Robin Maria Valeri and Kevin Borgeson (Eds.), Terrorism in America
Bibliography: Humanitarian Intervention, Responsibility to Protect, Peacekeeping134

Compiled and selected by Judith Tinnes
Sibliography: Genocide (since 1980) Part 2163 Compiled and selected by Judith Tinnes
75 Academic Theses (Ph.D. and MA) on Countering Violence Extremism (CVE), Preventing Violen extremism (PVE) and Terrorism Prevention
Secent Online Resources for the Analysis of Terrorism and Related Subjects229 Compiled and selected by Berto Jongman
announcements
Conference Monitor/Calendar of Events26
announcement: Award for Best Ph.D. Thesis Submitted and Defended in 201827
Vords of Appreciation272
bout Perspectives on Terrorism273

Welcome from the Editors

Dear Reader,

We are pleased to announce the release of Volume XIII, Issue 1 (February 2019) of *Perspectives on Terrorism*, available now at: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/PoT.

Our free and independent online journal is a publication of the Terrorism Research Initiative (TRI) and the Institute of Security and Global Affairs (ISGA) of Leiden University's Campus The Hague. Now in its thirteenth year, *Perspectives on Terrorism* has over 8,200 regular e-mail subscribers and many more occasional readers and website visitors worldwide. The Articles of its six annual issues are fully peer reviewed by external referees while its Research and Policy Notes, Special Correspondence and other content are subject to internal editorial quality control.

The articles of this Special Issue are the products of a conference held in Oslo 18-19 October 2018, entitled "Jihadism after the Caliphate". The conference was organized by the Norwegian Defence Research Establishment (FFI), in cooperation with the Norwegian Ministry of Foreign Affairs. It brought together leading specialists on the Islamic State and al-Qaida, along with senior policymakers and government analysts from Norway and other countries.

This Special Issue on the evolution and future trajectory of the Islamic State has been prepared by Guest Editor Truls H. Tønnessen and his colleagues at FFI, in collaboration with Co-Editors James J.F Forest and Alex P. Schmid. In his introduction to the issue, he argues that the primary strength of the Islamic State is its ability and willingness to exploit conflicts that exist independently of the group, and that specific historical circumstances enabled the dramatic rise of the Islamic State. This is followed by Cole Bunzel's analysis of ideological infighting within the Islamic State. Ahmed Hashim explains how one of the group's key traditional strengths has been its ability to relocate to other areas that offered opportunities for territorial control, while Vera Mironova examines critical human resources dimensions of the group. Assad Almohammad and Charlie Winter offer unique insights about Islamic State's Director of General Security, focusing in particular on his role in media production, which is then followed by Charlie Winter's analysis of two key Islamic State doctrinal texts on media jihad.

The following articles examine the Islamic State's challenges in specific countries, beginning with Aaron Zelin's analysis of the group's setbacks in Tunisia. Then Elisabeth Kendall describes how and why the Islamic State is struggling for traction in Yemen, and this section concludes with Jacob Zenn's comparative analysis of Islamic State affiliate groups in Nigeria and the Philippines.

This issue of *Perspectives on Terrorism* also features a Research Note by Christine Fair and Samta Salva examining Muslims' support for suicide bombings in West Africa.

In addition, the Resources section includes our regular contributions from Joshua Sinai (book reviews), Judith Tinnes (bibliographies), Ryan Scrivens (theses), Berto Jongman (web resources), and Reinier Bergema (conference calendar). We also provide our annual Words of Appreciation to all the peer reviewers, Editorial Board members and others who volunteer their time and expertise to make this open-source journal respected and valuable to the scholarly community.

ISSN 2334-3745 1 February 2019

Articles

The Islamic State after the Caliphate

by Truls Hallberg Tønnessen

Abstract

Following the Islamic State loss of most of its territorial control and the fall of its self-declared Caliphate, many have warned that it is too early to declare that the group is defeated. The group has previously been able to come spectacularly back from defeat. However, this article will argue that while the Islamic State is roughly following the same strategy as last time when it was also weakened, it was specific historical circumstances that then enabled the dramatic rise of the Islamic State. The article will also argue that in order to be successful, the group is dependent on conflicts and root causes that exist independently of the group, but which it can exploit.

Keywords: Islamic State, Iraq, Syria, jihadism

Introduction

The aim of this Special Issue of *Perspectives on Terrorism* is to discuss various aspects and potential developments for the Islamic State in particular and the jihadi movement in general following the fall of the group's self-declared Caliphate. The aim of this introductory article is to use the group's history to highlight some factors that have been important for the evolution of IS and that might be important for its future trajectory.

Since the group's dramatic takeover of Mosul in mid-2014 and the subsequent declaration of the Islamic State and the Caliphate there has been an avalanche of publications on various aspects of the Islamic State.[1] Some of this literature is focused on factors that have been more or less constant throughout the existence of the group, including its ideology and overall strategy.[2]

The group currently known as the Islamic State (IS) has a long history and its origin is often traced back to the training camp established by Abu Musab al-Zarqawi in Herat, Afghanistan in 1999.[3] Throughout its history, the group has gone through an almost cyclic process of rising and falling. The group's first rise culminated when al-Qaida in Iraq (AQI), the group founded by al-Zarqawi, together with some lesser-known Sunni Arab insurgent groups established the so-called Islamic State of Iraq in October 2006. The combination of a Sunni Arab uprising against the group (often referred to as *al-sawha* or "The awakening") and improved U.S counterinsurgency strategies led to a gradual weakening of the group, and by 2008 both the U.S and Iraqi governments declared that the group was close to defeat.[4] It was, however, far too early to conclude that the group was defeated for good.[5] Not only did the Islamic State of Iraq make a comeback, it was able to establish what has been referred to as the most powerful jihadist group in modern history.[6]

The latest comeback started a long time before 2014. After Abu Bakr al-Baghdadi became the leader of the Islamic State of Iraq (ISI) in May 2010, the group gradually regained strength. The comeback was to a large extent facilitated by the U.S withdrawal from Iraq in 2011 and by the increasingly violent conflict in Syria from 2011 and onwards. This period of rising prominence culminated with the group declaring the establishment of the Islamic State and the Caliphate in June 2014. The group's territorial expansion, its brutal violence against the Yazidis and other ethnic and religious groups in the region, and its threats against the West, all combined to trigger an multinational offensive against the group. As a result of this offensive the group has lost most of its territorial control, and Iraqi, Russian and U.S governments have declared that the group has been defeated.[7] However, many analysts have also cautioned that it is too early to declare victory and indeed there are already signs of a resurgent Islamic State, especially in Iraq.[8]

If we are to understand the cyclic process of rising and falling —in other words, to explain the dynamics of *change*—it is necessary to focus on those factors that have evolved over time. Although the group's ideology is key to understanding its behavior, it does not explain changes in its behavior and why it succeeds during some periods of time and fails during others.

The three factors emphasized in this introductory article are: 1) leadership and recruitment dynamics, 2) the size and strength of the group, and 3) the opportunity structure within the operating environment. The first two factors are internal to the group, while the third factor (the opportunity structure) refers to all the external factors that are outside the control of the group —such as the overall security and political situation that the group has to operate in—but which the group can to some extent influence and exploit through its armed activities. Throughout the group's existence, these parameters have changed considerably, and as this article aims to illustrate, these variations have had important ramifications both for the group's behavior and its potential for success. They can also suggest potential future developments for the group.

The article will argue that in the past changes in the opportunity structure the group has operated in have been most consequential for the group's potential for success. It will illustrate that although the group never went away and has roughly been following the same overall strategy and ideology, the *impact* of this strategy has varied considerably due to changes in the opportunity structure. Furthermore, the article will argue that the primary strength of the Islamic State is its ability and willingness to exploit conflicts that exist independently of the group, and that specific historical circumstances enabled the dramatic rise of the Islamic State.

Leadership and Recruitment Dynamics

Leaders of terrorist organizations involved in violent conflict are frequently killed or arrested, and the Islamic State is by no means an exception. Throughout the history of the Islamic State, many of the top leaders have been killed and replaced with a new generation. Throughout its 20-year long history the group only had three or four paramount leaders (Abu Musab al-Zarqawi until 2006, Abu Ayyub al-Masri and Abu Umar al-Baghdadi 2006-2010, and Abu Bakr al-Baghdadi from 2010), but among the leaders in the layer immediately below the top and in the surroundings of the paramount leader there have been frequent changes. For instance, most of those leaders who rose to the top together with Abu Bakr al-Baghdadi in 2010 have been killed during the latest offensive, and as far as we know, there are few leaders within the group today who represent continuity.[9]

At the same time, it is likely that a core of central but largely unknown leaders still remain within the organization, and might be in a position to replace the killed top leaders. The articles by Vera Mironova and by Asaad Almohammad and Charlie Winter in this Special Issue both demonstrate how members of the Islamic State's security-intelligence apparatus (*amni*) can be vital for the survival of the group.[10] As Mironova points out, *amni* was a secret organization within IS and its members often used masks in public, making it more difficult to identify them. Thus, if al-Baghdadi is killed his replacement might be someone whom few observers have heard about but who climbed the ranks within the group, not unlike when al-Baghdadi became the new leader of the group in 2010. Very few outsiders knew much about this individual until around 2014, when he was declared a Caliph.

In contrast to (for instance) Jabhat al-Nusra, which operated more as a small elite organization, the Islamic State was joined by a very large number of recruits. The estimates on the number of fighters in the ranks of Islamic State after 2014 varies widely, from 9,000 up to 200,000. The high estimate of 200,000 members also includes personnel who joined its police and security-intelligence apparatus.[11] Although it is difficult to get a correct estimate of how many joined the Islamic State, all estimates agree that the number was in the thousands.

As Mironova illustrates in her article in this Special Issue, the recruits to the Islamic State joined for different reasons. Some joined the group for ideological reasons, others for personal gains. [12] The article by Cole

Bunzel further demonstrates that there have been ideological tensions and disagreements within the group. [13] This underscores the fact that the Islamic State was far from a monolithic organization, and that many joined (or at least cooperated with) the group simply because the Islamic State was the dominating actor in large chunks of territory in Syria and Iraq, and because joining the group could potentially provide recruits with access to money, power and protection. Now that the group has lost most of its territorial control and clearly has been on the losing side, it is reasonable to assume that those who still remain as members of the group are a combination of a hardcore of the most ideologically motivated members, along with those who have no other option than to remain. This also indicates that the group might splinter into different factions.

The composition of the recruits has also changed over time. For instance, there have been huge variations in the number and the influence of foreign fighters within the group. AQI, the predecessor of the Islamic State, was founded mainly by Jordanian and Syrians, but over time the leadership became more and more dominated by Iraqis, culminating in 2010 with the appointment of al-Baghdadi as the top leader of the group. Despite the influx of a large number of foreign fighters, and despite that most of the known Iraqis in the top echelon have been killed, there are few known examples of foreigners who have risen to the top ranks of the group. Two important exceptions are the Georgian Chechen Abu Umar al-Shishani, who was killed in 2016, and the Tajik Gulmurod Khalimov, who was killed in 2017. They both reportedly served as the group's Minister of War.[14] Another important exception is the group's current spokesperson Abu al-Hasan al-Muhajir.[15]

Why and how might the composition of the top leadership and the recruits be important for the potential future development of IS? The history of the group indicates the importance of a common background for establishing new units or networks, such as a common nationality or sharing a common experience or acquaintances from a particular recent conflict. For example, while several of the founders of AQI were veterans of the conflict in Afghanistan before 2001, the leaders of IS after 2010 were almost exclusively veterans of the conflict in Iraq, who had never been to Afghanistan nor met the top leadership of al-Qaida. On the other hand, the Syria-based al-Qaida affiliate Jabhat al-Nusra was mainly established by the Shami (Levantine) members of ISI.[16] Although there are several other reasons, the lack of deep historical ties between the leadership of the Islamic State and al-Qaida helps explain the conflict between the two groups.

When Jabhat al-Nusra announced in July 2016 that it split from al-Qaida and rebranded itself as Jabhat Fateh al-Sham, a small group of mainly Jordanian Afghan-veterans with historical ties to the al-Qaida leadership broke away and established a group that pledged allegiance to al-Qaida's leader Ayman al-Zawahiri. In March 2018, this break-away faction announced that it took the name *Hurras al-Din* (Guardians of Religion).[17] Interestingly, this pro-al-Qaida faction included close associates of Abu Musab al-Zarqawi, such as the Jordanian Khalid al-'Aruri, Zarqawi's childhood friend, brother-in-law and one of the original founders of the Herat camp in Afghanistan in 1999.[18] What the leaders of this group—with veterans of both al-Qaida's and Zarqawi's networks—had in common was that they roughly belonged to the same generation, had been to Afghanistan and had a long history of interaction with central members of the al-Qaida network. This group (which included several close associates of Zarqawi, often referred to as the Godfather of the Islamic State) was described by IS as "apostates" (*murtaddin*) and mockingly referred to as *Hurras al-Shirk* (Guardians of Polytheism).[19]

The networks and connections established during the recent conflict in Iraq and Syria will most likely also affect the international terrorist threat against Europe. As Petter Nesser has demonstrated, many of the terrorist cells in Europe trace their origins back to networks established in Afghanistan during the 1980s and 1990s. [20] Given the historically high number of foreign fighters who have fought in Iraq and Syria, it is likely that some of the connections made and experiences gained during the conflict will provide the basis for future terrorist groups and networks.

There are also indications that the nationalities of the top leaders have had implications on their target selection and agenda. There was, for instance, an increase in threats and plots against Sweden following the promotion of the Swedish-Moroccan Mohamed Moumou to the top ranks of the ISI in the late 2000s.[21] And one of the reasons why there have been so many plots and attacks by IS in France is that the French foreign

fighters within IS had important leadership positions in the group's external operations branch (*al-amn al-kharji*).[22]

Therefore it is relevant to note the influence of fighters from former Soviet states in the Caucasus and Central Asia, both within the Islamic State and amongst the Syrian jihadist groups in general. Combined with Russia's central role in the fight against IS and its support for the Assad regime, this helps explain why Russia has become a more important target for the jihadis.[23]

Size and Strength

Throughout its existence the size and strength of the group has also changed dramatically—from being a handful of Arab-Afghan veterans arriving in Iraqi Kurdistan in 2002-2003, to establishing in 2014 something tantamount to a de-facto state, ruling a territory the size of the UK with an estimated population of 10 million people.

The group has also moved back and forth between operating as an underground terrorist group without territorial control and having various degrees of territorial control. As Ahmed Hashim illustrates in his contribution to this Special Issue, these developments had obvious implications for the group's modus operandi.[24] Throughout the group's history one of its key traditional strengths has been its mobility and ability to relocate to another area if the pressure was too much in one place.[25]

After the group succeeded in establishing territorial control of large cities like Mosul and Raqqa, it had to defend its territorial control from potential aggressors, and police the population internally in order to avoid a rebellion or uprising. [26] Since the Islamic State has lost almost all of its territory by early 2019, it has reverted back to its roots—operating mainly as a terrorist organization with only sporadic attempted to re-establish territorial control. It is, after all, easier to survive as an underground movement that does not need to defend a particular territory, but that instead can hide in areas that are difficult for the authorities to control.

The modus operandi of the group following its territorial losses is reminiscent of the tactics the group followed prior to 2014. It has, for instance, established sleeper cells in some of the territories that were liberated from the group.[27] The group has also succeeded in establishing a presence in areas that are difficult for the authorities to patrol, such as rural and remote areas, especially in the border regions between territories controlled by the Iraqi federal forces and the Kurdish peshmerga.[28] IS has also systematically removed potential competitors for influence in Sunni-Arab dominated areas of Iraq by eliminating local leaders and by intimidating the local populations.[29] This has fostered fear among the locals and deters them from informing on the group to the authorities, while also creating power vacuums that the Islamic State can exploit.[30]

The variations in the group's size and strength have also had an impact on the group's behavior vis-à-vis potential allies, and helps explain its cyclic process of rising and falling. When the group is weak, it tends to take a less prominent role and instead concentrates on reorganizing and preparing for a comeback. For instance, there were several indications of improved cooperation between ISI and other Sunni Arab actors in 2009-2010, when the group was in a weak position.[31]

There are also several examples in the history of the group when its presence initially was tolerated and even welcomed by other Sunni Arab actors as long as it did not seek to become the dominant actor, and as long as it contributed to the fight against a common enemy. But each time the group has gained strength, it has gradually attempted to establish a monopoly of violence by either co-opting or targeting competing actors and those who did not submit to the group's authority.[32] The group's attempts to establish a monopoly of violence has, however, also often backfired and generated Sunni Arab resistance against the group. For instance, in January 2014 Sunni Arab rebels cooperated in successfully expelling the Islamic State from Western Syria. Similarly, one of the main reasons why Sunni Arab insurgent and tribal leaders turned against AQI in 2006 was the establishment of the Islamic State of Iraq, as they claimed that the group attacked insurgents and other Sunni Arabs who did not acknowledge the authority of their "state".

As many of the Sunni Arab insurgents in Iraq laid down their arms following the Sahwa process in 2007-2008, the Islamic State—which had continued to maintain a presence in its core areas—was in a prime position to exploit the Sunni uprising against the Iraqi regime that escalated in 2012-2013.[33] Together with the influx of foreign fighters into the group, this was an important explanation for why it was able to establish itself as the dominant actor in large areas of Iraq and Syria.

The group also has a tendency to be expansive and tries to increase the size of the area it is controlling, as reflected in the official motto of "remain and expand" ('baqiyah wa tatammadad'). This approach increases the risks of provoking a military offensive against the group, which over time can jeopardize its territorial control.[34]

However, despite the fact that the Islamic State is roughly following the same strategy as the last time it was weakened, it was specific historical circumstances not created by the group that enabled its dramatic comeback, as the next section of this discussion will make clear.

Opportunity Structure

The third factor that has changed significantly throughout the group's history is the opportunity structure, defined as all the exogenous factors outside the control of the group and the environment that the group had to operate in. These factors created constraints and limitations, but also opportunities that a group like the Islamic State could exploit—for instance, by triggering a sectarian conflict between Shiites and Sunnis by means of one of the most comprehensive suicide attack campaigns in history.[35]

The history of the group clearly illustrates that even if it has been roughly following the same overall strategy, the *impact* of this strategy has varied considerably due to changes in the opportunity structure. It also demonstrates that the primary strength of the Islamic State is its ability and willingness to exploit conflicts that existed independently of the group.

There is not room here for an exhaustive history of the origins of the Islamic State, but there is a general agreement that one of the most important roots of the group lies in the U.S invasion of Iraq and the toppling of the Sunni-Arab dominated regime of Saddam Hussein.[36] The dissolution of the Baath party and the Iraqi army led to a historical transfer of power in Iraq from the Sunni-Arab minority to the Shia-majority and the Kurds. The dissolution of the Iraqi army was particularly important for the rise of the Islamic State, as illustrated by the prominent role played by former Iraqi officers within the group's top leadership, especially after 2010.[37] This process resulted in the disenfranchisement of a Sunni Arab ruling elite and a feeling among Sunni Arabs of being politically and militarily marginalized by consecutive regimes which were all dominated by the Shia-majority. Although AQI initially was just a small group within a much larger Sunni Arab insurgency, this grievance has been a consistent recruitment tool for the group. AQI could exploit the fear and rage many Sunni Arabs felt towards U.S. forces and Shia militias, especially amongst those Sunnis who had been victims of atrocities committed by U.S. forces or Shia militias.

Pollings of Iraqis illustrate how the Sunni community's support for violent activities tends to be correlated with how the Sunni community perceived its security situation, and provides an indication of how IS has thrived in periods of insecurity. The Sunni Arabs' support for violence increased as the security situation deteriorated, and conversely, when the security situation improved, the support for violence decreased. This is illustrated by the "Where Things Stand" (WTS) series, consisting of six polls conducted in Iraq from 2004 until 2009. [38] The WTS series documents a continuously deteriorating security situation from March 2004 until March 2007, as a rapidly growing proportion of Iraqis—especially among Sunni Arabs—described a difficult security situation. [39] However, from March 2007 to March 2008 the view among the Sunni Arabs turned dramatically more positive - a turnaround coinciding roughly with the fall of AQI. [40] The relationship between the fall of AQI and this feeling of an improved security situation may have been spurious, as there were additional fac-

tors accounting for the reduction of violence during 2007-2008, such as Muqtada al-Sadr's announcement of a cease-fire in August 2007 and his efforts to rein in the violence of the Sadr-led Jaysh al-Mahdi.[41] However, the polls do at least indicate that the potential to mobilize Iraqis to participate in violent activities correlates with the Sunni community's perception of their own security, and reflects how AQI thrived in a climate of fear and insecurity.

Despite the group's decline in the period 2008-2010, the group was responsible for several large and coordinated terrorist attacks throughout Iraq. Based on statistics from the U.S National Counterterrorism Center, Iraq led the world in the number of terrorist attacks and in the numbers of people killed from 2008 to 2010. [42] The Global Terrorism Index ranked Iraq as the country most impacted by terrorism in 2011.[43] Based on empirical data, such as the number of attacks ISI were responsible for and the production of propaganda, the beginning of ISI's "comeback" might specifically be pinpointed to 21 July 2012, when Abu Bakr al-Baghdadi announced the beginning of the so-called "Breaking the Walls" campaign.[44] If we are to measure by the numbers of Iraqi civilians killed by violence, it was not the increase of ISI activity in 2012 that triggered the increase of violence in Iraq and the deteriorating situation in Iraq. Rather, it appears to have been the Maliki regime's crackdown on a protest camp in Hawija, in April 2013.[45] Based on the Iraqi Body Count database of violent civilian deaths in Iraq, the level of violence against civilians in Iraq was fairly constant from 2009 until April 2013, despite the increase of activity from ISI. The crackdown on the Hawija camp took place 23 April 2013, and from May 2013 there was a rapid increase in the number of civilians killed.[46] This increase is also reflected in the United Nations casualty figures from Iraq.[47] Incidentally, it was also in April 2013 that ISI announced its presence in Syria under the new name of Islamic State of Iraq and Sham.

The relationship between the rise of the Islamic State and the escalating conflicts in Iraq and Syria is detailed elsewhere, but the important point here is that the group initially played only a minor role in both of these conflicts. There were primarily other Sunni Arab actors who led the uprising in Syria against Bashar al-Assad and in the demonstrations in Iraq against the regime of Nuri al-Maliki. But these two conflicts eventually led to a breakdown of security and a fragmentation of the political and military authority in the traditional core areas of AQI/IS, the Sunni-Arab dominated areas in Northern Syria and Western Iraq. This provided IS with an opportunity to use its long experience of organizing militant activity, access to resources and ability to recruit the incoming foreign fighters in order to exploit the power vacuum and fragmentation, and to establish itself as one of the dominant actors in these areas.[48] Thus, one of the most important reasons for the resurgence of the group was that it was one of the strongest and most organized actors in a highly chaotic environment of otherwise weak, uncoordinated and fragmented actors. This means that the group operated within a vastly different opportunity structure compared to the years 2003-2011, when there were over 100,000 U.S. troops stationed in Iraq pursuing the stated mission of fighting and defeating al-Qaida.[49]

Concluding Remarks

This article has argued that specific historical circumstances enabled the dramatic rise of the Islamic State. Although the group was never completely defeated and would most likely have been able to survive in Iraq as a terrorist organization even without the outbreak of the conflict in Syria in 2011, it would have been impossible for the group to become so strong.

To be successful, the group was—and arguably remains—dependent on conflicts and root causes that exist independently of the group, but that the group can exploit. Unfortunately, there seems to be no lack of root causes which the Islamic State (or another extremist group) can exploit. In Iraq, IS has recruited amongst what we might term a "lost generation" of Sunni Arabs who have grown up after the fall of Saddam Hussein and who have experienced much conflict and loss and grievances throughout their life. This generation has

been even more lost during recent years due to the destruction inflicted upon the Sunni Arab areas, both due to the activity of the Islamic State itself and by the offensives against the group. These once occupied cities that became targets of allied aerial and artillery are today in dire need of reconstruction, but this process has hardly gotten off the ground.[50]

Another important challenge will be to re-integrate the family members of former Islamic State fighters. According to some estimates, as many as around 100,000 Iraqis had at least one family member who joined the Islamic State, and a large number of these family members have been driven out of their homes, and are kept imprisoned in camps. This means that there exists a large pool of potential recruits for a group like the Islamic State or some other extremist organization.[51]

It is also a challenge and a potential grievance that much of the Sunni-Arab areas that were controlled by the Islamic State are currently controlled by forces who liberated these areas. In Iraq, these forces are mainly Shia militias with strong links to Iran, and in Syria, Kurdish-dominated Syrian Democratic Forces (SDF) now control these areas.[52]

A U.S withdrawal from Syria will most likely intensify the conflict between Kurdish militias and Turkey and Turkish-backed insurgent groups in Syria.[53] This implies that the Kurdish militias—some of the most effective local forces against the Islamic State—will need to shift their focus from combatting the remnants of IS to fighting against Turkey-backed groups, something that might provide IS an opportunity to come back.

Meanwhile, as it becomes more difficult for the Islamic State to operate in Iraq and Syria, and increasingly difficult for foreign fighters to enter Iraq and Syria, the foreign fighters might travel elsewhere. The leadership of the Islamic State has recommended that potential recruits travel to other provinces (*wilayat*) of the Islamic State, or that they stay at home and carry out terrorist attacks against countries that were involved in the multinational coalition against the group. As Aaron Zelin and Jacob Zenn point out in their articles in this Special Issue, the affiliates of Islamic State might increase in importance following the decline of the Islamic "core" State in Iraq and Syria.[54] At the same time, as Elisabeth Kendall discusses in her article on the Islamic State in Yemen, the group has to compete with an al-Qaida affiliate (AQAP) that is more firmly rooted in Yemen than the Islamic State.[55]

The foreign fighters, especially those from the Middle East, already present in Syria and Iraq might establish new groups or join other jihadi groups active in the region. One of these groups might, for instance ,be Hurras al-Din. According to a recent report, this group has been able to recruit foreign fighters both from the Islamic State and from Hayat Tahrir al-Sham (HTS).[56] Given the historical relationship between the leaders of this group and al-Qaida's top leadership, Hurras al-Din might be able to establish itself as the leading AQ affiliate in the region, especially if it succeeds in attracting more recruits from both HTS and IS.

As Charlie Winter points out in his article in this Special Issue, the propaganda and media warfare of the Islamic State will play an important role in the group's strategy to maintain its "brand", even if its media output has declined as it has lost territorial control.[57] The group has also adapted its propaganda to the new circumstances, focusing more on surviving and urging terrorist attacks against countries involved in the offensive against the group.[58]

To conclude, the Islamic State will most likely remain a security threat for many years, in one form or another. Despite its apparently rigid ideology, the group has shown a remarkable ability to survive and to adapt to changing circumstances. This is one the most important reasons for the group's resilience, and there are several indications that the group has adapted following its recent loss of territorial control. These measures are, however, primarily reactive measures that the deteriorating situation has forced the group to implement. Whether the group will also be able to do more than just "remain" and "expand" again is to a large degree dependent on factors beyond the control of the IS.

Note: The author wishes to thank Petter Nesser, Henrik Gråtud, Anne Stenersen and Brynjar Lia for their useful

and insightful comments and input to earlier versions of this article.

About the Author: Truls Hallberg Tønnessen is a Senior Research Fellow at the Norwegian Defence Research Establishment, focusing on Salafi-jihadi insurgent groups in Iraq and Syria. In 2016, he was a visiting scholar at the Center for Security Studies, Georgetown University. He obtained his PhD in history from the University of Oslo in 2015, with a dissertation on the rise of al-Qaida in Iraq in 2003-2006. He can be followed @trulstonnessen

Notes

- [1] For a comprehensive overview of the literature and an illustration of the magnitude of publications on the Islamic State see the 4-part bibliography compiled by Judith Tinnes and published in *Perspectives on Terrorism*. "Bibliography: Islamic State (Part 1)," *Perspectives on Terrorism*, Vol. 9, No. 4 (2015), "Bibliography: Islamic State (Part 2)," *Perspectives on Terrorism*, Vol. 10, No. 3 (2016), "Bibliography: Islamic State (Part 3)," *Perspectives on Terrorism* Vol. 11, No. 3 (2017) and Bibliography: Islamic State (IS, ISIS, ISIL, Daesh), [Part 4], *Perspectives on Terrorism*, Vol. 12, No. 2 (2018)
- [2] See, for instance, Cole Bunzel, "From Paper State to Caliphate: The Ideology of the Islamic State," *Brookings Institution*, March 2015, 13, Erin Marie Saltman and Charlie Winter, "Islamic State: The Changing Face of Modern Jihadism," *Quilliam Foundation* (2014), 27-28, Howard J. Shatz and Erin-Elizabeth Johnson, "The Islamic State We Knew: Insights before the Resurgence and Their Implications," *RAND*, September 2015 and McCants, *The ISIS Apocalypse*.
- [3] See ,for instance, Bryan Price et al., "The Group That Calls Itself a State: Understanding the Evolution and Challenges of the Islamic State," *Combating Terrorism Center*, 16 December 2014, 8-9,19 and Charles Lister, "Profiling the Islamic State," *Brookings* 2014,16.
- [4] See for instance "Al-Qaeda Near Defeat in Iraq, on Defensive Globally: CIA Chief," *AFP*, 30 May 2008, Thomas E. Ricks and Karen DeYoung: "Al-Qaeda In Iraq Reported Crippled," *Washington Post*, 15 October 2007. For a broader discussion of the factors accounting for the reduction of violence in Iraq in 2007, see, for instance, Stephen Biddle, Jeffrey A. Friedman and Jacob N. Shapiro, "Testing the Surge Why Did Violence Decline in Iraq in 2007?" *International Security*, 1 (2012), 7-40 and "Correspondence: Assessing the Synergy Thesis in Iraq," *International Security*, 4 (2013): 173-198.
- [5] For a good overview of this period in the group's history, see Brian Fishman, "Redefining the Islamic State The Fall and Rise of al-Qaeda in Iraq," *New America Foundation*, August 2011.
- [6] William McCants, *The ISIS Apocalypse: The History, Strategy, and Doomsday Vision of the Islamic State,* (New York: St. Martin's Press, 2015).
- [7] Margaret Coker and Falih Hassan, "Iraq Prime Minister Declares Victory Over ISIS," *New York Times*, 9 December 2017 and Alec Luhn, "Russia Declares 'Mission Accomplished' against Islamic State in Syria," *The Telegraph*, 7 December 2017.
- [8] See, for instance, Judit Neurink, "Is the 'Islamic State' making a comeback in Iraq?," *Deutsche Welle*, 21 November 2018 and Krishnadev Calamur, "ISIS Never Went Away in Iraq," *The Atlantic*, 31 August 2018.
- [9] See, for instance, Martin Chulov, "We will get him': The long hunt for Isis leader Abu Bakr al-Baghdadi," *The Guardian*, 15 January 2018.
- [10] Asaad Almohammad and Charlie Winter, "From Directorate of Intelligence to Directorate of Everything: The Islamic State's Emergent Amni-Media Nexus," *Perspectives on Terrorism*, Vol. 13, No. 1 (February 2019), and Vera Mironova, "Who are the ISIS people?," *Perspectives on Terrorism*, Vol. 13, No. 1 (February 2019).
- [11] Daveed Gartenstein-Ross, "How Many Fighters Does the Islamic State Really Have?," War on the Rocks, 9 February 2015.
- [12] Vera Mironova, "Who are the ISIS people?," *Perspectives on Terrorism*, Vol. 13, No. 1 (February 2019). See also Michael Weiss and Hassan Hassan, *ISIS: Inside the Army of Terror* (New York: Regan Arts, 2016), 160-172.
- [13] Cole Bunzel, "Ideological Infighting in the Islamic State," Perspectives on Terrorism, Vol. 13, No. 1 (February 2019).
- [14] "Islamic State's 'War Minister' Omar al-Shishani 'Clinically Dead," The Guardian, 14 March 2016
- and "Isis: US-trained Tajik special Forces Chief Gulmurod Khalimov Becomes Isis 'War Minister," *International Business Times*, 6 September 2016
- [15] The identity of Abu al-Hasan al-Muhajir is unclear, but the name al-Muhajir ("the immigrant") indicates that he is a foreign

- fighter. For speculation on his identity, see Graeme Wood, "The American Climbing the Ranks of ISIS," The Atlantic, March 2017.
- [16] For details see Truls H. Tønnessen, "Heirs of Zarqawi or Saddam? The Relationship between al-Qaida in Iraq and the Islamic State," *Perspectives on Terrorism*, Vol. 9, No. 4 (August 2015).
- [17] For more on this group, see Tore Refslund Hamming and Pieter Van Ostaeyen, "The True Story of al-Qaeda's Demise and Resurgence in Syria," *Lawfare*, 8 April 2018.
- [18] For details, see Tore Hamming, "Abu al-Qassam: Zarqawi's right-hand man who stayed loyal to al-Qaida," *Jihadica*, 20 November 2017 and Hadi al-Salih, "Zarqawi's Brother-in-Law from Iran to Latakiya," *al-Arabiya*, (in Arabic), 18 January 2017.
- [19] "Until you believe in God Alone," *Al-Naba*', Issue 129, 26 April 2018, p.3,; URL: https://azelin.files.wordpress.com/2018/04/ the-islamic-state-al-nabacc84 -newsletter-129.pdf
- [20] Petter Nesser, Islamist Terrorism in Europe, Second Edition, (London: Hurst, 2018).
- [21] Brian Fishman, "Al Qaeda in Iraq's Swedish Connections," Foreign Policy, 13 December 2010.
- [22] Nesser (2018), 308 and Jean-Charles Brisard and Kevin Jackson, "The Islamic State's External Operations and the French-Belgian Nexus," *CTC Sentinel*, Vol. 9, No. 11, (November 2016).
- [23] See, for instance, Colin P.Clarke, "How Russia Became the Jihadists' No 1 Target," RAND, 3 April 2017.
- [24] Ahmed S. Hashim, "The Islamic State's Way of War in Iraq and Syria: From its Origins to the Post Caliphate Era," *Perspectives on Terrorism*, Vol. 13, No. 1 (February 2019).
- [25] See, for instance, Michael Knights, "Endangered Species al-Qaeda in Iraq Adapts to Survive", *Jane's Intelligence Review* May 2008 and Carter Malkasian, "Did The United States Need More Forces in Iraq?," *Defence Studies*, 1 (2008), 87-88,
- [26] For a good article on the resistance Islamic State faced from civilians, see Mathilde Becker Aarseth, "Resistance in the Caliphate's Classrooms: Mosul Civilians vs IS," *Middle East Policy*, Vol. 25, No. 1, Spring 2018.
- [27] Hassan Hassan, "ISIL sleeper cells in Iraq are a warning sign the extremist group is already reforming," *The National*, 28 March 2018.
- [28] Rhys Dubin, "ISIS 2.0 Is Really Just the Original ISIS," Foreign Policy, 3 April 2018.
- [29] Krishnadev Calamur, "ISIS Never Went Away in Iraq," *The Atlantic*, 31 August 2018 and Ghazwan Hassan al-Jibouri, "Extremists Intimidate, Harass, Dislocate Locals in Salahaddin, Then Take Over," *Niqash*, 12 July 2018.
- [30] This is similar to how the group operated previously. See, for instance, Craig Whiteside, "Nine Bullets for the Traitors, One for the Enemy: The Slogans and Strategy behind the Islamic State's Campaign to Defeat the Sunni Awakening (2006-2017)," *International Centre for Counter-terrorism*, September 2018.
- [31] Andrea Plebani, "Ninawa Province: al-Qa`ida's Remaining Stronghold," *CTC Sentinel*, Volume 3, Issue 1, January 2010, p.21 and Michael Knights, "al-Qa'ida in Iraq: Lessons from the Mosul Security Operation," *CTC Sentinel*, Vol. 1, No. 7 (June 2008), p.1.
- [32] For details, see Truls H.Tønnessen, "The Group that Wanted Be a State: The 'Rebel' Governance of the Islamic State", in: Hendrik Kraetzschmar and Paola Rivetti (Eds.), *Islamists and the Politics of the Arab Uprising*, (Edinburgh: Edinburgh University Press, 2018): 54-69.
- [33] See, for instance, Iraq: Falluja's Faustian Bargain, (International Crisis Group: April 2014).
- [34] As Brynjar Lia has pointed out, this is typical of jihadi rebel governance and not particularly for the Islamic State. Brynjar Lia, "Understanding Jihadi Proto-States", *Perspectives on Terrorism*, Vol. 9, No. 4, (August 2015).
- [35] See, for instance, Mohammed M. Hafez, *Suicide Bombers in Iraq The Strategy and Ideology of Martyrdom*, (Washington D.C: United State Institute of Peace Press, 2007). This is a well-known concept in the literature. For more on this, see for instance Colin J. Beck, "The Contribution of Social Movement Theory to Understanding Terrorism," *Sociology Compass*, 2(5): 1565 1581.
- [36] See, for instance, Simon Mabon and Stephen Boyle, *The Origins of ISIS*, (London: I.B Tauris, 2017) and Hal Brands and Peter Feaver, "Was the Rise of ISIS Inevitable?" *Survival*, 59:3, 7-54.
- [37] A study of the previous occupations of the Iraqi commanders in the Islamic State found for instance that 47 had been members of the Iraqi security services. Ronen Zeidel, "The Dawa'ish: A Collective Profile of IS Commanders," *Perspectives on Terrorism* Vol. 11, No. 4, (August 2017)
- [38] This series was sponsored by several media networks (like ABC, BBC), and conducted by professional polling bureaus in Iraq (Oxford Research International and D3 Systems of Vienna, and KA Research). For more on this series, see "Afghanistan and Iraq"

Polls: Where Things Stand," *ABC News*, 11 January 2010; URL: http://abcnews.go.com/PollingUnit/afghanistan-iraq-polls-things-stand/story?id=6627152.

- [39] "Iraq: Where Things Stand," ABC News/USA Today/BBC/ARD Poll, field work 25 February to 5 March 2007, by D3 Systems of Vienna and KA Research LTD, released 19 March 2007; URL: http://abcnews.go.com/images/US/1033aIraqpoll.pdf.
- [40] A study of the number of military operations claimed by AQI found that in November 2006 AQI had claimed 334 operations, in May 2007 this had fallen to 292, while in November 2007 the number was a low as 25 operations. Nibras Kazimi, "Fascinating: The Jihadists Admit Defeat in Iraq," *Talisman Gate*, 15 May 2008.
- [41] For a broader discussion of the factors accounting for the reduction of violence in Iraq 2007 see, for instance, Stephen Biddle, Jeffrey A. Friedman and Jacob N. Shapiro, "Testing the Surge Why Did Violence Decline in Iraq in 2007?" *International Security*, 1 (2012), 7-40 and "Correspondence: Assessing the Synergy Thesis in Iraq," *International Security*, 4 (2013): 173-198.
- [42] Brian Fishman, "Redefining the Islamic State The Fall and Rise of al-Qaeda in Iraq," New America Foundation, August 2011.
- [43] "2012 Global Terrorism Index: Capturing the Impact of Terrorism from 2002 2011," *The Institute for Economics & Peace*, 2012.
- [44] See Jessica D. Lewis, "Al-Qaeda in Iraq Resurgent The Breaking the Walls Campaign, Part 1," *Institute for the Study of War*, September 2013
- [45] For more on this protest movement, see Kirk H. Sowell, "Iraq's Second Insurgency," *Current Trends in Islamist Ideology* 17 (2014): 39-69.
- [46] Numbers gathered from Iraq Body Count, accessible at URL: https://www.iraqbodycount.org/.
- [47] "UN Casualty Figures for April: Highest Level since June 2008," *United Nations Iraq*, 2 May 2013; URL: http://www.uniraq.org/index.php?option=com-k2&view=item&id=910:un-casualty-figures-for-april-highest-level-since-june-2008&Itemid=633&lang=en">http://www.uniraq.org/index.php?option=com-k2&view=item&id=910:un-casualty-figures-for-april-highest-level-since-june-2008&Itemid=633&lang=en">http://www.uniraq.org/index.php?option=com-k2&view=item&id=633&lang=en">http://www.uniraq.org/index.php?option=com-k2&view=item&id=633&lang=en">http://www.uniraq.org/index.php?option=com-k2&view=item&id=633&lang=en">http://www.uniraq.org/index.php?option=com-k2&view=item&id=633&lang=en">http://www.uniraq.org/index.php?option=com-k2&view=item&id=633&lang=en">http://www.uniraq.org/index.php?option=com-k2&view=item&id=633&lang=en">http://www.uniraq.org/index.php?option=com-k2&view=item&id=633&lang=en">http://www.uniraq.org/index.php?option=com-k2&view=item&id=633&lang=en">http://www.uniraq.org/index.php?option=com-k2&view=item&id=633&lang=en">http://www.uniraq.org/index.php?option=com-k2&view=item&id=633&lang=en">http://www.uniraq.org/index.php?option=com-k2&view=item&id=633&lang=en">http://www.uniraq.org/index.php?option=com-k2&view=item&id=633&lang=en">http://www.uniraq.org/index.php?option=com-k2&view=item&id=633&lang=en">http://www.uniraq.org/index.php?option=com-k2&view=item.php?option=com-k2&view=item.php?option=com-k2&view=item.php?option=com-k2&view=item.php?option=com-k2&view=item.php?option=com-k2&view=item.php?option=com-k2&view=item.php?option=com-k2&view=item.php?option=com-k2&view=item.php?option=com-k2&view=item.php?option=com-k2&view=item.php?option=com-k2&view=item.php?option=com-k2&view=item.php?option=com-k2&view=item.php?option=com-k2&view=item.php?option=com-k2&view=item.php?option=com-k2&view=item.php?option=com-k2&view=item.php?option=com-k2&view=item.php
- [48] See, for instance, Aymenn Jawad al-Tamimi, "The Dawn of the Islamic State of Iraq and ash-Sham," *Current Trends in Islamist Ideology*, 16 (2014): 5-15; Aaron Y Zelin, "Al-Qaeda in Syria: A Closer Look at ISIS (Part I)," Policywath 2137, *The Washington Institute for Near East Policy*, 10 September 2013, and Aaron Y Zelin, "Al-Qaeda in Syria: A Closer Look at ISIS (Part II)," Policywatch 2138, *The Washington Institute for Near East Policy*, 11 September 2013.
- [49] Between April 2003 and February 2010, the number of U.S troops was constantly over 100, 000. In February 2010 it was reduced to 96, 000. See the overview of the number of U.S. and Coalition Forces in Iraq in Michael E. O'Hanlon and Ian Livingston, "Iraq Index- Tracking Variables of Reconstruction & Security in Post-Saddam Iraq," 31 January 2011, *Brookings Institution*, 13. See also Alan McLean and Archie Tse, "American Forces in Afghanistan and Iraq," *New York Times*, 22 June 2011.
- [50] Rafid Jaboori, "Conditions in Mosul Ripen for Return of Islamic State," Terrorism Monitor 17 (1), 2019.
- [51] "ISIL family members threatened with revenge by fellow Anbaris," *The National*, 12 February 2018, Adnan Abu Zeed, "Tribal laws determine fate of IS families in Iraq," *al-Monitor*, 1 March 2018
- [52] See, for instance, Thamer el-Ghobashy and Mustafa Salim, "As Iraq's Shiite Militas Expand Their Reach, Concerns about an ISIS Revival Grow," *The Washington Post*, 9 January 2019.
- [53] Sarah el-Deeb, "With US leaving, rival powers seek to move into Syria's east," The Associated Press, 5 January 2019.
- [54] Aaron Y. Zelin, "Not Gonna Be Able To Do It: al-Qaeda in Tunisia's Inability to Take Advantage of the Islamic State's Setbacks," *Perspectives on Terrorism*, Vol. 13, No. 1 (February 2019), and Jacob Zenn, "The Islamic State's Provinces on the Periphery: Juxtaposing the Pledges from Boko Haram in Nigeria and Abu Sayyaf and Maute Group in the Philippines," *Perspectives on Terrorism*, Vol. 13, No. 1 (February 2019).
- [55] Elisabeth Kendall, "The Failing Islamic State within the Failed State of Yemen," *Perspectives on Terrorism*, Vol. 13, No. 1 (February 2019).
- [56] Hamza Mustafa and Walid Abdulrahman, "Exclusive Extremist 'Guardians of Religion' Group Poses New Headache for Iraq," al-Sharq al-Awsat, 5 January 2019.
- [57] Charlie Winter, "Making Sense of Jihadi Stratcom: The case of the Islamic State," *Perspectives on Terrorism*, Vol. 13, No. 1 (February 2019).
- [58] Michael Munoz, "Selling the Long War: Islamic State Propaganda after the Caliphate," CTC Sentinel, Vol. 11, No. 10 (November 2018).

ISSN 2334-3745 11 February 2019

Ideological Infighting in the Islamic State

By Cole Bunzel

Abstract

Drawing on leaked documents and other original sources in Arabic, this article examines the internal struggles over defining the Islamic State's ideology during the period 2014 to the present. Since the Islamic State declared the caliphate in summer 2014, disagreements over doctrinal matters—primarily related to *takfir* (excommunication)—have sparked furious debates among different factions of the group. The earliest bout of infighting culminated in 2014 in the execution of a number of "extremist" scholars and activists. Infighting would reemerge in 2016, however, and grow increasingly more contentious, leading to the release of dueling pronouncements on *takfir*, the dismissal of numerous officials in the Islamic State's executive council, and later their defection and flight from the group. The disaffected include both those who believe the group has become too extreme and those who believe it has become too moderate. The ideological incoherence in the Islamic State may well affect its long-term prospects.

Keywords: Islamic State, jihadism, ideology, theology

Introduction

Beginning in 2013, it became increasingly clear that al-Qaida and the Islamic State were deeply divided over ideology, each representing a competing strand of the ideological movement known as Jihadi Salafism (*alsalafiyya al-jihadiyya*).[1] As the Islamic State of Iraq restyled itself the Islamic State of Iraq and al-Sham, then the Islamic State in full caliphal garb, its ties with al-Qaida unraveled and the ideological fissures in Jihadi Salafism, once held in abeyance, came rushing to the fore.[2]

The Islamic State, representing the more hardline wing of the jihadi movement, accordingly embraced a more doctrinally exclusivist brand, encouraging *takfir* (excommunication) of Muslims deemed insufficiently pure in regard of *tawhid* (monotheism). The Taliban, for instance, once the vaunted ally and defender of Osama bin Laden's al-Qaida, was cast as beyond the pale: a "nationalist" movement all too tolerant of the heretical Shi'a. [3] Even the Islamic State's jihadi competitors in al-Qaida could be targets of *takfir*. In a 2015 statement, for instance, the Islamic State pronounced Jabhat al-Nusra, then al-Qaida's affiliate in Syria, an apostate group;[4] a subsequent statement in 2016 established that the charge of apostasy applied to both the group as a whole and its individual members.[5] Al-Qaida leader Ayman al-Zawahiri was generally spared explicit accusations of unbelief, but nonetheless was frequently derided as wayward and misguided.[6] In May 2014, Abu Muhammad al-'Adnani, the Islamic State's official spokesman until his death in August 2016, called on al-Zawahiri to "correct" (*tashih*) his "methodology" (*manhaj*) by publicly condemning the Shi'a as unbelievers and being clearer about the infidel nature of the military forces of the Middle East's apostate regimes.[7] In saying this, al-'Adnani was distinguishing the Islamic State from al-Qaida ideologically. The ideological discrepancy between the two groups was soon confirmed when al-Zawahiri portrayed the Islamic State as "Kharijites," "*takfiris*," and "extremists."[8]

In distancing itself from al-Qaida, the Islamic State was adopting a distinctly rigid and uncompromising version of Jihadi Salafism around which its members and supporters could rally and unite. Yet ideological differences within the Islamic State itself were no small matter, and soon these began manifesting in controversy and dissent. Indeed, ideological infighting in the Islamic State has been rampant, with serious consequences for the group's unity and even perhaps its long-term survivability. Until recently, little was known about the precise nature, extent, and severity of these disputes, as the group's leadership sought to keep them under wraps. Over the past year and more, however, leaked documents and other sources have emerged that allow us to give an account of these ideological quarrels and to see where they might be headed.[9]

Theological Background

First, it will be helpful to begin by introducing something of the theological background against which these wars over *takfir* have been fought. Of greatest importance are two competing imperatives in Sunni Islamic thought, one discouraging *takfir* and one encouraging and even requiring it.

The first imperative is deeply rooted in Sunni tradition. It is the general prohibition against wrongfully excommunicating fellow Muslims, combined with the warning that misplaced accusations of unbelief will boomerang on the accuser. The prohibition is grounded in a number of *hadith*, or prophetic statements, in which the Prophet Muhammad is reported to have cautioned against *takfir* and pointed to the potential boomerang effect. According to one such statement, found in the most authoritative Sunni *hadith* collections, the Prophet declared, "If a man says to his brother, 'O unbeliever,' it redounds upon one of them." [10] The implication is clear: Do not call someone an unbeliever unless you are absolutely certain.

The second imperative also has deep roots in Sunni tradition but is primarily associated with the Wahhabi movement in Saudi Arabia. Wahhabism, a Sunni revivalist movement founded in the 18th century, historically has been concerned above all with the distinction between pure monotheism (*tawhid*) and polytheism (*shirk*). To enforce the distinction, the Wahhabis decreed that those seen as committing polytheistic acts—in the traditional Wahhabi view, acts such as calling upon or seeking the aid of saints or prophets—must be declared unbelievers. In other words, *takfir* of polytheists was a duty. Furthermore, the Wahhabis made it a duty to excommunicate those who failed or hesitated to excommunicate polytheists. Muhammad ibn 'Abd al-Wahhab (d. 1792), the founder of Wahhabism, articulated this doctrine in a short treatise known as "The Nullifiers of Islam" (*nawaqid al-Islam*). The third nullifier in the list states, "Whoever does not excommunicate the polytheists, or is doubtful about their unbelief, or affirms the validity of their doctrine—he is an unbeliever by consensus." [11] This idea—that one must pronounce *takfir* on those failing or hesitating to pronounce *takfir*—is known commonly in jihadi circles as "the third nullifier" (*al-naqid al-thalith*).

In the Islamic State, as in Jihadi Salafism at large, the Wahhabi heritage (under the guise of Salafism) enjoys pride of place as representing the correct approach to theology. Most ideological infighting in the Islamic State has revolved around the question of how exclusivist the group ought to be—that is, how narrowly the boundaries of Islam and unbelief ought to be drawn. In this context, it is Wahhabi principles, and the third nullifier in particular, that are being debated.

The Hazimis

The early phase of ideological contestation in the Islamic State can be traced to the rather obscure figure of Ahmad ibn 'Umar al-Hazimi, a middle-aged Saudi religious scholar from Mecca.[12] To all appearances, al-Hazimi is not himself a jihadi, but his views on *takfir*, including especially his strict interpretation of the third nullifier, would have a tremendous impact on a group of jihadis who went on to join the Islamic State. Most of these came from Tunisia, where al-Hazimi had traveled as a preacher following the 2011 revolution there. In 2013, following his trips to Tunisia, he delivered a series of lectures on the third nullifier in which he elaborated doctrine that he called *takfir al-'adhir*, or "the excommunication of the excuser." The excuser, al-Hazimi explained, is "one who excuses polytheists on account of ignorance." In other words, it is someone who excuses a person's unbelief or polytheism on the grounds that the person is ignorant of the fact that he or she is committing unbelief or polytheism. At question here is the theological concept known as *al-'udhr bi'l-jahl*, or "excusing on the basis of ignorance," which many Salafi Muslims, including jihadis, have seen as a restraint on excessive *takfir*. Al-Hazimi is categorically opposed to *al-'udhr bi'l-jahl* when it comes to so-called "greater polytheism" (*al-shirk al-akbar*) or "greater unbelief" (*al-kufr al-akbar*), categories that include acts such as supplicating the dead or voting in elections. He therefore deems those who excuse polytheists on the basis of ignorance to be unbelievers in accordance with the third nullifier.

Those in the Islamic State who adopted al-Hazimi's views came to be known as "the Hazimis" (*al-Hazimiyya*, *al-Hazimiyyun*).[13] Chief among them was a Tunisian named Abu Ja'far al-Hattab, a former member of the

Shari'a Committee of Ansar al-Shari'a in Tunisia who became an early supporter of the Islamic State. In June 2013, he authored a book calling on Muslims in Iraq and Syria to give bay'a (the contract of allegiance) to Abu Bakr al-Baghdadi.[14] According to one source, al-Hattab belonged to an early Shari'a committee in the Islamic State (probably set up in 2013) that also included the Bahraini Turki al-Bin'ali and the Iraqi Abu 'Ali al-Anbari. [15] Unlike these other men, however, al-Hattab was a fierce advocate of al-Hazimi's concept of takfir al-'adhir. Al-Bin'ali, in a mid-2014 tweet, denounced the concept of takfir al-'adhir as an innovation;[16] later that year, Abu Sulayman al-Shami (aka Ahmad Abu Samra), a Syrian-American high-level official in the Islamic State, authored a scathing critique of al-Hazimi and his views, describing him as a supporter of the Saudi regime and explaining that the notion of takfir al-'adhir had plunged its proponents into an endless spiral of takfir.[17] This was the main critique of the Hazimis: namely, that their obsession with takfir al-'adhir inevitably led to takfir in infinite regress, or an endless chain of takfir (al-takfir bi'l-tasalsul). In September 2014, it was rumored online that al-Hattab had been executed by the Islamic State.[18]

A document from the Islamic State's General Security Department (Diwan al-Amn al-'Amm), dated November 14, 2015, confirms that al-Hattab, among other leaders of the "extremists" described here, was indeed arrested and executed.[19] The document, which is dedicated to examining "the extremism phenomenon in the Islamic State," highlights the influence of al-Hazimi on a "current" (tayyar) of Islamic State members who adhered to the doctrine of takfir al-'adhir and who believed that most Muslims ought to be regarded as unbelievers. These men had even reached the conclusion that certain leaders of the Islamic State were unbelievers on account of their failure to excommunicate Ayman al-Zawahiri. Approximately 70 of the extremists, according to the document, were killed after being arrested and interrogated, while more than 50 managed to flee to Turkey. Abu Ja'far al-Hattab is named first in a list of 11 leaders of the current. Following the leaders' execution, the document says, a number of secretive extremist cells were formed, some of which plotted against the caliphate. The document concludes that while "the danger of the extremists" has been alleviated, "the extremism phenomenon" is beginning to take a different form, its members practicing taqiyya (dissimulation).

The Islamic State said little in public about the Hazimi extremists, though in late 2014 the General Committee (al-Lajna al-ʿAmma), the predecessor of the Islamic State's executive body known as the Delegated Committee (al-Lajna al-Mufawwada), issued a statement prohibiting discussion of the "secondary issues" related to *al-'udhr bi'l-jahl* and forbidding distribution of related audio, visual, and written materials.[20] In late 2014, a video was released from "Raqqa Province" featuring the arrested members of an "extremist cell," who are seen confessing to having excommunicated the Islamic State and plotted to rebel.[21] An English-language article in the Islamic State's *Dabiq* magazine also discussed the rounding up of this "Khariji cell."[22] This was likely one of the cells mentioned in the document that were formed in the wake of al-Hattab's death.

The Methodological Committee

Others in the Islamic State agreed with the General Security Department's conclusion that extremism remained a problem. One of these was Turki al-Bin'ali, the young Bahraini who had become the head of the Islamic State's scholarly research outfit, the Office of Research and Studies (Maktab al-Buhuth wa'l-Dirasat).[23] In a February 2016 letter to the Delegated Committee, al-Bin'ali offered his appraisal of the problem.[24] "It saddens me to tell you," he wrote, "that from time to time the troublemaking of the extremists continues in the ranks of the brothers." Yet "the new extremists," he continued, were not quite the same. For one thing, their leaders were Saudis, not Tunisians as before. For another, they "have appeared in a new garb and with a new issue." The issue was whether *takfir* was to be considered "part of the foundation of the religion" (*min asl aldin*) or "one of its requirements" (*min lawazimihi*). According to "the new extremists," al-Bin'ali said, *takfir* was "part of the foundation of the religion," meaning that it was a foundational religious principle that one could not shirk without falling into unbelief; those claiming otherwise were to be excommunicated. For al-Bin'ali, this insistence on *takfir* as foundational was no different from the Hazimi doctrine of *takfir al-'adhir*, since if *takfir* is foundational then it is not permitted to engage in *al-'udhr bi'l-jahl*. It is simply *takfir al-'ahdir* stated another way.

However, not all agreed with al-Bin'ali that extremism remained such a problem. On the contrary, around this time an important segment of the Islamic State's leadership was coming to the view that the greater problem was in fact excessive theological moderation, or restraint in *takfir*. This was the conclusion reached by a special committee formed in mid-February 2016 to assess the doctrinal views of the Islamic State's scholars in Iraq and Syria. The committee, which bore no official title but was known as "the methodological committee" (alajna al-manhajiyya), was overseen by Abu Muhammad al-Furqan, the head of the Central Media Department (Diwan al-I'lam al-Markazi), and staffed by, among others, Abu Sulayman al-Shami, the forenamed Syrian-American leader, and an Egyptian named Abu Khabbab al-Masri (aka Shu'ba al-Masri). According to an internal report written by al-Masri in July 2016, the committee began its activities at a time when the "new extremists" were allegedly on the rise; but after interviewing several dozen of the Islamic State's scholars, the committee concluded that the "new extremists" were for the most part a reaction to the greater problem of moderation. [25] The word used to indicate the latter was *irja*' (Murji'ism, or "postponement"), a theological term denoting an early Islamic sect that postponed judgments of unbelief. [26]

The scholars suspected of *irja*' included Turki al-Bin'ali, who was himself interviewed by al-Furqan's methodological committee on April 10, 2016. A summary of the meeting, written by al-Masri, shows that the committee regarded al-Bin'ali with great skepticism, deeming some of his views on *takfir* to be inadequate.[27] This included his view that professed Muslims living in the so-called "lapsed abode of unbelief" (*dar al-kufr al-tari*')—that is, Islamic lands that had forsaken the Shari'a—were to be regarded *prima facie* as Muslims, not as unbelievers. Others assessed to be in the *irja*' camp included Abu Bakr al-Qahtani, a Saudi on the Delegated Committee who argued that *takfir* was "one of the requirements of the religion" not "a part of the foundation of the religion," and Abu al-Mundhir al-Harbi, a Saudi belonging to the Office of Research and Studies who believed that appealing to infidel courts was not in every case tantamount to unbelief.[28]

One outcome of the committee's work was an official statement condemning "those who hesitate to excommunicate polytheists" (man tawaqqafa fi takfir al-mushrikin).[29] This statement, dated May 29, 2016, was issued by an obscure body called the Central Office for Overseeing the Shari'a Departments (al-Maktab al-Markazi li-Mutaba'at al-Dawawin). Written primarily by al-Furqan, who solicited the input of the Islamic State's scholars and officials, it condemned the language of takfir al-'adhir as problematic while affirming that there is no excuse for hesitating to excommunicate polytheists. On the all-important question whether takfir is part of the foundation of the religion or one of its requirements, it was equivocal, stating that discussion of takfir in terms of foundational and required is prohibited.

Al-Furqan's statement should thus be seen as an attempt to forge a theological compromise between those of relatively more extremist and those of relatively more moderate orientation in the Islamic State. The men who saw themselves as occupying the middle ground as regards *takfir*—al-Furqan, Abu Sulayman al-Shami, Abu Khabbab al-Masri, *inter alios*—were trying to keep the two sides at bay.[30] Scholars such as al-Bin'ali do not seem to have agreed with al-Furqan's statement—weeks before the statement was issued, al-Bin'ali wrote to al-Furqan saying that *takfir* should be understood as "one of the requirements of the religion" [31]—but they did not erupt in protest.

The Takfir Memorandum and the Scholarly Backlash

Al-Furqan's theological compromise may have lasted longer had he not been killed in an airstrike on September 7, 2016.[32] Several months later, in January 2017, Abu Sulayman al-Shami was killed by the same means,[33] and around this time Abu Khabbab al-Masri was killed as well.[34] There was great turmoil in the upper ranks of the Islamic State's leadership, and as subsequent events were to show, some of the vacant positions were filled by men of more extremist persuasion than their predecessors. It was in this context that Turki al-Bin'ali, on January 20, 2017, sent al-Baghdadi a letter warning him against embracing a "theory of balance" whereby a certain number of extremists would be empowered in order to accommodate their constituency. Al-Bin'ali had it on good authority that this was the policy al-Baghdadi was pursuing, and he appears to have been correct. [35]

The work of settling and clarifying the group's ideology had been put on hiatus. When it was resumed in early 2017, it was under the leadership of a young Saudi newly appointed to the Delegated Committee named Abu Hafs al-Wad'ani. Al-Wad'ani, a former governor (*wali*) of Raqqa Province, was tasked with reestablishing al-Furqan's methodological committee and ensuring ideological conformity among the Islamic State's scholars.[36] But unlike before, al-Wad'ani's efforts had an explosive effect. Unlike al-Furqan, al-Wad'ani showed no interest in finding middle ground, instead siding entirely with those identified by al-Bin'ali as the "new extremists," that is, those who consider *takfir* to be "part of the foundation of the religion" (*min asl al-din*). Al-Wad'ani sought to enshrine this more extremist position as official doctrine and, in doing so, to put the perceived moderates in their place once and for all.

On May 17, 2017, the Delegated Committee released a seven-page memorandum under the title "That Those Who Perish Might Perish by a Clear Sign, and [That Those Who] Live Might Live by a Clear Sign," a quotation of Qur'an 8:42.[37] Addressed "to all the provinces, departments, and committees" of the Islamic State, it condemned the "extremists" who promote the idea of *takfir* in infinite regress (*al-takfir bi'l-tasalsul*), but its main concern was the moderates, or the "Murji'ites." The memorandum took an uncompromising position on those who waver in excommunicating "polytheists," including those who vote in elections, affirming that *takfir* of polytheists is "one of the manifest principles of the religion" (*min usul al-din al-zahira*). The latter phrase is effectively the same in meaning as "part of the foundation of the religion" (*min asl al-din*). In stating this, therefore, the Delegated Committee was adopting the position of the "new extremists." Significantly, the memorandum stood in contradiction to the earlier statement produced by the Central Office for Overseeing the Shari'a Departments, which had warned against classifying *takfir* as either foundational or required.

The response of the Islamic State's scholarly class, headed by al-Bin'ali, was swift and dramatic. Unlike in previous episodes of infighting, the scholars made their objections public, leaking their refutations online.

On May 19, 2017 al-Bin'ali addressed a long letter to the Delegated Committee with his critical "observations" on the memorandum.[38] He complained bitterly that the memorandum was issued in undue haste, not having been subjected to the scrutiny of "the scholars." Some of al-Bin'ali's criticisms were trivial or pedantic—the new statement contained typographical and grammatical errors, and it relied on a few weak *hadith*—but his main objections were substantial. He noted that the memorandum seemed intended to appease "the extremists" (*alghulat*), who were, he claimed, celebrating in mosques and on social media that "the Islamic State had repented and returned to the truth." By declaring *takfir* "one of the unambiguous foundations of the religion," he argued, the Delegated Committee had contravened al-Furqan's instruction to avoid classifying *takfir* one way or the other. For al-Bin'ali, the implication of the phrase "one of the unambiguous foundations of the religion" was without question *takfir* in infinite regress. Another concession to the extremists that he bemoaned was a line to the effect that professed Muslims beyond the Islamic State's territory—that is, in *Dar al-kufr al-tart'*—are not necessarily to be regarded as Muslims. What "most people" have taken away from this line, he noted regretfully, is that "the Islamic State excommunicates everyone outside its borders." He then quoted several earlier speeches by Islamic State leaders seemingly contradicting this position. The letter closes with an appeal to the Delegated Committee to revise and correct what it has written.

On May 31, al-Bin'ali died in Mayadin, Syria in an airstrike carried out by the U.S.-led coalition.[39] In June, another Islamic State scholar who refuted the memorandum, the Kuwaiti Abu 'Abd al-Barr al-Salihi, also died in an airstrike; at the time of his death, he was imprisoned by the group's senior leadership.[40] The supporters of these men regarded their deaths as suspiciously convenient for the more extremist elements of the Islamic State. They speculated that these scholars and others had been killed at the direction of their ideological opponents, who in this case would have leaked the men's locations to the coalition.

These accusations were made explicitly by another Islamic State scholar, Abu Muhammad al-Hashimi, in an open letter to al-Baghdadi dated July 5, 2017.[41] Al-Hashimi, who notes that he worked under al-Binʿali at the Office of Research and Studies, is extremely critical of the caliphate in his letter, calling it an "entity in which innovations and extremism have spread." The extremists, he alleges, have assumed power in the Delegated Committee and waged a "war against the scholars." "The soldiers," he tells al-Baghdadi, "are saying among

themselves" that al-Binʿaliʾs death "was contrived by those who wrote or supported the memorandum of error." Al-Hashimi also seems convinced that al-Salihiʾs death was intentional. He describes how al-Salihi was arrested by the Islamic Stateʾs security service in the last days of Ramadan 1438 (equivalent to the last days of June 2017) and brought to a "cramped, old prison" along with "more than 60" of his supporters, only for them to be killed soon afterwards in an airstrike.

The next month, in August 2017, another prominent ally of al-Binʿaliʾs, Abu Bakr al-Qahtani, was killed in an airstrike in Iraq.[42] One of his supporters wrote that his death recalled the "murky circumstances" of al-Binʿaliʾs demise.[43]

The *takfir* memorandum had thus created a situation of all-out ideological warfare in the Islamic State. Extremist figures such as Abu Hafs al-Wadʻani were using their newfound power to isolate and perhaps even eliminate the scholars. Naturally, the latter were losing confidence in the Islamic State's leadership, and some, such as al-Hashimi, were on the verge of leaving the caliphate altogether. At this point, al-Baghdadi realized that he needed to intervene before the scholars and their supporters completely abandoned ship.

The "Return to the Truth"

On September 15, 2017, the Delegated Committee released a new statement withdrawing the *takfir* memorandum issued back in May.[44] "Adherence to the content of the memorandum titled 'That Those Who Perish Might Perish by a Clear Sign' ... has been terminated," it stated, "on account of its containing errors of knowledge and misleading and unreliable statements that have given rise to disagreement and division in the ranks of the *mujahidin* particularly and the Muslims in general." The brief statement concluded by reminding readers of "the virtue of returning to the truth," and in a postscript announced that an audio series dedicated to the ideological issues in dispute was forthcoming.

According to one account of the events leading up to this "return to the truth," when al-Baghdadi learned of the uproar caused by the *takfir* memo he called a special meeting between himself, members of the Delegated Committee, and some of the Islamic State's scholars.[45] After hearing both sides of the ideological divide, he decided to dissolve the Delegated Committee and withdraw the May 2017 memorandum. One of the scholars present, the Egyptian Abu Muhammad al-Masri, was appointed to a seat on the newly reconstituted Delegated Committee; another, the Jordanian Abu Ya'qub al-Maqdisi, was named the successor to al-Bin'ali as head of the Office of Research and Studies. Following the meeting, several of the members of the former Delegated Committee, including Abu Hafs al-Wad'ani, were imprisoned, as were the members al-Wad'ani's methodological committee. Many of those incarcerated would flee the Islamic State as its territory shrank; others, including al-Wad'ani, were eventually executed.

Al-Wad'ani himself would write a fascinating retrospective on al-Baghdadi's intervention and its aftermath. In December 2017, after being released from prison, he sent a long letter to al-Baghdadi questioning the wisdom of withdrawing the *takfir* memorandum and complaining about the rapidly deteriorating condition of the caliphate.[46] The Islamic State, he said, has become "two factions" (*fariqayn*), one having been empowered and the other having been subject to a campaign of suppression. He noted that "many of the brothers" are unsure whether al-Baghdadi is fully aware of what is going on. "We truly do not know," he wrote, "whether this is happening with your knowledge or without your knowledge." Al-Wad'ani urged al-Baghdadi to return to the battlefield to reassure the soldiers, and to "try to repair what your recent decisions have ruined." After writing his letter, al-Wad'ani became a wanted man, though this time he managed to escape capture for two months. In June 2018, he was executed by the Islamic State on charges of being a "Kharijite."[47]

In the second half of September 2017, the promised audio series appeared in six installments.[48] Titled Silsila 'ilmiyya fi bayan masa'il manhajiyya ("Knowledge Series Clarifying Matters of Methodology"), it made a number of points regarding the right approach to takfir, one of which stands out about above all. This comes in the third episode, where takfir of polytheists is classified as "one of the requirements of the religion" (min wajibat al-din), not as "part of the foundation of the religion" (min asl al-din). It was a complete reversal of the

position set out in the memorandum issued four months prior.

The scholars thus seemed to have achieved a major victory with the *Silsila 'ilmiyya*, but it soon emerged that they were not satisfied. The recantation of the May 2017 memorandum was, in their view, half-hearted and incomplete. For one thing, al-Baghdadi had not released the entirety of the audio series prepared by the scholars; he had withheld three critical episodes discouraging excess in *takfir*. In July 2018, these three missing episodes were leaked by an online media organization with close ties to the scholars. [49] This outfit, Mu'assasat al-Turath al-'Ilmi ("The Scholarly Heritage Establishment"), was founded in October 2017 for the purpose of publishing the books, essays, and other works (i.e., the "heritage") of the Office of Research and Studies. In December 2017, Mu'assasat al-Turath began reporting the occasional arrest of the Islamic State's scholars, including Abu Muhammad al-Masri and Abu Ya'qub al-Maqdisi, as well as the return to power of some of the "extremists" of the previous Delegated Committee. [50] The scholars were once again being clamped down on.

Conclusion

Indeed, neither of the two sides—that is, neither the more moderate wing nor the more extremist wing of the Islamic State—was entirely victorious following the September 2017 "return to the truth." Presumably, al-Baghdadi's aim was to restore the balance between the two sides, not to have one of them devour the other. In granting the scholars a symbolic victory by formally adopting their position on *takfir*, he was wary of alienating the more extremist types represented strongly in the Islamic State's Central Media Department, among other places. But in trying to alienate neither side, al-Baghdadi seems to have disappointed both. The relative extremists became resentful of the official position on *takfir* outlined in the *Silsila 'ilmiyya*, while the relative moderates became upset with him for tolerating the extremists.

Unable to find an ideological middle ground, al-Baghdadi opted for papering over the ideological divisions in the Islamic State, yet his approach may not be viable in the long term. The scholars, representing the more moderate wing, appear increasingly sidelined. The Office of Research and Studies was shut down,[51] and in July 2018 its leader was imprisoned and accused of, among other things, collaborating with Mu'assasat al-Turath.[52] The latter has continued to publish the "heritage" of the scholars, portraying those who remain as powerless and persecuted. Should the scholars and their supporters decamp en masse, it could deprive the Islamic State of a critical base of support in the wider Jihadi Salafi community for years to come.

What is most striking about the ideological infighting described above is that much of it has coincided with a pivotal moment in the Islamic State's history—namely, its loss of the vast majority of its territorial holdings in Iraq and Syria between 2016 and 2017. These setbacks, rather than distracting from theological debates, have instead intensified and exacerbated them. This says something about the nature of the Islamic State and its constituents and supporters. When a militant group is on its heels and is being beat back, it is only natural that the strategy and policy of the group be called into question. In the case of the Islamic State, this has meant first and foremost the group's theological orientation. The level of ideological discord has correlated with the level of worldly decline and failure. Whether the Islamic State can manage to repair its ideological house, or at least keep the infighting at bay, may well depend on whether conditions on the ground improve.

For the moment, the ideological divisions continue to fester, leaving open the possibility of an organizational split, which would see the departure of the Islamic State's more moderate members and supporters. It is worth mentioning that some al-Qaida supporters online have welcomed the development of this ideological split in the Islamic State. For instance, in May 2018, pro-al-Qaida channels on Telegram shared a message by a certain "Son of al-Qaida" who expressed pleasant surprise by a "more open and more moderate" tendency forming in the Islamic State both online and on the ground. The author urged his readers not to "curse the darkness" but rather to "light a candle," suggesting that those in al-Qaida's orbit ought to reach out to these disaffected Islamic State members and supporters of less extremist persuasion. [53] Whether such efforts will succeed—that is, whether some kind of rapprochement between al-Qaida supporters and disaffected Islamic State supporters might be achieved—is yet to be seen. The "Murji'ites" of the Islamic State have not completely given up on the

caliphate yet. If they do, there may still be too much bad blood with al-Qaida for them simply to return to it.

About the Author: Cole Bunzel is a research fellow in Islamic Law and Civilization at Yale Law School, where his work focuses on the history of Wahhabism, Saudi Arabia, and the Jihadi Salafi movement. He received his Ph.D. in Near Eastern Studies from Princeton University in 2018 and edits the blog Jihadica.

Notes

- [1] See further Cole Bunzel, From Paper State to Caliphate: The Ideology of the Islamic State, Brookings Institution, 2015. Ideology was not the only factor separating al-Qaida and the Islamic State. Issues of personality and strategy were also key, but different approaches to ideology have been and remain critical.
- [2] For an excellent study of these fault lines in the preceding period, see Brynjar Lia, "Jihadis Divided between Strategists and Doctrinarians," in *Global Salafism: Islam's New Religious Movement*, ed. Roel Meijer (New York: Columbia University Press, 2009), 69-87.
- [3] See, for instance, "The Rāfidah: From Ibn Saba' to the Dajjāl," *Dabiq* 13 (January 2016): 32-45, available at https://jihadology.net/2016/01/19/new-issue-of-the-islamic-states-magazine-dabiq-13/. See further the widely shared essay in online Islamic State circles, "Juz' fi bayan harakat Taliban wa-kufriyyatiha min bayanatiha 'l-rasmiyya wa-majallatiha wa-dasturiha 'l-taghuti," available at https://jihadology.net/2016/01/19/new-issue-of-the-islamic-states-magazine-dabiq-13/. See further the widely shared essay in online Islamic State circles, "Juz' fi bayan harakat Taliban wa-kufriyyatiha min bayanatiha 'l-rasmiyya wa-majallatiha wa-dasturiha 'l-taghuti," available at https://www.jihadica.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/bayan-aqidat-harakat-taliban.pdf.
- [4] Letter from the Delegated Committee, December 12, 2015, available at http://www.jihadica.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/hukm-al-fasail.pdf.
- [5] Letter from the Central Office for Overseeing the Shariʻa Departments, June 1, 2016, available at http://www.jihadica.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/hukm-tanzim-qaidat-suriya.pdf.
- [6] See, for instance, Abu Maysara al-Shami, "The Qā'ida of adh-Dhawāhirī, al-Harārī, and an-Nadhārī, and the Absent Yemenī Wisdom, *Dabiq* 6 (December 2014): 16-24, available at https://azelin.files.wordpress.com/2015/02/the-islamic-state-e2809cdc481biq-magazine-622.pdf.
- [7] Abu Muhammad al-'Adnani, "'Udhran amīr al-Qā'ida," Mu'assasat al-Furqān, May 11, 2014, transcript available at http://www.jihadica.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/udhran-amir-al-qaida.pdf.
- [8] Ayman al-Zawahiri, "al-Sham amana fi aʻnaqikum, Mu'assasat al-Sahab, January 14, 2016, transcript available at http://www.jihadica.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/al-sham-amana.pdf.
- [9] The most illuminating sources have come from two Telegram channels called *Wa-harrid al-mu'minin* ("And Rouse the Believers") and *Ma'dhiratan ila 'llah* ("As an Excuse before God"), which are run by men convinced that the Islamic State has become too moderate. The latter channel, which has changed its name to *al-Nadhir al-'Uryan* ("The Bare Warner"), is operated by a former colleague of Abu Hafs al-Wad'ani (d. 2018), a high-ranking member of the Delegated Committee on the more extremist side of things (more on him above). Together, *Wa-harrid al-mu'minin* and *al-Nadhir al-'Uryan* have leaked many official Islamic State documents—memorandums, letters, internal assessments, etc. Filling out the picture are the many leaked documents—mainly books and essays but also statements on current events—distributed by Mu'assasat al-Turath al-'Ilmi ("The Scholarly Heritage Establishment") and Mu'assasat al-Wafa' al-'Ilamiyya ("The Fidelity Media Establishment"). These channels are aligned with the Islamic State's scholarly establishment, which has grown distrustful of the caliphate's leadership for reasons opposite those of *Wa-harrid al-mu'minin* and *al-Nadhir al-'Uryan*: the scholars believe the Islamic State has become too extremist in orientation.
- [10] See Muhammad Nasir al-Din al-Albani, Sahih al-targhib wa'l-tarhib, 3 vols. (Riyadh: Maktabat al-Ma'arif, 2000), 3:55.
- [11] 'Abd al-Rahman ibn Qasim, ed., *al-Durar al-saniyya fi 'l-ajwiba al-Najdiyya*, 16 vols., rev. ed. (Riyadh: Warathat al-Shaykh 'Abd al-Rahman ibn Qasim, 2012), 10:91-93, at 91.
- [12] See further on al-Hazimi Cole Bunzel, "Caliphate in Disarray: Theological Turmoil in the Islamic State," October 3, 2017, *Jihadica*, http://www.jihadica.com/caliphate-in-disarray/.
- [13] For an overview, see Shams al-Din al-Naqaz, "al-Qissa al-kamila lil-tayyar al-Hazimi al-akthar ghuluwwan fi 'l-takfir qabl Da'ish wa-ba'dahu," *Noon Post*, July 31, 2016 (part 1), http://www.noonpost.org/content/19129, August 2, 2017 (part 2), http://www.noonpost.org/content/19167.
- [14] Bunzel, From Paper State to Caliphate, 26.

- [15] Telegram post by al-Nadhir al-'Uryan, October 1, 2018, available at http://www.jihadica.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/nadhir-hattab.png
- [16] Tweet by @turky_albinali, May 22, 2014, available at http://www.jihadica.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/09/binalitweet.png.
- [17] Abu Maysara al-Shami (aka Abu Sulayman al-Shami, Ahmad Abu Samra), "Al-Hazimi bayna kabirat al-qu'ud wa-dalal al-Jamiyya," available at http://www.jihadica.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/09/al-Hazimi-bayn-kabirat-al-quud-wa-dalal-al-Jamiyya.pdf.
- [18] Tweet by @abitns, September 9, 2014, https://twitter.com/abitns/status/509320893030731776.
- [19] "Taqrir 'an zahirat al-ghuluww fi 'l-Dawla al-Islamiyya," Diwan al-Amn al-'Amm, November 14, 2015, available at http://www.jihadica.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/zahirat-al-ghuluww.pdf. For more on this document, see Aymenn Jawad Al-Tamimi, "An Internal Report on Extremism in the Islamic State," *aymennjawad.org*, November 1, 2018, http://www.aymennjawad.org/21757/an-internal-report-on-extremism-in-the-islamic.
- [20] Statement by the General Committee, 1435/2014, available at http://www.jihadica.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/09/tamim6. ipg.
- [21] "Al-Qabd 'ala khaliyya min al-ghulat khattatat lil-khuruj 'ala dawlat al-khilafa," al-Maktab al-I'lami li-Wilayat al-Raqqa, December 2014, https://archive.org/details/rqa_gwll.
- [22] "Dismantling a Khārijī Cell," Dabiq 6 (December 2014): 31.
- [23] On al-Bin'ali, see Cole Bunzel, "The Caliphate's Scholar-In-Arms," July 9, 2014, http://www.jihadica.com/the-caliphate%E2%80%99s-scholar-in-arms/; on his role in the Office of Research and Studies, see Bunzel, "A House Divided: Origins and Persistence of the Islamic State's Ideological Divide," June 5, 2018, http://www.jihadica.com/a-house-divided/.
- [24] Turki al-Bin'ali to the Delegated Committee, February 13, 2016, available at http://www.jihadica.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/al-binali-ila-al-lajna.pdf.
- [25] Abu Khabbab al-Masri, *Taqrir 'amm 'an amal al-lajna*, July 9, 2016, available at http://www.jihadica.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/taqrir-amm-an-amal-al-lajna.pdf.
- [26] See further on this term as used by the jihadis Joas Wagemakers, "Seceders' and 'Postponers'? An Analysis of the 'Khawarij' and 'Murji'a' Labels in Polemical Debates between Quietist and Jihadi-Salafis," in Jeevon Deol and Zaheer Kazmi, eds., *Contextualising Jihadi Thought* (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2012), 145-164.
- [27] Abu Khabbab al-Masri, *Taqrir ba'd al-jalsa ma'a al-shaykh Abi Hammam al-Athari*, April 10, 2016, available at http://www.jihadica.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/taqrir-bad-al-jalsa-maa-al-shaykh-Abi-Hammam.pdf.
- [28] al-Masri, Taqrir 'amm 'an amal al-lajna.
- [29] Statement from al-Maktab al-Markazi li-Mutaba'at al-Dawawin, May 29, 2016, available at http://www.jihadica.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/06/155.pdf.
- [30] For a lengthy treatment of the issues of extremism and Murji'ism in the Islamic State from the standpoint of this intermediate group, see *al-Tashjir li-masa'il al-irja' wa'l-ghuluww fi 'l-takfir*, available at http://www.jihadica.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/tashjir.pdf. According to al-Nadhir al-'Uryan, this was co-authored by Abu Sulayman al-Shami and Abu Khabbab al-Masri with the assistance of al-Furqan. See Telegram post by al-Nadhir al-'Uryan, September 3, 2018, http://www.jihadica.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/al-jadwal-alahu.png.
- [31] Turki al-Bin'ali to Abu Muhammad al-Furqan, May 19, 2016, available at http://www.jihadica.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/al-binali-to-al-furqan.pdf.
- [32] "Statement from Pentagon Press Secretary Peter Cook on Airstrike Against ISIL Senior Leader," U.S. Department of Defense, September 16, 2016, https://dod.defense.gov/News/News-Releases/News-Releases/News-Release-View/Article/946983/statement-from-pentagon-press-secretary-peter-cook-on-airstrike-against-isil-se/.
- [33] "Among the Believers are Men: Shaykh Abu Sulayman ash-Shami" *Rumiyah* 8 (April 2017): 40-45, available at https://jihadology.net/2017/04/05/new-release-of-the-islamic-states-magazine-rome-8/.
- [34] Telegram post by al-Nadhir al-'Uryan, October 16, 2018, available at http://www.jihadica.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/abu-khabbab-al-masri.png.
- [35] Turki al-Binʻali to the Abu Bakr al-Baghdadi, January 20, 2017, available at http://www.jihadica.com/wp-content/uploads/2019/01/hawl-mawdu-ihtiwa-al-ghulat.pdf. For more on this document, see Aymenn Jawad al-Tamimi, "Turki al-Binali's Critique of the 'Theory of Balance': Translation and Analysis," aymennjawad.org, January 8, 2019, http://www.aymennjawad.org/2019/01/turki-nawdu-ihtiwa-al-ghulat.pdf.

binali-critique-of-the-theory-of-balance.

- [36] Telegram post by al-Nadhir al-'Uryan, September 24, 2018, available at http://www.jihadica.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/nadhir-09.24.2018.pdf.
- [37] "Li-yahlika man halaka 'an bayyinatin wa-yahya man hayya 'an bayyina," Delegated Committee, May 17, 2017, available at http://www.jihadica.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/09/tamim has a standard for an English translation, see "That Those Who Perish Would Perish upon Proof and Those Who Live Would Live upon Proof," May 17, 2017 available at http://www.jihadica.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/09/That-Those-Who-Perish.pdf.
- [38] Turki al-Bin'ali to the Delegated Committee, May 19, 2018, available at http://www.jihadica.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/09/Binali-letter.pdf.
- [39] "Coalition forces killed Turki-al-Bin' ali," U.S. Central Command Press Release, June 20, 2017, http://www.centcom.mil/MEDIA/PRESS-RELEASES/Press-Release-View/Article/1220221/coalition-forces-killed-turki-al-bin-ali/.
- [40] "Maqtal al-Daʻishi Abu 'Abd al-Barr al-Salihi," *al-Ra'y*, August 29, 2017, http://www.alraimedia.com/Home/Details?Id=30a4c251-161f-42b2-9c6b-453ef88ebe17. For his refutation, dated May 23, 2017, see http://www.jihadica.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/09/Salihi-refutation.pdf.
- [41] Abu Muhammad al-Hashimi, *al-Nasiha al-Hashimiyya li-amir al-Dawla al-Islamiyya*, July 5, 2017, available at http://www.jihadica.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/09/al-Nasiha-al-Hashimiyya.pdf. For more on this document, see Aymenn Jawad al-Tamimi, "Dissent in the Islamic State: 'Hashimi Advice' to Abu Bakr al-Baghdadi," *aymennjawad.org*, January 4, 2019, http://www.aymennjawad.org/22199/dissent-in-the-islamic-state-hashimi-advice-to.
- [42] 'Ali al-Husayni, "Maqtal al-mufti al-shar'i li-Da'ish Abu Bakr al-Qahtani fi 'l-'Iraq," *al-'Arabi al-Jadid*, August 13, 2017, <a href="https://www.alaraby.co.uk/politics/2017/8/13/%D9%85%D9%82%D8%AA%D9%84-%D8%A7%D9%84%D9%85%D9%81%D8%AA%D9%84-%D8%A7%D9%84%D9%85%D9%81%D8%B9%D8%B4-%D8%A7%D9%84%D9%80-%D8%AF%D8%A7%D9%86%D9%8A-%D8%A8%D9%88-%D8%A8%D9%83%D8%B1-%D8%A7%D9%84%D9%82%D8%AD%D8%B7%D8%A7%D9%86%D9%8A-%D9%81%D9%8A-%D8%A7%D9%84%D8%B9%D8%B1%D8%A7%D9%82.
- [43] Khabbab al-Jazrawi, *Taʻliqan ʻala khabar maqtal Abi Bakr al-Qahtani sharʻi al-Dawla*, available at http://www.jihadica.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/09/taliq-al-Jazrawi.pdf.
- [44] For the statement, see http://www.jihadica.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/10/new-tamim.jpg.
- [45] Telegram post by al-Nadhir al-'Uryan, September 24, 2018, available at http://www.jihadica.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/nadhir-09.24.2018.pdf.
- [46] Abu Hafs al-Wadʻani to Abu Bakr al-Baghdadi, December 6, 2017, available at http://www.jihadica.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/Abu-Hafs-letter.pdf.
- [47] Telegram post by al-Nadhir al-'Uryan, October 14, 2018, available at http://www.jihadica.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/ nadhir-10.14.2018.pdf.
- [48] For the Arabic transcript, see http://www.jihadica.com/wpcontent/uploads/2018/09/silsila-ilmiyya.pdf. For an English translation, see "Knowledge Series Clarifying Matters of Methodology," Ahlut-Tawhid Publications, available at http://www.jihadica.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/09/Knowledge-Series.pdf. See further on this series Cole Bunzel, "The Islamic State's Mufti on Trial: The Saga of the 'Silsila 'Ilmiyya," CTC Sentinel, October 2018, 14-17.
- [49] Bayan wa-tawdih bi-khusus tatimmat halaqat Silsila 'ilmiyya fi bayan masa'il manhajiyya, Mu'assasat al-Turath al-'Ilmi, July 7, 2018, available at http://www.jihadica.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/09/bayan-watawdih.pdf. For a transcript of the three missing episodes, see http://www.jihadica.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/09/tatimmat-halaqat.pdf.
- [50] For the news reports of Mu'assasat al-Turath al-'Ilmi between December 2017 and September 2018, see http://www.jihadica.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/09/turath-reports.pdf.
- [51] Telegram post by al-Nadhir al-'Uryan, September 24, 2018, available at http://www.jihadica.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/nadhir-09.24.2018.pdf.
- [52] Cole Bunzel, "Death of a Mufti: The Execution of the Islamic State's Abu Ya'qub al-Maqdisi," *Jihadica*, January 4, 2019, http://www.jihadica.com/death-of-a-mufti/.
- [53] Cole Bunzel, "A House Divided: Origins and Persistence of the Islamic State's Internal Divide," *Jihadica*, June 5, 2018, http://www.jihadica.com/a-house-divided/.

The Islamic State's Way of War in Iraq and Syria: From its Origins to the Post Caliphate Era

By Ahmed S. Hashim

Abstract

This article examines the Islamic State's way of warfare from its origins in the early 2000s to the present (2019), by analyzing and addressing the critical issues of how and why a state or non-state actor fights the way it does.

Keywords: way of warfare, Islamic State, guerrilla war, Iraq, Syria

Introduction

Despite its defeats, which effectively ended its 'caliphate' in 2018, Islamic State (IS) continues to pose a threat to international security. It is therefore critical to understand IS' way of warfare in order to defeat an "enemy that refuses to die" [1]. In 2016, IS 'officials' were already prepared for the possibility that they would lose territory and large numbers of personnel. Convoluted discussions about victory and defeat being part of a 'Divine plan' or of God's judgment on His 'flock,' were rationalized by claiming that sometimes God's favor smiles on them and sometimes it does not. However, they did not simply rely on the Divinity for explanations of their successes and setbacks; instead they took measures to lessen the impact of setbacks and to remain militarily effective much to the chagrin of their exhausted enemies.

Purpose of Study

Much has been written about IS' ideology, social media operations, organization, finances, and brutality toward its foes. However, almost absent from these discussions are detailed analyses about how it fights and why it fights the way it does. This article aims to fill that void in conceptual analysis of the IS way of warfare by building on and going beyond what has been written so far. Specifically, this article has two goals. The first is to discuss briefly the concept of 'a way of warfare' and the factors that shape ways of war. This will help us establish a conceptual framework for better understanding how Islamic State fights. The primary purpose is to trace Islamic State's way of warfare from 2003 to the end of 2018.

The Concept of a Way of Warfare

The concept of a way of warfare, which has been used extensively in military history and more recently Strategic Studies, addresses the twin issues of how and why a state or non-state actor fights the way it does. A military organization's way of war does not just emerge; its rise is shaped by many factors.

Factors shaping ways of warfare

Ideology and leadership ideas or preferences shape ways of war. The structural influences range from the impact of environment such as geography and terrain, nature of the demographic base, availability of resources including finances, characteristics of the available military technology, and, of course, the nature of the enemy and that enemy's strengths and weaknesses.

The role ideology plays in warfare is complicated. IS ideology, its system of beliefs, which we generally refer to as being part of the Salafi-jihadist worldview, is the primary source of why to fight and only secondarily of how to fight. Ideology is the source of the goals it seeks to implement, it tells IS members who the enemies are and

why they must be fought. Ideology influences their view of the world, and if they suffer ideological fracture then that affects overall cohesion of the movement.

How ideology affects ways of war has been extensively debated. To quote Leon Trotsky, "Marxism can be applied with great success even to the history of chess. But it is not possible to learn to play chess in a Marxist way." [2] The jihadist strategic thinker, Abu Bakr Naji, noted in Management of Savagery that war-fighting consists of universal principles – sunan kawniyyah -- that are independent of ideology but are subject to the constraints imposed on them or opportunities provided by technology, human capabilities, resources, environment and the nature of the enemy.

While the previous discussion makes a great deal of sense, ideology cannot be easily dismissed as a factor in the formulation of ways of warfare of societies, especially for those that are ideological in thought and behavior. In the context of Islamist and specifically IS' way of warfare, this is where the term jihad comes in. Jihad means to struggle, to strive, or to exert effort. It also means holy war and for some Islamists it is one of the most important obligations of the religion. Islam sanctions war ideologically like other religions. The Quran permits jihad to repel aggression, to defend the state and the religion, to establish Islam in areas where it does not exist, to fight injustice and the persecution of Muslims. This does not tell us how to fight but why you must fight. The Quran also calls upon Muslims to make certain military preparations for jihad, both mental and material, much of which pertains to how to fight.[3]

The impact of ideology on the IS way of warfare occurs at three distinct levels. At the first level, ideology identifies the enemy, rationalizes why he is the enemy, and provides the justifications for war against that enemy. That level is not about how and why IS fights the way it does, but also about justification and rationalization for war.

At another level, ideology influences the trajectory of what is permissible to do in war, i.e. how to fight, how to treat soldiers and civilians, how to deal with prisoners of war, what technology is permissible to use in war, and the disposition of property and assets seized. This primarily deals with notions of 'Just War' and the laws of war.

At the third level, ideology shapes training and preparation for war fighting. Is the ideologically prepared soldier a better soldier? Well-trained and fit soldiers who regularly and realistically train for the clash of arms are usually better prepared for war. But do spiritual and ideological preparations add to their fighting prowess in terms of resilience, higher morale, and cohesion?

Ideological systems like Soviet Russia, Nazi Germany, Communist Vietnam and Islamic Iran have provided strong doses of ideological preparation for their soldiers. Similarly, Islamist groups have valued ideological indoctrination and preparation from the time of Palestinian militant Abdullah Azzam's exhortation that foreign fighters coming to help the Afghan mujahidin fight the Soviet invaders must be mentally and spiritually prepared before battle. Hence, Islamist training camps and war fighting curricula included a heavy dose of ideological preparation. In the early years of their confrontations with their enemies, many Islamist groups seemed to put greater stress on ideological preparation at the expense of instruction in preparation and readiness for war fighting. This often showed on the battlefields where poor military training resulted in significant casualties.

Many groups then began to put equal, if not greater stress on 'professional' training and preparation for war, which resulted in greater lethality. While one could argue that ideological and professional military training should go hand in hand to make an effective soldier, it is difficult to convincingly disaggregate the impact of ideology and spiritual training from other factors that promote resilience, cohesion and morale in a particular entity's way of warfare.[4]

Leaders and elites also play a role in the formulation of a way of warfare, be it a state or non-state actor. Their respective views of the outside world, and particularly of the enemy shape their way of warfare. Abu Musab al-Zarqawi, the man responsible for the origins of IS, had a pathological hatred for the Shia and this hatred formed the very basis of his attacks against Shia civilians, Shia-dominated Iraqi security forces and government

officials. His successor, Abu Umar al-Baghdadi, on the other hand, wanted to build a territorially based 'state' – the Islamic State of Iraq (ISI) -- and he urged the formation of semi-regular fighting units to face the enemy.[5]

Geography is an immutable factor as it is the space in which organized mass violence between warring groups takes place. The physical and human environments profoundly shape ways of warfare. IS strategists complained that Iraq was not suitable for classic guerrilla warfare because of its lack of sanctuaries, the absence of truly inhospitable terrain such as in Afghanistan, Chechnya or Yemen. Zarqawi himself wrote of this. In an interview released in December 2006, he was asked, "What difficulties face jihad in Iraq?" He responded:

There can be no comparison between our capabilities and the enemy's resources. Hundreds of our brothers are fighting hundreds of thousands of the enemy.... The land of jihad in Iraq is different from Afghanistan and Chechnya. The brothers in those two countries are helped either by forests or high mountains where they can hide from the enemy and prevent him from reaching them. Iraq is flat without mountains, wadis or forests.[6]

To be sure, geography does confer advantages on certain types of terrain for irregular war. It is advantageous for the weaker side to use terrain inaccessible to the stronger side. Mountainous and jungle terrains are considered to be advantageous to the insurgent as control of terrain for a sustained period of time allows an armed non-state actor the 'luxury' to develop more sophisticated and more deadly war fighting techniques.[7] The situation was remedied to some extent by the jihadists' success in establishing a sanctuary in Diyala province northeast of Baghdad where the terrain enabled them to set up training grounds and build disciplined small units that could fight.

The major problem for the jihadist insurgents in Iraq was the human terrain rather than the physical terrain for many reasons. Firstly, the jihadists actively provoked and killed communities they considered their enemies but this in turn reduced the jihadists' ability to build a supportive environment to further their cause. Secondly, those who were their allies – Iraqi Sunni insurgents – were often short-term opportunistic allies with whom they competed for power and resourced and who would ultimately transform into enemies.

The role of military technology in influencing the way of warfare has been massively acknowledged in both military history and strategic studies. Non-state actors simply do not have the same military technology as states: they do not have established and secure facilities for production or modification of weapons. States that may be sympathetic to insurgents have to provide munitions and arms in a clandestine and covert manner through convoluted supply lines. Non-state actors can also acquire weapons and ammunition through capture (as has happened with the case of IS against dismal performance by Syrian and Iraqi forces in 2013 and 2014). If insurgents consolidate control over territory, they can begin their own production facilities, which provide their forces regularly with weapons, ammunition, and even produce innovative low-tech weapons or modifications of the advanced weapons captured from the enemy.

The nature and capabilities of the foe one is fighting also shapes your way of warfare. When the jihadist 'war machine' recovered between 2012 and 2015, it faced Syrian, Iraqi and Kurdish forces who were suffering from serious shortfalls in their morale, capabilities and in their respective ways of war against emerging insurgent forces. This facilitated IS' ability to fight almost conventionally. However, with the improvement in the capabilities of the Syrian, Iraqi and Kurdish forces, as well as the introduction of potent airpower by the United States and its allies, IS was forced to re-think its way of warfare to deal with the dynamics on the ground.

Is there an Islamic way of warfare?

Understanding ways of warfare has never been a 'scientific' objective analytical exercise. It has more to do with how peoples, cultures, and states view the way of warfare of others and often this turns out to be skewed by lack of accurate information and the existence of ingrained political and cultural prejudices. This particularly affects our understanding of the ways of war of non-state actors.

Since 9/11 there have been many writings arguing that there is an Islamic way of warfare based on Islamic theories and practice of war going back to the Prophet Mohammad and his successors. Most of the literature dealing with an alleged Islamic way of warfare lacks depth, is ahistorical, and highly political or 'orientalist' in that it posits certain unchanging structural attributes from the founding days of the religion to the present way of warfare of the myriad Islamist groups around the world.

In American Thinker, author Robert Engler writes that IS military strategy is a mirror image of that used by Mohammad in his wars. Engler begins dramatically: "The strategy is world domination under the rule of Islam." [8] However, Engler makes avoidable mistakes. Strategy is a means to an end or goal. He then tells us: "tactical advances and withdrawals, controlling large areas of territory, using the media to broadcast terror and fear, the use of oil as a source of revenue and soliciting ISIS recruits from Muslim communities in the West have so far made ISIS unstoppable." [9] Mohammad did not have access to any of these resources (oil, modern media, or 'Muslims living in the West'). Finally, Engler, like many others who believe in the existence of a specific 'oriental way of war,' adds that 'tactical advances and withdrawals' and 'controlling large areas of territory' are military factors that are specifically Islamic or Islamist; they are not as any military commander or military historian would point out. Engels' piece is just the tip of the iceberg here as there are other numerous faulty understandings of the so-called Islamic or Islamist ways of warfare. [10]

By way of contrast, rigorous military studies of jihadist warfare are emerging. Many researchers have done outstanding work seeking to understand how IS fights. The primary weakness of their analyses, however, is the lack of a conceptual framework for understanding IS' way of warfare. Much data is accumulated leading to very detailed descriptions of battles and technical specifications of IS weapons but little assessment of what that all means.[11] More recently, some observers have provided conceptual frameworks for analyzing the enormous amount of data on IS' military enterprise, looking at both IS military strategy and ways of warfare conceptually, as well as minutely describing battles and theater operations.[12] This article profits from what has already been done on IS way of war and builds upon all these preceding works to promote further accumulation of knowledge and to arrive at some tentative conclusions.

The IS Way of Warfare: Thought and Practice

The man responsible for the emergence of the original movement is Abu Musab al-Zarqawi, born Ahmad Fadel Nazzal al-Khalayleh in the gritty industrial city of Zarqa, Jordan. In 1989, at the age of 23 he made his way to Peshawar with other novices. Zarqawi was quite clear that during his first sojourn in Afghanistan the group did not gain much experience in organizational or military matters. Moreover, given the end of the war with the Soviet invaders and the falling out among various mujahidin groups, there was nobody able or willing to provide training, development or organizational structure:

During the second trip, which took place in 1999, things improved. Zarqawi's initial organizational structure was not based on a rational system of hierarchy and management but more on a circle of family and friends who came from the Fertile Crescent. When they arrived in Iraq in 2002 with their organization, Jamiat al-Tawhid wa al-Jihad (JTJ) to confront the coming American invasion, they realized they were not ready for war. By its own admission, JTJ initially lacked a base for operations, military credentials, and popular support. A report by one member, Abu Anas al-Shami, stated:

We have discovered that after one year of jihad we have not accomplished anything on the ground. None of us could find a piece of land [the size of the palm of the hand] to use as a shelter or a place to retire to safety among some members of [his] group.... We would hide at daylight and sneak like a cat at night... Homes were raided and the heroes were chased. It was a dark picture and everyone felt a sense of terrible failure.[14]

War in Iraq forced Zarqawi to develop a more formal structure. The group created an organization endowed

with specific tasks and missions. They sought to establish a leadership that would manage the organization as it set about the deadly business of sowing mayhem in Iraq. The organization was going to be involved in serious fighting for the first time and needed to create a functionally specialized military capability with distinct sets of expertise and skills. At the beginning, Zarqawi's chief operational weapons were suicide bombing and Improvised Explosive Devices (IEDs). Between April 2003 and September 2005, 400 suicide bombings took place in Iraq, including 90 in May 2005, nearly as many as the number conducted by Palestinians in Israel between 1993 and 2005.[15] As Zarqawi put it in an interview released after his death:

The brothers' most effective weapon, after relying on God and praying to him for success, has been martyrdom operations. It is the brothers' unanswerable weapon for which the enemy can find no remedy. The enemies cannot prevent such operations.... Hence these martyrdom operations have played a big role in weakening the enemy and making it reach this level of despair, confusion, defeatist spirit, and psychological collapse.[16]

The impact of suicide bombing campaign was strategic but not to the ultimate benefit of the organization. The campaign contributed to the outbreak of the vicious civil war between Sunnis and Shias and to the decision of many Sunni groups to turn against Zarqawi and his organization in late 2006. Zarqawi's organization was very weak in urban warfare, small-unit skills and fighting abilities. The level of functional specialization in other military arenas such as artillery, mortar units, snipers and logistics were considerably less developed, if at all, in those earlier years.[17]

Zarqawi's successors sought to further build up the organization and were deluded into thinking that the time was ripe for an Islamic State of Iraq (ISI) under Zarqawi's immediate successor as leader, Abu Umar al-Baghdadi. This was at the very moment the organization was being hollowed out by relentless U.S. operations and a major assault by the thoroughly disgruntled Sunni insurgents. ISI's ability to move freely came under severe pressure as Iraqi civilians and certain insurgent elements began to provide useful information to U.S. forces who used it effectively and quickly to take down ISI leaders and cells.

In early November 2007, U.S. forces raided an insurgent hideout in Balad and found a diary of an ISI 'emir,' or commander named 'Abu Tariq.' Mostly written in October 2007, the diary catalogues the decline of ISI in that sector. 'Abu Tariq' once commanded 600 fighters, a substantially sized ISI brigade, as most were smaller. By October 2007 he was down to 20 men. He blamed the Sunni turn-around against ISI for the organization's demise. [18]

Abu Umar al-Baghdadi's recognition of the disastrous defeat of ISI is detailed in Issue 101 of the organization's magazine Al-Naba, which addresses military matters, and led him to lament "lam yabqa lana al 'an makan, nastati' al-sumud fi ha rub' saa" (there is no place left for us to make a stand even for a quarter of an hour). He had to take the bold decision ('qararan jar'in) to dismantle the semi-conventional structure and rely largely on clandestine means such as assassinations, sabotage, raids and use of 'stand-off' weapons such as IEDs.[19]

The loss of the human terrain – support of people and other insurgent organizations – negatively affected ISI's way of warfare and led to its rapid atrophy as a fighting force between 2007 and 2011. However, despite the massive losses by 2011, it is clear, in retrospect, that ISI had not been decisively defeated either by the Sunni revolt against it or by the ongoing U.S. military surge. When the Americans withdrew, ISI began reassessing its position, learning from its mistakes and rebuilding the organization.

Military Re-Emergence and Decline of Islamic State, 2012-Present

The December 2011 U.S. withdrawal signaled the end of Islamic State of Iraq's (ISI) decline. The Iraqi Security Forces simply did not have the training, flexibility, and will to plan and execute high-tempo operations against the jihadists.

In July 2012, the ISI began the first of two intensive insurgency campaigns that paved the way for its operations of 2014.[20] The first, "Breaking the Walls," involved a wave of high-explosive truck bombings against prisons, security installations and 'soft' targets. It lasted for a year and was designed to free jihadist prisoners and provoke Shia retaliation. The second, "Soldiers Harvest," which began in July 2013, was a targeted campaign of assassinations and bombings against the security forces. These campaigns were well resourced and executed with a high level of professionalism. ISI had moved from being a largely terrorist outfit, which used suicide-bombers, assassinations, and car bombs to one that could fight effectively along a spectrum ranging from terrorism to more complex operations involving the command and coordination of different types of units and weapons.

The Rise of ISIS Conventional Warfare Capabilities

In 2013, ISI changed its name to Islamic State of Iraq and Syria (ISIS) because of its decision to become involved in the Syrian civil war against the regime of Bashar al-Assad. ISIS developed into a more functionally specialized military organization able to wage war using robust guerrilla warfare and semi-conventional mobile warfare. It put these capabilities to good use in mid-2014 and beyond in both offensive and defensive operations in both Iraq and Syria, particularly during the spectacular defeats of Syrian forces in Tabqa, Menagh, Deir-Ez-Zor, and Palmyra and of Iraqi forces in Mosul, Tikrit, and Ramadi.

The ferocity of ISIS offensives in both Syria and Iraq contributed considerably to the demoralization and degradation of Syrian and Iraqi military units. The defeat of Syrian and Iraqi military forces in 2014 allowed ISIS to acquire vast stocks of weapons, munitions and military vehicles. ISIS was able to seize significant territory enabling it to set up its "caliphate" – also known as the Islamic State - with about 8 million people under its control.

The capture of territory gave IS the 'breathing space' to start building a conventional capability and a relatively robust military production and modification capability that was impressive for its achievements in producing weapons, modifying captured weapons and churning out ammunition and shells for its forces. It seized a significant quantity of Russian and American artillery from the Iraqi armed forces and Russian artillery from the Syrian army. IS developed an armored corps based largely on the Soviet and Russian T-series of tanks.[21] IS also used tanks to breach enemy defensive positions and to provide firepower for advancing 'motorized' IS units, often riding in Toyota pick-up trucks.[22] IS, however, did not use its tanks in major or large-scale armored battles reminiscent of clashes between the armored forces of conventional armies. It seemed unable to handle more than one to two platoons of tanks (i.e. 4-5 or 8 to 10) at any one time. This may have been due to growing pains in command, communications, and control, which it may have been unable to resolve before its conventional military capabilities were eroded. Instead, IS small units used anti-tank missiles in both the offense and defense and were effective in taking out numerous enemy tanks and armored personnel vehicles. [23]

IS avoidance of massing armor could have been a way to avoid giving its enemy's air power the opportunity to strike large formations. IS writings showed that it was very concerned by the impact of enemy airpower on its ability to function on the ground. This was clearly reflected in articles referring 'to how to fight under the eyes of Crusader planes,' which recommended the dispersal of IS ground forces and the use of extensive camouflage and deception on the battlefields.[24]

Unlike its predecessors, IS built a relatively large conventional infantry force structure of special units, known as inghimasi, and regulars, which included foreign fighter units and local fighters. The inghimasi are IS' equivalent of the special forces of regular armies. They are not suicide bombers but well-trained commandos whose missions are to breach defensive positions at whatever cost necessary. They were also used in the frontlines as assault troops in offensives, to conduct reconnaissance operations, and to cover retreats of IS forces.[25]

IS 'regular' infantry forces were divided between foreign and local Syrian and Iraqi fighters. The foreign fighters were more ideologically motivated than the local units who were largely motivated by local grievances against their respective governments in Syria and Iraq. However, cohesion and discipline issues within both foreign

fighter units and among the local fighters became a concern after reverses and serious defeats followed the victories of 2014.[26]

IS' seizure of garrisons and bases in both Iraq and Syria (such as Menagh and Tabqa) showed it had built a relatively effective small-unit conventional capability. Operational methods improved dramatically in the 2013-2015 time frame. Its 'officers' were able to command, control and coordinate the fire and maneuver of fire teams on the ground in the assault against government positions in Syria and Iraq. Later, when IS was forced onto the defensive in cities, its units were able to defend effectively in the inner areas of cities until it ordered its forces to melt away into the desert or rural areas.[27]

Its traditional operational method such as suicide vehicle borne improvised explosive devices (SVBIEDs) became even more lethal and was used with deadly effect in urban warfare. IS transformed its suicide bombing enterprise from a small-scale effort producing suicide belts and vests for individual suicide bombers and fitting passenger cars with explosives for the deadly SVBIEDs in small workshops to more industrial scale production in the captured cities. IS would eventually also be able to rig large trucks and captured military vehicles with large quantities of high explosives. The scale of IS' industrial production of SVBIEDs, for use in the defense of Mosul against the Iraqi Army was staggering.[28]

IS shocked the allied ground forces when it introduced simple drones into the theater of operations. IS used drones for a variety of purposes: to provide reconnaissance and surveillance, to drop small quantities of munitions and grenades on enemy ground forces, to guide SVBIED drivers to their targets, and help IS units to plan offensives and defensive battles.[29]

Down the Spectrum of Violence: Terrorist and Insurgent Campaigns

From 2016 onward, IS was forced on the defensive and began to cede ground. The defeat of IS, loss of over 90% of its territory, death of a considerable number of its high quality personnel, and destruction of military equipment eliminated its capabilities to wage effective warfare at the higher end of the violence spectrum.

The loss of territorial strength – tamkin – was a double blow to IS conventional military capabilities and to its state-building enterprise. IS officials tried to downplay the significance and argued that it had happened once before in the 2008-2010 timeframe, that they were prepared for it again, and that they would eventually overcome this latest setback.[30]

However, following its catastrophic losses IS reverted to terrorism and guerrilla warfare. This was expected as extensive territorial losses force an armed non-state actor back down the spectrum of 'lesser' forms of warfare. Having experienced a similar scenario of defeat and loss of territory in the past, IS leaders again discussed available options in 2016. They realized that their position as a territorial entity was increasingly untenable and that they would have to revert to 'lower' and simpler operations in order to remain significant. In an August 2018 speech the IS leader, the 'caliph' Abu Bakr al-Baghdadi, said: "for the mujahideen, the scale of victory or defeat is not dependent on a city or town being stolen or subject to those with aerial superiority, intercontinental ballistic missiles or smart bombs." [31]

After 2017, IS fighters regularly launched terrorist and guerrilla attacks on civilians, military forces, police and anti-IS militias in both Syria and Iraq. Clandestine IS cells tasked with covert missions such as assassinations and sabotage reappeared in provinces and cities from which they had been ejected at great cost.[32]

Conclusions

It is too early to reach concrete conclusions about IS' way of warfare. However, a number of key points can be highlighted from this brief overview of IS' way of warfare.

First, IS leaders have been faced with two problems common to many entities in an unequal fight: (i) how does

ISSN 2334-3745 28 February 2019

the weak fight the strong; (ii) and how does the weak defeat the strong. The weak can be any kind of organized entity fighting a stronger organized entity that has greater numbers of manpower, better technology, and more resources. A non-state actor cannot build a capability that is simply the mirror image of the state. Therefore, it has to find other ways to fight and defeat the stronger opponent. In recent conflicts involving non-state actors, many have discovered that developing a wide repertoire of ways and means – strategies and weapons systems – guarantees them greater military effectiveness and resilience against their enemies.[33]

Second, IS was and continues to be a learning organization. IS is eclectic in that it borrows from all sources – both ancient and modern and both Islamic and non-Islamic – in its way of warfare.[34] The commonly accepted cliché is that while IS' theology is that of the 7th century, it is a thoroughly modern entity in how it propagates its ideology, builds its organization, recruits personnel, conducts information operations, justifies brutal terror, and in how it fights.

Third, IS evolved into a hybrid non-state actor after 2012. The term 'hybrid capabilities' or 'hybrid warfare' are ambiguous and loosely applied terms.[35] However, for the purposes of this article, a hybrid non-state actor has two paramount characteristics: (i) Unlike traditional terrorist groups whose resources are limited, IS developed robust and lethal structure that included the traditional instruments of terrorism, the techniques of insurgents, and the capabilities to conduct semi-conventional warfare; (ii) depending on circumstances, the environment, and the characteristics of the enemy, IS can go back and forth along this spectrum of violence from terrorism to semi-conventional warfare. This was evident in 2016, when the extensive loss of territory and state infrastructure forced IS to revert back to its basic guerrilla or terrorist specialties: the small hasty ambushes, the solo suicide bomber and 'covert' Suicide Vehicle Borne IED using civilian vehicles. When it faced lackluster conventional military forces on the ground, IS was able to engage at the higher end of the spectrum of violence and used semi-conventional warfare.

About the Author: **Ahmed S. Hashim** is Associate Professor of Strategic Studies at the S. Rajaratnam School Of international Studies, Nanyang Technological University. His most recent publication is The Caliphate at War: Operational Innovations and Realities of the Islamic State (NY: Oxford University Press, 2018).

Notes

- [1] Linah Alsaafin, "L'État islamique: l'ennemi qui refuse de mourir," *Middleeasteye*, (March 7, 2016); https://www.middleeasteye.net.fr/analyses/l'tat-islamique-i-e
- [2] Cited in Mischa Snaije, "Trotsky's Military Genius," (March 13, 2012), online.
- [3] Shiraz Maher, Salafi-Jihadism: The History of an Idea, London: Penguin, 2017, 31-68.
- [4] On the importance of training for military organizations in general, a superb analysis is by Hew Strachan, "Training, Morale and Modern War," *Journal of Contemporary History*, Vol.41, No.2 (April 2006), 212-227. On jihadist and IS training, see the trailblazing studies of Brynjar Lia, "Doctrines for Jihadi Terrorist Training," *Terrorism and Political Violence*, Vol.20, No.4 (2008), 518-542; and Truls Hallberg Tønnessen, "Training on a Battlefield: Iraq as a Training Ground for Global Jihadis," *Terrorism and Political Violence*, Vol.20, No.4 (2008), 543-562. For more recent analyses, see Wissam Abdallah, "What it takes to join the Islamic State," *Al-Monitor*, (August 6, 2015); https://www.al-monitor.com/pulse/politics/2015/08/syria-fight; Hassan Hassan, "The secret world of Isis training camps ruled by sacred texts and the sword," *The Guardian*, (January 25, 2015); https://www.theguardian.com/world/2015/jan/25/inside-isis-tra;; Aymenn Jawad al-Tamimi, "Sample Structure of an Islamic State Training Camp," Pundicity, February 8, 2017; https://www.aymennjawad.org/2017/02/sample-structure-of-an-islamic-state-training-camp
- [5] Mehmet Bastug and Ahmet Guler, "The influence of leadership on the strategies and tactics of Islamic State and its predecessors," *Journal of Policing, Intelligence and Counter-Terrorism*, (2018), online.
- [6] "Translation of Old Al-Zarqawi Interview, Says God's Law Must Rule 'Entire World," OSC-GMP20061211281001, (December 6, 2006), https://www.opensource.gov/portal/server.pt/gateway/PTARGS 0 0 762 303 0 43/http
- [7] Luis de la Calle and Ignacio Sanchez-Cuenca, "How Armed Groups Fight: Territorial Control and Violent Tactics," *Studies in Conflict and Terrorism*, 38, (10) 2015, 795-813.

- [8] Robert Klein Engler, "The Black Flag of ISIS Signifies the Military Tactics of Muhammad," *American Thinker*, (October 21, 2014); https://www.americanthinker.com/articles/2014/10/the-black-flag of-isis-signifies-the-military-tactics-of-muhammad.html
- [9] Ibid.
- [10] Ralph Peters, "When Muslim armies won: Lessons from yesteryear's jihadi victories," *Armed Forces Journal*, 1 September 2007), 38; Peter Layton and Michael Tomlinson, "The new Arab way of war," United States Naval Institute Proceedings, 129, (3) March 2003, 62-65.
- [11] See the online work of Hugo Kaaman at https://hugokaaman.com/; two Dutch authors, Stijn Mitzer and Joost Oliemans at https://spioenkop.blogspot.com/; and the detailed reports of Stephane Mantoux and Matteo Puxton in France Soir from 2016 to the present. Nobody to date has superseded these authors for their knowledge on the technical specifications of IS weapons and descriptions of IS battles.
- [12] Those working on conceptualizing IS military strategy and way of war, include myself and Craig Whiteside, "New Masters of Revolutionary Warfare: The Islamic State Movement (2002-2016)," *Perspectives on Terrorism*, 10, (4) 2016; http://www.terrorismanalysts.com/pt/index.php/pot/article/vie; Laurent Touchard, "Organisation Tactique et Methodes de Combat de l'Etat Islamique," CONOPS, (2 March, 2016); Michael Ryan, "ISIS: The Terrorist Group That Would Be a State," (2015), CIWAG Case Studies, 4; https://www.digital-commons.isnwc.edu/ciwag-case-studies/4; Hassan Hassan, "Out of the Desert: ISIS's Strategy for a Long War," Middle East Institute, Policy Paper 2018-8 (September 2018); Andrea Beccaro, "Modern Irregular War: The ISIS Case Study," *Small Wars and Insurgencies*, 29, (2) 2018, 207-228; Thomas Maurer, "ISIS's Warfare Functions: A Systematized Review of a Proto-State's Conventional Conduct of Combat Operations," *Small Wars and Insurgencies*, 29, (2) 2018, 229-244.
- [13] "Translation of Old Al-Zarqawi Interview, Says God's Law Must Rule 'Entire World," OSC-GMP20061211281001, (December 6, 2006), https://www.opensource.gov/portal/server.pt/gateway/PTARGS 0 0 762 303 0 43/http
- [14] Quoted in Nimrod Raphaeli, "The Sheikh of the Slaughterers: Abu Musab al-Zarqawi and the Al-Qaeda Connection," MEMRI, Report No.231 (July 1, 2005).
- [15] Dan Eggen and Scott Wilson, "Suicide Bombs Potent Tools of Terrorists," Washington Post, (July 17, 2005), A1.
- [16] "Translation of Old Al-Zarqawi Interview, Says God's Law Must Rule 'Entire World," OSC-GMP20061211281001, December 6, 2006, https://www.opensource.gov/portal/server.pt/gateway/PTARGS 0 0 762 303 0 43/http
- [17] Ahmed S. Hashim, *The Caliphate at War: Operational Realities and Innovations of the Islamic State*, New York: Oxford University Press, 2018, Chapter 5.
- [18] Sudarsan Raghavan, "Diary of an Insurgent In Retreat," *Washington Post*, (February 10, 2008), http://www.washingtonpost.com/wpdyn/content/article/2008/02/0
- [19] Quoted in "Abuwat al-nasifa: Ahamiyataha wa tariq istikhdamaha," (Explosive Devices: Importance and Ways to Use), *Al-Naba*, No.101 (1439, October 12, 2017), 8.
- [20] Jessica Lewis, "Al-Qaeda In Iraq Resurgent: The Breaking the Walls Campaign, Part I," Institute for the Study of War, (September 2013) and "Al-Qaeda Resurgent, Part II," Institute for the Study of War, (October 2013).
- [21] Stephane Mantoux and Mathieu Morant, "L'emploi des chars par Daesh," *JForum*, February 9, 2017); https://www.jforum.fr/lemploi-des-chars-par-daesh.html;
- [22] Dave Majumdar, "Russia's Lethal T-90 Tank vs. ISIS' captured M1 Abrams: Who Wins?" *The National Interest*, (September 15, 2015).
- [23] Stephane Mantoux, "État islamique: les missiles antichars, arme defensive par excellence des djihadistes de Daech," *France Soir*, (May 3, 2017); http://www.francesoir.fr/politique-monde/etat-islamique-les-missiles-antichars-arme-defensive-par-excellence-des-djihadistes-daech-ei-syrie-irak-armement-tactiques-strategie-djihad-chars-propagande-cham-mossoul-bataille-raqqa
- [24] "Kayf tuqatil taht aiyun al-ta'irat al-salibiyya?" (How to Fight under the Eyes of the Crusader Planes?), Part I, *Al-Naba*, No.97 (1438, September 14, 2017) and Part II, *Al-Naba*, No. 98 (1439, September 21, 2017).
- [25] Thomas Maurer, "ISIS's Warfare Functions: A Systematized Review of a Proto-State's Conventional Conduct of Combat Operations," 234; Stephane Mantoux, "Bataille de Raqqa: les inghimasiyyi, les troupes de choc de l'État islamique," *France Soir*, June 30, 2017; http://www.francesoir.fr/politique-monde/bataille-raqqa.inghi
- [26] Erika Solomon, "Isis cohesion tested as fighters' morale ebbs amid slowing military expansion," *Financial Times*, (December 20, 2014), p.1; Loveday Morris and Mustafa Salim, "A file on Islamic State's 'problem' foreign fighters shows some are refusing to fight," *Washington Post*, February 7, 2017; https://www.washingtonpost.com/world/middle-east/a-file-on

- [27] Michael Knights and Alexander Mello, "Defeat by Annihilation: Mobility and Attrition in the Islamic State's Defense of Mosul," *CTC Sentinel*, Vol.10, Issue 43 (May 2017).
- [28] Charlie Winter, "War by Suicide: A Statistical Analysis of the Islamic State's Martyrdom Industry," International Centre for Counter-Terrorism, The Hague. ICCT Research Paper (February 2017); Hugo Kaaman, "Islamic state statistics on its SVBIED use from late 2015 through 2017, including the battle of Mosul," https://zaytunarjuwani.wordpress.com/2018/18/islamic-stat
- [29] Ash Rossiter, "Drone usage by militant groups: exploring variation in adoption," Defense and Security Analysis, (June 20, 2018, online); Don Rassler, *The Islamic State and Drones: Supply, Scale, and Future Threats*, Combating Terrorism Center (July 2018).
- [30] For excellent analyses of IS's strategy for responding to strategic dilemmas, see Nelly Lahoud, "How Will the Islamic State Endure?" *Survival*, Vol.59, No.6 (2017), 55-57; Hassan Hassan, "Out of the Desert: ISIS's Strategy for a Long War," Middle East Institute (September 2018).
- [31] Quoted in "Islamic State chief urges militants to fight on," *Middleeasteye*, (August 22, 2018); https://www.middleeasteye.net/news/islamic-state-chief-state-urges
- [32] An immense amount of data has appeared on IS' reversion to terrorism and guerrilla warfare. I have relied extensively on the following: "IS plays up significance of guerrilla phase," British Broadcasting Corporation *Monitoring Middle East*, (June 22, 2018); Muhammad Hassan, "ISIS Falls Back on Guerrilla Warfare," Chatham House (June 2018); https://www.syria.chathamhouse.org/research/isis-falls-back-on-guerrilla-warfare; Hassan Hassan, "Its dreams of a caliphate are gone. Now ISIS has a deadly new strategy," *The Guardian*, (December 31, 2017); https://www.theguardian.com/commentisfree/2017/dec/31/isis-dreams-of-caliphate-gone-now; Maria Abi-Habib, "Islamic State Shifts Tactics, From War-Fighting to Suicide Bombing," *Wall Street Journal*, (May 13, 2016); Will McCants and Craig Whiteside, "The Islamic State's Coming Rural Revival," *Foreign Policy*, October 23, 2016; Patrick Ryan and Patrick Johnston, "After the Battle for Mosul, Get Ready for the Islamic State to go underground," *War on the Rocks*, (October 18, 2016); Hassan Hassan, "Its dreams of a caliphate are gone. Now ISIS has a deadly new strategy," *The Guardian*, December 31, 2017; Matteo Puxton, "Non, l'État Islamique n'est pas vaincu en Syrie, ni en Irak," *France Soir*, April 4, 2018; https://www.francesor.fr/ politique-monde/non-etat-islamique-e;
- [33] This idea is being developed further by me in more extensive studies of IS way of war. I have relied on Alec Worsnop's work for formulation of this and its application to IS. See Alec Worsnop, "Organization and Community: the determinants of insurgent military effectiveness," Ph.D, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, (2016), Chapter One.
- [34] Craig Whiteside, "New Masters of Revolutionary Warfare: The Islamic State Movement (2002-2016);" Michael Ryan, "ISIS: The Terrorist Group That Would Be a State;" Barak Barfi, "The Military Doctrine of the Islamic State and the Limits of Ba'athist Influence," *CTC Sentinel*, (February 2016).
- [35] Frank G. Hoffman, "Hybrid Threats: Reconceptualizing the Evolving Character of Modern Conflict," Strategic Forum, National Defence University, (April 2009).

ISSN 2334-3745 31 February 2019

Who Are the ISIS People?

By Vera Mironova

Abstract

By definition, an "armed group" is a group of individuals which threatens or uses violence to achieve its goals.[1] And while a significant body of academic and policy research is looking at the "violence" aspect of the definition, trying to understand why and how groups engage in violence, the "group" aspect of it (the people involved) often receives less attention. Yet without the people, there is no group and, as a result, no one to conduct those acts of violence. So to truly understand the prospects of an armed group like ISIS in the future, we need to understand what we can about their cadre, in particular: 1) who ISIS 1.0 members were, 2) who among them survived and what are their plans, and 3) who could potentially be inspired by the group's proposed goals in the future. By understanding these issues, it becomes easier to develop better policies for discouraging current members from continuing operations ("de-radicalization") and for preventing new people from joining.

Keywords: ISIS, Syria, Iraq, human resources

Introduction

Jacob Shapiro shows that one of the main difficulties armed groups struggle with is their human resources. [2] Jeremy Weinstein, in comparing leading insurgency groups in different countries, looks at why some rebellions are ideologically motivated while others are more oriented toward immediate profit and how it affects recruitment.[3] Research looks at the first step prospective fighters take, answering the question, "What makes individuals take up weapons?" For example, organizers of rebellions use three principal ways to recruit soldiers: forced recruitment,[4] offering immediate material incentives or promising such benefits in the future,[5] or appealing to the fighters' sense of grievance.[6] It has also been shown that relative deprivation,[7] in-group ties and bonds,[8] out-group aversions,[9] the desire to improve one's social status,[10] the relative danger of remaining a civilian,[11] social networks,[12] and even simple boredom[13] drive people to mobilize for violence.

While the majority of previous research looks at local fighters, it is impossible to ignore the growing role of foreign fighters in civil conflicts. Hegghammer,[14] Malet,[15] Bakke,[16] Dawson and Amarasingam[17] all shed light on recruitment of foreigners and their motivation for joining, but I will look beyond that to how these fighters choose a group and why some quit and leave.

My research is based on extensive interviews with members of different armed groups fighting in Syria. Active ISIS foreign members were conducted in Syria and Turkey in person by my research assistant and in Mosul and Hawija by phone. The majority of interviews with ex-foreign fighters were conducted in Turkey, Ukraine, Russia and Fergana Valley (Central Asia), where they were hiding or free after serving their sentence in prison. Due to the snowball methodology, foreign fighters from the former Soviet Union are overrepresented in the sample. On one side, it limits the generalizability of findings (although they were one of the biggest groups of foreign fighters in Syria and Iraq), but on the other side, it allows for a case study from different angles; my Russian background and age afforded me a similar cultural background and allowed for more open discussion with these fighters. Also, although there were female group members, my research is limited to male fighters.

In interviews I was asking not only about a respondent's motivation and behavior but also about their brothers in arms. On one side talking about abstract others (instead of themselves) makes them more honest in their answers, and on the other side it allows to mitigate the survivors' bias.

ISIS 1.0 Manpower

The majority of ISIS human resources were local people who joined the armed group for different reasons like ideology, money, power, or because they simply did not have other options. And although the Islamic State had the same name across both Iraq and Syria, a variety of people, reasons, and regions in each of those countries came into play in these fighters' choices to join.

In northwestern Syria, there was an extensive list of armed groups a fighter could have joined, all of which had significantly different goals, proposed enemies, risk tolerance, financial backing, and political power. So in general, a person looked for a group he most aligned with. If someone wanted to fight against Assad, he would have chosen a non-ISIS group such as Al Nusra or Ahrar al-Sham because they were the strongest groups pursuing that goal. However, those groups were extremely active in combat and, as a result, had big causalities while providing only basic necessities to its members. So although the goal resonated with local fighters, the risks involved with these groups were significant while the benefits were small.

ISIS on the other side had a better offer. According to interviewed fighters, while Al Nusra offered around \$300 a month to its fighters, ISIS provided the same salary in addition to major benefits ranging from cell phones to cars. Also ISIS, in general, was less involved in fighting (there were even civilian jobs offered for group members away from the dangers of the frontline) and more involved in controlling a large territory, so group members not engaged in risky combat activities spent their time exercising power over civilians. As a result, fighters more interested in money and power and less interested in the potential risks associated with group membership were choosing ISIS over other groups. One interviewed local ISIS member from Raqqa explained, "When Al Nusra was in Raqqa, I was thinking about joining them. But then ISIS came, and since I did not see much difference and I wanted to stay home, I joined them instead. Because I was studying computer science before the war, I went to work for Amni [Internal Security]. It was a good place to work. It paid \$250 a month and I was far from the frontline."

At the same time in areas like Deir Ezzor, where there was a lot of anti-Kurdish sentiment even before the war, some people joined ISIS with the sole purpose of fighting against the Kurds. According to these recruits' logic, it was better a radical-but-Arab group controlled the region than any sort of Kurdish rule.

Later in the conflict, many locals were forced to join ISIS simply because they had run out of food and were not able to support themselves. According to one interviewed low-level ISIS member, he joined the group in 2017, during the last three months ISIS controlled his territory, in order to earn enough to buy just basic food he and his family needed to live.

In Iraq, the situation was different. Many people joined ISIS because of its anti-Shia government (in case of Northern Iraq) or anti-Kurd sentiment (in case of Diyala area) and because they were interested in building a separate Sunni Arab state. Also because there was no other Sunni Arab group fighting for that cause, ISIS enjoyed a monopoly on recruitment among the Sunni Arab population. As a result, ISIS group members in Iraq, from the very beginning of the war, were more dedicated to fighting and more willing to die in combat compared to local Syrian fighters, many of whom had joined for money and power.

Because many locals in Syria did not want to take part in risky operations, ISIS recruited foreign fighters who would. In general, the foreign fighters were more dedicated to the group. Not only did they risk life and limb to get to Syria, once in the group, they had very little hope of ever leaving and returning to civilian life because they absolutely depended on the group for survival. At the same time, foreign fighters' subjective goals for participating in the conflict were different not only from those of their local brothers in arms, but also from the goals of other foreign fighters.

Some foreign fighters, especially in the beginning of the conflict, went to Syria with an honest desire to help the local population fight against the dictator. For example, after the August 2013 chemical attack by Assad, the numbers of foreign fighters heading to Syria increased. Others went for ideological reasons ranging from fighting for an abstract jihad against disbelievers to dying and going to heaven to meet 72 virgins promised

to the martyr. For those who were professional mercenaries, experts in their military specialty, and people involved in weapons trade, the main reason for going was money. According to an interviewed foreign fighter who, in addition to fighting, was engaged in weapons trade, "We were actually thinking about going to Libya, but did not manage to get there on time. If not Syria, we would have gone somewhere else." For others, the conflict was about power and fame; Chechen fighters going to ISIS were often accused of this by other Chechens for leaving instead of defending Chechnya against the Russians.

Some foreigners came because they were involved in criminal activities and, as a result, had problems with the law in their home country. They saw Syria as a place they could hide. According to a Chechen fighter who came to Syria after living in Turkey, "There were people who were wanted for rape and pedophilia in Turkey, so they left to Syria to hide from law enforcement and continue their behavior."

Some foreigners went to Syria interested in personal monetary gains. For example, one interviewed ex-ISIS foreign fighter from Central Asia admitted that before going to Syria, he was involved in robbing malls in Russia and Turkey. Syria, he thought, provided an even better opportunity for self-enrichment. Other foreign fighters simply wanted to fight. According to a foreign fighter from Dagestan, one of his friends from Ingushetia (before coming to Syria) had planned to join the French Foreign Legion. "Fighting was his thing. He was strong and brave, loved sports, and was very good at shooting," remembered his comrade.

After the summer of 2014 when ISIS declared Caliphate, a different wave of foreigners went. Instead of going to Syria to fight and die, foreigners were now going to live, especially from countries where there was dictatorship and discrimination. ISIS's utopian propaganda played a major role in attracting both fighters and civilians, heralding the dawn of an Islamic state where oppressed Muslims were free to live and practice their religion safely.[18] Many even brought school books for their children from back home so as to not interrupt their children's education. They believed they were going to an Islamic state where they would be pleased to hear the sound of an azan calling for prayer and with leadership they considered truly Muslim; ISIS propaganda had depicted Syria as a comfortable place to live.

When asked about who the most oppressed foreigners in their home countries were, many interviewed foreign fighters cited Uzbeks, who made up a sizable group of foreigners in Syria (relative to the size of their country). According to an ex-ISIS foreign fighter from Dagestan, "It's not surprising there are so many Uzbeks here. The government in Uzbekistan is so anti-Muslim that people can't even go to a mosque without raising suspicion. There, only old people can have a beard, and you can get arrested if police find a praying rag in your car." [19] At the same time, Uzbeks had limited options for immigrating to peaceful places; a visa to any Western country was hard to get and it was very unlikely they would get a refugee status anywhere. In addition, if the government of Uzbekistan looked for them, countries like Russia and Turkey (main destinations for Uzbeki emigrants) would deport them back home where they would most likely face torture and prison.

Those are major reasons for joining ISIS in Syria and Iraq, but joining was just the fist step in individual career in ISIS. What happened to people after they took a weapon under the ISIS black flag?

Who Is Left?

It would be a mistake to assume it was a random group of those who first enlisted with ISIS who were the first to die. Individual reasons for enlisting with ISIS highly correlated with an individual behaviour and, as a result, his survival or lack thereof.

Based on the interviews, ISIS members killed during the war fell into several categories:

1) *Jihadists*. People who joined with the abstract goal of dying in jihad and going to heaven. They not only fulfilled their goal of dying at least, but did it early in the conflict. According to fighters interviewed, those recruits volunteered for suicidal missions immediately after arrival. Some of such group members would intentionally chose a group to switch to where the line of fighters waiting to conduct suicide missions was the shortest.

- 2) Fighting to fight. Group members only interested in fighting for fighting's sake also fought until the last breath and rarely survived post 2017. According to interviewed fighters, these fighters would choose to participate in the hardest and most dangerous missions and, as a result, were also disproportionally killed.
- 3) The barely trained. As the war against ISIS intensified, more and more fighters were needed on the frontline, so training time was reduced to a bare minimum. Thus many of the fighters did not know how to fight or even behave in a combat zone. According to an interviewed foreign fighter, "once we left a young fresh fighter from Moldova to guard a tank on the battlefield. Assad forces started shooting with artillery and this stupid guy, instead of running away, climbed inside the tank. Of course the Assad forces were targeting the tank, and the fighter burned inside when they finally hit it." Often those scarcely trained recruits killed not only themselves but others around them, especially while working with explosive devices.
- 4) *Those seeking Utopia.* Low-level foreign group members who had come to take part in a utopian Islamic State also did not survive the war. Although they had initially gone to Syria with money (after selling their property back home), by the time the ISIS regime was falling and they wanted to leave, they had run out of money and were not able to afford the exorbitant costs smugglers were asking (between \$7,000 and \$10,000 per person). One ISIS member from the Caucuses who had lived in Al Mayadin, Syria, with his family started trying to leave in 2016.
- 5) *The ultra-radical.* Finally, a highly-ideological group of people who disagreed with ISIS leadership which happened when they realized the Islamic State was not the utopia they had dreamed of. Because they openly questioned ISIS ideology and posed a threat to their legitimacy, ISIS perceived them as a fifth column, and they were targeted by the group itself. As a result, many of them were killed. They were either executed in prisons or, when the demand for manpower increased, sent to the most dangerous frontlines in Kobane, Deir Ezzor, and Hama.

Just as the goals and ideologies of these five categories made them less likely to survive, the different goals and ideologies of the following categories afforded them the best chance of survival past the ISIS defeat:

- 1) *Draftees and survivors.* Low-level local fighters who had joined for money or were drafted. Not only did they not take risks in combat, but given the opportunity, they would choose to surrender. They knew that because they were only low-level group members, they would get lighter prison sentences (in Iraq) or avoid any punishment altogether (in Syria). According to interviews conducted in Iraq with members of the armed forces, court judges and lawyers, those in prison are mostly low-level local fighters who had surrendered or were taken alive. One example is a 30-year-old man from Mosul, whose trial I had attended in Tel Kaif in January 2018. He had only been a member of ISIS for the final few months of the group's occupation and had joined because he had run out of food for his family. ISIS was paying him 5000 dinars (about \$5) per day.
- 2) Foreign group members who left early in the conflict. Because ISIS eventually prohibited its fighters from leaving (and would kill anyone suspected of planning an escape), those who left before the main wave of desertion started had the best chances of doing so successfully. In addition, the prices for being smuggled out increased with time, and many foreigners were priced out of trying to escape.

This category included four groups who left before 2016:

First, the professional foreign fighters. In addition to mainly working in training camps, their chances of being killed on the frontline were significantly smaller. Also, many who had initially gone to Syria left when another conflict started elsewhere. One Chechen mercenary who had trained opposition groups in Syria at the beginning of the conflict left for the Ukraine when Russia invaded in 2014 and started his own battalion to train Ukrainian forces. Many other Chechens (from non-ISIS groups) who had come to fight Russia in Syria also relocated to the Ukraine. A good example is the Ajnad al-Kavkaz group who turned to fighting in the Sheikh Mansour Battalion in the Ukraine where there were more Russians to fight and it was closer to home. Fighters of other nationalities, particularly ones from Central Asia, also went to Afghanistan when it became clear that ISIS in Syria and Iraq would fall.

Second, some Western foreign fighters who had gone to gain glory in the so-called jihad very soon realized the situation in Syria is not quite what the group's propaganda had portrayed. For example, one ex-foreign fighter from Central Asia in the interview explained why he eventually decided to leave: "I got disappointed in jihad before I even entered Syria. When were we still in a safe house in Turkey preparing to cross into Syria, my future emir in a Uzbek jamaat in Syria asked me to bring two huge bags of carrots with me into Syria. I was carrying so many carrots that it was basically my entire luggage." He continued: "Apparently, there were no good carrots in Syria, and they are essential to prepare national Uzbek food, but already then I kind of felt that it [the jihad] is not this computer-game-type-jihad I thought it should have been. I thought I would be carrying in weapons and ammunition! But instead, it was only carrots." Several months later, this fighter left Syria on the first occasion that arose.

Third, fighters who had gone for self-enrichment. For example, according to interviews with fighters and families of dead ISIS fighters, many Chechen ISIS members from Georgia were sending money back home. Often those people were not satisfied with the fairness of the loot division, so they took revenge on the group by stealing its money. One interviewed ex-ISIS foreign fighter admitted that he not only stole several cars before leaving ISIS, he even tricked them into paying for his travel to Turkey, claiming he was going there to meet his family and bring them back to Syria. Some even stole bigger sums from ISIS on their way out of the group. Often, an ISIS fighter would receive funds to buy military equipment, but would instead abscond with the cash. ISIS tried to catch such people in Turkey, but they were not very successful and many were able to escape.

Fourth, during 2014 and 2015, when ISIS was at the apex of its power, highly ideological people who disagreed with ISIS's idea of an Islamic state and brand of Islam sought to leave the group by any means possible. Some of them succeeded.

- 3) *High-level group leadership*. Because most leadership did not participate in combat, they were only in danger of death in the case of a precise airstrike. They were also free to leave at any time because no one in ISIS could prevent them from doing so. According to local civilians, they noticed that group leaders (and in particular foreign leaders) started leaving Syria before a battle for Raqqa began. And with the liberation of Mosul in August 2017, some ISIS leaders, who understood the group would not recover from its territorial losses also left, taking large amounts of the group's money with them. The money enabled them to bribe their way out and, in the case of foreign ISIS leaders, buy themselves new documents so they could travel freely.
- 4) *Amni*. Similar to group leadership, members of Amni (Internal Security) had the means and freedom to leave at will despite the group's no-exit policy. They also had the added benefit of near anonymity. Because they were part of a secret organization within ISIS and had often wore masks in public, rarely did civilians or even fighters know who they were. This meant they did not even have to bribe their way out or be concerned about being recognized once they were free.

Potential for Recruitment of New Members

While it was only a small minority of qualified, high-level group members who disproportionally survived (and low-level fighters did not), it would not be hard for ISIS leadership to quickly regain new low-level fighters; oppressive governmental policies continue to contribute to the pool of young, disenfranchised men ready to take up arms. Instead of seizing the opportunity to correct the issues that drove their citizens to Syria in the first place—issues like unemployment and oppression—in many cases, the situations have become even worse. This is especially true in the Middle East, US, and Central Asia. And while collaborative military operations were successful in killing off the vast majority of fighting-age males who chose to fight with ISIS, new potential group members are quickly growing up and could soon take up weapons.

Reasons for joining:	Level in the organization	Killed	Survived
Money (Self Enrichment)	High		+
Money (To Survive)	Low		+
Anti-Kurdish Grievance	Low	+	
Anti-Shia Grievance	Low	+	
Power	High		+
Draft	Low		+
Grievance Against Foreign Government	Low	+	
Going to Heaven	Low	+	
Life Experience	Low	+	
Professional Military	High		+
Religious Ideology	Low		+
Fame	High	+	

The biggest number of low-level group members were people who joined for either money and because of grievances. And new recruits in those categories are the most needed to regain lost territories. People who joined for money are not loyal to the group and left as soon as the group was defeated but are needed to increase group numbers and fill administrative positions and people who joined because of the dedication were disproportionally killed but are needed to feel fighters positions. So what will be driving factors for new recruits?

- 1) *Money*. In the Middle East, problems with initial unemployment rate have not only persisted, they've gotten worse due to the war. Also, many ISIS families lost their husbands, who were the sole breadwinners, and the government is as unwilling as they are unable to support them. And already ISIS is stepping in. According to interviewed law enforcement members in Mosul, ISIS is already supporting the widows and orphans of ISIS dead fighters. In the event of a resurgence, these people are likely to join ISIS, with young sons becoming fighters, if ISIS would offer them even a basic salary.
- 2) *Grievances in the Middle East.* Many people who joined ISIS with anti-Kurdish sentiment were from areas that are still administered by Kurds, a situation that only increases anti-Kurdish sentiment. As a result, those locals are already looking for any group that will help them act on their grievance, including the Shia militias they fought against while part of ISIS. But now they are better then nothing because they are anti Kurdish.

On the other side, anti-Shia sentiment would also continue to supply fighters to ISIS. In Mosul, many locals welcomed ISIS in the first place because they disagreed with what they deemed Baghdad's radical Shia government and its abusive law enforcement. Even before ISIS, if Al Qaeda wanted to target a civilian for recruitment, it would start by reporting that person to Iraq's internal security as an Al Qaeda member knowing the civilian would be arrested, thrown in prison, beaten and tortured and released only after his family had bribed the corrupt law enforcement.[20] After such an experience, that civilian was often more than ready to volunteer for any anti-Shia government movement that approached him.

Now, after Mosul's liberation, official government forces left law enforcement responsibilities for the territory to radical Shia militias who also abuse their law enforcement powers. According to Human Rights Watch report in Mosul, the National Security Service runs illegal prisons where they detain Sunni locals.[21] Those prisons are overcrowded, unsanitary, and provide inadequate medical treatment. Inmate management includes regular beatings and even torture. Some inmates in those prisons are not even there because of a connection to ISIS but simply because of Iraqi bureaucracy. Not only is such treatment of inmates questionable from ethical

and legal standpoints, such handling only increases anti-government grievances and, as a result, radicalization. In an interview, one ex-inmate mentioned that everyone in his cell was excited at any news about successful ISIS operations, not because they were pro-ISIS, but because they were anti-government: "While many of them [inmates] did not sympathize with, and had even suffered under, ISIS," he explained, "they were also against the Iraqi government that was holding them in those terrible conditions, and ISIS was the only force fighting them." Such situations increased grievance and negated any appreciation locals might have had for the central government liberating the territory from ISIS.

3) Native Country Grievances. For many people in non-democratic countries (that were major suppliers of foreign fighters to ISIS), there were two main reasons they initially joined the war—the abuse and corruption of local law enforcement and the inability to peacefully demonstrate against it. Now, new and harsh anti-terrorism laws serve not only as a gold mine for corruption, but also a great excuse for law enforcement to crack down on opposition, real or imagined.

According to the logic of corrupt law enforcement, since the punishments for terrorism crimes are harsher, they can demand even bigger bribes from families of individuals even remotely affiliated with ISIS. Even for a charge as small as receiving a phone message with a radical religious video attached, a family might be expected to pay huge sums of money to liberate the offending relative. In several known cases in one Central Asian republic, raising the required money for bribes meant families had to sell their own houses, often leaving them homeless.

For people accused of supporting terrorism there is an added financial burden. Often law enforcement will not allow them to travel freely, even after they have served their sentence, and because they have a hard time finding local work, they are much more likely to pursue criminal activities to obtain money.

Such behavior from law enforcement does nothing to increase the citizens' trust in their government. Instead, it fuels anti-government sentiment and moves people closer to any rebel cause. According to one interviewee in a Uzbek-majority town in Kyrgyzstan, the sister of a person imprisoned on terrorism support charges, "He [her brother] was just a quiet religious guy before he was imprisoned. But I am sure now he will become a radical anti-government ISIS sympathizer."

We have now looked at the human resources of ISIS 1.0, who among them survived and how they could replace those who were killed. What are the implications?

Conclusion

Since high-level group members like leadership and Amni were able to flee and thus survive, their experience and connections could allow them to re-establish ISIS in their new location. And while high-level group members have to hide, for example, in the insurgency, members of Amni who are less known to both the public and governmental intelligence could more freely prepare ground for new major operations. And because of domestic grievances and general poverty, a whole new pool of recruits would be willing to join them once the call is given. Experienced professional group members and weapons traders who remain, although on other battlefields, would potentially be able to return and train new recruits.

Although current counter-propaganda efforts could stop new recruits who might join for "life experience," "fame," or "going to heaven," it will do little to stop those recruits with grievances, which comprise the much bigger category. Since not much has improved in the domestic policies of certain countries, and abuses have even gotten worse, some would undoubtedly act on their grievances.

And because of its perceived effectiveness, the ISIS brand may still attract new members who may have grievances in their home country. If those people can travel to a battlefield to join an armed group; they will do so. If not, they will conduct small-scale attacks and solo terrorism attacks against domestic targets.

About the Author: Vera Mironova is a Visiting Fellow at Harvard University Economics Department. She received her Ph.D. in Political Science from the University of Maryland.

Notes

- [1] Claudia Hofmann and Ulrich Schneckener, "Engaging non-state armed actors in state and peace-building: options and strategies," *International Review of the Red Cross* 93, no. 883 (2011).
- [2] Jacob N Shapiro, The Terrorist's Dilemma: Managing Violent Covert Organizations, Princeton University Press.
- [3] Jeremy M Weinstein, Inside Rebellion: The Politics of Insurgent Violence, Cambridge University Press, 2006.
- [4] Bernd Beber and Christopher Blattman, "The Logic of Child Soldiering and Coercion," *International Organization* 67, no. 1 (2013): 65-104
- [5] Mancur Olson, Logic of Collective Action Public Goods and the Theory of Groups, rev. ed., Harvard University Press, 1965.
- [6] Macartan Humphreys and Jeremy M. Weinstein, "Who Fights? The Determinants of Participation in Civil War," *American Journal of Political Science* 52, no. 2 (2008): 436-455.
- [7] Ted Robert Gurr, Why Men Rebel, Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press, 1970.
- [8] Donald L Horowitz, Ethnic Groups in Conflict, 2nd ed., Los Angeles: University of California Press, [1985] 2000.
- [9] Roger D Petersen, *Understanding Ethnic Violence: Fear, Hatred, and Resentment in Twentieth-Century Eastern Europe*, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2002.
- [10] Max Abrahms. "What terrorists really want: Terrorist motives and counterterrorism strategy," *International Security* 32, no.4 (2008): 78-105.
- [11] Stathis N. Kalyvas and Matthew Adam Kocher, "How 'Free' is Free Riding in Civil Wars?: Violence, Insurgency, and the Collective Action Problem," *World Politics* 59, no. 2 (2007): 177-216.
- [12] Roger D Petersen, Resistance and Rebellion: Lessons from Eastern Europe, Cambridge University Press, 2001.
- [13] Enzo Nussio and Juan E. Ugarriza, "Are Insurgents any Different from Counterinsurgents? A Systematic Integration and Validation of Motivational Studies from Colombia," (2013).
- [14] Thomas Hegghammer, "The Rise of Muslim Foreign Fighters: Islam and the Globalization of Jihad," *International Security* 35, no. 3 (2010): 53-94.
- [15] David Malet, Foreign Fighters: Transnational Identity in Civil Conflicts, Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2013, 43-53.
- [16] Kristin Bakke, "Help Wanted? The Mixed Record of Foreign Fighters in Domestic Insurgencies," *International Security* 38, no. 4 (Spring 2014): 150-187.
- [17] Lorne L. Dawson and Amarnath Amarasingam, "Talking to Foreign Fighters: Insights into the Motivations for Hijrah to Syria and Iraq," *Studies in Conflict & Terrorism* 40, no. 3 (2017): 191-210.
- [18] Jakob Sheikh. ""I Just Said It. The State" Examining the Motivations for Danish Foreign Fighting in Syria," *Perspectives on Terrorism* 10, no. 6 (2016): 59-67.
- [19] Uzbekistan has a freedom ranking similar to North Korea and, according to human right organizations, practices "wide-scale violation of virtually all basic human rights," with the majority of those violations against members of religious organizations, independent journalists, and human rights activists
- [20] Vera Mironova, "The next Islamic State would be deadlier," Washington Post, 4 October 2017.
- [21] Human Rights Watch, Iraq: Intelligence Agency Admits Holding Hundreds Despite Previous Denials, Report, 22 July 2018.

From Directorate of Intelligence to Directorate of Everything: The Islamic State's Emergent Amni-Media Nexus

By Asaad Almohammad and Charlie Winter

Abstract

This article, which is based on original interview data gathered from eastern Syria between January and October 2018, examines the emergent dominance of the Islamic State's Directorate of General Security (DGS). We track how this institution, which is currently operating through a network of diwan-specific security offices grouped under the Unified Security Center (USC), has come to oversee and manage an increasingly wide array of the group's insurgent activities—including intelligence and military operations and religious and managerial affairs. Focusing in particular on its role in the context of media production—which comprises anything from facilitation and security to monitoring, distribution and evaluation—we illustrate the critical importance of this most elusive directorate, positing that, in its current form, it could stand to facilitate the survival of the Islamic State for months—if not years—to come.

Keywords: Islamic State; organization; intelligence; media; information security; middle management

Introduction

As the territories of the Islamic State (IS) have crumbled in recent years, analysts the world over have been ruminating as to what its ultimate defeat would look like. In so doing, they have speculated as to the various refuges it may take to in order to compensate for the seemingly existential setbacks it now faces.[1] Most seem to be under the impression that, whatever happens, it will one day make some sort of comeback.[2] Some have contended that this will be achieved virtually;[3] others have asserted that it will occur materially as well.[4] In any case, it is generally believed that IS's senior leaders have long been anticipating these dire straits and have thus been making strategic arrangements to mitigate the impact that they could stand to have.

In seeking to understand how and to what end their long-term planning could materialize, it serves to reflect on IS's pre-caliphate history. During its first resurgence between 2011 and 2013, IS (which was then calling itself the Islamic State in Iraq) focused on using covert operations to consolidate its position locally and steadily, secretively grow. It was only from 2013 onwards that it really began to visibly assert itself, eradicating the border between Syria and Iraq and incorporating jihadi groups far beyond its immediate theater of operations into the global "Islamic State" brand.

Now that the proto-state has collapsed in both Syria and Iraq, the conventional wisdom is that IS will return to its earlier priorities—that is, like ISI, it will wait, active but concealed, for a new opportunity to mobilize. [5] To this end, it is thought that it will now focus on covert insurgency rather than proto-statehood. This will likely involve inciting sectarian tension and amplifying polarization; coercing, intimidating, and co-opting marginalized Sunni communities and tribes; and exacting "revenge" attacks and assassinating rivals and collaborators.[6] There is already much to evidence that this tactical devolution is taking place.[7] However, notwithstanding that, the parallels with ISI should not be overstated: IS today is a very different group to what it was back then: it has footholds across the Middle East, Africa, and Asia and, in its current state, it is likely able to continue operating as a clandestine insurgency in-theater and a global terrorist network out-of-theater, thereby keeping up with its *baqiyyah wa tatamaddad* maxim for months, if not years, to come.[8]

This bifurcated approach might make sense in theory, but, in reality, it is a logistical nightmare, one that requires far-reaching executive authority, constant monitoring and evaluation, and a hefty dose of middle management. It is in this complex context that IS's Directorate of General Security (DGS) has stepped in, entering a period of

unprecedented ascendancy that sees it dominating almost all aspects of the group's bureaucratic management operations. Through the lens of the DGS's media-focused activities, this article tracks that ascendancy, illustrating that its remit now extends far beyond the limited sphere of 'security' to instead incorporate a transdisciplinary bureaucratic function as well, one that appears to have been crafted with a view to facilitating a future comeback for the caliphate. The article proceeds as follows. After briefly presenting our data collection methodology, we examine the activities of the DGS in general, before exploring its recently expanded role in the context of propaganda production.[9] We conclude with a brief discussion of what this could mean for IS's future as a hierarchically organized insurgent movement.

Data Collection

Our analysis is based on interviews, texts and audio-visual materials (i.e., covertly taken pictures of internal IS memos, audio recordings of IS cadre, and notes) gathered from eastern Syria during the first nine months of 2018. These materials were gathered by six data collectors—known to the first author, having collaborated on other research projects, but not known to each other—operating in what were then IS-held areas in eastern Syria. Prior to the initiation of the research phase, each participant was briefed in detail on the research objectives, procedures, scope, and informed as to the voluntary nature of their participation. Any risks involved in participating were discussed at length with the first author. During this briefing, each of the data collectors was asked if they would be prepared to share materials that would substantiate their answers to interview questions. They were also told that, based on their answers, the questions they were asked would become more specific, eventually focusing on particular organizational and/or operational issues. All six interviewees gave their consent to participate on the condition of anonymity and rigorous internal and external confidentiality measures.

After the initial scoping stage had been completed, a series of semi-structured interviews were conducted between January 3 and September 29, 2018. Each data collector was interviewed sixteen times by the first author during this period. As well as this, the data collectors provided internal documents, audio recordings, and accounts of their own unstructured interviews with active IS media and security cadres.[10] All raw information was stored in doubly-anonymized entries; each entry includes headings, texts of interview data and/or translations of any documents or recordings that were received alongside it. The headings contain the data collectors' alphanumerical codes and the dates on which the data were received.

Once collected and compiled, all accounts were triangulated with one another to assess their credibility. When accounts conflicted, individual data collectors were asked for more information. Anything that could not be reconciled was excluded and, if a data collector repeatedly provided information that did not reconcile with that of the others, the entirety of their input was excluded from the project.

Having stated that, two caveats are in order. First, our data relate only to IS's operations in eastern Syria during the period between January 3 and September 29, 2018. Therefore, they should be treated as a snapshot, not a global blueprint. Second, the directorate and dates are missing for most of the internal documents we received. While we tried to ascertain their date and source of publication by triangulating the accounts of different data collectors with other documentary evidence gathered in-theater and online, it was not possible to unequivocally determine what these were—that said, through the same means, their contents could be corroborated.[11] With that in mind, all conclusions made on the basis of this article can only be tentative in nature.[12]

The Directorate of General Security

The DGS's initial inception and design are attributed to Samir Abd Muhammad al-Khlifawi (aka Haji Bakr), a Saddam-era intelligence colonel turned jihadist strategist and military commander.[13] Through it, IS works both to preserve *amn al-dawlah* ('domestic' state security) and engage in '*amaliyyat amniyyah*

kharijiyyah (external intelligence operations). Taha Subhi Falaha (aka Abu Muhammad al-'Adnani), IS's former spokesperson, is believed to have been the first commander of the DGS.[14] However, even before his death in 2016, a Syrian national by the name of Ali Musa al-Shawakh (aka Ali Juma al-Shawakh, Abu Luqman or Abu Ayoub al-Ansari) is reported to have replaced him as *amir* of the DGS.[15] There is evidence to suggest that al-Shawakh built on and improved the hierarchal design of the original *amni* organizational structure.[16]

Previous work on the DGS describes a shadowy entity feared even by IS's own cadre, not to mention locals living in liberated territories.[17] Its activities are wide-ranging: it is said to preside over a network of detention centers wherein suspected individuals (whether local, foreign, civilian, or IS members, etc.) are systematically imprisoned, interrogated, and tortured;[18] it is known to be directly involved in the recruitment, training, and deployment of child soldiers;[19] its operatives are embedded throughout and beyond IS-held territories, collecting information for intelligence and counterintelligence operations;[20] and, topping all this off, according to multiple European intelligence services, it is believed to be instrumental in planning external terrorist attacks.[21]

Based on our data, though, the DGS engages in even more activities than those listed above. [22] Indeed, it truly is, to borrow the words of Bahney and Johnston, "the glue of the ISIS organization from top to bottom." [23] It has three principal operational spheres, namely: (i) military and local security operations; (ii) intelligence and foreign operations; and (iii) managerial and religious affairs.[24] Its military and local security operations include anything from recruiting and selecting, training, and overseeing the activities of elite forces; assassinating rivals and collaborators; kidnapping and detaining locals and foreigners for ransom; engaging in specialized defensive and offensive operations; monitoring and reporting on the performance and leadership of combat units; and devising infiltration and retreat plans. [25] Its local and foreign intelligence operations encompass the general management of intelligence and counterintelligence activities; handling local informants and foreign supporters; planning, commissioning, directing and/or guiding terrorist attacks on behalf of IS; monitoring cadres to root out spies and informants; interrogating detainees; and vetting new recruits and IS personnel.[26] Lastly, its managerial and religious affairs comprise the setting up of front businesses; overseeing the training of shariah judges; providing mosque clerks with speeches; monitoring and reporting on the performance of shari'ah judges and mosque clerks; handling logistical support and management operations (including armament and basic supplies); safeguarding assets (e.g., personnel, information, bases, etc.); monitoring and reporting on the performance of the management and personnel of individual directorates; communicating leadership decisions to the organization's direct management personnel; and enforcing said decisions.[27] Below, we focus on the last four of these activities.

Sometime between January 2017 and February 2018, the DGS's already robust management operations were centralized to a greater degree than they had ever been before through the establishment of *al-markaz al-muwahhid al-amni* (Unified Security Center, henceforth USC), which serves as a coupling link between IS's senior leaders and its administrative directorates.[28] According to our data collectors, the USC is charged with communicating leadership directives to the *amirs* of different directorates, overseeing their implementation, and monitoring and reporting on performance. All this is done through a network of directorate-specific *amni* (security) offices (see Figure 1).[29] As an aside, it is worth noting that the DGS's increasing centrality has been tracked elsewhere, for example in the work of al-Tamimi.[30]

As of late September 2018, eight directorates were active in the area to which our data pertains, namely: the towns of al-Sussah, al-Sha'fah, parts of Hajin, Al-Baghuz Fawqani, and the outskirts of the city of al-Bukamal in eastern Syria.[31] Besides the DGS, they are, in no particular order, the Directorates for Health, Mosques and Proselytization, *Zakat*, War, Soldiery, Media, and Courts; there is also the Committee for Education, which was recently folded into the Directorate for Mosques and Proselytization.[32] According to our data collectors, each of these receives strategic instruction from IS's leadership via a specially assigned office within the USC: there is, for example, a *maktab al-masajid wa-l-da'wah al-amni* (Mosques and Proselytization Security Office), a *maktab al-amni* (War Security Office), and a *maktab al-zakah al-amni* (Zakat Security Office).[33]

ISSN 2334-3745 42 February 2019



Figure 1. The unified security center's subordinate offices

The Structure of the Central Media Directorate

Before examining the role of one of these offices in particular—that which looks after the media production cycle—it is worth providing an overview of the Central Media Directorate, with and through which it operates.

Our data collectors reported that IS's Central Media Directorate in eastern Syria comprises of a Media Council, a Media Judiciary Committee, an Information Bank, and various Media Offices.[34] The Media Council is the most powerful of these authorities.[35] It has oversight over the Media Judiciary Committee, the Information Bank, and all Media Offices.[36] The Media Judiciary Committee, which reports only to the Media Council, has direct oversight over all media-related activities at the operational level, ranging from media production to data storage.[37] Among other things, it dictates tactical direction and issues guidelines on technical matters.[38] For its part, the Information Bank seems to serve as a central database for all information related to IS's insurgency. [39] It is believed to store data on all facets of the organization, including, but not limited to, media materials (this includes those that are raw, those undergoing editing, and those that have been finalized and distributed). [40] In its capacity as an institution for media archiving and validation, the Information Bank reports to the Media Judiciary Committee.[41] In the context of everything else, it answers only to the USC.[42]

Operating alongside these institutions is the *maktab al-i'lam al-amni* (Security Media Office), which is subordinate to the USC but coordinates closely with the Media Judiciary Committee and Media Council.[43] Based on our data, it interacts at virtually all managerial and operational levels of the media production cycle, binding the Central Media Directorate from top to bottom.[44] The Media Security Office (MSO) has an *amir*, a team of administrative personnel and a security staff—who are, it should be noted, embedded at both the Information Bank and in individual Media Offices—as well as dozens of field operatives.[45]

The Amni-Media Nexus

The principal role of the MSO is to allow the DGS to directly facilitate and secure IS's media production cycle. In the following pages, we document how it does this according to a narrowly defined set of bureaucratic lines that privilege secrecy, consistency, and centralization. As becomes clear, the MSO's various protocols—which revolve around prevention, deterrence, surveillance, deception, perimeter defense and compartmentalization—speak to a systematic and strategic level of thinking that is geared towards fostering both temporal and spatial security. [46] In the below pages, each of these protocols is examined in turn. [47]

Prevention

The information security literature states that prevention measures are usually employed to safeguard a given organization's data *before* an attack takes place. Usually, this is achieved through the prohibiting of unauthorized access to, and modification or destruction of, sensitive data.[48]

Such measures are central to the MSO's information security-related operations.[49] An array of technical (e.g., software and application-based) and non-technical (e.g., restriction-based) methods are used to prevent or mitigate the impact of cyber-attacks, as well as cut down on data misuse, leakage, and mis-exploitation. For instance, when it comes to the production and handling of raw media material, strict guidelines are enforced. [50] MSO operatives reportedly collect, secure, and transport all materials deemed to be sensitive from the site of production, regardless of who produces it.[51] They oversee its safe transmission to specially designated individuals housed in the Information Bank, who check through and validate it.[52] Only after that process has been completed are raw materials made available for post-production, and even then, only select operatives are ever permitted access.[53]

In addition to this, MSO operatives are also charged with making sure that regular media operatives do not use internet-enabled devices for media-related activities while at the same time enforcing a series of specially mandated security-maximizing practices.[54] To this end, they restrict all but a few media-related communications to local intranet connections and ensure that stored materials are encrypted and devices frequently wiped.[55]

Deterrence

In the information security literature, deterrence is understood to be a disciplinary mechanism used to guide and restrain attitudinal and behavioral exchanges that could undermine organizational cohesion.[56] It holds that human and group behavior can be shaped by the prospect of sanctions, which range from uncertain and lenient to certain and severe.[57] The literature also states that deterrence is especially effective when it comes to: influencing personnel's attitude towards unauthorized access and use of information; guiding and restraining access to and use of an organization's information; demotivating internal users from taking actions to access or corrupt the organization's information assets; and discouraging insiders' misuse and abuse of information assets.[58]

The MSO is structurally unable to deploy deterrence measures in anything other than an internal context—that is, it can dissuade media operatives from mishandling sensitive information but it cannot dissuade cyberattackers. Deterrence in this context hence manifests in a spectrum of disciplinary actions implemented against those who fail to abide by MSO security instructions. In most cases, anything that could conceivably be construed as an act of espionage results in death.[59] For the most part, it falls to the MSO to investigate and prosecute suspected cases of spying.[60] The execution of those it roots out is widely documented by IS itself and, based on the account of one data collector, media workers are detained and executed by MSO enforcers especially frequently.[61]

To that effect, the MSO has diffused an atmosphere of paranoia into the IS media apparatus. Its rigid culture of fear, which is founded on disciplinary sanctions that are both certain and severe, is seemingly geared towards deterring insiders from doing anything remotely out of the ordinary so that, if and when someone is caught in flagrante, it is all the more obvious.

Surveillance

Surveillance is a fundamental part of all good information security strategies. It facilitates a high degree of situational awareness and thus enables the organization in question to respond to tactical threats rapidly and appropriately. [62] Successful surveillance requires systematic monitoring of fluid and evolving security environments. [63] Fundamentally, it revolves around garnering a detailed understanding of any and all information security-related incidents. [64] Among other things, this might be achieved through physical and virtual monitoring of the people and places charged with the collection, transportation, and production of

sensitive data.[65]

While our data collectors could not speak to the presence of surveillance hardware (e.g., electronic sensors) or software (e.g., intrusion detection systems), they did report that MSO operatives were present throughout the media production cycle, which they could be seen to monitor overtly and thoroughly. Their monitoring of production teams and data handlers appears to be especially sophisticated, as does their presence in the Information Bank.[66] Moreover, any internet-related media activities—like, for example, distribution—are always done under their watchful eye.[67]

It hence seems that the MSO developed and deployed a comprehensive surveillance operation in eastern Syria, one that allowed it to maintain a highly granular awareness of all media-related activities, from the time of production right through to the point of distribution.

Deception

In the context of information security, deception measures are usually deployed with a view to distracting and waylaying attackers by shifting their attention away from valuable information assets. [68] There are two broad sets of deception strategies, namely those that are passive and occur through concealment and camouflage, and those that are active and occur through the planting of dis- and misinformation. [69] While our data collectors did not speak of any active deception measures (which is not to say that they are not being implemented), they spoke at length about passive ones such as concealment. [70]

Most of IS's media operations and information assets still seem to be located in territories that it controls and, while an external media infrastructure certainly exists, its physical location and the nature of its activities is kept secret. Cohering local and international media operations is the A'maq News Agency, which appears to operate under the joint oversight of the Media Council and DGS.[71] Beyond its better-known reporting and production activities, the Agency was reported to be tightly connected to the Information Bank and Media Judiciary Committee.[72] Among other things, its unit in eastern Syria is said to be charged with processing propaganda materials from other IS-held territories in places like Iraq, Egypt, Afghanistan and so on.[73] These it receives via operatives at the Information Bank, who work with other media offices and centers as well as other directorates.

Based on multiple reports, it would appear that the Agency does not just have an editorial role in the Information Bank, but that it controls and administers the scope of its day-to-day activities.[74] Whether or not that is the case, its operatives are usually the first to gain access to new information and data, which is then validated and forwarded onto other offices for production purposes.[75] It is worth further noting that our data collectors reported that the MSO operates through and with the A'maq News Agency, something that suggests either that it is either subordinate to the A'maq News Agency or that the A'maq News Agency is subordinate to it.[76]

In any case, it seems clear that passive deception measures—all of which are continually being monitored and assessed by the MSO—are instrumental to IS's information security strategy. Among other things, this includes its concealment of both the roles of critical information assets like the A'maq News Agency and of communications between its operatives on media-related issues.[77]

Perimeter Defense

The last two sets of MSO administered information security measures are spatial in nature. Perimeter defense refers to logical or physical boundaries created by an organization to regulate incoming and outgoing traffic around critical information assets in order to restrict access.[78] Perimeter defenses are almost always ineffective when they are the only measure for protecting information assets.[79] Moreover, they are entirely inadequate in the context of attacks against networked information architectures because they do not protect against the aggressive use of wireless devices.[80] Nonetheless, they are a very effective way to monitor and regulate physical access to sensitive data.[81]

Our data collectors identified a convoluted set of perimeter defense-based measures being implemented at the hands of the MSO. They include: close monitoring of the production of raw media material; raw media material delivery procedures; efforts to determine who receives materials from outside of IS's immediate sphere of operations; restrictions over who is allowed to communicate with remote members and branches; and access limitations at the Information Bank and in Media Offices.[82]

Together, our data collectors' accounts speak to a spectrum of physical perimeter defenses employed by the MSO. They suggest that IS's most sensitive data is secured physically and its consumption regulated at every opportunity. At a minimum, then, IS's media assets are secured through established and secured physical boundaries; it is unclear as to whether or not the MSO also uses technology or software-based defenses, but it seems likely that this would be the case.

Compartmentalization

Information compartmentalization refers to the protection of sensitive data by establishing ring-fenced categories that are individually regulated, monitored, and controlled.[83] This allows organizations to divvy up sensitive data such that, if some of it is breached, other aspects remain protected.[84] To this end, where possible, personal access to information assets is regulated based strictly on need. In short, it protects against data breaches by limiting operational access to subsets of departmental information.

Our data collectors' descriptions of media operative interactions with the Information Bank speak to this exact set of measures.[85] For instance, one specifically reported that the use of and access to data at the Information Bank is highly securitized, even among operatives of the Bank itself.[86] Unless otherwise specified, operatives are only allowed to access information from the directorate to which they are assigned.[87] This, they related, has been achieved through its careful division into different zones for different bodies of information.[88] Moreover, regarding media-related data in particular, media office liaisons are not allowed access to anything through the Bank's own computers.[89]

Our data collectors reported that it is the MSO that oversees these compartmentalization measures, constantly regulating and monitoring access to any and all data at the Information Bank.[90] In so doing, it safeguards data related to all facets of IS's operations, not just its media activities.

Conclusion

In August 2018, the United Nations Security Council reported that there were some twenty to thirty thousand living members of IS in Syria and Iraq.[91] While this figure should be treated with a hefty pinch of salt given it is based on the assessments of a single member state, it should still be taken seriously. There can be little doubt that IS's war is not over, even if its proto-state is: its covert depth in the region is extensive, even in areas from which it had formally been expelled. Indeed, according to a Kurdistan Region Security Council official, "former [IS] strongholds have [already] re-emerged as strongholds."[92]

It thus seems that IS has gone into survival mode in Syria and Iraq and that, while in this state, it will not be inactive—it will just be less overt about its insurgency. Indeed, in months and years to come, it is likely to continue to operate as a clandestine insurgency in-theater and a global terrorist network out-of-theater, using the DGS as the lynchpin for its global activities. In this article, we illustrated how the institution had already become an instrumental part of IS's propaganda production and distribution cycle and, based on our data collectors' observations, it would appear that the directorate has similar levels of oversight over the group's other operational spheres.[93]

Hence, it could well be the case that the organization's medium- and long-term prospects will come to rely on the DGS, both its covert operatives and secretive institutional bureaucracy. With that in mind, practitioners with an eye on the future would do well to better understand this elusive entity.

ISSN 2334-3745 46 February 2019

About the Authors: Asaad Almohammad, *Ph.D.* is an independent researcher & analyst specializing in political violence and counter-terrorism. **Charlie Winter** is a senior research fellow at the International Centre for the Study of Radicalisation at King's College London and an associate fellow at the International Centre for Counter Terrorism in The Hague

Notes

- [1] Daniel L. Byman, "What happens when ISIS goes underground?," *Brookings Institution*, 18 January 2018a, https://www.brookings.edu/blog/markaz/2018/01/18/what-happens-when-isis-goes-underground/; Colin P. Clarke, "How ISIS is Transforming," *Foreign Affairs*, 25 September 2017, https://www.foreignaffairs.com/articles/middle-east/2017-09-25/how-isis-transforming; and Jonathan Spyer, "Welcome to Syria 2.0," *Foreign Policy*, 25 January 2018, https://foreignpolicy.com/2018/01/25/welcome-to-syria-2-0/.
- [2] Benjamin Bahney and Patrick B. Johnston, "ISIS Could Rise Again," *The RAND Blog*, 14 December 2017, https://www.rand.org/blog/2017/12/isis-could-rise-again.html; Michael P. Dempsey, "How ISIS'S Strategy Is Evolving," *Foreign Affairs*, 18 January 2018, https://www.foreignaffairs.com/articles/syria/2018-01-18/how-isis-strategy-evolving; Michael P. Dempsey, "10 Takeaways from the Fight Against the Islamic State," *War on the Rocks*, 12 March 2018, https://warontherocks.com/2018/03/10-takeaways-from-the-fight-against-the-islamic-state/; Joscelyn Thomas, "Analysis: ISIS hasn't been defeated," *FDD's Long War Journal*, 22 February 2018, https://www.longwarjournal.org/archives/2018/02/analysis-isis-hasnt-been-defeated.php; Haid Haid, "ISIS's Military and Economic Roots Start to Take Hold Again in Syria," *Syndication Bureau*, 1 July 2018, https://syndicationbureau.com/en/isiss-military-and-economic-roots-start-to-take-hold-again-in-syria/.
- [3] The significance of the virtual caliphate, or the lack thereof, still demands more scrutiny. It is worth noting that tackling this angle of the phenomenon does not declare IS core dead but rather inspect the effectiveness of cyber activities in the absence of a substantial territorial control. For more on this, please see: Amarnath Amarasingam and J.M. Berger, "With the destruction of the caliphate, the Islamic State has lost far more than territory," *Washington Post*, 31 October 2017, https://www.washingtonpost.com/news/monkey-cage/wp/2017/10/31/the-caliphate-that-was/?utm_term=.a7143cc17f0f.
- [4] Daniel L. Byman, "Where Will the Islamic State Go Next?" *Lawfare*, 22 June 2018b, https://www.lawfareblog.com/where-will-islamic-state-go-next.
- [5] Ibid; Colin P. Clarke and Assaf Moghadam. "Mapping Today's Jihadi Landscape and Threat." *Orbis 63*, 3 (2018); Shiraz Maher, "Islamic State is Not Beaten and Will Return," *The New Statesmen*, 17 October 2017, https://www.newstatesman/culture/observations/2017/10/islamic-state-notbeaten-and-will-return; Hassan Hassan, "ISIL Sleeper Cells in Iraq Are a Warning Sign The Extremist Group is Already Reforming," *The National*, 28 March 2018, https://www.thenational.ae/opinion/comment/isil-sleeper-cells-in-iraq-are-a-warning-signthe-extremist-group-is-already-reforming-1.716800.
- [6] Ibid. For detailed review, please see: Ahmed S. Hashim, "The Islamic State: From al-Qaeda Affiliate to Caliphate." *Middle East Policy 21*, no. 4 (2014): 69-83; Joby Warrick, *Black flags: The rise of ISIS* (New York: Anchor, 2015); William McCants, *The ISIS apocalypse: The history, strategy, and doomsday vision of the Islamic State* (New York: Macmillan, 2015); Brian Fishman, *The Master Plan: ISIS, Al Qaeda, and the Jihadi Strategy for Final Victory* (New Haven: Yale University Press, 2017); Michael Weiss and Hassan Hassan, *ISIS: Inside the Army of Terror updated edition* (New York: Simon and Schuster, 2016); Lawrence Wright, *The Terror Years: From al-Qaeda to the Islamic State*, (New York: Vintage, 2016); Ali Soufan, *Anatomy of Terror: From the Death of bin Laden to the Rise of the Islamic State* (New York: WW Norton & Company, 2017); Fawaz A. Gerges, *ISIS: A History* (New Jersey: Princeton University Press, 2017); and Assaf Moghadam *Nexus of Global Jihad: Understanding Cooperation Among Terrorist Actors*, (New York: Columbia University Press, 2017).
- [7] Haid (2018); Borzou Daraghi, "After the Black Flags of ISIS, Iraq Now Faces the White Flags," *Buzzfeed*, 1 April 2018, https://www.buzzfeed.com/borzoudaragahi/isis-iraq-white-flags-syria-newname/; Liz Sly and Salim Mustafa, "ISIS is Making a Comeback in Iraq just Months after Baghdad Declared Victory," *Washington Post*, 17 July 2018, <a href="https://www.washingtonpost.com/world/isis-is-making-a-comeback-in-iraq-less-than-a-year-after-baghdad-declared-victory/2018/07/17/9aac54a6-892c-11e8-9d59-dc-cc2c0cabcf story.html?utm term=.5d0856e870bd; Ahmed Aboulenein, "Islamic State makes comeback in Iraq with switch to guerrilla tactics," *Reuters*, 23 July 2018, https://www.reuters.com/article/us-mideast-crisis-iraq-security/islamic-state-makes-comeback-in-iraq-with-switch-to-guerrilla-tactics-idUSKBN1KE0MH; and Asser Khattab, "Isis jihadis kill more than 160 in southern Syrian city," *Financial Times*, 26 July 2018, https://www.ft.com/content/f5436c94-901e-11e8-b639-7680cedcc421.
- [8] Abdulbasit Kassim, "Boko Haram's Internal Civil War: Stealth Takfir and Jihad as Recipes for Schism." In J. Zenn (Ed.), *Boko Haram Beyond the Headlines: Analyses of Africa's Enduring Insurgency* (New York: West Point CTC, 2018); Aaron Zelin, "The Others: Foreign Fighters in Libya," *The Washington Institute for Near East Policy, Policy Notes 45*, January 2018, http://www.washingtoninstitute.org/policy-analysis/view/foreign-fighters-in-libya-consequences-for-africa-and-europe; Thomas M. Sanderson, "Black Flags over Mindanao: ISIS in the Philippines," Testimony presented before the House Committee on Foreign Affairs, *Subcommittee*

ISSN 2334-3745 47 February 2019

on Asia and the Pacific, 12 July 2017, https://www.csis.org/analysis/black-flags-over-mindanao-isis-philippines; Nicholas A. Glavin, "Remaining and Expanding: Why Local Violent Extremist Organizations Reflag to ISIS," Small War Journal, 18 May 2018, https://smallwarsjournal.com/jrnl/art/remaining-and-expanding-why-local-violent-extremist-organizations-reflag-isis; The Economist, "Jihad's next battleground: The fight against Islamic State is moving to Africa," The Economist, 14 July 2018, https://www.economist.com/middle-east-and-africa/2018/07/14/the-fight-against-islamic-state-is-moving-to-africa; The Economist, "The new Caliphate: Jihadists are trying to take over the Sahel," The Economist, 12 July 2018, https://www.economist.com/leaders/2018/07/12/jihadists-are-trying-to-take-over-the-sahel; and Byman (2018a).

- [9] For details on the evolution and resilience of IS central media directorate, please see: Craig Whiteside, "Lighting the Path: The Evolution of the Islamic State Media Enterprise (2003-2016)," *The International Centre for Counter-Terrorism The Hague 7*, no. 11 (2016), https://icct.nl/wp-content/uploads/2016/11/ICCT-Whiteside-Lighting-the-Path-the-Evolution-of-the-Islamic-State-Media-Enterprise-2003-2016-Nov2016.pdf. For specifics on the influential role of IS media operations, please see: Craig Whiteside, "Nine Bullets for the Traitors, One for the Enemy: The Slogans and Strategy behind the Islamic State's Campaign to Defeat the Sunni Awakening (2006-2017)," *The International Centre for Counter-Terrorism The Hague 9* (2018). https://icct.nl/wp-content/uploads/2018/09/ICCT-Whiteside-Nine-Bullets-For-The-Traitors-September-2018.pdf.
- [10] During the field work for this paper, all six individuals who participated in the study were based in IS-held territories in Syria. The six data collectors were trained by and worked with the first author in the past on a number of projects. All six individuals are based in IS-held territories in Syria and are collecting information on IS operations, leadership, and movement. None of them agreed to list the names of their current employers in this publication. That said, all details describing the data collectors and quotes used in this study were approved by them, including the information in this note.
- [11] Daniel Milton, *Pulling Back the Curtain: An inside look at the Islamic State's media organization* (New York: West Point CTC, August 2018). Internal IS documents and memos used in Milton's (2018) report were opened source upon the publication of his report. The documents can be accessed through https://ctc.usma.edu/pulling-back-the-curtain-an-inside-look-at-the-islamic-states-media-organization/.
- [12] Claire Anderson, "Presenting and evaluating qualitative research." *American journal of pharmaceutical education 74*, no. 8 (2010): 141.
- [13] This revelation came after al-Khlifawi's death in 2014. The journalist Christoph Reuter obtained and examined 31 pages that were handwritten by al-Khlifawi. For review, please see: Christoph Reuter, "Die Schwarze Macht. Der 'Islamische Staat' und die Strategien des Terrors Updated and expanded paperback edition," Hamburg: Spiegel-Verlag, 2016 (2nd edition, 413 pp.); Christoph Reuter, "The terror strategist: Secret files reveal the structure of Islamic State," *Der Spiegel*, 18 April 2015, http://www.spiegel.de/international/world/islamic-state-files-show-structure-of-islamist-terror-group-a-1029274.html; Bill Roggio, "ISIS confirms death of senior leader in Syria," *The Long War Journal*, 5 February 2014, http://www.longwarjournal.org/archives/2014/02/isis_confirms_death.php; and Anne Speckhard and Ahmet S. Yayla. "The ISIS Emni: Origins and Inner Workings of ISIS's Intelligence Apparatus." *Perspectives on Terrorism 11*, no. 1 (2017): 2-16.
- [14] Rukmini Callimachi, "How a secretive branch of ISIS built a global network of killers," *New York Times*, 3 August 2016, http://www.nytimes.com/2016/08/04/world/middleeast/isis-german-recruit-interview.html? r=0.
- [15] Security Council, "Security Council ISIL (Da'esh) and Al-Qaida Sanctions Committee Adds 12 Names to Its Sanctions List," *Security Council: SC/12266*, 29 February 2016, https://www.un.org/press/en/2016/sc12266.doc.htm; and U.S. Department of the Treasury. "Treasury Sanctions Major Islamic State of Iraq and the Levant Leaders, Financial Figures, Facilitators, and Supporters," September 29, 2015. https://www.treasury.gov/press-center/press-releases/Pages/jl0188.aspx.
- [16] Asaad Almohammad and Anne Speckhard, "The ISIS Emni: It's Organizational Structure, Current Leadership and Clues to its Inner Workings in Syria & Iraq. *ICSVE Research Report*, 12 April 2017, http://www.icsve.org/abu-luqman-father-of-the-isis-emni-its-organizational-structure-current-leadership-and-clues-to-its-inner-workings-in-syria-iraq/.
- [17] For example, see: Anne Speckhard and Ahmet Yayla (2017); and Vera Mironova, Ekaterina Sergatskova, and Karam Alhamad, "ISIS'S Intelligence Service Refuses to Die." *Foreign Affairs*, 22 November 2017, https://www.foreignaffairs.com/articles/iraq/2017-11-22/isis-intelligence-service-refuses-die.
- [18] Asaad Almohammad, Anne Speckhard, and Ahmet S. Yayla. "The ISIS Prison System: Its Structure, Departmental Affiliations, Processes, Conditions, and Practices of Psychological and Physical Torture," *ICSVE Research Report*, 10 August 2017, http://www.icsve.org/research-reports/the-isis-prison-system-its-structure-departmental-affiliations-processes-conditions-and-practices-of-psychological-and-physical-torture/. More recent data suggest that detention, torture, and interrogations are still handled by amni forces: Author interview with DC04, 1 April 2018; Author interview with DC04, 14 May 2018; Author interviews with DC04, DC05, and DC02, 19 May 2018; and Author interview with DC02, 6 September 2018.
- [19] Asaad Almohammad, "ISIS Child Soldiers in Syria: The Structural and Predatory Recruitment, Enlistment, Pre-Training Indoctrination, Training and Deployment." *The International Centre for Counter-Terrorism The Hague 8*, no. 14 (2018). Recent interview materials also provide support for the role of amni in the recruitment and deployment of children: Author interview with

DC06, 8 May 2018; Author interview with DC05, 5 August 2018; and Author interview with DC02, 17 August 2018.

- [20] Mironova, et al. (2017); Speckhard and Yayla (2017); Almohammad and Speckhard (2017); Author interview with DC02, 14 April 2018; Author interview with DC04, 14 May 2018; and Author interview with DC06, 15 September 2018.
- [21] Callimachi (2016). These intelligence services belong to Austria, Belgium, France, and Germany.
- [22] Author interview with DC04, 1 April 2018; Author interview with DC04, 14 May 2018; Author interviews with DC04, DC05, and DC02, 19 May 2018; and Author interview with DC01, 6 September 2018: AUDIO-2018-09-09-06-49-45, AUDIO-2018-09-09-06-49-57, AUDIO-2018-09-09-06-50-07, and AUDIO-2018-09-09-06-50-19. The audio recordings feature a Friday sermon that was deliver by IS emir of the directorate of mosques proselytization. Throughout the sermon, he criticized amni forces and emphasized injustices they commit against locals and IS cadre.
- [23] Bahney and Johnston (2017). Interview materials provide support to the increasingly critical and interdepartmental role of amni forces: Author interview with DC01, 3 January 2018; Author interview with DC02, 12 January 2018; Author interview with DC06, 18 January 2018; Author interview with DC04, 1 April 2018; Author interview with DC02, 14 April 2018; Author interview with DC03, 4 May 2018; Author interview with DC03, 4 May 2018; Author interview with DC04, 14 May 2018; Author Interview with DC02, 16 May 2018; Author interviews with DC04, DC05, and DC02, 19 May 2018; Author interview with DC06, 20 May 2018; Author interviews with DC02, DC04, and DC05, 25 May 2018; Author interview with DC03, 30 May 2018; Author Interview with DC06, 16 July 2018; Author interview with DC01, 20 July 2018; Author interview with DC01, 28 July 2018; Author interview with DC03, 5 August 2018; Author interview with DC02, 17 August 2018; Author Interview with DC04, 19 August 2018; Author interview with DC03, 5 September 2018; Author interview with DC04, 7 September 2018; Author interview with DC01, 8 September 2018; and Author interview with DC06, 15 September 2018.
- [24] Ibid; Mironova, et al. (2017); Speckhard and Yayla (2017); Almohammad and Speckhard (2017); Callimachi (2016); Reuter (2015); and Jacqueline R. Sutherland, "How Is ISIS Able to Commit Acts of Terror as It Loses Territory?," *National Interest*, 8 November 2017, https://nationalinterest.org/feature/how-isis-able-commit-acts-terror-it-loses-territory-23111.
- [25] Author interview with DC01, 3 January 2018; Author interview with DC02, 12 January 2018; Author interview with DC06, 18 January 2018; Author interview with DC04, 1 April 2018; Author interview with DC02, 14 April 2018; Author interview with DC05, 18 April 2018; Author interview with DC02 and DC03, 25 April 2018; Author interview with DC03, 4 May 2018; Author interview with DC04, 14 May 2018; Author Interview with DC02, 16 May 2018; Author interviews with DC04, DC05, and DC02, 19 May 2018; Author interview with DC06, 20 May 2018; Author interviews with DC02, DC04, and DC05, 25 May 2018; Author interview with DC03, 30 May 2018; Author Interview with DC06, 16 July 2018; Author interview with DC01, 20 July 2018; Author interview with DC01, 28 July 2018; Author interview with DC03, 5 August 2018; Author interview with DC02, 17 August 2018; Author Interview with DC04, 19 August 2018; Author interview with DC03, 5 September 2018; Author interview with DC04, 7 September 2018; Author interview with DC01, 8 September 2018; Author interview with DC04, 25 September 2018; Author interview with DC01, 25 September 2018; Author interview with DC03, 26 September 2018; Author interview with DC01, 27 September 2018; Author interview with DC04, 28 September 2018; and Author interview with DC06, 29 September 2018.

[26] Ibid.

[27] Ibid.

[28] Author interview with DC03, 24 September 2018; Author interview with DC01, 25 September 2018; Author interview with DC05, 26 September 2018; Author interview with DC04, 28 September 2018; and Author interview with DC06, 29 September 2018.

[29] Ibid.

- [30] Aymenn Jawad Al-Tamimi, "The Archivist: The Islamic State's Security Apparatus Structure in the Provinces," *Jihadology*, 2 August 2017, http://www.aymennjawad.org/20129/the-archivist-the-islamic-state-security.
- [31] Author interview with DC05, 26 September 2018.

[32] Ibid.

- [33] Author interview with DC03, 24 September 2018; Author interview with DC01, 25 September 2018; Author interview with DC05, 26 September 2018; Author interview with DC04, 28 September 2018; and Author interview with DC06, 29 September 2018.
- [34] Author interview with DC01, 4 June 2018; Author interview with DC05, 18 April 2018; Author interview with DC03, 4 May 2018; Author interview with DC04, 14 May 2018; Author Interview with DC02, 16 May 2018; Author interviews with DC04, DC05, and DC02, 19 May 2018; Author interview with DC06, 20 May 2018; Author interviews with DC02, DC04, and DC05, 25

May 2018; Author interview with DC03, 30 May 2018; Author Interview with DC06, 16 July 2018.

- [35] Author interview with DC01, 4 June 2018; Author interview with DC05, 18 April 2018; Author interview with DC03, 4 May 2018; Author interview with DC04, 14 May 2018; Author Interview with DC02, 16 May 2018; Author interviews with DC04, DC05, and DC02, 19 May 2018; Author interview with DC06, 20 May 2018; Author interviews with DC02, DC04, and DC05, 25 May 2018; Author interview with DC03, 30 May 2018; Author Interview with DC06, 16 July 2018.
- [36] Author interview with DC01, 4 June 2018.
- [37] Ibid.
- [38] Author interview with DC03, 4 May 2018; Author interview with DC06, 8 May 2018; Author interview with DC04, 14 May 2018; Author Interview with DC02, 16 May 2018; Author interviews with DC04, DC05, and DC02, 19 May 2018; Author interview with DC06, 20 May 2018; Author interviews with DC02, DC04, and DC05, 25 May 2018; Author interview with DC03, 30 May 2018; Author interview with DC01, 4 June 2018; and Milton (2018).
- [39] Author interviews with DC02, DC04, and DC05, 25 May 2018.
- [40] Author interview with DC05, 18 April 2018; Author interview with DC03, 4 May 2018; Author interview with DC04, 14 May 2018; and Author interview DC03, 30 May 2018.
- [41] Author interview with DC05, 18 April 2018; Author interview with DC03, 4 May 2018; Author interview with DC04, 14 May 2018; and Author interview DC03, 30 May 2018.
- [42] Author interviews with DC02, DC04, and DC05, 25 May 2018; Author interview with DC03, 24 September 2018; Author interview with DC01, 25 September 2018; and Author interview with DC05, 26 September 2018.
- [43] Author interview with DC01, 3 January 2018; Author interview with DC02, 12 January 2018; Author interview with DC06, 18 January 2018; Author interview with DC04, 1 April 2018; Author interview with DC02, 14 April 2018; Author interview with DC05, 18 April 2018; Author interview with DC03, 25 April 2018; Author interview with DC03, 4 May 2018; Author interview with DC04, 14 May 2018; Author Interview with DC02, 16 May 2018; Author interviews with DC04, DC05, and DC02, 19 May 2018; Author interview with DC06, 20 May 2018; Author interviews with DC02, DC04, and DC05, 25 May 2018; Author interview with DC03, 30 May 2018; Author Interview with DC06, 16 July 2018; Author interview with DC01, 20 July 2018; Author interview with DC01, 28 July 2018; Author interview with DC03, 5 August 2018; Author interview with DC02, 17 August 2018; Author Interview with DC04, 19 August 2018; Author interview with DC03, 24 September 2018; and Author interview with DC05, 26 September 2018.
- [44] Ibid.
- [45] Ibid.
- [46] Atif Ahmad, Sean B. Maynard, and Sangseo Park. "Information security strategies: towards an organizational multi-strategy perspective." *Journal of Intelligent Manufacturing 25*, no. 2 (2014): 357-370.
- [47] Detmar W. Straub and Richard J. Welke, "Coping with systems risk: security planning models for management decision making," MIS quarterly (1998): 441-469; JP McDermott (2000), "Attack Net Penetration Testing," Paper presented at the 2000 Workshop on New Security Paradigms, (County Cork, Ireland); J. Doyle, I. Kohane, W. Long, H. Shrobe, and P. Szolovits, "Agile Monitoring for Cyber Defense," Paper presented at the 2001 DARPA Information Survivability Conference & Exposition II (DISCEX '01); J.E. Beauregard, "Modeling Information Assurance," Master's Thesis, Air Force Institute of Technology, (Ohio: Air University, 2001); Paul Dourish and David Redmiles, "An approach to usable security based on event monitoring and visualization." In Proceedings of the 2002 workshop on New security paradigms, pp. 75-81. ACM, 2002; J.B. Michael J.B., "On the Response Policy of Software Decoys: Conducting Software-based Deception in the Cyber Battlespace," Paper presented at the 26th Annual International Computer Software and Applications Conf. (COMPSAC'02), August 2002; T.P. Cahill, "Cyber Warfare Peacekeeping," Paper presented at the 2003 IEEE Workshop on Information Assurance, June 2003; M. Henauer, "Early warning and information sharing." In Workshop on cyber security and contingency planning: threats and infrastructure protection, Zurich, Switzerland, pp. 55-62. 2003.; Butler W. Lampson, "Computer security in the real world." Computer 37, no. 6 (2004): 37-46; S.J. Stolfo, "Worm and Attack Early Warning: Piercing Stealthy Reconnaissance," IEEE Security & Privacy 2 no. 3 (2004):73-75; John D'Arcy, Anat Hovav, and Dennis Galletta, "User awareness of security countermeasures and its impact on information systems misuse: A deterrence approach." Information Systems Research 20, no. 1 (2009): 79-98; Thomas E. Carroll and Daniel Grosu, "A secure and anonymous voter-controlled election scheme," Journal of network and computer applications 32, no. 3 (2009): 599-606; D.S. Alberts, Defensive Information Warfare (NDU Press Book, National Defense University: 1996); W. Tirenin and D. Faatz, "A concept for strategic cyber defense," In Military Communications Conference Proceedings, 1999. MILCOM 1999. IEEE (Vol. 1, pp. 458-463). IEEE; Bruce Schneier, Beyond Fear: Thinking sensibly about security in an uncertain world. (New York: Springer, 2006); and Paul Byrne, "Application firewalls in a defence-in-depth design." Network Security, no. 9 (2006): 9-11.

[48] Simon Liu, John Sullivan, and Jerry Ormaner. "A practical approach to enterprise IT security." IEEE IT Professional, 5 (2001):

35-42.

- [49] Milton (2018).
- [50] Author interview with DC02, 14 April 2018; Author interview with DC05, 18 April 2018; Author interview with DC03, 4 May 2018; Author interview with DC04, 14 May 2018; and Author interviews with DC04, DC05, and DC02, 19 May 2018.
- [51] Ibid.
- [52] Author interview with DC06, 16 July 2018.
- [53] Author interviews with DC02, DC04, and DC05, 25 May 2018; and Author interview with DC03, 30 May 2018.
- [54] Author interview with DC01, 3 January 2018; Author interview with DC06, 16 July 2018; and Author interview with DC05, 11 August 2018; and Author Interview with DC01, 21 July 2018: PHOTO-2018-07-21-4.
- [55] Milton (2018). Also see: The Essential Duties of the Media Mujahid; Information Security; and General Guidance and Instructions.
- [56] K.A. Forcht, Computer Security Management, (Danvers, MA: Boyd and Fraser, 1994)
- [57] Alfred Lumstein, Jacqueline Cohen, and Daniel Nagin, *Deterrence and Incapacitation; Estimating the Effects of Criminal Sanctions on Crime Rates* (Washington, DC: National Academy of Sciences, 1978); Straub Jr, Detmar W., "Effective IS security: An empirical study." *Information Systems Research 1*, no. 3 (1990): 255-276; Kankanhalli, et al. (2003); and Mikko Siponen and Anthony Vance. "Neutralization: new insights into the problem of employee information systems security policy violations." *MIS quarterly* (2010): 487-502.
- [58] H. Klete, Some Minimum Requirements for Legal Sanctioning Systems with Special Emphasis on Detection. Deterrence and Incapacitation: Estimating the Effects of Criminal Sanctions on Crime Rates (Washington, DC: National Academy of Sciences, 1975); D.B. Parker, Computer Security Management. (Reston, VA: Reston Publishing, 1981); T.S. Dunn, Methodology for the Optimization of Resources in the Detection of Computer Fraud (University of Arizona, 1982); D.B. Parker, Fighting Computer Crime (NY: Scribner, 1983); Straub (1990); Straub Jr, Detmar W., and William D. Nance. "Discovering and disciplining computer abuse in organizations: a field study." MIS quarterly (1990): 45-60; D'Arcy, et al. (2009).
- [59] To review the cited document and for more details on the punishment of suspected spies, please see: Almohammad, Speckhard, and Yayla (2017).
- [60] Ibid.
- [61] Author interview with DC02, 14 April 2018.
- [62] Doyle, et al. (2001)
- [63] Ibid
- [64] Ratna Bearavolu, Kiran Lakkaraju, William Yurcik, and Hrishikesh Raje. "A visualization tool for situational awareness of tactical and strategic security events on large and complex computer networks." *In IEEE Military Communications Conference (Milcom)*, vol. 12, no. 5, pp. 75-88. 2003.
- [65] Ibid.
- [66] Author interview with DC01, 3 January 2018; Author interview with DC02, 12 January 2018; Author interview with DC06, 18 January 2018; Author interview with DC04, 1 April 2018; Author interview with DC02, 14 April 2018; Author interview with DC05, 18 April 2018; Author interview with DC03, 25 April 2018; Author interview with DC03, 4 May 2018; Author interview with DC04, 14 May 2018; Author Interview with DC02, 16 May 2018; Author interviews with DC04, DC05, and DC02, 19 May 2018; Author interview with DC06, 20 May 2018; Author interviews with DC02, DC04, and DC05, 25 May 2018; and Author interview with DC03, 30 May 2018.
- [67] Author interview with DC02, January 21, 2018
- [68] Fred Cohen, "Special feature: A note on the role of deception in information protection," *Computers and Security 17*, no. 6 (1998): 483-506; and Tirenin and Faatz (1999)
- [69] Ibid; and Mason Rice, Daniel Guernsey, and Sujeet Shenoi, "Using deception to shield cyberspace sensors." *In International Conference on Critical Infrastructure Protection* (Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer, 2011: pp. 3-18).
- [70] Almohammad and Speckhard (2017).
- [71] Author interview with DC05, 18 April 2018; Author interview with DC04, 9 May 2018; Author interview with DC03, 30 May

- 2018; Author interview with DC01, 28 July 2018; and Author interview with DC03, 5 August 2018.
- [72] Author interview with DC05, 18 April 2018; Author interview with DC03, 30 May 2018; Author interview with DC01, 28 July 2018
- [73] Author interview with DC05, 18 April 2018.
- [74] Ibid.
- [75] Ibid.
- [76] Author interview with DC04, 18 April 2018; Author interview with DC04, DC05, and DC02, 19 May 2018; Author interview with DC03, 30 May 2018; Author interview with DC01, 28 July 2018; Author interview with DC03, 3 August 2018; and Author interview with DC03, 5 September 2018.
- [77] Author interview with DC01, 3 January 2018; Author interview with DC02, 12 January 2018; Author interview with DC04, 1 April 2018; Author interview with DC05, 18 April 2018; Author interview with DC04, 4 May 2018; Author interview with DC04, DC05, and DC02, 19 May 2018; Author interview with DC06, 16 July 2018; Author interviews with DC02, DC04, and DC05, 25 May 2018; Author interview with DC03, 30 May 2018; and Author interview with DC03, 5 August 2018.
- [78] Liu, et al. (2001) and Schneier (2006).
- [79] McGuiness (2001).
- [80] Schneier (2006).
- [81] Liu, et al. (2001).
- [82] Author interview with DC01, 3 January 2018; Author interview with DC02, 12 January 2018; Author interview with DC04, 1 April 2018; Author interview with DC05, 18 April 2018; Author interview with DC04, 4 May 2018; Author interview with DC04, DC05, and DC02, 19 May 2018; Author interview with DC06, 16 July 2018; Author interviews with DC02, DC04, and DC05, 25 May 2018; Author interview with DC03, 30 May 2018; and Author interview with DC03, 5 August 2018.
- [83] Schneier (2006).
- [84] Ibid.
- [85] Author interviews with DC02, DC04, and DC05, 25 May 2018.
- [86] Author interviews with DC02, DC04, and DC05, 25 May 2018.
- [87] Author interviews with DC02, DC04, and DC05, 25 May 2018.
- [88] Author interview with DC03, 30 May 2018.
- [89] Author interviews with DC02, DC04, and DC05, 25 May 2018.
- [90] Author interview with DC03, 30 May 2018; Author interview with DC01, 20 July 2018; Author interview with DC03, 24 September 2018; Author interview with DC01, 25 September 2018; Author interview with DC05, 26 September 2018; Author interview with DC01, 27 September 2018; Author interview with DC04, 28 September 2018; and Author interview with DC06, 29 September 2018.
- [91] Security Council, "Twenty-second report of the Analytical Support and Sanctions Monitoring Team submitted pursuant to resolution 2368 (2017) concerning ISIL (Da'esh), Al-Qaida and associated individuals and entities," *United Nations*, 13 August 2018, https://undocs.org/en/S/2018/705.
- [92] Mike Giglio, "The Trump White House Says ISIS Has Been Defeated In Iraq. The Data Says Otherwise," *BuzzFeed News*, 31 October 2018, https://www.buzzfeednews.com/article/mikegiglio/trump-isis-iraq-defeat-attacks.
- [93] Author interview with DC03, 5 September 2018; Author interview with DC02, 6 September 2018; Author interview with DC04, 7 September 2018; Author interview with DC01, 8 September 2018; Author interview with DC06, 15 September 2018; Author interview with DC03, 24 September 2018; Author interview with DC01, 25 September 2018; Author interview with DC05, 26 September 2018; Author interview with DC01, 27 September 2018; Author interview with DC04, 28 September 2018; and Author interview with DC06, 29 September 2018.

Making Sense of Jihadi Stratcom: The Case of the Islamic State By Charlie Winter

Abstract

This article explores why jihadis make propaganda. Through the analytical lens of Bockstette's 2008 framework for jihadi communication strategies, it assesses two of the Islamic State's most important doctrinal texts on media jihad—the first, a little-known speech by Abu Hamzah al-Muhajir that was published posthumously in 2010, and the second, a field-guide prepared by the Islamic State's official publishing house, the Himmah Library, in 2015. After drawing out the core insights, similarities and presuppositions of each text, it discusses the enduring salience of Bockstette's model on the one hand and these two texts on the other, noting that, while it is imprudent to make policy predictions based on them alone, so too would it be remiss to ignore the strategic insights they contain.

Keywords: Strategic communication; propaganda; insurgency; Islamic State; Islamic State of Iraq; jihadism.

Introduction

In 2017, the Islamic State's utopian project failed—at least, it did in material terms. As the year progressed, the borders of what had once been its proto-state disintegrated; its ranks haemorrhaged, and financial reserves collapsed.[1] On top of all that, once-key urban strongholds like Mosul, Raqqah and Mayadin, to which many had tied the fate of the caliphate project, were recaptured and purged.[2] For these reasons among others, policymakers are already rushing to declare that the Islamic State is defeated, and that, like a flare burning bright one minute and extinguished the next, it is now bound to fade into obscurity.[3] Such optimistic predictions have been made before about this group, and that we are hearing them again now should be cause for concern, not reprieve.[4] Military defeat and ideological failure are not one and the same thing for this organisation and, if 2018 is anything to go by, it is down but certainly not out.[5]

Central to the Islamic State's ability to navigate through its current tribulations is strategic communication, something for which it is already renowned. In the last few years alone, its official propaganda outlets have become household names, and they have already demonstrated that they have no intention of quietening down now that the caliphate is no longer contiguous—indeed, in many cases, their wares have actually increased in technical sophistication.[6] Hence, although the Islamic State's kinetic threat may have diminished, its ideational menace remains a clear and present danger. The present article explores the extent of this danger, assessing it through the lens of internet-mediated communication. Using Bockstette's 2008 work on jihadi strategic messaging as an interpretative framework, it evaluates the Islamic State's past rhetoric on propaganda with a view to identifying prevailing trends in how and why it engages in media warfare—as well as when those trends evolve.[7]

The article proceeds as follows. After a brief review of the existing literature on the Islamic State's digital outreach strategy, I set out Bockstette's understanding of what motivates jihadi communication. In the section that follows, I use it to inform a critical analysis of two seminal texts on Islamic State propaganda activism—the first, a little-known speech by Abu Hamzah al-Muhajir, and the second, a field-guide prepared by the Islamic State's official publishing house, the Himmah Library.[8] In the conclusion, I discuss the enduring salience of both these texts, noting that, while it is imprudent to make policy predictions based solely on them, so too would it be remiss to ignore the strategic insights they contain.

Literature Review

Much ink has been spilled on the Islamic State, especially in the context of its approach to outreach, which is perhaps the single most researched aspect of the organisation. Scholars have tended to explore it from three angles: thematic analyses of its aggregate output; content analyses of individual texts or groups of texts; and quantitative analyses of its social media support-base.

The first body of work is characterised by studies from the likes of Zelin, Milton, and Winter, whose respective efforts revolve, like Kimmage's earlier examination of al-Qa'ida in Iraq's communication strategic, around archives—built both in the short- and long-term—of official media output.[9] Generally speaking, their findings are consistent with one another: they each identify a net decline in the amount of propaganda being produced by the group, one that has roughly correlated with (but not necessarily been caused by) its territorial contraction since 2015. While a series of intuitive conclusions may be reached about this, there is no agreement as to what exactly caused this deceleration, and the Islamic State has remained entirely silent on the matter. It is worth noting that the consensus is not quite complete, with an account by Fisher contending that there has been no such productivity decline.[10]

The next stream of research comprises mixed methods analyses of individual genres of Islamic State propaganda. There have been myriad explorations into its magazines, Dabiq and Rumiyah, with some also turning their attention to the Arabic-language equivalent, Naba'.[11] Others, like Winkler et al. and Adelman, have focused on decrypting the hundreds of infographics it has published since 2015, while scholars such as Nanninga and Dauber and Robinson have instead concentrated on its production of videos.[12] El Damanhoury and Milton are among the very few to have examined its mass production of still images, about which much more can and should be said.[13] Notwithstanding the diversity of their subject matter, these genre studies often reach similar conclusions regarding the presence of mainstream visual rhetoric in the Islamic State's propaganda—that is, motifs and tropes that are very much at home in contemporary Western media culture.

The last of these three research trends focuses on the other side of the communication equation: it consists of explorations into Islamic State support-base dynamics on social networking and file-sharing platforms. Since 2014 in particular, jihadi activism on websites like Twitter, Facebook and YouTube has attracted a lot of attention from scholars and policy analysts alike. Carter, Maher and Neumann's investigation was one of the first such mapping efforts, and it was followed by similarly orientated explorations from the likes of Klausen and Berger and Morgan.[14] Later research on the same issue by Conway et al. and Alexander illustrates that the presence of jihadis on these mainstream platforms has declined since 2015, with new, privacy-maximising services like Telegram, Wickr, and Pidgin coming to take their place as preferred communication hubs for jihadi extremists.[15]

The present study builds on the above, albeit from a slightly different perspective. Drawing on the Islamic State's own rhetoric about media warfare, it contributes to a less prominent cluster of outreach research that evaluates the group's communication imperatives by examining documents that it itself has published. Relatively few have approached the issue from this angle. Among them are Rogan, whose 2007 monograph on al-Qa'ida's approach to propaganda provides one of the first comprehensive analyses of jihadi outreach;[16] Whiteside, whose historical exploration of Islamic State media operations is informed by documentary evidence dating as far back as 2003;[17] Winter, whose analysis is based on the same Himmah Library text on media strategy that is explored below;[18] and Milton, whose work is based on internal documents captured, translated and declassified by the United States Department of Defense.[19] Considered together, these accounts demystify some of the more intricate details of the group's media production, distribution and evaluation activities—and, crucially in the present context, they also inform us as to what strategic considerations drive them. By testing the validity of Bockstette's analytical framework in the specific context of the Islamic State—which, lest we forget, was embryonic when it was first proposed—this article contributes to and builds upon this last body of work.

Jihadi Insurgency and Strategic Communication

Writing in 2008 in the context of al-Qa'ida's media strategy, Carsten Bockstette, then a lieutenant colonel in the German Air Force, proposed that the way in which jihadis conceptualise the communication battlespace means that they are in a highly advantageous position vis-à-vis their more numerous, better-resourced, and better-equipped adversaries. Indeed, by taking advantage of the "favorable communication asymmetry" that is proffered by the nimbleness with which they can navigate the global information environment, jihadis, he holds, have been able to "compensate for a significant part" of what they are lacking in terms of "military might." [20] Relatively unchallenged, they are able to deploy meticulously planned, high-risk outreach strategies using both social and mainstream media, influencing friend and foe in almost equal measure.

Typically, jihadi communication campaigns revolve around one of three strategic objectives: propagation, legitimisation, and intimidation.[21] The first essentially refers to efforts to attract new recruits, draw in new donors, and expand the reach of their ideology. The second speaks to a more defensive form of communication, one that focuses on justifying violence and situating the actions of the movement in question within a broader Islamic context. The last focuses on the adversary audience; it manifests most prominently in terrorist operations deployed because of their communicative, not kinetic, potential.

In pursuit of these three sets of objectives, jihadi groups are said to work to a five-step model, one that is common to much effective strategic communication planning and could thus be applied in the context of many political marketing campaigns—including those that are non-jihadi:

- i. Strategic end-state assessment and development.
- ii. Communication infrastructure evaluation.
- iii. Target audience analysis and channel selection.
- iv. Plan development and execution.
- v. Monitoring and evaluation.[22]

By adopting this approach, Bockstette contends that jihadi communicators have been able to exploit a fundamental asymmetry that their enemies—as risk-averse states often (but not always) bound by the ethical and moral conventions that have come to be associated with modern-day warfighting—are simply not party to.

While there was much evidence for the validity of this framework back in 2008, the advanced state of jihadi media production today bears little resemblance to the rough-cut tapes that characterised it in the 2000s. Nevertheless, these same three strategic objectives have withstood the tests of time, something that I endeavour to demonstrate below.

Framework, Applied

In this section, I interpret two doctrinal documents relating to the Islamic State's media war, drawing on Bockstette's framework throughout. The first text is a speech attributed to Abu Hamzah al-Muhajir—a successor to Abu Mu'sab al-Zarqawi and former prime minister and war minister of the Islamic State of Iraq, the direct predecessor to what is now known as the Islamic State. Entitled, 'To those entrusted with the message,' it surfaced posthumously in 2010, when the group was at its lowest ebb. The second text is a field-guide for media operatives that was published by the Islamic State's printing press, the Himmah Library. Entitled, 'Media operative, you are a mujahid too,' it first appeared in mid-2015, when the group was at the zenith of its influence. Both documents are similarly orientated: each addresses core supporters of the group, setting out the strategic value of media activism with a view to justifying why the Islamic State invests so much time and energy in it. Below, each is considered in turn.

Text I: "To those entrusted with the message"

Stripped of ideological window-dressing, the Abu Hamzah speech consists of fourteen guidelines falling into one of four thematic clusters. Three of these clusters correlate almost exactly to Bockstette's core communication objectives—propagation, legitimisation, and intimidation. The fourth relates to educational and administrative matters, pursuits that, while interesting, are not considered to be motivating factors for propaganda activism. The discussion below is thus limited to the first three of these clusters.[23]

Throughout the text, Abu Hamzah comes back to the perceived importance of proactive and positive outreach, holding that it is the chief means with which to propagate the Islamic State's ideology and creed. He variously advises that media workers should "establish communication and dialogue with those who sympathize with and support the issue of Islamic media";[24] "prepare a daily video news bulletin that focuses on updates and analyses events, especially those relating to the mujahidin";[25] and compile "a memorandum of proposals and guidance on a monthly basis for the mujahidin and the commanders of jihad."[26] If each of these instructions is correctly implemented, he holds, Islamic State media operatives will be able to enlarge their global support base with unparalleled efficiency. Indeed, through them, they could variously "raise [the mujahidin's] spirits, frighten [the mujahidin's] enemies," and—perhaps most importantly in this context—make the group and its supporters "appear as one ummah fighting for one objective on many frontlines." [27]

Abu Hamzah also makes much of the media workers' potentially pivotal role in legitimising the Islamic State in the face of its adversaries, noting that they are on the very frontline of defensive communications. He states that media workers are beholden to constantly "defam[e] the image of the infidels, expos[e] their immorality, and describ[e] every defect they have." [28] Simultaneously, they must work to understand the stuff of which the adversaries' arguments is made—the implication being that counter-messaging campaigns should be developed based on this awareness. [29] If this is done successfully, he contends, the regular media operative will be equipped with everything that they need to "expose their [enemies'] contradictions, violations, and grave sins." [30] Essentially, then, this second stream of operations revolves around the targeted derision of any ideas that run contrary to the Islamic State and its belief system—and that includes those which emerge in the mainstream news. Thus, it appears to be geared towards entrenching the group's exclusivist in-group identity, something intended to leave it legitimised and its adversaries discredited.

On the topic of intimidation, Abu Hamzah speaks at length; indeed, it is the very first thing he mentions. In particular, he proposes two key lines of aggressive communication operations: "sow[ing] terror in the hearts of our enemy using everything permitted by shari'ah for this purpose"—including, that is, terrorism and violent propaganda—and "provid[ing] hackers with instructions" to deploy electronic warfare against enemy institutions such as banks and political foundations in order to "terrify those who have shares in these establishments and destroy their trust."[31] Here, he hints at the potentially war-changing impact of propaganda of the deed and propaganda of the virtual deed. As well as fostering a sense of the Islamic State's apparent ubiquity, intimidation-focused influence campaigns conceived along these lines are said to be a way to compound, in the eyes of both friend and foe, the perception of organisational "strength" in terms of "determination and number."[32]

Notwithstanding the fact that this speech was made nearly a decade ago by a man who is now long-dead, the ideas it contains continue to run strong within the Islamic State's media ministry. They have been writ large across its outreach activities for years—seen in anything from its utopian promotions of life inside the caliphate and counter-messaging campaigns to its deployment of terrorism and distribution of ultraviolent propaganda—and, as is demonstrated below, continued to undergird them when the group was at the height of its power in 2015.

Text II: "Media operative, you are a mujahid too"

The Himmah Library booklet was composed primarily for in-theatre consumption, its core goal being to motivate Islamic State media operatives in their day-to-day efforts. Setting out the strategic importance of propaganda production and distribution, it describes the imperative for media jihad and, just as is the case with

the above, speaks to motivational ideals strikingly similar to those identified by Bockstette.

The authors are unambiguous when it comes to the role of media production in propagating their ideology and expanding the movement. In the introduction, they state that the first goals of the media operative are:

"To buoy the morale of soldiers, spread news of their victories and good deeds, encourage the people to support them by clarifying their creed, methodology and intentions and bridge the intellectual gap between the mujahidin and ordinary Muslims." [33]

In other words, propaganda is considered to be the central vehicle for popularising the Islamic State brand—anything from its news and current affairs to more esoteric, ideological matters that relate to its creed. This idea closely echoes what Abu Hamzah stated on the matter: he too held that media outreach is the chief means with which to incite 'regular Muslims,' en masse, to jihad. In any case, the authors frequently return to this notion, variously noting that there are few more important things than "bring[ing] glad tidings to the believers' hearts," "transmit[ting] to the simple people a true picture of the battle," and "steering others towards [the ideology] and opening their eyes to it."[34]

The authors are equally explicit about the need to defend the Islamic State through legitimisation-focused media operations. They write at length about "the intellectual invasion" being conducted by Western nations against Muslims the world over, contending that media workers must "declar[e] the truth" in the face of their "daily lies and professionalised falsification," responding aggressively to the "frenzied media campaign" they are waging.[35] Moreover, given the recent "intensification of this propaganda war"—something that jihadis have long complained about—they hold that defensive communication operations have never been more important: after all, this battle is being fought not just for the reputation of the Islamic State as an organisation, but for the very existence and future of the religion of Islam.[36]

Just as it does in the Abu Hamzah speech, a discussion of the intimidation logic behind media jihad takes centre-stage in the Himmah Library text. The authors write extensively about how aggressive communication operations are a central part of both "verbal jihad" and "jihad of the sword," and they devote an entire section to its value in "infuriating the enemy." [37] Because "everything that angers the enemies of Allah" is a legitimate "form of jihad," they hold that offensive psychological operations should be viewed as a logical extension, or even a substitution, to kinetic campaigns. [38] It is worth noting that, because the Islamic State's war is total, it matters not which aspect of the adversary is targeted—whether it is the government and its military or its softer, more vulnerable underbelly, the general public.

Considered together, the field-guide's eight chapters repackage and reiterate much of what Abu Hamzah stated five years earlier. This is significant, because the Islamic State at the time of its release in 2015 was almost unrecognisable from the Islamic State in 2010: the group was ascendant, not floundering, having just declared its caliphate, attracted tens of thousands of volunteer supporters to Iraq and Syria, and provoked a global war. Given that, at the time of writing, we are on the cusp of another new phase in the group's history, one in which it is structurally much closer to the Islamic State of 2010, it is critical that this evolution—or lack thereof—is kept in mind.

Concluding Remarks

By examining the above texts through the lens of Bockstette's framework, this article has illustrated its ongoing relevance in the context of jihadi strategic communication. Judging by its own rhetoric on the matter, the Islamic State does indeed appear to consider media warfare to be an effective way to propagate and legitimise itself and intimidate its adversaries. That these objectives have continually been at the heart of its information strategy across some of its most difficult years is interesting, especially given that they did not seem to change even after it had transformed itself from an ailing insurgency into a booming proto-state. This points towards the versatility of Bockstette's model as a general framework for communication at times of war, one that places

information at the heart of the asymmetric arsenal come rain or shine.

A recent audio statement by Islamic State leader Abu Bakr al-Baghdadi suggests its salience will continue to be the case in the aftermath of the group's most recent material collapse. Fifty-five minutes in length, the speech made for a predictable retelling of the last few years—the central proposition was that the current tribulations were all part of God's plan and that all would soon be well. In the course of making this point, though, Abu Bakr also spoke specifically about the state of the media war. Among other things, he closely echoed both Abu Hamzah and the Himmah Library field-guide, stating that his caliphate was under more ideological pressure than ever before from its foes, who had intensified their "campaign of intentional disinformation and defamation" through the establishment of specially devoted "centres, committees, and significant numbers of trolls." In view of this, he warned "of taking news from any other source than the Central Media of the Islamic State" and called upon his media activist listeners to double down in their efforts, "renew the[ir] covenants, make further sacrifices, and divert [the disbelievers] away from fighting"—a statement that was reiterated in the October 2018 video, 'Inside the caliphate VIII.'[39]

As per the above directive—which was enthusiastically circulated in multiple languages by Islamic State supporters on Telegram—the media jihad rages on, even as its kinetic counterpart slows down. Hence, in spite of continuing efforts to limit the dissemination of jihadi propaganda online, which are having an undeniable impact on the group, the strategic communication space could still stand to become even more important to it than it already is.[40]

With this in mind, it is probably fair to say that Bockstette's framework is as salient today as it was ten years ago. However, it is not quite complete: at least one more core communication objective—that of instruction—exists alongside his tripartite structure. While scarce in quantity, the Islamic State's instructional materials have been central to its aggressive communication campaigns in recent years. Indeed, in the last two years alone, its central media offices have issued detailed advice on how to commit terrorist attacks using anything from knives and cars to more complex tactics like hostage-taking and bomb-making. [41] To be sure, the group is not the first to produce such materials—they have a rich pedigree both in and out of the jihadi paradigm, what with the likes of AQAP's Inspire magazine and 'Abd al-'Aziz al-Muqrin's 2004 publication, 'A practical course for guerrilla warfare' [42]—and nor will it be the last. However, their global impact is, at least at the time of writing, unprecedented. [43] While, to an extent, they have merely been geared towards intimidating adversaries, when one considers that releases like the video 'You must fight them, o muwahhid' have had a direct role in executed terrorist attacks, there can be no denying their pedagogical value. [44] For that reason, in months and years to come, we should think instead of there being a quadripartite, not tripartite, motivational structure for jihadi internet-mediated outreach, one consisting of propagation, legitimisation, intimidation, and instruction.

About the Author: Charlie Winter is a senior research fellow at the International Centre for the Study of Radicalisation at King's College London and an associate fellow at the International Centre for Counter Terrorism in The Hague.

Notes

- [1] Brett McGurk, "Update on the D-ISIS campaign," US Department of State, 21 December, 2018. Accessed at: https://www.state.gov/r/pa/prs/ps/2017/12/276746.htm.
- [2] Caroline Alexander, "With caliphate gone, what's next for Islamic State," *Bloomberg Businessweek*, 9 March 2018. Accessed at: https://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2018-03-09/with-caliphate-gone-what-s-next-for-islamic-state-quicktake.
- [3] Donald Trump, "President Donald J. Trump's state of the union address," White House, 30 January 2018. Accessed at: https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefings-statements/president-donald-j-trumps-state-union-address/
- [4] Analysts and scholars have long approached claims of the Islamic State's defeat with a heavy dose of scepticism. See, for example: Scott Stewart, "Jihadists in Iraq: Down for the count?" *Stratfor*, 29 April 2010. Accessed at: https://worldview.stratfor.com/article/jihadists-iraq-down-count; Truls Hallberg Tønnessen, "Destroying the Islamic State Hydra: Lessons learned from the fall of its

predecessor," *CTC Sentinel* 9:8, 2016. Accessed at: https://ctc.usma.edu/destroying-the-islamic-state-hydra-lessons-learned-from-the-fall-of-its-predecessor/.

- [5] Liz Sly and Mustafa Salim, "ISIS is making a comeback in Iraq just months after Baghdad declared victory," *Washington Post*, 17 July 2018. Accessed at: https://www.washingtonpost.com/world/isis-is-making-a-comeback-in-iraq-less-than-a-year-after-baghdad-declared-victory/2018/07/17/9aac54a6-892c-11e8-9d59-dccc2c0cabcf story.html?utm term=.2cb48a166d00.
- [6] While many contend that the Islamic State's media capabilities have been degraded across the board, this is not actually the case. In narrative terms, its propaganda has become less complex—that is to say, there is less variation to it—but, in terms of technical and editorial sophistication, it has improved. See, for example: Islamic State, "Flames of War II," AlHayat Media Center, 29 November 2017. Accessed at: https://jihadology.net/2017/11/29/new-video-message-from-the-islamic-state-flames-of-war-ii/.
- [7] Carsten Bockstette, "Jihadist terrorist use of strategic communication management techniques," George C. Marshall European Center for Security Studies, December 2008. Accessed at: <a href="http://www.marshallcenter.org/mcpublicweb/MCDocs/files/College/F_Publications/occ-Papers/occ-papers/occ-
- [8] Abu Hamzah al-Muhajir [Posthumous], "To those entrusted with the message," Furqan Foundation, September 2010. Accessed at: leyoth.net; Anon., "Media operative, you are a mujahid too," Himmah Library. April 2016. Accessed at: archive.org. The author would like to thank Craig Whiteside for alerting him to the existence of the former.
- [9] Daniel Kimmage, "The al-Qaeda media nexus: The virtual network behind the global message," RFERL, 2008. Accessed at: https://docs.rferl.org/en-US/AQ_Media_Nexus.pdf; Aaron Zelin, "Picture or it didn't happen: A snapshot of the Islamic State's media output," *Perspectives on Terrorism* 9:4, 2015; Daniel Milton, "Communication breakdown: Unraveling the Islamic State's media efforts," Combating Terrorism Center at West Point, October 2016. Accessed at: https://ctc.usma.edu/communication-breakdown-unraveling-the-islamic-states-media-efforts/; Daniel Milton, "Down, but not out: An updated assessment of the Islamic State's visual propaganda," Combating Terrorism Center at West Point, July 2018. Accessed at: https://ctc.usma.edu/down-but-not-out-an-updated-examination-of-the-islamic-states-visual-propaganda/; Charlie Winter, "Apocalypse, later: A longitudinal study of the Islamic State brand," *Critical Studies in Media Communication* 35:1, 2018, 103-121.
- [10] Ali Fisher, "ISIS: Sunset on the 'decline narrative," Online Jihad, 1 June 2018. Accessed at: https://onlinejihad.net/2018/06/01/isis-sunset-on-the-decline-narrative/.
- [11] Haroro Ingram, "An analysis of Islamic State's Dabiq magazine," Australian Journal of Political Science 51:3, 2016, 458-577; Julian Droogan and Shane Peattie, "Mapping the thematic landscape of Dabiq magazine," Australian Journal of Political Science 71:6, 2017, 591-620; Haroro Ingram, "An analysis of Inspire and Dabiq: Lessons from AQAP and Islamic State's propaganda war," Studies in Conflict & Terrorism 40:5, 2016, 357-375; Nuria Lorenzo-Dus, Anina Kinzel, and Luke Walker, "Representing the West and "non-believers" in the online jihadist magazines Dabiq and Inspire," Critical Studies on Terrorism, 2018, [Online only]; Carol Winkler, Karim El Damanhoury, Aaron Dicker and Anthony Lemieux, "The medium is terrorism: Transformation of the about to die trope in Dabiq," Terrorism and Political Violence, 2016, [Online only]; Peter Wignell, Sabine Tan, and Kay O'Halloran, "Under the shade of AK47s: A multimodal approach to violent extremist recruitment strategies for foreign fighters," Critical Studies on Terrorism 10:3, 2017, 429-452; Logan Macnair and Richard Frank, "Changes and stabilities in the language of Islamic state magazines: A sentiment analysis," Dynamics of Asymmetric Conflict 11:2, 2017, 109-120; Orla Lehane, David Mair, Saffron Lee and Jodie Parker, "Brides, black widows and baby-makers; or not: An analysis of the portrayal of women in English-language jihadi magazine image," Critical Studies on Terrorism, 2018, [Online only]; Dounia Mahlouly and Charlie Winter, "A tale of two caliphates: Comparing the Islamic State's internal and external messaging priorities," VOX-Pol, 2018. Accessed at: https://www.voxpol.eu/download/vox-pol-publication/A-Tale-of-Two-Caliphates-Mahlouly-and-Winter.pdf.
- [12] Pieter Nanninga, "Meanings of savagery," in James Lewis (ed.), *The Cambridge companion to religion and terrorism*, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2017, 172-190; Cori Dauber and Mark Robinson, "ISIS and the Hollywood visual style," *Jihadology*, 6 July 2015. Accessed at: https://jihadology.net/2015/07/06/guest-post-isis-and-the-hollywood-visual-style/.
- [13] Karim El Damanhoury, Carol Winkler, Wojciech Kaczkowski and Aaron Dicker, "Examining the military-media nexus in ISIS's provincial photography campaign," *Dynamics of Asymmetric Conflict* 11:2, 2017, 89-108; Daniel Milton, "Fatal attraction: Explaining variation in the attractiveness of Islamic State propaganda," *Conflict Management and Peace Science* 9, 2018, [Online only].
- [14] Joseph Carter, Shiraz Maher, and Peter Neumann, "#Greenbirds: Measuring importance and influence in Syrian foreign fighter networks," International Centre for the Study of Radicalisation, April 2014. Accessed at: https://icsr.info/wp-content/uploads/2014/04/ICSR-Report-Greenbirds-Measuring-Importance-and-Infleunce-in-Syrian-Foreign-Fighter-Networks.pdf; Jytte Klausen, "Tweeting the jihad: Social media networks of Western foreign fighters in Syria and Iraq," Studies in Conflict & Terrorism 38:1, 2015, 1-22; J.M. Berger and Jonathon Morgan, "The ISIS Twitter census: Defining and describing the population of ISIS supporters on Twitter," Brookings Project on U.S. Relations with the Islamic World, March 2015. Accessed at: https://www.brookings.edu/wp-content/uploads/2016/06/isis-twitter-census-berger morgan.pdf.
- [15] Maura Conway, Moign Khawaja, Suraj Lakhani, Jeremy Reffin, Andrew Robertson, and David Weir, "Disrupting Daesh: Measuring takedown of online terrorist material and its impacts," VOX-Pol, 2017. Accessed at: http://doras.dcu.ie/21961/1/

<u>Disrupting DAESH FINAL WEB VERSION.pdf</u>; Audrey Alexander, "Digital decay: Tracing change over time among English-language Islamic State sympathisers on Twitter," George Washington University Program on Extremism, October 2017. Accessed at: https://extremism.gwu.edu/sites/g/files/zaxdzs2191/f/DigitalDecayFinal_0.pdf.

- [16] Hanna Rogan, "Al-Qaeda's online media strategies: From Abu Reuter to Irhabi 007," Norwegian Defence Research Establishment, 2007. Accessed at: https://www.ffi.no/no/Rapporter/07-02729.pdf.
- [17] Craig Whiteside, "Lighting the path: The evolution of the Islamic State media enterprise (2003-2016)," International Centre for Counter Terrorism The Hague, 2016. Accessed at: https://icct.nl/wp-content/uploads/2016/11/ICCT-Whiteside-Lighting-the-Path-the-Evolution-of-the-Islamic-State-Media-Enterprise-2003-2016-Nov2016.pdf.
- [18] Charlie Winter, "Media jihad: The Islamic State's doctrine for information warfare," International Centre for the Study of Radicalisation, February 2017. Accessed at: https://icsr.info/wp-content/uploads/2017/02/ICSR-Report-Media-Jihad-The-Islamic-State%E2%80%99s-Doctrine-for-Information-Warfare.pdf.
- [19] Daniel Milton, "Pulling back the curtain: An inside look at the Islamic State's media organization," Combating Terrorism Center at West Point, August 2018. Accessed at: https://ctc.usma.edu/app/uploads/2018/08/Pulling-Back-the-Curtain.pdf.
- [20] Bockstette. Jihadist terrorist use of strategic communication management techniques. 20, 14.
- [21] Ibid. 11-12.
- [22] Ibid. 9.
- [23] Abu Hamzah states that jihadist media workers should expend a great deal of effort in analysing any "books, reports, and analysis that the West publishes" that could "be useful for the mujahidin." These should be in turn digested and republished through "scientific technique forums" established by the Islamic State. Among the skills that are considered to be "useful" is media production, about which operatives should prepare bespoke "training courses"—both on- and offline—to hasten organisational learning. Moreover, they should also use the internet to monitor and evaluate the impact of their collective activities. By "register[ing] all reactions that arise from all the mujahidin and the leaders of jihad and [...] the enemy," Abu Hamzah states that the Islamic State's media centres will then be in a better position to judge their efficacy, both on an individual and collective basis. Muhajir. To those entrusted with the message.
- [24] Ibid.
- [25] Ibid.
- [26] Ibid.
- [27] Ibid.
- [28] Ibid.
- [29] Ibid.
- [30] Ibid.
- [31] Ibid.
- [32] Ibid.
- [33] Anon. Mujahid, you are also the media operative. 13-14.
- [34] Ibid. 32, 40, 25.
- [35] Ibid. 44, 39, 42, 15.
- [36] Ibid. 10; for another example of this content, see: Ayman al-Zawahiri, "Letter from al-Zawahiri to al-Zarqawi," Federation of American Scientists, 2005. Accessed at: https://fas.org/irp/news/2005/10/letter in english.pdf.
- [37] Ibid. 13, 16, 26.
- [38] Ibid. 26.
- [39] Abu Bakr al-Baghdadi, "And give glad tidings to those who are patient," Furqan Foundation, August 2018. Accessed at: archive. org; see also: Islamic State, "Inside the khilafah VIII," AlHayat Media Center, 30 October 2018. Accessed at: https://jihadology.net/2018/10/30/new-video-message-from-the-islamic-state-inside-the-caliphate-8/.
- [40] See, for example: Milton. Down, but not out.

- [41] See, for example, the "just terror" advice pages in its foreign-language magazines, Dabiq and Rumiyah, or the video: Islamic State, "You must fight them, o muwahhid," Raqqah Province Media Office, November 2016.
- [42] See Anne Stenerson, "The Internet: A virtual training camp?" *Terrorism and Political Violence* 20:2, 2008, 215-233; and Norman Cigar, *Al-Qa'ida's doctrine for insurgency: Abd al-Aziz al-Muqrin's* "A practical course for guerrilla warfare," Washington, DC: Potomac Books, 2009.
- [43] For an account of how other such materials have tried (and failed), see: Michael Kenney, "Beyond the Internet: Mētis, techne, and the limitations of online artifacts for Islamist terrorists," Terrorism and Political Violence 22:2, 2010, 177-197.
- [44] Ben Farmer, "YouTube video that taught Manchester bomber how to make explosives is still being shared on the site, US probe hears," Telegraph, 17 January 2018. Accessed at: https://www.telegraph.co.uk/news/2018/01/17/youtube-video-taught-manchester-bomber-make-explosives-still/.

Not Gonna Be Able To Do It: al-Qaeda in Tunisia's Inability to Take Advantage of the Islamic State's Setbacks

By Aaron Y. Zelin

Abstract

This article examines Katibat Uqba Bin Nafi, al-Qaeda/al-Qaeda in the Islamic Maghrib's official branch in Tunisia. It sheds light on an unexplored case study on jihadi groups in recent times by investigating its history and forthcoming prospects. Moreover, it plans to use this article as an avenue to weigh in on the debate within jihadi studies on the future of al-Qaeda and if it can take advantage of the Islamic State's misfortunes in Iraq and Syria as well as Libya. The latter of which has more direct impact on IS's network in Tunisia. The article interrogates a number of Arabic primary sources that have yet to be surveyed from KUBN and AQIM that will help clarify these inquiries. It will identify shortcomings in KUBN's capacities and highlight reasons why IS will likely remain a more attractive avenue for jihadi mobilization in Tunisia going forward. This is relevant since much of the debate on AQ's status analyzes the topic from more of a macro level than looking at specific groups within its broader global network. This research will illustrate that while the consensus might be that AQ is primed to benefit from IS's setbacks, in the case of Tunisia, unless conditions change locally, KUBN is unlikely to follow the same trend as other AQ branches or when evaluating AQ as a whole.

Keywords: Tunisia, Katibat 'Uqbah Bin Nafi, al-Qaeda, The Islamic State, Networks, Messaging, Local Population, Terrorism

As the Islamic State (IS) began to lose territory in Iraq and Syria in the spring of 2015, two of the larger concerns for those that analyze the broader global jihadi movement was the potential for foreign fighter returnee violence and for al-Qaeda (AQ) to take advantage of IS's misfortunes. This article seeks to address the latter concern, in the context of Tunisia.[1] This is because there is a puzzle worth unpacking: if the majority consensus in the jihadi studies field views AQ as ascendant, why is AQ in Tunisia's branch Katibat 'Uqbah Bin Nafi (KUBN) not able to overcome IS's network in Tunisia and become the standard-bearer of the movement in Tunisia'? Relatedly, it will also explain why KUBN was unable to take advantage of AQ's prior branch in Tunisia, Ansar al-Sharia's successes (AST). Beyond answering this puzzle, there has been very little written about KUBN, beyond small mentions in articles on AQ or as a side note when discussing IS in Tunisia.[2] Therefore, this article will help fill an important qualitative gap in the literature on jihadi groups. It seeks to interrogate KUBN in a more holistic manner by exploring its creation and evolution over time based on a number of under or unexplored primary sources from KUBN and al-Qaeda in the Islamic Maghrib (AQIM).

The article plans to first explore literature that relates to debates on the state of al-Qaeda and how this research hopes to complement these ideas. Then it will provide background history on and the evolution of KUBN. The article will conclude by providing a deep analysis and reasons for why KUBN is unlikely to take greater advantage of IS's loss of territory in Iraq, Syria, and Libya, and not become more of the standard bearer of jihadism in Tunisia.

The State of al-Qaeda

Over the years, there have been a number of debates within the jihadi studies field on the health of al-Qaeda as an organization and its ability to remain relevant and operate. In the early years following the September 11th attacks, much of this was in the context of whether AQ was a centralized organization that had command-and-control over external operations in the West.[3] It morphed after the Arab uprisings into a discussion on if the uprisings hurt or helped AQ's broader agenda in the region.[4] More recently, with the tide going against IS militarily, there has been a vigorous exploration by specialists in the field on if AQ is primed to take advantage

of IS's losses and reclaim the mantle as the preeminent global jihadi network.

It is important to note, which Daniel Byman and Anne Stenersen have articulated, that sometimes this debate can get confusing or individuals are talking past one another since there have been different metrics used to identify strength.[5] And depending on which one is utilized one may gain a different view. For instance, as Stenersen highlights, "Should al-Qaida's strength be measured by the number and size of affiliates or the popularity and reach of its message? Or should the ability to stage international terrorist attacks be taken as yardstick? And when it comes to the threat – are we talking about the immediate threat from al-Qaida's 'external operations' capability, or the long-term threat from the development of al-Qaida-friendly sanctuaries abroad?"[6] Therefore, Stenersen suggests that "al-Qaida's support to Islamist insurgencies, and al-Qaida's international terrorist planning, should be seen as two different problem sets which require different countermeasures."[7] This particular article will focus on the former since there has been no evidence that KUBN has attempted or has the capacity to conduct external operations.

In terms of thoughts on the current overall health of AQ as an organization, some of the leading researchers in the field believe AQ is in a positive position and trajectory going forward. According to Bruce Hoffman, "While the self-proclaimed Islamic State has dominated the headlines and preoccupied national security officials for the past four years, al-Qaeda has been quietly rebuilding." [8] Relatedly, Daveed Gartenstein-Ross notes that "al-Qaeda remains a coherent and centralized organization, albeit one that is not perfectly centralized. Second, al-Qaeda's leadership continues to be essential in determining both the trajectory of the organization as well as its strategic direction." [9] Julia McQuaid, et al., have taken a less sharp view highlighting the changes over time, but still believes that: "Al-Qaeda is a very different organization in a very different world. It has suffered setbacks and periods of weakening, but it has also made gains and expanded in the face of international efforts against it." [10] I have also argued that "the [AQ] network is not on the run and is very active in numerous locales, most specifically Syria, Yemen, Mali, Somalia, Libya, as well as AfPak." That said, I did caution that "Al-Qaeda's emphasis on localized jihad missions, however, is not free of possible downsides." Noting complications and troubles in places like Syria and Libya with more locally focused actors. [11]

In contrast to the above conventional wisdom, Daniel Byman argues that "AQ's operational activity, strength, and the resulting threat that it posed all appeared in decline." [12] Likewise, Barak Mendelsohn has asserted that jihadi groups, including AQ, have a fundamental "aggregation problem," [13] which leads to failure. This suggests from Mendelsohn's perspective that AQ is not on the upward trajectory.

However, there is a thought-provoking dilemma. When reading the above take by the field, most view AQ as having a positive future outlook. Yet, this goes against my original contention that KUBN is not in position to take advantage of IS's recent failures. Therefore, it is important to make an addendum to this author's analysis on the state of AQ by noting that it is important to not only explore AQ as a broader system, but to also look on a case-by-case basis at specific branches and affiliates since the picture might differ from the overall diagnosis, which is the case here.

Background History on KUBN

Going back to mid-1995, AQIM and its predecessor groups (GIA and GSPC) have attempted to establish a larger network in Tunisia.[14] After the GSPC pledged bay'a to Usama Bin Ladin in September 2006 and later changed its name to AQIM in January 2007,[15] it restructured its allocation of resources, which had previously been divided across nine zones only in Algeria. The group decided to break its operations into four areas: Central (Algeria), East (Tunisia), South (Sahel), and West (Mauritania). The new division illustrated the importance that Tunisia and Tunisian members would play.[16] These changes could explain why a multi-week low-level insurgency broke out from December 2006 to mid-January 2007 in the mountains of eastern Tunisia with the AQIM front group Jund Asad Bin al-Furat (JABF).[17] In some ways, this was a test run for AQIM's post-Tunisian uprising creation of KUBN.

KUBN: A Fig Leaf of AQIM

KUBN came to be as a consequence of France's Operation Serval in Mali. Although the operation did not begin until mid-January 2013, the Malian government requested assistance to combat the AQIM-led jihadi insurgency in the northern part of the country in September 2012. This gap between Mali's request and the French intervention allowed AQIM time to plan its resources and personnel relocation. This spurred the movement of AQIM assets, Tunisian foreign fighters in Mali and AQIM fighters in Algeria to Western Tunisia in Jabal Chambi, along the border with Algeria. This was later corroborated by Tunisia's Interior Minister at the time Lotfi Ben Jeddou.[18] It is at this juncture that Tunisia fell victim to more sophisticated insurgent-type attacks against its military and security forces. Prior to the first KUBN attack, which targeted a National Guardsmen in Bou Chebka, along the Algerian-Tunisian border, on December 10, 2012,[19] most AQIM-related incidents following the Tunisian revolution had to do with weapons smuggling enterprises being broken up. The six incidents before the Bou Chebka attack occurred in remote and rural areas of Tunisia, such as Tataouine, Nekrif, Bir Znigra, Rouhia, Bir Ali Ben Khalifa, and El-Stah Hsan.[20]

Following the Bou Chebka attack, the al-Nahdah-led government at the time announced a series of arrests ten days later in Jabal Chambi and Ain Drahem, in northwest Tunisia, and provided more details on KUBN. [21] Ali Larayedh, Minister of Interior at the time, noted that some Tunisians arrested in the sweep had also previously been involved with AST dawa activities, though he was "unable to confirm the existence of formal links" between the KUBN cells and AST. The Tunisian government would formally designate AST as a terrorist organization in late August 2013.[22] The designation was a consequence of some of AST's members joining up with KUBN, but more importantly is due to AST's secret military wing, which helped prepare the two assassinations of secular leftist politicians Chokri Belaid and Mohamed Brahmi in February and July 2013, respectively as well as the failed October 2013 terrorist plot against Sousse and Monastir.[23] It should be noted, however, that this network was more connected to the AST-ASL nexus in Libya, with training camps used in Sabratha, Libya to help train individuals involved in these assassinations and plots than the KUBN network on the Algerian-Tunisian border in Jabal Chambi. The latter network is more connected to historical AQIM networks than the former newer ones that were established from scratch following the 2011 revolution.

In the beginning, KUBN, unlike many other jihadi groups, did not have a presence online to push its propaganda or announce operations it conducted. Therefore, there was a gap in information on the organization in the first year-and-a-half of its existence. It is likely that this was the case because AQIM did not want to publicize this project. It should be recalled that it was the Tunisian government that uncovered this front group. Therefore, it is plausible that reports that KUBN, beyond conducting low-level insurgent attacks, was also being used to attract more Tunisians to AQIM, and therefore providing initial training before sending these fighters to more advanced AQIM camps in Algeria or Libya.[24]

It only began to establish a presence online on July 11, 2014 when it created a Facebook page and Twitter account called Fajr al-Qayrawan.[25] This was ahead of an attack on the Tunisian military five days later, which killed 14 Tunisian soldiers and left 20 wounded.[26] The attack has been considered the most deadly attack against the Tunisian military since the country's independence in 1956. Moreover, KUBN only admitted officially that it was an AQIM front group in January 2015 when a martyrdom notice it released wrote AQIM under KUBN to note, which group the individual died fighting with. Both the creation of the presence online as well as the announcement of overt affiliation as an AQIM cut out was due to the Islamic State's advances in Iraq and Syria, but also within Tunisia.

The Islamic State Infiltration of KUBN

In the lead up to and following the announcement of IS's Caliphate in late June 2014, the proto-state promoted various pledges of allegiance and support to IS's leader Abu Bakr al-Baghdadi as well as the broader project of resurrecting the historical form of Islamic government. For instance, in late March 2014, AQIM's central region came out in support of IS.[27] This grouping formed the basis of what eventually would become a 'province'

of IS called Wilayat al-Jaza'ir following Abu Bakr al-Baghdadi's mid-November 2014 speech expanding IS's provincial system outside its core in Iraq and Syria. [28] This same dynamic occurred in mid-September 2014, when an alleged KUBN statement was released by Ifriqiya Media and stated "the mujahidin brothers in KUBN from the land of al-Qayrawan show support, help, and aid for the Islamic Caliphate State...give victory to the Islamic State, raise its banner and unite the ranks of the mujahideen in every place." [29]

This statement, however, did not represent KUBN as an organization. With hindsight, it is clear that it was a group of KUBN members that were pro-IS attempting to agitate for the organization to defect as well as buttress IS's claims over the homegrown Tunisian jihadi movement. Another important angle to point out is that the majority of insurgent attacks from IS in Tunisia once they officially began conducting them in 2015 have been carried out in Jabal al-Maghilah and Jabal Salloum.[30] This is where KUBN cell's that defected to IS had previously been located. It also helps explain the pattern of operations in Kasserine governorate, where IS maintains a base in those two locales, while those that remained loyal to KUBN continue to operate cells and conduct attacks in Jabal Chambi and Jabal Samamma.

The dynamics in Tunisia between KUBN and IS cells in Kasserine governorate, where both groups mainly operated was different and less hostile militarily than how the situation played out in Syria and elsewhere. Ifriqiya Media explained the nuanced nature of the local relationship between KUBN and IS: "we work in silence without any disagreements between us, we cooperate together, and the goals in different stages differ between every one of them." [31] Therefore, the groups had their own agendas and each focused on them, but sometimes they would cooperate since both were operating in the same non-conducive environment due to the Tunisian government's efforts.

That said, Ifriqiya Media, a Tunisian jihadi online media outlet that was founded in mid-June 2014 and was posting content that supported both IS and AQ-affiliated groups, had a clear agenda and information operation campaign. Ifriqiya Media was pro-IS and was only posting KUBN content since it was holding out hope that members of KUBN would pledge bay'a to Abu Bakr al-Baghdadi. Therefore, by posting both IS and KUBN content, Ifriqiya Media was hoping to expose and convince their fellow pro-AQ jihadis to IS content and for them to commit to the correct side in the competition between IS and AQ.[32] Therefore, Ifriqiya Media was hoping to undermine AQIM's project in Tunisia: "We were the first to support and spread the news about jihadi operations in Tunisia during a time when the official jihadi media platforms were being passive due to some orders given." [33] This appears to be a slight against AQIM, since as discussed above, KUBN did not have an overt presence online in the first year-and-a-half of its existence. It is only a month after the creation of Ifriqiya Media that KUBN's official outlet at the time, Fajr al-Qayrawan, was established. That said, Fajr al-Qayrawan went dormant in mid-October 2014 following the arrest of its administrator. [34]

This arrest though provided greater space to the pro-IS elements in KUBN, since for whatever reason, possibly a lack of qualified individuals with the necessary skill set to run a media outlet, KUBN did not create a new media apparatus or replace someone to run the Fajr al-Qayrawan online accounts. As a result, over time, more and more of the Ifriqiya Media content was pro-IS and less and less highlighted pro-AQ/KUBN-related content. It is only after the death of KUBN's leader, Khalid Sha'ib,[35] and the organizations reaffirmation that it was still a part of AQIM,[36] both in late March 2015, did Ifriqiya Media begin fully posting 100% pro-IS and IS in Tunisia propaganda. It is no wonder then, that within two weeks of these developments, KUBN established its own Facebook page under the group's name for the first time to reclaim its autonomy and legitimacy.[37]

As a consequence of Ifriqiya Media's information operations, it is also likely the main reason why the Tunisian government originally claimed that KUBN was responsible for the Bardo Museum attack in March 2015.[38] The Tunisian government may not have yet fully comprehended at that point the split within KUBN itself. Therefore, IS's infiltration of KUBN hurt KUBN's capacity as well as membership base due to the defections between late summer 2014 and early 2015 when IS began to overtly promote through its official propaganda organs that it was indeed them as an organization involved in attacks, with the most notable being the March 2015 and June 2015 Bardo Museum and Sousse Beach attacks. As part of Tunisia's military response to those two IS attacks, it also picked up its military operations against KUBN, due to the original confusion, but also

to show that it was doing something against the militant threat. By July 2015, according to Tunisia's Interior Minister at the time, Najem Gharselli, 90% of KUBN's membership had been killed.[39]

Rebuilding KUBN, But Losing Momentum

As a consequence of the degradation of KUBN, the organization put out a statement in late August 2015, with a new official logo to help rebrand and boost its efforts. In many ways, it was also a reintroduction of the group to the Tunisian public. In the statement it had a message for a few audiences:

- The Tunisian government (which it called taghut [tyrants]) and its soldiers: "their repressive measures against the Katibah and against all Muslims will only strengthen their resolve to continue their jihad.
- Their 'mujahidin' brothers and especially those in the prisons of the tyrants: "offering them support and encouragement".
- The people of Tunisia: "the freedom promised by their revolution is being stolen. The Katibah will not shed innocent Muslim blood, and they are only targeting the tyrants." [40]

This last line is the most consequential aspect of the message. It would come back to hurt the organization since it has been unable to fully live up to its claim that it does not shed 'innocent Muslim blood'. Before getting to this in greater detail below, which helps explain why KUBN has been unable to take advantage of IS's misfortunes since 970 Tunisians have returned home from Iraq and Syria, it is worthwhile to explore the pace of operations that KUBN has conducted since 2015. This will illustrate its weaknesses and hardship in re-recruiting back IS in Tunisia members and foreign fighter returnees.

Based on official claims of responsibility from KUBN, in 2015 it conducted seven attacks; in 2016 it went down to three, with that total being reached subsequently in 2017 and 2018.[41] What is noteworthy beyond the fact that their attack pace has gone down, is that the level of sophistication in attack has been degraded greatly as well. In 2015, four of the attacks were ambushes and included clashes with Tunisian forces. This went down to one in 2016, none occurred in 2017, and only one occurred in 2018. The rest of KUBN's attacks have been against civilians as well as random mine explosions that it planted. Neither of which needs a lot of planning to execute. With the mines going off randomly once it is placed, it makes it far less risky on its members. This highlights risk aversion from KUBN due to low membership and broader organizational incapacity.

Part of this breakdown over the past few years is also due to American military aid, intelligence assistance, and forces on the ground has increasingly helped Tunisia deteriorate KUBN's (as well as IS's) ability to operate as openly and as forcefully.[42] Therefore, it is no surprise that the Tunisian military eventually killed Khalid Sha'ib's successor, his brother, Murad Sha'ib in August 2017.[43] Moreover, within quick succession, when AQIM began to send reinforcements from outside Tunisia to assist in re-organizing KUBN's capabilities, the Tunisian military was quickly able to kill KUBN's new leader Bilal Kobi in January 2018.[44] Further to this weakening, this could also explain why within the propaganda realm, KUBN's statements were now being released under the name of AQIM officially instead of released only under its group's name. Instead of the statement being signed as from KUBN solely and using its letterhead, even if it is known that KUBN is a part of AQIM, KUBN's statements are now signed off at the bottom with KUBN and AQIM, while also now using AQIM letterhead.

Within that framework and change, KUBN/AQIM released two statements in April and May 2018, likely to spur support and recruitment by focusing on classic jihadi ideological points. The first takes aim at France and Western governments for alleged continued imperialism in Tunisia and noting that "replacing persons and names, while keeping the essence of the regime and its structure, will only produce the same results. Previously, there were Bourguiba and Ben Ali. Today, there is Essebsi. Tomorrow, there will be Ghannouchi, and so on and so forth. It will be all the same!"[45] The statement ends with contradictory declarations by first claiming its continued relevance: "the mujahidin are still keeping their word. They have not replaced or changed, despite the successive trials and tribulations," while also then calling on individuals to act on its behalf: "We incite

every honest Muslim who is able to inflict harm on the Crusader wrong-doers and their interests by any means possible to spare no effort to do so, and to offer their persons and property in support of their faith and in defense of the oppressed children of their Muslim nation."[46] This shows, that in fact, KUBN is not too strong and therefore needs others to conduct some type of low-scale operation.

The second statement was geared toward the forthcoming Tunisian municipal elections, which took place on May 6, 2018.[47] Jihadi-salafis, including KUBN/AQIM, consider democracy a religion, one in which humans contravene the sovereignty of God by attempting to make their own laws. In placing themselves on God's level, politicians—including Islamists—violate the fundamental monotheistic principle of tawhid, which makes them polytheists. This ideology informs KUBN/AQIM's statement, which attacks the legitimacy of democracy in Tunisia: "elections are drugs to sedate the Muslim people of Tunisia every two to three years and divert the attention from their key issues." [48] That said, two months prior to the statement being put out by KUBN/AQIM, IS released an article in mid-March 2018, [49] in issue 123 of its weekly newsletter al-Naba, that takes aim at Tunisia's electoral democracy and forthcoming election. [50] Therefore, KUBN/AQIM's statement might not have had the same impact within the audience that might have been most receptive to it due to IS's earlier article.

While the fate of KUBN recently has been of deterioration in overall capabilities, that does not mean the organization should be taken lightly since it still has lethal capacity, just far less often. For instance, their July 8, 2018 attack on Tunisian National Guardsmen in Ayn Sultan in Jendouba Governorate killed nine National Guardsmen.[51] That said, a larger question is if KUBN has the ability to take advantage of IS's losses in Libya (December 2016), Iraq (July 2017), and Syria (October 2017) over the past couple of years. Based on the data above there are no signs that KUBN has been able to exploit this changed environment within the global jihadosphere. It is worthwhile mentioning that the capacity of IS in Tunisia has also gone down over the past few years having claimed responsibility for eleven attacks in 2015, four attacks in 2016, four attacks in 2017, and four attacks in 2018. No doubt, the role of American aid, assistance, and guidance has been helpful. The next section will help explain why beyond the purely counterterrorism measures KUBN is not poised to become the preeminent jihadi group in Tunisia.

Drawbacks on KUBN's Ability to Overtake IS in Tunisia

The discussion about KUBN's election statement following IS's leads to a crucial point when exploring KUBN as an organization today and its ability to position itself vis-a-vis IS's network in Tunisia: the group is not connected to the pulse of the Tunisian jihadi movement, is not innovative in the way it operates, and alienates the local population it is attempting to curry favor with. Some might argue that is the case for IS in Tunisia as well, but IS, unlike AQ, has never claimed that it is attempting to cultivate hearts and minds. Furthermore, when looking at the prisoner population of Tunisian jihadis most are pro-IS, which highlights the lack of broader support in country, even if both groups appear to have relatively similar operational pace the past few years. This is due to KUBN's network disconnection, the changed experiences of Tunisian jihadis since the Arab uprisings, KUBN's inability to align propaganda with action, and therefore losing hearts and minds of the local populace.

Network Disconnection

KUBN has had the disadvantage of positioning itself in areas that did not have much historic connection to jihadi activism. It is true that AQIM's predecessor groups, the GSPC and the GIA, conducted attacks along the Algerian-Tunisia border three times between 1995-2001,[52] but most historical Tunisian jihadi networks were closer to the coastal region (Ariana, Bizerte, and Tunis) and Libyan border (Ben Gardane). This is in contrast to KUBN's, which hugs the Algerian border in Kasserine and to a lesser extent in El Kef and Jendouba. Moreover, following the Tunisian revolution when AST was active and building local branches of its organization in various governorates, cities, and villages throughout Tunisia, the governorates where KUBN has operated were some of the least active within AST's network. Based on research for this author's forthcoming book, on a per

capita basis as it relates to events that AST organized by governorate (24 total governorates in Tunisia); El Kef, 19/24; Jendouba, 22/24; and Kasserine, 24/24, were at the bottom.[53] The main takeaway from this is that those locales were not deeply penetrated by jihadi networks and influence. Therefore, those three governorates, with Kasserine being the most relevant, since that is where KUBN has been the strongest since 2012, there was no fertile ground to easily recruit and penetrate the local milieus. Instead, KUBN has mostly been holed up in different mountainous areas in these regions, with Jabal Chambi and Jabal Samamma as the most relevant -- both of which are in Kasserine government. This is also relevant when discussing issues with the local population below.

Beyond the limited nature of AST's activism within those three governorates, the areas that were more richly organized and mobilized were later co-opted for recruitment to fight in Libya and Syria with IS. The main conduit for this was through a group and online media outlet called Shabab al-Tawhid (ST), a network of pro-IS Tunisians that had previously been with AST before it was designated as a terrorist organization. At the time, this author surmised that ST was a successor network to AST and was attempting to remobilize locally after the designation. [54] But with hindsight, it appears more as a mobilizing structure for foreign fighter recruitment and to turn AST members away from AQ to IS. ST was also where the first former senior AST leader, Shaykh Kamal Zuruq, pledged baya (allegiance) to the leader of IS, Abu Bakr al-Baghdadi. [55] As a consequence, much of the Tunisian foreign fighter contingent abroad was pro-IS and drifted away from AQ's branches in Syria (Jabhat al-Nusra) and Libya (ASL). These networks, especially those connected to the Tunisian jihadi training camps in Sabratha, Libya, which were associated with IS, helped populate IS's branch in Tunisia as well as train the individuals responsible for the Bardo Museum, Sousse Beach, and Tunis National Guard Bus attacks as well as the attempted takeover of Ben Gardane in 2015-2016. As a result, this network co-optation by IS of many facets of AST's infrastructure, made it far more difficult for KUBN to also connect with and recruit Tunisians to join it in its mountain bases in other parts of the country.

As noted above, many of the key figures in the leadership of KUBN had previously come from AQIM's network in Algeria and Mali. The latter of which were mainly Tunisians that had been foreign fighters in Mali. The former, including the group's leaders (Khalid Sha'ib, Murad Sha'ib, and Bilal Kobi), were Algerian. Therefore, they were not necessarily as plugged into the new scene that emerged in Tunisia with AST after the revolution and were more used to the methodology of AQIM's network in Algeria. Therefore, if one compares the modus operandi of KUBN with AQIM's activities in Algeria over the past decade, they appear to be very similar: small groups of cells that primarily lay ambushes and are deeply clandestine in rural and mountainous areas. While this might bode well for survival, it does not necessarily help with winning hearts and minds of the local population. Nor does this approach augur well for KUBN's propaganda products garnering an audience, especially if the frame alignment is off due to differences between what is said and what its actions show.

From Terrorism and Insurgency to Social Movement and Service Provision

It is necessary to first highlight some key structural changes that happened to the jihadi movement, which is relevant to Tunisian jihadism, and helps explain some of these failures that KUBN has encountered.

Historically, within the Arab world, most jihadi groups either were involved in terrorist incidents or some level of insurgent military activity. Much of this is due to the conditions on the ground in these countries, whether within the framework of an authoritarian system or within the context of civil war. As a consequence, there was a limit to the tools that jihadis could use to attempt to advance its message and try over time to implement its vision for society. It in many ways was self-defeating since these groups mainly operated clandestinely and covertly. Therefore, they were not close with the local population, which made it difficult to advance beyond a purely violent stage of action. This dynamic changed dramatically with the onset of the Arab uprisings, which allowed for jihadi groups to expand their repertoire of actions due to the opening of public squares or safe havens that jihadi organizations controlled. This led to the growth in dawa (proselytization/outreach) activities as well as the provision of social services and in some cases governance. This was a paradigm shift and moved the jihadi movement forward due to the greater opportunities to appeal directly to the local populace in a face-

to-face manner versus only through online videos. These new conditions brought in a larger pool of individuals to a number of jihadi organizations that may have not joined had it been a purely violent and underground movement. Therefore, the expectations within the broader movement altered to presume a certain type of organizational operation. It also shows that jihadi groups could not only talk about implementing some type of theocratic vision some time in the future, but actually carrying it out in the real world to varying degrees.

In the context of Tunisia, AST built up a vast network of outreach and service from 2011-2013. My forthcoming book on the history of Tunisian jihadism gets into this in great detail, but is beyond the scope of this particular article. What is important to note in this piece though is that the building of an Islamic state was a key motivating frame used by AST to encourage people to join its group. It was so important to the group that when it published its first advertisement for its second annual conference in May 2012, it framed the event as "a building block in the project to establish the Caliphate State." [56] Furthermore, the title of the third annual conference a year later was "Supporters of Islamic Law ... The Islamic State We Are Building," suggesting that it was no longer an objective for the future, but rather a process that AST had already begun. After the third conference, AST began using the slogan, "We Are Building the Islamic State" to further signify the ongoing process and push individuals to join the historic project. [57]

This messaging frame is a tool in fostering an individual's sense of significance. It asserted that one could be part of a project larger than oneself: the re-establishment of an Islamic state in Tunisia. Therefore, those same youth who have education, skills, and desire to give back to their community can now feel empowered. AST sought to contrast that feeling of empowerment with the feelings sparked by a corrupt central government that does not want to empower youth. Recognizing these grievances, AST always repeated the slogan "Your Sons Are At Your Service." This highlighted the importance of not only giving back to one's neighborhood, but also honoring those involved in such work. It also helped that AST provided evidence (by posting all of its activities on its official Facebook page) that it was indeed building this shadow structure of works and services in various communities throughout Tunisia. Consequently, the more charitable and outreach activities AST orchestrated, the more individuals joined up, which in turn allowed AST to organize and conduct more activities, more often, in more locales.

This helps provide one explanation for why recruitment to IS was so seamless. Many Tunisian jihadis viewed it as a continuation of what they had already been doing in Tunisia, as told to this author by a member of AST: "The dawa is going on and then after it, it is global work, not just in Tunisia." [58] Moreover, instead of only doing these types of functions as a movement, now they were doing it, from their perspectives, as part of a historical project through the reintroduction of the Caliphate. As a consequence, Tunisian jihadis became accustomed to a certain type of jihadism, one that included population outreach and service, beyond just violence. This historical process, especially with the experience of the Tunisian jihadi movement since the Tunisian revolution in particular, is key to also understanding why KUBN has not been able to succeed as much with the local population as one might think. It does not help either that their ideological messaging to the population does not completely align with what has happened on the ground.

Losing Hearts and Minds

With this in mind, this section will highlight a number of points. First it will show that the type of messages that KUBN and AQIM have been pushing to the Tunisian population seems distant and from an era prior to the Arab uprisings. Second, it will illustrate the inability of KUBN to ingratiate itself with the local population. Rather, and finally, it will demonstrate how any possible goodwill has been hurt due to KUBN's penchant for stealing provisions from locals homes, raiding local businesses for supplies, and setting up mines that although are likely supposed to target Tunisian security forces have in many cases killed local civilians in the areas they operate. In the end, KUBN/AQIM are proffering a message against the current Tunisian government and those that believe in the process of democratization, but not offering anything in return beyond terrorizing and alienating the local community, one that they are not even close to because they are hiding in the mountains.

Returning to KUBN/AQIM's statement ahead of the Tunisian municipal elections in May 2018, it notes that "in every election to date all political parties market the next elections as a turning point as if it's a 'magic cane,' which will change the circumstances of the country, and allow the country to escape its economic and political crises." [59] It is true that many Tunisians still are waiting for economic benefits from the revolution, but this particular election is part of providing such gains in the longer-term. By decentralizing power to the local level, instead of a centralized apparatus that is distant to the population, this election provides more local agency over budgets and other types of services and advantages that only someone from that particular area might be able to render since they do care about the area they came from. This is in contrast to some outsider from the capital that has no connection to the rural and interior parts of Tunisia. Therefore, KUBN/AQIM are criticizing a measure that in the medium-to-long-term will be beneficial to the local populations. This is especially the case in areas KUBN operates like Kasserine, since those locally will have more control over and say in their own lives and future, which the hope is to alleviate more of the economic burden. As a result, the same playbook AQ-aligned groups might use to delegitimize faux elections in authoritarian systems in the Arab world prior to the uprisings, falls short, as well as impedes the wishes of the locals the group is attempting to sway.

More importantly, KUBN/AQIM do not provide much alternative to what it is criticizing beyond rhetorical flourishes about the need for Islamic law and for individuals to fight jihad. These positions are attached to another key element of its messaging related to the fact that it claims it does not attack civilians. In at least four statements, KUBN/AQIM tries to convince Tunisians that it does not spill the blood of innocent individuals (which is part of a broader campaign that AQ has promoted since Ayman al-Zawahiri's September 2013 "General Guidelines for the Work of a Jihadi" [60]).

- "We tell our people in Tunisia that we do not target the Tunisian people... We only target those who attack us... we are not responsible for attacks on our Muslim Tunisian Families... We ask our mujahidin to do their best and be up to the task and warn them about infallible blood." [61]
- "[KUBN] will not shed innocent Muslim blood, and they are only targeting the tyrants." [62]
- "It reiterates to the people of Tunisia that KUBN's fight is with the tyrants and their soldiers, not with ordinary Muslims. And it warns the local population to be cautious about moving around KUBN areas with weapons in case the group mistakes them for enemy soldiers. It also informs local inhabitants that they can expect to be searched and to undergo identity checks so that KUBN can determine that they are not members of the army or on their list of supporters of the tyrants. KUBN also assert their right to defend themselves if they are attacked, even if the attacker is Muslim." [63]
- "We promise our people in Tunisia that we do not target any innocent Muslim who is not fighting us. And we confirm that our war is against those who oppressed and assaulted us like the army and other security bodies." [64]

Also, AQIM's 'Abd al-Rahman al-Jaza'iri in December 2016, released an advice booklet to leaders and fighters in KUBN on how to operate in the mountainous areas they are based in. It notes the following key directions:

Getting to know many people as much as you can and gain their affection, if you gain their affection they will aid you in many things... They will not snitch on you and will hide you, and mislead your enemies. You will gain influence in the area and will be able to mobilize as you wish. Gain information about the enemy anytime. And best you will gain and benefit from is the issue of recruiting. You will guarantee logistical support in all kinds (such as: provisions, clothes, and everything you need from military supplies)...And reminding everyone of the bombs, because it might be danger to them, this is part of maintaining the safety of Muslims.[65]

This counsel about being close to the local population, along with KUBN/AQIM's own propaganda about not targeting innocent civilians has not been heeded. Instead, KUBN is not, as noted above, close to the local residents, but rather hiding in the mountains. More importantly, it has killed a number of residents either

on purpose or by accident and has also ransacked individuals homes and businesses to survive, which runs counter to the second point above in al-Jaza'iri's guidance manual.

As a consequence of KUBN's direct murder of local residents, including Salih al-Firjani, Haddah Rihimi, and Lamjed Griri, it has released statements attempting to justify the group's actions and whitewash what occurred as part of a public relations gambit since these deaths were seen locally as inexcusable.[66] Based on a database created by this author, since May 2016, there have been 14 cases where landmines laid by KUBN have been set off by civilians, which has led to at least four deaths, two amputations, and other various injuries. Less lethal, but no less worrisome to local residents, since October 2015, based on a database created by this author, KUBN has been involved in 20 cases of breaking into people's homes and local businesses to steal provisions, supplies, and forcefully eaten home-cooked meals as well as attacking or assaulting locals for information on the Tunisian military (see Table 1).

Table 1. Incidents and Assaults Related to Break-Ins and Gaining Intelligence

Date	Incident	Location
	Terrorists refuel food and force two young men to transport	
10/18/2015	them	Ain Zayen
1/2/2016	Four armed individuals burst into family home and seize food	Mazreg Chames
3/25/2016	Three terrorists assault and rob a citizen	Sidi Harath
		El Aayoun/Jebel
5/29/2016	Terrorist group penetrates a shop and a house	Twaysha
	Nine terrorists including a woman broke into a home, stealing	
6/28/2016	food and medicine	Mazreg Chames
8/4/2016	Terrorist group attacks a house and seizes supplies	Douar Msabhia
	Assaulting a resident of Kasserine who refused to give them	
8/11/2016	the addresses of security forces	Agroub Mimoun
8/16/2016	Terrorists entered a house	Sarkouna
11/19/2016	Terrorist group attacks a house and seizes foodstuffs	Ghar Dimaou

	Group of terrorists storm a house and seizes provisions of its	Douar Jfafleya/Ain
1/17/2017	inhabitants	Zayen
3/5/2017	Terrorists attack a grocery store	Hammam Mallag
3/22/2017	Aggression by terrorists against a shepherd	Jebel Samamma
6/5/2017	Three terrorists assault a 22-year-old	Ain Zayen
8/9/2017	Terrorist group raided a house	Jebel Ouergha
10/21/2017	Terrorist elements rob a house	Ain Zayen
12/25/2017	Terrorists open fire on shepherds	Ain Jenan
6/1/2018	Terrorist group shoots a shepherd	Jebel Chambi
6/23/2018	Terrorist group tortures a shepherd	Krayriya
8/22/2018	Terrorists attack a house	Fej Ettine
10/1/2018	Two terrorists break into a house	Mejmaja

It is no surprise then that many local residents do not look too fondly upon KUBN and its fight against the Tunisian government and security forces. Not only is KUBN not close to the local residents nor attempting to gain favor with them via service provision, instead many civilians have been killed, injured, or harassed by KUBN. Therefore, KUBN has undermined its own potential base. This helps provide a greater explanation for why KUBN is unlikely to overtake IS as the most popular jihadi group in Tunisia. Plus, the broader Tunisian jihadi network is pro-IS, whether breaking it down by those that are based abroad (Syria, Libya, Europe) or internal (prison system). The reality is, IS's message still has greater appeal, due to the fact that it can rely on a nostalgia narrative of what it did in Iraq, Libya, and Syria, unlike KUBN, which just discusses what could be. All IS has to do is point to the exploits it was able to accomplish in Libya, Iraq, and Syria in terms of

administration, governance, and services to show that it could be a possibility in Tunisia if given the proper conditions in contrast to a negative lived experience with KUBN.

Conclusion

For all these reasons mentioned in the previous few sections—network disconnection, the changed experiences of Tunisian jihadis since the Arab uprisings, and KUBN's inability to align propaganda about not shedding innocent Muslim blood with its actions—the group is losing hearts and minds of the local populace. Even if there may be some type of appeal with some themes in KUBN's message, whether it relates to economic inequality or imperialism that could attract those on the secular left or messages that have social conservative talking points related to issues including equal inheritance amongst the sexes that might entice Islamists, all of this becomes irrelevant when one alienates the same population that one is attempting to gain support from.

This is especially the case for AQ-aligned groups, which have been attempting, through al-Zawahiri's guidelines mentioned above, to distinguish itself from past jihadi excesses by showing a more welcoming jihadi enterprise. In the case of KUBN, however, it is not living up to such ideals and when one adds to it the structural factors, counterterrorism campaign, and IS's remaining appeal within the Tunisian jihadosphere, it is unlikely that KUBN will be to take advantage of IS's recent downturn. Therefore, contra to overall arguments about AQ's viability in the aftermath of IS losses in Iraq, Libya, and Syria over the past two years, this particular case study has shown that KUBN's status falls more in line with Byman and Mendelsohn's diagnosis for AQ's current state.

About the Author: **Aaron Y. Zelin** is the Richard Borow Fellow at The Washington Institute for Near East Policy and a Visiting Research Scholar at Brandeis University. He is also the founder of Jihadology.

Notes

[1] This author has already discussed this in two other papers on the Tunisian foreign fighter and returnee phenomenon: Aaron Y. Zelin, "Tunisian Foreign Fighters in Iraq and Syria," Washington Institute for Near East Policy, *Policy Notes* Number 55, November 2018, https://www.washingtoninstitute.org/policy-analysis/view/tunisian-foreign-fighters-in-iraq-and-syria; Aaron Y. Zelin, "The Others: Foreign Fighters in Libya," Washington Institute for Near East Policy, *Policy Notes* Number 45, January 2018, https://www.washingtoninstitute.org/policy-analysis/view/the-others-foreign-fighters-in-libya-and-the-islamic-state.">https://www.washingtoninstitute.org/policy-analysis/view/the-others-foreign-fighters-in-libya-and-the-islamic-state.

[2] Aymenn Jawad Al-Tamimi, "Bay'ah to Baghdadi: Foreign Support for Abu Bakr al-Baghdadi and the Islamic State (Part 2)," *Syria Comment*, September 27, 2014, http://www.aymennjawad.org/15416/bayah-to-baghdadi-foreign-support-for-abu-bakr-al; Daveed Gartenstein-Ross, "The Islamic State's African Long Con," *Foreign Policy*, March 16, 2015, https://foreignpolicy.com/2015/03/16/islamic-state-boko-haram-nigeria; Isabelle Werenfels, "Going 'Glocal': Jihadism in Algeria and Tunisia," in ed. Guido Steinberg and Annette Weber, "Jihadism in Africa: Local Causes, Regional Expansion, International Alliances," Stiftung Wissenschaft und Politik, Research Paper 5, June 2015, https://www.swp-berlin.org/fileadmin/contents/products/research_papers/2015_RP05_sbg_web.pdf; Daveed Gartenstein-Ross and Nathaniel Barr, "The Islamic State Varying Fortunes in North Africa," *War on the Rocks*, June 24, 2015, https://warontherocks.com/2015/06/the-islamic-states-varying-fortunes-in-north-africa; "Jihadist Violence in Tunisia: The Urgent Need for a National Strategy," International Crisis Group, Briefing Number 50, June 22, 2016, https://www.crisisgroup.org/middle-east-north-africa/north-africa/tunisia/jihadist-violence-tunisia-urgent-need-national-strategy; Daveed Gartenstein-Ross, Jacob Zenn, and Nathaniel Barr, "Islamic State 2021: Possible Futures in North and West Africa," Foundation for Defense of Democracies, February 2017, <a href="https://www.defenddemocracy.org/content/uploads/documents/022017_DGR_ISIL_Re

[3] Marc Sageman, Leaderless Jihad: Terror Networks in the Twenty-First Century, Philadelphia: University of Pennsylvania Press, 2008; Bruce Hoffman, "The Myth of Grass-Roots Terrorism: Why Osama bin Laden Still Matters," Foreign Affairs, Volume 87 Number 3, May/June 2008; Bruce Hoffman, "The Leaderless Jihad's Leader: Why Osama Bin Laden Mattered," Foreign Affairs, May 13, 2011; Nelly Lahoud, Stuart Caudill, Liam Collins, Gabriel Koehler-Derrick, Don Rassler, and Muhammad al-`Ubaydi, "Letters from Abbottabad: Bin Ladin Sidelined?," Combating Terrorism Center at West Point, Harmony Program, May 3, 2012; Eliane Tschaen Barbieri and Jytte Klausen, "Al Qaeda's London Branch: Patterns of Domestic and Transnational Network Integration," Studies in Conflict and Terrorism, Number 35 Issue 6, June 2012; Mitchell Silber, The Al Qaeda Factor: Plots Against the West, Philadelphia: University of Pennsylvania Press, 2012; Peter Neumann, Ryan Evans, and Raffaello Pantucci, "Locating Al Qaeda's Center of Gravity: The Role of Middle Managers," Studies in Conflict and Terrorism, Volume 34 Issue 11, November 2011; Aaron Y. Zelin, Your Sons Are At Your Service: Tunisia's Missionaries of Jihad, New York City: Columbia University Press, 2019.

- [4] William F. McCants, "Al Qaeda's Challenge The Jihadists' War With Islamist Democrats," *Foreign Affairs*, Volume 90 Number 5, September/October 2011; Daveed Gartenstein-Ross, "Al-Qaeda Is Winning," *The Atlantic*, September 8, 2011; Alex S. Wilner, "Opportunity Costs or Costly Opportunities? The Arab Spring, Osama Bin Laden, and Al-Qaeda's African Affiliates," *Perspectives on Terrorism*, Volume 5, Number 3-4, 2011; Shiraz Maher and Peter R Neumann, "Al-Qaeda at the Crossroads: How the terror group is responding to the loss of its leaders & the Arab Spring," International Centre for the Study of Radicalisation and Political Violence, August 2012; Clinton Watts, "What If There Is No Al-Qaeda? Preparing for Future Terrorism," Foreign Policy Research Institute, *E-Notes*, July 2012; Leah Farrall, "Some quick thoughts on reports Abu Yahya al-Libi has been killed," All Things Counterterrorism, June 6, 2012.
- [5] Daniel Byman, "Review Essay: Explaining Al Qaeda's Decline," *The Journal of Politics*, Volume 79, Number 3, July 2017, 1106-1117, https://www.journals.uchicago.edu/doi/abs/10.1086/692166?journalCode=jop; Anne Stenersen, "Thirty Years after its Foundation Where is al-Qaida Going?," *Perspectives on Terrorism*, Volume 11, Number 6, December 2017, <a href="https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2017/issue-6/0220176-thirty-years-after-its-foundation---where-is-al-qaida-going-by-anne-stenersen.pdf.
- [6] Stenersen, "Thirty Years after its Foundation Where is al-Qaida Going?."
- [7] Ibid.
- [8] Bruce Hoffman, "Al-Qaeda's Resurrection," Council on Foreign Relations, March 6, 2018, https://www.cfr.org/expert-brief/al-qaedas-resurrection.
- [9] Daveed Gartenstein-Ross and Nathaniel Barr, "How Al-Qaeda Works: The Jihadist Group's Evolving Organizational Design," *Current Trends in Islamist Ideology*, Volume 23, June 2018, https://www.hudson.org/research/14365-how-al-qaeda-works-the-jihadist-group-s-evolving-organizational-design.
- [10] Julia McQuaid, Jonathan Schroden, Pamela G. Faber, P. Kathleen Hammerberg, Alexander Powell, Zack Gold, David Knoll, and William Rosenau, "Independent Assessment of U.S. Government Efforts against Al Qaeda," Center for Naval Analysis, October 2017, https://www.cna.org/cna_files/pdf/DRM-2017-U-015710-2Rev.pdf.
- [11] Aaron Y. Zelin, "How al-Qaeda Survived Drones, Uprisings, and the Islamic State," Washington Institute for Near East Policy, *Policy Focus* 153, June 2017, https://www.washingtoninstitute.org/uploads/Documents/pubs/PolicyFocus153-Zelin.pdf.
- [12] Byman, "Review Essay: Explaining Al Qaeda's Decline."
- [13] Barak Mendelsohn, "Bound to Fail: Transnational Jihadism and the Aggregation Problem," *War on the Rocks*, August 28, 2018, https://warontherocks.com/2018/08/bound-to-fail-transnational-jihadism-and-the-aggregation-problem/.
- [14] Alison Pargeter, "Radicalisation in Tunisia," ed. George Joffe, *Islamist Radicalisation in North Africa: Politics and Process*, Abingdon: Routledge Books, 2011, 77.
- [15] Abu Mus'ab 'Abd al-Wadud, "Bayan wa bushra bi-indhimam wa mubay'ah al-jama'ah al-salafiyah li-l-shaykh usamah," al-Jama'ah al-Salafiyah Li-l-Da'wah wa-l-Qital bi-l-Jaza'ir, September 13, 2006; Abu Mus'ab 'Abd al-Wadud, "Isha'ar bi-taghayir al-tasmiyah," al-Jama'ah al-Salafiyah Li-l-Da'wah wa-l-Qital bi-l-Jaza'ir, January 24, 2007.
- [16] Anneli Botha, "Terrorism in Maghreb: The Transnationalisation of Domestic Terrorism," Institute for Security Studies, ISS Monograph Series, Number 144, June 2008, 50.
- [17] Alison Parageter, "The Suleiman affair Radicalism and jihad in Tunisia," Jane's Intelligence Review, Volume 23 Issue 1, 2011.
- [18] "Jihadists hunted in Tunisia 'former Mali fighters," *AFP*, May 8, 2013, https://www.moroccoworldnews.com/2013/05/90056/jihadists-hunted-in-tunisia-former-mali-fighters; Noureldine al-Fridi, "Tunisian Jihadists May Be Training in Mali," May 18, 2013, https://www.al-monitor.com/pulse/security/2013/05/tunisian-jihadists-training-mali.html.
- [19] Amira Masrour, "Circumstances of Death Arise After Algerian Border Attack," *Tunisia Live*, December 11, 2012, <a href="https://web.archive.org/web/20121223020906/http://www.tunisia-live.net/2012/12/11/circumstances-of-death-arise-after-algerian-border-attack;" Amira Masrour, "National Guard in Pursuit of Suspects in Algerian Border Attack," *Tunisia Live*, December 12, 2012, <a href="https://web.archive.org/web/20121223100733/http://www.tunisia-live.net/2012/12/12/national-guard-in-pursuit-of-suspects-in-algerian-border-attack," Tunisia arrests 11 after deadly border attack," *AFP*, December 12, 2012, https://english.ahram.org.eg/NewsContent/2/8/60382/World/Region/Tunisia-arrests--after-deadly-border-attack.aspx.
- [20] "Two suspected Qaeda affiliates arrested in Tunisia," *AFP*, May 15, 2011; "Six killed in Tunisian clashes near Algeria: diplomat," AFP, September 23, 2011; Kouichi Shirayanagi, "Tunisian Authorities Break Up Alleged Al Qaeda Terror Cell," Tunisia Live, February 13, 2012; Pesha Magid, "Tunisian Ministry of Defense Confirms Destruction of Armed Camp," Tunisia Live, June 23, 2012.
- [21] "16 Qaeda suspects arrested in Tunisia: minister," AFP, December 21, 2012.

- [22] Aaron Y. Zelin, "Tunis Designates Ansar al-Sharia in Tunisia," *al-Wasat*, August 28, 2013, https://thewasat.wordpress.com/2013/08/28/tunis-designates-ansar-al-sharia-in-tunisia.
- [23] Aaron Y. Zelin, "The Others: Foreign Fighters in Libya," Washington Institute for Near East Policy, *Policy Note* 45, January 2018, https://www.washingtoninstitute.org/policy-analysis/view/the-others-foreign-fighters-in-libya-and-the-islamic-state.
- [24] Benjamin Roger, "Tunisie: sur la trace des djihadistes de mont Chaambi," *Jeune Afrique*, May 7, 2013, https://www.jeuneafrique.com/170931/politique/tunisie-sur-la-trace-des-jihadistes-du-mont-chaambi.
- [25] Fajr al-Qayrawan Facebook page, accessed July 11, 2014.
- [26] Jacob Jaffe, "14 Tunisian Soldiers Killed, 20 wounded in Chaambi Attack," *Tunisia Live*, July 17, 2014, https://www.tunisia-live.net/2014/07/17/14-soldiers-killed-20-wounded-in-chaambi-attack.
- [27] Central Region of al-Qaeda in the Islamic Maghrib, "Advocacy from the Islamic Maghrib for the Islamic State of Iraq and al-Sham," March 22, 2014, https://jihadology.net/2014/03/22/new-statement-from-the-central-region-of-al-qaidah-in-the-islamic-maghrib-advocacy-from-the-islamic-state-of-iraq-and-al-sham.
- [28] Abu Bakr al-Baghdadi, "Although The Disbelievers Dislike It," al-Furqan Media, November 13, 2014.
- [29] Katibat 'Uqbah Bin Nafi, "al-Qayrawan Support For the Islamic State," Ifriqiya Media, September 16, 2014, https://shamukh.net/vb/showthread.php?t=226912.
- [30] Aaron Y. Zelin, "Islamic State Attacks in Tunisia," *Tunisian Jihadism*, June 6, 2018, https://tunisianjihadism.com/2018/06/06/islamic-state-attacks-in-tunisia.
- [31] Ifriqiya Media, "A Brief Explanation of What Is Going On in the Tunisian Field," March 31, 2015.
- [32] Ifriqiya Media, "Information, Reminders, Coded Messages, Advice, and Warning," December 17, 2014.
- [33] Ibid.
- [34] Natasha Turak, "Medical Student Fatma Zouaghi, Alleged Ansar Al Sharia Member, Arrested," *Tunisia Live*, October 15, 2014, <a href="https://web.archive.org/web/20170623133134/http://www.tunisia-live.net/2014/10/15/medical-student-fatma-zouaghi-alleged-ansar-al-sharia-member-arrested; "Tunisia: Young Girl Led Propaganda Cell of Ansar Al-Sharia and Okba Ibn Nafaa Brigade," *Tunis Afrique Presse*, October 14, 2014, https://allafrica.com/stories/201410141646.html.
- [35] Ifriqiya Media, "Good Night in This Life and Immortality in Paradise," March 29, 2015, https://jihadology.net/2015/03/29/new-release-from-ifriqiyyah-media-good-night-in-this-life-and-immortality-in-paradise.
- [36] Ifriqiya Media, "A Brief Explanation of What Is Going On in the Tunisian Field."
- [37] Katibat 'Uqba Bin Nafi Facebook page, accessed April 16, 2015.
- [38] Patrick Markey, "Tunisia signals local al Qaeda links to Bardo museum attack," *Reuters*, March 26, 2015, https://www.reuters.com/article/us-tunisia-security-idUSKBN0MM1LI20150326.
- [39] Tarek Amara, "Tunisia says almost wipes out al Qaeda group after attacks," *Reuters*, July 13, 2015, https://www.reuters.com/article/us-tunisia-security/tunisia-says-almost-wipes-out-al-qaeda-group-after-attacks-idUSKCN0PN15S20150713.
- $[40] \ Katibat `Uqbah \ Bin \ Nafi, ``So \ Wait; Indeed \ We, Along \ With \ You, Are \ Waiting, ``August 21, 2015, \\ \underline{http://jihadology.net/2015/08/21/new-statement-from-katibat-uqbah-ibn-nafi-so-wait-indeed-we-along-with-you-are-waiting/.$
- [41] Aaron Y. Zelin, "Katibat 'Uqbah Bin Nafi/al-Qaeda in the Islamic Maghrib Attacks in Tunisia," *Tunisian Jihadism*, October 8, 2018, https://tunisianjihadism.com/2018/10/08/katibat-uqbah-bin-nafi-al-qaeda-in-the-islamic-maghrib-attacks-in-tunisia.
- [42] Héni Nsaibia, "America Is Quietly Expanding Its War in Tunisia," *The National Interest*, September 18, 2018, https://nationalinterest.org/blog/middle-east-watch/america-quietly-expanding-its-war-tunisia-31492.
- [43] "Tunisian security forces kill senior militant in ambush: sources," *Reuters*, August 9, 2017, https://www.reuters.com/article/ustunisian-security-forces-kill-senior-militant-in-ambush-sources-idUSKBN1APORX.
- [44] Tarek Amara, "Tunisia forces kill the new leader of local branch of al-Qaeda," *Reuters*, January 21, 2018, https://www.reuters.com/article/us-tunisia-security/tunisia-forces-kill-the-new-leader-of-local-branch-of-al-qaeda-idUSKBN1FA0ZD.
- [45] al-Qaeda in the Islamic Maghrib, "Tunisia: Seven Lean Years After the Failure of the Revolution and Plundering of the Wealth," *al-Andalus Media*, April 7, 2018, http://jihadology.net/2018/04/07/new-statement-from-al-qaidah-in-the-islamic-maghrib-tunisia-seven-lean-years-after-the-failure-of-the-revolution-and-plundering-of-the-wealth/.

ISSN 2334-3745 74 February 2019

- [46] Ibid.
- [47] al-Qaeda in the Islamic Maghrib, "The Mirage of Elections in Tunisia," al-Andalus Media, May 4, 2018, https://jihadology.net/2018/05/04/new-statement-from-al-qaidah-in-the-islamic-maghrib-the-mirage-of-elections-in-tunisia.
- [48] Ibid.
- [49] The Islamic State, "Istihbu al-hayah al-dunya 'ala al-khurah," Sahifat al-Naba', Number 123, March 15, 2018, 3, https://jihadology.net/2018/03/15/new-issue-of-the-islamic-states-newsletter-al-naba-123.
- [50] For more on IS's anti-election campaign in Tunisia see: Aaron Y. Zelin, "The Islamic State Targets Tunisia Ahead of Elections," Washington Institute for Near East Policy, *Policy Watch* 2965, April 30, 2018, https://www.washingtoninstitute.org/policy-analysis/view/the-islamic-state-targets-tunisia-ahead-of-elections.
- [51] Katibat 'Uqbah Bin Nafi, "Destroying Nine Soldiers of the Tunisian Guard, Including a 1st Lieutenant, in Targeting Their Patrol, and Capturing Light Weaponry and a 12.7 Western-made Machine Gun as War Spoils," al-Andalus Media, July 8, 2018; Katibat 'Uqbah Bin Nafi, "Photos of the Tunisian Guard Vehicles at the Moment and After Their Targeting By Mujahidin Fire in the 'Support for Shari'ah' Battle in Ayn Sultan," *Ifriqiya al-Muslimah*, July 23, 2018.
- [52] Aaron Y. Zelin, "Jihadi Attacks in Tunisia Prior to 2011," *Tunisian Jihadism*, October 22, 2018, https://tunisianjihadism.com/2018/10/22/jihadi-attacks-in-tunisia-prior-to-2011.
- [53] Zelin, Your Sons Are At Your Service: Tunisia's Missionaries of Jihad.
- [54] Aaron Y. Zelin, "Shabab al-Tawhid: The Rebranding of Ansar al-Sharia in Tunisia?," Washington Institute for Near East Policy, *Policy Watch* 2250, May 9, 2014, https://www.washingtoninstitute.org/policy-analysis/view/shabab-al-tawhid-the-rebranding-of-ansar-al-sharia-in-tunisia; Aaron Y. Zelin, "Update on Shabab al-Tawhid and Creation of al-Midrar Media," Jihadology, The Clairvoyant, May 12, 2014, https://jihadology.net/2014/05/12/the-clairvoyant-update-on-shabab-al-tawhid-and-creation-of-al-midrar-media">https://jihadology.net/2014/05/12/the-clairvoyant-update-on-shabab-al-tawhid-and-creation-of-al-midrar-media.
- [55] Shaykh Kamal Zuruq, "Appeal To Support the Islamic State of Iraq and al-Sham," Shabab al-Tawhid Media, June 4, 2014, https://jihadology.net/2014/06/04/shabab-al-taw%E1%B8%A5id-media-presents-a-new-video-message-from-an%E1%B9%A3ar-al-shariah-in-tunisias-shaykh-kamal-zaruq-appeal-to-support-the-islamic-state-of-iraq-and-al-sham.
- [56] Ansar al-Shari'ah in Tunisia, "Announcing the Second Annual Conference," al-Bayyariq Media Foundation, April 25, 2012.
- [57] Ansar al-Shari'ah in Tunisia, "Helping Needy Families in Ariana," al-Bayyariq Media Foundation, June 2, 2013.
- [58] Interview with members of AST's dawa program, Sousse, Tunisia, February 19, 2013.
- [59] al-Qaeda in the Islamic Maghrib, "The Mirage of Elections in Tunisia."
- [60] Ayman al-Zawahiri, "General Guidelines for the Work of a Jihadi," al-Sahab Media, September 14, 2013, https://jihadology.net/2013/09/14/as-sa%e1%b8%a5ab-media-presents-a-new-release-from-al-qaidahs-dr-ayman-al-%e1%ba%93awahiri-general-guidelines-for-the-work-of-a-jihadi.
- [61] al-Qaeda in the Islamic Maghrib, "Revenge For the Free Tunisia: Targeting the Interior Minister 'Lutfi Bin Jiddu," al-Andalus Media, June 13, 2014, http://jihadology.net/2014/06/13/al-andalus-media-presents-a-new-statement-from-al-qaidah-in-the-islamic-maghrib-revenge-for-the-free-tunisia-targeting-the-interior-minister-lu%e1%b9%adfi-bin-jiddu.
- [62] Katibat 'Uqbah Bin Nafi, "So Wait; Indeed We, Along With You, Are Waiting."
- [63] Katibat 'Uqbah Ibn Nafi, "Clarification and Warning About the Killing of the Missionary āli al-Firjānī," September 3, 2015, http://jihadology.net/2015/09/03/new-statement-from-katibat-uqbah-ibn-nafi-clarification-and-warning-about-the-killing-of-the-missionary-%e1%b9%a3ali%e1%b8%a5-al-firjani.
- [64] Katibat 'Uqbah Ibn Nafi, "Denial: Innocence of the Mujahidin From the Murder of 'Haddah Rihimi," April 4, 2016, http://jihadology.net/2016/04/04/new-statement-from-katibat-uqbah-ibn-nafi-denial-innocence-of-the-mujahidin-from-the-murder-of-we1%b8%a5addah-ri%e1%b8%a5imi.
- [65] 'Abd al-Rahman al-Jaza'iri, "Message to the Lions of al-Qayrawān," *Ifriqiya al-Muslimah*, December 4, 2016, http://jihadology.net/2016/12/04/new-release-from-abd-al-ra%e1%b8%a5man-al-jazairi-message-to-the-lions-of-al-qayrawan.
- [66] Katibat 'Uqbah Ibn Nafi, "Clarification and Warning About the Killing of the Missionary Salih al-Firjani," September 3, 2015, <a href="http://jihadology.net/2015/09/03/new-statement-from-katibat-uqbah-ibn-nafi-clarification-and-warning-about-the-killing-of-the-missionary-%e1%b9%a3ali%e1%b8%a5-al-firjani; Katibat 'Uqbah Ibn Nafi," Denial: Innocence of the Mujahidin From the Murder of 'Haddah Rihimi," April 4, 2016, <a href="http://jihadology.net/2016/04/04/new-statement-from-katibat-uqbah-ibn-nafi-denial-innocence-of-the-mujahidin-from-the-murder-of-%e1%b8%a5addah-ri%e1%b8%a5imi; Katibat 'Uqbah Ibn Nafi," Explanation of

the Circumstances For the Loss of the Shepherd 'Lamjad al-Qariri' (Lamjed Griri)," June 26, 2018, https://jihadology.net/2018/06/26/new-statement-from-katibat-uqbah-ibn-nafi-explanation-of-the-circumstances-for-the-loss-of-the-shepherd-lamjad-al-qariri-lamjed-griri.

The Failing Islamic State Within The Failed State of Yemen

By Elisabeth Kendall

Abstract

This article explores why Islamic State has failed to gain significant traction in Yemen despite conditions on the ground that appeared, superficially at least, to be conducive to its expansion. Four main reasons are posited: its overt brutality and indiscriminate attacks; its inability to rival al-Qa'ida's deep roots and territorial hold; its failure to find culturally nuanced ways of appealing to locals as well as the difficulties faced by foreign fighters in both reaching and integrating in Yemen; and its arrogant and alienating leadership style. The article next looks at Islamic State's challenges and weaknesses in Yemen by analysing both the revelations of defectors and its own propaganda. Despite some early support from inside Saudi Arabia, Islamic State lacked charismatic leaders who inspired broad loyalty and respect and was well into decline by 2016. Nevertheless, Islamic State media continued to project a magnified image of its presence in Yemen, possibly assisted by several false flagged attacks. Finally the article unravels the conflict that erupted between Islamic State and al-Qa'ida in mid-2018. The evidence suggests that the conflict is linked to local territorial and power rivalries and may have been provoked by external actors intent on sowing rifts inside Yemen's jihad. Looking ahead, Islamic State and al-Qa'ida are unlikely to merge formally, and both groups will weaken in the short-term. Al-Qa'ida retains the upper hand but there are some signs that Islamic State may be trying to develop a more 'authentic' image in Yemen. For jihadist foot soldiers, however, both labels may be becoming less relevant. In the long-term, the prospects for jihad look more promising. Either the current war persists, providing favourable conditions for jihad groups to thrive, or a peace deal is reached, which will inevitably result in disillusioned sectors of the population with whom jihad groups might make common cause.

Keywords: Islamic State in Yemen, al-Qa'ida in the Arabian Peninsula, recruitment, terrorist group rivalries

Introduction

Yemen's rugged topography, rampant corruption[1] and persistent conflicts[2] have long made it an attractive hub for militant jihadists, who have been operating successfully there ever since the 1980s.[3] The Islamic State's attempt to gain ground in Yemen might therefore have been expected to succeed, particularly given the ongoing instability following Yemen's popular uprising in 2011,[4] a National Dialogue which ended in 2014 without solving Yemen's most divisive issues,[5] growing sectarianism generated by the advance of Houthi rebels vocally supported by Shi'ite Iran in 2014, and the chaos of all-out war from 2015. Yet despite early successes in attracting both new recruits and al-Qa'ida defectors, Islamic State in Yemen (ISY) quickly lost momentum, and it never held territory. This article begins by identifying the reasons behind ISY's failure to gain traction. Next it examines ISY's recent challenges and weaknesses, such as defections, the need to retreat, and the increasing irrelevance of the global Islamic State label as the group's character, aims and focus in Yemen become more parochial. It then analyzes the eruption of violent conflict between ISY and al-Qa'ida in the Arabian Peninsula (AQAP) in 2018 and questions the extent to which this may be harnessed to local rivalries and/or stirred by external actors. Finally, it concludes by looking ahead to how ISY may be evolving and the possible circumstances that may enable it to resurge.

Why Did Islamic State Fail to Take Root in Yemen?

The Islamic State officially announced its expansion into Yemen on 13 November 2014, following Caliph Abu Bakr al-Baghdadi's acceptance of an oath of allegiance sworn to him by "Yemen's mujahidin" in an audio recording. For a brief period, ISY expanded. Its key youth recruiter and coordinator for Hadramawt, Abu Karam al-Hadrami, opened hostels and managed the accommodation, everyday needs, and movements of new recruits.[6] ISY benefitted from the outbreak of war in Yemen in 2015 as it was able to situate the conflict with the Houthis, who are aligned to a limited extent with Iran, as part of a jihad against Shi'ite "apostates".

In this, ISY was inadvertently helped along by the rampantly sectarian narrative emanating from Gulf states. In March 2015, a Saudi-led coalition of Sunni Arab countries intervened militarily in Yemen to contain the perceived influence of Shi'ite Iran and restore the internationally recognized government toppled by the Houthis, who are largely adherents to the Zaydi branch of Shi'ite Islam. This sectarian framing of Yemen's war fitted perfectly into Islamic State's own highly polarizing narrative of true believers versus deviants, pitting Muslims against Muslims. Given these favorable early signs, why did the Islamic State fail to take root in Yemen?

There are four main reasons why nascent support for ISY ebbed away. First, its overt brutality and indiscriminate attacks alienated Yemenis. One of its earliest operations was a coordinated attack in Sana'a in March 2015 using four suicide bombers. They targeted two public mosques, killing or injuring a total of nearly 500 Yemenis. Although the mosques were tenuously linked to the Houthis, blowing up praying Muslims in public places of worship was too much even for al-Qa'ida. AQAP vehemently denied any link to the attacks and reaffirmed its own policy of avoiding targeting public places where innocent civilians might be harmed.[7]

Second, AQAP had deeper roots than ISY and was able to take quick advantage of the war to exploit the security vacuum left by the absentee government that had fled to Riyadh. As war raged in Yemen's west, AQAP set to work in Yemen's east. It coordinated recruitment stations, playing on southern fears of a northern takeover, staged a jailbreak to release imprisoned mujahidin including Khalid Batarfi, one of its most charismatic ideologues,[8] robbed the central bank and seized state military hardware. Within a month, by April 2015, AQAP was operating its own de facto state out of the eastern coastal capital of Mukalla. For young men seeking higher purpose and keen to help along a nascent caliphate, al-Qa'ida was the obvious choice in Yemen, not Islamic State.

Third, ISY did not integrate well with local communities or tribes. It failed to address local grievances through development programs, something at which AQAP had been adept during 2015 and 2016.[9] Nor did it communicate in locally attuned ways. When this author showed tribesmen in eastern Yemen ISY's first video announcing its arrival in Yemen,[10] the locals looked on bemused, unimpressed by the matching uniforms, coordinated combat moves, odd accents and unwieldy way in which the men had tied their headscarves. Even after ISY retreated to settle in an area of al-Bayda' close to the front lines with the Houthis from around October 2016, it apparently struggled to attract strong support among tribes. Judging by the names of the 49 martyrs announced by ISY for Wilayat al-Bayda' during 2018, no more than a handful were local to al-Bayda'. The greatest single source of martyrs (19%) was Ta'izz, a hotbed of radical Salafi jihadi activity and an active battle front with the Houthis.

ISY's progress in Yemen has also been hampered by the difficulties foreign terrorist fighters faced in trying to reach and integrate in Yemen. Yet its die-hard aspiration to attract foreign fighters for Yemen's jihad was still in evidence in a May 2018 video. This included a call to young men to "come forth to your pinnacle, come forth to your majesty, come forth to what will bring you new life" and cut to footage of UK police manhandling Muslims and of refugees walking along a European motorway.[11] Nevertheless, only two of the 49 ISY martyrs referred to above were from outside the Arabian Peninsula and both of these were from Africa not the west.[12] AQAP's own policy towards foreigners speaks to the challenges of integrating foreigners into Yemen's jihad. It explained that it preferred to exclude foreigners owing to their more extreme outlook and the attention that they draw both domestically and internationally. AQAP claimed in 2017 to have had only five foreigners in its ranks during the entire previous five years.[13]

It is possible that this wariness was informed by experience, for Yemen's jihad had received many foreigners over the years. In the mid-1990s, jihadists from Ayman al-Zawahiri's Islamic Jihad attempted to regroup in Yemen following a harsh crackdown in Egypt. In this, they were tacitly supported by the regime of former President Ali Abdallah Saleh, at least as long as he found them a useful foil in his fight against

southern socialists in Yemen's 1994 civil war.[14] More recently, from the mid-2000s, the arrival in Yemen of American-Yemeni preacher Anwar al-Awlaqi (d. 2011) prompted at least some other western would-be jihadists to follow.[15] Several foreigners who trained with AQAP have become notorious, including the British-educated Nigerian who tried to bring down an airliner over Detroit in 2009, the French brothers of Algerian descent who carried out the attack on *Charlie Hebdo* magazine in Paris in 2015 and the Danish radical Morten Storm, who reportedly went on to become an undercover intelligence agent 2006-11.[16] In general, however, Yemen's jihad has been a largely local movement. Although President Hadi in 2014 claimed that 70 per cent of AQAP were foreigners, he may simply have been trying to deflect the blame for Yemen's jihad problem; most of the hundreds killed in a major military crackdown in 2014 were in fact Yemenis.[17]

Fourth, ISY's leadership style was considered arrogant, bossy and disrespectful. By the end of 2015, evidence began to emerge of serious rifts within ISY. A letter purporting to be from 70 ISY members declared their refusal to operate under the command of their appointed leader, owing to his violations of Sharia and oppressive treatment of the rank and file, although they reaffirmed their allegiance to the caliph himself. [18] Their complaints were thrown out by ISIS central office, but two weeks later a further 31 ISY members backed up their denunciation of the ISY leader. It is significant that over 90 per cent of the signatories bear names that clearly identify them as Yemeni.[19] Details of 15 legal cases brought against the ISY leader by its Yemeni rank and file appeared on Telegram channels in July 2016. These specifically named the ISY leader as Abu Bilal al-Harbi, a Saudi national whom they accused of corruption and abuse of power. Al-Harbi must eventually have been killed because laments vowing to avenge his death were circulated by ISIS loyalists in 2017.[20]

ISY's Challenges and Weaknesses

Many of those who initially joined ISY ended up defecting to AQAP as leadership issues persisted. In November 2017, pro-AQAP channels celebrated "breaking news" of "many" ISY fighters defecting to AQAP after suffering mistreatment for having questioned their leaders' irreligious behavior.[21] The fact that US air strikes had obliterated two ISY training camps in al-Bayda' just two weeks earlier,[22] following ill-judged ISY media posts revealing clearly locatable features of the camps,[23] may also have made AQAP look like a more attractive option. More defectors allegedly followed in 2018. Allegations by four ISY defectors published on pro-AQAP channels reveal insights into the continuing challenges faced by ISY in maintaining the loyalty of its fighters. They tell of ISY lock ups in which those who requested to visit family or transfer to other fronts were imprisoned and tortured. This had the effect of horrifying other recruits such that "dozens" were seeking to escape.[24] A further defector criticized ISY leaders for irreligious acts, such as declaring whole local populations apostates, aligning with drug lords in the world of organized crime, and arguing amongst themselves over girls. He also complained of deception, recounting how ISY would film videos in Hadramawt pretending it was Shabwa.[25] Naturally, relying on AQAP sources for such accounts must be treated with caution as they may be selective and exaggerated, but it seems fair to conclude that ISY is making little headway in Yemen.

Several important clues about the operations of and challenges faced by ISY can be derived from the biographical eulogy that ISIS released in May 2018 for Abu Karam al-Hadrami, ISY's key youth recruiter and coordinator.[26] First, ISY was not as well funded as provinces in the ISIS heartlands of Syria and Iraq. Abu Karam had asked to leave Yemen to join ISIS in Syria since this would be more "prosperous" for him. Second, ISY had support from inside Saudi Arabia. Abu Karam was radicalized inside a Saudi prison, then supported financially and guided to Yemen from Saudi. Third, ISY lacks capable and charismatic people. Abu Karam was persuaded to stay in Yemen, and to delay the martyrdom operation he allegedly longed for, owing to an urgent need for men like him. ISIS clearly saw his value, writing "What made Abu Karam distinct was his cheerful face, big heart and fine reputation, together with being blessed by abundant patience. He gained the confidence of everyone who sat with or spent time with him." Fourth, Hadramawt was an early ISY hub since it was receiving recruits in large enough numbers to require Abu Karam to open hostels and manage the

accommodation, everyday needs and movements of ISY fighters before he rose to become responsible for logistics between ISY's provinces. Fifth, after a brief period of expansion, ISY began to decline (probably in 2016). Abu Karam "and his brothers" withdrew to the Qayfa area of al-Bayda'. His role changed from being ISY's cross-Yemen coordinator to serving as a water-carrier for ISY fighters on the al-Bayda' front.

Thus ISY's foothold in Yemen shrank as it all but retreated to a rugged corner of north-west al-Bayda', where it allegedly used intermarriage as an integration strategy. [27] This shift likely began circa October 2016 when ISY's operational claims indicate that it was becoming more active there. The Hadramawt branch of ISY must have decamped to al-Bayda' by Summer 2017 at the latest. [28] ISY tried to consolidate and expand in al-Bayda', setting up two training camps. The first, the Abu Muhammad al-'Adnani camp, was announced in December 2016 and was specifically designed to graduate *inghimasiyyun*, or suicide fighters. [29] This was soon followed by the Abu Muhammad al-Furqan camp, which, as well as training suicide fighters, provided more sophisticated weapons training including for heavy weapons and night operations. [30] Sniper classes also followed, [31] while suicide fighters were indoctrinated during 50-day courses in Sharia law, manners and morals. ISIS central media reported a gushing recruit enthusing that "We find in the courses the meaning of true brotherhood, which represents a living reality and not just passing talk. You find one brother advising his brother, another washing his clothes, the third treating him, the fourth making his bed for him." [32]

ISIS media thus made ISY look like a growing concern in al-Bayda'. AQAP, which was also operating in the Qayfa region, provides an alternative perspective. After ISY released an article crediting its fighters with "repelling the greatest Houthi attack" in the Qayfa region,[33] AQAP formally challenged ISY's claims to be seriously engaged in battling Houthis.[34] A prominent ISY defector also accused ISY of exaggerating its presence and effect and of being more interested in photo shoots than fighting. He criticized ISY for wasting suicide bombers on pointless operations, picking soft targets and perpetrating acts "devoid of religion, morals and benefit".[35] According to his estimate, approximately 120 ISY fighters had congregated in Qayfa, but by April 2017 their number had dwindled to around 70.[36] Successful US air strikes on ISY's two training camps in October 2017 further decimated its ranks.[37]

ISIS media is adept at magnifying its presence and disguising its decline. A fine example is the spin deployed in the martyrology for ISY coordinator, Abu al-Karam, who was killed in April 2018. He had aspired to become a suicide bomber driving an explosives-laden car but was persuaded to defer this ambition. Allah rewarded him with "the best death given to a mujahid: carrying water whilst reciting Allah's book".[38] This placed a heavy spin on the reality, which was dying accidentally after being hit by a Houthi rocket whilst carrying water to the rag-tag remnants of a failing group relegated to a Yemeni backwater and struggling to endure.

To the outside world, Islamic State has often looked stronger than it is in Yemen. Its operations were usually headline-grabbing and its propaganda was slick and professionally produced relative to that of AQAP, especially in its early days. But in reality, AQAP undertook roughly ten times as many operations in Yemen as ISY during 2016 and 2017. ISY may also have been promoted, or at least used as a false flag for disruptive and/or politically motivated attacks, by former President Ali Abdullah Saleh. It may not be a coincidence that activities attributed to ISY's Wilayat Aden-Abyan in the southern capital of Aden suffered a noticeable downturn in the period immediately following Saleh's death on 4 December 2017 at the hands of his erstwhile allies, the Houthis. The occasional videos produced in the name of ISY's Wilayat Aden-Abyan differ markedly from those of Wilayat al-Bayda'. They tend to be more professionally produced, display greater military prowess, feature larger scale operations, and naturally focus on targeting southern military and administrative personnel rather than Houthis.[39] Internal ISY communications were also dismissive of activities flagged to ISY in Wilayat Ta'izz. ISY supporters insisted "everyone knows there is no official presence of the Islamic State there . . . just a small band of deviators and rebels." [40]

Internecine Jihadist Conflict: AQAP versus ISY

A bloody conflict erupted between ISY and AQAP in July 2018. The conflict was limited to north-west al-Bayda' and may be linked to local disputes and rivalries, although it is important to understand that alignment with certain individuals or pockets within tribes does not implicate entire tribes.[41] The fighting was sparked by ISY capturing a group of 13 AQAP mujahidin on their way from Yakla to the Houthi battlefront in Upper Qayfa. In a video that ISY released of the captives, only half wore beards, which suggests that they were a mix of AQAP and tribal fighters.[42] AQAP considered this "a declaration of war", the final straw in a long list of ISY provocations. AQAP complained that ISY had pitched camp right behind their own camp, ripped open their tents screaming "takfir", thus declaring them apostates, and prevented them from passing through ISY checkpoints more than one at a time. AQAP vowed that its "mujahidin, together with the proud tribes, will continue to exterminate them" until they start to behave reasonably.[43] The nature of these provocations are more redolent of local territorial and power rivalries within al-Bayda' than of an ideological showdown between two heavyweight jihadist groups battling for supremacy.

This conflict between AQAP and ISY shows no signs of abating. Slanging matches abounded on encrypted social media channels, with slurs such as ISY sentencing a recruit to 80 lashes for gobbling four cans of tuna and threats such as "Don't moor your little [ISY] fishing boat between [AQAP] ships and steamers, O Kharijite!".[44] ISY released a puerile video calling AQAP liars and accusing them of starting the conflict in collaboration with the Yemeni army. The video paraded images of the AQAP captives, insisting they were still alive, then listed 13 of ISY's own fighters whom it claimed AQAP had killed.[45] ISY also released an unconvincing video of an alleged AQAP defector criticizing AQAP for working with the army and for preaching in its mosques that ISY is the real enemy rather than the Houthis.[46] Shortly afterwards, AQAP released a video featuring four ISY recruits whom it had captured. One explains on camera how they had been specifically tasked with oppressing certain tribes in the Qayfa area.[47] More armed clashes have followed. Since ISY consolidated into a single Yemen province in late September 2018 until the end of that year, 69 per cent of ISY's claimed attacks were against AQAP and only 31 per cent against Houthis. Thus ISY's trajectory is now more focused on battling AQAP than targeting Houthis.

AQAP is no longer holding back in its response. It claimed to have killed 12 ISY fighters in a six-hour overnight battle in early November as revenge for ISY launching rocket propelled grenades at a house in Lower Dhi Kalib. A few days later, ISY claimed to have killed 10 AQAP in a 10-hour battle. In a sign that the battle is escalating, pro-AQAP channels responded by circulating a warmongering poem, chanted in a chillingly discordant style, which included vengeful lines such as: "A harsh and painful response is coming / From men of religion and folk who defend / Our swords are drawn, blood for blood". [48] These ongoing clashes, including the targeting of a residential village, at a time when both groups share the pressing overarching mutual jihadist goal of battling Houthi 'infidels' suggests that local rivalries may be attaching themselves to militant jihad (and vice versa).

There is also a possibility that the internecine jihadist fighting has been stirred by *agents provocateurs*. The nature of the irritations listed above and others, such as ISY disrespectfully driving through AQAP checkpoints at high speed or deliberately stirring up problems in AQAP areas,[49] seem designed to provoke conflict at precisely the time when there was a real risk that the two jihad groups might start to blend. Just a month before the conflict erupted, AQAP's Khalid Batarfi revealed that AQAP's relationship with other Islamist groups was at its best yet.[50] This seems credible. After all, by 2017, both ISY and AQAP were under severe pressure from counter-terrorism operations, so could find solidarity in adversity; both were managing to co-exist in the same region of al-Bayda'; both were focused on the same Houthi enemy and ISY had largely ceased perpetrating the kind of headline-grabbing attacks with high civilian death tolls which AQAP hated; many AQAP commanders, some vociferously critical of ISY, had been killed in US drone strikes; and ISY could no longer criticize AQAP's failure to implement Sharia law since AQAP no longer governed territory. It would thus have made good sense for them to combine forces.

There is some evidence that creating rifts inside Yemen's jihad was a conscious aspiration of regional

intelligence agencies. One of the seven major spies outed by AQAP in August 2018 revealed that he had been recruited by Saudi intelligence specifically to start a fake jihad group in Yemen to degrade AQAP. He confessed that he had found this remit too difficult so joined AQAP to disrupt from the inside instead. [51] This at least raises the possibility that there may have been others who succeeded under the guise of ISY. AQAP pointed out in a video that they had been successfully focused on their mission "until the Islamic State organisation appeared and tried to steer [them] off course, behaving in ways that serve enemy interests." The video featured ISY recruits captured by AQAP explaining how they had been compelled to attend a course that focused specifically on declaring AQAP apostates. [52] A further video in October 2018 featured sobbing operatives confessing that they had been sent to infiltrate AQAP to exploit rifts, stoke conflict, sow suspicion and divert the mujahidin from their mission, and that they were told this was higher priority than merely gathering information for targeted assassinations. [53] Of the eight spy tasks AQAP media identified based on interviews with unmasked spies, the top four all related to stirring discord inside Yemen's jihad movement. [54]

Naturally, spy confessions must be treated with caution. However, these confessions accord with the reality of AQAP being severely degraded by accurate drone strikes which must have been based on inside information. In some of the early confessions, the spies appear remarkably at ease, wholly unremorseful and even proud of their prowess as they describe specific examples of drone strikes they initiated.[55] This gives the impression that some at least thought they were speaking to a trusted contact, and we do know that AQAP commissioned the documentary style videos, which are considerably better produced than the AQAP norm, from an external professional who was likely unknown to them from within the jihad movement. [56] Other confessions were clearly filmed under duress, with distressed spies demonstrably remorseful for their acts of betrayal and the deaths they had caused.[57] In all cases, the spies provide convincing details of how they were recruited and the methods they used to elicit their jihadist colleagues' locations, place trackers, photograph targets, record conversations and communicate information at speed to their handlers. On balance therefore, the testimonies may be considered largely credible.

Conclusion: Where Next for ISY?

The uptick in ISY's martyr claims since March 2018 would indicate that it has managed to replenish its ranks to a limited extent since US air strikes on its training camps in October 2017. Although its main centre of operations in Yemen is now Wilayat al-Bayda', since September 2018 it has referred to itself under the consolidated name "Wilayat al-Yemen". This change was designed to fall in line with the name consolidation adopted by ISIS for its other provinces worldwide and does not indicate a broader presence inside Yemen.

AQAP continues to be the strongest jihad group with the deepest roots in Yemen, but it now seems unlikely that ISY will blend into it given the current blood feud between them. There is, however, a certain amount of fluidity between the groups. There are indications that at least some jihadist foot soldiers in Yemen consider the al-Qa'ida and Islamic State labels less relevant, now that neither group governs territory.[58] This is either because they simply aspire to be mujahidin serving God's higher purpose and will join whichever group reaches out to them, or because their practical interests lie in joining forces with whichever group best serves the needs and ambitions of their community or tribe. In May 2017, Abu Majid al-Khabubi, an al-Qa'ida activist and occasional columnist for its *al-Masra* newspaper, complained that "some people are ready to be a soldier for any Muslim emir" and chastised "those who sympathise with Da'ish and think that differences with them could be resolved if Da'ish changed a little". He insisted that "this [attitude] fails to recognize the depth of the disagreement with such a group, or more accurately mafia".[59] His comments were enthusiastically circulated on pro-AQAP wires.

It seems from the two groups' communications that since late 2015, more foot soldiers have been heading from ISY to AQAP than in the other direction, but there are some signs that ISY may now be trying to develop a more "authentic" image within the Yemeni context. Its standard menu of combat, weaponry and executions

continues. Its latest video (at the time of writing) features a four-man execution squad, a crucifixion and two beadings as well as a ritual burning of the Yemeni flag against a backdrop of captured coalition vehicles. [60] However, alongside this, it has been making more of an attempt to evoke a sense of belonging, male bonding and shared identity in pursuit of a higher purpose through the dissemination of idealized lifestyle images from the frontlines. This is presumably born of the need to attract new recruits. Since ISY's 'retreat' to al-Bayda', it has issued more photosets and videos of stylized shared moments in frontline jihadi life, such as breaking fast during Ramadan, reciting Qur'an, watching ISIS films and cleaning weapons together. [61] This would attract disillusioned or displaced young men from around war-torn Yemen. Images of food preparation and group meals are particularly dominant in 2018,[62] something which doubtless holds strong appeal in a country where over 20 million people, two thirds of the population, are reported to be severely food insecure.[63] One recent video even included footage of apparent ISY members performing traditional tribal dancing and sung poetry in a style that is normally more reminiscent of AQAP.[64] This supports the notion outlined above that ISY may have succeeded in aligning with some, albeit limited, tribal interests in al-Bayda'.

These findings highlight several important points about the dynamics of jihadi groups that are often overlooked. They are learning organisations that react, morph and interpret their aims according to conditions on the ground, apparently without compromising the supra-historical and non-negotiable nature of their global mission. Hence they latch onto local concerns and make them their own. This results in a constant tug of war between the local and the global. Amongst other factors, the absence of strong, inspirational and effective leadership (whether owing to drone strikes, battlefield deaths, external intervention or the simple impossibility of communicating safely) can mean the local starts to eclipse the global, leading to splintering and fragmentation. Global al-Qa'ida leader Ayman al-Zawahiri is acutely aware of this and has been at pains in recent addresses to call for brotherly solidarity and to stress that local fighters on myriad battlefronts must view themselves first and foremost as part of a single unifying jihad.[65] In his 9/11 anniversary speech in 2018, Zawahiri even enjoins al-Qa'ida groups not to fight Islamic State, despite the latter declaring them apostates.[66] Nevertheless, in Yemen as elsewhere,[67] ISY and AQAP are becoming increasingly decentralized, both from their respective international cores and as coherent domestic groups.

This does not mean the threat is disappearing. Indeed, the prominent jihadist strategist Abu Mus'ab al-Suri has long advocated a more decentralized approach. [68] Nor does it mean that the global can't win out again when conditions change. In the short term, internecine fighting inside Yemen's jihad and relentless counter-terrorism operations will likely weaken both groups. In the long-term, however, the prospects for jihad in Yemen look more promising as the civil war drags on and the state continues to unravel. While Yemen has not proven a receptive host to foreign terrorist fighters, as outlined above, all the key ingredients for jihadi militancy to resurge lie inside the Yemeni tinder box itself. These include a fragmenting state, the proliferation of armed militias attached to old north-south fault-lines, external proxies building resentment through human rights violations, an entire generation of dispossessed youth that has known only war for the past four years, over two million children out of school, growing sectarianism, a looming water crisis, millions displaced and millions more on the brink of starvation.

Perversely, it may be that ISY will become more of a risk if and when a peace deal is finally brokered in the Yemen war. This is because any peace deal will inevitably result in disillusioned pockets of the population, especially in the south where historical conflicts, which are unlikely to be addressed in any peace deal, continue to simmer. This presents an opportunity for both ISY and AQAP to co-opt local grievances and reframe them within their broader narratives of global jihad.

About the Author: Elisabeth Kendall is Senior Research Fellow in Arabic and Islamic Studies at Pembroke College, University of Oxford.

Notes

- [1] The endemic nature of corruption in Yemen is explained in detail in Sarah Phillips, *Yemen and the politics of permanent crisis* (London: Routledge, 2011). See in particular chapter 3, "The informal rules of the game". See also April Longley-Alley, "The rules of the game: Unpacking patronage politics in Yemen", *Middle East Journal* 64:3 (2010): 385-409.
- [2] See Isa Blumi, *Chaos in Yemen: Societal collapse and the new authoritarianism* (London: Routledge, 2010) and Stephen W. Day, *Regionalism and rebellion in Yemen: A troubled national union* (New York: Cambridge University Press, 2012).
- [3] For a brief summary of the roots and evolution of militant jihad in Yemen, see Elisabeth Kendall, "Contemporary jihadi militancy in Yemen: How is the threat evolving?", Middle East Institute Policy Paper 2018-7 (July 2018), pp. 2-4. https://www.mei.edu/publications/how-jihadi-militancy-yemen-evolving. More in-depth accounts of the history of jihad in Yemen can be found in Gregory Johnsen, Yemen, the last refuge: Yemen, al-Qaeda, and America's war in Arabia (New York: Norten, 2012); Christian Hellmich, Al-Qaeda: From global network to local franchise (London and New York: Zed Books, 2011), particularly chapters 5 and 6; Laurent Bonnefoy," Jihadi violence in Yemen: Dealing with local, regional and international contingencies", pp. 243-58 in Jeevan Deol and Zaheer Azmi (eds.), Contextualising jihadi thought (London: Hurst, 2012). On dangers of oversimplifying the identification of jihadists, the rampant difficulties of quantifying the movement(s), and the tendency to exaggerate the threat, see chapter 3 of Laurent Bonnefoy, Yemen and the world: Beyond insecurity (London: Hurst, 2018).
- [4] A plethora of problems continued to face Yemen in the fragile aftermath of its 2011 uprising. Many of these are brought out in Helen Lackner (ed.), *Why Yemen matters: A society in transition* (London: Saqi, 2014). See in particular chapters 1 and 5 by Sheila Carapico and Laurent Bonnefoy respectively.
- [5] The road from Yemen's uprising and transition period to war is explained in chapter one of Helen Lackner, *Yemen in crisis: Autocracy, neo-liberalism and the disintegration of a state* (London: Saqi, 2017). See also Stacey Philbrick Yadav, "The 'Yemen Model' as a failure of political imagination", *International Journal of Middle East Studies* 47 (2015): 144-7.
- [6] Al-Naba' 133 (24 May 2018): 9.
- [7] Note that AQAP has shown no such qualms regarding Houthi civilians. For example, in 2011 it sent three suicide bombers to blow themselves up among crowds of Houthi civilians, including a market place. *Madad* 7 (December 2011): 1.
- [8] Dramatic footage of the Mukalla jailbreak, featuring Batarfi running through the forecourt and Ibrahim al-Abyani sliding down a drainpipe, surfaced in the AQAP video, "Hadm al-Jasusiyya 1", October 2018.
- [9] See Elisabeth Kendall, "Al-Qaeda and Islamic State in Yemen: A battle for local audiences", in Simon Staffell and Akil Awan (eds.), *Jihadism transformed* (London: Hurst, 2016), 89-110.
- [10] ISY video, "Junud al-khilafa fi ard al-Yemen", April 2015.
- [11] ISY video, "al-Khayrat", May 2018.
- [12] In a list of 13 further martyrs released by ISY on 1 August 2018, one was Omani and one Kuwaiti but there were still no westerners listed.
- [13] Erlend Ofte Arntsen, "Yemen's al-Qaida: Entered agreement with tribal leaders not to attack the west", VG, 16 April 2017.
- [14] Gregory Johnsen, Yemen, the last refuge: Yemen, al-Qaeda, and America's war in Arabia (New York: Norten, 2012), Kindle loc. 840.
- [15] A young Muslim man from San Diego has written about Anwar al-Awlaqi as "a role model for all students of knowledge". He recounts how, inspired by al-Awlaqi, he too moved from the United States to Yemen in the mid-2000s "to seek knowledge by the will of Allah", eventually moving on to Somalia to fulfil his dream of jihad. "Sheikh Anwar al-Awlaki [sic.] and Me", *Gaidi Mtaani* 8 (January 2017): 12-18. Awlaqi's online sermons and English language *Inspire* magazine (launched 2010) doubtless raised the profile of Yemen among would-be jihadists in the West.
- [16] Morten Storm, with Tim Lister and Paul Cruickshank, *Agent Storm: My life inside Al Qaeda* (London: Penguin, 2014). In this autobiography, Storm writes that there were "plenty of foreign students" studying alongside him in the Salafi seminary he attended in Dammaj in the late 1990s on his road to radicalization (p. 43).
- [17] MENAS, "Major offensive against AQAP kills 'hundreds' of terrorists', Yemen Focus 5:5 (May 2014): 2.
- [18] Bill Roggio and Thomas Joscelyn, "Divisions emerge within the Islamic State's Yemen 'province", *The Long War Journal*, 15 December 2015.
- [19] A comprehensive list of the signatories and an English translation of the letters is provided in Aymenn Jawad al-Tamimi, "Dissent in the Islamic State's Yemen affiliates: Documents, translation & analysis", 29 February 2016. http://www.aymennjawad.org/2016/02/dissent-in-the-islamic-state-yemen-affiliates

- [20] Laments appeared, for example, on Uways al-Khilafa and Sabil al-Muwahhidin Telegram channels, 20 October 2017.
- [21] Khunduq al-Haqq Telegram channel, 1 November 2017.
- [22] US Central Command, "US forces conduct strike against ISIS training camps in Yemen", 16 October 2017. http://www.centcom.mil/MEDIA/PRESS-RELEASES/Press-Release-View/Article/1344652/us-forces-conduct-strike-against-isis-training-camps-in-yemen/
- [23] ISY photoset (distributed as video), "Mu'askar al-Shaykh Abi Muhammad al-'Adnani: Takhrij daf'at al-Shaykh Abi Bilal al-Harbi", 9 October 2017.
- [24] "Inhiyar Jama'at al-Baghdadi, khawarij al-'asr, fi Qayfa", Min Sama' Shabwa Telegram channel, 7 October 2018.
- [25] Al-Sarim al-Battar, "Shahada li-ahad al-munshaqqin 'an far' Tanzim al-Dawla fi al-Yemen", al-Badr Media, 24 July 2018.
- [26] Al-Naba' 133 (24 May 2018): 9.
- [27] "Khilafat al-awham wa-sirk al-li'am", Shakhuf Telegram channel, 31 December 2018.
- [28] Abu Karam's eulogy mentions that he participated in a battle in Hammat Liqah. ISY battled in Hamat Liqah several times from February 2017 onwards, but the last battle prior to Abu Karam's death was on 21 August 2017. Additionally, an ISY photoset from Hadramawt "Tanzif al-silah wa-idamatu-hu" dated 25 April 2017 would indicate that ISY had not yet fully decamped from Hadramawt by late April. Therefore the shift of ISY's Hadramawt branch can reasonably be held to have occurred at some point between late April and late August 2018.
- [29] ISY photoset "Mu'askar al-Shaykh Abi Muhammad al-'Adnani", 4 December 2016.
- [30] ISY photoset "Mu'askar al-Shaykh Muhammad al-Firqan", 30 March 2017; "Mu'askar al-Shaykh Abi Muhammad al-Firqan", *al-Naba'* 76 (13 April 2017): 15.
- [31] ISY photoset "Dawrat al-qannasa li-Junud al-Khilafa fi Qayfa", 5 June 2017.
- [32] Al-Naba' 77 (20 April 2017): 14.
- [33] "Junud al-Khilafa yasudduna akbar hujum li-l-Hutha 'ala mawaqi'i-him fi mintaqat Qayfa", al-Naba' 51 (20 October 2016): 3.
- [34] "Ansar al-Shari'a yafdahun iddi'a' Jama'at al-Baghdadi fi ma'arik Qayfa", al-Masra 28 (2 November 2016): 7.
- [35] Husam al-Umawi Telegram channel, 21 May 2016.
- [36] Husam al-Umawi Telegram channel, 14 April 2017. The main AQAP supporters channel on Telegram similarly estimated that ISY fighters in Qayfa did not exceed 80 by April 2017.
- [37] The US claimed that the strike had "killed dozens of ISIS members ..., disrupting the organization's attempt to train new fighters". US Central Command, "US forces conduct strike against ISIS training camps in Yemen", 16 October 2017. http://www.centcom.mil/MEDIA/PRESS-RELEASES/Press-Release-View/Article/1344652/us-forces-conduct-strike-against-isis-training-camps-in-yemen/
- [38] *Al-Naba'* 133 (24 May 2018): 9.
- [39] A good example is "Haqq al-'ada 2", 12 September 2018.
- [40] Sabil al-Muwahhadin and Abu al-Yaman al-Yamani Telegram channels, 2 November 2018.
- [41] This complex relationship is explained well by Nadwa al-Dawsari in "Foe not friend: Yemeni tribes and al-Qaeda in the Arabian Peninsula", POMED Paper, 2018. http://pomed.org/pomed-publications/foe-not-friend-yemens-tribes-and-aqap. See also Marieke Brandt, "The global and the local: Al-Qaeda and Yemen's tribes", pp. 105-30 in Virginie Collombier and Olivier Roy (eds.), *Tribes and global jihadism* (London: Hurst, 2017).
- [42] ISY video "Anasir min Tanzim "Qa'idat al-Yaman" asara-hum muqatilu al-Dawla al-Islamiyya fi Qayfa shimal gharbi al-Bayda", 15 July 2018.
- [43] Muslih al-Muhajir, "Haqiqat ma hasala fi ard Qayfa bayna Khawarij al-Baghdadi wa-Ansar al-Shari'a", al-Badr Media, 27 July 2018.
- [44] Murabit min Hadramawt Telegram channel, 16 July 2018.
- [45] ISY video "Wa-al-badi' azlam", 1 August 2018.
- [46] ISY video "Unsur min Qa'idat al-Yemen yandammu li-muqatili al-Dawla al-Islamiyya fi Qayfa shimal gharbi al-Bayda", 6 August 2018.

- [47] AQAP video, "Shahadat wa-i'tirafat li-asra min Tanzim al-Dawla", 9 August 2018.
- [48] 'Ashiq al-Rusud Telegram channel appears to have been the original source of distribution, 13 November 2018.
- [49] Al-Sarim al-Battar, "Shahada li-ahad al-munshaqqin 'an far' Tanzim al-Dawla fi al-Yaman", al-Badr Media, 24 July 2018.
- [50] "Liqa' suhufi ma' al-Shaykh Khalid bin 'Umar Batarfi", al-Malahim Media, 20 June 2018.
- [51] Testimony of Abu 'Amir al-Makki, AQAP introductory video for series "Hadm al-jasusiyya", August 2018.
- [52] AQAP video, "Shahadat wa-i'tirafat li-asra min Tanzim al-Dawla", 9 August 2018.
- [53] AQAP video "Hadm al-jasusiyya 1", October 2018.
- [54] AQAP infographic "Mahamm al-jawasis wa-anwa'u-hum wa-sifatu-hum wa-amakin tajnidi-him", al-Badr Media, 7 November 2018.
- [55] AQAP video "Asrar wa-akhtar wa-rahil akhyar", December 2017 (released 17 January 2018)
- [56] AQAP introductory video for series "Hadm al-jasusiyya", August 2018. In the final three minutes, the documentary maker explains how he was approached by AQAP. Also of interest is his claim (at 31 minutes into the video) to have had access to some of the spy investigation files as well as the files of former spies within the Saudi intelligence service.
- [57] AQAP video "Hadm al-jasusiyya 1", October 2018.
- [58] For a discussion of recent fragmentation and decentralization in Yemen's jihad, see Elisabeth Kendall, "Contemporary jihadi militancy in Yemen: How is the threat evolving?", Middle East Institute Policy Paper 2018-7 (July 2018), pp. 15-18.
- [59] Abu Majid al-Khabubi Telegram channel, 31 May 2017.
- [60] ISY video "Unqudhu anfusa-kum", 31 December 2018.
- [61] Particularly strong depictions of group belonging can be found in ISY photosets from 11 June 2017, 2 Sept 2017, 1 Oct 2017, 14 May 2018 and ISY video "Id al-Kumah", 5 Sept 2017.
- [62] For example, photosets from 9 May 2018, 13 June 2018, 20 August 2018 and ISY video "al-Khayrat", 17 May 2018.
- [63] World Food Programme, Yemen Emergency Dashboard, December 2018. https://docs.wfp.org/api/documents/fa4a7ff5c1c64e0ca1b5a2f89dba7de2/download/?ga=2.226061082.1427846426.1547303472-334034299.1547303472
- [64] ISY video "Ayyam shukr wa-dhikr", 3 September 2018.
- [65] Zawahiri's strongest exhortation for unity comes in his video address "Umma wahida fi harb wahida 'ala jabahat muta'addida", 9 June 2017. Other examples can be found in his video addresses "al-Sham lan tarka' illa li-(Al)llah", 23 April 2017; "Ya akhwanu-na fi al-Sham, aslahu dhat bayna-kum", 20 February 2018; "Sharq Ifriqiyya Thughar al-Islam al-Janubi", 18 March 2018; "Tul Abib ayd-an ard al-Muslimin", 13 May 2018;
- [66] Al-Qa'ida video "Kayfa nuwajih Amrika", 11 September 2018.
- [67] This splintering has perhaps been most public in Syria. See Charles Lister, "How al-Qa'ida lost control of its Syrian affiliate: The inside story", *CTC Sentinel* 11: 2 (February 2018).
- [68] See Brynjar Lia, Architect of global jihad: The life of al-Qa'ida strategist Abu Mus'ab al-Suri (London: Hurst, 2007). Chapter ten provides translated excerpts from al-Suri's The military theory of the global Islamic resistance call (December 2004/January 2005).

The Islamic State's Provinces on the Peripheries: Juxtaposing the Pledges from Boko Haram in Nigeria and Abu Sayyaf and Maute Group in the Philippines

By Jacob Zenn

Abstract

Despite the loss of territories in Syria and Iraq, the Islamic State's "provinces" have all remained loyal to the organization's "core" and its Caliph, Abu Bakr al-Baghdadi. Boko Haram's successor, the Islamic State in West Africa Province (ISWAP), and the jihadists in the Philippines in the Maute Group and Abu Sayyaf, which were labeled "East Asia", have both continued coordinating with the Islamic State. ISWAP now not only fields Caucasian foreign fighter commanders but also receives directives from the Islamic State on matters ranging from negotiations to attack plans while the jihadists in the Philippines would not have engaged in the short-lived conquest of Marawi if not for them taking into account the demands of the Islamic State "core". Prior to merging with the Islamic State the jihadists in Nigeria and the Philippines restructured their internal organization and proved they could hold territory, which indicated they could meet the conditions the "core" required of them to be designated as provinces. By juxtaposing the relationship of the Islamic State "core" to the jihadists on the peripheries in Nigeria and the Philippines this article demonstrates the importance of the provinces for the Islamic State project and the different ways jihadists in the provinces have interacted with the "core".

Keywords: Boko Haram, Islamic State, Mergers, Philippines, Abu Sayyaf, Maute, ISWAP

Introduction

Since Abu Bakr al-Baghdadi's declaration of a Caliphate in 2014, the Islamic State has become a terrorism phenomenon for three main reasons. First, the group administered large swathes of territory in Syria and Iraq in the heartland of the Middle East. Second, the group directed massive terrorist attacks in Europe and at least inspired other attacks in countries ranging from the United States to Russia to Indonesia, while also attracting tens of thousands of foreign fighters from around the world to the battlefields of Syria and Iraq. And, third, the group won pledges of allegiance from jihadist groups around the world and incorporated them into its organization as "provinces".

These provinces have been vital to the Islamic State project, and the Islamic State will no sooner abandon the provinces than the provinces will abandon the Islamic State "core" despite the struggles it faces in holding its territory in Syria and Iraq. The provinces are also integral to understanding why the Islamic State became a terrorism phenomenon: the perception that the Islamic State was a global Caliphate with provinces around the world contributed to the surge of thousands of foreign fighters joining the group in Syria and Iraq after 2014. These foreign fighters, in turn, contributed to the group's conquests of territory in Syria and Iraq and the execution of external operations in Europe and elsewhere around the world. The provinces' continued loyalty to the Islamic State has also helped the Islamic State maintain credibility even after the loss of territory in Syria and Iraq. As a counterfactual, had the provinces abandoned the Islamic State in 2018, it may have dealt a knockout blow to the organization's legitimacy and proven it was truly a "paper state".[1]

On its peripheries, the Islamic State's westernmost province is in Nigeria and its easternmost province is in the Philippines. The jihadist groups in those two countries and in Libya, Egypt ("Sinai") and Afghanistan ("Khorasan") are the most active of the Islamic State's provinces outside of Syria and Iraq. In Nigeria, most "Boko Haram"[2] members and some Ansaru[3] members merged to become the Islamic State in West Africa Province, or "ISWAP", in 2015. And in the Philippines, Abu Sayyaf[4] and several other jihadist factions, including the Maute Group, merged and were labeled by the Islamic State as "East Asia" in a list of its provinces in its media in 2017, including the al-Bayan daily bulletin. However, whether this was a designation as a

"province" according to the leadership of the Islamic State is unsubstantiated. In contrast, for example, al-Baghdadi's spokesman himself, Abu Muhammed al-Adnani, explicitly stated ISWAP was a province in March 2015.[5]

ISWAP and the jihadists in the Philippines, moreover, were unique compared to the provinces in Libya, Sinai, and Khorasan because they had less physical interaction with the Islamic State fighters in Syria and Iraq. Nevertheless, even in the case of ISWAP despite that the communication with the "core" was conducted mostly virtually, there was a still an impact on the province. This article will therefore demonstrate how the Islamic State has functioned and presumably will continue to function even if it loses all of its territory in Syria and Iraq and needs to rely on virtual communication with its provinces and an increasingly dispersed "core".

The merging and uniting of jihadist groups and factions within one country, such as Nigeria, or one region, such as Southeast Asia, and tamkin (territorial authority) have been the Islamic State's two main requirements for groups to gain recognition as a province. This, in turn, has meant the jihadists in Nigeria and the Philippines have altered their internal organizational structure and strategic decision-making to meet the demands of the Islamic State. For example, as this article will demonstrate, the jihadists in Nigeria united in 2015 for the sake of becoming a province, although they had already obtained tamkin before then. Similarly, the jihadists in the Philippines both united and obtained short-lived tamkin in Marawi to prove themselves worthy of becoming a province in 2017.

This article proceeds with an examination of the literature on the Islamic State in Nigeria and the Philippines and an explanation of how this article provides distinct analytical and methodological contributions to the field. The article then follows with an analysis and comparison of the pledges to al-Baghdadi from the jihadists in both countries. An assessment of whether the relationship benefitted more the Islamic State "core" in Syria and Iraq or the groups on the peripheries in Nigeria and the Philippines is also conducted. Lastly, counterterrorism implications are considered in the conclusion.

Literature and Methodologies Related to the Islamic State in Nigeria and the Philippines

Just as there is debate over whether local or international forces were more influential in creating "the Boko Haram phenomenon" in Nigeria, there is also debate over the significance of Boko Haram's merger with the Islamic State to become ISWAP in March 2015.[6] The main proponents of the school that views Boko Haram as a local phenomenon, who tend to be writing at Western-based institutions, have considered Boko Haram's relationship to the Islamic State to be superficial. The distinguished professor at Oxford, Abdul Raufu Mustapha, for example, expressed agreement with Marc-Antoine Pérouse de Montclos and argued it was a "correct reading of the evidence" to "caution against the tendency to view Boko Haram as part of a wider global network of Islamist terrorism."[7] While Mustapha's claim was in 2014, that perception still holds today. A 274-page book published by the French Agency for Development in 2018 and edited by Pérouse de Montclos titled "Crisis and Development: Boko Haram and the Lake Chad Region", for example, describes Boko Haram's "links" with al-Qaeda and the Islamic State as "alleged" and conducts no further strategic, military, media or funding assessments on those relationships.[8] Similarly, Kyari Muhammed argued in a 2018 book chapter on Boko Haram's origins for "The Oxford Handbook of Nigerian Politics", which was edited by Carl LeVan and Patrick Ukata, that Boko Haram's "links to international jihadist networks" are "alleged" and that Zenn was "obsessed" with "mining the Internet for snippets of information to link Boko Haram to international jihadist networks", as if physical documents or field interviews with ISWAP leaders or mediators who communicate with them would reveal that Boko Haram was, in fact, not "linked" to the Islamic State currently or al-Qaeda or al-Qaeda in the Islamic Maghreb (AQIM) previously.[9] Kyari Muhammed managed to discuss Boko Haram's entire history from its origins until April 2015 without mentioning AQIM (or its predecessors) one time, including when explaining the emergence of Ansaru; this is remarkable even for those who believe local factors have played a more significant role than international factors in Boko Haram's evolution. In general, therefore, those who adopt the local perspective tend not to place much stock in the idea that Boko Haram is "linked" to

the Islamic State, let alone having restructured its internal organization, increased its military capabilities or receive influenced in other ways as a result of the pledge.

In contrast, there are other scholars, such as Andrea Brigaglia and Alessio Iocchi, who argued in a 2018 report for the Capetown, South Africa-based Centre for Contemporary Islam that "international connections ... should be central to any attempt to understand the evolution of the [Boko Haram] phenomenon." Moreover, according to Brigaglia, the "failure to appreciate the depth of the participation of Nigerian actors into quintessentially global Jihadi networks reinforces the idea of an 'African Islam' essentially isolated from or impermeable to global influences."[10] The extent of Nigerian Muslims' international interactions, including Sufi leaders who received funding from Libya and Iran to counter Saudi and Kuwaiti support to Salafis in the 1980s, are well documented in the academic literature.[11] However, it was through "religious elites" in the Salafi community that in the 1990s the "Jihadist tumour" entered Nigeria. Brigaglia acknowledges those clerics have for more than a decade "genuinely, but ineffectively tried to 'slice off' the Jihadist tumour" they contributed to create in Nigeria. While debate on the local and international dimensions of the "Boko Haram phenomenon" should be encouraged and occur in an ethical and constructive way, the "minimizing attitude" of certain other members of the academic community towards "documenting the global dimension of the Boko Haram phenomenon" has "exonerated" those religious elites who have "muddled the waters" about the group's origins.[12] This, in turn, "does not serve the interests of an oppressed community"—namely marginalized groups that have been targeted and victimized by jihadist groups such as ISWAP that hold takfiri theologies and have persisted in "undermining the body of the Global South." [13]

In interpreting a key primary source document written by ISWAP leader Abu Mus'ab al-Barnawi in context of prior analyses of jihadism in Nigeria, Brigaglia further argued that Nigeria has both "been a front of Global Jihad and of the Global War on Terror for quite some time, probably since the early 2000s." [14] Although this author initially argued in a 2012 Occasional Paper on Boko Haram that "a partnership between al-Qaeda and Nigerian militants was never forged in the 2000s", in view of other recent work by scholars in Sokoto State, Nigeria, such as Tijjani Talba Kafa and Abdulwahab Habib, it is now this author's contention that Nigeria became "a front of Global Jihad" not in the early 2000s, let alone the mid-2000s when Alexander Thurston argues Muhammed Yusuf "tried to smuggle in jihadist thought" into Nigeria, but rather the mid-1990s.[15] That period is when the Boko Haram founder, Muhammed Ali, was sent by a group of Salafi clerics to meet with Usama bin Laden's inner circle in Khartoum, Sudan and the first Algerian Armed Islamic Group (GIA) operatives began operating in Nigeria with the consent of certain "religious elites".[16] While this author argued in a 2018 article that the support from al-Qaeda and AQIM's predecessors, such as the GIA, did have a "significant impact" on the early Boko Haram, this author would still caution that Carl LeVan's interpretation of the early al-Qaeda and GIA relationship with the Nigerian jihadists as indicative of Boko Haram being "born of a global jihadist conspiracy" unnecessarily exaggerates their interactions; the relationship was instead predicated mostly on "start-up" funding and training to the Nigerian jihadists of up to \$3 million from Bin Laden or his inner circle and up to several dozen Nigerians trained by the GIA in the Sahel.[17]

Since the 1990s, there have been two "accelerations" in al-Qaeda support to Boko Haram: after the destruction in late 2003 of the "Kanama camp" that Muhammed Ali founded in 2002; and after the extrajudicial killing of Muhammed Ali's successor, Muhammed Yusuf, and up to 800 of his followers in 2009.[18] In both those instances, Boko Haram members retreated to the Sahel and received harbor and training from AQIM's predecessor, the Salafi Group for Preaching and Combat (GSPC), and AQIM, respectively (the GIA was the predecessor of the GSPC). This article, however, focuses only on the ways Nigeria has continued as a "front of Global Jihad" since Boko Haram's pledge of loyalty to the Islamic State in 2015. In this regard, the article relies on the author's field interviews in Borno State, Nigeria in 2018 and observations of attack trends and internal primary sources from ISWAP.

The article finds the Islamic State has had an impact on ISWAP's internal organization, military tactics, media outputs, and negotiation positions, which advances the position that "international connections"—specifically with the Islamic State—have mattered to ISWAP. The article therefore contributes a different perspective than an emerging conventional wisdom among some scholars who do recognize at least some "links" exist; whereas

they suggest ISWAP's relationship with the Islamic State is "primarily rhetorical", this article contends that although messaging is important there are also other forms of collaboration and influence that warrant analysis and that may be more important than messaging.[19] Nevertheless, this article will also adopt the approach of Virginia Comolli, who argues "there is a connection" between Boko Haram and the Islamic State but that "one should... acknowledge differences remain."[20] This article will therefore also highlight examples of ISWAP seeming to defy Islamic State directives and influence in the conclusion.

Much of the disagreement over the Islamic State and ISWAP relates to sources and methods. Although neither the "local" nor "internationalist" school is uniform, the former tends to not use any of the key primary sources about Boko Haram or ISWAP, including eulogies, memoirs, or histories written by ISWAP or AQIM leaders about the jihad in Nigeria, letters by or about Nigerian jihadists that were found in Usama bin Laden's compound, or leaked audio recordings from the ISWAP shura. For example, none of the key primary sources that deal with Boko Haram's origins in the years before 9/11 or its founding in 2002 or from the mission in 2003 of the first al-Qaeda operative who was sent from Pakistan to Nigeria to meet Boko Haram and GSPC leaders in Nigeria were mentioned or cited in Kyari Muhammed's 2018 book chapter specifically on Boko Haram's origins.[21] He was also among the five academics who questioned the legitimacy of "jihadist primary sources" in 2018 by equating them with "Nazi sources" without distinguishing between internal documents (whether captured or released by the group), which are generally more reliable, and speeches or articles for the public, which are generally more biased when assessing a group's strategy, organizational structure, military capabilities, alliances, and history but not necessarily false. One of the problems with avoiding altogether or stigmatizing primary sources is that it makes it more difficult for academics to "update" their analysis once new information from the past or especially the present emerges, which is why Kyari Muhammed's 2014 book chapter on Boko Haram in a Pérouse de Montclos-edited volume was virtually the same as his 2018 book chapter.[22]

Alexander Thurston suggested more recently in 2019 that a "certain kind of approach" to primary sources could be a form of "terrorology" that "often implicitly de-prioritizes other sources", such as "what ordinary people say, what journalists say, what the counter-sources say, etc." [23] However, the risk of Thurston's recommended sources when assessing the relationship of the Islamic State to its provinces, which is the focus of this article and the conference for which it was written, is that "ordinary people", including victims of terrorism, and "journalists" also have biases and the tendency to exaggerate. Moreover, ordinary people and most journalists are unlikely to be familiar with the leadership-level discussions and agreements between the Islamic State and ISWAP. In fact, all sources should be recognized for having advantages and drawbacks and the need to be scrutinized in terms of "source criticism" and "counter-sources."

There is no need to single out primary sources for scrutiny or assign them subjective and academically imprecise labels, such as "terrorology", that can be applied with a broad-brush to discredit or create doubt about legitimate sources, protect orthodoxy, including shielding vulnerabilities in one's own analysis from critique, and undermine the truth-seeking objective of the academic enterprise. [24] One might, however, acknowledge Thurston's proper call for more "source criticism" of primary sources—but still without employing academically imprecise terms such as "terrorology"—and argue there should also be more "source criticism" of interviews of jihadists and other secondary literature as well. [25] An Oxford University Press book on Boko Haram in 2018, for example, perpetuated the still unsubstantiated, indefensible and harmful claim that first entered the academic discourse in 2012 that "Christians masquerade as Boko Haram while attacking other Christian congregations." [26] Unless primary sources are proven to be a specific problem in academic discourse, which is difficult to claim especially in light of the aforementioned calumny about Christians and Boko Haram that has existed now for five years in secondary literature, then it would be worth scholars evaluating all sources with a critical eye and not having a "minimizing attitude" towards any of them in particular.

Certain primary sources, such as audios obtained from the shura of ISWAP, which this author received during fieldwork in Borno State, reveal the types of orders that the Islamic State has provided to ISWAP. These orders, in turn, have affected who ISWAP has killed—and intends to kill—both in internal purges within the group and among the civilian population. These sources are therefore highly relevant from a humanitarian perspective. However, they may not be ideal for understanding certain humanitarian issues, such as the needs of displaced

civilians seeking access to healthcare, shelter, or schooling for which accounts of "ordinary people" would be more reliable. Scholars must determine the appropriateness and reliability of sources depending on context, circumstance and the focus of study. For the purposes of the theme of this article interviews with mediators who have personally dealt with ISWAP's leadership and internal audios from ISWAP's leadership are privileged over interviews with "ordinary people" who do not have access to knowledge about ISWAP's dealings with the Islamic State "core". The data from these sources are naturally considered and triangulated alongside attack data sets, secondary literature and other related sources.

In contrast to the debate on ISWAP and the Islamic State, analyses of jihadism in the Philippines, including by Maria Ressa of the Manila-based Rappler and Rohan Gunaratna of Nanyang Technology University in Singapore, tend to be in agreement that the Islamic State communicated with the jihadists in the Philippines and provided some financing and strategic advising to them before Islamic State media mentioned "East Asia" among its provinces.[27] In that regard, this article seeks to take advantage of the distance in time since the major battle in Marawi in 2017 to offer a more comprehensive and detailed analysis of the public statements and communications of the jihadist factions in the Philippines and the Islamic State both before and after that battle than has previously existed. It is hoped this will generate a clearer picture of how the factions united and why they decided to attempt to acquire tamkin in Marawi to meet the conditions that the Islamic State demands of prospective provinces. Unlike the case of ISWAP where there are several internal primary source documents that have emerged from the group's leadership, there have been fewer, if any, internal discourses from the jihadist leaders in the Philippines that have become publicly available. Therefore, this article assesses the activities of the jihadists in the Philippines vis-à-vis the Islamic State primarily by interpreting attack patterns and public messaging.

More broadly, it is hoped this article provides valuable insights for scholars of the Islamic State "core", who may have a tendency to focus on the organization in its "heartland" in the Middle East but overlook the organization's activities in the provinces and how the "core" interacts continuously with the provinces and vice-versa. This, in turn, will contribute to scholars of the "core" acquiring a greater understanding of not only the "core" itself, but also the Islamic State as a complex organization with global reach.

The Case of the Islamic State and Nigeria

Behind-the-Scenes of ISWAP's Pledge to the Islamic State

ISWAP formed in March 2015 when Boko Haram leader Abu Bakar Shekau pledged allegiance (baya') to Abu Bakr al-Baghdadi and al-Baghdadi's spokesman, Abu Muhammed al-Adnani, accepted it in a speech five days later. Although Shekau acknowledged that al-Baghdadi was a legitimate Caliph, he originally did not want to make the pledge. Shekau suspected (rightly, as it turned out) that his commanders would exploit the pledge and use the Islamic State's authority to depose him from leadership. Considering Abu Mus'ab al-Barnawi's description of group's commanders as welcoming the emergence of the Islamic State because they hoped it would lead Shekau to moderate his violence, Shekau must have also known that if he did not make the pledge he could face an internal rebellion or risk sub-commanders making the pledge without him, which they threatened to do.[28]

One of the reasons why Shekau was beholden to other commanders of the group when it came to the issue of the pledge was that these commanders were in communication with Boko Haram's North Africa-based Islamic State intermediaries by both written correspondences and text messages (including from prisons in Nigeria).[29] These intermediaries, in turn, managed the relationship with the Islamic State "core" in Syria and Iraq. There is no evidence Shekau or his top commanders, such as Man Chari, or spokesman, Abu Zinnira, communicated with the Islamic State directly; rather Man Chari and Shekau both indicated after the August 2016 demotion of Shekau from ISWAP leadership that Abu Mus'ab al-Barnawi had been controlling the group's communications with the Islamic State.[30]

These Islamic State intermediaries, however, were so enamored of Shekau that it is possible—even probable—

that the Islamic State would not have accepted the pledge to al-Baghdadi from anyone in Boko Haram but Shekau. Adding to the irony, the Boko Haram commanders who were communicating with those North African Islamic State intermediaries, such as Abu Mus'ab al-Barnawi, were repulsed by Shekau's brutality in territories the group conquered in northeastern Nigeria starting in 2013.[31] These commanders nevertheless seem to have hidden the extent of their repulsion of Shekau from the North African Islamic State intermediaries because the semblance of opposition to Shekau could have jeopardized their ability to become a province.[32] They did, however, imply to the Islamic State that there were internal matters that could delay Shekau's pledge and that the Islamic State should be patient about determining when to announce the new province. In a best case scenario, which later occurred in August 2016, these commanders hoped the Islamic State could remove Shekau from the group's leadership.[33] In this sense the Boko Haram pledge to the Islamic State was done out of genuine belief in al-Baghdadi as Caliph but it also was opportunistic and the result of intra-group politicking.

Islamic State Impact on ISWAP Tactics

After holding a shura in February 2015, Boko Haram finally united and Shekau made the pledge to al-Baghdadi on March 7, 2015.[34] The most visible immediate impact of the Islamic State on the new ISWAP was the Islamic State's incorporation of ISWAP into its global media apparatus. The Islamic State provided ISWAP with media equipment for that purpose.[35] However, there are only reports of small financial transfers through Western Union from the Islamic State to Ansaru militants who traveled to Libya and were presumably among the Ansaru members who Abu Mus'ab al-Barnawi later reported in his book joined ISWAP.[36]

The pledge also seemed to have an impact on ISWAP targeting. ISWAP, for example, struck N'djamena, Chad with suicide attacks claimed by the Islamic State with martyrdom photos for the attackers for the first time and increased its attacks in Niger and Cameroon in the weeks after the pledge.[37] This coincided with an ISWAP media effort to focus on its holding of territory in Nigeria and present its broader pan-West African credentials, especially highlighting attacks in Niger, Cameroon and Chad.[38] At the time in 2015 several Islamic State supporters from Senegal, who were part of the same social networks as Senegalese Islamic State members in Libya, also joined the group in Nigeria and met with Shekau, received money from him, and then returned to Senegal where they were arrested.[39]

It is probable that the Islamic State also provided some tactical advice to Boko Haram. This was exemplified in ISWAP rocket-making photos in 2015, which closely resembled the rockets the Islamic State made in one of its own videos from "al-Fallujah Province" in Iraq.[40] That "al-Fallujah Province" video was also found on the cell phone of an ISWAP member who was captured in Cameroon in 2015, suggesting ISWAP may have learned rocket-making in part from the video itself.[41] Nevertheless, such rocket-making advising was not decisive for ISWAP; the group had already conquered territory with the weapons, funding and training it had received before the pledge, including from AQIM in the 2009 to 2011 period.[42] Therefore, it did not need, but still may have benefitted from, these rockets to succeed on the battlefield.

Another form of tactical support that the Islamic State provided to Boko Haram was up-armored suicide vehicle-borne improvised explosives devices (SVBIEDs). These SVBIEDs were reported by ISWAP insiders as early as 2017 but they only appeared in an ISWAP video in 2018 and subsequent pictures released by the Nigerian army in 2019.[43] In theory ISWAP could have learned to make up-armored SVBIEDs without direct contact to the Islamic State, but if that is the case, one questions why neither Shekau's faction after he was removed from ISWAP in August 2016 nor AQIM and its Mali-based affiliate have used them and why ISWAP used them only after pledging loyalty to the Islamic State in 2015. (AQIM and its Mali-based affiliated conducted SVBIED attacks but not with the signature "up-armour" of the Islamic State).

The reported Islamic State tactical advice to ISWAP on attacking military barracks in northeastern Nigeria has also contributed to ISWAP controlling more territory than it ever has since the collapse of the Nigerian military back in 2014. Indeed, if ISWAP can communicate with the Islamic State as frequently as it does to claim attacks—21 times in December 2018 and 17 times in January 2019, for example—then it is easy to see how the Islamic State could advise ISWAP on attack plans on an almost daily basis and take advantage of its decade-plus of insurgency experience in Iraq and later Syria. [44] The biggest issue in ISWAP's communications with the

Islamic State, in fact, according to an ISWAP shura audio in Kanuri language in 2018, has simply been finding a strong enough Internet connection around Lake Chad, while the presence of a Caucasian commander with a long beard and a unique military uniform in a January 2019 ISWAP video indicates the group has been able to steer a foreign fighter all the way to Borno State for the group's major attack in Baga on December 28, 2018. [45] Therefore, Islamic State tactical influence should also be considered an important military contribution to its province.

Islamic State Impact on ISWAP's Internal Organization

What had the most decisive effect on ISWAP has been the Islamic State's decision to announce Abu Mus'ab al-Barnawi as ISWAP leader in August 2016 and to order foot soldiers to join him. The foot soldiers then took part in major battles led by former Ansaru-leaning commander Abu Fatima on the side of al-Barnawi and defeated Shekau's loyalists. [46] During the course of these battles, the Islamic State dropped Shekau from the ISWAP leadership position, as Shekau had originally feared. [47] As a result of this leadership change, ISWAP has administered its territories in northern Nigeria under the leadership of al-Barnawi in a way al-Barnawi's representatives have described as a "hearts and minds" approach. [48] Interviews, evidence from attack data sets, and anecdotal reports from the ISWAP territories under al-Barnawi's leadership indicate that the group generally does not target civilians, such as farmers, herders, and villagers but only "collaborators" with the government (such as NGOs) and the military. [49] This is much different than the group under Shekau's leadership, which targeted virtually anyone who was not a member. [50]

If not for the leadership change in ISWAP ordered by the Islamic State's more "moderate" theological faction,[51] then it is plausible al-Barnawi would not have come to power in ISWAP.[52] Now that al-Barnawi is in power in ISWAP, it is more likely than when Shekau was the group leader that the group can sustainably administer the territories under its control and win the support or at least acquiescence of the population. This will make it more difficult for Nigeria to reclaim some of the territories in the country's northeast that have remained under insurgent control since 2013.

At the same, the Islamic State may not be finished intervening in ISWAP's internal affairs. In September 2018, the Islamic State ordered ISWAP commanders to purge Mamman Nur, a longtime ally of Abu Mus'ab al-Barnawi and Abu Fatima, the latter who died in 2017.[53] The Islamic State also ordered ISWAP hardliners to execute two female Muslim NGO workers in September and October 2018, respectively, in a "Jihadi John"-style video with an ISWAP militant next to an Islamic State-style black flag declaring he was carrying out the orders of al-Baghdadi before shooting.[54] According to the Islamic State's previous guidance to the group on the Chibok kidnappings, Muslim women could be executed for being apostates, such as working for "Christian" NGOs, but not "enslaved" like Christian women could be.[55] The mediator between ISWAP—and formerly Boko Haram—and the government subsequently noted in 2018 that all decisions now go up the level of the Islamic State.[56]

As a result of the deaths of pro-Abu Mus'ab al-Barnawi members of the Islamic State, such as Nur and his loyalists and Abu Fatima, other more hardline Islamic State members may now be attempting to negotiate not only a ceasefire, which currently exists, but also a reconciliation or some level of broader coordination between ISWAP and Shekau; either way the ideologies of both ISWAP and Boko Haram are apparently converging.[57] Such a broader agreement with Shekau would likely require Shekau to make certain concessions, such as not engaging in female 'suicide' bombing and abiding by certain Islamic State guidelines that were sent to ISWAP in March 2015 about limiting targeting of Muslims, but Shekau is known for his recalcitrance and may refrain from any further deal-making unless he is named as ISWAP leader again.[58]

In this regard, it is notable that the relationship between ISWAP and Islamic State has remained strong and consistent notwithstanding the deaths of several interlocutors between them, including the North Africans who segued the relationship before the March 2015 pledge, the Islamic State theologians who advised ISWAP after the March 2015 pledge, such as Abu Malek al-Tamimi; and others in Sudan who have reportedly been involved in liaising between ISWAP and the Islamic State. The relationship has shown the ability to endure the test of time and circumstances thus far.

The Case of the Islamic State and Jihadists in the Philippines

The pledge and post-pledge process for ISWAP with the internal battles between Abu Mus'ab al-Barnawi and Shekau loyalists involved greater intra-group friction than what occurred in the Philippines. In the Philippines—or Southeast Asia more broadly (to include Indonesia and Malaysia)—the dilemma with the pledge to al-Baghdadi was not so much tension between jihadists but rather coordinating between diverse factions across a wide geographic space and convincing the Islamic State of their unity and ability to demonstrate tamkin.

Southeast Asian Allegiances to Al-Baghdadi

In June 2014, when al-Baghdadi declared the Caliphate in Mosul, the leader of Mujahidin of East Timor (MIT) in Indonesia, Santoso, which has been the main jihadist group in Indonesia since the demise of Jemaah Islamiya (JI) in 2010, immediately pledged allegiance to him.[59] Another Indonesian group, Jemaah Ansharut Tauhid (JAT), also stated it was "ready" to make the pledge and was "monitoring" the situation. Like MIT, JAT was also a remnant of JI, which was founded by the Indonesian cleric, Abu Bakar Baasyir. Despite serving a sentence in Jakarta for sponsoring a terrorist camp in Sumatra, Indonesia where, among others, Santoso trained in 2010, Baasyir was able to call on his supporters to pledge allegiance to al-Baghdadi from his prison cell.[60] At the time of those pledges, MIT and JAT were the foremost jihadist groups in an otherwise weakened environment for jihadists in Indonesia as a result of the security forces dismantling most of JI in previous years. Nevertheless, it was notable that these JI remnants had given such positive signals to the Islamic State despite having originally been close to al-Qaeda networks in Southeast Asia since the 1990s. Moreover, there was little sign of residual pro-al-Qaeda sentiment or resistance from other factions within those groups.

In the neighboring Philippines, dozens of inmates in a prison also immediately pledged allegiance to al-Baghdadi in a July 2, 2014 video distributed by the pro-Islamic State al-Battar media group.[61] Days after that video from the prison, jihadists in Abu Sayyaf also posted a video on Facebook declaring their allegiance to al-Baghdadi. Still several more days later, on July 23, 2014, longtime Abu Sayyaf commander Isnon Hapilon and around a dozen other militants followed with their own video pledging allegiance to al-Baghdadi in Yakan dialect and Arabic.[62] Also in that video was a well-known Malaysian militant from what Hapilon called the Ansar al-Shari'a Brigade and another Philippine jihadist from a group called al-Ansar Battle Brigade (Mu'arakat al-Ansar). Hapilon noted in the video that these groups had made pledges separately but were now coming together. This suggested he knew the Islamic State required a unity of factions for a pledge to be accepted and was attempting to fulfill that obligation. Nevertheless, there did not appear to be coordination with MIT, JAT, or any other Indonesians at that time.

The Islamic State acknowledged that various pledges were in process from jihadist groups around the world in its November 2014 edition of Dabiq, including mentioning the Philippines and Nigeria specifically (but not Indonesia).[63] However, the Islamic State noted a "direct line of communication" had yet to be set up with some groups and that others, presumably including the jihadists in Nigeria and the Philippines, had yet to unify under a single leader appointed by the Islamic State to make the pledge: in reality Shekau was yet to commit (or be convinced to make the pledge) and Isnon Hapilon was among several contenders to represent the Philippines. The Islamic State noted three months later in the February 2015 edition of Dabiq that certain "conditions and requirements" had to be fulfilled before a group could gain the approval of the Islamic State leadership to become "officially recognized as a [province] of the Islamic State."[64] Such conditions included:

- documenting their bay'at [allegiance],
- unifying the jama'at who have given bay'at,
- · holding consultations to nominate a wali [governor] and members for the regional shura assembly,
- planning a strategy to achieve consolidation [tamkin] in their region for the Khilafah so as to implement the Shari'ah, and
- presenting all this to the Islamic State leadership for approval.

Less than one year after that Dabiq edition was released, in January 2016 the jihadists in the Philippines reiterated their allegiance to al-Baghdadi under a single leader, Hapilon, when they released a video representing Abu Sayyaf, Ansar al-Shari'a Brigade, and the al-Ansar Battle Brigade making the pledge to al-Baghdadi together. [65] However, four notable groups that had separately pledged allegiance to al-Baghdadi were missing from that video:

- Ansar Khilafah Philippines, which was an Islamic State-inspired group comprised of Moro Islamic Liberation Front (MILF) defectors that had networks to jihadists in Indonesia and Malaysia, including by marriage;
- The Bangsamoro Islamic Freedom Fighters (BIFF), which included MILF defectors who disagreed with MILF's 2012 peace deal with the government;
- The Maute Group, which was led by an al-Azhar university graduate, Abdullahi Maute, and his brother, Umar Maute, who both pledged allegiance to al-Baghdadi in 2015 and were based in their native Lanao del Sur and had close ties to former JI and Abu Sayyaf members, including Hapilon;[66] and
- Indonesian jihadists, such as Santoso, who would be killed in July 2016.

This did not mean those four groups were not loyal to al-Baghdadi or there were internal tensions in Southeast Asia like the case in Nigeria, but suggested there was a lack of communication between those groups. [67] In December 2015, for example, a video of a training camp of 10 Islamic State fighters in the Philippines was released that called on jihadists to "kill infidels whether you are in Luzon, the Visayas, or Mindanao." [68] Although it was not ascribed to any group, the background music was the same as a previous Ansar al-Khilafah Philippines video, implying the fighters were from that group and were still loyal al-Baghdadi even though they were "missing" from the previous video.

The January 2016 video with Hapilon seemed to have an effect on the Islamic State. In its al-Naba magazine that same month, the Islamic State acknowledged Hapilon's pledge and indicated that the Islamic State learned of his 20 years of operations in Basilan, southern Philippines and that the jihadists in the Philippines had united their ranks under him.[69] The Islamic State could have simply "googled" that information about Hapilon, but it is equally, if not more likely, that it consulted with Southeast Asians in Syria and Iraq who knew him to vet him. In addition, the Islamic State employed the same methodology that it did when it issued videos on a twitter account it created for Boko Haram before Shekau's pledge in March 2015 to introduce Nigeria to its global jihadi followership. In the al-Naba article about Hapilon, for example, it also provided some basic background information on the Philippines to introduce the Philippines to followers unfamiliar with the country. The Islamic State also claimed in the article that appointing of a local Islamic State leadership under Hapilon would present a threat to the Philippines and would lead to the capture of territory. This occurred in Marawi more than one year later in 2017.

Conquest of Marawi

As the courtship between the Islamic State and the jihadists in the Philippines was underway, the Islamic State began claiming attacks in Southeast Asia. The first one was in Jakarta, Indonesia in January 2016 when a suicide bomber detonated near a Starbucks, killing several people.[70] Although Indonesian authorities first suspected a Syria-based Indonesian was responsible for the attack, it later accused—but without providing detailed evidence—JAT leader, Aman Abdurrahman, of masterminding the attack. The attack, therefore, was classified by the Indonesian government as "Islamic State-inspired" but not "directed". Aman Abdurrahman was in the same prison in Jakarta as Abu Bakar Baasyir and had pledged allegiance to the Islamic State in June 2014 at the time of the attack. Days before the attack, he had issued a fatwa stating, "If you cannot emigrate then wage jihad with spirit wherever you are," which suggests he may in fact have inspired the attack. [71] In 2017, he was sentenced to death for ordering the attack and other attacks from his prison cell. Baasyir, for his part, subsequently renounced his support to al-Baghdadi, alleging he was misinformed about the Islamic State

while in prison.

Another Islamic State-influenced operation in the Philippines seemed to occur two months later in March 2016, when the Saudi scholar A'id al-Qarni was nearly assassinated in the southern Philippines. The Islamic State had named him as "wanted" its January 2016 edition of Dabiq.[72] The assassin, who was killed during the operation, was seemingly responding to that Islamic State call even though the Islamic State did not claim his operation nor did he seem to have communicated with the Islamic State. The first Islamic State-claimed operation in the Philippines was, however, also in March 2016, when its affiliated news agency, Amaq, stated its members captured 20 Philippine soldiers in Marawi, which was the base of the Maute Group. This was a precursor to the Maute Group's operation to actually conquer and occupy Marawi in 2017.

In December 2016, the Islamic State again began hinting at future operations in Marawi when it claimed its fighters captured towns south of Marawi in an operation that left "dozens" of Philippine soldiers dead. This claim was corroborated by media reports in the Philippines about Maute Group militants fighting Philippine soldiers and raising the Islamic State flag over an abandoned town hall in Lanao del Sur.[73] It also foreshadowed the subsequent May 2017 Islamic State-claimed "conquest" in Marawi, which became international news after the Maute Group and other jihadists alongside Hapilon, some regional foreign fighters, and Abu Sayyaf and BIFF members burned down buildings and attempted to take over a hospital and a prison in Marawi, which ultimately led to the conquest of most of the city.







Meanwhile, two children were killed and 7 others were wounded as a result of American Crusader airstrikes near Masjid an-Nawawi in the city of Raggah.

Karkuk Wilayah:

Two inghimasi soldiers of the Khilafah carried out an attack on a Peshmerga military base where American soldiers were present, located at the Tuz Khurmato airbase.

Meanwhile, two 4-wheel drive vehicles carrying Peshmerga fighters were destroyed after being targeted with two explosive devices in the village of Kaysumah, and in the area of Dibs west of Karkuk, leading to two Peshmerga fighters being killed.

East Asia:

An armored vehicle belonging to the Filipino Crusader army was destroyed using a rocket projectile, and 5 Filipino soldiers were killed and 9 others were wounded in clashes in the neighborhood of Laylud Madaya in the city of Marawi.

Barakah Wilayah:

A number of Islamic State soldiers carried out an assault on a Rafidi army barracks near the Tall Sufuk border crossing. Clashes took place that led to three murtaddin being killed, a number of others being wounded, and one of their barracks being burned, with the mujahidin returning safely back to their positions.

Likewise, a number of Islamic State soldiers carried out an inghimasi attack targeting a PKK position in the city of Shaddadi. Meanwhile, support detachments targeted PKK positions in Shaddadi, and in the area of Kashkash Jubur, and in the villages of 'Azzawi and Zu'ayli with 68 mortar rounds and 6 Grad rockets.

In the north of the wilayah near Dawwar as-Siyahi in the city of Qamishli, a vehicle carrying PKK fighters was targeted with an explosive device, leading to the vehicle being destroyed and those inside being killed and wounded.

Meanwhile, 12 members of a single family were killed, most of them women and children, as a result of an American Crusader airstrike on a home in the area of Tall al-Bashair near the artificial border.

Salahuddin Wilayah:

Four Rafidi Mobilization barracks were targeted near the village of Shuwayratan and at the Makhazin Bridge and on the Hadithah – Bayji road with four SPG-9 rockets and 26 mortar rounds.

Al-Bayan Radio Bulletin in English Language on June 19, 2017, including "East Asia" [75]

The Islamic State played up the "conquest" of Marawi with a video on June 1, 2017 that showed grainy footage of jihadists shooting at Philippine soldiers and claiming to have killed 75 of them. Several days later, on June 7, 2017, the Islamic State also released an interview of Hapilon in its magazine Rumiyah that referred to the

"soldiers of the khilafah in East Asia" and discussed the battles in Marawi.[74] Two weeks later, the battle in Marawi proved to be sufficient to warrant the creation of a province for the jihadists in the Philippines. On June 19, 2017, for example, the Islamic State's al-Bayan daily bulletin mentioned attack claims in Marawi from "East Asia" along with its list of attacks in other official provinces, although notably the words "East Asia" and "Province" were never all together. On June 22, 2017, the Islamic State also released a video showing a beheaded Philippine soldier as well as the beheadings of "agents of the Crusader coalition" at the hands of Philippine, Malaysian and Indonesia Islamic State militants in Raqqah, Syria, in an effort to show a connection between the Southeast Asian jihadists in the Philippines and Syria and to urge jihadists in Southeast Asia to fight at home if they could not make it to Syria. The video also showed four previously unknown brigades in the Philippines pledging allegiance to al-Baghdadi. This was presumably to emphasize that the Philippine jihadists had united under Hapilon.

Loss of Marawi

The Islamic State occupation of Marawi lasted from June 2017 until August 2017 when key members of the Maute Group, including both Maute brothers, and Hapilon were killed and the Philippine army finally retook the city building-by-building. While the Islamic State infographic specialists in al-Yaqin media claimed the jihadists inflicted 489 casualties, official statistics from the Philippine government suggested that 160 soldiers and 47 civilians were killed and more than 350,000 people were displaced from the city. According to some uncorroborated reports, the Islamic State—even al-Baghdadi himself—ordered the attacks on Marawi.[76] That would be consistent with al-Baghdadi apparently "ordering" ISWAP's killing of the female NGO workers, but it would seem more probable al-Baghdadi's representatives would communicate with the jihadists abroad given his intense security cordon.

Although there were credible reports of hundreds of thousands of dollars of financing that the Islamic State provided to Isnon Hapilon through a Malaysian intermediary by cash delivery and other funds through Western Union, the main tactical influence of the Islamic State on the jihadists was seemingly in the Maute Group's urban combat techniques.[77] Just like the Islamic State did in Syria and Iraq, for example, the Maute Group successfully stationed guns deep within houses so they could shoot through holes in walls and windows in a way that the Philippine army could not detect the origin of the fire.[78] This helped the jihadists, who were historically accustomed to jungle warfare, last longer they otherwise would have in occupying Marawi.

It seems the Islamic State wanted the jihadists to conquer Marawi because the Maute Group already had a base of support there and attacking a city as big as Marawi was certain to attract significant international attention. Had the Philippine jihadists instead attacked a town in the more remote islands of Mindanao like Sulu and Basilan, where Hapilon was formerly based, then it would have been more difficult for the Islamic State to portray its fighters in the Philippines as having "conquered" a city analogous to the conquest of Mosul in 2014 itself. This would have been a lesser propaganda victory for the Islamic State.

The question arises as to who benefitted from the "conquest" of Marawi. The Islamic State in Syria and Iraq was able to leverage it in a major media campaign that distracted from its struggles in Syria and Iraq but more importantly portrayed the Islamic State as still expanding to new far-reaching territories. Yet, even despite the "success" of occupying the city for several months there was virtually no chance the jihadists would be able to hold Marawi for the long-term in the face of the Philippine army's counter-attack with military support from the U.S., Australia, and China, among other countries. As a result, the jihadists in the Philippines were exposed and their leaders, including both Maute brothers and Hapilon, were killed. It is unlikely the jihadists in the Philippines are any better off in the long-term as a result of the occupation of Marawi even if the Islamic State is able to send some additional foreign fighter reinforcements to the group's hideouts in Mindanao, who are attempting to introduce yet other new tactics to the jihadists there, such as suicide bombings.

Moreover, as part of the reconstruction of Marawi, the Philippine government plans to turn the city into a new "tourist attraction".[79] It is unclear if the displaced people, some of whom may have sympathized with the Maute Group, will ever return to their original homes and, even if they do, large parts of the city may be gentrified such that the previous inhabitants of Marawi will never have their former way of life back. The

Philippines is also working with China in the post-conflict reconstruction efforts.[80] If China's policies in its own Xinjiang Region are any indication, the reconstruction of Marawi may be accompanied by a resettlement of Christian or other non-Marawi Filipinos to the new "modern" Marawi. While this may exacerbate tensions with the previous inhabitants of Marawi, it will also make it harder for jihadists to establish networks with their ethnic kin there again.

Conclusions

While the Islamic State "core" seems to have benefited more in the short-term from the publicity and narrative of the Marawi "conquest", the jihadists in the Philippines may still benefit in the long term if Islamic State fighters are able to travel to the Philippines and provide them with new skills, if not also funds. Such has already occurred in the Philippines with a Moroccan having carried out one of the only suicide bombings in that country's history in August 2018 and the Islamic State having claimed a massive bombing at a church in Jolo in Mindanao on January 29, 2019, which killed more than 20 people and was apparently carried out by a woman in what would therefore be an innovation for the jihadists in the Philippines.[81] Yet, they will be far from being able occupy territory again, as they have lost that element of surprise.

In the case of Nigeria, however, the Islamic State has benefitted from ISWAP being among its most active provinces and frequent contributors to its media releases about winning battles. At the same time, ISWAP has actually moderated as a result of the Islamic State's influence on its internal organization, and the Islamic State has provided some beneficial strategic advice to the group. Thus far, therefore, the relationship has been "winwin". While the relationship shows no signs of weakness, it is relevant to note that there have been no random killings claimed by ISWAP outside of the main battle zone in northeastern Nigeria, such as a video-recorded stabbing of a foreigner or a police officer in Lagos or other major city. In addition, there have been no anti-al-Qaeda polemics from ISWAP in its videos and, in fact, ISWAP has only reflected about its former "strong ties" to AQIM.[82] Moreover, ISWAP has issued some of its own videos with no Islamic State branding, such as during the hostage-taking of professors of University of Maiduguri in 2017, which it seems to have negotiated without Islamic State intervention. Therefore, should ISWAP ever need to survive and function on its own or assert its independence from the Islamic State it has the infrastructure and capability to do so.[83]

More broadly, by tracing the pledge processes of the jihadists in Nigeria and the Philippines, one finds that the jihadists in both countries did, in fact, undergo internal organizational restructuring before making the pledge to al-Baghdadi. Both groups of jihadists also had at least an initial line of communication to the Islamic State's media network and were able to make the pledge to the Islamic State and have the Islamic State recognize them once they demonstrated to the Islamic State they had united under a single leader and had—or could obtain—tamkin.

Analysts can benefit from considering not only the Islamic State's training, funding, arming, and advising of provinces on the peripheries, but also assessing how the restructuring of these groups' internal organization and their need to demonstrate tamkin to the Islamic State has affected their leadership, strategy, and operations. In terms of counter-terrorism, had Nigeria done this it may have been more prepared to play one faction (al-Barnawi's) against the other (Shekau's), and in the Philippines the army may not have been caught off-guard by the "sudden" conquest of the Marawi. Similarly, now that the Islamic State has lost control of much of its territory in Syria and Iraq it is necessary to estimate how that development will affect the Islamic State's relationship with these provinces. Will it lead to Islamic State "core" jihadists traveling to the peripheries to join these groups and the swifter diffusion of tactical transfer from Syria and Iraq to the peripheries? Will the deaths of Islamic State members in Syria and Iraq lead to other members taking over the communications with the provinces and possibly favoring one faction (such as Shekau) over another (such as al-Barnawi) or encouraging a shift in attack targets? These are among the key analytical questions that will be important to answer for counter-terrorism forces in Nigeria and the Philippines and their international partners as well as humanitarian organizations in preparing for the next phases of the war in both countries.

About the Author: Jacob Zenn is an adjunct assistant professor at Georgetown University's Security Studies Program and a senior fellow at The Jamestown Foundation.

Notes:

- [1] Cole Bunzel, "From Paper State to Caliphate: The Ideology of the Islamic State," The Brookings Project on U.S. Relations with the Islamic World, No. 19, March 2015; URL: https://www.brookings.edu/wp-content/uploads/2016/06/The-ideology-of-the-Islamic-State.pdf.
- [2] "Boko Haram's" self-given name is "Jama'at Ahl al-Sunna lil-Da'wa wa al-Jihad", meaning "Sunni Muslim Group for Preaching and Jihad."
- [3] "Ansaru" is an abbreviated version of the name "Jama'at Ansar al-Muslimin fi Bilad as-Sudan" or "Group of Supporters of Muslims in Black Africa". For a discussion on the emergence of Ansaru, see Andrea Brigaglia and Alessio Iocci, "Some Advice and Guidelines: The History of Jihad in Nigeria, as Narrated by AQIM and the Islamic State," *Annual Review of Islam in Africa*, 14, 2017, 27-35; URL: https://www.academia.edu/37964841/ Some Advice and Guidelines The History of Global Jihad in Nigeria as Narrated by AQIM al-Qaeda in the Islamic Maghreb . For a discussion of individual Ansaru members' reintegration into Boko Haram and joining ISWAP (but noting that Ansaru as an organization opted out of ISWAP after a shura held on February 9, 2015), see Jacob Zenn, "Boko Haram's Conquest for the Caliphate: How Al Qaeda Helped Islamic State Acquire Territory," *Studies in Conflict & Terrorism*, 35:5, 13 March 2018; URL: https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/1057610X.2018.1442141.
- [4] Though written one decade ago, the following provides a useful backgrounder on Abu Sayyaf: Rommel C. Banlaoi, "Abu Sayyaf: Al-Harakutl Al- Islamiyyah, Essays on the Abu Sayyaf Group", Philippine Institute for Political Violence and Terrorism Research (PIPVTR), 2008; URL: https://www.academia.edu/1921767/Al Harakatul Al Islamiyyah Essays on the Abu Sayyaf Group by Rommel Banlaoi.
- [5] Abu Muhammed al-Adnani, "So They Kill and Are Killed," *Jihadology*, March 12, 2015; URL: https://jihadology.net/2015/03/12/al-furqan-media-presents-a-new-audio-message-from-the-islamic-states-shaykh-abu-mu%E1%B8%A5ammad-al-adnani-al-shami-so-they-kill-and-are-killed/.
- [6] See, for example, Jacob Zenn, "A Primer on Boko Haram Sources and Three Heuristics on al-Qaida and Boko Haram in Response to Adam Higazi, Brandon Kendhammer, Kyari Mohammed, Marc-Antoine Pérouse de Montclos, and Alex Thurston," *Perspectives on Terrorism*, Volume 12, Issue 3, June 2018; URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-al-qaida-and-boko-haram-in-response-to-.pdf. Adam Higazi, Brandon Kendhammer, Kyari Mohammed, Marc-Antoine Pérouse de Montclos, and Alex Thurston, "A Response to Jacob Zenn on Boko Haram and al-Qa'ida," *Perspectives on Terrorism*, Volume 12, Issue 2, April 2018; URL. https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2018/2018-02/higazi-revised.pdf.
- [7] Abdul Raufu Mustapha, "Understanding Boko Haram," in A. R. Mustapha, ed., Sects & Social Disorder: Muslim Identities & Conflict in Northern Nigeria (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2014), pp. 147–198
- [8] Géraud Magrin, Marc-Antoine Pérouse de Montclos, Emmanuel Chauvin, Charline Rangé, and Christine Raimond, "Key variables," in Marc-Antoine Pérouse de Montclos, ed., *Crisis and Development: The Lake Chad Region and Boko Haram* (Paris: French Agency for Development (AFD), 2018), pp. 211; URL: https://www.afd.fr/sites/afd/files/2018-08-04-37-14/Crisis%20and%20 Development.%20The%20Lake%20Chad%20Region%20and%20Boko%20Haram.pdf
- [9] See Kyari Muhammed, "The Origins of Boko Haram," in A. Carl LeVan, Patrick Ukata, ed., *The Oxford Handbook of Nigerian Politics* (Oxford University Press (December 18, 2018), pg. 584.
- [10] Andrea Brigaglia, "Slicing off the Tumour": The History of Global Jihad in Nigeria, as Narrated by the Islamic State," *Politics and Religion*, No. Vol. XII, 2018; URL: https://www.politicsandreligionjournal.com/index.php/prj/article/view/320/332. Andrea Brigaglia and Alessio Iocci, "Some Advice and Guidelines: The History of Jihad in Nigeria, as Narrated by AQIM and the Islamic State," *Annual Review of Islam in Africa*, Issue No. 14, 2017, 27-35; URL: https://www.academia.edu/37964841/ Some Advice and Guidelines The History of Global Jihad in Nigeria as Narrated by AQIM al-Qaeda in the Islamic Maghreb.
- [11] Roman Loimeier, "Islamic Reform in Twentieth-Century Africa," (Edinburgh: Edinburgh University Press, 2018).
- [12] An example of this is where Alexander Thurston claimed in an article for Oxford Islamic Studies Online, whose editor-in-chief is Dr. John L. Esposito, that, "After graduating from IUM [Islamic University of Medina] in 1993... [Shaykh Ja'far Mahmud Adam] was also one of the most outspoken critics of Muhammad Yusuf, the founder of the violent movement Boko Haram." However,

Thurston blatantly overlooks that from 1993 until at least 2002 Shaykh Ja'far Mahmud Adam was actually one of Muhammed Yusuf's mentors and in the mid-1990s Shaykh Ja'far preached a doctrine of violent jihad and called takfir on Sufis in Borno. He also cultivated a relationship around 1994 with Muhammed Ali, who was the actual Boko Haram founder in 2002 and co-leader of Boko Haram with Muhammed Yusuf until 2003. Thurston's claim, therefore, "exonerates" Shaykh Ja'far Mahmud Adam from involvement in Boko Haram's origins because it provides cover for the jihadist ideology and takfiri theology that existed in Saudi Arabia and that Shaykh Ja'far propagated and introduced to his followers in Nigeria after he returned from Medina to Nigeria in 1993, including to Muhammed Yusuf. Shaykh Ja'far became "outspoken" against Muhammed Yusuf (and Muhammed Ali) only around 2002, which is nearly ten years after he returned from Medina to Nigeria. To be fair, Shaykh Ja'far was also a "tragic hero" because, according to Brigaglia, like other Salafi clerics in Nigeria, he "genuinely, but ineffectively" sought to combat the doctrine of violent jihad and takfir, but by the 2000s it was already too late; this is also why Muhammed Ali's loyalists in Boko Haram assassinated Shaykh Ja'far in 2007. Similarly, Pérouse de Montclos wrote in a 2016 article that, "In spite of his total opposition to the ideas professed by Mohammed Yusuf, for example, an Izala sheikh from Sokoto, Abubakar Gero Argungu, said publicly that the members of Boko Haram [who were] killed in 2009 could be considered Muslim martyrs." Pérouse de Montclos therefore "exonerates" Abubakar Gero Argungu from any role in the origins of Boko Haram or jihadism in Nigeria by failing to consider that in 2002 when Yusuf was still in Izala Argungu delivered a sermon with one of the most explicit endorsements ever in Nigerian history of al-Qaeda, the Taliban, Bin Laden and Mullah Umar, which is discussed in Brigaglia's "Slicing the Tumour" article. Assuming these two academics and other members of their academic group have acted in good faith and have not been influenced by, for example, the Gulf-based "research patrons" of the Oxford Centre for Islamic Studies or Gulf-based research patrons of their other institutional affiliations, then their "exoneration" of these clerics should, according to Brigaglia, be attributed to their reliance "entirely on sources that date only to after the mid-2000s, i.e. when the split between [Shaykh Ja'far Mahmud] Adam and Yusuf had already clearly emerged." They should therefore consider using sources from before 2004. See Alexander Thurston, "Islamic Universities and Their Global Outreach," Oxford Islamic Studies Online, September 28, 2016; URL: http://www.oxfordislamicstudies.com/Public/focus/essay1009 Islamic Universities.html . Marc-Antoine Pérouse de Montclos (2016) A Sectarian Jihad in Nigeria: The Case of Boko Haram, Small Wars & Insurgencies, 27:5, 878-895. Andrea Brigaglia, "Slicing off the Tumour": The History of Global Jihad in Nigeria, as Narrated by the Islamic State," Politics and Religion Journal, Vol. XII, No. 2, 2018; URL: https://www.politicsandreligionjournal.com/index.php/prj/article/view/320/332. Andrea Brigaglia, "The Volatility of Salafi Political Theology, the War on Terror and the Genesis of Boko Haram", Diritto e Questioni Pubbliche, 15(2), pp. 174- 201, 2015; URL: https://www.academia.edu/24045774/The Volatility of Salafi Political Theology the War on Terror and the Genesis of Boko Haram. Duncan Robinson, "The Shame of Britain's Universities," The New Statesman, March 9, 2011; URL: https://www.newstatesman.com/blogs/the-staggers/2011/03/university-saudi-british. See also Rebuttal #7 in Jacob Zenn, "The Folly of Crowds: Jacob Zenn Rebuts Adam Higazi, Brandon Kendhammer, Kyari Mohammed, Marc-Antoine Pérouse de Montclos, and Alex Thurston," aymennjawad.org, June 22, 2018; URL: http://www.aymennjawad.org/2018/06/jacob-zenn-replies-to-his-critics . See also the section "Events of the 1990s" in Khalifa Aliyu Ahmed Abulfathi, "The Metamorphosis of Boko Haram: A Local's Perspective," sheikhahmadabulfathi.org, 2011; URL: http://www.sheikhahmadabulfathi.org/content/metamorphosis-boko-haram-0

[13] Andrea Brigaglia, "Slicing off the Tumour": The History of Global Jihad in Nigeria, as Narrated by the Islamic State."

[14] Ibid.

[15] Alexander Thurston, *Boko Haram: The History of an African Jihadist Movement*, (Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press, 2018), p. 119; Jacob Zenn, "Northern Nigeria's Boko Haram: The Prize in al-Qaida's Africa Strategy," The Jamestown Foundation Occasional Paper, December 6, 2012."

[16] "Curbing Violence in Nigeria (II): The Boko Haram Insurgency", International Crisis Group Africa Report # 216, 3 April 2014; URL: https://www.crisisgroup.org/africa/west-africa/nigeria/curbing-violence-nigeria-ii-boko-haram-insurgency. Cherif Ouzani, "Sale temps por les djihadistes," Jeune Afrique, May 10, 2004. Tijjani Talba Kafa and Abdulwahab Habib, "Clash of Civilizations: An Assessment of the Early Origin of Boko Haram," *International Journal of Science and Research*, Volume 7 Issue 10, October 2018.

[17] Carl LeVan, "Review," Journal of Modern African Studies, 56, 4 (2018), pp. 697 – 716. See also Douglas Walton, "The strawman fallacy," in Johan von Bentham, ed., *Logic and Argumentation* (Amsterdam: Royal Netherlands Academy of the Arts, 1996); URL: https://www.dougwalton.ca/papers%20in%20pdf/96straw.pdf. Jacob Zenn, "A Primer on Boko Haram Sources and Three Heuristics on al-Qaida and Boko Haram in Response to Adam Higazi, Brandon Kendhammer, Kyari Mohammed, Marc-Antoine Pérouse de Montclos, and Alex Thurston." Abdulbasit Kassim, "Boko Haram's Internal Civil War: Stealth Takfir and Jihad as Recipes for Schism." ed. by Jacob Zenn, in "Boko Haram Beyond the Headlines: Analyses of Africa's Enduring Insurgency," West Point CTC, New York, May 2018; URL: https://ctc.usma.edu/app/uploads/2018/05/Boko-Haram-Beyond-the-Headlines.pdf.

[18] See, for example, Andrea Brigaglia and Alessio Iocci, "Some Advice and Guidelines: The History of Jihad in Nigeria, as Narrated by AQIM and the Islamic State." See also Jacob Zenn, "A Primer on Boko Haram Sources and Three Heuristics on al-Qaida and Boko Haram in Response to Adam Higazi, Brandon Kendhammer, Kyari Mohammed, Marc-Antoine Pérouse de Montclos, and Alex Thurston."

[19] Even without background analysis or any citation some established scholars have made the claim that the relationship is "primarily rhetorical", which indicates that this claim has become so accepted among certain members of the scholarly community that sourcing is no longer deemed necessary to substantiate the claim. See Scott MacEachern, Searching for Boko Haram: A History

of Violence in Central Africa, (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2018), pg. 187.

- [20] Virginia Comolli, "Boko Haram: Indigeneity, Internationalism, Insurgency," in A. Carl LeVan, Patrick Ukata, ed., *The Oxford Handbook of Nigerian Politics* (Oxford University Press (December 18, 2018)), pp. 611.
- [21] See Kyari Muhammed, "The Origins of Boko Haram," in A. Carl LeVan, Patrick Ukata, ed., *The Oxford Handbook of Nigerian Politics* (Oxford University Press (December 18, 2018), pp. 611. Curiously, Kyari Muhammed neither discussed in his book chapter a document released by AQIM in 2017 that mentions Boko Haram members with the GIA in 1994 nor an article by the Ansaru leader that discusses Boko Haram's origins before 9/11. Both of these documents were mentioned in Adam Higazi, Brandon Kendhammer, Kyari Mohammed, Marc-Antoine Pérouse de Montclos, and Alex Thurston, "A Response to Jacob Zenn on Boko Haram and al-Qa'ida" and Jacob Zenn, "A Primer on Boko Haram Sources and Three Heuristics on al-Qaida and Boko Haram in Response to Adam Higazi, Brandon Kendhammer, Kyari Mohammed, Marc-Antoine Pérouse de Montclos, and Alex Thurston."
- [22] Adam Higazi, Brandon Kendhammer, Kyari Mohammed, Marc-Antoine Pérouse de Montclos, and Alex Thurston, "A Response to Jacob Zenn on Boko Haram and al-Qa'ida." Kyari Mohammed, "The message and methods of Boko Haram," in: Marc-Antoine Pérouse de Montclos (Ed.) *Islamism, Politics, Security and the State in Nigeria*, (Ibadan: French Institute for Research in Africa (IFRA)—Leiden: African Studies Centre, 2014; URL: https://openaccess.leidenuniv.nl/bitstream/handle/1887/23853/ASC-075287668-3441-01.pdf. For a keen description of the value of jihadist primary sources, see the "Methodology" section of Nelly Lahoud, "Al-Qa'ida's Contested Relationship with Iran," New America Foundation, September 7, 2018; URL: https://www.newamerica.org/international-security/reports/al-qaidas-contested-relationship-iran/methodology.
- [23] Thurston's definition of "terrorology" includes that it is when "jihadist primary sources" are "imbue[d] with an aura of mystery and power..." or when "terrorologists... follow obscure and highly ideological 'treasure maps' to arrive at the true, inner understanding of jihadism and the ten-foot-tall warrior-masterminds who direct it." The term is therefore too subjective and imprecise to be academically credible; the term "source criticism" is, however, more academically useful. In addition, it does not appear anyone "present[ed] a single biography as the key to understanding the Islamic State" as Thurston claimed someone did in his assessment of several potential "terrorologists", nor does Aymenn al-Tamimi indicate he himself is "disappointed" about a two-year gap in the biography of Abu Ali al-Anbari, as Thurston claims he "seems" to be, but rather al-Tamini notes that "readers hoping for detailed stories of what Anbari was up to in Syria in 2012-2014 will be disappointed (italics added for emphasis)." This impreciseness itself is why "terrorology" can become a problematic term. It is also important for scholars to accurately represent the claims of other scholars and not invent claims that no scholar ever made because although countering "strawmen" arguments may make it easier to "win" a debate, they do not advance the field because they do not engage any actual arguments put forth by other scholars. Alexander Thurston, "On the Zarqawi/Anbari Issue: Source Criticism and Subtext in the Analysis of Jihadism," Sahelblog, January 4, 2019; $URL: \quad \underline{https://sahelblog.wordpress.com/2019/01/04/on-the-zarqawi-anbari-issue-source-criticism-and-subtext-in-the-analysis-of-participation and the property of the proper$ jihadism/. For an example of the risk of imprecise and "broad-brush terms" in the context of human rights, see Jon Henley, "A glossary of US military torture euphemisms," *The Guardian*, December 13, 2007; URL: https://www.theguardian.com/world/2007/ dec/13/usa.humanrights.
- [24] The possibility of misuse or abuse of the term "terrorology" is further evidenced in Rebuttal #6 of Jacob Zenn, "The Folly of Crowds: Jacob Zenn Rebuts Adam Higazi, Brandon Kendhammer, Kyari Mohammed, Marc-Antoine Pérouse de Montclos, and Alex Thurston," aymennjawad.org, June 22, 2018; URL: http://www.aymennjawad.org/2018/06/jacob-zenn-replies-to-his-critics. See also Jacob Zenn, "Boko Haram's al-Qaeda Affiliation: A Response to 'Five Myths about Boko Haram," *Lawfare*, February 1, 2018; URL: https://www.lawfareblog.com/boko-harams-al-qaeda-affiliation-response-five-myths-about-boko-haram.
- [25] See, for example, the critique of Pérouse de Montclos' interview methods in Rebuttal #11 in Jacob Zenn, "The Folly of Crowds: Jacob Zenn Rebuts Adam Higazi, Brandon Kendhammer, Kyari Mohammed, Marc-Antoine Pérouse de Montclos, and Alex Thurston," aymennjawad.org, June 22, 2018; URL: http://www.aymennjawad.org/2018/06/jacob-zenn-replies-to-his-critics . See also Khalil's critique of interview methods of Boko Haram members in James Khalil, "A Guide to Interviewing Terrorists and Violent Extremists Khalil," *Studies in Conflict & Terrorism*, October 20, 2017, p.1-15.
- [26] Scott MacEachern, "Searching for Boko Haram: A History of Violence in Central Africa," Pgs. 180 and 207, citing Kyari Muhammed's 2014 book chapter that relied on an anti-Christian chat forum post that itself did not even claim that Christians pretend to be Boko Haram to attack churches and a 2014 International Crisis Group report that also did not make the claim that Christians attack their own churches. An assessment of the origin of the conspiracy theory in academic literature about Christians "masquerading" as Boko Haram can be found in Rebuttal #24 and section "3. Groupthink" of Jacob Zenn, "The Folly of Crowds: Jacob Zenn Rebuts Adam Higazi, Brandon Kendhammer, Kyari Mohammed, Marc-Antoine Pérouse de Montclos, and Alex Thurston," aymennjawad.org, June 22, 2018; URL: http://www.aymennjawad.org/2018/06/jacob-zenn-replies-to-his-critics.
- [27] See, for example, Rohan Gunaratna, "The Siege of Marawi: A Game Changer in Terrorism in Asia Article," *Counter Terrorist Trends and Analyses* Vol. 9, No. 7 (July 2017); Michael Hart, "A Year After Marawi, What's Left of ISIS in the Philippines?," The Diplomat, October 25, 2018; URL: https://thediplomat.com/2018/10/a-year-after-marawi-whats-left-of-isis-in-the-philippines/. Maria A. Ressa, "Terrorism and ISIS at Resorts World attack?," *Rappler*, June 5, 2017; URL: https://www.rappler.com/newsbreak/in-depth/171784-terrorism-isis-resorts-world-attack.

- [28] Mamman Nur, "An Open Letter To Abubakar Shekau," August 4, 2016; URL: https://soundcloud.com/saharareporters/2016-08-04-audio-00000003-1. Abu Mus'ab al-Barnawi et al, "Slicing off the Tumor"; June 21, 2018: https://jihadology.net/2018/06/21/new-release-from-the-islamic-state-wilayat-gharb-ifriqiyyahs-abu-yusuf-al-barnawi-take-out-the-tumor/. Aymenn J. al-Tamimi, "The Islamic State West Africa Province vs. Abu Bakr Shekau: Full Text, Translation and Analysis," aymennjawad.org, August 5, 2018; URL: http://www.aymennjawad.org/21467/the-islamic-state-west-africa-province-vs-abu
- [29] Aymenn Jawad Al-Tamimi, "The 'Boko Haram' Allegiance Pledge to Islamic State: An Ansar al-Shari'a Tunisia Connection," August 8, 2018; URL: http://www.aymennjawad.org/21476/the-boko-haram-allegiance-pledge-to-islamic-state. Communiques to Africa Media, November 18, 2014-February 9, 2015; URL: https://azelin.files.wordpress.com/2015/02/jamc481 at-ahl-al-sunnah-li-l-da wah-wa-l-jihc481d-to-the-muslims22.pdf . Author's Interview with colleague who conducted interviews of former Boko Haram prisoners in Nigeria, December 2018.
- [30] Man Chari and Abubakr Shekau, "Message from the Soldiers," August 7, 2016; URL: http://jihadology.net/2016/08/07/new-video-message-from-jamaatahl-al-sunnah-li-l-dawah-wal-jihads-abu-bakr-shekau-message-from-the-soldiers/
- [31] Aymenn J. al-Tamimi, "The Islamic State West Africa Province vs. Abu Bakr Shekau: Full Text, Translation and Analysis."
- [32] Communiques to Africa Media, November 18, 2014-February 9, 2015.
- [33] Al-Naba' #41, Jihadology.net, August 2, 2016; URL: https://jihadology.net/2016/08/02/new-issue-of-the-islamic-states-newsletter-al-naba-41/.
- [34] Jacob Zenn, "Boko Haram's Conquest for the Caliphate: How Al Qaeda Helped Islamic State Acquire Territory."
- [35] Author's interview with mediator between government and ISWAP/Boko Haram, Maiduguri, Borno State, November 2018.
- [36] "Alleged recruiter of terrorists for ISIS, others, arrested in Nigeria," Premium Times, February 9, 2016; URL: https://www.premiumtimesng.com/news/headlines/198226-breaking-alleged-recruiter-of-terrorists-for-isis-others-arrested-in-nigeria.html. Aymenn J. al-Tamimi, "The Islamic State West Africa Province vs. Abu Bakr Shekau: Full Text, Translation and Analysis."
- [37] Lizzie Dearden, "Boko Haram: Three female suicide bombers kill at least 27 people on island where refugees were seeking safety," *The Independent*, December 5, 2015; URL: https://www.independent.co.uk/news/world/africa/boko-haram-three-female-suicide-bombers-kill-at-least-27-people-on-lake-chad-island-where-refugees-a6761731.html.
- [38] See, for example, "Arrivals of the Soldiers of the Caliphate in West Africa Wilāyat Gharb Ifriqiyyah," Jihadology.net, June 2, 2015; URL: $\frac{https://jihadology.net/2015/06/02/new-video-message-from-the-islamic-state-arrivals-of-the-soldiers-of-the-caliphate-in-west-africa-wilayat-gharb-ifriqiyyah/$
- [39] Jacob Zenn, "Boko Haram's Senegalese Foreign Fighters: Cases, Trends and Implications," *Terrorism Monitor*, May 4, 2018; URL: https://jamestown.org/program/boko-harams-senegalese-foreign-fighters-cases-trends-and-implications/.
- [40] Jasmine Buari, "Boko Haram Releases Photos Of Rocket-Making Factory," naija.ng, October 25, 2018; URL: https://www.naija.ng/622097-shocking-boko-haram-releases-photos-rocket-making-factory.html#622097.
- [41] Author's interview of Cameroonian journalist, Yaounde, Cameroon, May 2015. The author viewed the video that was on the mobile phone of the Boko Haram member, Abakar Ali.
- [42] Andrea Brigaglia and Alessio Iocci, "Some Advice and Guidelines: The History of Jihad in Nigeria, as Narrated by AQIM and the Islamic State."
- [43] Jacob Zenn, "Up-Armored SVBIEDs Make Their Way to Nigeria," CFR-Africa in Transition, July 26, 2018; URL: https://www.cfr.org/blog/armored-svbieds-make-their-way-nigeria. See also @BokoWatch, Twitter, January 20, 2019; URL: https://twitter.com/BokoWatch/status/1087020075268243456. @BokoWatch, Twitter, January 21, 2019; URL: https://twitter.com/BokoWatch/status/1087348118004281345.
- [44] See, for example, the data set of Tomasz Rolbiecki; URL: https://docs.google.com/spreadsheets/d/10vcIgxwPPl0nMomn5zR InnoxyhPLY2nftUy5Tqt-vfDQ/edit#gid=0. @RobertPostings, Twitter, January 29, 2019; URL: https://twitter.com/RobertPostings/status/1089892191227408384. Author's interview with Fulan Nasrallah, November 2018, Nigeria.
- [45] The author obtained a copy of the ISWAP shura audio on the killing of Mamman Nur in Borno State, which mentions the need for finding strong Internet. "Factional Boko Haram leader Mamman Nur killed by own fighters," *Daily Trust*, September 14, 2018; URL: https://www.dailytrust.com.ng/factional-boko-haram-leader-mamman-nur-killed-by-own-fighters.html. Please contact author for a copy of the audio. See 14:07 of the ISWAP video originally posted on Telegram called "Emigration and Fighting Wilāyat Gharb Ifrīqīyyah", January 15, 2019; jihadology.net; URL: https://jihadology.net/2019/01/15/new-video-message-from-the-islamic-state-emigration-and-fighting-wilayat-gharb-ifriqiyyah/. Credit to Paweł Wójcik for alerting the author of this.
- [46] Aymenn J. Al-Tamimi, "The Islamic State West Africa Province vs. Abu Bakr Shekau: Full Text, Translation and Analysis."

- [47] Ibid.
- [48] Communiques to Africa Media, November 18, 2014-February 9, 2015. Idayat Hassan, "The danger of a better-behaved Boko Haram," IRIN, August 21, 2018; URL: https://www.irinnews.org/opinion/2018/08/21/opinion-nigeria-militancy-peace-boko-haram
- [49] Idayat Hassan, "The danger of a better-behaved Boko Haram," *IRIN News*, August 21, 2018; URL: https://www.irinnews.org/opinion/2018/08/21/opinion-nigeria-militancy-peace-boko-haram . Moses Ochonu, "Dapchi Girls, Al-Barnawi Faction And Nigeria's Timeless Boko Haram War," sundiatapost.com, March 22, 2018; URL: https://www.irinnews.org/opinion/2018/08/21/opinion-nigeria-militancy-peace-boko-haram . Moses Ochonu, "Dapchi Girls, Al-Barnawi Faction And Nigeria's Timeless Boko Haram War," sundiatapost.com, March 22, 2018; URL: https://sundiatapost.com/2018/03/22/dapchi-girls-al-barnawi-faction-and-nigerias-timeless-boko-haram-war-by-moses-ochonu/ .
- [50] Ibid. "Islamic State ally stakes out territory around Lake Chad," *Reuters*, April 29, 2018; URL: https://www.reuters.com/article/us-nigeria-security/islamic-state-ally-stakes-out-territory-around-lake-chad-idUSKBN110063.
- [51] This refers to the Bin Alis, who are named after the late Bahraini cleric, Turki bin Ali, and who oppose the concept of chain takfir of the more "extreme" theological faction of the Islamic State. See, for example, Aymenn J. Al-Tamimi, "Nigerian Questions by Sheikh Abu Malek al-Tamimi," aymennjawad.org, September 20, 2018; URL: http://www.aymennjawad.org/21634/nigerian-questions-by-sheikh-abu-malek-al-tamimi. Cole Bunzel, "The increasing extremism within the Islamic State," Jihadica, November 19, 2016; URL: http://www.jihadica.com/the-increasing-extremism-within-the-islamic-state/.
- [52] See, for example, Aymenn J. Al-Tamimi, "Nigerian Questions by Sheikh Abu Malek al-Tamimi," aymennjawad.org, September 20, 2018; URL: http://www.aymennjawad.org/21634/nigerian-questions-by-sheikh-abu-malek-al-tamimi.
- [53] "Factional Boko Haram leader Mamman Nur killed by own fighters."
- [54] The author has listened to the audio and viewed screenshots the video. "Boko Haram Executes Aid Worker Hauwa Liman," *Sahara Reporters*, October 15, 2018; URL: http://saharareporters.com/2018/10/15/breaking-boko-haram-executes-aid-worker-hauwa-liman.
- [55] Abdulbasit Kassim and Michael Nwankpa, *The Boko Haram reader: from Nigerian preachers to the Islamic State.* London: Hurst, 2018.
- [56] Author's interview with Barrister Zanna Mustapha, a mediator with ISWAP/Boko Haram and the government, in Maiduguri, Borno State, November 2018.
- [57] Jacob Zenn, "Is Boko Haram's notorious leader about to return from the dead again?," *African Arguments*, December 10, 2018; URL: https://africanarguments.org/2018/12/10/boko-haram-notorious-leader-shekau-return-from-dead-again/. See also @A_Salkida, January 15, 2019; URL: https://twitter.com/A Salkida/status/1085168968413954048.
- [58] Aymenn J. Al-Tamimi, "Nigerian Questions by Sheikh Abu Malek al-Tamimi."
- [59] "Swearing Allegiance To the Caliphate State", Jihadology.net, June 30, 2014; URL: https://jihadology.net/2014/06/30/mit-press-presents-a-new-video-message-from-mujahidin-of-indonesia-timurs-shaykh-abu-wardah-swearing-allegiance-to-the-caliphate-state/.
- [60] He reportedly dropped the support in 2016, claiming to have been "misinformed" about the Islamic State. Rendi Witular, "Abu Bakar Ba'asyir calls on followers to support ISIL," *Jakarta Post*, May 14, 2014; URL: http://www.thejakartapost.com/news/2014/07/14/abu-bakar-ba-asyir-calls-followers-support-isil.html.
- [61] "ISIS threats and followers in the Philippines," Rappler, August 5, 2014; URL: https://www.rappler.com/thought-leaders/65313-isis-threats-and-followers-in-the-philippines.
- [62] Maria A. Ressa, "Senior Abu Sayyaf leader swears oath to ISIS ," Rappler, August 4, 2014;l URL: https://www.rappler.com/nation/65199-abu-sayyaf-leader-oath-isisf .
- [63] Dabiq 5, November 2014; URL: https://azelin.files.wordpress.com/2015/02/the-islamic-state-e2809cdc481biq-magazine-522.pdf.
- [64] Dabiq 7, February 2015; URL: https://azelin.files.wordpress.com/2015/02/the-islamic-state-e2809cdc481biq-magazine-722.pdf.
- [65] Maria A. Ressa, "ISIS to declare a province in Mindanao?", Rappler; January 10, 2016; URL: https://www.rappler.com/nation/118553-isis-declare-province-mindanao.
- [66] See Jacob Zenn, "The Maute Brothers' Path to Militancy in the Islamic State Inspired Fighting in Mindanao," *Militant Leadership Monitor*, July 2017.
- [67] "BIFF, Abu Sayyaf pledge allegiance to Islamic State jihadists," GMA network, August 16, 2014; URL: http://www.gmanetwork.com/news/news/nation/375074/biff-abu-sayyaf-pledge-allegiance-to-islamic-state-jihadists/story/.

- $[68] "Jund al-Khilafah in the Philippines: `Training Camp", Jihadology.net, December 20, 2015; URL \\ \underline{https://jihadology.net/2015/12/20/new-video-message-from-jund-al-khilafah-in-the-philippines-training-camp/.$
- [69] Al-Naba 12, January 5, 2016; URL: https://azelin.files.wordpress.com/2016/01/the-islamic-state-e2809cal-nibacc84 -newsletter-12e280b3.pdf.
- [70] "7 dead as blasts hit Jakarta," Rappler.com, January 12, 2016; URL: https://www.rappler.com/world/regions/asia-pacific/indonesia/bahasa/englishedition/119000-bomb-jakarta-explosion.
- [71] Karina M. Tehusijarana and Moses Ompusunggu, "What is JAD? Terror group behind Mako Brimob riot, Surabaya bombings," *Jakarta Post*, May 14, 2018; URL: http://www.thejakartapost.com/news/2018/05/14/what-is-jad-terror-group-behind-mako-brimob-riot-surabaya-bombings.html.
- [72] Dabiq 13, January 2016; URL: https://azelin.files.wordpress.com/2016/01/the-islamic-state-e2809cdacc84biq-magazine-13e280b3.pdf.
- [73] "Dateline Philippines: How the Maute group recaptured Butig," Youtube, November 28, 2016; URL: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Xylsv oMRTQ.
- [74] Rumiyah 10, June 2017; URL: https://azelin.files.wordpress.com/2017/06/rome-magazine-10.pdf.
- [75] Originally obtained through the Telegram app.
- [76] "Govt foils ISIS plot to take over 3 cities," *Manila Standard*, June 13, 2017; URL: http://manilastandard.net/news/top-stories/239181/govt-foils-isis-plot-to-take-over-3-cities.html. Rohan Gunaratna, "The Siege of Marawi: A Game Changer in Terrorism in Asia," *Counter Terrorist Trends and Analyses* Vol. 9, No. 7 (July 2017); URL: https://www.jstor.org/stable/26351533?seq=1#metadata_info_tab_contents.
- [77] Jon Emont and Felipe Villamor, "ISIS' Core Helps Fund Militants in Philippines, Report Says," *New York Times*, July 20, 2017; URL: https://www.nytimes.com/2017/07/20/world/asia/philippines-isis-marawi-duterte.html. Natashya Guiterrez, "Via Telegram, Western Union: How ISIS in Syria funded Marawi terrorists," Rappler, July 21, 2017; URL: https://www.rappler.com/nation/176295-syria-isis-marawi-funding. Carmela Fonbuena, "Where the Marawi war began: The safe house in Basak Malutlut," Rappler, October 16, 2017; URL: https://www.rappler.com/newsbreak/in-depth/184915-marawi-war-began-safe-house-basak-malutlut.
- [78] Jake Hanrahan, "Inside the Battle of Marawi," Popular Front Podcast, July 2018; URL: https://player.fm/series/2150845.
- [79] "DOT planning to turn Marawi City into a tourism hub," GMA Network, June 25, 2017; URL: http://www.gmanetwork.com/news/news/nation/615823/dot-planning-to-turn-marawi-city-into-a-tourism-July hub/story/.
- [80] Sofia Tomacruz, "China firms in Marawi rehab once blacklisted by World Bank," Rappler, May 14, 2018; URL: https://www.rappler.com/nation/202300-chinese-firms-marawi-consortium-blacklisted-world-bank-arroyo.
- [81] Francie Mangosing, "Moroccan 'suicide-bomber' in Basilan blast linked to Abu Sayyaf," Newsinfo.inquirer.net, August 10, 2018; URL: https://newsinfo.inquirer.net/1019758/moroccan-suicide-bomber-in-basilan-blast-linked-to-abu-sayyaf-lorenzana#ixzz5T0DxqpxL. Ron Gagalac, "'No suicide bomber': Woman left bomb inside Jolo church- military," https://news.abs-cbn.com/news/01/29/19/no-suicide-bomber-woman-left-bomb-inside-jolo-church-military.
- [82] Aymenn J. al-Tamimi, "The Islamic State West Africa Province vs. Abu Bakr Shekau: Full Text, Translation and Analysis."
- [83] "UNIMAID Staff Abducted During Oil Exploration in the Lake Chad Region," jihadology.net, July 28, 2017; URL: https://jihadology.net/2017/07/28/new-video-message-from-jamaat-ahl-al-sunnah-li-l-dawah-wa-l-jihad-unimaid-staff-abducted-during-oil-exploration-in-the-lake-chad-region/.

Research Note

Understanding Muslims' Support for Suicide Bombing in West Africa: A Replication Study

By C. Christine Fair and Samta Savla

Abstract

Support for Islamist violence among Muslims—howsoever varied—is theoretically and practically important because scholars have demonstrated that popular support for terrorism may explain where terrorist events occur even though the mechanistic details of this predictive utility are disputed. For this and other empirical and theoretical reasons, scholars from various disciplines and scholarly commitments have sought to exposit respondent-level determinants of support for Islamist political violence. One of the common variables that is used in these studies is support for Shari'ah (often referred to as "Islamic law"); however, scholars using this variable arrive at divergent conclusions. Recent studies of Pakistan and Bangladesh suggest one reason for this is the way in which scholars conceptualize and instrumentalize Shari'ah. This scholarship argues that Shari'ah should be decomposed into at least three components, support for: scriptural literalism, good governance and restrictions on women. Using 2009 data from Pew's Tolerance and Tension, we replicate the empirical estimation strategies of those scholars to extend this analytical framework to four West African countries (Ghana, Cameroon, Guinea Bissau and Liberia), which have been neglected by scholars of Islamist political violence. We find considerable support for this framework. Notably, in Ghana and Liberia, support for scriptural literalism coincides with support for religious violence. We find no correlation between religiosity and support for violence in any of the four countries. In Guinea Bissau, we find a puzzling positive relationship between secularism and support for violence.

Keywords: Public Opinion, Islamist political violence, public support for Islamist violence, West Africa, Replication Study

Introduction

The September 11 attacks, the spread of al-Qaeda and the Islamic State, and other acts of Islamist political violence have pushed Muslims and their faith into the center of political debates across the world. Global publics have come to view Muslims in their own countries and abroad with fear and alarm, fueling Islamophobia and even deadly attacks on Muslims.[1] In many ways the presumption that Muslims support violence committed in the name of their faith is unfounded: data from Pew Research Center demonstrates that a majority of Muslims aver that "suicide bombings and other forms of violence against civilians in the name of Islam are rarely or never justified." However, in some countries, nearly one in four Muslims indicates that these acts of violence are at least sometimes justified, including 40% in the Palestinian territories, 39% in Afghanistan, 29% in Egypt and 26% in Bangladesh.[2]

This support for Islamist violence among Muslims—howsoever varied—is theoretically and practically important for several reasons. First, recently scholars have demonstrated that this popular support for terrorism may explain where terrorist events occur even though the mechanistic details of this predictive utility are disputed.[3] Second, several studies have found that favorable public opinion explains the success of terrorist movements. For example, they rely upon public support to legitimize their goals if not their means[4] and they can more easily extract financial and human resources from sympathetic populations.[5] Terrorist groups may take public opinion into consideration when making tactical or even strategic decisions.[6] For these and other empirical and theoretical reasons, scholars from various disciplines and scholarly commitments have endeavored to exposit respondent-level determinants of support for suicide bombings and other forms of Islamist political violence perpetrated by Islamist militant groups using both multi-national surveys and

country-specific samples as well as innovative survey techniques[7] to field these surveys.

Political scientists have studied the posited correlation between support for political violence and an array of respondent-level factors, including: knowledge of Islam;[8] perceived and actual socio-economic status; dimensions of education and human capital;[9] ethnicity;[10] facets of belief and practice such as religiosity;[11] exposure to violence;[12] among other individual-level factors such as attitudes towards American culture and U.S. foreign policy[13] and political dissatisfaction.[14] These various empirical inquiries have often reached indeterminate and/or discordant findings.

In this article, we dilate upon recent studies in which the authors sought to explain why various studies that link support for political violence and preferences for Shari'ah (often referred to as "Islamic law") arrive at divergent conclusions.[15] Fair, Littman, and Nugent[16] suspected that part of problem derives from the sub-optimal ways in which scholars *per force* conceive of and instrumentalize Shari'ah in these empirical studies. Using a unique dataset they collected from a national survey fielded in Pakistan, they argued that Shari'ah should be conceptualized into (at least) three components and instrumentalized accordingly: scriptural literalism such as support for Quranic physical punishments often referred to as Hudood Punishments (e.g. whipping, stoning, amputation, etc.); a demand for good governance (access to fair courts, diminished corruption, provision of public services); and restrictions on women. They found that while respondents who understood Shari'ah in terms of scriptural literalism (e.g. Hudood punishments) were more likely to support Islamist political violence, those who understood it as good governance or restricting women in public life were less likely to do so.[17]

Using data from Pew Research Center's 2011/12 World's Muslims Data Set, Fair, Hamza and Heller[18] next explored whether this framework explains support for suicide bombing in Bangladesh, which is another large Muslim-majority country in South Asia, that recognized Islam as the basis of law and had been part of Pakistan until 1971.[19] However, they also explicitly controlled for respondent attitudes towards secularism. In general, they replicated the major findings of Fair, Littman, and Nugent for Pakistan in that scriptural literalism positively correlated with support for suicide attacks while other dimensions of Shari'ah were not statistically significant. They also found that support for secularism is negatively correlated. These results may not be so surprising given the ostensible commonalties between Pakistan and Bangladesh. The question remains whether the instrumentalization of Shari'ah, proffered by Fair, Littman and Nugent, explains support for Islamist violence among Muslim polities that differ from Bangladesh or Pakistan geographically, demographically, politically, historically or in dominant sectarian commitments embraced by their polities.

In this replication study, we examine whether this framework proffered by Fair, Littman and Nugent explains support for Islamist violence in countries that differ from Pakistan or Bangladesh historically, geographically, politically, socially, demographically and with respect to the Islamic interpretative traditions embraced by the populations. Here, we apply their concept to several Muslim-minority countries in West Africa, including: Ghana (population 28 Million, 18% of which is Muslim),[20] Cameroon (population 26 million, 21% Muslim),[21] Guinea Bissau (1.8 Million, 45.1% Muslim),[22] and Liberia (5 million, 12% Muslim).[23] Examining these countries is important both theoretically and practically. Most scholarly inquiries into support for Islamist violence dilates upon Muslims in Muslim-majority countries in the Middle East, North Africa as well as South and Southeast Asia. While scholars have also looked at support for Islamist violence in Africa, most works primarily focus on countries with Muslim majority or near majority populations. These four countries are all Muslim minority states, although Guinea Bissau has a large minority (45 percent). Also, studies tend to focus upon support in countries in which Islamist violence has taken place with some frequency. It is important to test Muslims' support for Islamist violence not only in countries where they have been influenced by exposure, but in those where such an occurrence is limited. Given the myriad differences between these countries on the one hand and Pakistan on the other, this is a hard test of the Fair, Littman and Nugent framework.

All four are Muslim-minority countries and with exception of Cameroon, these four countries have exhibited limited encounters with Islamist terrorism. Even then, the operation of such groups in Cameroon is a recent

development. With the data limitations from countries included in the Pew Research Center's surveys,[24] Cameroon, Liberia, Ghana, and Guinea Bissau were four countries that fit our research criteria and have not been investigated in this light thus far.

To do so, we leverage data from the Pew Research Center's 2009 *Tolerance and Tension: Islam and Christianity in Sub-Saharan Africa* survey, which includes data from 25,000 Muslims and non-Muslims across nineteen countries. [25] As we discuss below, because these countries have small Muslim minorities, our analytical samples are small ranging between 245 and 373. Despite these small samples, our findings support the key elements of the Fair, Littman and Nugent framework. Consistent with that study, we find that in Ghana and Liberia, support for scriptural literalism coincides with support for religious violence while finding no correlation between religiosity and support for violence in any of the four countries. While Fair, Littman and Nugent did not examine secularism, Fair, Hamza and Heller did and found an inverse relationship between support for secularism and support for terrorism. We found no statistical relationship in three of the countries, but, in Guinea Bissau, we find a positive relationship. In all four countries, socio-economic status is insignificant.

We organize the remainder of this article as follows. First, provide brief background sketches of the four countries, focusing upon religion, ethnic and political challenges. Next, we provide an overview of the limited extent of Islamist militancy in the four countries in our sample to demonstrate that this is rare and recent phenomenon. Third, we review the extant scholarly literature that is germane to explaining individual support for Islamist violence. Fourth, we describe the data and analytical methods we employ in this study. Penultimately, we discuss the results and conclude with a discussion of the policy implications of our findings.

Background on the Countries in our Sample

In this section, we provide a brief description of the countries in our sample focusing upon the ethnic and religious composition of the countries and major features of domestic politics, which may aid us in interpreting the results of our analysis. All four countries, while differing in many ways, have several features in common. They all evidence diversity with respect to ethnicity and creed. Christian and Muslim communities have evolved considerably in the last sixty years as Pentecostalism is supplanting older traditional denominations and Wahhabi versions of Islam displace traditional Sufi identifications. Thus in both traditions, the most zealous and stringent are becoming ever more prominent producing sectarian and communal conflicts in countries that are already vulnerable to conflict in nearby countries. All are young countries with about 60% of their populations under 25.

Cameroon

Cameroon, with a population of 25.6 million, is a young country with 60% of the population under the age of 25. It also diverse with respect ethnicity and religious identifications. While no ethnic group is in the majority, "Cameroon Highlanders" are the plurality with 31%, followed by the Equatorial Bantu (19%), Kirdi (11%), Fulani (10%), as well as smaller groups (Northwestern Bantu, Eastern Nigritic among other African and non-African ethnic groups). The country is overwhelmingly Christian although Christians are divided among Roman Catholics who are 38.4% of the country, Protestants (26.3%) and other Christians (4.5%) while Muslims comprise 20.9% of the populations. The remainder are animist (5.6%), non-believers or others (4.2%). [26] According to a 2012 Pew study, among Muslims, 27% identify as Sunni, 3% as Shia, 40% as "just a Muslim," and 17 percent as "something else." Additionally, 12% identify as Ahmadiyya. Some 45 percent belong to a Sufi order, the most common of which is the 19th-Century Tijaniyyah Sufi order; [27] however as noted below this changing. In 2010, Pew found evidence of considerable communal distrust: more than half (57%) of Christians thought Muslims were violent and one in four (24%) of Muslims thought that Christians were violent. [28]

Johnson (2017) notes that in recent decades the religious landscapes of both Muslim and Christian communities have experienced profound changes which have the potential to profoundly disrupt social relations with potential for violence. On the Christian side, Pentecostal movements emerged in in French-speaking Cameroon in the 1960s. (Previously they were only in English-speaking Cameroon.) Established churches reviled the

Pentecostal churches. At the same time, Catholicism also underwent a "Charismatic renewal movement," in part in response to the spread of Protestant Pentecostalism. Christian churches began moving into new geographies in part due to the expanding mobility of their adherents who increasingly found themselves in places where no church existed from their denomination and who organized to establish them. Whereas established churches centered around denomination (i.e. Baptists, Reformed, Lutherans, Catholics, etc.), newer churches, which called themselves Evangelical or Pentecostal, were "individual enterprises under the leadership of a guide who called himself pastor, apostle, or prophet," many of whom had little pastoral training. In recent decades, Cameroon has been beset with religious television programming, which allows them to affiliate with a pastor perhaps thousands of miles away.[29]

Islam in Cameroon has also undergone considerable change over roughly the same time frame. In the early nineteenth century, Islam tended to be centered in the north which was dominated by ethnic Kirdi who were governed by the Fulanis who, while only one third of the population, were in political control. The first development in modern history took place in the 1970s when Ahmadou Ahidjo, a Fulani Muslim, became the head of state. This ushered in a period of "Fulanization," which has sometimes been associated inaccurately as "Islamization." During his tenure, traditional chiefs came under pressure to bring their Kirdi populations into the fold of Islam. This was more of a political move than a religious one. Many Kirdis abandoned Islam as soon as Ahidjo was out of power. As with Christianity, Islam began moving from the north to the south following the migration of Cameroonians for schooling or employment. In large cities, mosques became a visible focal point. The imams, who were doctrinally unified and recognized both by the worshipers and by the state, played what Johnson calls a "federating role for all Muslims, from the north as well as the south of Cameroon." [30] Wahhabism came to Cameroon in the 1980s due to the efforts of Arab Gulf State monarchies, which—enriched by their oil reserves—began to propound Wahhabism aggressively in Africa. Africans received scholarships in Islamic studies, which bequeathed to Cameroon a generation of new religious intellectuals, who differed from former faith leaders. Whereas mosques were previously founded with denominational unity, new Wahhabi institutions (mosques, papers, NGOs and proselytization organization) functioned autonomously. Finally, as happened with Christianity, Wahhabi Islam became increasingly available on television and the internet.[31]

Taken together, this democratization of both faiths has allowed very intolerant and zealous variants of Christianity and Islam to compete with and overtake more traditional denominations. Moreover, Cameroon is a conflict-prone regional environment, due to the attacks by Boko Haram and the political instability in neighboring Central African Republic. In light of these issues, Johnson worries that "Cameroon is exposed to risks of internal and external conflicts: religious intolerance finds a fertile terrain there because of ethnic cleavages and the latent resentments arising from social inequalities."[32]

Ghana

Ghana, with a population of 28.1 million, is also a young country with 57% of its citizens under 25. The largest ethnic group is the Akan, with 47.5% of the population. The next largest group is the Mole-Dagbon (16.6%), followed by the Ewe (13.9%), and several other smaller groups (Ga-Dangme, Gurma, Guan, Grusi, Mande.) The country is overwhelmingly Christian (71%), although there is considerable diversity (Pentecostal/Charismatic (28.3%), Protestant (18.4%), Catholic (13.1%), other (11.4%)). Muslims comprise 17.6% of the population while the remainder identify as traditional (5.2%), none (5.2%) or other (0.8%).[33] Among Muslims in Ghana, 51% identify as "Sunni," in the afore-noted Pew poll, 8% as Shia, 16% as "something else" and 13% as "just a Muslim." Slightly more than one in three (37%) identify as Sufi Muslims and the Tijaniyyah order is the most common.[34] Pew found high levels of inter-communal distrust with 61% of Christians believing Muslims are violent while only 11% of Muslims hold this view of Christians.[35]

As with Cameroon, Wahhabism became more common in Ghana in the 1980s through similar means, where it began to conflict with traditional Sufi adherents whose practices are reviled by Wahhabis. However, it first came to the country sometime around the 1940s. It spread through Quranic schools. The aim of these early

Wahhabis was the reform of Muslims who espouse un-Islamic practices, notably adherents of Sufi orders such as Tijaniyyah. This resulted in religious tensions that predate the oil-fueled expansion of Wahhabism in the 1980s: by the 1970s the Tijaniyyah was no longer the majority tradition. [36] As with Cameroon, while Wahhabism has undercut support for traditional Muslim practices, Pentecostalism and other forms of charismatic Christianity is also competing for influence among the country's Christian population. Given the effective use of religious media by both groups over several decades, both Wahhabi Islam and charismatic Christian movements are part of global religious flows. [37]

Guinea Bissau

Guinea Bissau is the smallest country in our sample with a meagre 1.8 million. It too is a young country without about 60% of its population under 25. It is ethnically diverse with the Fulani being the largest (28.5%), followed by the Balanta (22.5%), Mandinga (14.7%), Papel (9.1%) and Manjaco (8.3%). Smaller groups such as the Beafada, Mancanha, Bijago, Felupe, Mansoanca, Balanta comprise the remainder. Of the four, Guinea Bissau has the largest percentage of Muslims (45.1%) while Christian make up 22.1%, animist 14.9%, while rest either identify as animist or with no religion.[38] Among Muslims, according to Pew, 40% identify as Sunni, 6% as Shia, 2% as Something Else or 36% as Just a Muslim. Forty percent identify with a Sufi order, of which the Tijaniyyah order is most popular.[39] Despite the fact that a majority of citizens identify with Islam or Christianity, politics in Guinea Bissau rely upon animism as the "traditional" faith. [40] There is little scholarly literature on the evolution of either Islam or Christianity in this country. Curiously, among the four countries studied here, there seems to be greater religious tolerance. Pew found in 2010 that only one in five Christians believed Muslims were violent while only 13 percent of Muslims believed Christians were violent.[41] The country also has a history of political instability (inclusive of civil war and multiple coups, the most recent of which occurred in 2012) as well as a shambolic economy, inadequate education infrastructure, pervasive corruption, endemic poverty, and various forms of criminality. Many families send their male children to study in Quranic schools in Senegal and Gambia where they are forced to beg.[42]

Liberia

Liberia has a population of 4.8 million, which is extremely diverse ethnically with no singular ethnic group dominating. The Kpelle is the largest (20.3%) followed by the Bassa (13.4%); Grebo (10%); Gio (8%); Mano (7.9%) Kru (6%) in addition to several others that comprise fewer than 5% (i.e. Lorma, Kissi, Gola Krahn, Vai, Mandingo; Gbandi). With respect to religion, a majority (86%) are Christian while 12% are Muslim. The remainder are comprised of other faiths each of which are embraced by fewer than 1% of the population. [43] Of the Muslim population, 38% identify as Sunni, 9% as Shia, 10% as "something else," and 22% as "just a Muslim." Nearly one in 10 identifies as Ahmadiyya. Forty-five percent identify with a Sufi tradition, the most common of which is the Tijaniyyah order. [44] As with other countries in this study, Pew found considerable communal distrust with 43% of Christians believing Muslims to be violent in comparison to 20% of Muslims who viewed Christians as violent. [45]

As elsewhere Pentecostalism has grown rapidly in Liberia, driven by many of the same dynamics noted above. The Pentecostal churches have sought assert to themselves as the most salient and efficacious church for Liberians. [46] Less is known about the changes within the Muslim community apart from the fact that Muslims suffered various forms of exclusion and discrimination and that, during the 1980s, Muslims benefitted from scholarships to study in Saudi Arabia and Kuwait. During this time, Liberian Muslims began forging closer ties to Muslims elsewhere in West Africa, such as Guinea and Sierra Leone. In post-conflict Liberia, Muslims remain politically marginalized and the object of mistrust. While Liberia's civil war (1989-2003) which rendered some 250,000 persons refugees and while internally displacing another half million is generally viewed as non-religious in nature, there were religious overtones. For example, Christians sought to use the war to attack and wipe out Muslims largely because of the belief that Liberia is a Christian country and Muslims should go elsewhere, such as Guinea. [47]

Overview of Islamist Terrorism in West Africa

Prior to 9/11, West Africa was mostly free of terrorist threats and Islamist militancy. The rise and spread of such groups in the region have occurred more recently compared to the rest of the continent. [48] According to the U.S. Department of State, the primary Islamist militant group operating in the region is Nigeria-based Boko Haram and its offshoot, Islamic State-West Africa (IS-WA). While its stronghold is Nigeria, it is also active in Chad, Niger and Northern Cameroon where it conducts terrorist attacks, targeted killings, and kidnappings. In Cameroon, most Islamist militancy and terrorism is concentrated in the Lake Chad Basin, which involves Northern Cameroon, and along the Cameroon-Nigeria border. [49]

Both Boko Haram and IS-WA reject modern geographical boundaries and seek to restore the caliphate. For Boko Haram, this means restoring the boundaries of the Sokoto Caliphate encompassing Nigeria, Niger, Cameroon, and Burkina Faso. Abubakar Shekau's 2010 reorganization of Boko Haram has led to religious and sectarian cleansing of Christian areas and establishing Islamic rule extending to Cameroon's bordering villages. [50] Weak border security, instability, and existing conflict in the Lake Chad basin has only continued to fuel the insurgency.

In addition to Boko Haram and its offshoot IS-WA, influence from other regional terrorist groups is continuing to spread and only increasing the likelihood of spillover conflict in neighboring states. Al-Qaeda in the Islamic Maghreb (AQIM), Ansar Dine, and the Movement for Oneness and Jihad in West Africa (MUJAO) are three active Islamist groups in the region who pose such a threat. AQIM originated in Algeria and is active in Mali, Niger, Libya, Ivory Coast, Burkina Faso, Mauritania, Morocco, and Tunisia. Ansar Dine is primarily active in Mali, and MUJAO, operates in Mali, Niger, Algeria and Burkina Faso.[51] Terrorist threats from within these countries as well as those across the continent have severe and diverse ramifications. Particularly, Islamism in Nigeria and Mali increases the risk of Islamist terrorism spreading across the region. Additionally, the region's permeable borders, potential affiliation among terrorist groups, creation of illicit financial networks to support these groups, and political and economic instability raises concerns for the entire West African region.[52] (See Tables 1 and 2, which depict the number of terrorist attacks and resulting casualties in Cameroon, Liberia, Ghana, and Guinea Bissau from 2009 to 2016.)

Year **Country** 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 Cameroon 1 3 3 67 82 54 Ghana 0 Guinea-Bissau 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 Liberia 0 0

Table 1. Total Events

Source: In-house manipulation of data from the Global Terrorism Database. National Consortium for the Study of Terrorism and Responses to Terrorism (START). (2017). Global Terrorism Database [Data file]. Retrieved from https://www.start.umd.edu/gtd.

Table 2. Casualties (Fatalities and Wounded)

Country	Year									
Country	2009	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016		
Cameroon	0	7	4	0	7	806	1411	569		
Ghana	0	0	0	0	0	3	0	0		
Guinea-Bissau	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0		
Liberia	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0		

Source: In-house manipulation of data from the Global Terrorism Database. National Consortium for the Study of Terrorism and Responses to Terrorism (START). (2017). Global Terrorism Database [Data file]. Retrieved from https://www.start.umd.edu/gtd.

Why Some Muslims Support Islamist Violence: What the Literature Says

Here, we review the extant literature on support for Islamist violence to generate testable hypotheses about the lineaments of respondent support for terrorism. Generally speaking, the literature explores the following explanations for support for violence: the Clash of Civilizations and the derived notions of scriptural literalism, religiosity and piety; commitments to secularism; and socio-economic status. We review these concepts in turn below.

Clash of Civilizations

To explain support for Islamist violence, scholars frequently mobilize Samuel Huntington's "clash of civilizations" thesis which posits a fundamental conflict between the Christian West and the so-called Islamic World and asserts that support for terrorism derives from embracing Islam.[53] Empirical studies are discordant. Tessler and Robbins;[54] Esposito;[55] Tessler and Nachtwey[56] find little association between simply believing in Islam and supporting violent politics; however, Weinberg, Pedazhur, and Canetti Nisim[57] as well as Ginges, Hansen, and Norenzayan[58] do find support for the asserted causal relationship between Islamic piety and political violence. When analysts have found correlation between embracing Islam and violence, the relationship seems to be driven by a particular understanding of Islam (e.g., for example, beliefs about the efficacy or compulsory nature of individual militarized jihad).[59] Other studies have found that adherence to specific sectarian traditions predict support for Islamist militant groups.[60] At least two scholars have presented limited evidence that individuals with greater knowledge of Islam, obtained through Quranic study groups and other pietic practices, are better able to resist the arguments of militant thought leaders and thus less likely to support Islamist militant politics.[61]

Two studies have argued that it is not embrace of Islam that explains support for Islamist violence; rather it is the embrace of scriptural literalism.[62] Ciftci, O'Donnell, and Tanner[63] assess multiple variables on support for al-Qaeda and determine that strong correlation exists between literalist interpretations of Islam and support for al-Qaeda. They conclude that a belief in literalist interpretations of Islam rather than religiosity accounts for respondent support for al-Qaeda's violence. This accords a similar finding of Fair, Littman and Nugent who, based upon their review of extant literature, argue that it is not support for Shari'ah per se that best accounts for individual support of Islamist violence in Pakistan; rather the way in which support for Shari'ah is instrumentalized. They argue that support for Shari'ah should be decomposed into three concepts: support for Islamic scripturalism which includes support for physical punishments often called Hudood (whipping, stoning, amputation); support for good governance and restrictions upon women. They test their supposition formally using unique data collected from a large, nationally representative survey of Pakistan and find that only support for Hudood punishments explains support for violence. Fair, Ali, and Heller extend the Fair, Littman and Nugent findings to Bangladesh and conclude that there is no statistically significant relationship between piety and support for violence, but scriptural literalism does lead to significant correlations to support for violence. These studies give rise to two testable hypotheses:

H1: Respondents who embrace literalist interpretations of Shari'ah will be more supportive of Islamist violence.

H2: Religiosity is not correlated with tolerance of terrorist activities like suicide bombing.

Commitments to Secularism

Fox,[64] in his study of whether secularist policies in state constitutions are consistent with observed relations between the state and religion, finds that constitutional clauses on the separation of state and religion influence state sponsorship of the religion. However, most states do not fully meet the standards of separation of religion and state. While many scholars have studied the relationship between religiosity and support for violence,

ISSN 2334-3745 111 February 2019

there remains limited scholarship on the relationship between secularism and support for Islamist violence. In an expansion of his previous work, Fox[65] investigates the discrimination of religious minorities in Muslimmajority states. While a majority of the states in the Middle East contain some form of religious freedom legislation, religious minorities still face high levels of discrimination. He concludes that discrimination is most present in states with autocratic regimes or which present a single state religion. Fair, Hamza, and Heller directly examine the relationship between support for secularism for Islamist violence. Using data from the *Pew Research Center's World's Muslims Survey*[66] to measure support for Islamist violence in Bangladesh, they find a negative relationship between support for secularism and support for Islamist violence. This gives rise to our third hypothesis, namely:

H3: Secularism is negatively correlated with support for Islamist terrorist attacks like suicide bombing.

Socioeconomic Status

The notion that poverty and support for terrorism share a causal and positively correlated relationship has long been debated and disputed by many scholars. Previous studies have found little evidence linking poverty or education to support for terrorism.[67] Ethan Bueno de Mesquita[68] in his study of the relationship between economic conditions and terrorist mobilization finds that while poorer economic conditions correlate with increased terrorist mobilization, terrorists themselves are not likely to be poorer or less educated than the populations from which organizations recruit. This is because during periods of economic depression, the opportunity costs of participating in militancy for persons with higher "human capital" endowments is lower relative to periods of economic growth. This means that there are more higher-quality persons who want to be a terrorist than groups have need for personnel. Thus, militant organizations have the luxury of "hiring" better qualified persons who are available in the pool of potential recruits during economic retrenchment.[69] Under these demand-constrained conditions, terrorist groups can select the best persons available. When economies perform poorly, more educated or skilled persons become available relative to better times and the opportunity costs for higher quality persons to join a terrorist group decline. This may explain why terrorists tend to be better educated relative to the populations from which they come even while the overall economic well-being of the country or community may be relatively underperforming.[70]

Empirical tests of the relationship between socioeconomics and support for Islamist militancy produce either mixed or countervailing evidence for the claim, depending on the country studied or the specifics of the model employed. For example, Shafiq and Sinno found that in Indonesia and Jordan, the wealthiest respondents are most supportive of suicide bombing that target civilians while in Pakistan the wealthiest respondents were least supportive. However, in Jordan, Morocco, and Turkey, support for bombings against civilians were comparable across income quartiles. When they examined support for suicide attacks against Westerners in Iraq, a different set of patterns emerged. In Jordan, Lebanon and Turkey, the wealthiest were less supportive of the tactic while the richest in Pakistan were most supportive. They found no obvious pattern between per capita income quartile and support for such attacks in Morocco.[71]

In contrast, Sirgy, Joshanloo, and Estes[72] posited that support for political militancy is influenced by one's sense of economic ill-being and a strong sense of Muslim religiosity. The authors test a quality of life model and conclude that Muslims that are economically deprived and live in politically unfree states tend to support Jihadist terrorism as a solution to problems such as corruption, crime, social conflict, poverty, and unemployment.[73]

These studies are typical of the literature in which various authors find that the relationship between income and support for suicide bombings varies across the countries studied and the targets of the attacks. Inputs into socio-economic status such as education produce similarly divergent results, as one would expect.[74]

Given these varied divergent empirical findings, we posit the below Null hypothesis.

H4: Socio-economic status will not be related to support for Islamist violence.

ISSN 2334-3745 112 February 2019

Analytical Methods and Data

This is principally a replication study of Fair, Littman and Nugent, who used a unique dataset derived from a survey they fielded in Pakistan, and extended by Fair, Hamza, and Heller using publicly available data from Pew. For this reason, it would have been optimal to use Pew's "World's Muslims Data Set," which was used by Fair, Hamza and Heller. Unfortunately, that dataset did not include the countries of interest investigated in this effort. For this reason, both to test the above-posited four main hypotheses and in-turn conduct our replication study, we employ data from the Pew Research Center's *Tolerance and Tension: Islam and Christianity in Sub-Saharan Africa*[75] for which Pew fielded surveys between December 2008 and April 2009 using face-to-face interviews of individuals between the ages of eighteen and ninety-seven across nineteen countries in the respective national languages. We use survey samples for four Muslim-minority countries, namely: Liberia, Cameroon, Ghana, and Guinea Bissau.[76] While the sample sizes range from 1,000 respondents (in Guinea Bissau) 1,503 respondents (in Cameroon), these samples include both Muslims and non-Muslims. In this study, we only employ responses from Muslim survey participants. This resulted in survey samples that range from 245 respondents (for Cameroon) to 373 (for Guinea Bissau). We provide information about the samples used in this study from each country in Table 3, below.

Tau	Table 3: Information about Country-specific survey samples								
Country	Total Sample	# of Non-Mus-	# of Muslims in	Margin of Error					
Name	Size	lims	Sample	Among Mus-					
		in Sample		lims					
Cameroon	1,503	1,209	245	±9 points					
Ghana	1,500	1,148	339	±7 points					
Guinea Bis-	1,000	619	373	±7 points					
sau									
Liberia	1,500	1,040	279	±8 points					

Table 3: Information about Country-Specific Survey Samples

Enumerators asked respondents numerous survey items that pertained to respondent religious beliefs and practices in effort to gauge respondents' knowledge of and attitudes toward other faiths. The survey effort also sought to assess respondents' levels of political and economic satisfaction; concerns about crime, corruption and extremism; positions on issues such as abortion and polygamy; as well as views of democracy, religious law and the place of women in society.

Instrumentalization

Because this is principally a replication study, we used the same survey questions as employed by Fair, Hamza, and Heller. Fortunately, Pew tends to use the same questions in their multi-country survey efforts over many years, enabling us to follow their instrumentalization procedures unless otherwise noted. We acknowledge that while the questions are identical or nearly identical in the English versions of the respective questionnaires, respondents may interpret the questions differently in these varied political and/or temporal contexts. Equally important to note is that these survey items may take on different connotations or denotations once translated into the relevant languages in each country depending upon the translation choices of Pew's implementing partners. Taken together, while we may believe we are asking the same question of respondents in different countries in different years, the questions may differ in subtle ways or be understood by respondents to be different. Unfortunately, because Pew does not provide the translations of their questionnaires, we are unable to verify the translations Pew uses, even if we could muster the requisite linguistic expertise to do so.

In order to test H1, we created a Hudood index similar to that in Fair, Hamza, and Heller. This index includes seven survey questions which reflect an individual's support for literalist interpretation of Islamic or Shari'ah

law as the official legal code in their country and the approval of punishments in accordance to Shari'ah law. The index ranges from 0 to 1, where "0" indicates little support of Hudood laws and "1" indicates the most support. To construct the Hudood index, we use survey questions 54, 55, 95a, 95b, 95c, 95d, and 95e, which we provide in Appendix 1.

In order to test H2, we create a Religiosity index. This index includes six questions that measure the respondent's self-reported commitment to religious practices. The index has values between 0 and 1, with "0" indicating the least amount of commitment to religious practices and "1" indicating the maximum possible. The To construct the Religiosity index, we employ survey items 42, 64, 65, 66a, 68j, and 68k from the survey, which we detail in Appendix 1.

To test H3, we create a Secularism index that measures the respondents' support for secularism. The index ranges from 0 to 1, with "0" corresponding with the least amount of support for secularism and "1" corresponding with the most support. We derive the Secularism index from questions 12a and 14 from the survey, which we detail in Appendix 1.

In order to test H4, we would prefer a direct measure of respondent income. Unfortunately, Pew's *Tolerance and Tension* Survey[77] does not include any question about actual income. Thus, per force, we use a survey item (Question 101) that proxies income in that it measures the respondent's self-perceived economic status. This question asks respondents to rank their self-perceived economic status as being "very bad", "somewhat bad", "somewhat good", and "very good". We recoded this variable to have a range of 0 to 1, with "0" corresponding to low ("very bad") and "1" corresponding to high ("very good"). It turns out that Fair, Hamza, and Heller had empirical concerns about the way in which Pew collected income data in the survey the employed and thus used the same question to study the linkages between economic status on the one hand and support for Islamist violence on the other.

Finally, we derived our dependent variable from Question 88 which asks: "Some people think that the tactic of using arms and violence against civilians in defense of their religion is justified. Other people believe that, no matter what the reason, this kind of violence is never justified. How about you? Do you personally feel that the tactic of using arms and violence against civilians in defense of your religion can be often justified, sometimes justified, rarely justified, or never justified?" As noted by Fair, Hamza, and Heller, this question is sub-optimal in several respects. First, it conflates the goal of defending one's faith with the tactic of "using arms and violence against civilians." Second, the goal is highly emotive: defending Islam.

Methodology

We use the below basic model specification:

$$Yi = \alpha + YXi + \varepsilon$$

Here, i refers to the respondent, α is a constant, ϵ is an error term and X refers to a vector of respondent-level characteristics, including the study variables as well as the control variables employed by Fair, Hamza and Heller namely: education level, access to internet, and gender. We estimate the models for the four countries separately using ordered logistic regressions. Doing so permits the coefficients on study variables to change for each country. Survey responses listed as "don't know" or "refused" were treated as missing, which further reduces national sample sizes in the regressions. We have placed the descriptive statistics for the dependent and independent variables for Cameroon, Ghana, Guinea Bissau and Liberia in Tables 4 through 7 respectively. We provide the regression results in Table 8.

ISSN 2334-3745 114 February 2019

 Table 4: Descriptive Statistics for Cameroon

37 1.1.	N.T.	M C(1.5		241 D D		Percentiles					
Variable	N	Mean	Std. Dev. Range	10%	25%	50%	75%	90%			
Dep. Var.	237	0.2518	0.3590	0-1	0	0	0	0.6667	1		
Hudood	235	0.5951	0.2400	0-1	0.2857	0.4286	0.5714	0.8571	0.8571		
Religiosity	232	0.9122	0.1023	0-1	0.75	0.8333	0.9583	1	1		
Secularism	236	0.3298	0.2999	0-1	0	0	0.1667	0.5	0.6667		
Income	233	0.3577	0.3374	0-1	0	0	0.3333	0.6667	1		
Gender	245	0.6735	0.4699	0-1	0	0	1	1	1		
Education	244	0.2541	0.3026	0-1	0	0	0	0.5	0.5		
Internet	245	0.1429	0.3506	0-1	0	0	0	0	1		

Source: In-house calculations of Pew Data

 Table 5: Descriptive Statistics for Ghana

37 1.1.	N.T.	34	C(I D	Std. Dev. Range	Percentiles					
Variable	N	Mean	Sta. Dev.		10%	25%	50%	75%	90%	
Dep. Var.	320	0.3667	0.3909	0-1	0	0	0.3333	0.6667	1	
Hudood	315	0.6340	0.2801	0-1	0.2857	0.4286	0.5714	1	1	
Religiosity	317	0.8996	0.1141	0-1	0.7083	0.8333	0.9167	1	1	
Secularism	333	0.3293	0.2707	0-1	0	0	0.5	0.5	0.6667	
Income	216	0.4475	0.3407	0-1	0	0.3333	0.3333	0.6667	1	
Gender	339	0.5811	0.4941	0-1	0	0	1	1	1	
Education	338	0.3018	0.3723	0-1	0	0	0	0.5	1	
Internet	338	0.1893	0.3924	0-1	0	0	0	0	1	

Source: In-house calculations of Pew Data

Table 6: Descriptive Statistics for Guinea Bissau

Variable	N	Maan	Ctd Day	Std. Dev. Range		Percentiles					
variable	IN .	Mean	Sta. Dev.	Range	10%	25%	50%	75%	90%		
Dep. Var.	353	0.4750	0.3828	0-1	0	0	0.6667	0.6667	1		
Hudood	304	0.5832	0.2509	0-1	0.2857	0.4286	0.5714	0.7143	0.8571		
Religiosity	311	0.9061	0.1249	0-1	0.6667	0.8333	1	1	1		
Secularism	348	0.2356	0.2550	0-1	0	0	0.1667	0.5	0.5		
Income	318	0.4109	0.3576	0-1	0	0	0.3333	0.6667	1		
Gender	373	0.5147	0.5005	0-1	0	0	1	1	1		
Education	362	0.3688	0.3350	0-1	0	0	0.5	0.5	1		
Internet	362	0.1685	0.3748	0-1	0	0	0	0	1		

Source: In-house calculations of Pew Data

Table 7: Descriptive Statistics for Liberia

Variable	N	Maan Std Day	Std. Dev. Range						
variable	IN .	Mean	Std. Dev. Range	Kange	10%	25%	50%	75%	90%
Dep. Var.	254	0.3110	0.4084	0-1	0	0	0	0.6667	1
Hudood	234	0.6020	0.2366	0-1	0.2857	0.4286	0.5714	0.8571	1
Religiosity	232	0.9249	0.1071	0-1	0.7917	0.8333	1	1	1
Secularism	258	0.2138	0.2577	0-1	0	0	0.1667	0.5	0.5
Income	258	0.5129	0.3590	0-1	0	0.3333	0.6667	0.6667	1
Gender	279	0.6237	0.4853	0-1	0	0	1	1	1
Education	277	0.2924	0.3395	0-1	0	0	0	0.5	1
Internet	276	0.1812	0.3858	0-1	0	0	0	0	1

Source: In-house calculations of Pew Data

Table 8: Regression results: Support for Suicide Attacks

	Cameroon	Ghana	Guinea Bissau	Liberia
	b/se	b/se	b/se	b/se
Hudood	0.143	2.228**	1.040	2.382**
	(0.636)	(0.704)	(0.692)	(0.772)
Religiosity	0.0573	-0.147	-2.515	-0.543
	(1.536)	(1.612)	(1.485)	(2.007)
Secularism	-0.0309	1.203	2.332**	-1.239
	(0.498)	(0.652)	(0.816)	(0.690)
Income	0.803	-1.025	0.673	-0.540
	(0.472)	(0.564)	(0.504)	(0.508)
Gender	0.0369	0.494	0.390	-0.501
	(0.335)	(0.362)	(0.348)	(0.361)
Education	1.039	0.172	0.535	1.580**
	(0.570)	(0.533)	(0.541)	(0.567)
Internet	-0.159	-1.545*	0.177	-0.544
	(0.476)	(0.623)	(0.487)	(0.513)
Constant	-1.256	-1.515	1.547	-0.962
	(1.421)	(1.509)	(1.372)	(1.826)
N	203	175	192	176
Pseudo R-Squared	0.033	0.194	0.089	0.093
DEPVAR Mean	0.245	0.352	0.505	0.318
* p<0.05, ** p<0.01, *** p<0.001				

Results and Discussion

As the coefficients in Table 6 evidence, we generally find support for H1, which hypothesized that respondents who embrace more literalist interpretations of Shari'ah will be more supportive of Islamist violence. For Ghana and Liberia, the Hudood index is statistically significant and positive at the 0.01 confidence level. Cameroon and Guinea Bissau do not exhibit a statistically significant relationship even though the coefficients for both are zero. Because of our small sample size, we cannot rule out the possibility of a false negative (rejecting the

hypothesis when it is true) for Cameroon and Guinea Bissau.

Turning to H2, which hypothesized no correlation between religiosity and support for Islamist violence, we similarly find no relationship consistent with the findings of the study we replicate here. (Again, we cannot rule out the possibility of a false negative.)

With respect to H3, which hypothesized a negative relationship between secularism and support for Islamist violence, we find no statistically significant relationship in Cameroon, Ghana, and Liberia. However, Guinea Bissau exhibits a positive and statistically significant relationship at the 0.01 confidence level. This result for Guinea Bissau diverges from the findings of Fair, Hamza and Heller which found a significant and negative relationship for Bangladesh. (Fair, Littman and Nugent did not include a secularism variable in their model for Pakistan.) With the data limitations on hand, it is impossible in this effort to fully understand this finding. As the afore-noted description of Guinea Bissau details, this country differs from the other three in several key ways. First, it has the largest percentage of Muslims over all. Second, this also means that our sample is somewhat larger than the others. Third, despite the importance of Islam and Christianity, animism still retains considerable salience.

Finally, H4 hypothesized that socio-economic status is not related to support for Islamist violence. Consistent with H4, we found no evidence for such a correlation, with the above-given caveat.

We controlled for education, internet access, and gender. Education was only a significant variable in Liberia, which exhibited a positive relationship between higher levels of education and support for violence. Access to internet and gender were both statistically insignificant in all four countries.

Conclusion and Implications

Public support for Islamist violence in Sub-Saharan and West African countries remains largely neglected by scholarship. Scholars seem to take interest in countries only after terrorism has become a notable challenge and they tend to focus upon Muslim-majority countries. This is unfortunate because there is likely utility in understanding the lineaments of support for violence in countries where such violence is relatively low or new. Equally important, there is an urgent requirement to better understand whether the lineaments of public support among Muslims in Muslim-minority countries differs substantially from those who live in Muslim-majority countries. With the exception of Guinea Bissau, which is 45.1% Muslim, all other countries have a Muslim population of 20% or less.

Unfortunately, there are no other extant datasets that permit the kind of evaluation that we have done here. However, these data are sub-optimal. While Pew's national samples were somewhat large, given the percentage of Muslims in each of these countries, we require analytical samples that are much larger or samples that are drawn exclusively from Muslims. (Note that it made no sense to include non-Muslims in our regressions, because non-Muslims did not answer the questions that form our various indices.) We hope that this research note will galvanize scholars to focus more attention on Muslim-minority countries and those which have not yet experienced Islamist violence. This latter point is important because once violence commences, respondents' views of violence may change. Respondents' views may harden as a result of exposure to violence and become more supportive. Alternatively, support may decline as they themselves experience the costs of violence.

Despite these empirical challenges, our findings provide considerable support for the framework offered by Fair, Littman and Nugent to understand the relationship between support for Islamic law on the one hand and Islamist violence on the other.

About the Authors: C. Christine Fair is a Provost's Distinguished Associate Professor in the Security Studies Program within Georgetown University's School of Foreign Service. **Samta Savla** is a national security professional and a graduate of Georgetown University's School of Foreign Service with a Masters of Arts in Security Studies.

Appendix	1: Creating the Indi	ces for Hudood, Religiosity, and Secularism
Index Name	Description	Survey Questions Used
Hudood Index	This index is based on seven questions and measures individuals'	Q54: Which comes closest to your view? The Koran is the word of God, OR the Koran is a book written by men and is not the word of God?
	support for Hudood laws. Coded values	Q55: Would you say that the Koran is to be taken literally, word for word, OR not everything in the Koran should be taken literally, word for word?
	range from 1 to 0 with the higher values corre- sponding to support for	Q95a: Do you favor or oppose making shar'ia, or Islamic law, the official law of the land in our country?
	Hudood laws. Missing values, "Don't know",	Q95b: Do you favor or oppose giving Muslim leaders and religious judges the power to decide family and property disputes?
	and "Refused" answers were coded as 0.	Q95c: Do you favor or oppose the death penalty for people who leave the Muslim religion?
		Q95d: Do you favor or oppose punishments like whippings and cutting off of hands for crimes like theft and robbery?
		Q95e: Do you favor or oppose stoning people who commit adultery?
Religiosity Index	on six questions and	Q42: How important is religion in your life – very important, somewhat important, not too important, or not at all important?
	measured religiosity of individuals. Coded values range from 1 to 0 with the higher values	Q64: People practice their religion in different ways. Outside of attending religious services, do you pray several times a day, once a day, a few times a week, once a week, a few times a month, seldom, or never?
	meaning that the individual is more religious.	Q65: (For those who answered "several times a day" to Q64) Do you pray all five salah every day, or not?
	Missing values, "Don't know", and "Refused" answers were coded as 0.	Q66a: Please tell me how often you read scripture outside of religious services? Would you say at least once a week, once or twice a month, several times a year, seldom, or never?
		Q68j: Do you give zakat, that is give a set percentage of your wealth to charity or the mosque?
		Q68k: Do you fast, that is avoid eating during the daytime, during the holy month of Ramadan?
Secularism	This index is based	Q12a: In your opinion, should religious leaders keep out of political matters
Index	on two questions and measures secularism. Coded values range from 1 to 0 with the	- or should they express their views on political questions?
		Q14: How do you feel about this statement: It's important to me that polit-
		ical leaders of our country have strong religious beliefs. Do you completely agree, mostly agree, mostly disagree or completely disagree with it?
	higher values corresponding to support	
	for secularism. Missing	
	values, "Don't know",	
	and "Refused" answers were coded as 0.	

Notes:

- [1] Gallup, "Islamophobia: Understanding Anti-Muslim Sentiment in the West," 2016. http://news.gallup.com/poll/157082/islamophobia-understanding-anti-muslim-sentiment-west.aspx; Christine Ogan et al., "The rise of anti-Muslim prejudice: Media and Islamophobia in Europe and the United States," *International Communication Gazette* 76 (1) (2014): 27-46.
- [2] Pew Research Center, "Muslims and Islam: Key Findings in the U.S. and Around the World," August 9, 2017, http://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2017/08/09/muslims-and-islam-key-findings-in-the-u-s-and-around-the-world/.
- [3] Alan B. Krueger and Jitka Malečková, "Attitudes and action: Public opinion and the occurrence of international terrorism," *Science* 325 (5947) (2009): 1534-1536; Jitka Malečková and Dragana Stanišić, "Public opinion and terrorist acts," *European Journal of Political Economy* 27 (2011): S107-S121; Jitka Malečková and Dragana Stanišić, "Changes in Public Opinion and the Occurrence of International Terrorism," *Peace Economics, Peace Science and Public Policy* 20 (4) (2014): 631-653.
- [4] Arie W. Kruglanski and Shira Fishman, "The psychology of terrorism: "Syndrome" versus "tool" perspectives," *Terrorism and Political Violence* 18(2)(2006):193-215; Ted R. Gurr, "Terrorism in Democracies: Its Social and Political Bases," in Walter Reich, ed., *Origins of Terrorism: Psychologies, Ideologies, Theologies, States of Mind* (Washington, D.C.: Woodrow Wilson Center Press, 1990), 86-102; Andrew Silke, "Becoming a Terrorist," in Andrew Silke, ed., Terrorists, Victims and Society: Psychological Perspectives on Terrorism and Its Consequences (West Sussex, England: John Wiley & Sons, 2003), 29-54; Clark McCauley, "Psychological Issues in Understanding Terrorism and the Response to Terrorism," in Chris Stout, ed., The Psychology of Terrorism (Westport, CT: Greenwood publishing, 2004), 33-65.
- [5] Reed M. Wood, Jacob D. Kathman, Stephen E. Gent. "Armed Intervention and Civilian Victimization In Intrastate Conflicts," *Journal of Peace Research* 49 (5)(2012): 647-660; Reed M. Wood, "From Loss To Looting? Battlefield Costs and Rebel Incentives For Violence," *International Organization* 68 (4) (2014): 979-999; Kirssa Cline Ryckman and Mike Ryckman, "All Politics Is Local: The Domestic Agenda of Terror Groups and The Study of Transnational Attacks," *Journal of Global Security Studies* 2 (1)(2017): 55-73; Eric Neumayer and Thomas Plumper. "Foreign Terror on Americans." *Journal of Peace Research* 48(1)(2011): 3–17.
- [6] Aaron Clauset et al. "The Strategic Calculus of Terrorism: Substitution and Competition in The Israel—Palestine Conflict," *Cooperation and Conflict* 45.1 (2010): 6-33; Connor Huff and Dominika Kruszewska. "Banners, Barricades, and Bombs: The Tactical Choices of Social Movements and Public Opinion," *Comparative Political Studies* 49 (3)(2016): 1774-1808.
- [7] Will Bullock, Kosuke Imai, and Jacob N. Shapiro, "Statistical Analysis of Endorsement Experiments: Measuring Support for Militant Groups in Pakistan", *Political Analysis* 19 (4) (2017): 363-384.
- [8] C. Christine Fair, Jacob S. Goldstein, and Ali Hamza, "Can knowledge of Islam explain lack of support for terrorism? Evidence from Pakistan," *Studies in Conflict & Terrorism* 40 (4) (2017): 339-355.
- [9] See *inter alia* Graeme Blair, C. Christine Fair, Neil Malhotra, and Jacob N. Shapiro, "Poverty and Support for Militant Politics: Evidence from Pakistan," *American Journal of Political Science* 57 (1) (2013): 30-48; C. Christine Fair, Rebecca Littman, Neil Malhotra and Jacob N. Shapiro, "Relative Poverty, Perceived Violence, and Support for Militant Politics: Evidence from Pakistan," *Political Science Research and Methods* 6 (1) (2016):1-25; Nicholas Sambanis, (2005) "Poverty and the Organization of Political Violence: A Review and Some Conjectures," *Brookings Trade Forum 2004*, eds. Carol Graham and Susan M. Collins, Washington, DC: Brookings Institution, 165-211; Christopher Blattman and Edward Miguel, "Civil War," *Journal of Economic Literature* 48 (1) (2010): 3-57; Claude Berrebi, "Evidence About the Link Between Education, Poverty, and Terrorism Among Palestinians," *Peace Economics, Peace Science, and Public Policy* 13 (1) (2007): 1-36; Gurr, Ted R., *Why Men Rebel*. (Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press, 1970); Krueger and Malečková, "Education, Poverty and Terrorism."
- [10] Karl Kaltenthaler, William Miller, and C. Christine Fair, "Ethnicity, Islam, and Pakistani Public Opinion toward the Pakistani Taliban," *Studies in Conflict & Terrorism* 38 (11) (2015): 938-957.
- [11] Mark Tessler and Jodi Nachtwey, "Islam and Attitudes toward International Conflict: Evidence from Survey Research in the Arab World," *The Journal of Conflict Resolution* 42 (5) (1998): 619-636; Jeremy Ginges, Ian Hansen, and Ara Norenzayan, "Religion and Support for Suicide Attacks," *Psychological Science* 20 (2) (2009): 224-230; David Clingingsmith, Asim Khwaja, and Michael Kremer, "Estimating the Impact of the Hajj: Religion and Tolerance in Islam's Global Gathering," *Quarterly Journal of Economics* 124 (3) (2009): 1133-1170; C. Christine Fair, Neil Malhotra, Jacob N. Shapiro, "Faith or Doctrine? Religion and Support for Political Violence in Pakistan," *Public Opinion Quarterly* 76 (4) (2012): 688-720.
- [12] See *inter alia* Bernd Beber, Philip Roessler, and Alexandra Scacco, "Intergroup Violence and Political Attitudes: Evidence from a Dividing Sudan," *The Journal of Politics* 76 (3) (2014): 649–65; Blair et al, "Poverty and Support for Militant Politics;" Daphna Canetti, "Emotional Distress, Conflict Ideology, and Radicalization," *PS, Political Science & Politics* 50 (3) (2017): 940; Jason Lyall, Graeme Blair, and Kosuke Imai, "Explaining support for combatants during wartime: A survey experiment in Afghanistan," *American Political Science Review* 107 (4) (2013): 679-705; Sivan Hirsch-Hoefler, et al., "Conflict will harden your heart: Exposure to violence, psychological distress, and peace barriers in Israel and Palestine," *British Journal of Political Science* 46, (4) (2016): 845-859.

- [13] Sabri Ciftci, Becky J. O'Donnell, and Allison Tanner, "Who Favors al-Qaeda? Anti-Americanism, Religious Outlooks, and Favorable Attitudes toward Terrorist Organizations," *Political Research Quarterly* 70, no. 3 (2017): 480-494; Lars Berger, "Foreign policies or culture: What shapes Muslim public opinion on political violence against the United States?" *Journal of Peace Research* 51 (6) (2014): 782-796.
- [14] M. Najeeb Shafiq and Abdulkader H. Sinno, "Education, income, and support for suicide bombings: Evidence from six Muslim countries," *Journal of Conflict Resolution* 54, no. 1 (2010): 146-178.
- [15] Fair, Littman, and Nugent, "Conceptions of Shari'a and Support for Militancy and Democratic Values."
- [16] Fair, Littman, and Nugent, "Conceptions of Shari'a and Support for Militancy and Democratic Values."
- [17] Fair, Littman, and Nugent, "Conceptions of Shari'a and Support for Militancy and Democratic Values."
- [18] C. Christine Fair, Ali Hamza, and Rebecca Heller, "Who Supports Suicide Terrorism in Bangladesh? What the Data Say," *Politics and Religion* 10 (3) (2017): 622-661.
- [19] Bangladesh is an odd case. In 2011, Bangladesh amended its constitution to say that "The state religion of the Republic is Islam, but the State shall ensure equal status and equal right in the practice of the Hindu, Buddhist, Christian and other religions." The amendment also removed the language of "absolute faith and trust in Allah" and restored secularism and freedom of religion that had been in earlier versions of the constitution (D'Costa 2012). We coded it as having a state religion because it does and because the state enacted laws around Islam (i.e. alcohol is illegal, the day off from work is a Friday, pork is unavailable, etc.).
- [20] CIA World Fact Book, "Ghana," updated December 27, 2018. https://www.cia.gov/library/publications/the-world-factbook/geos/gh.html.
- [21] CIA World Fact Book, "Cameroon," updated January 1, 2019. https://www.cia.gov/library/publications/the-world-factbook/geos/cm.html.
- [22] CIA World Fact Book, "Guinea Bissau," updated December 31, 2018. https://www.cia.gov/library/publications/the-world-factbook/geos/gv.html.
- [23] CIA World Fact Book, "Liberia," updated December 27, 2018. https://www.cia.gov/library/publications/the-world-factbook/geos/sl.html.
- [24] Pew Research Center, "Tolerance and Tension: Islam and Christianity in Sub-Saharan Africa," 2009, http://www.pewforum.org/2010/04/15/executive-summary-islam-and-christianity-in-sub-saharan-africa/ (accessed July 3, 2018).
- [25] Pew Research Center, "Tolerance and Tension."
- [26] CIA World Fact Book, "Cameroon."
- [27] The Pew Research Center, "The World's Muslims: Unity and Diversity," August 12, 2012. http://www.pewforum.org/2012/08/09/the-worlds-muslims-unity-and-diversity-1-religious-affiliation/.
- [28] Pew Research Center, "Tolerance and Tension."
- [29] Samuel Desire Johnson, "The Second Religious Globalization in Africa: Changes in the Religious Landscape and the Consequences for Social Peace: The Case of Cameroon." *International Review of Mission* 106.2 (2017): 261-267.
- [30] Johnson, "The Second Religious Globalization in Africa," p.265.
- [31] Johnson, "The Second Religious Globalization in Africa," p.265.
- [32] Johnson, "The Second Religious Globalization in Africa," 267.
- [33] CIA World Fact Book, "Ghana."
- [34] The Pew Research Center, "The World's Muslims."
- [35] The Pew Research Center, "Tolerance and Tension."
- [36] Abdulai Iddrisu. 2013. Contesting Islam in Africa: Homegrown Wahhabism and Muslim Identity in Northern Ghana, 1920–2010. Durham, NC: Carolina Academic Press. 279
- [37] Rosalind I. J. Hackett. "Charismatic/Pentecostal Appropriation of Media Technologies in Nigeria and Ghana." Journal of Religion in Africa, vol. 28, no. 3, 1998, pp. 258–277. JSTOR, JSTOR, www.jstor.org/stable/1581571.
- [38] CIA World Fact Book, "Guinea Bissau."

- [39] The Pew Research Center, "The World's Muslims."
- [40] Claudia Favarato, "Traditional religion in Guinea Bissau political culture." JANUS. NET e-journal of International Relations 9 (2018): 93-107.
- [41] The Pew Research Center, "Tolerance and Tension."
- [42] Human Rights Watch, "Off the Backs of the Children': Forced Begging and Other Abuses against Talibés in Senegal," April 15, 2010. https://www.hrw.org/report/2010/04/15/backs-children/forced-begging-and-other-abuses-against-talibes-senegal#.
- [43] CIA World Fact Book, "Liberia."
- [44] The Pew Research Center, "The World's Muslims."
- [45] The Pew Research Center, "Tolerance and Tension."
- [46] Gwendolyn Heaner, "Pentecostals and Transitional Justice in Liberia," *Journal of Religion, Conflict and Peace*, 5(1,2), Fall 2011-Spring 2012, http://www.religionconflictpeace.org/volume-5-issue-1-and-2-fall-2011-spring-2012/pentecostals-and-transitional-justice-liberia#footnote1_qyw95b2.
- [47] T. Jaye, and A. Alao. (2013). Islamic radicalisation and violence in Liberia. In J. Gow, F. Olonisakin, & E. Dijxhoorn (Eds.), Militancy and violence in West Africa (pp. 125-160). Abingdon/New York: Routledge.
- [48] Benjamin Maiangwa, "West Africa's Terrorist Challenge and the Dynamics of Regional Response," *Insight on Africa* 5(1) (2013): 1-18
- [49] United States Department of State, "Country Reports on Terrorism 2016," https://www.state.gov/documents/organization/272488. pdf (accessed June 4, 2018).
- [50] Anthony N. Celso, "The Islamic State and Boko Haram: Fifth Wave Jihadist Terror Groups," Orbis 59 (2) (2015): 249-68.
- [51] National Consortium for the Study of Terrorism and Responses to Terrorism (START), "Global Terrorism Database," https://www.start.umd.edu/gtd/search/Results.aspx?expanded=no&search=MUJAO&ob=GTDID&od=desc&page=1&count=100#results-table
- [52] Benjamin Maiangwa, "Jihadism in West Africa," Journal of Peacebuilding & Development 9(3) (2014), pp. 17-32.
- [53] Samuel Huntington, *The Clash of Civilizations and the Remaking of the World Order*. (New York, NY: Simon & Schuster, 1996). Also see Barak Mendelsohn, "Sovereignty under Attack: The International Society Meets the Al Qaeda Network." *Review of International Studies* 31 (1) (2005), pp.45–68.
- [54] Mark Tessler and Michael D. H. Robbins, "What Leads Some Ordinary Men and Women to Approve of Terrorist Attacks Against the United States?" *Journal of Conflict Resolution* 51(2) (2007), pp. 305–328.
- [55] John L. Esposito, Unholy War: Terror in the Name of Islam. (New York, NY: Oxford University Press, 2002).
- [56] Tessler and Nachtwey, "Islam and Attitudes toward International Conflict."
- [57] Leonard Weinberg, Ami Pedahzur, and Daphn Canetti-Nisim. "The Social and Religious Characteristics of Suicide Bombers and Their Victims." *Terrorism and Political Violence* 15(3) (2003), pp. 139–153.
- [58] Ginges, Hansen, and Norenzayan, "Religion and Support for Suicide Attacks."
- [59] C. Christine Fair, Neil Malhotra, and Jacob N. Shapiro. "Democratic Values and Support for Militant Politics: Evidence from a National Survey of Pakistan." *Journal of Conflict Resolution* 58 (5) (2014), pp. 743–770; Fair, Littman, and Nugent, "Conceptions of Shari'a and Support for Militancy and Democratic Values." Fair, Malhotra, and Shapiro 2014.
- [60] C. Christine Fair, "Explaining Support for Sectarian Terrorism in Pakistan: Piety, Maslak and Sharia." *Religions* 6(4) (2015), pp. 1137–1164.
- [61] C. Christine Fair, Jacob S. Goldstein, and Ali Hamza. "Can Knowledge of Islam Explain Lack of Support for Terrorism? Evidence from Pakistan." *Studies in Conflict and Terrorism*, 40(4) (2016), pp. 339-355; Quintan Wiktorowicz, *Radical Islam Rising: Muslim Extremism in the West.* (Oxford: Rowman and Littlefield, 2005).
- [62] Ciftci, O'Donnell, and Tanner, "Who Favors al-Qaeda?" and Fair, Littman, and Nugent, "Conceptions of Shari`a and Support for Militancy and Democratic Values."
- [63] Ciftci, O'Donnell, and Tanner, "Who Favors al-Qaeda?".

- [64] Jonathan Fox, "Separation of Religion and State and Secularism in Theory and in Practice," Religion, State and Society, 39(4) (2011), pp. 384-401.
- [65] Ibid.
- [66] Pew Research Center, "Tolerance and Tension."
- [67] Krueger and Malečková. "Education, poverty and terrorism;" Shafiq and Sinno, "Education, Income and Support for Suicide Bombings."
- [68] Ethan Bueno De Mesquita, "The Quality of Terror." American Journal of Political Science 49(3) (2005), pp. 515-530.
- [69] Bueno De Mesquita, "The Quality of Terror."
- [70] Bueno De Mesquita. "The Quality of Terror."
- [71] Shafiq and Sinno, "Education, income, and support for suicide bombings."
- [72] Joseph M. Sirgy, Richard J. Estes, and Moshen Joshanloo, "The Global Challenge of Jihadist Terrorism: A Quality-of-Life Model," *Social Indicators Research* (2018), pp. 1-25.
- [73] Sirgy, Estes, and Joshanloo, "The Global Challenge of Jihadist Terrorism: A Quality-of-Life Model."
- [74] Also see M. Mousseau. 2011. "Urban Poverty and Support for Islamist Terror: Survey Results of Muslims in Fourteen Countries. *Journal of Peace Research* 48 (1), 35-47.
- [75] Pew Research Center, "Tolerance and Tension.".
- [76] In Liberia, Cameroon, Ghana, and Guinea Bissau, Muslims comprise 12.2%, 20.9%, 17.6%, and 45.1% of their respective populations. None of these countries have an official state religion. CIA World Fact Book, "Ghana," updated December 27, 2018. https://www.cia.gov/library/publications/the-world-factbook/geos/gh.html; CIA World Fact Book, "Guinea Bissau," updated December 31, 2018. https://www.cia.gov/library/publications/the-world-factbook/geos/gv.html; CIA World Fact Book, "Liberia," updated December 27, 2018. https://www.cia.gov/library/publications/the-world-factbook/geos/sl.html.
- [77] Pew Research Center, "Tolerance and Tension."

Counterterrorism Bookshelf: 14 Books on Terrorism & Counter-Terrorism-Related Subjects

Reviewed by Joshua Sinai

The books reviewed in this column cover various topics, and are listed in alphabetical order, according to the authors' last name.

Shaul Arieli, *All Israel's Borders: One Hundred Years of Struggle Over Independence, Identity, Settlement and Territory* [In Hebrew] (Tel Aviv, Israel: Rooftop Books/ Yediot Aharonot/ Hamad Books, 2018), 442 pp., ILS 128.00 [Paperback], ISBN: 978-9-6556-4448-7.

Terrorism does not occur in a vacuum, but is the product of numerous underlying causes and factors within conflicts that produce aggrieved communities and individuals that feel a need to redress their grievances through violent means against their adversaries. In the Israeli-Palestinian conflict, one of the underlying causes (with other factors involved, as well) that drives Palestinian terrorist groups and their supporters to engage in violence is the stalemate over the resolution of the West Bank's territorial boundaries, with these territories in control by Israel since the June 1967 War, with terrorism by far-right militant Jewish groups also related to their objective to prevent any compromise over these territories. To understand the role that these territories' boundaries and the conflicting aspirations of their Palestinian and Jewish inhabitants, we are fortunate to have Shaul Arieli's All Israel's Borders: One Hundred Years of Struggle Over Independence, Identity, Settlement and Territory, which provides an authoritative, comprehensive and detailed geographical, historical, and political account of the history of the territories that have shaped the Israeli-Palestinian conflict over the past century. Following an introductory overview, the book is divided into seven parts: the role of territories and their boundaries in shaping countries and the nature of the dispute over Israel's boundaries; plans to divide the territory of historical Palestine from 1922 to 1947; the nature of the borders between Israel and the Arab states from 1947 to 1967; negotiated settlements and unilateral measures to resolve the conflict from 1967 to 2008; the nature of the security wall/fence established by Israel to cordon off Palestinian areas from 2002 to 2007; proposals to establish a permanent boundary at the Annapolis, Maryland summit in 2008; and a summary of unfinished processes to resolve the territorial dispute between the Israelis and the Palestinians and how they relate to other conflicts around the world. The epilogue presents the author's insightful and balanced proposal for resolving the stalemate over the West Bank's future. This is based on an examination of three approaches: demographic and security, political, and socio-economic, with each used as a metric to measure the effectiveness of various contending plans, ranging from the extremist option of an Israeli annexation of the West Bank or its parts, to a territorial compromise that would create two states that are capable of living side-by-side in a peaceful and secure manner. The epilogue also presents the author's compilation of statistical information about the demographic and socio-economic composition of the West Bank's inhabitants (e.g., as of 2016, 623,000 Jews versus 2,900,000 Palestinians, with the number of Jews decreasing to some 400,000 if the East Jerusalem region is excluded) (p. 324). The author concludes that for long-term peace, the Israelis and Palestinians need to agree on the boundaries of a new border that would be sufficiently flexible to provide a majority status for both sides in their respective territories. Otherwise, he cautions, the cycle of perpetual violence and instability will continue to characterize the lives of the neighboring Israelis and Palestinians. The book includes numerous black and white and color maps that display the evolving nature of historical Palestine, the Israeli State, and the West Bank, illustrating the text. Hopefully this important book will be translated into English so that a larger audience will benefit from its insights on the role of the territories in shaping the Israeli-Palestinian conflict and the measures required to resolve this protracted conflict. The author, a retired Colonel in the Israeli Defense Forces (IDF), was extensively involved as a military advisor to various Israeli government peace initiatives, and is considered one of the country's leading experts on the West Bank.

Dave Dilegge, Robert J. Bunker, John P. Sullivan, and Alma Keshavarz (Eds.), *Blood and Concrete:* 21st Century Conflict in Urban Centers and Megacities (Bloomington, IN: Xlibris, 2019), 768 pp., US \$ 38.99 [Paperback], ISBN: 978-1-9845-7375-9.

The more than 50 chapters written by some 80 authors in this comprehensive Small Wars Journal anthology examine a significant threat: the increasing prevalence of urban centers as primary areas of military operations, surpassing rural areas in conflict regions around the world. As pointed out by David Kilcullen in his excellent preface, since it is impossible to mention all the volume's contributors, some of the issues raised by their chapters include the challenges for militaries in engaging in urban centers' physical and "cyber" terrains, and the employment of new technologies, such as drones, to conduct warfare against insurgent adversaries in such environments. Another challenge is presented by General Charles Krulak, a former Marine Corps Commandant, who is cited in John Spencer's foreword as stating that the future of urban warfare will consist of a "three-block war" where military forces "are simultaneously required to conduct humanitarian assistance on one block, peace-keeping on the other, and traditional warfighting the next over" (p. xli). In their introduction, the editors insightfully point out that "Differentiating between the tactical, operational, and strategic concerns accompanying each of these distinct (and sometimes converging) conurbations is essential to understanding and preparing for urban operations" (p. xlix). In the postscript, Margarita Konaev makes the important point that one of the reasons for the prevalence of urban warfare is that it is increasingly difficult for insurgents to operate in rural environments because "emerging technologies, and advances in surveillance techniques and aerial detection capabilities have also made the classic rural guerilla warfare settings of dense jungles and remote mountain hideouts far less safe for violent non-state groups. In cities, however, these militants can more easily blend into the local civilian population and use the city's complex and dense terrain for cover and concealment" (p. 648). Ms. Konaev's conclusion well sums up the volume's important contribution to the literature on counterterrorism and counterinsurgency: "as the world's urban population continues to grow, the future of global security will be determined by what happens in cities" (p. 651).

Nicholas Fotion, Boris Kashnikov, and Joanne K. Lekea, *Terrorism: The New World Disorder* (New York, NY: Continuum, 2007), 208 pp., US \$ 72.00 [Hardcover], US \$ 13.77 [Paperback], ISBN: 978-0-8264-9258-6.

This book is written by three philosophers who specialize in the ethics of conflict. They examine topics such as how terrorism is defined; the nature of suicide terrorism; significant past terrorist campaigns (such as anarchism in Russia, the Provisional Irish Republican Army, and terrorism in Greece); current terrorist conflicts (such as the LTTE in Sri Lanka, terrorism in the Palestinian-Israeli conflict, terrorism in Chechnya, and al Qaida-type terrorism); the political and military causes of terrorism, including state terrorism; and the profiles of various types of terrorists, including what the authors refer to as "state terrorists" and "martyr terrorists." To examine future trends in terrorism, the authors apply yardstick factors to measure the capability of terrorist groups, such as persistence, motivation, human and financial resources, organization and training, planning, and execution of operations. These yardstick factors from the terrorists' capabilities are then applied against the capabilities of their "victims," namely the counterterrorist forces arrayed against them, leading the authors to conclude that while "terrorists have the motivation and the means to continue," their state adversaries "have the means, at best, to slow terrorism down or stop it in the long-run. For a variety of reasons, then, we, the victims of terrorism, will have to get used to living with the new world disorder" (p. 119). The next two chapters examine the arguments over the legitimacy of terrorism, in terms of for (e.g., as a just cause or last resort) and against (e.g., that terrorists lack the right to initiate aggression against innocent victims). In the concluding chapter on "Dealing With Terrorism," the authors present a series of recommendations, some of them military in nature (e.g., identifying the enemy and setting goals, good intelligence, alienating the terrorists from their constituency, and protecting the civilian population), others non-military in nature (e.g., cooperation with allies and provision of employment). The authors conclude that the spread of media of communications and military technology are ensuring that terrorism will persist "for the foreseeable future...in a new world disorder" (p. 166). The three authors are professors of philosophy at universities in the United States, Russia, and Greece.

Michael Fredholm, *Transnational Organized Crime and Jihadist Terrorism: Russian-Speaking Networks in Western Europe* (New York, NY: Routledge, 2018), 238 pp., US \$ 136.00 [Hardcover], ISBN: 978-1-1387-4994-8.

This is an extensively researched examination of the threats presented by the convergence of transnational organized crime and jihadist terrorism as embodied by the illicit activities by Caucasus- and Central Asianbased Russian-speaking social networks that operate within their Western European diasporas. As a Swedish academic, the author also focuses on their illicit activities in Sweden, using court cases as empirical evidence to illuminate the magnitude of the threat they pose to the country. To examine these issues, the book's chapters cover topics such as the convergence of the activities of criminal and terrorist groups; the origins of Central Asian and Caucasian organized crime within post-Soviet territories; the origins and evolution of Russian-speaking jihadist terrorism, such as the Islamic Movement of Uzbekistan and Islamic Jihad Union, and their proselytizing and recruitment activities in Western Europe; the role played by organized crime in the Chechen secessionist movement which transformed into the Caucasus Emirate jihadist group; the online activities of these groups, with a focus on the Kavkaz center, a grouping that has their websites based on servers in several Western countries; and their illicit activities in Sweden. A key finding of this study is that there are more criminal than terrorist members in these networks in Western Europe. With regard to counterterrorism and policing strategies, the author recommends a focus "on the need for intelligence sharing and the use of all available legislative tools" and the importance of "prosecuting non-terrorist crime [as – JS] a means to take action that will reduce the capability of a terrorist group, by denying it resources" (p. 220). A final finding is that "the case studies of Russian-speaking transnational organized crime and jihadist terrorism networks bring implications for other diaspora-based social networks in this period of large-scale migration" (p. 220). The author is Professor and Head of Research and Development at IRI, the Swedish Law and Informatics Research Institute in Stockholm.

Phil Gurski, *An End to the War on Terrorism* (Lanham, MD: Rowman & Littlefield, 2018), 192 pp., US \$ 120.00 [Hardcover], US \$ 41.95 [Paperback], ISBN: 978-1-7866-0954-0.

Written by a retired veteran counterterrorism analyst in the Canadian intelligence service, this well-informed and comprehensive book's seven chapters discuss significant issues in countering terrorism. These include assessing whether waging "war" as the primary focus of counterterrorism is an appropriate response to the threats posed by terrorism, especially in the form of Special Forces, airstrikes, drones, and targeted killings; the role of intelligence in counterterrorism, particularly in terms of human sources and intercepts, the role of law enforcement in counterterrorism, including the issue of treating terrorism as a type of crime. The volume also discusses the effectiveness of government anti-terrorism laws, such the United States' Patriot Act and Canada's Anti-Terrorism Act. Other chapters assess the effectiveness of government programs such as the United Kingdom's CONTEST and Prevent programs, as well as similar programs in other countries, such as France. Also discussed are outreach programs, including community engagement by academics, religious leaders, and technology companies in addressing the challenges of domestic terrorism and countering violent extremism. Furthermore Phil Gurski assesses the effectiveness of de-radicalization programs around the world and offers suggestions on how to formulate effective counter-extremist narrative messaging. Wider questions are also addressed, including whether the religion of Islam is responsible for Islamist extremism and, finally, what are the components for effectively countering and terminating terrorism. This book is recommended as a concise general textbook.

John Horgan, *Divided We Stand: The Strategy and Psychology of Ireland's Dissident Terrorists* (New York, NY: Oxford University Press, 2013), 224 pp., US \$ 38.95 [Hardcover], ISBN: 978-0-1997-7285-8.

This is an empirically-based and conceptually innovative account of the emergence and persistence (at least in the near-term) of a "new breed" of dissident Irish Republican terrorists, whom the author refers to as the

"terrorists' terrorists," and "for whom there will never be a peace process, never a negotiated settlement, and who will never be satisfied by politics or appeased by mainstream opinion" (p. xi). As described by the author, these dissident terrorists span groups such as the Continuity IRA, the Real IRA, Oglaigh na hEireann, RIRA, and the IRA, as well as other "microgroups" that range in size and ambition. As explained by the author, the book examines questions, such as "Who are the dissidents? What do they want? What are their strategic, psychological, and ideological driving forces? How do they organize and execute their activity? Where are they recruiting? What factors affect the growth and maintenance of dissident activity? And how can we help in preventing violent dissident Republicanism?" (p. xi). To examine these issues, the author draws on his research team's open source-based database on their activities and personnel over an historical period that is divided into three waves of dissident activity: wave 1 (1994-1998), wave 2 (1998-2007), and wave 3 (2007) to the present – in this case, the period prior to the book's publication in 2013). These issues are discussed in the book's fourth, fifth and sixth chapters. The seventh chapter presents the author's short-term strategy for responding to the threat posed by these dissident groups. He recommends undermining their legitimacy and credibility through counter-narratives, reducing the attractiveness of involvement in their activities, employing police and intelligence operations against them, and developing "a meaningful political strategy to engage" them (p. 159). The author concludes by observing that these dissident groups' lack of effective strategies and continued divisions among themselves mark them "doomed to failure" in the long term (p. 178). This book is a significant contribution to the literature on the dissident terrorist factions that split from their more "mainstream" terrorist organizations whom they regard as insufficiently committed to their extremist causes. The author is Professor of Global Studies and Psychology at Georgia State University, Atlanta.

Richard Jackson (Ed.), *Routledge Handbook of Critical Terrorism Studies* (New York, NY: Routledge, 2018), 312 pp., US \$ 221.00 [Hardcover], US \$ 46.71 [Paperback], ISBN: 978-1-1386-0114-7.

This is the paperback edition of the hardcover edition that was originally published in 2016, making its lower price more accessible to the reader. For this reviewer's assessment of the 2016 volume, see http://www.terrorismanalysts.com/pt/index.php/pot/article/view/519/html.

Richard Jackson and Daniela Pisoiu (Eds.), *Contemporary Debates on Terrorism* [Second Edition], (New York, NY: Routledge, 2018), 292 pp., US \$ 136.00 [Hardcover], US \$ 40.76 [Paperback], ISBN: 978-1-1389-3136-7.

In this edited volume's second edition, a set of 16 significant questions in terrorism and counterterrorism are examined by contrasting viewpoints. Following the editors' introductory overview, the volume is divided into five parts. In Part I, "The Definition and Study of Terrorism," two chapters examine whether terrorism is "still a useful analytic term, or should it be abandoned," and "Is Critical Terrorism Studies a useful approach to the study of terrorism?" In Part II, "Categories of Terrorism," two chapters debate the thesis of whether a 'new terrorism' has emerged and whether states can "be terrorists". In Part III, "The Terrorism Threat," five chapters debate questions such as whether terrorism poses a serious threat to international and national security, whether serious threats are posed by WMD terrorism, cyberterrorism, and al Qaida, and whether returning foreign fighters in conflicts such as the one in Syria are likely to become "future terrorists" in their former countries. In Part IV, "The Causes of Terrorism," two chapters debate whether terrorism results from poverty and exclusion and whether religious extremism is a cause of terrorism. In Part V, "Dealing With Terrorism," five chapters debate questions such as: are the resorts to state "suppression," military force and mass surveillance effective in counterterrorism?, are drones a useful instrument, are counter-radicalization approaches effective in counterterrorism, and have global efforts to counter terrorism since 9/11 been effective? As a textbook, each chapter begins with an introduction and ends with a conclusion, discussion questions, and suggestions for further readings. This volume is recommended as a supplementary textbook for courses on terrorism and counterterrorism. Richard Jackson is Professor of Peace Studies and Director of the National Centre for Peace and Conflict Studies, University of Otago, New Zealand. Daniela Pisoiu is a Senior Researcher at the Austrian Institute for International Affairs (OIIP), Vienna, Austria.

Elli Lieberman (Ed.) *Deterring Terrorism: A Model for Strategic Deterrence* (New York, NY: Routledge, 2018), 332 pp., US \$ 131.75 [Hardcover], ISBN: 978-1-1382-4060-5.

The contributors to this conceptually innovative volume examine the issue of how governments can effectively deter their non-state terrorist adversaries. One of their theses is that effective deterrence is dependent on governments focusing on the longitudinal dynamics of the deterrence process over time, a process that also addresses the "grand strategies" of the non-state adversary actors against them. Another thesis is that the strategy of terrorist groups seeks to achieve a 'war of attrition' against their more powerful state adversaries. To counter it, governments need to employ offensive campaigns to undermine them in order to achieve deterrence success. This conceptual framework is applied by the volume's contributors to analyze the effectiveness of governmental deterrence campaigns over time against the terrorist threats posed by groups such as Hizballah, the Palestinian Liberation Organization (PLO) and Hamas, the Irish Republican Army, Chechen terorrists, the Kurdistan Workers' Party (PKK), and al Qaida, the Taliban, and ISIS. In the concluding chapter, the volume editor's last two sentences are confusing, as he writes that "Finally, learning and the development of awareness by leaders about how deterrence works, developing a deterrence model in mind, could lead to quicker resolution of ongoing antiterrorism campaign. Deterrence, thus, could be a useful and less costly tool of statecraft" (p. 319). First, whereas 'counterterrorism,' which connotes an offensive response, is used (correctly) throughout the volume, it is jarring for 'antiterrorism,' which implies a defensive posture, to be so precipitously injected into the argument when the focus remains on employing counterterrorism in deterrence to undermine the terrorist adversary's warfare. Also, the author should better explain why 'effective' deterrence "could be a useful and less costly tool of statecraft" than other deterrence measures. There are, after all, degrees of effectiveness in deterrence, ranging from less to more effective implementations. Aside from such definitional problems, the volume is an important contribution to the literature on deterrence in counterterrorism.

Ajit Maan and Paul Cobaugh, *Introduction to Narrative Warfare: A Primer and Study Guide* (Washington, DC: Narrative Strategies, LLC, 2018), 62 pp., US \$ 25.99 [Paperback], ISBN: 978-1-7212-2141-7.

This short, yet highly useful book's objective is to provide a baseline understanding of the nature of insurgent or state adversary narratives and the counter-narratives that are require to achieve desirable changes in influencing the opponent's behavior in response. To win "Narrative Warfare," the authors define the nature of narratives (and their distinction from other types of stories), including their offensive and defensive forms, and the four components of strategic narratives: meaning, identity, content, and structure (MICS). In Information Warfare (IW), it is essential to know how to "weaponize" narratives against one's adversaries, which the authors explain involves attacking "the identities of the target audience and cause a disorientation in the way people and cultures understand and give meaning to events" (p. 23). To dominate the narrative space, the authors recommend operationalizing it through "a complete package of both offensive and defensive narratives coordinated to both degrade adversarial audiences and to build resilience within friendly audiences" (p. 34). In an important insight to the literature on narratives and counter-narratives, which is highly relevant to the components of effective counterterrorism, the authors conclude that "Like kinetic maneuver strategy, you must control the battlefield and force your adversary to respond, not the other way around. There is a place for counter-narrative, but its place is as a supporting effort to an overall narrative strategy that places a compelling offensive narrative at the core of efforts" (p. 49). As a useful resource for courses and workshops on these issues, the book includes a series of study questions to accompany the six chapters. Ajit Maan is the Founder and CEO of Narrative Strategies, LLC, and Paul Cobaugh, a retired U.S. Army officer in Special Operations, is the firm's Vice President.

ISSN 2334-3745 127 February 2019

Wendy Pearlman and Boaz Atzili, *Triadic Coercion: Israel's Targeting of States That Host Nonstate Actors* (New York, NY: Columbia University Press, 2018), 384 pp., US \$ 65.00 [Hardcover], ISBN: 978-0-2311-7184-7.

With states being challenged by non-state (or sub-state) terrorist groups that protect themselves from retaliation by finding geographical sanctuary in other states that either support or tolerate their presence, or are failed states that are unable to exercise control over their own territories, the question is how can threatened states fight them directly, including coercing their host states to put a stop to such groups? In this conceptually interesting book, the authors propose the concept of a strategy of "triadic coercion" to analyze, as they write, "wherein one state uses military threats and/or punishments against another state to deter it from aiding or abetting attacks by nonstate actors from within its territory or to compel it to stop such violence" (p. 1). To examine the components of deterrence than can succeed in overcoming such complications in countering terrorist groups that exploit their sanctuary in host countries, the authors' investigate two main questions: "the conditions under which triadic coercion is likely to succeed" and "If triadic coercion is only effective against strong regime, why do states frequently employ it against weak ones?" (pp. 2-3). This conceptual framework is applied to examining the case of Israel's responses to the threats presented by Palestinian terrorist groups operating from Egypt, Syria, Lebanon, territory controlled by the Palestinian Authority (since 1993), and Hizballah operating in and from Lebanon. Other cases that are briefly discussed, include Pakistan and the Afghan Taliban and Haqqani networks, as well as its hosting of Lashka e-Taiba (LeT) and Kashmiri groups that target India; Iraq, Syria, and Iran that tolerate the presence of the Kurdistan Workers' Party that threatens Turkey, and others. Among the authors' conclusions are the findings that "triadic coercion is likely to succeed when targeted against a host state that possesses a regime that is strong" (p. 243), and that "Effective triadic coercion is not a substitute for political solutions that safeguard individual and collective rights" (p. 254) because "strictly military solutions are seldom sufficient against complex problems involving national conflicts over sovereignty and territory" (p. 254). This book is an important contribution to the literature on counterterrorism. Wendy Pearlman is an Associate Professor of Political Science at Northwestern University, Evanston, Illinois, and Boaz Atzili is Associate Professor and Director of the Doctoral Studies Program at the School of International Service at American University, Washington, DC.

Eli Saslow, *Rising Out of Hatred: The Awakening of a Former White Nationalist* (New York, NY: Doubleday, 2018), 304 pp., US \$ 26.95 [Hardcover], ISBN: 978-0-3855-4285-9.

This is a fascinating account by a Washington Post journalist of the de-radicalization from extremism process underwent by Derek Black who grew up in the epicenter of a leading white-supremacist family in West Palm Beach, Florida. His father founded Stormfront, a notorious racist community on the Internet, with his godfather, David Duke, being a KKK Grand Wizard. At age 19, he had his own extremist radio show, and was expected to follow in his father's path as a white supremacist leader. However, following his homeschooling, he enrolled at New College of Florida, where he underwent a de-radicalization process and disavowed his previously extremist beliefs. With the author's unique access to Derek Black, his extremist family, and their associates, this account is especially noteworthy for explaining how such 'Alt Right' movements have become prominent in a number of countries around the world and the possibility that some of its members might eventually decide to reject their extremist messages. In a revealing anecdote, the author quotes a conversation between Derek and his father: "Everything you advocated for is finally beginning to catch on,' Don said. 'Don't you see that?' 'Of course,' Derek said, because it was the one point on which they still agreed. 'We're coming up to the critical moment. That's why I'm trying to warn people" (p. 283).

Andrew Silke (Ed.), *Routledge Handbook of Terrorism and Counterterrorism* (New York, NY: Routledge, 2018), 668 pp., US \$ 208.25 [Hardcover], ISBN: 978-1-1388-1908-5.

This is a comprehensive overview of findings by leading scholars of latest trends in research on terrorism

ISSN 2334-3745 128 February 2019

and counterterrorism around the world. Following the editor's introductory overview on the study of terrorism and counterterrorism, the volume's next 54 chapters are divided into two parts, with each part further divided into case studies. Part I: "Terrorism," covers general topics such as defining terrorism; the history of terrorism; terrorism's root causes; terrorism by states; terrorism by nationalist, separatist, left-wing and right wing groups; terrorism by lone actors; how terrorists are radicalized and their psychological make-up; terrorism in social media; how terrorist groups are organized; the effectiveness of terrorist warfare; the economic impact of terrorism; terrorism and criminality, including their financing; the phenomenon of foreign fighters who join terrorist conflicts in foreign lands; suicide terrorism; the tactic of hostage-taking; the potential use of weapons of mass destruction; and cyber terrorism. The second part presents case studies on significant terrorist groups, such as al Qaida, Boko Haram, Hamas, Hizballah, Islamic State (IS), the Provisional Irish Republican Army (PIRA), the Liberation Tigers of Tamil Eelam (LTTE), and the German Red Army Faction (RAF). Part II: "Counterterrorism," covers general topics in conceptualizing counterterrorism; the roles of policing, military, and intelligence services in counterterrorism, including deterrence, imprisonment, and practice of targeted killings in counterterrorism; countering terrorist fundraising and finances; promoting the de-radicalization and disengagement of individuals from terrorism; the role of public support in counterterrorism; and the place of ethics and human rights in counterterrorism. These general topics are covered in case studies on counterterrorism in Argentina, Canada, China, France, Great Britain, India, Iraq, Israel, Italy, Spain, Russia, and two chapters on United States counterterrorism pre-9/11 and, by this reviewer, one on post-9/11. The volume's editor, Andrew Silke, is Professor of Terrorism Risk and Resilience at Cranfield University, England.

Leroy Thompson, *The Counterterrorist Manual: A Practical Guide to Elite International Units* (London, England, UK: Frontline Books/An Imprint of Pen & Sword Books Limited, 2009), 256 pp., US \$ 39.99 [Hardcover], ISBN: 978-1-8483-2514-2.

In this highly informative practical handbook, Leroy Thompson, a renowned military expert, discusses how counter-terrorist units have evolved globally, how their members are selected, their training (such as in survival, evasion, resistance, and escape – SERE), how such units are organized, their specialized weapons and equipment, their tactics (including surveillance techniques and intelligence gathering), and how they prepare for high-risk missions, including countering the potential use of weapons of mass destruction. Also discussed is how they differ from regular military and police units. Prominent counterterrorist units around the world are also highlighted. Famous incidents involving responses by Special Forces are also discussed, including the 1976 Entebbe Airport rescue, the 1980 Iranian Embassy siege in London, the 2004 Beslan school hostage taking attack, and the 2009 response to simultaneous attacks by the LeT in Mumbai, India. The text is illustrated by numerous color photos.

About the Reviewer: Dr. Joshua Sinai is the Book Reviews Editor of 'Perspectives on Terrorism'. He can be reached at: Joshua.sinai@comcast.net.

N.B. The views expressed in the Counterterrorism Bookshelf are the personal views of the Book Reviews Editor and do not necessarily reflect those of other members of the Editorial Team of Perspectives on Terrorism.

Book Reviews

Henry Prunckun and Troy Whitford, *Terrorism and Counterterrorism: A Comprehensive Introduction to Actors and Actions* (Boulder, CO: Lynne Rienner Publishers, 2019), 269 pp., US \$ 85.00 [Hardcover], US \$ 35.00 [Paperback], ISBN: 978-1-6263-7760-8.

Reviewed by Joshua Sinai

The threat of terrorism is a paramount national security concern to governments and their citizens world-wide. Innumerable books are published on the nature of terrorism and the components of counterterrorism to defeat the terrorist threat. Henry Prunckun's and Troy Whitford's "Terrorism and Counterterrorism: A Comprehensive Introduction to Actors and Actions" stands out as is an exemplary resource for understanding these issues. Mr. Prunckun is a former senior level counterterrorism analyst in the Australian government. He is a widely published author, and a research criminologist in policing and security studies at Charles Stuart University, where Mr. Whitford is a lecturer.

This easy-to-follow textbook covers many relevant topics involved in analyzing the nature of the terrorist threat. This includes defining terrorism from the perspective of democratic governments: a violent political act by a group or by lone actors in furtherance of extremist objectives. Such political violence is criminal because it violates a democracy's penal laws, and is directed "against a government (via innocent victims) as opposed to aggression that emanates from a [foreign] state's military" (p. 5).

The authors explain how the resort to terrorism can be traced to Sun Tzu's doctrine of asymmetric warfare, in which the weaker side exploits vulnerabilities of its more powerful adversary government — that if you "kill one, [you] frighten ten thousand" through the publicity anxiety that accompanies such incidents when widely published. Terrorists' strategic objectives aim to disrupt the targeted government's activities to such an extent that it appears incapable of defending its citizenry, and thereby provoking it to overreact by implementing stern coercive response measures that might end up eroding a society's democratic nature and personal freedoms. This can inadvertently legitimize the insurgent groups' portrayal of an "unreasonable" government response.

Regarding terrorism's root causes, the authors observe that political violence is often a response to features of the larger context in which terrorists operate as they wrongly believe that only violence can redress their grievances. Such conflicts are difficult to resolve through negotiations because "The philosophy of terrorism does not entertain the possibility of coexistence between the group and society. Rather it seeks to destroy society" (p. 16). Nevertheless, the authors point out, there are a few instances in which "this absolutist perspective can change over time" (p. 16). One of these rare instances was the Irish Republican Army's (IRA) moderation, through Sinn Fein, its political wing, which enabled it to reach a peace agreement with the British government, thereby ending Northern Ireland's decades' old conflict.

Also covered in this volume are issues such as how radicalization into violent extremism takes place, and the reasons terrorists use to justify their resort to politically-motivated violence. The authors also explain how terrorists finance their operations (including by cooperating with criminal groups to raise funds). They point to the increasing lethality of terrorist warfare in terms of weaponry used (including the worst case scenario of weapons of mass destruction) and terrorists' rationale for targeting high-value human and physical targets, such as 9/11's simultaneous aircrafts' destruction of the World Trade Towers, which caused a catastrophic loss of life and major physical damage. Finally, the important topic of media coverage of terrorism is discussed. Here the authors are proposing guidelines for objectively covering terrorist incidents during the initial "fog of war." Regarding the components of effective counterterrorism, the authors discuss the role of intelligence agencies in tracking down terrorists, using both open source information and covert means — one of the book's major contributions — and the roles of law enforcement and the military in countering terrorists, whether domestically or overseas.

Another crucial component of counterterrorism in preventing future terrorist attacks are various de-radicalization programs established around the world to promote the disengagement of local terrorists from violence. Here the, the authors' develop an innovative formula for what is required to win the "war on terror." As part of this formula, the authors recommend applying a risk management methodology — which is usually absent from the academic study of counterterrorism. This consists of five steps: identifying the threat, gauging its likelihood, exploring one's own vulnerabilities, assessing the consequences of an attack, and constructing a prevention, preparation, response, and recovery (PPRR) emergency plan to prepare a response. With these steps providing an overriding framework for counterterrorism, the authors conclude that while the underlying causes that give rise to terrorism's grievances need to be understood and addressed, "Simultaneously, we must also take a tougher stance" (pp. 192-209).

Regarding future trends, the authors highlight the continuously evolving nature of terrorist warfare. When it comes to cyber-terrorism (which is still in a nascent form) terrorists might employ cyber weapons to gain remote access to their adversaries' SCADA (Supervisory Control and Data Acquisition) systems to bring down critical parts of a nation's infrastructure, such as a major electricity-generating power plants or transportation networks. Fortunately, such attacks have not yet materialized globally.

It is such practice-based insights that make this book a valuable guide for understanding the components involved in analyzing terrorist threats and the measures required for effective responses.

N.B.:This is a revised and expanded version of a review that initially appeared in The Washington Times. It is reprinted here by permission.

About the Reviewer: Dr. Joshua Sinai is the Book Reviews Editor of 'Perspectives on Terrorism'. He can be reached at: <u>Joshua.sinai@comcast.net</u>.

ISSN 2334-3745 131 February 2019

Robin Maria Valeri and Kevin Borgeson (Eds.), *Terrorism in America* (New York, NY: Routledge, 2018), 244 pp., US \$ 164.00 [Hardcover], US \$ 43.96 [Paperback], ISBN: 978-1-1382-0209-2.

Reviewed by Joshua Sinai

Several mass casualty attacks have occurred in the United States in recent years, perpetrated by ideologically motivated extremist domestic terrorists - incidents like the shooting rampages by ISIS adherent Omar Mateen at the Pulse Nightclub in Orlando, Florida, on June 12, 2016 (49 killed, 53 wounded), or the massacre by the virulent white nationalist and anti-Semitic Robert Bowers of congregants at the Tree of Life synagogue in Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania, on Oct. 27, 2018 (11 killed and 6 wounded). In another type of domestic terrorist attack, Cesar Sayoc was arrested in Plantation, Florida, on Oct. 26, 2018, for allegedly having mailed more than a dozen homemade improvised explosive parcel bombs to his liberal adversaries, including the CNN television network (no casualties).

What are the factors that motivate such diverse ideologically extremist US-based terrorists to carry out their violent attacks? Are they part of organized terrorist groups or lone actors that identify with, but are not members of, such groups? What future trends can we expect when it comes to domestic terrorist threats in terms of their perpetrators and the type of warfare they seek to wage and what are effective response measures to defeat them?

These are some of the questions addressed in "*Terrorism in America*." Although the volume under review is an academic book with plenty of theories by its eight contributors, its coverage of this subject from a criminological perspective is so insightful and detailed that it will also appeal to a broader audience that seeks to understand the magnitude of domestic terrorist threats facing America.

What is domestic terrorism? In the introductory chapter, the editors cite the FBI's definition as "Americans attacking Americans based on U.S.-based extremist ideologies" (p. 38) and "not directed by a foreign agent" (p. 38). This definition can be challenged as overly restrictive because many domestic lone actor terrorists are, in fact, influenced by extremist *foreign* ideologies, such as jihadism, and follow foreign-based groups' calls to act as more or less "independent franchisees" in order to carry out terrorist attacks.

The domestic terrorist groups discussed in this volume are primarily far-right-wing, far-left-wing and Islamist. The far-right-wing groups include white nationalists, neo-Nazis, Christian Identity groups, the Sovereign Citizens Movement and others. What is especially interesting about the psychological characteristics of the perpetrators, is, according to Kevin Borgeson's chapter on "Right-Wing Domestic Terrorism," that many of the perpetrators are lone actors who are frustrated with their personal and professional lives, are not married, and lack social valves to let off steam and constrain them from turning to extremist groups for guidance in an effort to understand why the world and their lives are "a mess." Joining such extremist groups, "increases their self-worth, allowing them to finally feel accepted and successful at something" (p. 31).

Paradoxically, however, many of the perpetrators of such attacks end up even failing in getting along with other extremists, due to their "social ineptitude" and other psychological factors, and become lone actor attackers on their own initiative. This was the case with Timothy McVeigh and Terry Nichols, the perpetrators of the bombing of the Alfred P. Murrah Federal Building in Oklahoma City, on April 19, 1995 (168 persons killed, more than 680 others wounded), who, according to Joel A. Capellan's chapter on "Killing Alone: Can the Work Performance Literature Help Us Solve the Enigma of Lone Wolf Terrorism?", "were ostracized by the Michigan Militia because they advocated for violence" (p. 179).

The same psychological characteristics by susceptible individuals of the need to belong to such social groups also characterize many of those who become far-left-wing domestic terrorists; they join anarchist groups or become Animal/Earth Liberationists, Black Liberationists members or find similar groups.

In terms of their target selection, Michael Loadenthal, the author of the chapter on "Leftist Political Violence," asserts that, unlike far-right-wing terrorists who "frequently deployed lethal violence more indiscriminately and with less regard for civilian casualties," leftist violence "tends to be both symbolic and targeting inanimate

property, not humans" (p. 41) – a view with which this reviewer happens to disagree. Contrary to Loadenthal's thesis, there are numerous examples of leftist violence causing fatalities, such as Ted Kaczynski (known as the "Unabomber") whose mail parcel bombing campaign between 1978 and 1995 deliberately killed or wounded more than two dozen people. The same is true for the contemporary Black Lives movement, since some of the lone actors that associate themselves with it deliberately target law enforcement officers for assassination.

Islamist domestic terrorists, Christopher J. Wright explains in his chapter on "Islamist Terror in America," are motivated by several factors, such as their belief that sharia (Islamic law) ought to be the law of the land for everybody and that the Muslim *ummah* (global Islamic nation) is being threatened by American military interventions in Muslim-majority countries for which, in their view, the United States deserves to be punished. This chapter also provides excellent case studies on domestic Islamist terrorists, including on the phenomenon of American foreign fighters who have joined local counterparts in conflict zones such as Syria.

Interestingly, like the far-left-wing terrorists who had targeted U.S. military facilities in the 1960s, Islamist terrorists (many of whom are characterized by personal psychological "issues" that turn them into lone actors) also target the U.S. military, such as in Maj. Nidal Hassan's shooting rampage at Ft. Hood, Texas, on Nov. 5, 2009, killing 13 military personnel and wounding 32 others.

As to future trends in domestic terrorism, in the concluding chapter Robin Maria Valeri correctly observes that the availability of cyberspace's telecommunications networks and computer systems make it possible for terrorists to "easily and inexpensively promote, recruit, and take credit for terrorist activities at a global level," as well as to "commit acts of terrorism remotely" (p. 231).

To counter domestic terrorism, Ms. Valeri recommends a community-level based approach that could provide would-be terrorists with a sense of 'belonging, meaning, and purpose in their lives - "because the best way to stop terrorism is by preventing its causes" (p. 235).

N.B. This is a revised version of a review that initially appeared in The Washington Times. It is reprinted here by permission.

About the Reviewer: Dr. Joshua Sinai is the Book Reviews Editor of 'Perspectives on Terrorism'. He can be reached at: <u>Joshua.sinai@comcast.net</u>.

ISSN 2334-3745 133 February 2019

Bibliography: Humanitarian Intervention, Responsibility to Protect, Peacekeeping

Compiled and Selected by Judith Tinnes

[Bibliographic Series of Perspectives on Terrorism – BSPT-JT-2019-1]

Abstract

This bibliography contains journal articles, book chapters, books, edited volumes, theses, grey literature, bibliographies and other resources on the thematic complex of humanitarian intervention, Responsibility to Protect (R2P), and peacekeeping. While focusing on recent literature, the bibliography is not restricted to a particular time period and covers publications up to December 2018. The literature has been retrieved by manually browsing through more than 200 sources in relevant fields of social science studies. Additionally, full-text and reference retrieval systems have been employed to broaden the search.

Keywords: bibliography, resources, literature, humanitarian intervention, Responsibility to Protect, R2P, peacekeeping

NB: All websites were last visited on 05.01.2019. - See also Note for the Reader at the end of this literature list.

Introductory Note from the Editor

A bibliography on humanitarian intervention, responsibility to protect and peacekeeping might, at first sight, look out of place in a terrorism journal. However, forty years ago, before (counter-)terrorism studies and (low-intensity) conflict studies went separate ways, this would not have looked strange. In both cases, the protection of innocent civilians, either at home or abroad, is a matter of concern. With terrorist campaigns often preceding, accompanying and following insurgencies, popular resistance and their repression in and outside zones of open armed conflicts, responses to a broader spectrum of militancy, violence and oppression are clearly also relevant for the research community engaged in terrorism studies. In this sense, it is fruitful to look also at the literature on international peacekeeping operations and humanitarian interventions to discover common grounds regarding the responsibility to protect unarmed civilians.

Bibliographies and other Resources

Bellamy, Alex J.; Davies, Sara E.; Glanville, Luke (Eds.-in-Chief) (2009, January-): *Global Responsibility to Protect*. [ISSN: 1875-984X]. URL: https://brill.com/view/journals/gr2p/gr2p-overview.xml

Crane, David (Project Leader) et al. (2011-): *The Syrian Accountability Project (SAP)*. URL: http://syrianaccountabilityproject.syr.edu

Cunliffe, Philip (Ed.-in-Chief) (1994-): *International Peacekeeping*. [p-ISSN: 1353-3312, e-ISSN: 1743-906X]. URL: https://www.tandfonline.com/loi/finp20

David Davies Memorial Institute of International Studies (DDMI) (2009): *Responsibility to Protect Bibliography*. URL: https://www.aber.ac.uk/en/media/departmental/interpol/ddmi/bibliography - responsibility to protect.pdf

Global Centre for the Responsibility to Protect (2008, February-): URL: http://www.globalr2p.org

Iraq Body Count (2003, January-): URL: https://www.iraqbodycount.org

Khatib, Hadi et al. (2015-): Syrian Archive: Curating Visual Documentation for Justice and Human Rights. URL:

ISSN 2334-3745 134 February 2019

https://syrianarchive.org

Kühn, Florian P.; Lemay-Hébert, Nicolas (Eds.-in-Chief) (2007-): *Journal of Intervention and Statebuilding*. [p-ISSN: 1750-2977, e-ISSN: 1750-2985]. URL: https://www.tandfonline.com/loi/risb20

NATO Multimedia Library (2011, March): *The Responsibility to Protect.* (Thematic Bibliography No. 4/11). URL: https://www.nato.int/nato-static/assets/pdf/pdf library them/20110330 them0411.pdf

NATO Multimedia Library (2014, August): *Humanitarian Intervention*. (Thematic Bibliography No. 4/14). URL: http://www.natolibguides.info/ld.php?content_id=10701661

NATO Multimedia Library (2015, October): *A History of United Nations Peacekeeping*. (Thematic Bibliography No. 6/15). URL: http://www.natolibguides.info/ld.php?content_id=17019682

Syrian Observatory for Human Rights (SOHR) (2006, May-): URL: http://www.syriahr.com/en

Woods, Chris et al. (2014-): Airwars. URL: https://airwars.org

Books and Edited Volumes

Abomo, Paul Tang (2019): *R2P and the US Intervention in Libya*. Cham: Palgrave Macmillan / Springer Nature. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-78831-9

Allen, Tim; Macdonald, Anna; Radice, Henry (Eds.) (2018): *Humanitarianism: A Dictionary of Concepts*. Abingdon: Routledge.

Badescu, Cristina Gabriela (2011): *Humanitarian Intervention and the Responsibility to Protect: Security and Human Rights.* (Global Politics and the Responsibility to Protect). Abingdon: Routledge.

Barma, Naazneen H. (2017): *The Peacebuilding Puzzle: Political Order in Post-Conflict States.* Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1017/9781316718513

Bellamy, Alex J. (2011): *Global Politics and the Responsibility to Protect: From Words to Deeds.* (Global Politics and the Responsibility to Protect). Abingdon: Routledge.

Bellamy, Alex J. (2015): Responsibility to Protect: A Defense. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Bellamy, Alex J. (Ed.) (2017): *Humanitarian Intervention*. (Critical Concepts in Military, Strategic, and Security Studies). Abingdon: Routledge.

Bellamy, Alex J.; Dunne, Tim (Eds.) (2016): *The Oxford Handbook of the Responsibility to Protect.* (Oxford Handbooks). Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Bellamy, Alex J.; McLoughlin, Stephen (2018): *Rethinking Humanitarian Intervention*. (Rethinking World Politics). London: Palgrave Macmillan.

Berdal, Mats; Zaum, Dominik (Eds.) (2013): *Political Economy of Statebuilding: Power after Peace.* (Routledge Studies in Intervention and Statebuilding). Abingdon: Routledge.

Bliesemann de Guevara, Berit; Kostić, Roland (Eds.) (2018): *Knowledge and Expertise in International Interventions: The Politics of Facts, Truth and Authenticity.* Abingdon: Routledge.

Bloomfield, Alan (2016): *India and the Responsibility to Protect*. (Rethinking Asia and International Relations). Farnham: Ashgate.

Boserup, Rasmus Alenius et al. (Eds.): *New Conflict Dynamics: Between Regional Autonomy and Intervention in the Middle East and North Africa.* (Defence and Security Studies). [e-Book]. Copenhagen / Beirut: Danish Institute for International Studies (DIIS) / American University of Beirut. URL: https://www.diis.dk/en/

ISSN 2334-3745 135 February 2019

research/the-middle-east-and-north-africa-between-regional-autonomy-and-international-intervention

Breau, Susan (2016): *The Responsibility to Protect in International Law: An Emerging Paradigm Shift.* (Routledge Research in International Law). Abingdon: Routledge.

Bruch, Carl; Muffett, Carroll; Nichols, Sandra S. (Eds.) (2016): *Governance, Natural Resources, and Post-Conflict Peacebuilding.* (Post-Conflict Peacebuilding and Natural Resource Management). Abingdon: Routledge.

Castellano, Isaac M. (2015): Civil War Interventions and their Benefits: Unequal Return. Lanham: Lexington Books.

Chandler, David (Ed.) (2015): *Statebuilding and Intervention: Policies, Practices and Paradigms.* (Routledge Studies in Intervention and Statebuilding). Abingdon: Routledge.

Chinkin, Christine; Kaldor, Mary (2017): *International Law and New Wars*. New York: Cambridge University Press. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1017/9781316759868

Cocodia, Jude (2018): Peacekeeping and the African Union: Building Negative Peace. (Cass Series on Peacekeeping). Abingdon: Routledge.

Corn, Geoffrey; Watkin, Ken; Williamson, Jamie (2018): *The Law in War: A Concise Overview.* Abingdon: Routledge.

Crossley, Noële (2016): Evaluating the Responsibility to Protect: Mass Atrocity Prevention as a Consolidating Norm in International Society. (Global Politics and the Responsibility to Protect). Abingdon: Routledge.

Cunliffe, Philip (Ed.) (2011): *Critical Perspectives on the Responsibility to Protect: Interrogating Theory and Practice.* (Routledge Studies in Intervention and Statebuilding). Abingdon: Routledge.

Cunliffe, Philip (2013): Legions of Peace: UN Peacekeepers from the Global South. London: Hurst.

de Coning, Cedric; Aoi, Chiyuki; Karlsrud, John (Eds.) (2017): *UN Peacekeeping Doctrine in a New Era: Adapting to Stabilisation, Protection and New Threats.* (Global Institutions, Vol. 125). Abingdon: Routledge.

de Coning, Cedric; Gelot, Linnéa; Karlsrud, John (Eds.) (2016): *The Future of African Peace Operations: From the Janjaweed to Boko Haram.* (Africa Now). London: Zed Books.

Dijkstra, Hylke (2016): *International Organizations and Military Affairs*. (Global Institutions). Abingdon: Routledge.

Doucet, Marc G. (2017): Reforming 21st Century Peacekeeping Operations: Governmentalities of Security, Protection, and Police. (Interventions). Abingdon: Routledge.

Doyle, Michael W. (2015): *The Question of Intervention: John Stuart Mill and the Responsibility to Protect.* (Castle Lectures in Ethics, Politics, and Economics). New Haven: Yale University Press.

Eriksson, Mikael; Kostić, Roland (Eds.) (2013): Mediation and Liberal Peacebuilding: Peace from the Ashes of War? (Routledge Studies in Intervention and Statebuilding). Abingdon: Routledge.

Evans, Gareth (2008): *The Responsibility to Protect: Ending Mass Atrocity Crimes Once and For All.* Washington, DC: Brookings Institution Press.

Falk, Richard (2015): Humanitarian Intervention and Legitimacy Wars: Seeking Peace and Justice in the 21st Century. (Global Horizons, Vol. 14). Abingdon: Routledge.

Finkenbusch, Peter (2017): *Rethinking Neo-Institutional Statebuilding: The Knowledge Paradox of International Intervention*. (Routledge Studies in Intervention and Statebuilding). Abingdon: Routledge.

Fiott, Daniel; Koops, Joachim (Eds.) (2015): *The Responsibility to Protect and the Third Pillar: Legitimacy and Operationalization.* Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan / Springer Nature. DOI: https://doi.

ISSN 2334-3745 136 February 2019

org/10.1057/9781137364401

Flaspöler, Anne (2019): *African Peacekeeping Training Centres: Socialisation as a Tool for Peace?* (Routledge Studies in African Development). Abingdon: Routledge.

Genser, Jared; Cotler, Irwin (2012): *The Responsibility to Protect: The Promise of Stopping Mass Atrocities in our Time.* Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Ghimire, Safal (2019): *The Politics of Peacebuilding: Emerging Actors and Security Sector Reform in Conflict-Affected States.* (Routledge Studies in Conflict, Security and Development). Abingdon: Routledge.

Glanville, Luke (2014): *Sovereignty and the Responsibility to Protect: A New History.* Chicago: The University of Chicago Press.

Gözen Ercan, Pinar (2016): *Debating the Future of the "Responsibility to Protect": The Evolution of a Moral Norm.* London: Palgrave Macmillan / Springer Nature. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1057/978-1-137-52427-0

Grover, Sonja (Ed.) (2017): *The Responsibility to Protect: Perspectives on the Concept's Meaning, Proper Application and Value.* Abingdon: Routledge.

Guéhenno, Jean-Marie (2015): *The Fog of Peace: A Memoir of International Peacekeeping in the 21st Century.* Washington, DC: Brookings Institution Press.

Hanatani, Atsushi; Gómez, Oscar A.; Kawaguchi, Chigumi (Eds.) (2018): *Crisis Management beyond the Humanitarian-Development Nexus.* (Routledge Humanitarian Studies). Abingdon: Routledge.

Hehir, Aidan (Ed.) (2010): Kosovo, Intervention and Statebuilding: The International Community and the Transition to Independence. (Routledge Studies in Intervention and Statebuilding). Abingdon: Routledge.

Hehir, Aidan; Murray, Robert W. (Eds.) (2017): *Protecting Human Rights in the 21st Century.* (Routledge Studies in Intervention and Statebuilding). Abingdon: Routledge.

Henriksen, Dag; Larssen, Ann Karin (Eds.) (2016): *Political Rationale and International Consequences of the War in Libya*. Oxford: Oxford University Press. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1093/acprof:oso/9780198767480.001.0001

Herro, Annie (2015): *UN Emergency Peace Service and the Responsibility to Protect.* (Global Politics and the Responsibility to Protect). Abingdon: Routledge.

Heyse, Liesbet et al. (Eds.) (2015): *Humanitarian Crises, Intervention and Security: A Framework for Evidence-Based Programming.* (Routledge Studies in Intervention and Statebuilding). Abingdon: Routledge.

Higashi, Daisaku (2015): Challenges of Constructing Legitimacy in Peacebuilding: Afghanistan, Iraq, Sierra Leone, and East Timor. (Global Institutions). Abingdon: Routledge.

Hilpold, Peter (Ed.) (2015): *Responsibility to Protect (R2P): A New Paradigm of International Law?* Leiden: Brill Nijhoff.

Hunt, Charles T. (2015): *UN Peace Operations and International Policing: Negotiating Complexity, Assessing Impact and Learning to Learn.* (Routledge Studies in Peace and Conflict Resolution). Abingdon: Routledge.

Jansen, Annette (2017): *Anti-Genocide Activists and the Responsibility to Protect.* Abingdon: Routledge. (Routledge Humanitarian Studies). Abingdon: Routledge.

Johnson, Robert; Clack, Timothy (Eds.) (2015): At the End of Military Intervention: Historical, Theoretical, and Applied Approaches to Transition, Handover, and Withdrawal. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Johnstone, Ian (Ed.) (2016): US Peace Operations Policy: A Double-Edged Sword? Abingdon: Routledge.

Jokic, Aleksandar (Ed.) (2003): *Humanitarian Intervention: Moral and Philosophical Issues*. Peterborough: Broadview Press.

ISSN 2334-3745 137 February 2019

Kabia, John M. (2009): Humanitarian Intervention and Conflict Resolution in West Africa: From ECOMOG to ECOMIL. Farnham: Ashgate.

Kersten, Mark (2016): *Justice in Conflict: The Effects of the International Criminal Court's Interventions on Ending Wars and Building Peace.* Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Kingsbury, Damien (2012): *Sri Lanka and the Responsibility to Protect: Politics, Ethnicity and Genocide.* (Asian Security Studies). Abingdon: Routledge.

Klose, Fabian (Ed.) (2016): *The Emergence of Humanitarian Intervention: Ideas and Practice from the Nineteenth Century to the Present.* Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Knight, W. Andy; Egerton, Frazer (Eds.) (2012): *The Routledge Handbook of the Responsibility to Protect.* (Routledge Handbooks). Abingdon: Routledge.

Koddenbrock, Kai (2016): The Practice of Humanitarian Intervention: Aid Workers, Agencies and Institutions in the Democratic Republic of the Congo. (Routledge Studies in Intervention and Statebuilding). Abingdon: Routledge.

Koops, Joachim A.; Tercovich, Giulia (Eds.) (2017): European Approaches to United Nations Peacekeeping: Towards a Stronger Re-Engagement? Abingdon: Routledge.

Koops, Joachim A. et al. (Eds.) (2015): *The Oxford Handbook of United Nations Peacekeeping Operations*. (Oxford Handbooks). Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Kuperman, Alan J. (2001): *The Limits of Humanitarian Intervention: Genocide in Rwanda*. Washington, DC: Brookings Institution Press.

Lepard, Brian D. (2002): *Rethinking Humanitarian Intervention: A Fresh Legal Approach Based on Fundamental Ethical Principles in International Law and World Religions*. University Park: Penn State University Press.

Madej, Marek (Ed.) (2019): Western Military Interventions after the Cold War: Evaluating the Wars of the West. (Cass Military Studies). Abingdon: Routledge.

Martin-Brûlé, Sarah-Myriam (2017): Evaluating Peacekeeping Missions: A Typology of Success and Failure in International Interventions. (Cass Series on Peacekeeping). Abingdon: Routledge.

Mayersen, Deborah; Pohlman, Annie (Eds.) (2013): Genocide and Mass Atrocities in Asia: Legacies and Prevention. (Routledge Contemporary Asia Series, Vol. 40). Abingdon: Routledge.

Menon, Rajan (2016): The Conceit of Humanitarian Intervention. New York: Oxford University Press.

Mills, Kurt (2015): *International Responses to Mass Atrocities in Africa: Responsibility to Protect, Prosecute, and Palliate.* (Pennsylvania Studies in Human Rights). Philadelphia: University of Pennsylvania Press.

Murray, Robert W.; McKay, Alasdair (Eds.) (2014, January): *Into the Eleventh Hour: R2P, Syria and Humanitarianism in Crisis.* (Edited Collection). [e-Book]. Bristol: E-International Relations. URL: https://www.e-ir.info/2014/01/20/edited-collection-r2p-syria-and-humanitarianism-in-crisis

Nadin, Peter (Ed.) (2018): The Use of Force in UN Peacekeeping. (Global Institutions). Abingdon: Routledge.

Niemann, Holger (2019): *The Justification of Responsibility in the UN Security Council: Practices of Normative Ordering in International Relations.* Abingdon: Routledge.

Norheim-Martinsen, Per M.; Nyhamar, Tore (Eds.) (2016): *International Military Operations in the 21st Century: Global Trends and the Future of Intervention.* (Cass Military Studies). Abingdon: Routledge.

Nuñez-Mietz, Fernando G. (2019): *The Use of Force under International Law: Lawyerized States in a Legalized World.* (New International Relations). Abingdon: Routledge.

ISSN 2334-3745 138 February 2019

O'Bannon, Brett R. (Ed.) (2016): *Reassessing the Responsibility to Protect: Conceptual and Operational Challenges.* (Global Politics and the Responsibility to Protect). Abingdon: Routledge.

Omeje, Kenneth (Ed.) (2019): *Peacebuilding in Contemporary Africa: In Search of Alternative Strategies*. (Routledge Studies in African Development). Abingdon: Routledge.

Osman, Mohamed Awad (2018): *The United Nations and Peace Enforcement: Wars, Terrorism and Democracy.* (Routledge Revivals). Abingdon: Routledge. (Original work published in 2002)

O'Sullivan, Susannah (2018): *Military Intervention in the Middle East and North Africa: The Case of NATO in Libya.* (Interventions). Abingdon: Routledge.

Pattison, James (2010): *Humanitarian Intervention and the Responsibility to Protect: Who Should Intervene?* Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Peltonen, Hannes (2013): *International Responsibility and Grave Humanitarian Crises: Collective Provision for Human Security.* (Global Politics and the Responsibility to Protect). Abingdon: Routledge.

Phillips, Christopher (2016): *The Battle for Syria: International Rivalry in the New Middle East.* New Haven: Yale University Press.

Puri, Hardeep Singh (2016): *Perilous Interventions: The Security Council and the Politics of Chaos.* Noida: HarperCollins Publishers India.

Ramsbotham, Oliver; Woodhouse, Tom; Miall, Hugh (2016): *Contemporary Conflict Resolution*. (4th ed.). Cambridge: Polity Press.

Roff, Heather M. (2013): *Global Justice, Kant and the Responsibility to Protect: A Provisional Duty.* (Global Politics and the Responsibility to Protect). Abingdon: Routledge.

Sahin, Selver B. (2015): *International Intervention and State-Making: How Exception Became the Norm.* (Routledge Studies in Intervention and Statebuilding). Abingdon: Routledge.

Sandstrom, Karl (2013): *Local Interests and American Foreign Policy: Why International Interventions Fail.* (Routledge Studies in US Foreign Policy). Abingdon: Routledge.

Serrano, Monica; Fuentes, Claudio (Eds.) (forthcoming 2019): *The Responsibility to Protect in Latin America: A New Map.* Abingdon: Routledge.

Seybolt, Taylor B. (2008): *Humanitarian Military Intervention: The Conditions for Success and Failure*. [e-Book]. Oxford / Solna: Oxford University Press / Stockholm International Peace Research Institute (SIPRI). URL: https://www.sipri.org/publications/2007/sipri-monographs/humanitarian-military-intervention-conditions-success-and-failure

Seybolt, Taylor B. (forthcoming 2019): *Preventing Genocide and Mass Killing: A Criminological Approach*. (Global Politics and the Responsibility to Protect). Abingdon: Routledge.

Sharma, Serena K. (2016): *The Responsibility to Protect and the International Criminal Court: Protection and Prosecution in Kenya*. (Global Politics and the Responsibility to Protect). Abingdon: Routledge.

Sharma, Serena K.; Welsh, Jennifer M. (2015) (Eds.): *The Responsibility to Prevent: Overcoming the Challenges of Atrocity Prevention*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Shaw, Ibrahim Seaga (2012): *Human Rights Journalism: Advances in Reporting Distant Humanitarian Interventions*. London: Palgrave Macmillan / Springer Nature. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1057/9780230358874

Silander, Daniel; Wallace, Don (Eds.) (2015): *International Organizations and the Implementation of the Responsibility to Protect: The Humanitarian Crisis in Syria.* (Global Politics and the Responsibility to Protect). Abingdon: Routledge.

ISSN 2334-3745 139 February 2019

Silander, Daniel; Wallace, Don; Janzekovic, John (Eds.) (2017): *International Organizations and the Rise of ISIL: Global Responses to Human Security Threats.* (Global Politics and the Responsibility to Protect). Abingdon: Routledge.

Simms, Brendan; Trim, D. J. B. (Eds.) (2011): *Humanitarian Intervention: A History*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Spitka, Timea (2016): *International Intervention, Identity and Conflict Transformation: Bridges and Walls between Groups.* (Routledge Studies in Peace and Conflict Resolution). Abingdon: Routledge.

Thakur, Ramesh (2011): *The Responsibility to Protect: Norms, Laws and the Use of Force in International Politics.* (Global Politics and the Responsibility to Protect). Abingdon: Routledge.

Thakur, Ramesh (2019): *Reviewing the Responsibility to Protect: Origins, Implementation and Controversies.* (Global Politics and the Responsibility to Protect). Abingdon: Routledge.

Thakur, Ramesh; Maley, William (Eds.) (2015): *Theorising the Responsibility to Protect*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Turner, Mandy; Kühn, Florian P. (Eds.) (2016): *The Politics of International Intervention: The Tyranny of Peace*. (Routledge Studies in Intervention and Statebuilding). Abingdon: Routledge.

van Willigen, Niels (2013): *Peacebuilding and International Administration: The Cases of Bosnia and Herzegovina and Kosovo.* Abingdon: Routledge.

Visoka, Gëzim (2016): *Peace Figuration after International Intervention: Intentions, Events and Consequences of Liberal Peacebuilding.* (Routledge Studies in Intervention and Statebuilding). Abingdon: Routledge.

Vik, Cathinka (2015): *Moral Responsibility, Statecraft and Humanitarian Intervention: The US Response to Rwanda, Darfur, and Libya.* (Global Politics and the Responsibility to Protect). Abingdon: Routledge.

Wallensteen, Peter (2015): Quality Peace: Peacebuilding, Victory, and World Order. (Studies in Strategic Peacebuilding). New York: Oxford University Press.

Walling, Carrie Booth (2013): *All Necessary Measures: The United Nations and Humanitarian Intervention.* (Pennsylvania Studies in Human Rights). Philadelphia: University of Pennsylvania Press.

Warren, Aiden; Grenfell, Damian (Eds.) (2018): *Rethinking Humanitarian Intervention in the 21st Century.* Edinburgh: Edinburgh University Press.

Webel, Charles; Tomass, Mark (Eds.) (2017): Assessing the War on Terror: Western and Middle Eastern Perspectives. (Contemporary Terrorism Studies). Abingdon: Routledge.

Weller, Marc (Ed.) (2015): *The Oxford Handbook of the Use of Force in International Law.* (Oxford Handbooks). Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Wilcox, Lauren B. (2015): *Bodies of Violence: Theorizing Embodied Subjects in International Relations*. (Oxford Studies in Gender and International Relations). New York: Oxford University Press.

Wills, Siobhán (2009): Protecting Civilians: The Obligations of Peacekeepers. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Wodrig, Stefanie (2017): *Regional Intervention Politics in Africa: Crisis, Hegemony, and the Transformation of Subjectivity.* (Routledge Studies in Intervention and Statebuilding). Abingdon: Routledge.

Wolff, Stefan; Dursun-Özkanca, Oya (Eds.) (2014): External Interventions in Civil Wars: The Role and Impact of Regional and International Organisations. Abingdon: Routledge.

Yom, Sean L. (2016): From Resilience to Revolution: How Foreign Interventions Destabilize the Middle East. (Columbia Studies in Middle East Politics). New York: Columbia University Press.

ISSN 2334-3745 140 February 2019

Zanker, Franzisca (2018): *Legitimacy in Peacebuilding*: *Rethinking Civil Society Involvement in Peace Negotiations*. (Routledge Studies in Peace and Conflict Resolution). Abingdon: Routledge.

Zwier, Paul J. (2018): *Peacemaking, Religious Belief and the Rule of Law: The Struggle between Dictatorship and Democracy in Syria and beyond.* (Routledge Research in International Law). Abingdon: Routledge.

Theses

Aarts, Jeroen A. H. (2015, January): *Saving the Libyans and Skipping the Syrians, What's the Deal with that?* (Master's Thesis, Leiden University, Leiden, The Netherlands). URL: http://hdl.handle.net/1887/32871

Aziz, Manizja (2018, July): *Applying the Regime of IHL and International Responsibility to the Use of PMSCs in UN Operations: Demonstrating the Misalignment between International Law and International Reality.* (Master's Thesis, Leiden University, Leiden, The Netherlands). URL: http://hdl.handle.net/1887/64654

Babatunde, Elkanah Oluwapelumi (2017, March): *Humanitarian Intervention: Legality, Legitimacy and the Search for Solutions.* (Master's Thesis, University of Cape Town, Cape Town, South Africa). URL: http://hdl.html.net/11427/24936

Blackford, William R. (2014): *The Responsibility to Protect and International Law: Moral, Legal and Practical Perspectives on Kosovo, Libya, and Syria.* (Master's Thesis, Portland State University, Portland, United States). DOI: https://doi.org/10.15760/etd.2529

Butchard, Patrick Michael (2017, October): *The Responsibility to Protect when the UN Security Council Fails to Act: Is there Room for a Tertiary Responsibility?* (Doctoral Thesis, University of Liverpool, Liverpool, United Kingdom). URL: http://livrepository.liverpool.ac.uk/id/eprint/3016795

Chukwuagozie, Odoemena Emmanuel (2015, September): *The Applicability of the Doctrine of Responsibility to Protect and the Legality of NATO Intervention in Libya*. (Master's Thesis, University of Pretoria, Pretoria, South Africa). URL: http://hdl.handle.net/2263/53176

Crossley, Noële (2015, April): *Humanitarian Intervention: From Le Droit d'Ingérence to the Responsibility to Protect.* (Doctoral Thesis, London School of Economics, London, United Kingdom). URL: http://etheses.lse.ac.uk/id/eprint/3161

Gottwald, Marlene (2014): *Europe's Responsibility to Protect: From Kosovo to Syria.* (Doctoral Thesis, University of Edinburgh, Edinburgh, United Kingdom). URL: http://hdl.handle.net/1842/16229

Harsant, Katy (2016, September): *Selective Responsibility: History, Power and Politics in the United Nations.* (Doctoral Thesis, University of Warwick, Coventry, United Kingdom). URL: http://wrap.warwick.ac.uk/90302

Hatupopi, Petrus (2017, March): *The Responsibility to Protect (R2P): An Analysis of the Fulfillment of the Obligation Borne by the Nigerian Government and the International Community to Protect the Nigerian Population from Boko Haram.* (Master's Thesis, University of Cape Town, Cape Town, South Africa). URL: http://hdl.handle.net/11427/27491

Huang, Siwen (2015, June): *The Legality and Legitimacy of Using Armed Force for the Protection of Strangers: From Humanitarian Intervention to the Responsibility to Protect.* (Master's Thesis, Arctic University of Norway, Tromsø, Norway). URL: http://hdl.handle.net/10037/8283

Kahama, Dickson (2015, October): Responsibility to Protect: Analysis of whether Pillar Three of the Responsibility to Protect Doctrine Obliges the Security Council to Act in Cases of Mass Atrocities such as those in Syria. (Master's Thesis, University of Pretoria, Pretoria, South Africa). URL: http://hdl.handle.net/2263/53133

Karnavos, Stephen (2014): R2P: A Failure to Resolve the Impasse between the Commission of Mass Atrocity Crimes and State Sovereignty. (Master's Thesis, University of Johannesburg, Johannesburg, South Africa). URL:

ISSN 2334-3745 141 February 2019

http://hdl.handle.net/10210/13982

Khallaf, Hanouf Talal (2016, May): *Veto Syria: Explaining the Power of the United Nations Security Council and the Syrian Refugee Crisis.* (Master's Thesis, University of San Francisco, San Francisco, United States). URL: https://repository.usfca.edu/capstone/354

Khullar, Akanksha (2017, October): *The Problems of NATO's R2P Implementation in Libya: Has the International Community Learnt its Lessons?* (Master's Thesis [Honours], Australian National University, Canberra, Australia). URL: http://hdl.handle.net/1885/147743

Kiné, Fatou (2014, January): *The Responsibility to Protect Doctrine (R2P)*. (Master's Thesis, The American University of Paris, Paris, France). URL: https://pqdtopen.proquest.com/pubnum/10305887.html

Kirushev, Vladimir (2013, Fall): *State Sovereignty and Intervention in the Age of Responsibility to Protect: Analysis of Libya and Syria.* (Master's Thesis, George Mason University, Fairfax, United States). URL: http://hdl.handle.net/1920/8718

Kore, Joan Pauline (2014, September): *Responsibility to Protect under International Law: A Case for Entrenchment in Treaty Law.* (Master's Thesis, University of Nairobi, Nairobi, Kenya). URL: http://hdl.handle.net/11295/76341

Kotyashko, Anna (2017, January): *Contested Views of the Responsibility to Protect: The Cases of Brazil and Russia.* (Master's Thesis, Universidade do Minho, Braga, Portugal). URL: http://hdl.handle.net/1822/47994

Kushi, Sidita (2018, March): Saving our Western Neighbors: How Regional Institutions and Conflict Perceptions Drive Humanitarian Military Interventions. (Doctoral Thesis, Northeastern University, Boston, United States). DOI: https://doi.org/10.17760/D20283086

Lorenz, Murielle Stéphanie Pereira (2015, October): *The Solidarist Challenge to International Society and Humanitarian Intervention: The Cases of Kosovo and Darfur.* (Master's Thesis, Pontifícia Universidade Católica do Rio de Janeiro, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil). URL: https://doi.org/10.17771/PUCRio.acad.29805

Lind, Peter Spears (2016): *The Contestation of Nonintervention: International Order and Emergence of the Responsibility to Protect (R2P).* (Doctoral Thesis, University of St Andrews, St Andrews, United Kingdom). URL: http://hdl.handle.net/10023/9318

Mabera, Faith K. (2014, June): *The African Union and the Responsibility to Protect: Lessons Learnt from the 2011 United Nations Security Council Intervention in Libya*. (Magister's Thesis, University of Pretoria, Pretoria, South Africa). URL: http://hdl.handle.net/2263/42830

Mavridis, Iakovos (2006, August): *The Practice of Humanitarian Intervention after the End of the Cold War: Emerging Norm or Just Practice? Humanitarian Intervention and International Law.* (Doctoral Thesis, University of Hull, Hull, United Kingdom). URL: https://hydra.hull.ac.uk/resources/hull:5858

Miller, Jordan (2018, August): *Terrorism on Trial: Exploring the ICC as a Means of Combating Terrorism.* (Master's Thesis, Brandeis University, Waltham, United States). URL: https://hdl.handle.net/10192/35912

Mthamo, Khayalandile Lwando (2017): *The Responsibility to Protect in the Context of the NATO Intervention in Libya in 2011: A Human Rights Analysis.* (Magister's Thesis, University of the Western Cape, Cape Town, South Africa). URL: http://hdl.handle.net/11394/6322

Osei-Abankwah, Charles (2016, October): *Humanitarian Intervention and the Responsibility to Protect: Questions of Abuse and Proportionality.* (Doctoral Thesis, University of South Africa, Pretoria, South Africa). URL: http://hdl.handle.net/10500/22321

Paulos, Jodit (2018, August): *The United Nations Security Council and Humanitarian Interventions: The Case of Syria.* (Master's Thesis, California State University, Northridge, Los Angeles, United States). URL: http://hdl.html.net/10211.3/206364

Perez, Luis R. (2016, September): *Threat Perception, Non-State Actors, and U.S. Military Intervention after 9/11.* (Master's Thesis, Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University, Blacksburg, United States). URL: http://hdl.handle.net/10919/73306

Pimpale, Arya (2017): *India and the Responsibility to Protect Norm: A Constructivist Analysis*. (Master's Thesis, Leiden University, Leiden, The Netherlands). URL: http://hdl.handle.net/1887/56723

Roberts, Adam (2016, June): *The Yazidi and the Responsibility to Protect.* (Master's Thesis, University of Oregon, Eugene, United States). URL: http://hdl.handle.net/1794/20521

Roche, William L. (2017, Fall): Implementing the International "Responsibility to Protect": A Sociological Case Study of the Institutional Practices of the United States Department of Defense toward Operationalizing Humanitarian Intervention. (Doctoral Thesis, George Mason University, Fairfax, United States). URL: http://hdl.handle.net/1920/11186

Ricci, Dennis N. (2014): U.S. Military Intervention in the Post-Cold War Era: A Case-Study Analysis of Presidential Decision Making. (Doctoral Thesis, University of Connecticut, Mansfield, United States). URL: https://opencommons.uconn.edu/dissertations/364

Rudić, Aleksandar (2017): Wars for Humanity? A Study on Humanitarian Interventions and their Relation to International Law and Power Interests. (Master's Thesis, Universität Wien, Vienna, Austria).URL: https://resolver.obvsg.at/resolver?identifier=urn:nbn:at:at-ubw:1-28818.73165.515169-1

Sprik, Lenneke (2017, October): A Failure to Protect in Peacekeeping Operations: A Commander's Responsibility? Obligations and Responsibilities of Military Commanders in UN Peacekeeping Operations. (Doctoral Thesis, University of Glasgow, Glasgow, United Kingdom). URL: http://theses.gla.ac.uk/id/eprint/8613

Start, Jessica Margaret (2016, August): *Humanitarian Intervention in Libya and Darfur: The Future of Responsibility to Protect.* (Master's Thesis, University of Saskatchewan, Saskatoon, Canada). URL: http://hdl.handle.net/10388/7430

Steenbrink, Laura (2017, January): *Responsibility to Protect at Stake: R2P in Relation to the US, NATO and the EU: The Case of Syria.* (Master's Thesis, Utrecht University, Utrecht, The Netherlands). URL: https://dspace.library.uu.nl/handle/1874/347595

Tahir, Bushra (2016): From Doctrine to Practice: Responsibility to Protect and Military Intervention in Libya 2011. (Master's Thesis, University of Manitoba, Winnipeg, Canada). URL: http://hdl.handle.net/1993/31161

Taleski, Philip (2018, October): *Bridging the Gap in Human Protection: Contesting the Responsibility to Protect through the Protection of Civilians Norm: A Comparative Study of Brazil, China and South Africa.* (Bachelor's Thesis [Honours], Australian National University, Canberra, Australia). URL: http://hdl.handle.net/1885/154710

Timmoneri, Serena (2017): *New Perspective for the Responsibility to Protect: Reducing Gender Inequality as a Means to Reduce the Risk of Genocide.* (Doctoral Thesis, University of Catania, Catania, Italy). URL: http://archivia.unict.it/handle/10761/4070

Torrance, Chris (2014, January): *The Responsibility to Harm: Saving Civilians through the Use of Force in the Context of the Responsibility to Protect.* (Master's Thesis, Webster University, St. Louis, United States). URL: https://pqdtopen.proquest.com/pubnum/1525125.html

van Niekerk, Marieke (2017): *Justifying Military Intervention: Does Military Intervention Reduce the Public's Sense of Vulnerability from Islamic Terrorism?* (Master's Thesis, Leiden University, Leiden, The Netherlands). URL: http://hdl.handle.net/1887/52169

Williams, Tiffany Iris (2017): With the Best of Intentions: Normative Dilemmas of the Responsibility to Protect. (Doctoral Thesis, University of California, Irvine, United States). URL: https://escholarship.org/uc/item/7xp6b4vb

ISSN 2334-3745 143 February 2019

Journal Articles and Book Chapters

Aaronson, Mike (2018): Interventionism in US Foreign Policy from Bush to Obama. In: Michelle Bentley; Jack Holland (Eds.): *Obama's Foreign Policy: Ending the War on Terror.* (Routledge Studies in US Foreign Policy, Vol. 10). Abingdon: Routledge, 124-138. URL: http://epubs.surrey.ac.uk/794885

Adebajo, Adekeye (2016): The Revolt against the West: Intervention and Sovereignty. *Third World Quarterly*, 37(7), 1187-1202. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/01436597.2016.1154434

Adediran, Bolarinwa (2017, November): Implementing R2P: Towards a Regional Solution? *Global Responsibility to Protect*, *9*(4), 459-487. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1163/1875984X-00904006

Ainley, Kirsten (2015, January): The Responsibility to Protect and the International Criminal Court: Counteracting the Crisis. *International Affairs*, *91*(1), 37-54. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1111/1468-2346.12185 URL: https://www.chathamhouse.org/sites/default/files/field/field publication docs/INTA91 1 03 Ainley. pdf

Ainley, Kirsten (2017, August): From Atrocity Crimes to Human Rights: Expanding the Focus of the Responsibility to Protect. *Global Responsibility to Protect*, *9*(3), 243-266. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1163/1875984X-00903003

Aistrope, Tim; Gifkins, Jess; Taylor, N. A. J. (2018): The Responsibility to Protect and the Question of Attribution. *Global Change, Peace & Security*, *30*(1), 1-15. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/14781158.2018.1430026

Aloyo, Eamon (2018, October): Conceptualising Mass Atrocity Prevention, Nonviolent Resistance, and Politically Feasible Alternatives. *Global Responsibility to Protect*, *10*(4), 448-470. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1163/1875984X-01004005

Andersen, Louise Riis (2018, March): The HIPPO in the Room: The Pragmatic Push-Back from the UN Peace Bureaucracy against the Militarization of UN Peacekeeping. *International Affairs*, 94(2), 343-361. DOI: https://www.chathamhouse.org/sites/default/files/images/ia/INTA94 2 07 Andersen.pdf

Aslam, Wali (2018, October): The Syrian Missile Strike and the Education of Donald J. Trump in the Art of Responsible Statecraft. *Global Responsibility to Protect*, 10(4), 420-447. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1163/1875984X-01004004

Averre, Derek; Davies, Lance (2015, July): Russia, Humanitarian Intervention and the Responsibility to Protect: The Case of Syria. *International Affairs*, 91(4), 813-834. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1111/1468-2346.12343

Bachmann, Jan; Schouten, Peer (2018, March): Concrete Approaches to Peace: Infrastructure as Peacebuilding. *International Affairs*, 94(2), 381-398. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1093/ia/iix237

Bakaki, Zorzeta; Hinkkainen, Kaisa (2016): Do Child Soldiers Influence UN Peacekeeping? *International Peacekeeping*, 23(4), 540-567. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/13533312.2016.1173512 URL: https://eprints.whiterose.ac.uk/120215

Baranovsky, Vladimir; Mateiko, Anatoly (2016): Responsibility to Protect: Russia's Approaches. *The International Spectator*, *51*(2), 49-69. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/03932729.2016.1176648

Beardsley, Kyle; Gleditsch, Kristian Skrede (2015, March): Peacekeeping as Conflict Containment. *International Studies Review*, *17*(1), 67-89. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1111/misr.12205

Beier, J. Marshall (2018, March): Ultimate Tests: Children, Rights, and the Politics of Protection. *Global Responsibility to Protect*, 10(1-2), 164-187. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1163/1875984X-01001009

Bellamy, Alex J. (2016, May): Atrocity Prevention: From Promise to Practice in the Asia Pacific. Global

ISSN 2334-3745 144 February 2019

Responsibility to Protect, 8(2-3), 180-199. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1163/1875984X-00803006

Bellamy, Alex J. (2018): The Responsibility to Protect. In: Paul D. Williams; Matt McDonald (Eds.): *Security Studies: An Introduction*. (3rd ed.). Abingdon: Routledge, 235-249.

Bellamy, Alex J.; Davies, Sara E.; Glanville, Luke (2018, October): Global R2P at Ten ... and beyond. [Editorial]. *Global Responsibility to Protect*, *10*(4), 389-392. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1163/1875984X-01004002

Bellamy, Alex J.; Hunt, Charles T. (2015, November): Twenty-First Century UN Peace Operations: Protection, Force and the Changing Security Environment. *International Affairs*, 91(6), 1277-1298. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1111/1468-2346.12456

Binder, Martin (2015, November): Paths to Intervention: What Explains the UN's Selective Response to Humanitarian Crises? *Journal of Peace Research*, 52(6),712-726. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1177/0022343315585847

Birnie, Rutger; Welsh, Jennifer (2018, May): Displacement, Protection and Responsibility: A Case for Safe Areas. *Global Responsibility to Protect*, 10(3), 332-361. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1163/1875984X-01003005

Böller, Florian (2017): Debating War and Peace: US Congress and the Domestic Legitimization of Military Interventions. *Democracy and Security*, 13(3), 196-219. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/17419166.2017.1326309

Böller, Florian; Werle, Sebastian (2016): Fencing the Bear? Explaining US Foreign Policy towards Russian Interventions. *Contemporary Security Policy*, *37*(3), 319-340. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/13523260.2016.12 02653

Borgia, Fiammetta (2015): The Responsibility to Protect Doctrine: Between Criticisms and Inconsistencies. *Journal on the Use of Force and International Law*, 2(2), 223-237. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/20531702.2015. 1090217

Bose, Srinjoy; Thakur, Ramesh (2016, October): The UN Secretary-General and the Forgotten Third R2P Responsibility. *Global Responsibility to Protect*, 8(4), 343-365. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1163/1875984X-00804003

Bove, Vincenzo; Gleditsch, Kristian Skrede; Sekeris, Petros G. (2016, October): "Oil above Water": Economic Interdependence and Third-Party Intervention. *Journal of Conflict Resolution*, 60(7), 1251-1277. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1177/0022002714567952 URL: https://petros.sekeris.org/oil above water.pdf

Bromley, Sara Lindberg (2018, January): Introducing the UCDP Peacemakers at Risk Dataset, Sub-Saharan Africa, 1989–2009. *Journal of Peace Research*, 55(1), 122-131. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1177/0022343317735882

Brosig, Malte; Sempijja, Norman (2018): Does Peacekeeping Reduce Violence? Assessing Comprehensive Security of Contemporary Peace Operations in Africa. *Stability*, 7(1), Article 4. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5334/sta.576

Brzoska, Michael (2015, November): International Sanctions before and beyond UN Sanctions. *International Affairs*, *91*(6), 1339-1349. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1111/1468-2346.12449

Butcher, Charity (2016): Terrorism and External Audiences: Influencing Foreign Intervention into Civil Wars. *Terrorism and Political Violence*, 28(4), 774-794. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/09546553.2014.955572

Calvert, Peter (2010): Aid and Intervention. In: *Terrorism, Civil War, and Revolution: Revolution and International Politics.* (3rd ed.). New York: Continuum, 123-147.

Caplan, Richard; Hoeffler, Anke (2017, July): Why Peace Endures: An Analysis of Post-Conflict Stabilisation. *European Journal of International Security*, *2*(2), 133-152. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1017/eis.2017.2

Carati, Andrea; Locatelli, Andrea (2017): Cui prodest? Italy's Questionable Involvement in Multilateral Military Operations amid Ethical Concerns and National Interest. *International Peacekeeping*, *24*(1), 86-107. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/13533312.2016.1229127

ISSN 2334-3745 145 February 2019

Cetorelli, Valeria et al. (2017, May): Mortality and Kidnapping Estimates for the Yazidi Population in the Area of Mount Sinjar, Iraq, in August 2014: A Retrospective Household Survey. *PLOS Medicine*, *14*(5), Article e1002297. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1002297

Chandler, David (2018): Intervention and Statebuilding beyond the Human: From the "Black Box" to the "Great Outdoors". *Journal of Intervention and Statebuilding*, 12(1), 80-97. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/17502 977.2017.1412108

Charbonneau, Bruno (2017): Intervention in Mali: Building Peace between Peacekeeping and Counterterrorism. *Journal of Contemporary African Studies*, 35(4), 415-431. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/02589001.2017.13633

Charron, Andrea; Giumelli, Francesco; Portela, Clara (2015, November): Introduction: The United Nations and Targeted Sanctions. *International Affairs*, *91*(6), 1335-1337. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1111/1468-2346.12457

Charron, Andrea; Portela, Clara (2015, November): The UN, Regional Sanctions and Africa. *International Affairs*, 91(6), 1369-1385. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1111/1468-2346.12452 URL: https://doi.org/10.1111/1468-2346.12452 URL: https://ink.library.smu.edu.sg/soss-research/1869

Chenoweth, Erica (2017, January): Trends in Nonviolent Resistance and State Response: Is Violence towards Civilian-Based Movements on the Rise? *Global Responsibility to Protect*, 9(1), 86-100. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1163/1875984X-00901006

Choi, Seung-Whan; James, Patrick (2016, August): Why Does the United States Intervene Abroad? Democracy, Human Rights Violations, and Terrorism. *Journal of Conflict Resolution*, 60(5), 899-926. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1177/0022002714560350 URL: https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Seung Whan Choi/publication/274509404 Why Does the United States Intervene Abroad Democracy Human Rights Violations and Terrorism

Choi, Seung-Whan; Piazza, James A. (2017, February): Foreign Military Interventions and Suicide Attacks. *Journal of Conflict Resolution*, 61(2), 271-297. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1177/0022002715576575 URL: https://doi.org/10.1177/0022002715576575 URL: https://doi.org/10.1177/0022002715576575 URL: https://doi.org/10.1177/0022002715576575 URL: https://doi.org/bee5/462da5da438b7b1d04a03f1dcc0df6ba64a4.pdf

Coe, Brooke (2017, August): Regional Human Rights Institutions and R2P: The Role of State Monitoring in Atrocity Prevention. *Global Responsibility to Protect*, *9*(3), 294-317. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1163/1875984X-00903005

Cohen, Roberta (2016, October): An R2P Framework for North Korea. *Global Responsibility to Protect*, 8(4), 410-430. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1163/1875984X-00804006

Cold-Ravnkilde, Signe; Albrecht, Peter; Haugegaard, Rikke (2017): Friction and Inequality among Peacekeepers in Mali. *The RUSI Journal*, *162*(2), 34-42. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/03071847.2017.1328810

Conley, Bridget (2017): The "Politics of Protection": Assessing the African Union's Contributions to Reducing Violence against Civilians. *International Peacekeeping*, 24(4), 566-589. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/13533312 .2017.1345311

Conley, Bridget (2017, January): What Counts at the End? Questioning Consensus in the Construction of Mass Atrocity Narratives. *Global Responsibility to Protect*, 9(1), 15-37. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1163/1875984X-00901003

Corbetta, Renato; Melin, Molly M. (2018, November): Exploring the Threshold between Conflict Management and Joining in Biased Interventions. *Journal of Conflict Resolution*, 62(10), 2205-2231. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1177/0022002717720754

Cunliffe, Philip (2016, June): From ISIS to ICISS: A Critical Return to the Responsibility to Protect Report. *Cooperation and Conflict*, *51*(2), 233-247. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1177/0010836715612854

Curran, David (2017): Muddling on through? Cosmopolitan Peacekeeping and the Protection of Civilians. *International Peacekeeping*, 24(1), 63-85. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/13533312.2016.1250627

ISSN 2334-3745 146 February 2019

Dahl-Eriksen, Tor (2016, Summer): R2P and the "Thin Cosmopolitan" Imagination. *The Fletcher Forum of World Affairs*, 40(2), 123-137. URL: https://static1.squarespace.com/static/579fc2ad725e253a86230610/t/57ec6aba5016e1636a21e292/1475111610778/FletcherForum Sum16 40-2 123-137 DAHLERIKSEN.pdf

Davies, Sara E. (2017, August): Responsibility to Protect and the International Human Rights Agenda: Tensions and Opportunities. [Introduction]. *Global Responsibility to Protect*, 9(3), 239-242. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1163/1875984X-00903002

Davies, Sara E.; True, Jacqui (2017, January): Connecting the Dots: Pre-Existing Patterns of Gender Inequality and the Likelihood of Widespread and Systematic Sexual Violence. *Global Responsibility to Protect*, *9*(1), 65-85. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1163/1875984X-00901005

D'Costa, Bina (2018, March): Of Responsibilities, Protection, and Rights: Children's Lives in Conflict Zones. *Global Responsibility to Protect*, *10*(1-2), 261-277. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1163/1875984X-01001013

de Coning, Cedric (2018, March): Adaptive Peacebuilding. *International Affairs*, 94(2), 301-317. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1093/ia/iix251

De Groof, Emmanuel (2016): First Things First: R2P Starts with Direct Negotiations. *The International Spectator*, 51(2), 30-48. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/03932729.2016.1154770

de Moraes, Rodrigo Fracalossi (2018, October): Who is Responsible in the International Arms Trade? Measuring Human Rights Concerns in Arms Transfers. *Global Responsibility to Protect*, *10*(4), 471-498. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1163/1875984X-01004006

Deltenre, Damien; Liégeois, Michel (2016): Filling a Leaking Bathtub? Peacekeeping in Africa and the Challenge of Transnational Armed Rebellions. *African Security*, 9(1), 1-20. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/19392206.2016 .1132902

DeMeritt, Jacqueline H. R. (2015, April): Delegating Death: Military Intervention and Government Killing. *Journal of Conflict Resolution*, 59(3), 428-454. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1177/0022002713515406 URL: https://doi.org/

Denov, Myriam; Lakor, Atim Angela (2018, March): Post-War Stigma, Violence and "Kony Children": The Responsibility to Protect Children Born in Lord's Resistance Army Captivity in Northern Uganda. *Global Responsibility to Protect*, 10(1-2), 217-238. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1163/1875984X-01001011

de Oliveira, Ricardo Soares; Verhoeven, Harry (2018): Taming Intervention: Sovereignty, Statehood and Political Order in Africa. *Survival*, 60(2), 7-32. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/00396338.2018.1448558

DeRouen, Karl, Jr.; Chowdhury, Ishita (2018): Mediation, Peacekeeping and Civil War Peace Agreements. *Defence and Peace Economics*, 29(2), 130-146. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/10242694.2016.1173439

Destradi, Sandra (2017, April): India's Reluctant Approach to R2P: Lessons from Perilous Interventions. *Global Responsibility to Protect*, 9(2), 229-236. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1163/1875984X-00902008

Dorussen, Han; Gizelis, Theodora-Ismene (2013, November): Into the Lion's Den: Local Responses to UN Peacekeeping. *Journal of Peace Research*, 50(6), 691-706. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1177/0022343313484953

Doucet, Marc G. (2016): Global Assemblages of Security Governance and Contemporary International Intervention. *Journal of Intervention and Statebuilding*, 10(1), 116-132. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/1750297 7.2015.1054656

Douglas, William A. (2016, June): The Ethics of Military Intervention for National Security Purposes. *Georgetown Security Studies Review*, 4(2), 54-62. URL: http://georgetownsecuritystudiesreview.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/06/GSSR-Vol.-4-Iss.-2.pdf

Downes, Alexander B.; O'Rourke, Lindsey A. (2016, November): You Can't Always Get What You Want: Why

ISSN 2334-3745 147 February 2019

Foreign-Imposed Regime Change Seldom Improves Interstate Relations. *International Security*, 41(2), 43-89. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1162/ISEC a 00256

Duursma, Allard (2017): Counting Deaths while Keeping Peace: An Assessment of the JMAC's Field Information and Analysis Capacity in Darfur. *International Peacekeeping*, 24(5), 823-847. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/13 533312.2017.1383567

Duursma, Allard (2018): Information Processing Challenges in Peacekeeping Operations: A Case Study on Peacekeeping Information Collection Efforts in Mali. *International Peacekeeping*, 25(3), 446-468. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/13533312.2018.1446757

Duursma, Allard; Read, Róisín (2017): Modelling Violence as Disease? Exploring the Possibilities of Epidemiological Analysis for Peacekeeping Data in Darfur. *International Peacekeeping*, 24(5), 733-755. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/13533312.2017.1383563

Eriksson, Mikael; Wallensteen, Peter (2015, November): Targeting Sanctions and Ending Armed Conflicts: First Steps towards a New Research Agenda. *International Affairs*, 91(6), 1387-1398. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1111/1468-2346.12451

Everett, Andrea L. (2017): Mind the Gap: Civilian Protection and the Politics of Peace Operation Design. *Security Studies*, 26(2), 213-248. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/09636412.2017.1280298

Eze, Chukwuemeka B. (2016, May): The Role of CSOS in Promoting Human Rights Protection, Mass Atrocities Prevention, and Civilian Protection in Armed Conflicts. *Global Responsibility to Protect*, 8(2-3), 249-269. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1163/1875984X-00803009

Falk, Richard (2016, August): Failures of Militarism in Countering Mega-Terrorism. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, *10*(4), 53-63. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2016/issue-4/406.5-failures-of-militarism-by-richard-falk.pdf

Ferris, Elizabeth (2016, October): International Responsibility, Protection and Displacement: Exploring the Connections between R2P, Refugees and Internally Displaced Persons. *Global Responsibility to Protect*, 8(4), 390-409. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1163/1875984X-00804005

Fishel, Stefanie (2013): Theorizing Violence in the Responsibility to Protect. *Critical Studies on Security*, 1(2), 204-218. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/21624887.2013.824650

Fitz-Gerald, Ann (2017): Towards a Common Doctrine for African Standby Force-Led Peace Operations. *International Peacekeeping*, 24(4), 616-638. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/13533312.2017.1345313

Foley, Conor (2016, October): The Human Rights Obligations of UN Peacekeepers. *Global Responsibility to Protect*, 8(4), 431-450. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1163/1875984X-00804007

Francioni, Francesco (2016): Responsibility to Protect in the Age of Global Terror: A Methodological Reassessment. *The International Spectator*, *51*(2), 19-29. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/03932729.2016.1154376

Frater, Vickie; Orchard, Phil (2017, January): More Heat than Light: The Challenges of Measuring Forced Migration. *Global Responsibility to Protect*, 9(1), 38-64. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1163/1875984X-00901004

Gaibulloev, Khusrav et al. (2015, November): Personnel Contributions to UN and non-UN Peacekeeping Missions: A Public Goods Approach. *Journal of Peace Research*, 52(6), 727-742. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1177/0022343315579245

Gallagher, Adrian M. (2015, November): The Promise of Pillar II: Analysing International Assistance under the Responsibility to Protect. *International Affairs*, *91*(6), 1259-1275. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1111/1468-2346.12459 URL: https://eprints.whiterose.ac.uk/94460

Garcia, Antonio (2017, August): Sustainable UN Peacekeeping Offensive Operations: UXOs, ERW and

ISSN 2334-3745 148 February 2019

IEDs. *Small Wars Journal*, 8/2017. URL: http://smallwarsjournal.com/jrnl/art/sustainable-un-peacekeeping-offensive-operations-uxos-erw-and-ieds

Garcia, Antonio (2017, September): United Nations Peacekeeping Offensive Operations: Theory and Doctrine. *Small Wars Journal*, 9/2017. URL: http://smallwarsjournal.com/jrnl/art/united-nations-peacekeeping-offensive-operations-theory-and-doctrine

Garcia, Antonio (2018, February): United Nations Peacekeeping Offensive Operations: Concepts and Command Centres. *Small Wars Journal*, 2/2018. URL: http://smallwarsjournal.com/jrnl/art/united-nations-peacekeeping-offensive-operations-concepts-and-command-centres

Gentry, Caron E. (2017, January): The "Duel" Meaning of Feminisation in International Relations: The Rise of Women and the Interior Logics of Declinist Literature. *Global Responsibility to Protect*, 9(1), 101-124. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1163/1875984X-00901007

Gifkins, Jess (2016, June): R2P in the UN Security Council: Darfur, Libya and beyond. *Cooperation and Conflict*, *51*(2), 148-165. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1177/0010836715613365

Gilgan, Chloë M. (2017, November): Exploring the Link between R2P and Refugee Protection: Arriving at Resettlement. *Global Responsibility to Protect*, *9*(4), 366-394. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1163/1875984X-00904003

Gippert, Birte Julia (2017): Legitimacy and Coercion in Peacebuilding: A Balancing Act. *Journal of Intervention and Statebuilding*, 11(3), 321-338. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/17502977.2017.1353753

Giumelli, Francesco (2015, November): Understanding United Nations Targeted Sanctions: An Empirical Analysis. *International Affairs*, 91(6), 1351-1368. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1111/1468-2346.12448

Glanville, Erin Goheen (2018, March): R2P and the Novel: The Trope of the Abandoned Refugee Child in Stella Leventoyannis Harvey's The Brink of Freedom. *Global Responsibility to Protect*, *10*(1-2), 145-163. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1163/1875984X-01001008

Glanville, Luke (2016, June): Does R2P Matter? Interpreting the Impact of a Norm. *Cooperation and Conflict*, 51(2), 184-199. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1177/0010836715612850

Glanville, Luke (2018, March): Children and R2P: An Introduction. *Global Responsibility to Protect*, *10*(1-2), 7-17. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1163/1875984X-01001002

Goddard, David S. (2018): Understanding the Challenge of Legal Interoperability in Coalition Operations. *Journal of National Security Law & Policy*, 9, 211-232. URL: http://jnslp.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/01/Understanding the Challenge of Legal Interoperability 2.pdf

Grillo, Michael C.; Pupcenoks, Juris (2017): Let's Intervene! But Only If They're Like Us: The Effects of Group Dynamics and Emotion on the Willingness to Support Humanitarian Intervention. *International Interactions*, 43(2), 349-374. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/03050629.2016.1185420

Grizzard, Matthew et al. (2017): Graphic Violence as Moral Motivator: The Effects of Graphically Violent Content in News. *Mass Communication and Society*, 20(6), 763-783. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/15205436 .2017.1339804

Haass, Felix; Ansorg, Nadine (2018, November): Better Peacekeepers, Better Protection? Troop Quality of United Nations Peace Operations and Violence against Civilians. *Journal of Peace Research*, 55(6), 742-758. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1177/0022343318785419 URL: https://felixhaass.de/data/better_peacekeepers/Complete-Manuscript-Better-peacekeepers-forweb.pdf

Haász, Veronika (2017, August): R2P and National Human Rights Institutions. *Global Responsibility to Protect*, 9(3), 318-341. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1163/1875984X-00903006

Hakimi, Monica (2014): Toward a Legal Theory on the Responsibility to Protect. Yale Journal of International

ISSN 2334-3745 149 February 2019

Law, 39(2), 247-281. URL: https://digitalcommons.law.yale.edu/yjil/vol39/iss2/3

Hall, Ian (2017, April): Perilous Interventions and the Responsibility to Protect. *Global Responsibility to Protect*, 9(2), 203-210. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1163/1875984X-00902005

Harrison, Graham (2016): Onwards and Sidewards? The Curious Case of the Responsibility to Protect and Mass Violence in Africa. *Journal of Intervention and Statebuilding*, 10(2), 143-161. DOI: https://doi.org/10.108 0/17502977.2016.1144641

Heathcote, Gina (2017): Women and Children and Elephants as Justification for Force. *Journal on the Use of Force and International Law*, 4(1), 66-85. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/20531702.2017.1294929

Hehir, Aidan (2016, June): Assessing the Influence of the Responsibility to Protect on the UN Security Council during the Arab Spring. *Cooperation and Conflict*, 51(2), 166-183. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1177/0010836715612849

Hehir, Aidan; Pattison, James (2016, June): Introduction: The Responsibility to Protect after the Arab Spring. *Cooperation and Conflict*, *51*(2), 141-147. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1177/0010836715612853

Hémez, Rémy (2016, November-December): Operation Sangaris: A Case Study in Limited Military Intervention. *Military Review*, 11-12/2016, 72-80. URL: https://usacac.army.mil/CAC2/MilitaryReview/Archives/English/MilitaryReview-20161231 art013.pdf

Henderson, Stacey (2017, April): The Arms Trade Treaty: Responsibility to Protect in Action? *Global Responsibility to Protect*, 9(2), 147-172. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1163/1875984X-00902003

Heng, Yee-Kuang (2018): The Continuing Resonance of the War as Risk Management Perspective for Understanding Military Interventions. *Contemporary Security Policy*, 39(4), 544-558. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/13523260.2018.1494670

Henke, Marina E. (2017): Why did France Intervene in Mali in 2013? Examining the Role of Intervention Entrepreneurs. *Canadian Foreign Policy Journal*, *23*(3), 307-323. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/11926422.2017.1352004 URL: http://www.marinahenke.com/uploads/1/0/8/3/108325959/published article in cfpj 2017. pdf

Hewitt, Sarah (2016, February): Overcoming the Gender Gap: The Possibilities of Alignment between the Responsibility to Protect and the Women, Peace and Security Agenda. *Global Responsibility to Protect*, 8(1), 3-28. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1163/1875984X-00801002

Hirblinger, Andreas; Landau, Dana M. (2018): Governing Conflict: The Politics of Scaling Difference. *Journal of Intervention and Statebuilding*, 12(3), 385-404. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/17502977.2018.1496644

Hoelscher, Kristian; Miklian, Jason; Nygård, Håvard Mokleiv (2017): Conflict, Peacekeeping, and Humanitarian Security: Understanding Violent Attacks against Aid Workers. *International Peacekeeping*, *24*(4), 538-565. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/13533312.2017.1321958

Höglund, Kristine; Wennerström, Marcus (2015): When the Going Gets Tough.... Monitoring Missions and a Changing Conflict Environment in Sri Lanka, 2002–2008. *Small Wars & Insurgencies*, 26(5), 836-860. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/09592318.2015.1072319

Holmes, Georgina (2019): Situating Agency, Embodied Practices and Norm Implementation in Peacekeeping Training. *International Peacekeeping*, 26(1), 55-84. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/13533312.2018.1503934

Howorth, Jolyon (2013): Humanitarian Intervention and Post-Conflict Reconstruction in the Post-Cold War Era: A Provisional Balance-Sheet. *Cambridge Review of International Affairs*, *26*(2), 288-309. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/09557571.2013.790584

Hultman, Lisa; Johansson, Karin (2017, April: Responding to Wartime Sexual Violence: UN

ISSN 2334-3745 150 February 2019

Peacekeeping and the Protection Agenda. *Global Responsibility to Protect*, 9(2), 129-146. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1163/1875984X-00902002 URL: http://urn.kb.se/resolve?urn=urn:nbn:se:uu:diva-338187

Hultman, Lisa; Kathman, Jacob D.; Shannon, Megan (2016, July): United Nations Peacekeeping Dynamics and the Duration of Post-Civil Conflict Peace. *Conflict Management and Peace Science*, 33(3), 231-249. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1177/0738894215570425

Hunt, Charles T. (2016, May): African Regionalism and Human Protection Norms: An Overview. *Global Responsibility to Protect*, 8(2-3), 201-226. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1163/1875984X-00803007

Hunt, Charles T. (2017): All Necessary Means to what Ends? The Unintended Consequences of the "Robust Turn" in UN Peace Operations. *International Peacekeeping*, 24(1), 108-131. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/1353 3312.2016.1214074

Ifediora, Obinna Franklin (2016, May): A Regional Responsibility to Protect? Towards "Enhancing Regional Action" in Africa. *Global Responsibility to Protect*, 8(2-3), 270-293. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1163/1875984X-00803010

Jacob, Cecilia (2018, March): R2P and the Prevention of Mass Atrocities: A Child-Centric Approach. *Global Responsibility to Protect*, 10(1-2), 75–96. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1163/1875984X-01001005

Jacob, Daniel (2018, May): Safe Areas and the Responsibility to Protect. *Global Responsibility to Protect*, 10(3), 312-331. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1163/1875984X-01003004

Jacobsen, Katja Lindskov; Engell, Troels Gauslå (2018, March): Conflict Prevention as Pragmatic Response to a Twofold Crisis: Liberal Interventionism and Burundi. *International Affairs*, 94(2), 363-380. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1093/ia/iix236

Jett, Dennis (2016, Winter): What Can Peacekeepers Do if there Is no Peace to Keep? *Middle East Policy*, 23(4), 149-158. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1111/mepo.12240

Johnson, Dustin; Whitman, Shelly; Sparwasser Soroka, Hannah (2018, March): Prevent to Protect: Early Warning, Child Soldiers, and the Case of Syria. *Global Responsibility to Protect*, 10(1-2), 239-259. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1163/1875984X-01001012

Julian, Rachel; Gasser, Russell (2019): Soldiers, Civilians and Peacekeeping – Evidence and False Assumptions. *International Peacekeeping*, 26(1), 22-54. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/13533312.2018.1503933

Juncos, Ana E. (2018): Resilience in Peacebuilding: Contesting Uncertainty, Ambiguity, and Complexity. *Contemporary Security Policy*, 39(4), 559-574. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/13523260.2018.1491742

Karim, Sabrina; Beardsley, Kyle (2016, January): Explaining Sexual Exploitation and Abuse in Peacekeeping Missions: The Role of Female Peacekeepers and Gender Equality in Contributing Countries. *Journal of Peace Research*, 53(1), 100-115. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1177/0022343315615506

Karlsrud, John (2017): Towards UN Counter-Terrorism Operations? *Third World Quarterly*, *38*(6), 1215-1231. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/01436597.2016.1268907

Karlsrud, John (2019): From Liberal Peacebuilding to Stabilization and Counterterrorism. *International Peacekeeping*, 26(1), 1-21. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/13533312.2018.1502040

Kelmendi, Pellumb; Radin, Andrew (2018, May): UNsatisfied? Public Support for Postconflict International Missions. *Journal of Conflict Resolution*, 62(5), 983-1011. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1177/0022002716674536

Kenny, Cóman (2016): Responsibility to Recommend: The Role of the UN General Assembly in the Maintenance of International Peace and Security. *Journal on the Use of Force and International Law*, *3*(1), 3-36. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/20531702.2016.1183970

Kent, Gregory (2017, November): Protecting Civilians in Non-Permissive Contexts: A Tentative

ISSN 2334-3745 151 February 2019

Typology of Humanitarian Crises. *Global Responsibility to Protect*, 9(4), 422-458. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1163/1875984X-00904005

Kim, Jawoon; Bloomfield, Alan (2017, April): Argumentation, Impact, and Normative Change: Responsibility to Protect after the Commission of Inquiry Report into Human Rights in North Korea. *Global Responsibility to Protect*, 9(2), 173-201. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1163/1875984X-00902004

Kim, Sang Ki (2017, March): Third-Party Intervention in Civil Wars and the Prospects for Postwar Development. *Journal of Conflict Resolution*, *61*(3), 615-642. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1177/0022002715590873

King, Bryant (2017, December): An Unorthodox Call to Arms: The Humanitarian Case for Military Intervention in the DPRK. *Georgetown Security Studies Review*, *6*(1), 74-88. URL: http://georgetownsecuritystudiesreview.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/01/GSSR-6.1-December-2017.pdf

Kivimäki, Timo (2015, Winter): First Do No Harm: Do Air Raids Protect Civilians? *Middle East Policy*, 22(4), 55-64. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1111/mepo.12157

Krause, Peter; Eiran, Ehud (2018, July): How Human Boundaries Become State Borders: Radical Flanks and Territorial Control in the Modern Era. *Comparative Politics*, 50(4), 479-499. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5129/001041518823565632

Kreps, Sarah; Maxey, Sarah (2018, September): Mechanisms of Morality: Sources of Support for Humanitarian Intervention. *Journal of Conflict Resolution*, *62*(8), 1814-1842. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1177/0022002717704890

Lacher, Wolfram (2017): Was Libya's Collapse Predictable? *Survival*, *59*(2), 139-152. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/00396338.2017.1302194

Lee-Koo, Katrina (2018, March): "The Intolerable Impact of Armed Conflict on Children": The United Nations Security Council and the Protection of Children in Armed Conflict. *Global Responsibility to Protect*, *10*(1-2), 57-74. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1163/1875984X-01001004

Lenzerini, Federico (2016): Terrorism, Conflicts and the Responsibility to Protect Cultural Heritage. *The International Spectator*, 51(2), 70-85. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/03932729.2016.1155028

Lynch, Marc (2016): Intervention and Militarization. In: *The New Arab Wars: Uprisings and Anarchy in the Middle East*. New York: PublicAffairs, 75-104.

Maiangwa, Benjamin; Suleiman, Muhammad Dan (2017): Liberal Peace Intervention in the Central African Republic: Limitations and Reworking a "Hybrid" Order. *African Security*, *10*(1), 1-24. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/19392206.2016.1270138

Malejacq, Romain (2016): Warlords, Intervention, and State Consolidation: A Typology of Political Orders in Weak and Failed States. *Security Studies*, *25*(1), 85-110. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/09636412.2016.1134191

Malito, Debora Valentina (2017): Neutral in Favour of whom? The UN Intervention in Somalia and the Somaliland Peace Process. *International Peacekeeping*, 24(2), 280-303. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/13533312 .2016.1250626

Malito, Debora Valentina (2017): The Responsibility to Protect What in Libya? *Peace Review: A Journal of Social Justice*, 29(3), 289-298. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/10402659.2017.1344528

Mandelbaum, Michael (2016): Humanitarian Intervention. In: *Mission Failure: America and the World in the Post-Cold War Era*. New York: Oxford University Press, 75-132.

Marley, Jonathan (2016): Beyond the UN Peacekeeping Defence Ministerial: The Future of the UK's Re-Engagement in UN Peace Operations. *The RUSI Journal*, *161*(6), 18-27. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/03071847.2016.1265833

ISSN 2334-3745 152 February 2019

Meiches, Benjamin (2013): The Responsibility to Protect and Luxurious War. *Critical Studies on Security*, 1(2), 219-237. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/21624887.2013.824651

Melling, Graham (2018): Beyond Rhetoric? Evaluating the Responsibility to Protect as a Norm of Humanitarian Intervention. *Journal on the Use of Force and International Law*, *5*(1), 78-96. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/20531702.2018.1448156

Mikulaschek, Christoph; Shapiro, Jacob N. (2018, January): Lessons on Political Violence from America's Post–9/11 Wars. *Journal of Conflict Resolution*, *62*(1), 174-202. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1177/0022002716669808 URL: https://christophmikulaschek.com/wp-content/uploads/2016/12/Journal-of-Conflict-Resolution-2016-Mikulaschek-Shapiro.pdf

Mironova, Vera; Whitt, Sam (2017, November): International Peacekeeping and Positive Peace: Evidence from Kosovo. *Journal of Conflict Resolution*, *61*(10), 2074-2104. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1177/0022002715604886

Moe, Louise Wiuff (2018, March): Counter-Insurgency in the Somali Territories: The "Grey Zone" between Peace and Pacification. *International Affairs*, 94(2), 319-341. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1093/ia/iix250 URL: https://doi.org/10.1093/ia/iix250 URL: https://doi.org/10.1093/ia/iix250 URL:

Møller, Bjørn (2017): India and the Responsibility to Protect. *Third World Quarterly*, 38(8), 1921-1934. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/01436597.2017.1282312

Morada, Noel M. (2016, May): Southeast Asian Regionalism, Norm Promotion and Capacity Building for Human Protection: An Overview. *Global Responsibility to Protect*, 8(2-3), 111-132. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1163/1875984X-00803003

Morris, Justin (2016, June): The Responsibility to Protect and the Use of Force: Remaking the Procrustean Bed? *Cooperation and Conflict*, *51*(2), 200-215. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1177/0010836715612852

Mueller, Jason C. (2018): The Evolution of Political Violence: The Case of Somalia's Al-Shabaab. *Terrorism and Political Violence*, 30(1), 116-141. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/09546553.2016.1165213

Mühlberger, Wolfgang (2016): Egypt's Foreign and Security Policy in Post-R2P Libya. *The International Spectator*, *51*(2), 99-112. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/03932729.2016.1172864

Müller, Lars (2015, December): The Force Intervention Brigade—United Nations Forces beyond the Fine Line between Peacekeeping and Peace Enforcement. *Journal of Conflict and Security Law*, 20(3), 359-380. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1093/jcsl/krv005

Müller, Tanja R.; Bashar, Zuhair (2017): "UNAMID Is Just Like Clouds in Summer, They Never Rain": Local Perceptions of Conflict and the Effectiveness of UN Peacekeeping Missions. *International Peacekeeping*, 24(5), 756-779. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/13533312.2017.1383564

Münch, Philipp; Veit, Alex (2018): Intermediaries of Intervention: How Local Power Brokers Shape External Peace- and State-Building in Afghanistan and Congo. *International Peacekeeping*, 25(2), 266-292. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/13533312.2017.1411808

Mundy, Jacob (2015): Humanitarian Intervention and the Responsibility to Protect: United by our Absence of Knowledge of What to Do. In: *Imaginative Geographies of Algerian Violence: Conflict Science, Conflict Management, Antipolitics.* (Stanford Studies in Middle Eastern and Islamic Societies and Cultures). Stanford: Stanford University Press, 113-136.

Murdie, Amanda (2017, August): R2P, Human Rights, and the Perils of a Bad Human Rights Intervention. *Global Responsibility to Protect*, 9(3), 267-293. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1163/1875984X-00903004

Murithi, Tim (2016, May): The African Union as a Norm Entrepreneur: The Limits of Human Protection and Mass Atrocities Prevention. *Global Responsibility to Protect*, 8(2-3), 227-248. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1163/1875984X-00803008

ISSN 2334-3745 153 February 2019

Nahlawi, Yasmine (2016, February): The Responsibility to Protect and Obama's Red Line on Syria. *Global Responsibility to Protect*, 8(1), 76-101. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1163/1875984X-00801005

Nahlawi, Yasmine (2018): The Legality of NATO's Pursuit of Regime Change in Libya. *Journal on the Use of Force and International Law*, 5(2), 295-323. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/20531702.2018.1524209

Nanlohy, Sascha; Butcher, Charles; Goldsmith, Benjamin E. (2017): The Policy Value of Quantitative Atrocity Forecasting Models. *The RUSI Journal*, *162*(2), 24-32. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/03071847.2017.1322473

Neufuss, Brian (2018, Spring): The Executive's Power to Engage in a Limited Use of Military Force. *The Journal on Terrorism and Security Analysis*, 13, 47-56. URL: http://satsa.syr.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/04/JTSA-2018-text.pdf

Nowak, Christina (2018): The Changing Law of Non-Intervention in Civil Wars – Assessing the Production of Legality in State Practice after 2011. *Journal on the Use of Force and International Law*, 5(1), 40-77. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/20531702.2018.1431457

Nußberger, Benjamin (2017): Military Strikes in Yemen in 2015: Intervention by Invitation and Self-Defence in the Course of Yemen's "Model Transitional Process". *Journal on the Use of Force and International Law*, 4(1), 110-160. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/20531702.2017.1256565

Orchard, Phil (2016, May): Regionalizing Protection: AU and ASEAN Responses to Mass Atrocity Crimes against Internally Displaced Persons. *Global Responsibility to Protect*, 8(2-3), 295-326. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1163/1875984X-00803011

Orchard, Phil (2018, May): The Emergence of Safe Areas and the Role of Normative Contingency. *Global Responsibility to Protect*, 10(3), 286-311. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1163/1875984X-01003003

Pacholska, Magdalena (2015, March): (Il)legality of Killing Peacekeepers: The Crime of Attacking Peacekeepers in the Jurisprudence of International Criminal Tribunals. *Journal of International Criminal Justice*, *13*(1), 43-72. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1093/jicj/mqu082

Panebianco, Stefania; Fontana, Iole (2018): When Responsibility to Protect "Hits Home": The Refugee Crisis and the EU Response. *Third World Quarterly*, *39*(1), 1-17. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/01436597.2017.13690 35

Paris, Roland (2014): The "Responsibility to Protect" and the Structural Problems of Preventive Humanitarian Intervention. *International Peacekeeping*, *21*(5), 569-603. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/13533312.2014.963322

Pashakhanlou, Arash Heydarian (2018): Air Power in Humanitarian Intervention: Kosovo and Libya in Comparative Perspective. *Defence Studies*, *18*(1), 39-57. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/14702436.2017.1420420

Pattison, James (2017, April): Perilous Noninterventions? The Counterfactual Assessment of Libya and the Need to be a Responsible Power. *Global Responsibility to Protect*, 9(2), 219-228. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1163/1875984X-00902007

Payandeh, Mehrdad (2010): With Great Power Comes Great Responsibility? The Concept of the Responsibility to Protect within the Process of International Lawmaking. *Yale Journal of International Law*, 35(2), 469-516. URL: https://digitalcommons.law.yale.edu/yjil/vol35/iss2/5

Perera, Suda (2017): To Boldly Know: Knowledge, Peacekeeping and Remote Data Gathering in Conflict-Affected States. *International Peacekeeping*, 24(5), 803-822. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/13533312.2017.138 3566

Petcharamesree, Sriprapha (2016, May): ASEAN Human Rights Regime and Mainstreaming the Responsibility to Protect: Challenges and Prospects. *Global Responsibility to Protect*, 8(2-3), 133-157. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1163/1875984X-00803004

ISSN 2334-3745 154 February 2019

Piirimäe, Eva (2018, October): Sovereignty, Self-Determination, and Human Rights from Walzer to the Responsibility to Protect. *Global Responsibility to Protect*, *10*(4), 393-419. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1163/1875984X-01004003

Popovic, Milos (2017): Fragile Proxies: Explaining Rebel Defection against their State Sponsors. *Terrorism and Political Violence*, 29(5), 922-942. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/09546553.2015.1092437

Popovski, Vesselin; Maiangwa, Benjamin (2016): Boko Haram's Attacks and the People's Response: A "Fourth Pillar" of the Responsibility to Protect? *African Security Review*, *25*(2), 159-175. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/10246029.2016.1152987

Prantl, Jochen; Nakano, Ryoko (2018, March): The Politics of Norm Glocalisation: Limits in Applying R2P to Protecting Children. *Global Responsibility to Protect*, 10(1-2), 97-120. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1163/1875984X-01001006

Raes, Steffi; Du Bois, Cind; Buts, Caroline (2019): Supplying UN Peacekeepers: An Assessment of the Body Bag Syndrome among OECD Nations. *International Peacekeeping*, *26*(1), 111-136. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/13533312.2018.1512858

Ralph, Jason; Souter, James (2015, July): A Special Responsibility to Protect: The UK, Australia and the Rise of Islamic State. *International Affairs*, *91*(4), 709-723. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1111/1468-2346.12339 URL: https://eprints.whiterose.ac.uk/87282/2/IAAccepted2015%5B1%5D.pdf

Rankin, Melinda (2017, November): Investigating Crimes against Humanity in Syria and Iraq: The Commission for International Justice and Accountability. *Global Responsibility to Protect*, *9*(4), 395-421. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1163/1875984X-00904004

Recchia, Stefano (2015): Soldiers, Civilians, and Multilateral Humanitarian Intervention. *Security Studies*, 24(2), 251-283. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/09636412.2015.1036626

Recchia, Stefano (2018, May): The Paradox of Safe Areas in Ethnic Civil Wars. *Global Responsibility to Protect*, 10(3), 362-386. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1163/1875984X-01003006

Regens, James L. et al. (2016): Effect of Foreign Military Intervention and Controlled Territory on the Operational Tempo of al-Shabaab Attacks. *Dynamics of Asymmetric Conflict*, 9(1-3), 95-107. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/17467586.2016.1267867

Reid, Lindsay (2017, August): Finding a Peace that Lasts: Mediator Leverage and the Durable Resolution of Civil Wars. *Journal of Conflict Resolution*, 61(7), 1401-1431. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1177/0022002715611231

Revkin, Mara R. (2018): When Terrorists Govern: Protecting Civilians in Conflicts with State-Building Armed Groups. *Harvard National Security Journal*, *9*, 100-145. URL: http://harvardnsj.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/01/3 Revkin WhenTerroristsGovern-2.pdf

Reykers, Yf (2018): Holding Accountable UN-Authorized Enforcement Operations: Tracing Accountability Mechanisms. *International Peacekeeping*, 25(4), 528-553. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/13533312.2018.14752 36

Rothschild, Amanda J. (2017, Fall): Rousing a Response: When the United States Changes Policy toward Mass Killing. *International Security*, 42(2), 120-154. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1162/ISEC a 00295

Rudolf, Peter (2016): Evidence-Informed Prevention of Civil Wars and Mass Atrocities. *The International Spectator*, *51*(2), 86-98. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/03932729.2016.1152749

Rudolf, Peter (2017): UN Peace Operations and the Use of Military Force. *Survival*, *59*(3), 161-182. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/00396338.2017.1325605

Saba, Arif; Akbarzadeh, Shahram (2018): The Responsibility to Protect and the Use of Force: An Assessment of

ISSN 2334-3745 155 February 2019

the Just Cause and Last Resort Criteria in the Case of Libya. *International Peacekeeping*, 25(2), 242-265. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/13533312.2017.1404908

Sabrow, Sophia (2017): Local Perceptions of the Legitimacy of Peace Operations by the UN, Regional Organizations and Individual States – A Case Study of the Mali Conflict. *International Peacekeeping*, 24(1), 159-186. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/13533312.2016.1249365

Salverda, Nynke (2013, November): Blue Helmets as Targets: A Quantitative Analysis of Rebel Violence against Peacekeepers, 1989–2003. *Journal of Peace Research*, 50(6), 707-720. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1177/0022343313498764

Sandler, Todd (2017, October): International Peacekeeping Operations: Burden Sharing and Effectiveness. *Journal of Conflict Resolution*, 61(9), 1875-1897. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1177/0022002717708601

Schmitt, Michael N.; Ford, Christopher M. (2017, May): Assessing U.S. Justifications for Using Force in Response to Syria's Chemical Attacks: An International Law Perspective. *Journal of National Security Law & Policy*, *9*(2), 283-303. URL: http://jnslp.com/2017/05/18/assessing-us-justifications-using-force-response-syrias-chemical-attacks-international-law-perspective

Sharma, Serena K. (2017, November): The 2017 General Election in Kenya: Re-Evaluating R2P's First Test Case 10 Years on. *Global Responsibility to Protect*, 9(4), 345-365. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1163/1875984X-00904002

Shattuck, John B. (2017, July-August): Navigating through the Challenge of Culture and Law in Postconflict Stability Operations. *Military Review*, 7-8/2017, 100-109. URL: https://www.armyupress.army.mil/Portals/7/military-review/Archives/English/MilitaryReview 20170831 SHATTUCK Postconflict Stability Ops.pdf

Shea, Patrick E.; Christian, Charlotte (2017, November): The Impact of Women Legislators on Humanitarian Military Interventions. *Journal of Conflict Resolution*, 61(10), 2043-2073. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1177/0022002716631105

Shusterman, Jeremy; Godwin, Michelle (2018, March): "Children Heard, Half-Heard?": A Practitioner's Look for Children in the Responsibility to Protect and Normative Agendas on Protection in Armed Conflict. *Global Responsibility to Protect*, *10*(1-2), 19-56. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1163/1875984X-01001003

Sloan, Elinor C. (2017): Peacekeeping, Stabilization and Humanitarian Intervention. In: *Modern Military Strategy: An Introduction*. (2nd ed.). Abingdon: Routledge, 101-118.

Snow, Donald M. (2016): Humanitarian Intervention? In: *Thinking about National Security: Strategy, Policy, and Issues*. New York: Routledge, 58-80.

Sotomayor, Arturo C. (2016, February): Mexico and the R2P Challenge: The Commitment Trap. *Global Responsibility to Protect*, 8(1), 29-50. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1163/1875984X-00801003

Spitka, Timea (2018, January): Mediating among Mediators: Building a Consensus in Multilateral Interventions. *International Negotiation*, 23(1), 125-154. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1163/15718069-23011132

Spitka, Timea (2018, March): Children on the Front Lines: Responsibility to Protect in the Israeli/Palestinian Conflict. *Global Responsibility to Protect*, *10*(1-2), 189-216. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1163/1875984X-01001010

Stepputat, Finn (2018, March): Pragmatic Peace in Emerging Governscapes. *International Affairs*, 94(2), 399-416. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1093/ia/iix233

Sukarieh, Mayssoun; Tannock, Stuart (2018): The Global Securitisation of Youth. *Third World Quarterly*, *39*(5), 854-870. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/01436597.2017.1369038

Sussman, Sam; Nicolaidis, Kalypso (2016): R2P: "State of Play". *The International Spectator*, *51*(2), 9-18. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/03932729.2016.1152745 URL: https://www.politics.ox.ac.uk/materials/publications/15457/r2pstateofplay-sussmannicolaidis.pdf

ISSN 2334-3745 156 February 2019

Tabak, Jana; Carvalho, Letícia (2018, March): Responsibility to Protect the Future: Children on the Move and the Politics of Becoming. *Global Responsibility to Protect*, 10(1-2), 121-144. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1163/1875984X-01001007

Thakur, Ramesh (2016, March): The Responsibility to Protect at 15. *International Affairs*, 92(2), 415-434. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1111/1468-2346.12557 URL: https://www.chathamhouse.org/sites/default/files/publications/ia/inta92-2-10-thakur 0.pdf

Toaldo, Mattia (2016): Decentralising Authoritarianism? The International Intervention, the New "Revolutionaries" and the Involution of Post-Qadhafi Libya. *Small Wars & Insurgencies*, 27(1), 39-58. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/09592318.2016.1122905

Tocci, Nathalie (2016, February): On Power and Norms: Libya, Syria and the Responsibility to Protect. *Global Responsibility to Protect*, 8(1), 51-75. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1163/1875984X-00801004

Tokdemir, Efe; Mark, Brendan Skip (2018): When Killers Become Victims: Diversionary War, Human Rights, and Strategic Target Selection. *International Interactions*, 44(2), 337-360. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/030506 29.2017.1369412

Tomiak, Kerstin (2018): Humanitarian Interventions and the Media: Broadcasting against Ethnic Hate. *Third World Quarterly*, 39(3), 454-470. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/01436597.2017.1392086

Tourinho, Marcos (2015, November): Towards a World Police? The Implications of Individual UN Targeted Sanctions. *International Affairs*, 91(6), 1399-1412. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1111/1468-2346.12453

Trahan, Jennifer (2015): Defining the "Grey Area" where Humanitarian Intervention May not Be Fully Legal, but Is not the Crime of Aggression. *Journal on the Use of Force and International Law*, *2*(1), 42-80. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/20531702.2015.1042286

Tull, Denis M. (2018): The Limits and Unintended Consequences of UN Peace Enforcement: The Force Intervention Brigade in the DR Congo. *International Peacekeeping*, 25(2), 167-190. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/13533312.2017.1360139

Tusan, Michelle (2015): Humanitarianism, Genocide and Liberalism. *Journal of Genocide Research*, *17*(1), 83-105. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/14623528.2015.991209

Ucko, David H. (2018, March): Preventing Violent Extremism through the United Nations: The Rise and Fall of a Good Idea. *International Affairs*, 94(2), 251-270. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1093/ia/iix235

Uzonyi, Gary (2018): Pro-Government International Military Intervention during Genocide and Politicide. *Dynamics of Asymmetric Conflict: Pathways toward terrorism and genocide*, *11*(3), 160-170. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/17467586.2018.1454971

Vaughn, Jocelyn; Dunne, Tim (2015, March): Leading from the Front: America, Libya and the Localisation of R2P. *Cooperation and Conflict*, 50(1), 29-49. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1177/0010836714532916

Veneracion-Rallonza, Ma. Lourdes (2016, May): Building the Women, Peace and Security Agenda in the ASEAN through Multi-Focal Norm Entrepreneurship. *Global Responsibility to Protect*, 8(2-3), 158-179. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1163/1875984X-00803005

Vilmer, Jean-Baptiste Jeangène (2016): Ten Myths about the 2011 Intervention in Libya. *The Washington Quarterly*, 39(2), 23-43. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/0163660X.2016.1204322

Virk, Kudrat (2017, April): Perilous Interventions and the Indian Debate on R2P: A Case of Limited Engagement and Missed Opportunity. *Global Responsibility to Protect*, 9(2), 211-218. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1163/1875984X-00902006

von Billerbeck, Sarah B. K. (2017): UN Peace Operations and Conflicting Legitimacies. Journal of Intervention

ISSN 2334-3745 157 February 2019

and Statebuilding, 11(3), 286-305. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/17502977.2017.1353751

von Einsiedel, Sebastian; Bosetti, Louise (2016, October): Realizing the UN's Protection Promise: A Central Challenge for the Next Secretary-General. *Global Responsibility to Protect*, 8(4), 366-389. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1163/1875984X-00804004

Vukasovich, Christian; Dejanovic-Vukasovich, Tamara (2016, December): "Humanitarian Intervention", a Predictable Narrative? A Comparative Analysis of Media Narratives from Serbia to Syria. *Global Media and Communication*, 12(3), 311-331. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1177/1742766516653163

Ward, Hugh; Dorussen, Han (2016, May): Standing Alongside your Friends: Network Centrality and Providing Troops to UN Peacekeeping Operations. *Journal of Peace Research*, *53*(3), 392-408. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1177/0022343316628814 URL: https://repository.essex.ac.uk/id/eprint/15754

Wehrey, Frederic (2018): Intervention. In: *The Burning Shores: Inside the Battle for the New Libya*. New York: Farrar, Straus and Giroux, 37-64.

Welsh, Jennifer M. (2016): The Responsibility to Protect at Ten: Glass Half Empty or Half Full? *The International Spectator*, *51*(2), 1-8. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/03932729.2016.1163943

Welsh, Jennifer (2016, June): The Responsibility to Prevent: Assessing the Gap between Rhetoric and Reality. *Cooperation and Conflict*, *51*(2), 216-232. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1177/0010836715613364

Welz, Martin (2016): Multi-Actor Peace Operations and Inter-Organizational Relations: Insights from the Central African Republic. *International Peacekeeping*, 23(4), 568-591. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/1353331 2.2016.1178070

White, Peter B.; Cunningham, David E.; Beardsley, Kyle (2018, May): Where, when, and how does the UN Work to Prevent Civil War in Self-Determination Disputes? *Journal of Peace Research*, 55(3), 380-394. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1177/0022343317744826

Whiteside, Craig (2015): A Case for Terrorism as Genocide in an Era of Weakened States. *Dynamics of Asymmetric Conflict: Pathways toward terrorism and genocide*, 8(3), 232-250. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/17/467586.2015.1104418

Wilén, Nina (2018): Examining the Links between Security Sector Reform and Peacekeeping Troop Contribution in Post-Conflict States. *Journal of Intervention and Statebuilding*, 12(1), 64-79. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/17502977.2018.1426680

Wing, Susanna D. (2016): French Intervention in Mali: Strategic Alliances, Long-Term Regional Presence? Small Wars & Insurgencies, 27(1), 59-80. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/09592318.2016.1123433

Yilmaz, Kamil (2015): Prolongation of the Syrian Crisis and its Gravitational Force on Foreign Fighters: A Critical Analysis in Light of the Concept of the Responsibility to Protect (R2P). In: Marco Lombardi et al. (Eds.): *Countering Radicalisation and Violent Extremism among Youth to Prevent Terrorism.* (NATO Science for Peace and Security Series – E: Human and Societal Dynamics, Vol. 118). Amsterdam: IOS Press, 182-189. DOI: https://doi.org/10.3233/978-1-61499-470-1-182

Zimmermann, Hubert (2017): Exporting Security: Success and Failure in the Securitization and Desecuritization of Foreign Military Interventions. *Journal of Intervention and Statebuilding*, 11(2), 225-244. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/17502977.2017.1310174

Grey Literature

Adams, Simon (2012, October): *Libya and the Responsibility to Protect*. (Global Centre for the Responsibility to Protect, Occasional Paper Series, No. 3). URL: http://www.globalr2p.org/publications/213

Adams, Simon (2015, March): *Failure to Protect: Syria and the UN Security Council.* (Global Centre for the Responsibility to Protect, Occasional Paper Series, No. 5). URL: http://www.globalr2p.org/publications/360

Albrecht, Peter; Cold-Ravnkilde, Signe Marie; Haugegaard, Rikke (2017, January): *African Peacekeepers in Mali.* (DIIS Report 2017: 02). URL: https://www.diis.dk/en/research/friction-on-the-frontline

Allen, Ross; Rosén, Frederik; Tarp, Kristoffer (2016, December): *Preparing for Protection of Civilians in United Nations Peacekeeping Operations.* (DIIS Report 2016: 10). URL: https://www.diis.dk/en/research/better-training-needed-un-peacekeepers

Amnesty International (2017, August): "I Won't Forget this Carnage": Civilians Trapped in Battle for Raqqa – Syria. (Report MDE 24/6945/2017). URL: https://www.amnesty.org/en/documents/mde24/6945/2017/en

Arab Center for Research and Policy Studies (ACRPS), Policy Analysis Unit (2016, January): *Western Military Intervention in Libya: A Matter of Time.* (Assessment Report). URL: https://www.dohainstitute.org/en/PoliticalStudies//Pages/Western Military Intervention in Libya a Matter of Time.aspx

Arab Center for Research and Policy Studies (ACRPS), Policy Analysis Unit (2016, June): *ISIL in Libya: A Reason for Expanded Euro-American Intervention?* (Assessment Report). URL: https://www.dohainstitute.org/en/PoliticalStudies//Pages/ISIL in Libya a Pretext for Euro-American Intervention.aspx

Attree, Larry; Street, Jordan; Venchiarutti, Luca (2018, September): *United Nations Peace Operations in Complex Environments: Charting the Right Course.* (Saferworld Discussion Paper). URL: https://www.saferworld.org.uk/resources/publications/1183-united-nations-peace-operations-in-complex-environments-charting-the-right-course

Bakker, Edwin; Maley, William; Boeke, Sergei (2016, September): *Transitioning from Military Interventions to Long-Term Counter-Terrorism Policy.* (ICCT Report; NATO Project). URL: https://icct.nl/publication/icct-research-report-nato-project-transitioning-from-military-interventions-to-long-term-counter-terrorism-policy

Berman, Eric G.; Racovita, Mihaela; Schroeder, Matt (2017, October): *Making a Tough Job more Difficult: The Loss of Arms and Ammunition in Peace Operations.* (Small Arms Survey Report). URL: http://www.smallarmssurvey.org/about-us/highlights/2017/highlight-mpome-matjmd-report.html

Blum, Andrew; Grangaard, Ruben (2018, April): *Collaborative Design in Peacebuilding: Lessons from the Central African Republic.* (USIP Special Report, 425). URL: https://www.usip.org/publications/2018/04/collaborative-design-peacebuilding

Boeke, Sergei (2016, April): *Transitioning from Military Interventions to Long-Term Counter-Terrorism Policy: The Case of Mali (2013–2016)*. (ISGA / Australian National University / ICCT Report). URL: https://icct.nl/wp-content/uploads/2016/04/transitioning from military intervention mali 2016.pdf

Boeke, Sergei; de Roy van Zuijdewijn, Jeanine (2016, April): *Transitioning from Military Interventions to Long-Term Counter-Terrorism Policy: The Case of Libya (2011–2016).* (ISGA / Australian National University / ICCT Project Report). URL: https://icct.nl/wp-content/uploads/2016/04/transitioning from military intervention libya 2016.pdf

Boutellis, Arthur; Fink, Naureen Chowdhury (2016, October): *Waging Peace: UN Peace Operations Confronting Terrorism and Violent Extremism.* (IPI Policy Paper). URL: https://www.ipinst.org/2016/10/un-peaceops-contronting-terrorism-extremism

Christensen, Gitte Højstrup; Norvanto, Elisa; Mandrup, Thomas (2018, February): *The European Union's Military Operation in the Central African Republic: Successes, Shortcomings and Lessons Identified.* (RDDC Report). URL: http://www.fak.dk/en/publications/Pages/publication.aspx?pageid=596

Cinq-Mars, Evan (2015, September): Too Little, too Late: Failing to Prevent Atrocities in the Central African

Republic. (Global Centre for the Responsibility to Protect, Occasional Paper Series, No. 7). URL: http://www.globalr2p.org/publications/389

Cordesman, Anthony H. (2017, April): *Afghanistan, Iraq, Syria, and Yemen: Is Decisive Force an Option?* (CSIS Report). URL: https://www.csis.org/analysis/afghanistan-iraq-syria-and-yemen-decisive-force-option

Curran, David; Holmes, Georgina; Cunliffe, Philip (2018, December): *Peacekeeping after Brexit*. (RUSI Conference Report). URL: https://rusi.org/publication/conference-reports/peacekeeping-after-brexit

Di Razza, Namie (2018, October): *Protecting Civilians in the Context of Violent Extremism: The Dilemmas of UN Peacekeeping in Mali.* (IPI Policy Paper). URL: https://www.ipinst.org/2018/10/protecting-civilians-in-the-context-of-violent-extremism-the-dilemmas-of-un-peacekeeping-in-mali

Evans, Gareth; Seymoar, Nola-Kate (2017): *The Responsibility to Protect: Re-Energizing the Key Players*. (Report of the Conference and Forum convened by The Simons Foundation on behalf of Simon Fraser University Centre for Dialogue under the auspices of the SFU Simons Visiting Chair in International Law and Human Security). URL: http://www.thesimonsfoundation.ca/sites/default/files/Report%20of%20the%20Simons%20Forum%20on%20the%20Responsibility%20to%20Protect-Re-Energizing%20the%20Key%20Players_7.pdf

Fejerskov, Adam Moe; Cold-Ravnkilde, Signe Marie; Albrecht, Peter (2017, November): *Regional Interests in African Peace Operations*. (DIIS Report 2017: 11). URL: https://www.diis.dk/en/research/african-peace-operations-and-the-power-of-regional-interests

Fung, Courtney J. (2016, June): *China and the Responsibility to Protect: From Opposition to Advocacy.* (USIP Peace Brief 205). URL: https://www.usip.org/publications/2016/06/china-and-responsibility-protect-opposition-advocacy

Gorur, Aditi; Sharland, Lisa (2016, February): *Prioritizing the Protection of Civilians in UN Peace Operations: Analyzing the Recommendations of the Hippo Report.* (Stimson Center Report). URL: https://www.stimson.org/content/prioritizing-protection-civilians-un-peace-operations

Green, Shannon N. (2016, July): *Tools and Strategies to Prevent Mass Atrocities Committed by Violent Extremist Organizations*. (CSIS Report). URL: https://www.csis.org/analysis/tools-and-strategies-prevent-mass-atrocities-committed-violent-extremist-organizations

Groenewald, Hesta (2016, January): "Hammering the Bread and the Nail": Lessons from Counter-Terror, Stabilisation and Statebuilding in Afghanistan. (Saferworld Report). URL: https://www.saferworld.org.uk/resources/publications/1031

Halakhe, Abdullahi Boru (2013, December): "R2P in Practice": Ethnic Violence, Elections and Atrocity Prevention in Kenya. (Global Centre for the Responsibility to Protect, Occasional Paper Series, No. 4). URL: http://www.globalr2p.org/publications/274

Hegre, Håvard; Hultman, Lisa; Nygård, Håvard Mokleiv (2015): *Peacekeeping Works: An Assessment of the Effectiveness of UN Peacekeeping Operations.* (PRIO Conflict Trends, 1 | 2015). URL: https://www.prio.org/Publications/Publication/?x=7613

Kavanagh, Jennifer et al. (2017): *The Past, Present, and Future of U.S. Ground Interventions: Identifying Trends, Characteristics, and Signposts.* (RAND Research Reports, RR-1831-A). DOI: https://doi.org/10.7249/RR1831

Khouri, Rami G. (2018, September): *The Implications of the Syrian War for New Regional Orders in the Middle East.* (MENARA Working Papers, No. 12). URL: http://www.menaraproject.eu/portfolio-items/the-implications-of-the-syrian-war-for-new-regional-orders-in-the-middle-east

Lidén, Kristoffer; Reid-Henry, Simon (2016): What's in it for them? Why the Veto Powers all Support Protection of Civilians (And why they Often Fail to Agree on It). (PRIO Policy Brief 10). URL: https://www.prio.org/Publication/?x=9075

Maley, William (2016, April): *Transitioning from Military Interventions to Long-Term Counter-Terrorism Policy: The Case of Afghanistan (2001–2016)*. (ISGA / Australian National University / ICCT Project Report). URL: https://icct.nl/wp-content/uploads/2016/04/transitioning-from-military-intervention-afghanistan-2016.pdf

Mamiya, Ralph (2018, October): Engaging with Non-State Armed Groups to Protect Civilians: A Pragmatic Approach for UN Peace Operations. (IPI Policy Paper). URL: https://www.ipinst.org/2018/10/engaging-with-non-state-armed-groups-to-protect-civilians

Mezran, Karim; Miller, Elissa (2017, July): *Libya: from Intervention to Proxy War.* (Issue Brief; Atlantic Council, Rafik Hariri Center for the Middle East). URL: https://www.atlanticcouncil.org/publications/issue-briefs/libya-from-intervention-to-proxy-war

Milofsky, Alison et al. (2017, August): *Conflict Management Training for Peacekeepers: Assessment and Recommendations*. (USIP Special Report 411). URL: https://www.usip.org/publications/2017/08/conflict-management-training-peacekeepers

Mthembu-Salter, Gregory; Berger, Elana; Kikoler, Naomi (2011, September): *Prioritizing Protection from Mass Atrocities: Lessons from Burundi.* (Global Centre for the Responsibility to Protect, Occasional Paper Series, No. 2). URL: http://www.globalr2p.org/publications/121

Munive, Jairo; Somer, Jonathan (2015, December): *Armed Non-State Actors: Counter-Terrorism and the Protection of Civilians*. (DIIS Report 2015: 14). URL: https://www.diis.dk/en/research/maximizing-the-protection-of-civilians-in-conflict

O'Mahony, Angela et al. (2018): *U.S. Presence and the Incidence of Conflict.* (RAND Research Reports, RR-1906-A). DOI: https://doi.org/10.7249/RR1906

Pavesi, Irene (2017, March): *Tracking Conflict-Related Deaths: A Preliminary Overview of Monitoring Systems*. (Small Arms Survey Briefing Paper). URL: http://www.smallarmssurvey.org/fileadmin/docs/T-Briefing-Papers/SAS-BP2-conflict-deaths.pdf

Schroeder, Matt (2016, February): *Checks and Balances: Securing Small Arms during Peace Operations.* (Small Arms Survey Issue Brief No. 16). URL: http://www.smallarmssurvey.org/about-us/highlights/2016/highlight-ib16.html

Sharland, Lisa (2018, May): *How Peacekeeping Policy Gets Made: Navigating Intergovernmental Processes at the UN.* (IPI Providing for Peacekeeping Series, No. 18). URL: https://www.ipinst.org/2018/05/navigating-intergovernmental-processes-at-the-un

Sharland, Lisa; Gorur, Aditi (2015, December): Revising the UN Peacekeeping Mandate in South Sudan: Maintaining Focus on the Protection of Civilians. (ASPI / Stimson Center Report). URL: https://www.aspi.org.au/report/revising-un-peacekeeping-mandate-south-sudan-maintaining-focus-protection-civilians

Sharp, Jeremy M. (2018, August): *Yemen: Civil War and Regional Intervention*. (CRS Report for Congress, R43960). URL: https://fas.org/sgp/crs/mideast/R43960.pdf

Smit, Timo (2017, November): Multilateral Peace Operations and the Challenges of Terrorism and Violent Extremism. (SIPRI Background Paper). URL: https://www.sipri.org/sites/default/files/2017-11/sipribp1711.pdf

Stapleton, Barbara J.; Keating, Michael (2015, July): *Military and Civilian Assistance to Afghanistan 2001–14: An Incoherent Approach.* (Chatham House Briefing; Afghanistan: Opportunity in Crisis Series, No. 10). URL: https://www.chathamhouse.org/publication/military-and-civilian-assistance-afghanistan-2001-14-incoherent-approach

Streitfeld-Hall, Jaclyn D. (2015, September): *Preventing Mass Atrocities in West Africa*. (Global Centre for the Responsibility to Protect, Occasional Paper Series, No. 6). URL: http://www.globalr2p.org/publications/387

Traub, James (2010, September): Unwilling and Unable: The Failed Response to the Atrocities in Darfur. (Global

ISSN 2334-3745 161 February 2019

Centre for the Responsibility to Protect, Occasional Paper Series, No. 1). URL: http://www.globalr2p.org/publications/49

Tull, Denis M. (2016, April): *United Nations Peacekeeping and the Use of Force: The Intervention Brigade in Congo Is no Model for Success.* (SWP Comments, 2016/C 20). URL: https://www.swp-berlin.org/en/publication/united-nations-peacekeeping-and-the-use-of-force

United Nations Assistance Mission for Iraq (UNAMI); Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights (OHCHR) (2016, August): *A Call for Accountability and Protection: Yezidi Survivors of Atrocities Committed by ISIL.* (Human Rights Report). URL: http://www.uniraq.org/index.php?option=com-k2&view=item&id=6004:a-call-for-accountability-and-protection-yezidi-survivors-of-atrocities-committed-by-isil&Itemid=650&lang=en

van der Lijn, Jaïr; Smit, Timo (2015, September): *Peacekeepers under Threat? Fatality Trends in UN Peace Operations*. (SIPRI Policy Brief). URL: https://www.sipri.org/publications/2015/sipri-fact-sheets/peacekeepers-under-threat-fatality-trends-un-peace-operations

von Soest, Christian (2018, October): *The Contradictory Logics of International Intervention*. (GIGA Focus | Global No. 4). URL: https://www.giga-hamburg.de/en/publication/the-contradictory-logics-of-international-intervention

Note

Whenever retrievable, URLs for freely available versions of subscription-based publications have been provided. Thanks to the Open Access movement, self-archiving of publications in institutional repositories or on author homepages for free public use (so-called Green Open Access) has become more common. Please note, that the content of Green Open Access documents is not necessarily identical to the officially published versions (e.g., in case of pre-prints); it might therefore not have passed through all editorial stages publishers employ to ensure quality control (peer review, copy and layout editing etc.). In some cases, articles may only be cited after getting consent by the author(s).

About the Compiler: Judith Tinnes, Ph.D., is a Professional Information Specialist. Since 2011, she works for the Leibniz Institute for Psychology Information (<u>ZPID</u>). Additionally, she serves as Information Resources Editor to 'Perspectives on Terrorism'. In her editorial role, she regularly compiles bibliographies and other resources for research on terrorism and related subjects. She wrote her <u>doctoral thesis</u> on Internet usage of Islamist terrorists and insurgents (focus: media-oriented hostage takings). E-mail: j.tinnes@gmx.de

ISSN 2334-3745 162 February 2019

Bibliography: Genocide (since 1980) Part 2

Compiled and selected by Judith Tinnes

[Bibliographic Series of Perspectives on Terrorism – BSPT-JT-2019-2]

Abstract

This bibliography contains journal articles, book chapters, books, edited volumes, theses, grey literature, bibliographies and other resources on genocide that has taken place between 1980 and the present. While focusing on recent literature, the bibliography is not restricted to a particular time period and covers publications up to December 2018. The literature has been retrieved by manually browsing through more than 200 sources in relevant fields of social science studies. Additionally, full-text and reference retrieval systems have been employed to broaden the search.

Keywords: bibliography, resources, literature, genocide, one-sided violence, mass killing, state killing, ethnic cleansing, Rwanda, Burundi, Yugoslavia, Bosnia, Kosovo, Guatemala, Iraq, Yazidis, ISIS, Central African Republic, Sudan

NB: All websites were last visited on 05.01.2019. This subject bibliography is the second part of a two-part bibliography (Part 1 was published in Issue 9[2]) of *Perspectives on Terrorism*). To avoid duplication, this compilation only includes literature not contained in Part 1. However, meta-resources, such as bibliographies, were included in both parts. - See also Note for the Reader at the end of this literature list.

Introductory Note by the Editor

A bibliography on genocide in a terrorism journal might, at first sight, look out of place. However, both terrorism and genocide are extreme forms of political violence and both involve the one-sided killing of unarmed civilians. In fact, it is amazing that scholars who study terrorism have generally neglected to see this parallel with genocide. Recently, the terrorist group ISIS (Daesh) has attempted genocide against the Yazidis, an ethno-religious minority in Iraq. It is therefore useful at this time to provide a snapshot of the literature on genocide for the community of terrorism scholars.

Bibliographies and other Resources

Aegis Trust (2000, July-): URL: https://www.aegistrust.org

Aspegren, Lennart (2014): *International Criminal Law and the Genocide in Rwanda: A Bibliography with English, French and Scandinavian References.* URL: https://www.rwi.lu.se/Bibliography2014.pdf

Breitman, Richard D. (Ed.-in-Chief) (1986, January-): *Holocaust and Genocide Studies*. [p-ISSN: 8756-6583, e-ISSN: 1476-7937]. URL: https://academic.oup.com/hgs

Budapest Centre for the International Prevention of Genocide and Mass Atrocities (2011, January-): URL: http://www.genocideprevention.eu

Center for Holocaust and Genocide Studies (CHGS), The (1997-): URL: https://cla.umn.edu/chgs

Charny, Israel W. (Ed.) (1988): *Genocide: A Critical Bibliographic Review.* (Genocide: A Critical Bibliographic Review, Vol. 1). London: Mansell.

Charny, Israel W. (Ed.) (1991): *Genocide: A Critical Bibliographic Review.* (Genocide: A Critical Bibliographic Review, Vol. 2). London: Mansell.

Charny, Israel W. (Ed.) (1994): *The Widening Circle of Genocide*. (Genocide: A Critical Bibliographic Review, Vol. 3). New Brunswick: Transaction Publishers.

Davenport, Christian; Stam, Allan (Principal Investigators) (2000-): *GenoDynamics*. URL: http://www.genodynamics.com

Genocide Studies Program [Yale University] (1998-): URL: https://gsp.yale.edu

Gudehus, Christian (Ed.-in-Chief) (2006-): *Genocide Studies and Prevention: An International Journal.* [p-ISSN: 1911-0359, e-ISSN: 1911-9933]. URL: https://scholarcommons.usf.edu/gsp

Hirsch, Herbert et al. (Eds.-in-Chief) (2006, July-): *Genocide Studies International* (formerly: Genocide Studies and Prevention). [p-ISSN: 2291-1847, e-ISSN: 2291-1855]. URL: https://www.utpjournals.press/loi/gsi

Human Rights Data Analysis Group (HRDAG) (1991, December-): https://hrdag.org

Institute for the Study of Genocide (ISG) (1982-): URL: http://studyofgenocide.org

Institute on the Holocaust and Genocide, The (1979-): URL: http://www.ihgjlm.com

International Network of Genocide Scholars (INoGS), The (2005, January-): http://inogs.com

Krell, Robert; Sherman, Marc I. (Eds.) (1997): *Medical and Psychological Effects of Concentration Camps on Holocaust Survivors*. (Genocide: A Critical Bibliographic Review, Vol. 4). New Brunswick: Transaction Publishers.

Ligon, Gina (Ed.-in-Chief) (2008-): *Dynamics of Asymmetric Conflict: Pathways toward Terrorism and Genocide*. [p-ISSN: 1746-7586, e-ISSN: 1746-7594]. URL: https://www.tandfonline.com/loi/rdac20

Minorities at Risk (MAR) Project (1986-): URL: http://www.mar.umd.edu

Montreal Institute for Genocide and Human Rights Studies (MIGS) (1986-): URL: http://www.concordia.ca/research/migs.html

Moses, A. Dirk et al. (Ed.-in-Chief) (1999-): *Journal of Genocide Research*. [p-ISSN: 1462-3528, e-ISSN: 1469-9494]. URL: https://www.tandfonline.com/loi/cjgr20

National Commission for the Fight against Genocide (CNLG) (2007, February-): URL: http://www.cnlg.gov.rw

Prevent Genocide International (1998-): URL: http://www.preventgenocide.org

Strassler Center for Holocaust and Genocide Studies, The (1998-): URL: https://www.clarku.edu/centers/holocaust

Tinnes, Judith (2015, April): Bibliography: Genocide (since 1980) Part 1. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, 9(2), 80-114. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2015/volume-2/8-bibliography-genocide-since-1980-part-1-compiled-and-selected-by-judith-tinnes.pdf

Totten, Samuel (Ed.) (2005): *Genocide at the Millennium*. (Genocide: A Critical Bibliographic Review, Vol. 5). New Brunswick: Transaction Publishers.

Totten, Samuel (Ed.) (2007): *The Prevention and Intervention of Genocide*. (Genocide: A Critical Bibliographic Review, Vol. 6). New Brunswick: Transaction Publishers.

Totten, Samuel (Ed.) (2009): *Plight and Fate of Women During and Following Genocide*. (Genocide: A Critical Bibliographic Review, Vol. 7). New Brunswick: Transaction Publishers.

Totten, Samuel (Ed.) (2013): *Impediments to the Prevention and Intervention of Genocide*. (Genocide: A Critical Bibliographic Review, Vol. 9). New Brunswick: Transaction Publishers.

Totten, Samuel (Ed.) (2014): *Plight and Fate of Children During and Following Genocide*. (Genocide: A Critical Bibliographic Review, Vol. 10). New Brunswick: Transaction Publishers.

Totten, Samuel; Bartrop, Paul R. (2008): Dictionary of Genocide. (2 Vols.). Westport: Greenwood Press.

ISSN 2334-3745 164 February 2019

Totten, Samuel; Hitchcock, Robert K. (Ed.) (2011): *Genocide of Indigenous Peoples*. (Genocide: A Critical Bibliographic Review, Vol. 8). New Brunswick: Transaction Publishers.

Totten, Samuel; Theriault, Henry; von Joeden-Forgey, Elisa (Eds.) (2017): *Controversies in the Field of Genocide Studies*. (Genocide: A Critical Bibliographic Review, Vol. 11). New Brunswick: Transaction Publishers.

United States Holocaust Memorial Museum, Simon-Skjodt Center for the Prevention of Genocide (1993-): Confront Genocide. URL: https://www.ushmm.org/confront-genocide

United to End Genocide (2011, July-): URL: http://endgenocide.org

Voices of Rwanda (n.d.-): URL: http://voicesofrwanda.org

Zappalà, Salvatore (Ed.-in-Chief) (2003, April-): *Journal of International Criminal Justice*. [p-ISSN: 1478-1387, e-ISSN: 1478-1395]. URL: https://academic.oup.com/jicj

Zawati, Hilmi M.; Mahmoud, Ibtisam M. (2004): A Selected Socio-Legal Bibliography on Ethnic Cleansing, Wartime Rape, and Genocide in the Former Yugoslavia and Rwanda. Lewiston: Edwin Mellen Press.

Books and Edited Volumes

Alvarez, Alex (2017): *Unstable Ground: Climate Change, Conflict, and Genocide.* (Studies in Genocide: Religion, History, and Human Rights). Lanham: Rowman & Littlefield.

Anderson, Kjell (2017): *Perpetrating Genocide: A Criminological Account*. (Routledge Studies in Genocide and Crimes against Humanity). Abingdon: Routledge.

Anstett, Elisabeth; Dreyfus, Jean-Marc (Eds.) (2014): *Destruction and Human Remains: Disposal and Concealment in Genocide and Mass Violence*. (Human Remains and Violence). Manchester: Manchester University Press.

Bachman, Jeffrey S. (2018): *The United States and Genocide: (Re)Defining the Relationship.* (Routledge Studies in Genocide and Crimes against Humanity). Abingdon: Routledge.

Barnett, Michael (2002): *Eyewitness to a Genocide: The United Nations and Rwanda*. Ithaca: Cornell University Press.

Bazyler, Michael (2016): *Holocaust, Genocide, and the Law: A Quest for Justice in a Post-Holocaust World.* New York: Oxford University Press.

Becirevic, Edina (2014): Genocide on the Drina River. New Haven: Yale University Press.

Bellamy, Alex J. (2012): *Massacres and Morality: Mass Atrocities in an Age of Civilian Immunity.* Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Benedek, Wolfgang et al. (Eds.) (2010): *Transnational Terrorism*, *Organised Crime and Peace-Building: Human Security in the Western Balkans*. Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan / Springer Nature. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1057/9780230281479

Bergholz, Max (2016): Violence as a Generative Force: Identity, Nationalism, and Memory in a Balkan Community. Ithaca: Cornell University Press.

Berry, Marie E. (2018): War, Women, and Power: From Violence to Mobilization in Rwanda and Bosnia-Herzegovina. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1017/9781108236003

Brosig, Malte (2015): *Cooperative Peacekeeping in Africa: Exploring Regime Complexity.* Abingdon: Routledge. (Cass Series on Peacekeeping). Abingdon: Routledge.

Brown, Sara E. (2018): Gender and the Genocide in Rwanda: Women as Rescuers and Perpetrators. (Routledge

Studies in Gender and Security). Abingdon: Routledge.

Brudholm, Thomas; Lang, Johannes (Eds.) (2018): *Emotions and Mass Atrocity: Philosophical and Theoretical Explorations*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1017/9781316563281

Brzoska, Michael; Law, David (Eds.) (2007): Security Sector Reconstruction and Reform in Peace Support Operations. Abingdon: Routledge.

Capussela, Andrea Lorenzo (2015): *State-Building in Kosovo: Democracy, Corruption and the EU in the Balkans.* London: I.B. Tauris.

Carmichael, Cathie (2002): *Ethnic Cleansing in the Balkans: Nationalism and the Destruction of Tradition.* (Routledge Advances in European Politics, Vol. 8). London: Routledge.

Carmichael, Cathie; Maguire, Richard C. (Eds.) (2015): *The Routledge History of Genocide*. (Routledge Histories). Abingdon: Routledge.

Carney, J. J. (2014): Rwanda before the Genocide: Catholic Politics and Ethnic Discourse in the Late Colonial Era. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Charny, Israel W. (2016): *The Genocide Contagion: How we Commit and Confront Holocaust and Genocide*. (Studies in Genocide: Religion, History, and Human Rights). Lanham: Rowman & Littlefield.

Chazal, Nerida (2016): *The International Criminal Court and Global Social Control: International Criminal Justice in Late Modernity.* (Routledge Research in International Law). Abingdon: Routledge.

Chenoweth, Erica; Lawrence, Adria (Eds.) (2010): *Rethinking Violence: States and Non-State Actors in Conflict.* (Belfer Center Studies in International Security). Cambridge: MIT Press.

Clarke, John Nathaniel (2018): British Media and the Rwandan Genocide. Abingdon: Routledge.

Connellan, Mary Michele; Fröhlich, Christiane (Eds.) (2018): *A Gendered Lens for Genocide Prevention*. (Rethinking Political Violence). London: Palgrave Macmillan / Springer Nature. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1057/978-1-137-60117-9

Cox, John M. (2016): *To Kill a People: Genocide in the Twentieth Century.* New York: Oxford University Press.

Crossley, Noële (2016): Evaluating the Responsibility to Protect: Mass Atrocity Prevention as a Consolidating Norm in International Society. (Global Politics and the Responsibility to Protect). Abingdon: Routledge.

Davis, Peter (2013): *Corporations, Global Governance and Post-Conflict Reconstruction*. (Routledge Studies in International Business and the World Economy). Abingdon: Routledge.

di Giovanni, Janine (2016): *The Morning they Came for us: Dispatches from Syria*. New York: Liveright Publishing Corporation.

Dijxhoorn, Ernst (2017): Quasi-State Entities and International Criminal Justice: Legitimising Narratives and Counter Narratives. (Contemporary Security Studies). Abingdon: Routledge.

Dreyfus, Jean-Marc; Anstett, Elisabeth (2017): *Human Remains in Society: Curation and Exhibition in the Aftermath of Genocide and Mass-Violence*. (Human Remains and Violence). Manchester: Manchester University Press.

El-Affendi, Abdelwahab (Ed.) (2015): Genocidal Nightmares: Narratives of Insecurity and the Logic of Mass Atrocities. New York: Bloomsbury Academic.

Eltringham, Nigel; Maclean, Pam (Eds.) (2014): *Remembering Genocide*. (Remembering the Modern World). Abingdon: Routledge.

Evans, Brad; Giroux, Henry A. (2015): Disposable Futures: The Seduction of Violence in the Age of Spectacle.

(Open Media Series). San Francisco: City Lights Books.

Fegley, Randall (2016): A History of Rwandan Identity and Trauma: The Mythmakers' Victims. Lanham: Lexington Books.

Fein, Helen (2016): *Human Rights and Wrongs: Slavery, Terror, Genocide.* Abingdon: Routledge. (Originally published in 2007)

Jansen, Annette (2017): Anti-Genocide Activists and the Responsibility to Protect. Abingdon: Routledge. (Routledge Humanitarian Studies). Abingdon: Routledge.

Gasanabo, Jean-Damascène; Simon, David J.; Ensign, Margee M. (2015): Confronting Genocide in Rwanda: Dehumanization, Denial, and Strategies for Prevention. (2nd ed.). Bogotá: Apidama Ediciones.

Giessmann, Hans-Joachim; Mac Ginty, Roger (Eds.) (2018): *The Elgar Companion to Post-Conflict Transition*. Cheltenham: Edward Elgar.

Gigliotti, Simone (Ed.) (2016): The Memorialization of Genocide. Abingdon: Routledge.

Gippert, Birte Julia (2018): *Local Legitimacy in Peacebuilding: Pathways to Local Compliance with International Police Reform.* (Routledge Studies in Intervention and Statebuilding). Abingdon: Routledge.

Gomez-Suarez, Andrei (2015): Genocide, Geopolitics and Transnational Networks: Contextualising the Destruction of the Unión Patriótica in Colombia. (Routledge Studies in Global and Transnational Politics). Abingdon: Routledge.

Gow, James (2013): War and War Crimes: The Military, Legitimacy and Success in Armed Conflict. London: Hurst.

Gruber, Bettina (2014): The Yugoslav Example - Violence, War and Difficult Ways towards Peace. Münster: Waxmann.

Guichaoua, André (2015): From War to Genocide: Criminal Politics in Rwanda, 1990–1994. (Don E. Webster, Trans.). (Critical Human Rights). Madison: University of Wisconsin Press.

Harff, Barbara; Gurr, Ted Robert (Eds.) (2019): *Preventing Mass Atrocities: Policies and Practices.* (Routledge Studies in Genocide and Crimes against Humanity). Abingdon: Routledge.

Heller, Kevin Jon; Simpson, Gerry (2013): *The Hidden Histories of War Crimes Trials*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Hiebert, Maureen S. (2017): Constructing Genocide and Mass Violence: Society, Crisis, Identity. (Routledge Studies in Genocide and Crimes against Humanity). Abingdon: Routledge.

Hirschauer, Sabine (2014): *The Securitization of Rape: Women, War and Sexual Violence*. Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan / Springer Nature. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1057/9781137410825

Holmes, Georgina (2014): *Women and War in Rwanda: Gender, Media and the Representation of Genocide.* (International Library of African Studies). London: I.B. Tauris.

Hromadžić, Azra (2015): *Citizens of an Empty Nation: Youth and State-Making in Postwar Bosnia-Herzegovina.* Philadelphia: University of Pennsylvania Press.

Ibrahim, Azeem (2018): The Rohingyas: Inside Myanmar's Genocide. (Revised and updated ed.). London: Hurst.

Ihsan, Mohammed (2017): Nation Building in Kurdistan: Memory, Genocide and Human Rights. Abingdon: Routledge.

Jansen, Annette (2017): Anti-Genocide Activists and the Responsibility to Protect. (Routledge Humanitarian Studies). Abingdon: Routledge.

ISSN 2334-3745 167 February 2019

Jessee, Erin (2017): *Negotiating Genocide in Rwanda: The Politics of History.* (Palgrave Studies in Oral History). Cham: Palgrave Macmillan / Springer Nature. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-45195-4

Jongman, Albert J. (Ed.). (1996): Contemporary Genocides: Causes, Cases, Consequences. Leiden: PIOOM.

Kapteijns, Lidwien (2013): *Clan Cleansing in Somalia: The Ruinous Legacy of 1991.* (Pennsylvania Studies in Human Rights). Philadelphia: University of Pennsylvania Press.

Kelly, Michael J. (2016): Prosecuting Corporations for Genocide. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Kersten, Mark (2016): *Justice in Conflict: The Effects of the International Criminal Court's Interventions on Ending Wars and Building Peace.* Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Kielsgard, Mark (2016): Responding to Modern Genocide: At the Confluence of Law and Politics. Abingdon: Routledge.

Kiernan, Ben; Hughes, Caroline (2006): Conflict and Change in Cambodia. Abingdon: Routledge.

Kobayashi, Audrey (Ed.) (2012): Geographies of Peace and Armed Conflict. Abingdon: Routledge.

Leech, Garry (2012): Capitalism: A Structural Genocide. London: Zed Books.

Lessa, Francesca; Payne, Leigh A. (Eds.) (2012): *Amnesty in the Age of Human Rights Accountability: Comparative and International Perspectives.* Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Licklider, Roy (Ed.) (2014): New Armies from Old: Merging Competing Military Forces after Civil Wars. Washington, DC: Georgetown University Press.

Longman, Timothy (2017): *Memory and Justice in Post-Genocide Rwanda*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Madej, Marek (Ed.) (2019): Western Military Interventions after the Cold War: Evaluating the Wars of the West. (Cass Military Studies). Abingdon: Routledge.

Malešević, Siniša (2017): *The Rise of Organised Brutality: A Historical Sociology of Violence.* Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1017/9781316155332

Martel, Gordon (Ed.) (2015): Twentieth-Century War and Conflict: A Concise Encyclopedia. Chichester: John-Wiley & Sons.

McAllister, Carlota; Nelson, Diane M. (Eds.) (2013): *War by other Means: Aftermath in Post-Genocide Guatemala*. Durham: Duke University Press.

McLoughlin, Stephen (2014): *The Structural Prevention of Mass Atrocities: Understanding Risk and Resilience.* (Routledge Studies in Genocide and Crimes against Humanity). Abingdon: Routledge.

McMahon, Patrice C. (2017): *The NGO Game: Post-Conflict Peacebuilding in the Balkans and beyond.* Ithaca: Cornell University Press.

Mills, Kurt (2015): *International Responses to Mass Atrocities in Africa: Responsibility to Protect, Prosecute, and Palliate.* (Pennsylvania Studies in Human Rights). Philadelphia: University of Pennsylvania Press.

Mitchell, Stacey M. (2018): *Institutional Legacies, Decision Frames and Political Violence in Rwanda and Burundi.* (African Governance). Abingdon: Routledge.

Mojzes, Paul (2015): Balkan Genocides: Holocaust and Ethnic Cleansing in the Twentieth Century. (Studies in Genocide: Religion, History, and Human Rights). Lanham: Rowman & Littlefield.

Mulaj, Klejda (2008): *Politics of Ethnic Cleansing: Nation-State Building and Provision of In/Security in Twentieth-Century Balkans.* Lanham: Lexington Books.

ISSN 2334-3745 168 February 2019

Murad, Nadia (2017): *The Last Girl: My Story of Captivity, and my Fight against the Islamic State.* New York: Tim Duggan Books.

Murray, Elisabeth Hope (2015): *Disrupting Pathways to Genocide: The Process of Ideological Radicalization*. (Rethinking Political Violence). Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan / Springer Nature. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1057/9781137404718

Naimark, Norman M. (2017): *Genocide: A World History*. (The New Oxford World History). New York: Oxford University Press.

Nettelfield, Lara J.; Wagner, Sarah E. (2014): *Srebrenica in the Aftermath of Genocide*. New York: Cambridge University Press.

Öhm, Manfred (2014): War and Statehood in South Sudan. (Studien zu Ethnizitat, Religion und Demokratie, Vol. 17). Baden-Baden: Nomos.

Ostojić, Mladen (2016): *Between Justice and Stability: The Politics of War Crimes Prosecutions in Post-Miloševic Serbia.* (Southeast European Studies). Abingdon: Routledge. (Original work published 2014).

Otten, Cathy (2017): With Ash on their Faces: Yezidi Women and the Islamic State. New York: OR Books.

Petrovic, Jadranka (Ed.) (2016): Accountability for Violations of International Humanitarian Law: Essays in Honour of Tim McCormack. (Routledge Research in the Law of Armed Conflict). Abingdon: Routledge.

Rafter, Nicole (2016): The Crime of All Crimes: Toward a Criminology of Genocide. New York: New York University Press.

Rubenstein, Richard L. (2010): *Jihad and Genocide*. (Studies in Genocide: Religion, History, and Human Rights). Lanham: Rowman & Littlefield.

Salton, Herman T. (2017): *Dangerous Diplomacy: Bureaucracy, Power Politics, and the Role of the UN Secretariat in Rwanda*. Oxford: Oxford University Press. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1093/oso/9780198733591.001.0001

Sampford, Charles; Thakur, Ramesh (Eds.) (2015): *Institutional Supports for the International Rule of Law.* (Challenges of Globalisation). Abingdon: Routledge.

Saul, Matthew; Sweeney, James A. (Eds.) (2015): *International Law and Post-Conflict Reconstruction Policy*. Abingdon: Routledge. (Post-Conflict Law and Justice). Abingdon: Routledge.

Savelsberg, Joachim J. (2015): *Representing Mass Violence: Conflicting Responses to Human Rights Violations in Darfur.* Oakland: University of California Press.

Schabas, William (2012): *Unimaginable Atrocities: Justice, Politics, and Rights at the War Crimes Tribunals.* Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Seybolt, Taylor B. (forthcoming 2019): *Preventing Genocide and Mass Killing: A Criminological Approach*. (Global Politics and the Responsibility to Protect). Abingdon: Routledge.

Sharma, Serena K. (2016): *The Responsibility to Protect and the International Criminal Court: Protection and Prosecution in Kenya.* (Global Politics and the Responsibility to Protect). Abingdon: Routledge.

Shaw, Ibrahim Seaga (2012): *Human Rights Journalism: Advances in Reporting Distant Humanitarian Interventions*. Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan / Springer Nature. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1057/9780230358874

Silander, Daniel; Wallace, Don; Janzekovic, John (Eds.) (2018): *International Organizations and the Rise of ISIL: Global Responses to Human Security Threats.* (Global Politics and the Responsibility to Protect). Abingdon: Routledge.

Simić, Olivera (2018): Silenced Victims of Wartime Sexual Violence. (Post-Conflict Law and Justice). Abingdon:

Routledge.

Simon, Thomas W. (2016): *Genocide, Torture, and Terrorism: Ranking International Crimes and Justifying Humanitarian Intervention.* New York: Palgrave Macmillan / Springer Nature. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1057/9781137415110

Sotirović, Vladislav B. (2013): *Emigration, Refugees and Ethnic Cleansing: The Death of Yugoslavia, 1991-1999.* Saarbrücken: Lambert Academic Publishing.

Spitka, Timea (2016): *International Intervention, Identity and Conflict Transformation: Bridges and Walls between Groups.* (Routledge Studies in Peace and Conflict Resolution). Abingdon: Routledge.

Sriram, Chandra Lekha; Martin-Ortega, Olga; Herman, Johanna (2018): War, Conflict and Human Rights: Theory and Practice. (3rd ed.). Abingdon: Routledge.

Stahn, Carsten (Ed.) (2015): The Law and Practice of the International Criminal Court. Oxford: University Press.

Stepputat, Finn (Ed.) (2014): *Governing the Dead: Sovereignty and the Politics of Dead Bodies*. (Human Remains and Violence). Manchester: Manchester University Press.

Straus, Scott (2015): *Making and Unmaking Nations: War, Leadership, and Genocide in Modern Africa.* Ithaca: Cornell University Press.

Tardy, Thierry; Wyss, Marco (Eds.) (2014): *Peacekeeping in Africa: The Evolving Security Architecture.* (CSS Studies in Security and International Relations). Abingdon: Routledge.

Tatz, Colin; Higgins, Winton (2016): *The Magnitude of Genocide*. (Praeger Security International). Santa Barbara: Praeger.

Thakur, Ramesh (2019): *Reviewing the Responsibility to Protect: Origins, Implementation and Controversies.* (Global Politics and the Responsibility to Protect). Abingdon: Routledge.

Totten, Samuel (Ed.) (2018): *Last Lectures on the Prevention and Intervention of Genocide*. (Routledge Studies in Genocide and Crimes against Humanity). Abingdon: Routledge.

Totten, Samuel; Grzyb, Amanda F. (Eds.) (2015): Conflict in the Nuba Mountains: From Genocide by Attrition to the Contemporary Crisis in Sudan. Abingdon: Routledge.

Totten, Samuel; Jacobs, Steven Leonard (Eds.) (2017): *Pioneers of Genocide Studies*. Abingdon: Routledge. (Original work published 2002).

Tromp, Nevenka (2017): *Prosecuting Slobodan Milošević: The Unfinished Trial.* (Contemporary Security Studies). Abingdon: Routledge.

Turner, Simon (2010): *Politics of Innocence: Hutu Identity, Conflict and Camp Life.* (Studies in Forced Migration, Vol. 30). New York: Berghahn Books.

Üngör, Uğur Ümit (Ed.) (2016): *Genocide: New Perspectives on its Causes, Courses and Consequences.* (NIOD Studies on War, Holocaust, and Genocide). Amsterdam: Amsterdam University Press.

Vik, Cathinka (2015): Moral Responsibility, Statecraft and Humanitarian Intervention: The US Response to Rwanda, Darfur, and Libya. (Global Politics and the Responsibility to Protect). Abingdon: Routledge.

Visoka, Gëzim (2016): *Peace Figuration after International Intervention: Intentions, Events and Consequences of Liberal Peacebuilding.* (Routledge Studies in Intervention and Statebuilding). Abingdon: Routledge.

Vuković, Siniša (2016): *International Multiparty Mediation and Conflict Management: Challenges of Cooperation and Coordination.* (Security and Conflict Management). Abingdon: Routledge.

ISSN 2334-3745 170 February 2019

Waller, James (2016): Confronting Evil: Engaging our Responsibility to Prevent Genocide. New York: Oxford University Press.

Walling, Carrie Booth (2013): *All Necessary Measures: The United Nations and Humanitarian Intervention.* (Pennsylvania Studies in Human Rights). Philadelphia: University of Pennsylvania Press.

Walter, Barbara F. (2002): Committing to Peace: The Successful Settlement of Civil Wars. Princeton: University Press.

Waterlow, Jonathan; Schuhmacher, Jacques (2018): *War Crimes Trials and Investigations: A Multi-Disciplinary Introduction*. (St Antony's Series). Cham: Palgrave Macmillan / Springer Nature. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-64072-3

Waters, Timothy William (Ed.) (2013): The Milošević Trial: An Autopsy. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Weinblum, Sharon (2015): *Security and Defensive Democracy in Israel: A Critical Approach to Political Discourse.* (Routledge Studies in Liberty and Security). Abingdon: Routledge.

Weller, Marc; Wolff, Stefan (2008): *Internationalized State-Building after Violent Conflict: Bosnia Ten Years after Dayton.* (Association for the Study of Nationalities). Abingdon: Routledge.

Wemmers, Jo-Anne M. (Ed.) (2014): *Reparation for Victims of Crimes against Humanity: The Healing Role of Reparation.* (Routledge Frontiers of Criminal Justice, Vol. 19). Abingdon: Routledge.

Wilén, Nina (2012): *Justifying Interventions in Africa*: (*De*)*Stabilizing Sovereignty in Liberia, Burundi and the Congo.* Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan / Springer Nature. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1057/9780230374966

Williams, Timothy; Buckley-Zistel, Susanne (Eds.) (2018): *Perpetrators and Perpetration of Mass Violence: Action, Motivations and Dynamics.* (Routledge Studies in Genocide and Crimes against Humanity). Abingdon: Routledge.

Wilson, Richard Ashby (2017): *Incitement on Trial: Prosecuting International Speech Crimes*. (Cambridge Studies in Law and Society). Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1017/9781316212875

Wittmann, Anna M. (2017): Talking Conflict: The Loaded Language of Genocide, Political Violence, Terrorism, and Warfare. Santa Barbara: ABC-CLIO.

Zimmerer, Jürgen (Ed.) (2015): Climate Change and Genocide: Environmental Violence in the 21st Century. Abingdon: Routledge.

Theses

Abdullahi, Fardowsa (2016, November): *Rape as a Weapon of War in Darfur Conflict.* (Master's Thesis, University of San Francisco, San Francisco, United States). URL: https://repository.usfca.edu/thes/212

Anderson, Danica (2014, June): *The Use of Oral Memory Traditions Embedded in Somatic Psychology Practices by South Slavic Female Survivors of War and War Crimes.* (Doctoral Thesis, Chicago School of Professional Psychology, Illinois, United States). URL: https://pqdtopen.proquest.com/pubnum/3643903.html

Benda, Richard M. (2012): *The Test of Faith: Christians and Muslims in the Rwandan Genocide.* (Doctoral Thesis, University of Manchester, Manchester, United Kingdom). URL: https://www.escholar.manchester.ac.uk/uk-ac-man-scw:189285

Blomquist, Rachel (2015, November): *Ethno-Demographic Dynamics of the Rohingya-Buddhist Conflict*. (Master's Thesis, Georgetown University, Washington, DC, United States). URL: https://pqdtopen.proquest.com/pubnum/1605896.html

ISSN 2334-3745 171 February 2019

Brino, Eileen (2018): *The Responsibility to Prevent: Neocolonialism, Poverty and Mass Atrocity Crimes in Africa.* (Doctoral Thesis, University at Albany – State University of New York, Albany, United States). URL: https://ppdtopen.proquest.com/pubnum/10812518.html

Buhigiro, Jean Leonard (2017): *The Experiences of Rwandan Secondary Schools' History Teachers in Teaching the Genocide against the Tutsi and its Related Controversial Issues.* (Doctoral Thesis, University of KwaZulu-Natal, Durban, New Zealand). URL: http://hdl.handle.net/10413/15782

Caserta, Tehetna Alemu (2017, January): *The Psychosocial Wellbeing of Orphans and Youth in Rwanda: Analysis of Predictors, Vulnerability Factors and Buffers.* (Doctoral Thesis, University of Helsinki, Helsinki, Finland). URL: http://urn.fi/URN:ISBN:978-951-51-2578-1

Chukwunaru, Charles Obinna (2016, July): *Conflict Prevention, Management and Resolution in Africa: A Case Study of the Conflict in the Darfur Region of Sudan (2003 – 2013).* (Doctoral Thesis, Nelson Mandela Metropolitan University, Port Elizabeth, South Africa). URL: http://hdl.handle.net/10948/14818

Crossman, Linda (2014, September): *Myanmar's Rohingya Refugees: The Search for Human Security.* (Master's Thesis, Georgetown University, Washington DC, United States). URL: https://pqdtopen.proquest.com/pubnum/1568320.html

DeRoche, Courtney Leigh (2018): Searching for Justice in Darfur: Assessing Punitive Attitudes during Genocide. (Master's Thesis, Ohio State University, Columbus, United States). URL: http://rave.ohiolink.edu/etdc/view?acc_num=osu1524156964260812

Flores Aguilar, Alejandro M. (2017, May): *They Didn't Win the War: Aesthetics and Infrastructure in Post-Counterinsurgency Guatemala*. (Doctoral Thesis, University of Texas at Austin, Austin, United States). URL: http://hdl.handle.net/2152/63285

Fonseca Dias Lima, Bruna (2018, Spring): *Fiat iustitia, pereat mundus: The International Criminal Tribunals and the Application of the Concept of Genocide.* (Master's Thesis, Uppsala University, Uppsala, Sweden). URL: http://urn.kb.se/resolve?urn=urn:nbn:se:uu:diva-353764

Franks, Carl (2017): From the Destruction of Memory to the Destruction of People: Social Movements and their Impact on Memory, Legitimacy and Mass Violence: A Comparative Study of the West German Student Movement and the Serbian "Anti-Bureaucratic Revolution". (Master's Thesis, Uppsala University, Uppsala, Sweden). URL: http://urn.kb.se/resolve?urn=urn:nbn:se:uu:diva-324321

Gottwald, Marlene (2014): *Europe's Responsibility to Protect: From Kosovo to Syria*. (Doctoral Thesis, University of Edinburgh, Edinburgh, United Kingdom). URL: http://hdl.handle.net/1842/16229

Hassen, Suha Hazeem (2016, May): *Investigating Sexual and Gender-Based Violence as a Weapon of War and a Tool of Genocide against Indigenous Yazidi Women and Girls by ISIS in Iraq.* (Master's Thesis, Orgeon State University, Corvallis, United States). URL: http://hdl.handle.net/1957/59346

Johnson, Rory (2017, July): "Two Captains Commanding One Ship Make it Sink": Intra-Elite Rivalry and Mass Violence in Sudan. (Master's Thesis, Leiden University, Leiden, The Netherlands). URL: http://hdl.handle.net/1887/52159

Kiné, Fatou (2014, January): *The Responsibility to Protect Doctrine (R2P)*. (Master's Thesis, The American University of Paris, Paris, France). URL: https://pqdtopen.proquest.com/pubnum/10305887.html

Knight, Caitlin Marie (2016, August): Exploring the Use of Emotional Labour by Journalists Reporting on Genocide: The Cases of Rwanda and Srebrenica. (Doctoral Thesis, University of Surrey, Guildford, United Kingdom). URL: http://epubs.surrey.ac.uk/813856

Kodero, Cliff Ubba (2016): Dangerous Memory: Contrasting Public and Private Memories of the Rwandan Genocide Using Hutus in the United States. (Master's Thesis, University of Wyoming, Laramie, United States).

ISSN 2334-3745 172 February 2019

URL: https://pqdtopen.proquest.com/pubnum/10161584.html

Kushi, Sidita (2018, March): Saving our Western Neighbors: How Regional Institutions and Conflict Perceptions Drive Humanitarian Military Interventions. (Doctoral Thesis, Northeastern University, Boston, United States). DOI: https://doi.org/10.17760/D20283086

Lankster, Nakieta M. (2014, April): *Treatment Effects for Trauma in Survivors of Genocide, War, and Conflict Residing in South Africa.* (Doctoral Thesis, Argosy University, Orange, United States). URL: https://pqdtopen.proquest.com/pubnum/3582750.html

Lapinsuo, Iida (2017): *Sexual Violence as a Weapon of Ethnic Cleansing and Genocide in the Yugoslav Wars*. (Master's Thesis, University of Helsinki, Helsinki, Finland). URL: http://urn.fi/URN:NBN:fi:hulib-201802061248

Løndorf, Maja Haals (2017, May): Claims to Orphanhood: An Ethnographic Investigation of Childhood Adversity in Post-Genocide Rwanda. (Doctoral Thesis, London School of Economics and Political Science, London, United Kingdom). URL: http://etheses.lse.ac.uk/id/eprint/3654

Lönnberg, Linnea (2017, Autumn): At the Endpoint of Violence: A Comparative Study between the Genocide in Bosnia-Herzegovina and the Conflict in Georgian Abkhazia. (Bachelor's Thesis, Uppsala University, Uppsala, Sweden). URL: http://urn.kb.se/resolve?urn=urn:nbn:se:uu:diva-341433

Marson, Jennifer J. (2016, June): *The Rwandan Diaspora in Canada and the United States: Reconciliation and Justice.* (Doctoral Thesis, Western Michigan University, Kalamazoo, United States). URL: https://pqdtopen.proquest.com/pubnum/10172562.html

Miller, Jordan (2018, August): *Terrorism on Trial: Exploring the ICC as a Means of Combating Terrorism*. (Master's Thesis, Brandeis University, Waltham, United States). URL: https://hdl.handle.net/10192/35912

O'Sullivan, Maeve (2014, June): *Missing Persons, Missing Peace: The Role of the War-Related Missing Persons in Post-Conflict Bosnia-Herzegovina.* (Master's Thesis, The American University of Paris, Paris, France). URL: https://pqdtopen.proquest.com/pubnum/10305856.html

Porkka, Jenni (2017): *Terrorism and Genocide: The Islamic State and the Case of Yazidis*. (Master's Thesis, Uppsala University, Uppsala, Sweden). URL: http://urn.kb.se/resolve?urn=urn:nbn:se:uu:diva-324400

Prins, Gladys (2017, May): Mass Rape and Genocide: International Law and the Increased Need for Deterrence Regarding War Crimes Committed during Civil Conflict. (Master's Thesis, Harvard University, Cambridge, United States). URL: http://nrs.harvard.edu/urn-3:HUL.InstRepos:33826641

Redwood, Henry Alexander (2018): *Accounting for Violence: The Production, Power and Ownership of the International Criminal Tribunal for Rwanda's Archive.* (Doctoral Thesis, King's College London, London, United Kingdom). URL: https://kclpure.kcl.ac.uk/portal/en/theses/accounting-for-violence(4a8ec532-e6a9-4926-bcc8-cb044350ed61).html

Richards, Jessie Woolley (2016, August): *Lived Narratives, Everyday Trauma, and the Aftermath of the Bosnian War: Human Rights as Living Practice.* (Doctoral Thesis, University of Utah, Salt Lake City, United States). URL: https://pqdtopen.proquest.com/pubnum/10163084.html

Rinto, Conrad L., II (2017): *Incomplete Integration: Ethnicity and the Refugee and Internally Displaced Person Crisis in Postwar Serbia.* (Master's Thesis, Ohio State University, Columbus, United States). URL: http://rave.ohiolink.edu/etdc/view?acc_num=osu1512038773569552

Roberts, Adam (2016, June): *The Yazidi and the Responsibility to Protect.* (Master's Thesis, University of Oregon, Eugene, United States). URL: http://hdl.handle.net/1794/20521

Rothschild, Amanda Joan (2017, June): "Courage First": Dissent, Debate, and the Origins of US Responsiveness to Mass Killing. (Doctoral Thesis, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Cambridge, United States). URL: http://hdl.handle.net/1721.1/113487

ISSN 2334-3745 173 February 2019

Sprik, Lenneke (2017, October): A Failure to Protect in Peacekeeping Operations: A Commander's Responsibility? Obligations and Responsibilities of Military Commanders in UN Peacekeeping Operations. (Doctoral Thesis, University of Glasgow, Glasgow, United Kingdom). URL: http://theses.gla.ac.uk/id/eprint/8613

Timmoneri, Serena (2017): *New Perspective for the Responsibility to Protect: Reducing Gender Inequality as a Means to Reduce the Risk of Genocide.* (Doctoral Thesis, University of Catania, Catania, Italy). URL: http://archivia.unict.it/handle/10761/4070

Twagiramungu, Noel (2014, April): Two Rebel Roads to Power: Explaining Variation in the Transition from Genocidal Violence to Rebel Governance in Contemporary Rwanda and Burundi. (Doctoral Thesis, Tufts University, Medford, United States). URL: https://pqdtopen.proquest.com/pubnum/3629418.html

Ubald, Rafiki (2018): *The Role of the Bourgmestres during the Genocide against the Tutsi in Rwanda.* (Master's Thesis, Uppsala University, Uppsala, Sweden). URL: http://urn.kb.se/resolve?urn=urn:nbn:se:uu:diva-353268

Waterman, Benjamin (2018): *Judgment and the Order of Passivity: An Investigation of the Banality of Evil in the Cases of the Rwandan and Cambodian Genocides, and Modern Bureaucracy.* (Doctoral Thesis, University of Waterloo, Waterloo, Canada). URL: http://hdl.handle.net/10012/14091

White, Jenifer Lorraine (2015, April): *Capturing a Phenomenon: A Photo-Voice among Intergenerational Narratives in Bosnia-Herzegovina*. (Doctoral Thesis, Chicago School of Professional Psychology, Illinois, United States). URL: https://pqdtopen.proquest.com/pubnum/3715021.html

Xhambazi, Visar (2018, May): *The Kosovo Moment: The United States and the Post-Cold War Balkans*. (Master's Thesis, Old Dominion University, Norfolk, United States). URL: https://digitalcommons.odu.edu/gpis_etds/27

Journal Articles and Book Chapters

Abazi, Enika; Doja, Albert (2017): The Past in the Present: Time and Narrative of Balkan Wars in Media Industry and International Politics. *Third World Quarterly*, *38*(4), 1012-1042. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/01436597.2016.1191345

Adak, Hülya (2015): Gendering Denial Narratives of the Decade of Terror (1975–85): The Case of Sâmiha Ayverdi/Neşide Kerem Demir and Hatun Sebilciyan/Sabiha Gökçen. *Journal of Genocide Research*, *17*(3), 327-343. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/14623528.2015.1062286

Adebajo, Adekeye (2016): The Revolt against the West: Intervention and Sovereignty. *Third World Quarterly*, 37(7), 1187-1202. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/01436597.2016.1154434

Ainley, Kirsten (2015, January): The Responsibility to Protect and the International Criminal Court: Counteracting the Crisis. *International Affairs*, *91*(1), 37-54. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1111/1468-2346.12185 URL: https://eprints.lse.ac.uk/59524/1/Ainley Responsibility-to-protect-%26the-ICC 2015.pdf

Ali, Amir (2004, February): Terrorism and Genocide: Making Sense of Senselessness. [Commentary]. *Economic and Political Weekly*, *39*(6), 521-524. URL: https://www.jstor.org/stable/4414598

Alida, Furaha Umutoni (2014): "Do They Fight for Us?" Mixed Discourses of Conflict and the M23 Rebellion among Congolese Rwandophone Refugees in Rwanda. *African Security*, 7(2), 71-90. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/19392206.2014.909244

Allen, Tim; Storer, Elizabeth (2018): Genocide. In: Tim Allen; Anna Macdonald; Henry Radice (Eds.): *Humanitarianism: A Dictionary of Concepts.* Abingdon: Routledge, 125-141.

Altınay, Ayşe Gül; Pető, Andrea (Guest Editors) (2015, November): Gendering Genocide. [Special Issue]. *European Journal of Women's Studies*, 22(4). URL: http://journals.sagepub.com/toc/ejwa/22/4

ISSN 2334-3745 174 February 2019

Altınay, Ayşe Gül; Pető, Andrea (2015): Europe and the Century of Genocides: New Directions in the Feminist Theorizing of Genocide. [Editorial]. *European Journal of Women's Studies*, 22(4), 379-385. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1177/1350506815608325

Altınay, Ayşe Gül; Pető, Andrea (Interviewers); Hirsch, Marianne (Interviewee) (2015, November): Gender, Memory and Connective Genocide Scholarship: A Conversation with Marianne Hirsch. *European Journal of Women's Studies*, 22(4), 386-396. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1177/1350506815605444

Alvarez, Alex (2016, Spring): Borderlands, Climate Change, and the Genocidal Impulse. *Genocide Studies International*, 10(1), 27-36. DOI: https://doi.org/10.3138/gsi.10.1.03

Anderson, Kjell; Brakstad, Ingjerd (2016): The Impossibility to Protect? Media Narratives and the Responsibility to Protect. *Genocide Studies and Prevention*, *9*(3), 96-115. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5038/1911-9933.9.3.1331

Anderton, Charles H. (2010): Choosing Genocide: Economic Perspectives on the Disturbing Rationality of Race Murder. *Defence and Peace Economics*, 21(5-6), 459-486. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/10242694.2010.5 13478

Anderton, Charles H. (2014): A Research Agenda for the Economic Study of Genocide: Signposts from the Field of Conflict Economics. *Journal of Genocide Research*, *16*(1), 113-138. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/14623528.2014.878118

Anderton, Charles H.; Carter, John R. (2011): Conflict Datasets: A Primer for Academics, Policymakers, and Practitioners. *Defence and Peace Economics*, 22(1), 21-42. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/10242694.2010.491677

Anderton, Charles H.; Ryan, Edward V. (2016): Habituation to Atrocity: Low-Level Violence against Civilians as a Predictor of High-Level Attacks. *Journal of Genocide Research*, 18(4), 539-562. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/14623528.2016.1216109

Andrighetto, Luca, Mari, Silvia, Volpato, Chiara, Behluli, Burim (2012, August). Reducing Competitive Victimhood in Kosovo: The Role of Extended Contact and Common Ingroup Identity. *Political Psychology*, 33, 513-529. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9221.2012.00887.x URL: https://boa.unimib.it/retrieve/handle/10281/26364/148543/j.1467-9221.2012.00887.x.pdf

Appel, Benjamin J. (2018, January): In the Shadow of the International Criminal Court: Does the ICC Deter Human Rights Violations? *Journal of Conflict Resolution*, 62(1), 3-28. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1177/0022002716639101

Aronson, Jay D. (2017): Preserving Human Rights Media for Justice, Accountability, and Historical Clarification. *Genocide Studies and Prevention*, *11*(1), 82-99. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5038/1911-9933.11.1.1441

Avakian, Paul N. (2018): Denial in other Forms. *Genocide Studies and Prevention*, *12*(1), 3-23. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5038/1911-9933.12.1.1512

Ball, Patrick; Price, Megan (2018, February 15): The Statistics of Genocide. *CHANCE*. URL: http://chance.amstat.org/2018/02/statistics-of-genocide

Ball, Patrick; Price, Megan (2018, November): Using Statistics to Assess Lethal Violence in Civil and Inter-State War. *Annual Review of Statistics and Its Application*, 6. Advance Online Publication. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-statistics-030718-105222

Bartoli, Andrea; Garofalo, Mauro (2019): Prevention through Political Agreements: The Community of Sant'Egidio and the Central African Republic. In: Barbara Harff; Ted Robert Gurr (Eds.): *Preventing Mass Atrocities: Policies and Practices.* (Routledge Studies in Genocide and Crimes against Humanity). Abingdon: Routledge, Chapter 10.

Bartoli, Andrea; Ogata, Tetsushi (2019): Who Is in Charge? Emerging National and Regional Strategies for Prevention. In: Barbara Harff; Ted Robert Gurr (Eds.): *Preventing Mass Atrocities: Policies and Practices*. (Routledge Studies in Genocide and Crimes against Humanity). Abingdon: Routledge, Chapter 13.

ISSN 2334-3745 175 February 2019

Baser, Bahar; Toivanen, Mari (2017): The Politics of Genocide Recognition: Kurdish Nation-Building and Commemoration in the Post-Saddam Era. *Journal of Genocide Research*, 19(3), 404-426. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/14623528.2017.1338644

Bass, Gary J. (2016, Fall): Bargaining Away Justice: India, Pakistan, and the International Politics of Impunity for the Bangladesh Genocide. *International Security*, 41(2), 140-187. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1162/ISEC_a_00258

Bauer, Yehuda (2019): Genocide and Mass Atrocities: Can they be Prevented? In: Barbara Harff; Ted Robert Gurr (Eds.): *Preventing Mass Atrocities: Policies and Practices.* (Routledge Studies in Genocide and Crimes against Humanity). Abingdon: Routledge, Chapter 2.

Bellamy, Alex J. (2015, September): When States Go Bad: The Termination of State Perpetrated Mass Killing. *Journal of Peace Research*, 52(5), 565-576. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1177/0022343315569333

Bellamy, Alex J. (2018): Holding Back the Tide: Genocide Prevention in our More Violent World. *Genocide Studies and Prevention*, 12(3), 10-19. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5038/1911-9933.12.3.1563

Beloff, Jonathan R. (2016): Rwanda, Israel, and Operation Protective Edge. *Israel Journal of Foreign Affairs*, 10(1), 103-113. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/23739770.2016.1173975

Bergbower, Matthew L.; Schmitt, Carly (2015): Congressional Activism in the Foreign Policy Arena: A Case Study of the 1994 Rwandan Genocide. *Democracy and Security*, *11*(4), 353-372. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/17419166.2015.1079177

Berry, Marie E. (2015, June): From Violence to Mobilization: Women, War, and Threat in Rwanda. *Mobilization*, 20(2), 135-156. DOI: https://doi.org/10.17813/1086-671X-20-2-135

Berster, Lars (2015, September): The Alleged Non-Existence of Cultural Genocide: A Response to the Croatia v. Serbia Judgment. *Journal of International Criminal Justice*, *13*(4), 677-692. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1093/jicj/mqv049

Björkdahl, Annika (1999): Conflict Prevention from a Nordic Perspective: Putting Prevention into Practice. *International Peacekeeping*, 6(3), 54-72. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/13533319908413785 URL: https://doi.org/10.1080/13533319908413785 URL: https://doi.org/10.1080/13533319908413785 URL: https://doi.org/10.1080/13533319908413785 URL: https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Annika Bjoerkdahl/publication/239789512 Conflict Prevention from a Nordic Perspective Putting Prevention into Practice/links/58f66614aca2723d16a97d67/Conflict-Prevention-from-a-Nordic-Perspective-Putting-Prevention-into-Practice.pdf

Björkdahl, Annika (2006): Promoting Norms through Peacekeeping: UNPREDEP and Conflict Prevention. *International Peacekeeping*, *13*(2), 214-228. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/13533310500437613

Björkdahl, Annika; Mannergren Selimovic, Johanna (2015): Translating UNSCR 1325 from the Global to the National: Protection, Representation and Participation in the National Action Plans of Bosnia-Herzegovina and Rwanda. *Conflict, Security & Development*, 15(4), 311-335. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/14678802.2015.

Björkdahl, Annika; Mannergren Selimovic, Johanna (2015, April): Gendering Agency in Transitional Justice. *Security Dialogue*, 46(2), 165-182. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1177/0967010614552547

Björkdahl, Annika; Mannergren Selimovic, Johanna (2016): A Tale of Three Bridges: Agency and Agonism in Peace Building. *Third World Quarterly*, *37*(2), 321-335. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/01436597.2015.1108825

Björkdahl, Annika; Mannergren Selimovic, Johanna (2017): Feeling Silences in a Place of Pain. *International Feminist Journal of Politics*, 19(3), 383-385. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/14616742.2017.1324093

Blackie, Laura E. R.; Hitchcott, Nicki (2018): "I am Rwandan": Unity and Reconciliation in Post-Genocide Rwanda. *Genocide Studies and Prevention*, 12(1), 24-37. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5038/1911-9933.12.1.1480

Blank, Stephen (2015, Spring): A Double Dispossession: The Crimean Tatars after Russia's Ukrainian War.

ISSN 2334-3745 176 February 2019

Genocide Studies and Prevention, 9(1), 18-32. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5038/1911-9933.9.1.1271

Bobić, Marinko (2016): Insurgencies, Civil Wars, and International Support: Reassessing Evidence of Moral Hazard from the Balkans. In: Scott Nicholas Romaniuk; Stewart Tristan Webb (Eds.): *Insurgency and Counterinsurgency in Modern War.* Boca Raton: CRC Press, 265-278.

Bojicic-Dzelilovic, Vesna (2015): The Politics, Practice and Paradox of "Ethnic Security" in Bosnia-Herzegovina. *Stability*, *4*(11), Article 11. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5334/sta.ez

Bojicic-Dzelilovic, Vesna; Kostovicova, Denisa (2013): Europeanisation and Conflict Networks: Private Sector Development in Post-Conflict Bosnia–Herzegovina. *East European Politics*, 29(1), 19-35. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/21599165.2012.760452

Bolhuis, Maarten P.; Middelkoop, Louis P.; van Wijk, Joris (2014, December): Refugee Exclusion and Extradition in the Netherlands: Rwanda as Precedent? *Journal of International Criminal Justice*, *12*(5), 1115-1139. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1093/jicj/mqu064 URL: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/272997383 Refugee https://www.researchgate.net/publication/272997383 Refugee https://www.researchgate.net/publication/272997383 Refugee https://www.researchgate.net/publication/272997383 Refugee

Brett, Roddy (2016): Peace without Social Reconciliation? Understanding the Trial of Generals Ríos Montt and Rodriguez Sánchez in the Wake of Guatemala's Genocide. *Journal of Genocide Research*, 18(2-3), 285-303. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/14623528.2016.1186955 URL: <a href="https://risweb.st-andrews.ac.uk/portal/en/researchoutput/peace-without-social-reconciliation-understanding-the-trial-of-generals-rios-montt-and-rodriguez-snchez-in-the-wake-of-guatemalas-genocide(8c28aec0-01c4-4b16-804b-061ebcc166d3).html

Brockmeier, Sarah; Rotmann, Philipp (2018): Germany's Politics and Bureaucracy for Preventing Atrocities. *Genocide Studies and Prevention*, 11(3), 20-31. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5038/1911-9933.11.3.1582

Brody, Reed (2015, May): Bringing a Dictator to Justice: The Case of Hissène Habré. *Journal of International Criminal Justice*, *13*(2), 209-217. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1093/jicj/mqv005

Brown, Sara E. (2016, Fall): Reshaping Gender Norms in Post-Genocide Rwanda. *Genocide Studies International*, 10(2), 230-250. DOI: https://doi.org/10.3138/gsi.10.2.06

Buffon, Veronica; Allison, Christine (2016): The Gendering of Victimhood: Western Media and the Sinjar Genocide. *Kurdish Studies*, 4(2), 176-196. URL: https://journal.tplondon.com/index.php/ks/article/view/728

Bulutgil, H. Zeynep (2015, September): Social Cleavages, Wartime Experience, and Ethnic Cleansing in Europe. *Journal of Peace Research*, *52*(5), 577-590. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1177/0022343315588339

Burt, Jo-Marie (2016): From Heaven to Hell in Ten Days: The Genocide Trial in Guatemala. *Journal of Genocide Research*, 18(2-3), 143-169. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/14623528.2016.1186437

Cameron, Hazel (2015): The French Connection: Complicity in the 1994 Genocide in Rwanda. *African Security*, 8(2), 96-119. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/19392206.2015.1036669

Cameron, Hazel (2018, Spring): State-Organized Starvation: A Weapon of Extreme Mass Violence in Matabeleland South, 1984. *Genocide Studies International*, 12(1), 26-47. DOI: https://doi.org/10.3138/gsi.12.1.03

Campbell, Bradley (2015): Terrorism and Genocide. In: Mathieu Deflem (Ed.): *Terrorism and Counterterrorism Today.* (Sociology of Crime, Law and Deviance, Vol. 20). Bingley: Emerald, 47-65.

Capicotto, Samantha; Scharf, Rob (2018): National Mechanisms for the Prevention of Atrocity Crimes. *Genocide Studies and Prevention*, 11(3), 6-19. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5038/1911-9933.11.3.1502

Carayon, Gaelle; O'Donohue, Jonathan (2017, July): The International Criminal Court's Strategies in Relation to Victims. *Journal of International Criminal Justice*, 15(3), 567-591. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1093/jicj/mqx023

ISSN 2334-3745 177 February 2019

Cederman, Lars-Erik; Weidmann, Nils B.; Gleditsch, Kristian Skrede (2011, August): Horizontal Inequalities and Ethnonationalist Civil War: A Global Comparison. *American Political Science Review*, 105(3), 478-495. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1017/S0003055411000207

Cehajic, Sabina; Brown, Rupert; Castano, Emanuele (2008, June): Forgive and Forget? Antecedents and Consequences of Intergroup Forgiveness in Bosnia and Herzegovina. *Political Psychology*, 29(3), 351-367. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9221.2008.00634.x URL: https://sibyouth.org/images/Resources/Scientific pub/Forgive-and-Forget-Cehajic-Brown-Castano-2008.pdf

Charny, Israel W. (2016): Worksheet for Describing and Categorizing a Genocidal Event: A New Tool for Assembling more Objective Data and Classifying Events of Mass Killing. *Social Sciences*, 5(3), Article 31. DOI: https://doi.org/10.3390/socsci5030031

Cheung, Maria et al. (2018): Cold Genocide: Falun Gong in China. *Genocide Studies and Prevention*, 12(1), 38-62. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5038/1911-9933.12.1.1513

Cliff, Christina (2018): The Coming Genocide? Burundi's Past, Present, and Potentially Deadly Future. *Studies in Conflict & Terrorism*, 41(9), 722-735. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/1057610X.2017.1341825

Conversi, Daniele (2006): Genocide, Ethnic Cleansing and Nationalism. In: Gerard Delanty; Krishan Kumar (Eds.): *The SAGE Handbook of Nations and Nationalism*. London: SAGE, 320-333.

Conversi, Daniele (2012): Irresponsible Radicalisation: Diasporas, Globalisation and Long-Distance Nationalism in the Digital Age. *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies*, 38(9), 1357-1379. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/1369183X.2012.698204

Corrias, Luigi D. A.; Gordon, Geoffrey M. (2015, March): Judging in the Name of Humanity: International Criminal Tribunals and the Representation of a Global Public. *Journal of International Criminal Justice*, *13*(1), 97-112. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1093/jicj/mqu083

Crosby, Alison; Lykes, M. Brinton; Caxaj, Brisna (2016): Carrying a Heavy Load: Mayan Women's Understandings of Reparation in the Aftermath of Genocide. *Journal of Genocide Research*, 18(2-3), 265-283. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/14623528.2016.1186952

Curtis, Devon E. A. (2015): Development Assistance and the Lasting Legacies of Rebellion in Burundi and Rwanda. *Third World Quarterly*, 36(7), 1365-1381. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/01436597.2015.1041103

Damman, Erin Kimball (2015): Rwanda's Strategic Humanitarianism: Lessons from a Janus-Faced State. *African Security*, 8(1), 30-55. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/19392206.2015.998542

Dautovic, Kenan (2016): Making Model of Synergy Work: Case of Bosnia and Herzegovina. In: Samuel Goda; Oleksandr Tytarchuk; Maksym Khylko (Eds.): *International Crisis Management: NATO, EU, OSCE and Civil Society: Collected Essays on Best Practices and Lessons Learned.* (NATO Science for Peace and Security Series – E: Human and Societal Dynamics, Vol. 127). Amsterdam: IOS Press, 66-86. DOI: https://doi.org/10.3233/978-1-61499-641-5-66

De Juan, Alexander (2015, March): Long-Term Environmental Change and Geographical Patterns of Violence in Darfur, 2003–2005. *Political Geography*, 45, 22-33. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.polgeo.2014.09.001

De Juan, Alexander; Pierskalla, Jan H. (2015, April): Manpower to Coerce and Co-Opt—State Capacity and Political Violence in Southern Sudan 2006–2010. *Conflict Management and Peace Science*, 32(2), 175-199. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1177/0738894213520393

Dekmejian, Richard Hrair (2007): State Terrorism, Politicide, and Genocide. In: *Spectrum of Terror*. Washington, DC: CQ Press, 203-226.

de la Brosse, Renaud; Lajmi, Nouri; Ekelin, Annelie (2015, March): Media Propaganda and Human Rights Issues: What Can Be Learnt from the Former Yugoslavia's Experience in Relation to the Current Developments

ISSN 2334-3745 178 February 2019

in the Arab Spring Countries? *Journal of Arab & Muslim Media Research*, 8(1), 21-36. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1386/jammr.8.1.21 1

DerGhougassian, Khatchik; Brumat, Leiza (2018, Spring): The Argentine Military and the Antisubversivo Genocide: The School of Americas' Contribution to the French Counterinsurgency Model. *Genocide Studies International*, 12(1), 48-71. DOI: https://doi.org/10.3138/gsi.12.1.04

Deutsch, David; Yanay, Niza (2016): The Politics of Intimacy: Nazi and Hutu Propaganda as Case Studies. *Journal of Genocide Research*, 18(1), 21-39. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/14623528.2016.1120461

Dieng, Adama; Welsh, Jennifer (2016): Assessing the Risk of Atrocity Crimes. *Genocide Studies and Prevention*, 9(3), 4-12. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5038/1911-9933.9.3.1392

Donà, Giorgia (2018): "Situated Bystandership" during and after the Rwandan Genocide. *Journal of Genocide Research*, 20(1), 1-19. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/14623528.2017.1376413

Downes, Alexander B.; O'Rourke, Lindsey A. (2016, Fall): You Can't always Get what you Want: Why Foreign-Imposed Regime Change Seldom Improves Interstate Relations. *International Security*, 41(2), 43-89. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1162/ISEC_a_00256

Dreyer, Nicolas (2018): Genocide, Holodomor and Holocaust Discourse as Echo of Historical Injury and as Rhetorical Radicalization in the Russian-Ukrainian Conflict of 2013–18. *Journal of Genocide Research*, 20(4), 545-564. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/14623528.2018.1528740

Drouin, Marc (2016): "The Realities of Power": David Stoll and the Story of the 1982 Guatemalan Genocide. *Journal of Genocide Research*, *18*(2-3), 305-322. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/14623528.2016.1186956

Dulić, Tomislav (2016): Perpetuating Fear: Insecurity, Costly Signalling and the War in Central Bosnia, 1993. *Journal of Genocide Research*, *18*(4), 463-484. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/14623528.2016.1226433

Dulz, Irene (2016): The Displacement of the Yezidis after the Rise of ISIS in Northern Iraq. *Kurdish Studies*, 4(2), 131-147. URL: https://journal.tplondon.com/index.php/ks/article/view/616

Dupuy, Pierre-Marie (2016, September): A Crime without Punishment. *Journal of International Criminal Justice*, 14(4), 879-891. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1093/jicj/mqw039

Edmonds, Martin; Mills, Greg; McNamee, Terence (2009): Disarmament, Demobilization, and Reintegration and Local Ownership in the Great Lakes: The Experience of Rwanda, Burundi, and the Democratic Republic of Congo. *African Security*, *2*, 29-58. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/19362200902766383

Elzarov, Zurab (2015): Community Stabilization and Violence Reduction: Lessons from Darfur. *Stability*, *4*(1), Article 7. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5334/sta.ex

Eramian, Laura; Denov, Myriam (2018): Is it Always Good to Talk? The Paradoxes of Truth-Telling by Rwandan Youth Born of Rape Committed during the Genocide. *Journal of Genocide Research*, 20(3), 372-391. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/14623528.2018.1459240

Everett, Andrea L. (2017): Mind the Gap: Civilian Protection and the Politics of Peace Operation Design. *Security Studies*, 26(2), 213-248. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/09636412.2017.1280298

Fair, C. Christine (2018, Fall): Rohingya: Victims of a Great Game East. *The Washington Quarterly*, 41(3), 63-85. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/0163660X.2018.1519356 URL: https://twq.elliott.gwu.edu/sites/g/files/zaxdzs2121/f/downloads/41-3%20Fair.pdf

Fazlic, Hazim (2015): Modern Muslim Thought in the Balkans: The Writings of Mehmed ef. Handžić in the El-Hidaje Periodical in the Context of Discrimination and Genocide. *Journal of Muslim Minority Affairs*, 35(3), 428-449. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/13602004.2015.1081790

ISSN 2334-3745 179 February 2019

Fein, Helen; Ezell, Walter; Spirer, Herbert F. (2011): Recognition of Genocide in Bosnia: Frameworks of Interpretation in U.S. Newspapers. In: Diana Papademas (Ed.): *Human Rights and Media*. (Studies in Communications, Vol. 6). Bingley: Emerald, 77-92.

Ferrara, Antonio (2015): Beyond Genocide and Ethnic Cleansing: Demographic Surgery as a New Way to Understand Mass Violence. *Journal of Genocide Research*, 17(1), 1-20. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/14623528 .2015.991204

Finkel, James P. (2015): Moving beyond the Crossroads: Strengthening the Atrocity Prevention Board. *Genocide Studies and Prevention*, 9(2), 138-147. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5038/1911-9933.9.2.1361

Finkel, James P. (2019): Atrocity Prevention from Obama to Trump. In: Barbara Harff; Ted Robert Gurr (Eds.): *Preventing Mass Atrocities: Policies and Practices*. (Routledge Studies in Genocide and Crimes against Humanity). Abingdon: Routledge, Chapter 9.

Frank, David A. (2018): The Reduction of Mass Atrocity Crimes in East Asia: The Evolving Norms of ASEAN's Prevention Mechanisms. *Genocide Studies and Prevention*, 11(3), 98-108. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5038/1911-9933.11.3.1503

Fyfe, Shannon (2017, June): Tracking Hate Speech Acts as Incitement to Genocide in International Criminal Law. *Leiden Journal of International Law*, 30(2), 523-548. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1017/S0922156516000753

Gasana, Oscar (2016): A Typology of Theoretical Approaches to the Study of Rwandan Tutsi Genocide. *Journal of Aggression, Conflict and Peace Research*, 8(4), 258-268. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1108/JACPR-12-2015-0204

Gendron, Sarah (2012): Exploiting the Hutu/Tutsi Divide: The Relationship between Extremist Propaganda and Genocide in Rwanda. In: Marja Vuorinen (Ed.): *Enemy Images in War Propaganda*. Newcastle Upon Tyne: Cambridge Scholars Publishing, 89-106.

Goldsmith, Benjamin E.; Butcher, Charles (2018): Genocide Forecasting: Past Accuracy and New Forecasts to 2020. *Journal of Genocide Research*, 20(1), 90-107. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/14623528.2017.1379631

Gordon-Gibson, Alasdair (2016, Fall): Goma 1994: Notes from the Field. *Genocide Studies International*, 10(2), 254-267. DOI: https://doi.org/10.3138/gsi.10.2.08

Gorris, Ellen Anna Philo (2015, November): Invisible Victims? Where Are Male Victims of Conflict-Related Sexual Violence in International Law and Policy? *European Journal of Women's Studies*, 22(4), 412-427. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1177/1350506815605345

Gregorian, Raffi (2015): NATO and the Balkans: From Intervention to Integration. In: Yonah Alexander; Richard Prosen (Eds.): *NATO: From Regional to Global Security Provider.* Lanham: Lexington Books, 83-106.

Gregory, Robin; Harstone, Michael; Slovic, Paul (2018): Improving Intervention Decisions to Prevent Genocide: Less Muddle, More Structure. *Genocide Studies and Prevention: An International Journal*, 11(3), 109-127. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5038/1911-9933.11.3.1496

Gribbin, Robert E. (2016): After the Genocide. In: Anthony N. Celso; Robert Nalbandov (Eds.): *The Crisis of the African State: Globalization, Tribalism, and Jihadism in the Twenty-First Century.* Quantico: Marine Corps University Press, 104-120.

Gurr, Ted Robert (2019): Guidelines for Prevention of Genocides and other Mass Atrocities: An Overview. In: Barbara Harff; Ted Robert Gurr (Eds.): *Preventing Mass Atrocities: Policies and Practices.* (Routledge Studies in Genocide and Crimes against Humanity). Abingdon: Routledge, Chapter 14.

Gurr, Ted Robert (2019): Preventing Genocides and Mass Atrocities: Evidence from Conflict Analysis. In: Barbara Harff; Ted Robert Gurr (Eds.): *Preventing Mass Atrocities: Policies and Practices.* (Routledge Studies in Genocide and Crimes against Humanity). Abingdon: Routledge, Chapter 5.

Gutman, Roy (2019): Ending the Silence on War Crimes: A Journalist's Perspective. In: Barbara Harff; Ted Robert Gurr (Eds.): *Preventing Mass Atrocities: Policies and Practices.* (Routledge Studies in Genocide and Crimes against Humanity). Abingdon: Routledge, Chapter 6.

Halilovich, Hariz (2015): Long-Distance Mourning and Synchronised Memories in a Global Context: Commemorating Srebrenica in Diaspora. *Journal of Muslim Minority Affairs*, 35(3), 410-422. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/13602004.2015.1073956

Hall, Jonathan (2016, February): Are Migrants more Extreme than Locals after War? Evidence from a Simultaneous Survey of Migrants in Sweden and Locals in Bosnia. *Journal of Conflict Resolution*, 60(1), 89-117. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1177/0022002714540471

Hammond, Philip (2018, December): When Frames Collide: "Ethnic War" and "Genocide". *Media, War & Conflict*, 11(4), 434-445. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1177/1750635218776994

Hardi, Choman (2018): Gender and Genocide: Two Case Studies. In: Caron E. Gentry; Laura J. Shepherd; Laura Sjoberg (Eds.): *Routledge Handbook of Gender and Security.* (Routledge Handbooks). Abingdon: Routledge, Chapter 16.

Harff, Barbara (2019): Introduction. In: Barbara Harff; Ted Robert Gurr (Eds.): *Preventing Mass Atrocities: Policies and Practices.* (Routledge Studies in Genocide and Crimes against Humanity). Abingdon: Routledge, Chapter 1.

Harff, Barbara (2019): Countries at Risk of Genocide and Politicide after 2016 – and why. In: Barbara Harff; Ted Robert Gurr (Eds.): *Preventing Mass Atrocities: Policies and Practices.* (Routledge Studies in Genocide and Crimes against Humanity). Abingdon: Routledge, Chapter 3.

Harrison, Graham (2016): Onwards and Sidewards? The Curious Case of the Responsibility to Protect and Mass Violence in Africa. *Journal of Intervention and Statebuilding*, 10(2), 143-161. DOI: https://doi.org/10.108 0/17502977.2016.1144641

Hasselskog, Malin; Schierenbeck, Isabell (2015): National Policy in Local Practice: The Case of Rwanda. *Third World Quarterly*, *36*(5), 950-966. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/01436597.2015.1030386

Hawley, Emily (2017, Fall): ISIS Crimes against the Shia: The Islamic State's Genocide against Shia Muslims. *Genocide Studies International*, 11(2), 160-181. DOI: https://doi.org/10.3138/gsi.11.2.02

Heldt, Birger (2019): Atrocity Crimes as a Disease: A Statistical Approach to Early Detection. In: Barbara Harff; Ted Robert Gurr (Eds.): *Preventing Mass Atrocities: Policies and Practices.* (Routledge Studies in Genocide and Crimes against Humanity). Abingdon: Routledge, Chapter 4. URL: https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=3181255

Helms, Elissa (2015, November): The Challenges of Gendering Genocide: Reflections on a Feminist Politics of Complexity. *European Journal of Women's Studies*, 22(4), 463-469. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1177/1350506815603155

Hillebrecht, Courtney (2016): The Deterrent Effects of the International Criminal Court: Evidence from Libya. *International Interactions*, 42(4), 616-643. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/03050629.2016.1185713

Hola, Barbora; Nyseth Brehm, Hollie (2016): Punishing Genocide: A Comparative Empirical Analysis of Sentencing Laws and Practices at the International Criminal Tribunal for Rwanda (ICTR), Rwandan Domestic Courts, and Gacaca Courts. *Genocide Studies and Prevention*, *10*(3), 59-80. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5038/1911-9933.10.3.1428

Holohan, Anne (2016): Peacebuilding and SSR in Kosovo: An Interactionist Perspective. *Global Crime*, 17(3-4), 331-351. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/17440572.2016.1197508

Hozić, Aida A. (2015): Writing after the Genocide: Lessons from Srebrenica and the Meaning of Community

ISSN 2334-3745 181 February 2019

after Violence. *Journal of Muslim Minority Affairs*, 35(3), 423-427. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/13602004.201 5.1073957

Ingiriis, Mohamed Haji (2016): "We Swallowed the State as the State Swallowed Us": The Genesis, Genealogies, and Geographies of Genocides in Somalia. *African Security*, 9(3), 237-258. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/1939 2206.2016.1208475

Ingle, Jessie (2016, September): Aiding and Abetting by Omission before the International Criminal Tribunals. *Journal of International Criminal Justice*, *14*(4), 747-769. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1093/jicj/mqw049

Isaacs-Martin, Wendy (2016): Political and Ethnic Identity in Violent Conflict: The Case of Central African Republic. *International Journal of Conflict and Violence*, 10(1), 25-39. DOI: https://doi.org/10.4119/UNIBI/ijcv.407

Isaacs-Martin, Wendy (2017): The Séléka and Anti-Balaka Rebel Movements in the Central African Republic. In: Caroline Varin; Dauda Abubakar (Eds.): *Violent Non-State Actors in Africa: Terrorists, Rebels and Warlords*. Cham: Palgrave Macmillan / Springer Nature, 133-161. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-51352-2 6

Jackson, Miles (2015, December): A Conspiracy to Commit Genocide: Anti-Fertility Research in Apartheid's Chemical and Biological Weapons Programme. *Journal of International Criminal Justice*, *13*(5), 933-950. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1093/jicj/mqv060

Jarstad, Anna K.; Höglund, Kristine (2015): Local Violence and Politics in KwaZulu-Natal: Perceptions of Agency in a Post-Conflict Society. *Third World Quarterly*, *36*(5), 967-984. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/01436597.2015.1030385

Jones, Adam (2016): Genocide as Political Violence. In: Marie Breen-Smyth (Ed.): *The Ashgate Research Companion to Political Violence*. Abingdon: Routledge, 329-346. (Original work published 2012)

Jones, Adam (2018): Genocide and Crimes against Humanity. In: Paul D. Williams; Matt McDonald (Eds.): *Security Studies: An Introduction.* (3rd ed.). Abingdon: Routledge, 365-379.

Jowell, Marco (2017): The Rwanda Defence Force: From Genocide to Peace and Democratic Consolidation. In: David J. Francis (Ed.): *African Peace Militaries: War, Peace and Democratic Governance.* Abingdon: Routledge, Chapter 3.

Kaiser, Joshua; Hagan, John (2015, March): Gendered Genocide: The Socially Destructive Process of Genocidal Rape, Killing, and Displacement in Darfur. *Law & Society Review*, 49(1), 69-107. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1111/lasr.12122 URL: https://ssrn.com/abstract=2250867

Karčić, Hamza (2013): In Support of a Non-Member State: The Organisation of Islamic Conference and the War in Bosnia, 1992–1995. *Journal of Muslim Minority Affairs*, 33(3), 321-340. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/13602004.2013.863074

Karčić, Hamza (Guest Editor) (2015): 20th Anniversary of Srebrenica. [Special Issue]. *Journal of Muslim Minority Affairs*, 35(3). URL: https://www.tandfonline.com/toc/cjmm20/35/3

Karčić, Hamza (2015): Commemorating Srebrenica: Introduction to the Special Issue. *Journal of Muslim Minority Affairs*, 35(3), 329-333. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/13602004.2015.1085160

Karčić, Hamza (2015): Remembering by Resolution: The Case of Srebrenica. *Journal of Genocide Research*, 17(2), 201-210. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/14623528.2015.1027078

Karčić, Hamza (2015): US Neoconservative Support and Policy Activism for Bosnia, 1992–1995: Correcting the Record. *Journal of Muslim Minority Affairs*, 35(3), 344-358. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/13602004.2015. 1080950

Karčić, Hikmet (2015): From the Selimović Case to the Srebrenica Commission: The Fight to Recognize the

ISSN 2334-3745 182 February 2019

Srebrenica Genocide. *Journal of Muslim Minority Affairs*, *35*(3), 370-379. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/13602 004.2015.1080951

Karčić, Hikmet (2017): Uncovering the Truth: The Lake Perućac Exhumations in Eastern Bosnia. *Journal of Muslim Minority Affairs*, 37(1), 114-128. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/13602004.2017.1294374

Karlsrud, John (2015): The UN at War: Examining the Consequences of Peace-Enforcement Mandates for the UN Peacekeeping Operations in the CAR, the DRC and Mali. *Third World Quarterly*, *36*(1), 40-54. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/01436597.2015.976016

Kaya, Serdar (2015): Islamophobia in Western Europe: A Comparative, Multilevel Study. *Journal of Muslim Minority Affairs*, 35(3), 450-465. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/13602004.2015.1080952

Kijewski, Sara; Freitag, Markus (2018, April): Civil War and the Formation of Social Trust in Kosovo: Posttraumatic Growth or War-Related Distress? *Journal of Conflict Resolution*, 62(4), 717-742. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1177/0022002716666324

Killean, Rachel; Moffett, Luke (2017, September): Victim Legal Representation before the ICC and ECCC. *Journal of International Criminal Justice*, *15*(4), 713-740. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1093/jicj/mqx025

Kim, Nam Kyu (2018, February): Revolutionary Leaders and Mass Killing. *Journal of Conflict Resolution*, 62(2), 289-317. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1177/0022002716653658 URL: https://doi.org/10.1177/0022002716653658 URL: https://doi.org/10.1177/0022002716653658

Kim, Sharon; Kim, David (2017): Best Family Rwanda: A Case Study on Religious Sources of Resilience. In: Michèle Companion; Miriam S. Chaiken (Eds.): Responses to Disasters and Climate Change: Understanding Vulnerability and Fostering Resilience. Boca Raton: CRC Press, 219-228.

Kingston, Lindsey (2015): The Destruction of Identity: Cultural Genocide and Indigenous Peoples. *Journal of Human Rights*, 14(1), 63-83. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/14754835.2014.886951

Kinzer, Stephen (Interviewer); Pimentel, Miguel; Kim, Carol (Interviewees) (2014, Spring-Summer): Reconciliation and Development in Kagame's Rwanda: An Interview with Miguel Pimentel and Carol Kim. *Brown Journal of World Affairs*, 20(2), 93-101. URL: http://bjwa.brown.edu/20-2/reconciliation-and-development-in-kagames-rwanda

Klašnja, Marko; Novta, Natalija (2016, August): Segregation, Polarization, and Ethnic Conflict. *Journal of Conflict Resolution*, 60(5), 927-955. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1177/0022002714550084 URL: https://doi.org/10.1177/0022002714550084 URL: https://markoklasnja.com/files/publications/seg_pol_conflict.pdf

Koettl, Christoph (2017): Sensors Everywhere: Using Satellites and Mobile Phones to Reduce Information Uncertainty in Human Rights Crisis Research. *Genocide Studies and Prevention*, 11(1), 36-54. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5038/1911-9933.11.1.1440

Kovács, Éva (2018): Limits of Universalization: The European Memory Sites of Genocide. *Journal of Genocide Research*, 20(4), 490-509. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/14623528.2018.1522825

Krain, Matthew (2017): The Effect of Economic Sanctions on the Severity of Genocides or Politicides. *Journal of Genocide Research*, *19*(1), 88-111. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/14623528.2016.1240516 URL: https://doi.org/10.1080/14623528.2016.1240516 URL: https://doi.org/10.1080/14623528.2016.1240516 URL: https://doi.org/10.1080/14623528.2016.1240516 URL: https://doi.org/10.1080/14623528.2016.1240516 URL: https://doi.org/10.1080/14623528.2016.1240516 URL: https://discover.wooster.edu/mkrain/files/2012/12/Krain-SanctionsGP-final.pdf

Krcmaric, Daniel (2018, January): Varieties of Civil War and Mass Killing: Reassessing the Relationship between Guerrilla Warfare and Civilian Victimization. *Journal of Peace Research*, 55(1), 18-31. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1177/0022343317715060

Kuehr, Manuela Elisabeth (2015): Rwanda's Orphans – Care and Integration during Uncertain Times. *Stability*, *4*(1), Article 20. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5334/sta.fg

ISSN 2334-3745 183 February 2019

Kulašić, Elmina (2015): Paths of Memory: Srebrenica Genocide Exhibits at the US Holocaust Memorial Museum in Washington, DC. *Journal of Muslim Minority Affairs*, 35(3), 401-409. DOI: https://doi.org/10.108 0/13602004.2015.1073958

Kuradusenge, Claudine (2016): Denied Victimhood and Contested Narratives: The Case of Hutu Diaspora. *Genocide Studies and Prevention*, 10(2), 59-75. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5038/1911-9933.10.2.1352

Labuda, Patryk I. (2017, March): The Special Criminal Court in the Central African Republic: Failure or Vindication of Complementarity? *Journal of International Criminal Justice*, *15*(1), 175-206. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1093/jicj/mqw074

Leader Maynard, Jonathan; Benesch, Susan (2016): Dangerous Speech and Dangerous Ideology: An Integrated Model for Monitoring and Prevention. *Genocide Studies and Prevention*, 9(3), 70-95. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5038/1911-9933.9.3.1317

Lederman, Shmuel (2017): A Nation Destroyed: An Existential Approach to the Distinctive Harm of Genocide. *Journal of Genocide Research*, *19*(1), 112-132. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/14623528.2016.1250473

Leutloff-Grandits, Carolin (2016): Post-Dayton Ethnic Engineering in Croatia through the Lenses of Property Issues and Social Transformations. *Journal of Genocide Research*, *18*(4), 485-502. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/14623528.2016.1230299

Levav, Itzhak (2015): The Aftermath of the European and Rwandan Genocides. In: Jutta Lindert; Itzhak Levav (Eds.): *Violence and Mental Health: Its Manifold Faces*. Dordrecht: Springer, 303-339. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-017-8999-8 15

Levinger, Matthew (2016): Why the U.S. Government Failed to Anticipate the Rwandan Genocide of 1994: Lessons for Early Warning and Prevention. *Genocide Studies and Prevention*, 9(3), 33-58. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5038/1911-9933.9.3.1362

Levinger, Matthew (2018): Forging Consensus for Atrocity Prevention: Assessing the Record of the OSCE. *Genocide Studies and Prevention*, 11(3), 60-74. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5038/1911-9933.11.3.1505

Levitt, Matthew; Kikoler, Naomi; Jeffrey, James F. (2018, July): Combating Genocide: Reassessing the Fight against the Islamic State. In: Matthew Levitt (Ed.): *Neither Remaining nor Expanding: The Decline of the Islamic State*. (The Washington Institute for Near East Policy; Policy Focus 155 / Counterterrorism Lectures 2016-2017). Washington, DC: The Washington Institute for Near East Policy, 26-31. URL: https://www.washingtoninstitute.org/policy-analysis/view/neither-remaining-nor-expanding

Lewis, Matthew; McDaid, Shaun (2017): Bosnia on the Border? Republican Violence in Northern Ireland during the 1920s and 1970s. *Terrorism and Political Violence*, 29(4), 635-655. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/09546553.2015.1043429 URL: https://eprints.hud.ac.uk/id/eprint/24942/1/TPV_AAM.pdf

Lidén, Kristoffer et al. (2016): EU Support to Civil Society Organizations in Conflict-Ridden Countries: A Governance Perspective from Bosnia and Herzegovina, Cyprus and Georgia. *International Peacekeeping*, 23(2), 274-301. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/13533312.2015.1126521

Lingaas, Carola (2016): Imagined Identities: Defining the Racial Group in the Crime of Genocide. *Genocide Studies and Prevention*, 10(1), 79-106. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5038/1911-9933.10.1.1377

Lobban, Richard A., Jr.; Dalton, Christopher H. (2017): Genocide, Warlords, and Proxy Wars: Interwoven Themes and Ruthless Insurgents. In: *African Insurgencies: From the Colonial Era to the 21st Century.* (Praeger Security International). Santa Barbara: Praeger, 135-194.

Luck, Edward C. (2018): Why the United Nations Underperforms at Preventing Mass Atrocities. *Genocide Studies and Prevention*, 11(3), 32-47. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5038/1911-9933.11.3.1516

Luck, Edward C. (2019): Roots of Ambivalence: The United Nations, Genocide, and Mass Atrocity Prevention.

ISSN 2334-3745 184 February 2019

In: Barbara Harff; Ted Robert Gurr (Eds.): *Preventing Mass Atrocities: Policies and Practices.* (Routledge Studies in Genocide and Crimes against Humanity). Abingdon: Routledge, Chapter 12.

Lyons, Terrence (2016): From Victorious Rebels to Strong Authoritarian Parties: Prospects for Post-War Democratization. *Democratization*, 23(6), 1026-1041. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/13510347.2016.1168404

Madden, Marguerite; Ross, Amy (2009): Genocide and GIScience: Integrating Personal Narratives and Geographic Information Science to Study Human Rights. *The Professional Geographer*, 61(4), 508-526. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/00330120903163480

Maddox, Kelly (2015, Spring): "Liberat[ing] Mankind from such an Odious Scourge": The Genocide Convention and the Continued Failure to Prevent or Halt Genocide in the Twenty-First Century. *Genocide Studies and Prevention*, 9(1), 48-65. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5038/1911-9933.9.1.1263

Mageza-Barthel, Rirhandu (2016): Tracing Women's Rights after Genocide: The Case of Rwanda. In: Annick T. R. Wibben (Ed.): *Researching War: Feminist Methods, Ethics and Politics.* (Interventions). Abingdon: Routledge, 143-162.

Mahmood, Saleha S. (2015): A Word. *Journal of Muslim Minority Affairs*, 35(3), 327-328. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/13602004.2015.1085154

Maiangwa, Benjamin; Suleiman, Muhammad Dan (2017): Liberal Peace Intervention in the Central African Republic: Limitations and Reworking a "Hybrid" Order. *African Security*, *10*(1), 1-24. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/19392206.2016.1270138

Maksić, Adis (2015): Priming the Nation for War: An Analysis of Organizational Origins and Discursive Machinations of the Serb Democratic Party in Pre-War Bosnia-Herzegovina, 1990–1992. *Journal of Muslim Minority Affairs*, 35(3), 334-343. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/13602004.2015.1073959

Mannergren Selimovic, Johanna (2015, April): Challenges of Postconflict Coexistence: Narrating Truth and Justice in a Bosnian Town. *Political Psychology*, *36*(2), 231-242. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1111/pops.12205

Martin-Shields, Charles (2017): Information Communication Technologies in Atrocity Response and Prevention: Deepening our Understanding of the Legal, Ethical and Practical Challenges. *Genocide Studies and Prevention*, 11(1), 100-103. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5038/1911-9933.11.1.1484

Matic, Zdravko; Stojic, Frano (2016, September): The War in Bosnia and Herzegovina, 1992-1995: An Assessment of the War's Historical Context and Typology. *Small Wars Journal*, 9/2016. URL: http://smallwarsjournal.com/jrnl/art/the-war-in-bosnia-and-herzegovina-1992-1995-an-assessment-of-the-war%E2%80%99s-historical-context-a

Mazur, Lucas B. (2017, Spring): Essentialist Thinking Underlying Definitions of Genocide. *Genocide Studies International*, 11(1), 132-149. DOI: https://doi.org/10.3138/gsi.11.1.06

Mazzucelli, Colette; Visvizi, Anna (2017): Querying the Ethics of Data Collection as a Community of Research and Practice: The Movement toward the "Liberalism of Fear" to Protect the Vulnerable. *Genocide Studies and Prevention*, *11*(1), 2-8. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5038/1911-9933.11.1.1493

McCleery, Kyle (2016, December): Guilty Pleas and Plea Bargaining at the Ad Hoc Tribunals: Lessons from Civil Law Systems. *Journal of International Criminal Justice*, *14*(5), 1099-1120. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1093/jicj/mqw064

McGarty, Craig (Guest Ed.) (2014): Special Thematic Section on "20 Years after Genocide: Psychology's Role in Reconciliation and Reconstruction in Rwanda". *Journal of Social and Political Psychology*, 2(1), 377-517. URL: http://jspp.psychopen.eu/issue/view/2

McGregor, Andrew (2017, February): The Fulani Crisis: Communal Violence and Radicalization in the Sahel. *CTC Sentinel*, *10*(2), 34-40. URL: https://ctc.usma.edu/app/uploads/2017/02/CTC-Sentinel Vol10Iss223.pdf

ISSN 2334-3745 185 February 2019

McGregor, Katharine (2017): Exposing Impunity: Memory and Human Rights Activism in Indonesia and Argentina. *Journal of Genocide Research*, 19(4), 551-573. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/14623528.2017.1393948

McLoughlin, Stephen; Weerdesteijn, Maartje (2016): Eliminating Rivals, Managing Rivalries: A Comparison of Robert Mugabe and Kenneth Kaunda. *Genocide Studies and Prevention*, 9(3), 116-136. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5038/1911-9933.9.3.1318

McMillan, Nesam (2017): Racialising Global Relations: The Rwandan Genocide and the Ethics of Representation. *Postcolonial Studies*, 20(4), 431-455. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/13688790.2017.1405708

McNamee, Lachlan (2018, October): Mass Resettlement and Political Violence: Evidence from Rwanda. *World Politics*, 70(4), 595-644. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1017/S0043887118000138

Meger, Sara (2016): Sexual Violence as an Element of Genocide. In: *Rape Loot Pillage: The Political Economy of Sexual Violence in Armed Conflict.* (Oxford Studies in Gender and International Relations). New York: Oxford University Press, 115-137.

Mégret, Frédéric (2018): Bin Laden: Tale of a Death Foretold. *Journal of Genocide Research*, 20(2), 290-304. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/14623528.2018.1459170

Meiches, Benjamin (2017): Speaking of Genocide: Double Binds and Political Discourse. *Genocide Studies and Prevention*, *11*(2), 36-52. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5038/1911-9933.11.2.1391

Meka, Eltion (2016): Minority Protection and Democratic Consolidation: The Role of European Integration in the Republic of Macedonia. *Genocide Studies and Prevention*, 10(2), 23-37. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5038/1911-9933.10.2.1350

Melvin, Jennifer (2017): Rebel Victory and the Rwandan Genocide. In: Caroline Varin; Dauda Abubakar (Eds.): *Violent Non-State Actors in Africa: Terrorists, Rebels and Warlords.* Cham: Palgrave Macmillan / Springer Nature, 195-221. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-51352-2 8

Memišević, Ehlimana (2015): Battling the Eighth Stage: Incrimination of Genocide Denial in Bosnia and Herzegovina. *Journal of Muslim Minority Affairs*, 35(3), 380-400. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/13602004.201 5.1073960

Meyer, Christoph O.; Otto, Florian (2016, August): How to Warn: "Outside-in Warnings" of Western Governments about Violent Conflict and Mass Atrocities. *Media, War & Conflict*, 9(2), 198-216. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1177/1750635216656969

Mironova, Vera; Whitt, Sam (2016, September): The Evolution of Prosociality and Parochialism after Violence. *Journal of Peace Research*, *53*(5), 648-664. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1177/0022343316648204

Mironova, Vera; Whitt, Sam (2017, November): International Peacekeeping and Positive Peace: Evidence from Kosovo. *Journal of Conflict Resolution*, *61*(10), 2074-2104. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1177/0022002715604886

Moix, Bridget (2016): Turning Atrocity Prevention Inside-Out: Community-Based Approaches to Preventing, Protecting, and Recovering from Mass Violence. *Genocide Studies and Prevention*, 9(3), 59-69. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5038/1911-9933.9.3.1313

Mojzes, Paul B. (2015): Religion and (In)Security in the Former Yugoslavia. In: Chris Seiple; Dennis R. Hoover; Pauletta Otis (Eds.): *The Routledge Handbook of Religion and Security.* (Routledge Handbooks). Abingdon: Routledge, 249-259.

Molden, Berthold (2016): The Reconciliation Trap: Disputing Genocide and the Land Issue in Postwar Guatemala. *Journal of Genocide Research*, 18(2-3), 323-342. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/14623528.2016.118 6958

Moradi, Fazil; Anderson, Kjell (2016, Fall): The Islamic State's Êzîdî Genocide in Iraq: The Sinjār Operations.

ISSN 2334-3745 186 February 2019

Genocide Studies International, 10(2), 121-138. DOI: https://doi.org/10.3138/gsi.10.2.02

Morrow, Paul (2015, Spring): The Thesis of Norm Transformation in the Theory of Mass Atrocity. *Genocide Studies and Prevention*, 9(1), 66-82. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5038/1911-9933.9.1.1303

Mulamula, Liberat; Sentongo, Ashad (2019): An African Regional Perspective on Prevention: Experiences from the Great Lakes Region. In: Barbara Harff; Ted Robert Gurr (Eds.): *Preventing Mass Atrocities: Policies and Practices*. (Routledge Studies in Genocide and Crimes against Humanity). Abingdon: Routledge, Chapter 11.

Mulligan, Michael (2016, March): Conceptualizing an Internal Conflict: ISIS and International Law. *International Journal of Contemporary Iraqi Studies*, 10(1-2), 73-88. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1386/ijcis.10.1-2.73_1

Murauskaite, Egle (2016, Winter): Saddam's Use of Violence against Civilians during the Iran-Iraq War. *The Middle East Journal*, 70(1), 47-68. DOI: https://doi.org/10.3751/70.1.13

Mutema, Gaudencia (2015, November): Feminist Liberation Psychology: Towards a New Research Imaginary in the Study of Genocide. *European Journal of Women's Studies*, 22(4), 470-475. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1177/1350506815605441

Nanlohy, Sascha; Butcher, Charles; Goldsmith, Benjamin E. (2017): The Policy Value of Quantitative Atrocity Forecasting Models. *The RUSI Journal*, *162*(2), 24-32. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/03071847.2017.1322473

Neilsen, Rhiannon S. (2015, Spring): "Toxification" as a More Precise Early Warning Sign for Genocide than Dehumanization? An Emerging Research Agenda. *Genocide Studies and Prevention*, 9(1), 83-95. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5038/1911-9933.9.1.1277

Nelson, Diane M. (2016): Bonesetting: The Algebra of Genocide. *Journal of Genocide Research*, 18(2-3), 171-187. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/14623528.2016.1186439

Newmann, William W. (2016, Spring): A Brief Introduction to Theories of International Political Economy. *Genocide Studies International*, 10(1), 7-26. DOI: https://doi.org/10.3138/gsi.10.1.02

Nichols, Angela D. (2018): The Origins of Genocide in Civil War. *Trames*, 22(1), 89-101. DOI: https://doi.org/10.3176/tr.2018.1.05

Novic, Elisa (2015): Physical-Biological or Socio-Cultural "Destruction" in Genocide? Unravelling the Legal Underpinnings of Conflicting Interpretations. *Journal of Genocide Research*, *17*(1), 63-82. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/14623528.2015.991208

Nuhanović, Hasan (2015): Lunch at My Mother's. *Journal of Muslim Minority Affairs*, 35(3), 359-369. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/13602004.2015.1080953

Nyseth Brehm, Hollie (2017): Re-Examining Risk Factors of Genocide. *Journal of Genocide Research*, 19(1), 61-87. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/14623528.2016.1213485

Oglesby, Elizabeth; Nelson, Diane M. (Guest Editors) (2016): Guatemala, the Question of Genocide. [Special Issue]. *Journal of Genocide Research*, 18(2-3). URL: https://www.tandfonline.com/toc/cjgr20/18/2-3

Oglesby, Elizabeth; Nelson, Diane M. (2016): Guatemala's Genocide Trial and the Nexus of Racism and Counterinsurgency. [Introduction]. *Journal of Genocide Research*, 18(2-3), 133-142. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/14623528.2016.1186436

Olson, Krisjon (2016): Waging Peace: A New Generation of Ixiles Confronts the Debts of War in Guatemala. *Journal of Genocide Research*, *18*(2-3), 343-359. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/14623528.2016.1186959

Pacholska, Magdalena (2015, March): (II)legality of Killing Peacekeepers: The Crime of Attacking Peacekeepers in the Jurisprudence of International Criminal Tribunals. *Journal of International Criminal Justice*, *13*(1), 43-72. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1093/jicj/mqu082

ISSN 2334-3745 187 February 2019

Papa, Maria Irene (2016, September): The Mothers of Srebrenica Case before the European Court of Human Rights: United Nations Immunity Versus Right of Access to a Court. *Journal of International Criminal Justice*, 14(4), 893-907. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1093/jicj/mqw040

Parent, Genevieve (2016): Genocide Denial: Perpetuating Victimization and the Cycle of Violence in Bosnia and Herzegovina (BiH). *Genocide Studies and Prevention*, 10(2), 38-58. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5038/1911-9933.10.2.1369

Pashakhanlou, Arash Heydarian (2018): Air Power in Humanitarian Intervention: Kosovo and Libya in Comparative Perspective. *Defence Studies*, *18*(1), 39-57. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/14702436.2017.1420420

Penttinen, Elina (2016): Studying Ethical Action Competence and Mindful Action from Feminist Perspectives: The Case of Nordic Female Police Officers in Kosovo. In: Annick T. R. Wibben (Ed.): *Researching War: Feminist Methods, Ethics and Politics.* (Interventions). Abingdon: Routledge, 222-238.

Pérez, Orlando J. (2015): Guatemala: Building Democratic Civil-Military Relations after Genocide. In: *Civil-Military Relations in Post-Conflict Societies: Transforming the Role of the Military in Central America*. (Routledge Studies in Latin American Politics, Vol. 12). Abingdon: Routledge, 22-36.

Persoz, Giulia (2018): Neutrality: A Tool or a Limit for Preventing Mass Atrocitiy Crimes and Genocide? The Case of Switzerland. *Genocide Studies and Prevention*, 11(3), 75-97. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5038/1911-9933.11.3.1507

Piccolino, Giulia (2015, November): Winning Wars, Building (Illiberal) Peace? The Rise (and Possible Fall) of a Victor's Peace in Rwanda and Sri Lanka. *Third World Quarterly*, *36*(9), 1770-1785. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/01436597.2015.1058150 URL: https://dspace.lboro.ac.uk/dspace-jspui/bitstream/2134/22708/1/piccolino 2015 TWQ accepted version.pdf

Portmann, Michael (2016): "Ethnic Cleansing" in Peacetime? Yugoslav/Serb Colonization Projects in Vojvodina in the Twentieth Century. *Journal of Genocide Research*, *18*(4), 447-462. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/146235 28.2016.1227561

Powell, Christopher (2016): Revitalizing the Ethnosphere: Global Society, Ethnodiversity, and the Stakes of Cultural Genocide. *Genocide Studies and Prevention*, 10(1), 44-59. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5038/1911-9933.10.1.1364

Powell, Nathaniel K. (2017): Battling Instability? The Recurring Logic of French Military Interventions in Africa. *African Security*, 10(1), 47-72. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/19392206.2016.1270141

Purdeková, Andrea; Reyntjens, Filip; Wilén, Nina (2018): Militarisation of Governance after Conflict: Beyond the Rebel-to-Ruler Frame – The Case of Rwanda. *Third World Quarterly*, *39*(1), 158-174. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/01436597.2017.1369036 URL: https://repi.ulb.ac.be/sites/default/files/militarisation of governance after conflict beyond the rebel to ruler frame the case of rwanda 0.pdf

Radonić, Ljiljana (2018): From "Double Genocide" to "the New Jews": Holocaust, Genocide and Mass Violence in Post-Communist Memorial Museums. *Journal of Genocide Research*, 20(4), 510-529. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/14623528.2018.1522831

Rafferty, Judith (2018): "I Wanted Them to Be Punished or at Least Ask Us for Forgiveness": Justice Interests of Female Victim-Survivors of Conflict-Related Sexual Violence and their Experiences with Gacaca. *Genocide Studies and Prevention*, *12*(3), 95-118. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5038/1911-9933.12.3.1556

Rankin, Melinda (2018): The Future of International Criminal Evidence in New Wars? The Evolution of the Commission for International Justice and Accountability (CIJA). *Journal of Genocide Research*, 20(3), 392-411. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/14623528.2018.1445435

Rashed, Haifa; Short, Damien (2014): Genocide and Settler Colonialism: Can a Lemkin-Inspired Genocide

ISSN 2334-3745 188 February 2019

Perspective Aid our Understanding of the Palestinian Situation? In: Patricia Hynes et al. (Eds.): *New Directions in the Sociology of Human Rights*. Abingdon: Routledge, 20-47.

Rauschenbach, Mina; Staerklé, Christian; Scalia, Damien (2016, April): Accused for Involvement in Collective Violence: The Discursive Reconstruction of Agency and Identity by Perpetrators of International Crimes. *Political Psychology*, *37*(2), 219-235. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1111/pops.12241

Reeves, Eric (2019): In the Absence of Will: Could Genocide in Darfur have been Halted or Mitigated? In: Barbara Harff; Ted Robert Gurr (Eds.): *Preventing Mass Atrocities: Policies and Practices.* (Routledge Studies in Genocide and Crimes against Humanity). Abingdon: Routledge, Chapter 8.

Reyntjens, Filip (2015, July): Rwanda: Progress or Powder Keg? *Journal of Democracy*, 26(3), 19-33. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1353/jod.2015.0043 URL: https://www.journalofdemocracy.org/article/rwanda-progress-or-powder-keg

Reyntjens, Filip (2016): (Re-)imagining a Reluctant Post-Genocide Society: The Rwandan Patriotic Front's Ideology and Practice. *Journal of Genocide Research*, *18*(1), 61-81. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/14623528.2016.1120464

Reyntjens, Filip (2018): Understanding Rwandan Politics through the longue durée: From the Precolonial to the Post-Genocide Era. *Journal of Eastern African Studies*, *12*(3), 514-532. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/17531 055.2018.1462985

Rhea, Harry M. (2015, Fall): US Foreign Policy and the International Penal Tribunal in the Genocide Convention: Article VI and beyond. *Genocide Studies International*, 9(2), 186-207. DOI: https://doi.org/10.3138/gsi.9.2.02

Richmond, Sean (2016): Why Is Humanitarian Intervention so Divisive? Revisiting the Debate over the 1999 Kosovo Intervention. *Journal on the Use of Force and International Law*, *3*(2), 234-259. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/20531702.2016.1184856 URL: https://ssrn.com/abstract=2799061

Ritter, Daniel P. (2018): Yugoslavia: From Social Movement to State Movement to Civil War. In: Donatella della Porta et al. (Eds.): *Social Movements and Civil War: When Protests for Democratization Fail.* (Routledge Studies on Civil War and Intrastate Conflict). Abingdon: Routledge, 136-163.

Roach, Steven C. (2016, November): South Sudan: A Volatile Dynamic of Accountability and Peace. *International Affairs*, 92(6), 1343-1359. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1111/1468-2346.12748

Ross, Amy (2016): The Ríos Montt Case and Universal Jurisdiction. *Journal of Genocide Research*, *18*(2-3), 361-376. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/14623528.2016.1186960

Rothbart, Daniel; Cooley, Jessica (2016): Hutus Aiding Tutsis during the Rwandan Genocide: Motives, Meanings, and Morals. *Genocide Studies and Prevention*, 10(2), 76-97. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5038/1911-9933.10.2.1398

Rothschild, Amanda J. (2016, February 28): ISIS and Genocide: How the United States Talks about Atrocities. *Foreign Affairs*. URL: https://www.foreignaffairs.com/articles/syria/2016-02-28/isis-and-genocide

Roy Grégoire, Etienne; Hamilton, Karen (2016): International Accompaniment, Reflexivity and the Intelligibility of Power in Post-Conflict Guatemala. *Journal of Genocide Research*, *18*(2-3), 189-205. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/14623528.2016.1186896

Rudolf, Peter (2016): Evidence-Informed Prevention of Civil Wars and Mass Atrocities. *The International Spectator*, *51*(2), 86-98. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/03932729.2016.1152749

Sahin, Selver B. (2015): Kosovo and Conflicting Sovereignty Claims. In: *International Intervention and State-Making: How Exception Became the Norm.* (Routledge Studies in Intervention and Statebuilding). Abingdon: Routledge, 61-86.

Sandvik, Kristin Bergtora; Raymond, Nathaniel A. (2017): Beyond the Protective Effect: Towards a Theory

ISSN 2334-3745 189 February 2019

of Harm for Information Communication Technologies in Mass Atrocity Response. *Genocide Studies and Prevention*, 11(1), 9-24. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5038/1911-9933.11.1.1454

Saucier, Gerard; Akers, Laura (2018): Democidal Thinking: Patterns in the Mindset behind Organized Mass Killing. *Genocide Studies and Prevention*, *12*(1), 80-97. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5038/1911-9933.12.1.1546

Schauwecker, Lacey M. (2018): "You Could See Rage": Visual Testimony in Post-Genocide Guatemala. *Genocide Studies and Prevention*, 12(2), 18-34. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5038/1911-9933.12.2.1529

Scheffer, David (2016, Spring): Reflections on Contemporary Responses to Atrocity Crimes. *Genocide Studies International*, 10(1), 105-114. DOI: https://doi.org/10.3138/gsi.10.1.10

Schiffbauer, Björn (2018): The Duty to Prevent Genocide under International Law: Naming and Shaming as a Measure of Prevention. *Genocide Studies and Prevention*, 12(3), 83-94. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5038/1911-9933.12.3.1569

Schmitt, Stefan; Mazoori, Dallas (2017): Jurisdiction, Privacy, and Ownership: DNA Technology and Field Dynamics in Conflict-Related Mass Fatalities. *Genocide Studies and Prevention*, 11(1), 55-81. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5038/1911-9933.11.1.1452

Schott, Robin May (2015, November): "What is the Sex Doing in the Genocide?" A Feminist Philosophical Response. *European Journal of Women's Studies*, 22(4), 397-411. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1177/1350506815605543

Sefa-Nyarko, Clement (2016): Civil War in South Sudan: Is it a Reflection of Historical Secessionist and Natural Resource Wars in "Greater Sudan"? *African Security*, *9*(3), 188-210. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/19392206.20 16.1208476

Segal, Raz (2018): The Modern State, the Question of Genocide, and Holocaust Scholarship. *Journal of Genocide Research*, 20(1), 108-133. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/14623528.2017.1412887

Serneels, Pieter; Verpoorten, Marijke (2015, June): The Impact of Armed Conflict on Economic Performance: Evidence from Rwanda. *Journal of Conflict Resolution*, *59*(4), 555-592. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1177/0022002713515409 URL: https://www.iza.org/en/publications/dp/6737/the-impact-of-armed-conflict-on-economic-performance-evidence-from-rwanda

Shepherd, Frederick M. (2016, Spring): State Strength, Non-State Actors, and the Guatemalan Genocide: Comparative Lessons. *Genocide Studies International*, 10(1), 65-83. DOI: https://doi.org/10.3138/gsi.10.1.06

Short, Martin B.; McCalla, Scott G.; D'Orsogna, Maria R. (2017, August): Modelling Radicalization: How Small Violent Fringe Sects Develop into Large Indoctrinated Societies. *Royal Society Open Science*, *4*, Article 170678. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1098/rsos.170678

Simangan, Dahlia (2018): Is the Philippine "War on Drugs" an Act of Genocide? *Journal of Genocide Research*, 20(1), 68-89. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/14623528.2017.1379939

Snow, James J. (2016): "Don't Think But Look:" Using Wittgenstein's Notion of Family Resemblances to Look at Genocide. *Genocide Studies and Prevention*, 9(3), 154-173. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5038/1911-9933.9.3.1308

Southwick, Katherine (2018): Straining to Prevent the Rohingya Genocide: A Sociology of Law Perspective. *Genocide Studies and Prevention*, *12*(3), 119-142. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5038/1911-9933.12.3.1572

Spiegel, Paul B.; Salama, Peter (2000, June): War and Mortality in Kosovo, 1998–99: An Epidemiological Testimony. *The Lancet*, 355, 2204-2209. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(00)02404-1

Spiga, Valentina (2016, September): The Response to Srebrenica from States not Directly Involved in the Atrocities. *Journal of International Criminal Justice*, 14(4), 845-855. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1093/jicj/mqw034

Spijkers, Otto (2016, September): Questions of Legal Responsibility for Srebrenica before the Dutch Courts.

Journal of International Criminal Justice, 14(4), 819-843. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1093/jicj/mqw043

Staub, Ervin (2016): The Origins and Inhibiting Influences in Genocide, Mass Killing and other Collective Violence. In: Marie Breen-Smyth (Ed.): *The Ashgate Research Companion to Political Violence*. Abingdon: Routledge, 205-224. (Original work published 2012)

Strauss, Ekkehard (2018): The UN Secretary-General's Human Rights Up Front Initiative and the Prevention of Genocide: Impact, Potential, Limitations. *Genocide Studies and Prevention*, 11(3), 48-59. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5038/1911-9933.11.3.1504

Strauss, Ekkehard (2019): Preventing Mass Atrocities at the Local Level: Using Village Committees for Conflict Prevention in Mauritania. In: Barbara Harff; Ted Robert Gurr (Eds.): *Preventing Mass Atrocities: Policies and Practices.* (Routledge Studies in Genocide and Crimes against Humanity). Abingdon: Routledge, Chapter 7.

Tax, Meredith (2016): Insurrection and Genocide. In: *A Road Unforeseen: Women Fight the Islamic State*. New York: Bellevue Literary Press, 79-104.

Temoney, Kate E. (2016): The 1994 Rwandan Genocide: The Religion/Genocide Nexus, Sexual Violence, and the Future of Genocide Studies. *Genocide Studies and Prevention*, *10*(3), 3-24. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5038/1911-9933.10.3.1351

Theriault, Henry C.; Cameron, Hazel (2016, Fall): Introduction: Non-State Aspects of Genocide. *Genocide Studies International*, 10(2), 115-120. DOI: https://doi.org/10.3138/gsi.10.2.01

Third, Amanda (2014): Abjecting Whiteness: "The Movement," Radical Feminism, and Genocide. In: *Gender and the Political: Deconstructing the Female Terrorist*. New York: Palgrave Macmillan / Springer Nature, 119-137. DOI [Book]: https://doi.org/10.1057/9781137402769

Thomson, Susan (2018): Engaged Silences as Political Agency in Post-Genocide Rwanda: Jeanne's Story. In: Jane L. Parpart; Swati Parashar (Eds.): *Rethinking Silence, Voice and Agency in Contested Gendered Terrains.* (Gender in a Global/Local World). Abingdon: Routledge, Chapter 8.

Timmermann, Wibke K. (2017, March): Inciting Speech in the Former Yugoslavia: The Šešelj Trial Chamber Judgment. *Journal of International Criminal Justice*, *15*(1), 133-155. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1093/jicj/mqw073

Totten, Samuel (2015, Fall): Humanitarian Missions to the Nuba Mountains, Sudan: Delivery of Food to Those in Critical Need. *Genocide Studies International*, 9(2), 248-268. DOI: https://doi.org/10.3138/gsi.9.2.05

Tranchez, Élodie (2018): Tyrannicide and International Law: Can they Possibly Coexist? *Journal of Genocide Research*, 20(2), 207-219. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/14623528.2018.1459159

Travis, Hannibal (2016, Fall): Why Was Benghazi "Saved," but Sinjar Allowed to Be Lost? New Failures of Genocide Prevention, 2007–2015. *Genocide Studies International*, 10(2), 139-182. DOI: https://doi.org/10.3138/gsi.10.2.03

Trenta, Luca (2016): "Why is this Happening and we are not Doing anything?" The Clinton Administration and the Risky Road to Srebrenica, 1992-1995. In: *Risk and Presidential Decision-Making: The Emergence of Foreign Policy Crises.* (Routledge Studies in US Foreign Policy). Abingdon: Routledge, 159-199.

Treverton, Gregory F.; Miles, Renanah (2017): Unheeded Warning of War: Why Policymakers Ignored the 1990 Yugoslavia Estimate. *Intelligence and National Security*, *32*(4), 506-522. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/026 84527.2016.1259814

Trouille, Helen L. (2016, March): France, Universal Jurisdiction and Rwandan génocidaires: The Simbikangwa Trial. *Journal of International Criminal Justice*, *14*(1), 195-217. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1093/jicj/mqv085

Tschantret, Joshua (2018, June): Cleansing the Caliphate: Insurgent Violence against Sexual Minorities. *International Studies Quarterly*, 62(2), 260-273. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1093/isq/sqx074

ISSN 2334-3745 191 February 2019

Tusan, Michelle (2015): Humanitarianism, Genocide and Liberalism. *Journal of Genocide Research*, *17*(1), 83-105. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/14623528.2015.991209

Uzonyi, Gary (2015): Civil War Victory and the Onset of Genocide and Politicide. *International Interactions*, 41(2), 365-391. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/03050629.2014.932786

Uzonyi, Gary (2018, July): Interstate Rivalry, Genocide, and Politicide. *Journal of Peace Research*, 55(4), 476-490. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1177/0022343317741186

Uzonyi, Gary (2018): Pro-Government International Military Intervention during Genocide and Politicide. *Dynamics of Asymmetric Conflict: Pathways toward terrorism and genocide*, *11*(3), 160-170. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/17467586.2018.1454971

Van Schaack, Beth (2018, March): The Iraq Investigative Team and Prospects for Justice for the Yazidi Genocide. *Journal of International Criminal Justice*, *16*(1), 113-139. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1093/jicj/mqy002

Vanthuyne, Karine; Falla, Ricardo (2016): Surviving in the Margins of a Genocide Case in the Making: Recognizing the Economy of Testimony at Stake in Research on Political Violence. *Journal of Genocide Research*, 18(2-3), 207-224. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/14623528.2016.1186946

Vela Castañeda, Manolo E. (2016): Perpetrators: Specialization, Willingness, Group Pressure and Incentives: Lessons from the Guatemalan Acts of Genocide. *Journal of Genocide Research*, 18(2-3), 225-244. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/14623528.2016.1186948

Verdeja, Ernesto (2016): Predicting Genocide and Mass Atrocities. *Genocide Studies and Prevention*, 9(3), 13-32. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5038/1911-9933.9.3.1314

Vierucci, Luisa; Frulli, Micaela (2016, September): Antonio Cassese and Srebrenica. *Journal of International Criminal Justice*, *14*(4), 909-913. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1093/jicj/mqw038

Vilmer, Jean-Baptiste Jeangène (2016, November): The African Union and the International Criminal Court: Counteracting the Crisis. *International Affairs*, 92(6), 1319-1342. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1111/1468-2346.12747

Volcic, Zala; Erjavec, Karmen (2015, June): Transnational Celebrity Activism in Bosnia and Herzegovina: Local Responses to Angelina Jolie's Film In the Land of Blood and Honey. *European Journal of Cultural Studies*, 18(3), 356-375. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1177/1367549414526728 URL: https://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.833.4429&rep=rep1&type=pdf

Vollhardt, Johanna Ray; Bilali, Rezarta (2015, October): The Role of Inclusive and Exclusive Victim Consciousness in Predicting Intergroup Attitudes: Findings from Rwanda, Burundi, and DRC. *Political Psychology*, *36*(5), 489-506. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1111/pops.12174

Vrana, Heather A. (2016): "Our Ongoing Fight for Justice": The Pasts and Futures of genocidio and justicia in Guatemala. *Journal of Genocide Research*, 18(2-3), 245-263. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/14623528.2016.118 6949

Vukasovich, Christian; Dejanovic-Vukasovich, Tamara (2016, December): "Humanitarian Intervention", a Predictable Narrative? A Comparative Analysis of Media Narratives from Serbia to Syria. *Global Media and Communication*, 12(3), 311-331. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1177/1742766516653163

Vukušić, Iva (2018): Nineteen Minutes of Horror: Insights from the Scorpions Execution Video. *Genocide Studies and Prevention*, 12(2), 35-53. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5038/1911-9933.12.2.1527

Waites, Matthew (2018): Genocide and Global Queer Politics. *Journal of Genocide Research*, 20(1), 44-67. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/14623528.2017.1358920

Weidmann, Nils B. (2011, October): Violence "from above" or "from below"? The Role of Ethnicity in Bosnia's

Civil War. *The Journal of Politics*, 73(4), 1178-1190. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1017/S0022381611000831

Weidmann, Nils B. (2016, November): Micro-Cleavages and Violence in Civil Wars: A Computational Assessment. *Conflict Management and Peace Science*, *33*(5), 539-558. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1177/0738894215570433 URL: https://kops.uni-konstanz.de/bitstream/handle/123456789/31246/Weidmann_0-294689.pdf

Weidmann, Nils B.; Salehyan, Idean (2013, March): Violence and Ethnic Segregation: A Computational Model Applied to Baghdad. *International Studies Quarterly*, *57*(1), 52-64. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1111/isqu.12059

Whigham, Kerry E. (2017): Remembering to Prevent: The Preventive Capacity of Public Memory. *Genocide Studies and Prevention*, 11(2), 53-71. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5038/1911-9933.11.2.1447

Whiteside, Craig (2015): A Case for Terrorism as Genocide in an Era of Weakened States. *Dynamics of Asymmetric Conflict: Pathways toward terrorism and genocide*, 8(3), 232-250. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/17467586.2015.1104418

Wiitala, Josh (2016, January): Culture and Coercion: Revisiting the Kosovo War. *Small Wars Journal*, 1/2016. URL: http://smallwarsjournal.com/jrnl/art/culture-and-coercion-revisiting-the-kosovo-war

Willard, Emily (2018): New Documents Shed Light: Why did Peacekeepers Withdraw during Rwanda's 1994 Genocide? *Genocide Studies and Prevention*, *12*(3), 143-162. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5038/1911-9933.12.3.1611

Williams, Brian Glyn (2015): Genocide. In: *Inferno in Chechnya: The Russian-Chechen Wars, the Al Qaeda Myth, and the Boston Marathon Bombings.* Lebanon: ForeEdge, 35-75.

Williams, Timothy (2016): More Lessons Learned from the Holocaust—Towards a Complexity-Embracing Approach to why Genocide Occurs. *Genocide Studies and Prevention*, 9(3), 137-153. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5038/1911-9933.9.3.1306

Williams, Timothy; Pfeiffer, Dominik (2017): Unpacking the Mind of Evil: A Sociological Perspective on the Role of Intent and Motivations in Genocide. *Genocide Studies and Prevention*, 11(2), 72-87. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5038/1911-9933.11.2.1485

Williamson, Caroline (2016): Genocide, Masculinity and Posttraumatic Growth in Rwanda: Reconstructing Male Identity through ndi umunyarwanda. *Journal of Genocide Research*, *18*(1), 41-59. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/14623528.2016.1120463

Xu, Cheng (2018, Spring): Draining the Sea: Counterinsurgency as an Instrument of Genocide. *Genocide Studies International*, 12(1), 6-25. DOI: https://doi.org/10.3138/gsi.12.1.02

Yanagizawa-Drott, David (2014, November): Propaganda and Conflict: Evidence from the Rwandan Genocide. *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, *129*(4), 1947-1994. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1093/qje/qju020 URL: <a href="h

Zaidi, Abbas (2016): The Shias of Pakistan: Mapping an Altruistic Genocide. In: Jawad Syed et al. (Eds.): *Faith-Based Violence and Deobandi Militancy in Pakistan*. London: Palgrave Macmillan / Springer Nature, 273-311. DOI [Book]: https://doi.org/10.1057/978-1-349-94966-3

Zanotti, Laura (2019): Relying on Abstractions, Relinquishing Responsibility: Rwanda, Srebrenica, Haiti, Syria and other Disasters. In: *Ontological Entanglements, Agency and Ethics in International Relations: Exploring the Crossroads.* (Interventions). Abingdon: Routledge, 123-133.

Zylberman, Lior; Sánchez-Biosca, Vicente (2018): Reflections on the Significance of Images in Genocide Studies: Some Methodological Considerations. *Genocide Studies and Prevention*, 12(2), 1-17. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5038/1911-9933.12.2.1620

ISSN 2334-3745 193 February 2019

Grey Literature

Akresh, Richard; de Walque, Damien (2008, May): *Armed Conflict and Schooling: Evidence from the 1994 Rwandan Genocide.* (IZA Discussion Paper Series, No. 3516). URL: https://www.iza.org/en/publications/dp/3516/armed-conflict-and-schooling-evidence-from-the-1994-rwandan-genocide

Albert, Eleanor (2018, April): *The Rohingya Crisis*. (CFR Backgrounder). URL: https://www.cfr.org/backgrounder/rohingya-crisis

Almquist Knopf, Kate (2016, November): *Ending South Sudan's Civil War.* (CFR Special Report No. 77). URL: https://www.cfr.org/report/ending-south-sudans-civil-war

Altanian, Melanie (2017, January): *Archives against Genocide Denialism*? (swisspeace Working Paper). URL: http://www.swisspeace.ch/fileadmin/user_upload/Media/Publications/SP_Working-Paper_1701-WEB.pdf

Amnesty International (2014): Ethnic Cleansing on a Historic Scale: Islamic State's Systematic Targeting of Minorities in Northern Iraq. (Report MDE 14/011/2014). URL: https://www.amnesty.org/en/documents/MDE14/011/2014/en

Carapic, Jovana; Chaudhuri, Prasenjit; Gobinet, Pierre (2016): Sustainable Stockpile Management in Bosnia and Herzegovina: The Role of EUFOR Mobile Training Team for Weapons and Ammunition Management. (Small Arms Survey Working Paper 24). URL: http://www.smallarmssurvey.org/fileadmin/docs/F-Working-papers/SAS-WP24-BiH-Stockpile-Management.pdf

Carbajal, Kelsea et al. (2017, October): *Report on the Yazidi Genocide: Mapping Atrocity in Iraq and Syria.* (SAP Report). URL: http://syrianaccountabilityproject.syr.edu/wp-content/uploads/Report-on-the-Yazidi-Genocide-SAP-2.pdf

Ciani, Federico; Giannelli, Gianna Claudia (2013, July): *Surviving the Genocide: The Impact of the Rwandan Genocide on Child Mortality.* (IZA Discussion Paper Series, No. 7539). URL: https://www.iza.org/en/publications/dp/7539/surviving-the-genocide-the-impact-of-the-rwandan-genocide-on-child-mortality

Cinq-Mars, Evan (2015, September): *Too Little, too Late: Failing to Prevent Atrocities in the Central African Republic.* (Global Centre for the Responsibility to Protect, Occasional Paper Series, No. 7). URL: http://www.globalr2p.org/publications/389

Green, Shannon N. (2016, July): *Tools and Strategies to Prevent Mass Atrocities Committed by Violent Extremist Organizations*. (CSIS Report). URL: https://www.csis.org/analysis/tools-and-strategies-prevent-mass-atrocities-committed-violent-extremist-organizations

Haider, Huma (2016, August): *Transitional Justice*. (GSDRC Topic Guide). URL: http://gsdrc.org/topic-guides/transitional-justice

Halakhe, Abdullahi Boru (2013, December): "R2P in Practice": Ethnic Violence, Elections and Atrocity Prevention in Kenya. (Global Centre for the Responsibility to Protect, Occasional Paper Series, No. 4). URL: http://www.globalr2p.org/publications/274

Hope, Ian (2017, November): *The Western Balkans and the Revenge of History.* (NATO Research Paper No. 142). URL: http://www.ndc.nato.int/download/downloads.php?icode=534

Human Rights Watch (HRW) (2018, May): "Looking for Justice": The Special Criminal Court, a New Opportunity for Victims in the Central African Republic. (Report). URL: https://www.hrw.org/report/2018/05/17/looking-justice/special-criminal-court-new-opportunity-victims-central-african

Independent International Commission of Inquiry on the Syrian Arab Republic (2016, June): "They Came to Destroy": ISIS Crimes against the Yazidis. (Report A/HRC/32/CRP.2). URL: https://www.ohchr.org/Documents/HRBodies/HRCouncil/CoISyria/A HRC 32 CRP.2 en.pdf

International Alert (2016, December): Reconciliation and Reintegration in Rwanda: Twenty-Two Years on: What have we Learned from Rwanda's Experience? (Peace Focus). URL: https://www.international-alert.org/publications/reconciliation-and-reintegration-rwanda

International Crisis Group (ICG) (2015, April): *Elections in Burundi: Moment of Truth.* (Africa Report N°224). URL: https://www.crisisgroup.org/africa/central-africa/burundi/elections-burundi-moment-truth

International Crisis Group (ICG) (2015, April): *The Chaos in Darfur.* (Africa Briefing N°110). URL: https://www.crisisgroup.org/africa/horn-africa/sudan/chaos-darfur

International Crisis Group (ICG) (2015, September): *Central African Republic: The Roots of Violence*. (Africa Report N°230). URL: https://www.crisisgroup.org/africa/central-african-republic/central-african-republic-roots-violence

International Crisis Group (ICG) (2016, May): *Burundi: A Dangerous Third Term.* (Africa Report N°235). URL: https://www.crisisgroup.org/africa/central-africa/burundi/burundi-dangerous-third-term

International Crisis Group (ICG) (2017, September): *Avoiding the Worst in Central African Republic*. (Africa Report N°253). URL: https://www.crisisgroup.org/africa/central-african-republic/253-avoiding-worst-central-african-republic

Kikoler, Naomi (2015): "Our Generation Is Gone": The Islamic State's Targeting of Iraqi Minorities in Ninewa. (Simon-Skjodt Center for the Prevention of Genocide; Bearing Witness Trip Report). URL: https://www.ushmm.org/m/pdfs/Iraq-Bearing-Witness-Report-111215.pdf

Knopf, Payton (2018, September): *South Sudan's Civil War and Conflict Dynamics in the Red Sea.* (USIP Special Report 431). URL: https://www.usip.org/publications/2018/09/south-sudans-civil-war-and-conflict-dynamics-red-sea

Krüger, Jule; Ball, Patrick (2014, December): *Evaluation of the Database of the Kosovo Memory Book.* (HRDAG Report). URL: https://hrdag.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/04/Evaluation of the Database KMB-2014.pdf

Maisel, Sebastian (2008, August): *Social Change Amidst Terror and Discrimination*: *Yezidis in the New Iraq*. (MEI Policy Brief No. 18). URL: http://www.mei.edu/content/social-change-amidst-terror-and-discrimination-yezidis-new-iraq

Maru, Mehari Taddele (2017, September): *Rwanda and President Kagame*. (Aljazeera Centre for Studies Report). URL: http://studies.aljazeera.net/mritems/Documents/2017/9/9/78364c93ca824460b1b8939018749ce6 100. http://studies.aljazeera.net/mritems/Documents/2017/9/9/78364c93ca824460b1b8939018749ce6 100. http://studies.aljazeera.net/mritems/Documents/2017/9/9/78364c93ca824460b1b8939018749ce6 100.

Meijer, Cécelle; Verwimp, Philip (2005, October): *The Use and Perception of Weapons before and after Conflict: Evidence from Rwanda.* (Small Arms Survey Working Paper 2). URL: http://www.smallarmssurvey.org/fileadmin/docs/F-Working-papers/SAS-WP2-Rwanda.pdf

Mthembu-Salter, Gregory; Berger, Elana; Kikoler, Naomi (2011, September): *Prioritizing Protection from Mass Atrocities: Lessons from Burundi.* (Global Centre for the Responsibility to Protect, Occasional Paper Series, No. 2). URL: http://www.globalr2p.org/publications/121

Murray, Elizabeth; Mangan, Fiona (2017, May): *The 2015–2016 CAR Elections, A Look Back: Peaceful Process Belies Serious Risks.* (USIP Special Report 403). URL: https://www.usip.org/publications/2017/05/2015-2016-central-african-republic-elections-look-back

Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights (OHCHR) (2015, March): Report of the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights on the Human Rights Situation in Iraq in the Light of Abuses Committed by the So-Called Islamic State in Iraq and the Levant and Associated Groups. (A/HRC/28/18). URL: http://www.ohchr.org/EN/HRBodies/HRC/RegularSessions/Session28/Documents/AHRC 28 18 AUV.doc

Rudolf, Peter (2015, September): Bürgerkriege und Massenverbrechen verhindern – aber wie? Erträge der Forschung. (SWP Study 2015/S 16). URL: https://www.swp-berlin.org/publikation/wie-buergerkriege-und-massenverbrechen-verhindern

Siddiqui, Usaid (2017, October): *The Rohingya: The Latest Massacre in a Violence-Filled History.* (Aljazeera Centre for Studies Report). URL: http://studies.aljazeera.net/en/reports/2017/10/rohingya-latest-massacre-violence-filled-history-171001105229956.html

Skjelsbæk, Inger; Sveaass, Nora; Kvaale, Rikke Marie Gjerde (2015): *Therapeutic Prosecutions? Assessing the Therapeutic Potential of Criminal Prosecution of International Crimes at the International Criminal Court (ICC).* (PRIO Policy Brief 4). URL: https://www.prio.org/Publications/Publication/?x=8662

Spagat, Michael (2014, December): *A Triumph of Remembering: Kosovo Memory Book.* (HRDAG Report). URL: http://www.kosovskaknjigapamcenja.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/02/Michael-Spagat Evaluation-of-the-Database KMB December 10 2014.pdf

Stel, Nora; Naudé, Wim (2016, February): *Business in Genocide: Understanding and Avoiding Complicity.* (IZA Discussion Paper Series, No. 9743). URL: https://www.iza.org/en/publications/dp/9743/business-in-genocide-understanding-and-avoiding-complicity

Streitfeld-Hall, Jaclyn D. (2015, September): *Preventing Mass Atrocities in West Africa*. (Global Centre for the Responsibility to Protect, Occasional Paper Series, No. 6). URL: http://www.globalr2p.org/publications/387

Traub, James (2010, September): *Unwilling and Unable: The Failed Response to the Atrocities in Darfur.* (Global Centre for the Responsibility to Protect, Occasional Paper Series, No. 1). URL: http://www.globalr2p.org/publications/49

United Nations Assistance Mission for Iraq (UNAMI); Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights (OHCHR) (2016, August): *A Call for Accountability and Protection: Yezidi Survivors of Atrocities Committed by ISIL.* (Report). URL: https://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Countries/IQ/UNAMIReport12Aug2016 en.pdf

Våge, Anders Skeibrok (2014): *Violence against Civilians – Case-Studies of Perpetrators*. (FFI-rapport 2014/00520). URL: https://www.ffi.no/no/Rapporter/14-00520.pdf

Waxman, Matthew C. (2009, October): *Intervention to Stop Genocide and Mass Atrocities*. (CFR Special Report No. 49). URL: https://www.cfr.org/report/intervention-stop-genocide-and-mass-atrocities

Williams, Paul D. (2015, May): *Enhancing U.S. Support for Peace Operations in Africa*. (CFR Special Report No. 73). URL: https://www.cfr.org/report/enhancing-us-support-peace-operations-africa

Note

Whenever retrievable, URLs for freely available versions of subscription-based publications have been provided. Thanks to the Open Access movement, self-archiving of publications in institutional repositories or on author homepages for free public use (so-called Green Open Access) has become more common. Please note, that the content of Green Open Access documents is not necessarily identical to the officially published versions (e.g., in case of pre-prints); it might therefore not have passed through all editorial stages publishers employ to ensure quality control (peer review, copy and layout editing etc.). In some cases, articles may only be cited after getting consent by the author(s).

About the Compiler: Judith Tinnes, Ph.D., is a Professional Information Specialist. Since 2011, she works for the Leibniz Institute for Psychology Information (<u>ZPID</u>). Additionally, she serves as Information Resources Editor to 'Perspectives on Terrorism'. In her editorial role, she regularly compiles bibliographies and other resources for research on terrorism and related subjects. She wrote her <u>doctoral thesis</u> on Internet usage of Islamist terrorists and insurgents (focus: media-oriented hostage takings). E-mail: j.tinnes@gmx.de

475 Academic Theses (Ph.D. and MA) on Countering Violent Extremism (CVE), Preventing Violent Extremism (PVE) and Terrorism Prevention

(written in Dutch, English, French, German, Italian, Norwegian, and Spanish)

Compiled and selected by Ryan Scrivens

Abstract

This bibliography contains doctoral dissertations (Ph.D.) and Master (MA) Theses on issues relating to countering violent extremism, preventing violent extremism, and terrorism prevention. Titles were retrieved manually by browsing the Open Access Theses and Dissertations (OATD) database, using the broad search term 'terrorism', 'terrorisme', 'terrorismo', and 'Terrorismus', as well as the narrow search term 'countering violent extremism', 'preventing violent extremism', and 'counterterrorism'. More than 8,900 entries were evaluated, of which 475 were ultimately selected for this list. All theses are open source. However, readers should observe possible copyright restrictions. The title entries are 'clickable', allowing access to full texts.

Keywords: bibliography, theses, terrorism, extremism, prevention, countering violent extremism

Bibliographic entries are divided into two thematic sections:

- 1. Programs, Strategies, Tactics, and Operations
- 2. Policy, Legislation, Law, and Prosecution

1. Programs, Strategies, Tactics, and Operations

Abarca, Carlos A. *Perpetuating Paranoia: Citizenship, Civil Liberties and Counter-Terrorism*. MA Thesis (English), January 2015, Ryerson University. URL: http://digital.library.ryerson.ca/islandora/object/RU-LA%3A4135

Ahmed, Zareen Roohi. *The Role of Muslim Women in Britain in Relation to the British Government's Prevent Strategy*. Ph.D. Thesis (English), 2015, University of Aberdeen. URL: https://ethos.bl.uk/OrderDetails.do;jsessionid=492A71469BECD569CF2AF62CB02E7752?uin=uk.bl.ethos.675590

Al kaabi, Juma. *La gestion de la menace terroriste*. *Le système français de prévention et de répression*. Ph.D. Thesis (French), 2017, Université Jean Moulin Lyon 3. URL: https://scd-resnum.univ-lyon3.fr/out/the-ses/2017 out alkaabi j.pdf

Al-Rawashdeh, Khaldon Haya. *The PAK-U.S. Alliance in the Fight Against Terrorism: A Cost-Benefit Analysis*. MA Thesis (English), December 2011, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/han-dle/10945/10631

Alexander, Deanna Wimmer. *How Could This Happen? A Constructivist Analysis of Reactive State Terrorism at Ruby Ridge*. Ph.D. Thesis (English), January 25, 2001, Virginia Tech. URL: http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/view-doc/download?doi=10.1.1.579.6699&rep=rep1&type=pdf

Alftimat, Abdalkhalq Ma'ruf. *An Assessment of the Global War on Terrorism*, 2001-2010. MA Thesis (English), December 2010, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/handle/10945/5030

Ali, Nathanael Tilahun. *Dynamism and the Erosion of Procedural Safeguards in International Governance of Terrorism*. Ph.D. Thesis (English), September 2015, Erasmus University Rotterdam. URL: https://repub.eur.nl/pub/78606

AlMaawi, Mohammad. *Counter-Terrorism in Saudi Arabia: Narratives, Practices and Challenges*. Ph.D. Thesis (English), February 2016, University of Kent. URL: https://kar.kent.ac.uk/54562/

Almzmomi, Aabed Hameed M. *Strategies to Secure Sea Ports Against Terrorism*, *Illegal Trading and Illegal Migration*. Ph.D. Thesis (English), 2012, Newcastle University. URL: https://theses.ncl.ac.uk/dspace/han-dle/10443/1370

Alshammari, Mansour Salim H. *Takfīr and Terrorism: Historical Roots, Contemporary Challenges and Dynamic Solutions, with Special Reference to al-Qaida and the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia.* Ph.D. Thesis (English), April 2013, University of Leeds. URL: http://etheses.whiterose.ac.uk/5340/

Ameche, Michael. *Understanding the Global Special Operations Network's Value to Counterterrorism: A Balanced Scorecard Approach*. MA Thesis (English), December 2013, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/handle/10945/38871

Arca, Henón, Santiago. *Styles of International Mediation in Peace Processes Between States and Terrorist Organizations*. MA Thesis (English), June 2016, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/handle/10945/49432

Ashour, Omar. *A World Without Jihad? The Causes of De-Radicalization of Armed Islamist Movements*. Ph.D. Thesis (English), May 2008, McGill University. URL: http://digitool.library.mcgill.ca/R/?func=d-bin-jump-full&object_id=29750&local_base=GEN01-MCG02

Atangana, Elysée Martin. *Le Bassin du Lac Tchad face aux nouvelles formes de menace: la difficile dynamique de réponse régionale dans la lutte contre le groupe terroriste islamiste Boko Haram.* MA Thesis (French), April 2017, Université de Montréal. URL: https://papyrus.bib.umontreal.ca/xmlui/handle/1866/19262

Bailey, Nathaniel A. *NATO and the War on Terrorism: Objectives and Obstacles*. MA Thesis (English), March 2004, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/handle/10945/1706

Banez, Justin D. *The Internet and Homegrown Jihadist Terrorism. Assessing U.S. Detection Techniques*. MA Thesis (English), December 2010, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/han-dle/10945/5027

Barba, Paulo E. Santa. *Breaking Terrorists' Will to Fight*. MA Thesis (English), June 2014, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/handle/10945/42721

Bell, Roy Milton. *Governmental Responses to Nuclear Terror*. MA Thesis (English), 1980, California State University – Northridge. URL:

http://scholarworks.csun.edu/handle/10211.3/125603

Bellino, Vincenzo. *Ex occulto carpere agmen: la guerriglia antiromana in Britannia e in Giudea*. Ph.D. Thesis (Italian), 2012, Università di Bologna. URL: http://amsdottorato.unibo.it/5045/1/Bellino-Vincenzo tesi.pdf

Bellon, Timothy E. *Military Responses to State-Sponsored Terrorism: Re-Thinking Deterrence and Coercion Theory.* MA Thesis (English), December 1999, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/handle/10945/13407

Ben-Itzhak, Svetla. *Foreign Aid and Terrorism: When is Aid Effective in Reducing Terror*? Ph.D. Thesis (English), August 2015, University of Kansas. URL: https://kuscholarworks.ku.edu/handle/1808/21592

Bennett, Jr., John A. Combating Terrorism with Local Policing Through Crime Reduction: Using Real-Time, Situational Awareness within a Distributed Common Operating Picture to Combat all Crime and Terrorism. MA

Thesis (English), March 2013, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/handle/10945/32793

Besana, Matteo. *Targeting Westphalian Sovereignty: The Use of Armed Drones in Non-Conflict Areas*. MA Thesis (English), 2017, Universiteit Leiden. URL: https://openaccess.leidenuniv.nl/handle/1887/51475

Bin Madhian, Majed M. *Saudi Arabia's Counterterrorism Methods: A Case Study on Homeland Security*. MA Thesis (English), June 2017, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/handle/10945/55569

Block, Molly Mae. *Applying Situational Crime Prevention to Terrorism Against Airports and Aircrafts*. Ph.D. Thesis (English), June 2016, University of Louisville. URL: http://ir.library.louisville.edu/etd/2479

Bolstad, Jeffrey S. Enhancing the NFL's Counter-Terrorism Efforts: Is the League's Security Scheme Able to Effectively Thwart Terrorist Attacks? MA Thesis (English), September 2016, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/handle/10945/50493

Born, Phillip Glenn. *Lessons on Policing Terrorism: Studying Police Effectiveness in Italy and Germany*. MA Thesis (English), December 2011, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/han-dle/10945/10745

Boutton, Andrew Thomas. *Purchasing Counterterrorism: Three Essays on Foreign Aid and Terrorism*. Ph.D. Thesis (English), December 2014, Penn State University. URL: https://etda.libraries.psu.edu/catalog/23271

Bowley, Robin. *Countering Terrorism in the Maritime Domain: A Contemporary Evaluation of the International Legal Framework*. Ph.D. Thesis (English), October 2013, University of Wollongong, *URL:* http://ro.uow.edu.au/theses/4262

Brooks, Andy Bellamy. *Policing and the Likelihood of Terrorism: A Community Structural Approach to an Uncertain Relationship*. MA Thesis (English), May 2015, University of Arkansas. URL: http://scholarworks.uark.edu/etd/1096

Broughton, Hubert Lee. *Combating Terrorism: A Guide for U.S. Naval Forces Afloat*. MA Thesis (English), December 1985, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/handle/10945/21195

Brown, Christopher J. Countering Radicalization: Refocusing Responses to Violent Extremism within the United States. MA Thesis (English), December 2011, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/han-dle/10945/10746

Brownlow, Walter Edward. *Shaping the Spread of Ideas: The Mechanics of Radicalization, Construction of Strategic Narratives, and Intrinsicness of Strategic Communication to Counter Radicalization Strategies.* MA Thesis (English), 2013, University of North Carolina – Chapel Hill. URL: https://cdr.lib.unc.edu/record/uuid:630e1bb3-9e6e-4d06-87b9-ec3cc6f3ee21

Brush, Roy B. *Silent Warning: Understanding the National Terrorism Advisory System.* MA Thesis (English), December 2014, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/handle/10945/44527

Bryett, Keith. *The Effects of Political Terrorism on the Police in Great Britain and Northern Ireland Since 1969*. Ph.D. Thesis (English), 1987, University of Aberdeen. URL: https://ethos.bl.uk/OrderDetails.do;jsessionid=B-2FECD4BC96E4B86E7EF398A0388459C?uin=uk.bl.ethos.233053

Burke, Paul. Fit to Fight or Unfit for the Purpose? A Review of the Effectiveness of the Intelligence Cycle in UK Counter-Terrorism, 2003-2013. Ph.D. Thesis (English), 2014, London Metropolitan University. URL: http://repository.londonmet.ac.uk/1018

Burket, Nermina Bihorac. *Nation Building After 9/11: Nation Building as an Anti-Terrorism Tool Under the Military's Leadership and Building the Afghan State.* MA Thesis (English), May 2014, Johns Hopkins University. URL: https://jscholarship.library.jhu.edu/handle/1774.2/37247

Butler, Brett M. Precipitating the Decline of al-Shabaab: A Case Study in Leadership Decapitation. MA Thesis

(English), December 2015, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/handle/10945/47912

Callander, Briony Elspeth. *The Expansion of Counter-Terrorism in the EU Post-9/11: The Development of EU Aviation Security*. Ph.D. Thesis (English), December 2015, University of Dundee. URL: http://discovery.dundee.ac.uk/portal/en/theses/the-expansion-of-counterterrorism-in-the-eu-post911(185c707e-8179-4b25-ac8a-f9d469cf47f0).html

Canonico, Peter J. *An Alternate Military Strategy for the War on Terrorism*. MA Thesis (English), December 2004, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/handle/10945/1289

Carabin, David. *An Intelligence-Sharing Continuum: Next Generation Requirements for U.S. Counterterrorism Efforts.* MA Thesis (English), September 2011, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/handle/10945/5507

Cetin, Hakan. *The Effectiveness of the Witness Security Program in the Fight Against Organized Crime and Ter- rorism: A Case Study of the United States and Turkey.* Ph.D. Thesis (English), May 2010, Rutgers University. URL: https://rucore.libraries.rutgers.edu/rutgers-lib/27163/

Chaerudin, Asep. Countering Transnational Terrorism in Southeast Asia with Respect to Terrorism in Indonesia and the Philippines. MA Thesis (English), December 2003, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/handle/10945/6226

Chang, FuWei. *The Study of Counterterrorism Mechanisms in Taiwan*. MA Thesis (English), December 2013, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/handle/10945/38897

Clees, Michael R. Combating Paramilitary Terrorism on the Homefront: An Examination of Capabilities and Limitations of U.S. Response Forces. MA Thesis (English), December 2015, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/handle/10945/47923

Clinch, Amy. A Community Psychology Approach to Preventing Violent Extremism. Gaining the Views of Young People to Inform Primary Prevention in Secondary Schools. Ph.D. Thesis (English), June 2011, University of Birmingham. URL: http://etheses.bham.ac.uk/3197/

Coultas, Bryan T. *Crowdsourcing Intelligence to Combat Terrorism: Harnessing Bottom-Up Collection to Prevent Lone-Wolf Terror Attacks.* MA Thesis (English), March 2015, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/handle/10945/45174

Cruz, Victor F. *Utilizing Current Commercial-off-the-Shelf Facial-Recognition and Public Live Video Streaming to Enhance National Security*. MA Thesis (English), September 2014, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/handle/10945/43898

Culpepper, Anna M. *Effectiveness of Using Red-Teams to Identify Maritime Security Vulnerabilities to Terrorist Attack*. MA Thesis (English), September 2004, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/handle/10945/1446

Dao, Elisee Jean. *Learning from U.S. Counterterrorism Experience in the Sahel: A Springboard for the Sahel G5 Organization*. MA Thesis (English), September 2018, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/handle/10945/60389

Davis, Thomas J. *Now is the Time for CVE-2: Updating and Implementing a Revised U.S. National Strategy to Counter Violent Extremism.* MA Thesis (English), September 2014, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/handle/10945/43901

De Cockborne, Diane. *La guerre préventive dans la théorie de la guerre juste*. MA Thesis (French), May 2011, Université du Québec à Montréal. URL: http://www.archipel.uqam.ca/4035/1/M12067.pdf

Decker, Eileen M. *The Enemies List: The Foreign Terrorist Organization List and its Role in Defining Terrorism.* MA Thesis (English), March 2014, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/han-

ISSN 2334-3745 200 February 2019

dle/10945/41367

Demirhan, Cihan. *Managing Effective Collaboration among Law Enforcement, Intelligence Services, and Military Forces in Fight Against Terrorism and Organized Crime*. Ph.D. Thesis (English), Fall 2014, University of Central Florida. URL: http://stars.library.ucf.edu/etd/4813

DePoyster, Jonathan. *Al-Qaeda and the American Counterterrorism Community: Shifting Practices*, 1991-2013. MA Thesis (English), 2013, McGill University. URL: http://digitool.library.mcgill.ca/R/?func=d-bin-jump-full&object_id=119747&local_base=GEN01-MCG02

Deutcher, Eric M. *Homeland Security and Terrorism in Selected European States*. MA Thesis (English), March 2009, University of Denver. URL: https://pqdtopen.proquest.com/doc/288205368.html?FMT=AI&pubnum=1462094

Dimmendaal, Marlou. *U.S. Counterterrorism in a Collapsing State*: On Yemen, One of the Battlefields in the War on Terror During the G. W. Bush and Obama Administrations. MA Thesis (English), 2018, Universiteit Leiden. URL: https://openaccess.leidenuniv.nl/handle/1887/57776

Dongen, Teun Walter van. *The Science of Fighting Terrorism: The Relation Between Terrorist Actor Type and Counterterrorism Effectiveness.* Ph.D. Thesis (English), September 2014, Universiteit Leiden. URL: https://openaccess.leidenuniv.nl/handle/1887/29742

Dooley, Daniel A. Stemming the Growth: Exploring the Risk Factors in Group Membership in Domestic Street Gangs and Foreign Terrorist Organizations. MA Thesis (English), September 2015, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/handle/10945/47251

Dortbudak, Mehmet Fevzi. *The Intelligence Requirement of Psychological Operations in Counterterrorism*. MA Thesis (English), December 2008, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/han-dle/10945/3856

Drabot, Andrea Lynne. *Transatlanic Intelligence Sharing and the Fight Against Terrorism*. MA Thesis (English), 2013, University of North Carolina. URL: https://cdr.lib.unc.edu/record/uuid:ffeab2ba-1c9b-4755-ae93-46532c3d2d70

Ducheine, Paul. *Krijgsmacht, geweldgebruik & terreurbestrijding: een onderzoek naar juridische aspecten van de rol van strijdkrachten bij de bestrijding van terrorisme.* Ph.D. Thesis (Dutch), March 2008, Universiteit van Amsterdam. URL: http://hdl.handle.net/11245/1.302235

Duhart, Philippe Eugène. *Between Ballots and Bullets: Armed Struggle and Peacemaking in Northern Ireland and the Basque Country*. Ph.D. Thesis (English), 2017, University of California – Los Angeles. URL: http://escholarship.org/uc/item/4k77w1jm#page-1

Dur-e-Aden, Aden. *To Drone or not to Drone: A Comparative Analysis of the Effectiveness of the US's Drone Policy of Targeted Killing in the Contexts of Pakistan and Yemen*. MA Thesis (English), November 2014, University of British Columbia. URL: https://open.library.ubc.ca/cIRcle/collections/ubctheses/24/items/1.0167052

Egudo, Margaret Mary. *The al-Qaeda Transnational Jihadist Movement in Historical Context: Understanding and Countering Religious and Secular Forms of Terrorism*. Ph.D. Thesis (English), November 2016, University of Adelaide South Australia. URL: https://digital.library.adelaide.edu.au/dspace/handle/2440/103693

Elshimi, Mohammed. *The Concept and Practice of De-Radicalisation in the PREVENT Strand of the UK Counter-Terrorism Strategy: What is De-Radicalisation?* Ph.D. Thesis (English), November 2015, University of Exeter. URL: https://ore.exeter.ac.uk/repository/handle/10871/22105

Erbay, Tayfun. *The Role of the Military in Counterterrorism: Unintended Consequences.* MA Thesis (English), December 2012, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/handle/10945/27825

Eren, Yunus. *The Impact of Land Border Security on Terrorism Financing: Turkey's Southeast Land Border and the PKK*. MA Thesis (English), December 2013, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/handle/10945/38924

Ernst, Emily Marie. *Utilizing Countering Violent Extremism (CVE) in a Comprehensive Counterinsurgency Strategy Against the Tehreek-i-Taliban Pakistan*. MA Thesis (English), May 2016, University of Texas – Austin. URL: https://repositories.lib.utexas.edu/handle/2152/32207

Favero, Gerald T. Flexibility of the Incident Command System to Respond to Domestic Terrorism. MA Thesis (English), December 1999, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/handle/10945/13428

Fears, Karla P. *The FBI and Domestic Counterterrorism: A Comparative Analysis*. MA Thesis (English), December 1995, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/handle/10945/31309

Fisher, Daren Geoffrey. *The Impact of Natural Disasters on Kurdish Terrorism in Turkey 1987-2011: The Importance of Adequate Government Responses to Natural Disasters.* MA Thesis (English), 2014, University of Maryland. URL: http://drum.lib.umd.edu/handle/1903/15266

Fogarty, Jeff J. *Evaluating Strategies for Countering Nuclear-Armed Terrorist Groups*. MA Thesis (English), December 2000, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/handle/10945/32926

Gailan, Mohammed. *National Security Concerns and the Kurdistan Region in a New Middle East: From Rebellion to Statehood*. MA Thesis (English), 2017, Swedish Defence University. URL: http://fhs.diva-portal.org/smash/record.jsf?pid=diva2%3A1138564&dswid=-8856

Garofano-Meloche, Charles. *Les drones au Pakistan: une analyse foucaldienne postcoloniale des drones armés américains dans la zone tribale pakistanaise.* MA Thesis (French), November 2015, Université du Québec à Montréal. URL: http://www.archipel.uqam.ca/8386/1/M14128.pdf

Goldberg, Alexander Steven. *The Complexity of Countering Terrorism: Micro, Mid, and Macro Examinations*. MA Thesis (English), May 2015, Johns Hopkins University. URL: https://jscholarship.library.jhu.edu/han-dle/1774.2/38124

Graaf, Iris de. *De Amerikaanse oorlog in Afghanistan: een strategische analyse van Operation Enduring Freedom bezien vanuit het concept Schwerpunkt*. MA Thesis (Dutch), August 2010, Universiteit Utrecht. URL: http://dspace.library.uu.nl:8080/handle/1874/179807

Grillo, Michele. *Police Organizational Change in a Post-September 11 Environment: Rhetoric or Reality?* Ph.D. Thesis (English), May 2011, Rutgers University. URL: https://rucore.libraries.rutgers.edu/rutgers-lib/33509/

Gutfraind, Alexander. *Mathematical Terrorism*. Ph.D. Thesis (English), February 2010, Cornell University. URL: https://ecommons.cornell.edu/handle/1813/14741

Hameed, Usman. Mandatory Obligations Under the International Counter-Terrorism and Organised Crime Conventions to Facilitate State Cooperation in Law Enforcement. Ph.D. Thesis (English), January 2014, University of Glasgow. URL: http://theses.gla.ac.uk/5118

Hamel, Christopher J. U.S. Postal Service Response to Logistics Disruptions Resulting from Terrorism: Its Effectiveness and Relevance to Other Organizations. MA Thesis (English), June 2003, Massachusetts Institute of Technology. URL: http://dspace.mit.edu/handle/1721.1/27514

Harris, Kira Jade. *Leaving Ideological Social Groups Behind: A Grounded Theory of Psychological Disengagement*. Ph.D. Thesis (English), February 12, 2015, Edith Cowan University. URL: https://ro.ecu.edu.au/the-ses/1587/

Heijden, Melissa van der. *Dubious Practices: Interpol's Organizational Change. A Case Study on the Incorporation of Counterterrorism Practices by Interpol.* MA Thesis (English), June 11, 2018, Universiteit Leiden. URL: https://openaccess.leidenuniv.nl/handle/1887/63937

ISSN 2334-3745 202 February 2019

Hess, James Henry. *Improving Intelligence in a Counterinsurgency or Counterterrorism Environment Through the Application of a Critical Thinking-Based Framework*. Ph.D. Thesis (English), December 2011, Louisiana State University. URL: https://digitalcommons.lsu.edu/gradschool_dissertations/3634/

Hild, R Christopher C. *Public Perception of the Effectiveness of Seven Counterterrorism Practices*. MA Thesis (English), 2013, George Mason University. URL: http://mars.gmu.edu/handle/1920/8709

Hodwitz, Omi. *The Utility of NGO Interventions: Influences on Terrorist Activity.* Ph.D. Thesis (English), 2015, University of Maryland. URL: http://drum.lib.umd.edu/handle/1903/16887

Hoyt, John R. *A Proactive Strategy Toward Terrorism and Transnational Crime*. MA Thesis (English), December 1998, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/handle/10945/32650

Huntington, Terilyn Johnston. *Exposing the Clandestine: Silence and Voice in America's Drone War.* Ph.D. Thesis (English), July 2016, University of Kansas. URL: https://kuscholarworks.ku.edu/handle/1808/22399

Hussain, Syed Ejaz. *Terrorism in Pakistan: Incident Patterns, Terrorists' Characteristics, and the Impact of Terrorist Arrests on Terrorism*. Ph.D. Thesis (English), 2010, University of Pennsylvania. URL: https://repository.upenn.edu/edissertations/136/

Isoke, Henry. *The Dilemma of Porous Borders: Uganda's Experience in Combating Terrorism*. MA Thesis (English), December 2015, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/handle/10945/47967

Johnson, Isaac D. *Lessons in Ideology: A Study of the Relationship Between Formal Education, Socialization, and Violent Extremism.* MA Thesis (English), September 2018, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://cal-houn.nps.edu/handle/10945/60414

Johnston, Amanda K. *Assessing the Effectiveness of Deradicalization Programs for Islamist Extremists*. MA Thesis (English), December 2009, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/handle/10945/4420

Jones, Jeffrey J. Countering Islamic Radicalization and Al Shabaab Recruitment within the Ethnic Somali Population of the United States: An Argument for Applying Best Practices for Stemming Youth Gang Recruitment and Initiation. MA Thesis (English), December 2010, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/handle/10945/5072

Kamwesiga, Polly Kijongoma. *Small Arms Proliferation and Homegrown Terrorism in the Great Lakes Region: Uganda's Experience*. MA Thesis (English), December 2016, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://cal-houn.nps.edu/handle/10945/51730

Kang, Charanjit Singh. *Counterterrorism: Punjab a Case Study*. MA Thesis (English), 2005, Simon Fraser University. URL: http://summit.sfu.ca/item/5063

Kanmaz, Mehmet A. Countering Terrorist Financing: A Case Study of the Kurdistan Workers' Party (PKK). MA Thesis (English), December 2014, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/han-dle/10945/44591

Karimi, Nima. Fatwas Against Terrorism and Terrorist Organizations: An Examination of a Potential Counter-Terrorism Tool. MA Thesis (English), 2017, University of Waterloo. URL: https://uwspace.uwaterloo.ca/bitstream/handle/10012/12597/karimi_nima.pdf?sequence=3&isAllowed=y

Kearns, Erin Marie. *If You See Something, Do You Say Something? The Role of Legitimacy and Trust in Policing Minority Communities in Counterterrorism.* Ph.D. Thesis (English), 2016, American University. URL: https://auislandora.wrlc.org/islandora/object/auislandora:68566

Kenny, Noni D. *Meta-Level Terrorism Futures: Constructing and Deconstructing Using Causal Layered Analysis*. Ph.D. Thesis (English), December 2013, Queensland University of Technology, URL: http://eprints.qut.edu.au/65277

Khalid, Zahra. *Violence and Misconstruction: Understanding Why Counter Terrorism Measures Are Failing - The Case of Pakistan*. MA Thesis (English), March 2016, Harvard University. URL: https://dash.harvard.edu/handle/1/33797272

Khan, Dilawar. *Pakistan's Law Enforcement Agencies Harnessing their Potential to Combat Terrorism*. MA Thesis (English), December 2008, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/handle/10945/3844

Klink, Demi van. *Global Counterterrorism Forum: The Politics of Counterterrorism and Compliance*. MA Thesis (English), 2017, Universiteit Leiden. URL: https://openaccess.leidenuniv.nl/handle/1887/52679

Klose, Kenneth. *Governmental Responses to* Terrorism: *Creating Costs and Benefits*. MA Thesis (English), 2013, University of Central Florida. URL: http://stars.library.ucf.edu/etd/2647

Korte, Raven Nicole. *Is Counter Terrorism Counterproductive? The Case of Northern Ireland*. MA Thesis (English), 2005, University of Maryland. URL: https://drum.lib.umd.edu/handle/1903/2932

Kouzmanov, Krassi. *NATO's Response to the 11 September 2001 Terrorism: Lessons Learned*. MA Thesis (English), March 2003, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/handle/10945/1095

LaChette, Aleisha. *Islamic Authority and the Articulation of Jihad: Approaching Jihadist Authority Through the Islamist Magazine Inspire*. MA Thesis, April 2015, Virginia Tech. URL: https://vtechworks.lib.vt.edu/han-dle/10919/52946

Lara Vergara, Marco Antonio. *La investigación policial en el caso MOVADEF en Lima Metropolitana de Abril del 2014*. MA Thesis (Spanish), 2015, Pontificia Universidad Católica del Perú. URL: http://tesis.pucp.edu.pe/repositorio/handle/123456789/7876

Larkin, Patrick J. *Kashmir–The Key to Peace in Afghanistan*. MA Thesis (English), March 2013, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/handle/10945/32853

Larochelle, Gilles. *The Nature of the Control Role in Combatting Terrorism: Should the Use of Force be Assigned to Law enforcement Agencies or Special Units of the Armed Forces?* MA Thesis (English) 1989, University of Ottawa. URL: https://ruor.uottawa.ca/handle/10393/6028

Latimer, William Scott. *What Can the United States Learn from India to Counter Terrorism*. MA Thesis (English), March 2004, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/handle/10945/1659

Leavell, Ron. *The Evolution of Regional Counterterrorism Centers Within a National Counterterrorism Network: Is it Time to Fuse More Than Information?* MA Thesis (English), March 2007, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/handle/10945/3010

Lee, Douglas R. *Prison Radicalization in County Jails: Disrupting Terrorist Acts Through Information Sharing.* MA Thesis (English), December 2014, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/handle/10945/44604

Lee, Walter A. Finding the Wolves in Sheep's Clothing: Ways to Distinguish and Deter Lone-Wolf Terrorists. MA Thesis (English), March 2015, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/handle/10945/45218

Lindstrom, Tedric R. *Using Automatic Identification System Technology to Improve Maritime Border Security*. MA Thesis (English), December 2014, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/han-dle/10945/44607

List, Timothy J. What are we Missing? A Call for Red Teaming Within the Domestic Maritime Domain for Anti-Terrorism Programs. MA Thesis (English), March 2015, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/handle/10945/47810

Lundestad, Ingrid. Strategies of Engagement: A Study of U.S. National Security Strategies from the End of the Cold War to the War on Terrorism and Their Implications for the Role of NATO. MA Thesis (English), 2008,

Universitetet i Oslo. URL: https://www.duo.uio.no/handle/10852/23715

Mackmurdo, Chris. *Intelligence Power and Prevention After 9/11: The Role of Intelligence in Facilitating and Legitimising Controlling Security Strategies of the UK, US and UN.* Ph.D. Thesis (English), 2007, London School of Economics. URL: http://etheses.lse.ac.uk/2013/

Macpherson, Andrew. *Electronic Surveillance as a Counterterrorism Tool: Is Technology a Viable Strategy?* Ph.D. Thesis (English), April 2018, Northeastern University. URL: https://repository.library.northeastern.edu/files/neu:cj82r9228

Manalo, Eusaquito P. *The Philippine Response to Terrorism: The Abu Sayyaf Group.* MA Thesis (English), December 2004, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/handle/10945/1218

Maness, Austin. *NATO's Post-Cold War Relevance in Counter Terrorism*. MA Thesis (English), May 2016, University of Kansas. URL: https://kuscholarworks.ku.edu/handle/1808/21874

Mangas, Joshua. *Countering Extremism: An Understanding of the Problem, the Process and Some Solutions.* MA Thesis (English), June 2015, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/handle/10945/45871

Martinez, Peter, Jr. Combatting Terrorism Through Study of the Genetic Psychology of Terrorist Leaders – The Early Development of the Terrorist Mind. MA Thesis (English), December 1989, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/handle/10945/25739

Mazicioglu, Dogucan. *Adversarial Decision Making in Counterterrorism Applications*. Ph.D. Thesis (English), August 2017, Virginia Commonwealth University. URL: https://scholarscompass.vcu.edu/etd/5028/

McCaffrey, Claire. *The Perception and Impact of Countering Violent Extremism Programmes for Muslims in Sydney, Australia*. Ph.D. Thesis (English), September 2016, University of Chester. URL: https://chesterrep.openrepository.com/handle/10034/620648

McConaghy, Kieran. *Terrorism and the State: Intra-State Dynamics and the Response to Non-State Terrorism.* Ph.D. Thesis (English), 2015, University of St Andrews. URL: https://research-repository.st-andrews.ac.uk/handle/10023/6535

McFadden, Crystal L. *Strategic Communications: The State Department Versus the Islamic State*. MA Thesis (English), June 2017, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/handle/10945/55653

Mendelsohn, Barak. *Jihadism*, *International Society, and Interstate Cooperation*. Ph.D. Thesis (English), August 2006, Cornell University. URL: https://ecommons.cornell.edu/handle/1813/3358

Miller, Dan Taninecz. *The Shanghai Cooperation Organization and the People's Republic of China: Security Function Growth is Occurring Along Anti-Terrorism Lines*. MA Thesis (English), April 2014, University of Washington. URL: https://digital.lib.washington.edu/researchworks/handle/1773/25449

Mirzaei Yengejeh, Saeid. *Law-Making by the Security Council in Areas of Counter-Terrorism and Non-Prolif- eration of Weapons of Mass-Destruction*. Ph.D. Thesis (English), November 2016, University of Ottawa. URL: https://ruor.uottawa.ca/handle/10393/35536

Mitterer, Helmut Bernhard. *Terrorismus – Der Krieg des 21. Jahrhunderts.* MA Thesis (German), 2014, Universität Wien. URL: http://othes.univie.ac.at/35273

Morgan, Samuel A. Security vs. Liberty: How to Measure Privacy Costs in Domestic Surveillance Programs. MA Thesis (English), March 2014, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/handle/10945/41421

Motzheim, Nina. *Nederland tegen terrorisme*. MA Thesis (Dutch), March 2009, Universiteit Utrecht. URL: https://dspace.library.uu.nl/handle/1874/35727

Murthy, Arvind. *Protecting New York City from Homegrown Terrorism: The City's Role in Radicalization and Counter-Radicalization*. MA Thesis (English), May 2012, Columbia University. URL: https://academiccommons.columbia.edu/doi/10.7916/D81N877Z

Neudecker, Christine Helene. *CVE Programs and Initiatives Through the Ages: A Snapshot of the Past, Present, and Future.* MA Thesis (English), August 3, 2017, Simon Fraser University. URL: http://summit.sfu.ca/item/17537

Nojumi, Neamatollah. *The Critical Gap Between Local Versus International Perspectives on Security and Justice and Its Implications for the U.S.-Led International Intervention in Afghanistan, 2001-2006: Between State-Building and the Global War on Terrorism.* Ph.D. Thesis (English), 2012, George Mason University. URL: http://mars.gmu.edu/handle/1920/7921

O'Neil, Siobhan. *Dealing with the Devil? Explaining the Onset of Strategic State-Terrorist Negotiations*. Ph.D. Thesis (English), 2014, University of California – Los Angeles. URL: http://escholarship.org/uc/item/5td-7j61f#page-1

Ofongo, Olusegun Anthony. *Defence Strategy: Intelligence and Management of Boko Haram Terrorism in Nigeria*. MA Thesis (English), 2018, University of Manitoba. URL: https://mspace.lib.umanitoba.ca/xmlui/handle/1993/32912

Orman, Richard D. *Organizational Design Principles for Countering Terrorism in the United States*. MA Thesis (English), December 2000, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/handle/10945/7759

Örming, Lovisa. *Drone Strikes and the Spread of al-Qaeda: Process Tracing from Pakistan to Yemen*. MA Thesis (English), Spring 2014, Swedish National Defence College. URL: http://fhs.diva-portal.org/smash/record.jsf?pid=diva2%3A740662&dswid=OATDFullTextWindow#sthash.eXGDkx5j.dpbs

Owens, Kimberly B. *Beyond Hate: Countering Violent Extremism from the White Power Movement*. MA Thesis (English), December 2013, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/handle/10945/38992

Ozguler, Mustafa. *Comparing and Assessing the Preparedness of Police Organizations in Counter-Terrorism (Netherlands and United Kingdom)*. Ph.D. Thesis (English), December 2008, Kent State University. URL: https://etd.ohiolink.edu/pg_10?0::NO:10:P10_ACCESSION_NUM:kent1219738755

Ozkan, Ozcan. A Law Enforcement Perspective to Intelligence Failure in Mass Casualty Terrorist Attacks by Global Jihadist Movements: A Comparative Study of Terrorist Attacks of September 11, 2001 and November 15-20, 2003. Ph.D. Thesis (English), May 2013, Rutgers University. URL: https://rucore.libraries.rutgers.edu/rutgers-lib/40432

Pabin, Bryan J. *Post-9/11 Counterterrorism Thriller Ideology: Framing Retributive Justice Through Special Ops Superheroes*. Ph.D. Thesis (English), 2017, University of Illinois – Chicago. URL: https://dspace-prod.lib.uic.edu/handle/10027/21849

Palmieri, Lisa M. Would the U.S. Benefit from a Unified National Strategy to Combat Violent Salafi Jihadism? MA Thesis (English), December 2015, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/handle/10945/47838

Panteli, Paraskevi. *Prevention of Radicalisation and Violent Extremism of Potential Homegrown Terrorists* ~*Reverse Inner Reinforcement Through EU Education*~. MA Thesis (English), September 2016, Universiteit Leiden. URL: https://openaccess.leidenuniv.nl/handle/1887/43680

Parker, Marc. Cicero, Money and the Challenge of 'New Terrorism': Is Counter Terrorist Financing (CTF) a Critical Inhibitor? Should the Emphasis on Finance Interventions Prevail? Ph.D. Thesis (English), November 2013, University of St Andrews. URL: https://research-repository.st-andrews.ac.uk/handle/10023/4900

Pascoe, Henry Baker. Foreign Aid and the Effectiveness of International Counter-Terrorism Conventions. MA

Thesis (English), August 2014, University of Texas – Austin. URL: https://repositories.lib.utexas.edu/han-dle/2152/26562

Pascoe, Henry Baker. *United Nations Conventions for the Suppression of Transnational Terrorism and International Security Cooperation*. Ph.D. Thesis (English), August 2016, University of Texas – Austin. URL: https://repositories.lib.utexas.edu/handle/2152/43709

Paton, Stacy. *Evil Done Vulnerability Assessment: Examining Terrorism Targets Through Situational Crime Prevention*. MA Thesis (English), December 2013, Florida Atlantic University. URL: http://fau.digital.flvc.org/islandora/object/fau%3A13088

Patti, Alexandra C. *Technology and Big Data Meet the Risk of Terrorism in an Era of Predictive Policing and Blanket Surveillance*. MA Thesis (English), 2015, University of New Orleans. URL: http://scholarworks.uno.edu/td/2014

Paulling, Kristen Cederholm. *Transforming Counterterrorism Training in the FBI: Preserving Institutional Memory and Enhancing Knowledge Management*. MA Thesis (English), March 2009, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/handle/10945/4798

Peart, Wilbur L. *A Site Planning and Design Process for Antiterrorism Practices*. MA Thesis (English), December 8, 2000, Virginia Tech. URL: https://vtechworks.lib.vt.edu/handle/10919/36473

Pierson, Vern. Western Radicalization: Rethinking the Psychology of Terrorism. MA Thesis (English), March 2017, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/handle/10945/53034

Post, Jonathan F. *Thickening the Global SOF Network*. MA Thesis (English), December 2013, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/handle/10945/38995

Rafiq, Muhammad Ahsen. *Countering Terrorism Through Control of Pakistan's Information Environment*. MA Thesis (English), September 2014, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/han-dle/10945/43983

Rak, Michael J. *The U.S. Navy and European Security: From the Cold War to the War on Terrorism.* MA Thesis (English), September 2003, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/handle/10945/6281

Ranstorp, Magnus. *Radical Shi'ism in Lebanon: Western Government Crisis Management Techniques in Dealing with Hostage Incidents*, 1982-1992. Ph.D. Thesis (English), August 19, 1994, University of St Andrews. URL: https://research-repository.st-andrews.ac.uk/handle/10023/15168

Richie, Marnie Margaret. *Diffuse Threats: US Counterterrorism as an Anxious Effective Infrastructure*. Ph.D. Thesis (English), August 2018, University of Texas – Austin. URL: https://repositories.lib.utexas.edu/han-dle/2152/68943

Ringo, Brett M. *Domestic Terrorism: Fighting the Local Threat with Local Enforcement.* MA Thesis (English), March 2013, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/handle/10945/32889

Ringstad, Håkon. *The Roots of America's "War on Terror:" A War that Never Ends.* MA Thesis (English), 2012, Florida State University. URL: http://fsu.digital.flvc.org/islandora/object/fsu%3A183298

Rivas Troitiño, José Manuel. *Desinformacion y terrorismo: análisis de las conversaciones entre el Gobierno y ETA en Argel (enero-abril 1989) en tres diarios de Madrid.* Ph.D. Thesis (Spanish), 1991, Universidad Complutense de Madrid. URL: http://eprints.ucm.es/1769

Rock, Jason L. *The Funding of Boko Haram and Nigeria's Actions to Stop it.* MA Thesis (English), December 2016, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/handle/10945/51603

Romarheim, Anders G. *Crossfire of Fear: Propaganda in the US War on Terrorism*. MA Thesis (English), 2005, Universitetet i Oslo. URL: https://www.duo.uio.no/handle/10852/13741

ISSN 2334-3745 207 February 2019

Rossi, Amanda. *Sharing Secrets: Optimizing International Intelligence Cooperation to Counter Terrorism and Rising Threats*. MA Thesis (English), May 2014, Johns Hopkins University. URL: https://jscholarship.library.jhu.edu/handle/1774.2/37307

Rout, Matthew William. *To React or Deliberate? The Utility of New Zealand's Counterinsurgent Communication During the International Campaign Against Terrorism*. Ph.D. Thesis (English), 2016, University of Canterbury. URL: https://ir.canterbury.ac.nz/handle/10092/13208

Rowe, Paul R. *National Strategy for Combating Terrorism: Prospects and Implications*. MA Thesis (English), December 2003, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/handle/10945/6146

Rusev, Nikolay R. *What Strategy Should Bulgaria Pursue to Track and Disrupt Terror Networks in the Balkans?* MA Thesis (English), March 2014, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/handle/10945/41437

Sampson, Kirk J. Winning the Battle of Ideas Through Individual Resiliency: A Multi-Dimensional Approach for Countering Radicalization in the Homeland. MA Thesis (English), September 2009, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/handle/10945/4626

San, Serdar. *The Policing of Terrorism: A Comparative Analysis of Turkish and Canadian Counter-Terrorism Responses*. MA Thesis (English), July 2015, University of Ontario Institute of Technology. URL: https://ir.library.dc-uoit.ca/handle/10155/568

Sandomir, David Christopher. *Preventing Terrorism in the Long Term. The Disutility of Racial Profiling in Preventing Crime and the Counterproductive Nature of Ethnic and Religious Profiling in Counterterrorism Policing.* MA Thesis (English), December 2009, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/handle/10945/4355

Schneider, Erich B. *Balancing the Trinity: U.S. Approaches to Marginalizing Islamic Militancy in Pakistan*. MA Thesis (English), December 2013, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/han-dle/10945/39008

Schumacher, Justin M. *The Less You Know: The Utility of Ambiguity and Uncertainty in Counter-Terrorism.* MA Thesis (English), March 2015, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/handle/10945/45253

Schwarz, Elke. *The Biopolitical Condition: Re-Thinking the Ethics of Political Violence in Life-Politics.* Ph.D. Thesis (English), November 2013, London School of Economics and Political Science. URL: http://etheses.lse.ac.uk/760

Searle, Garrett M. *Impact Assessment in Special Warfare*. MA Thesis (English), December 2017, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/handle/10945/56802

Sem, Daniel Oduro. *Pre-Emption Against Terror: Just War Pacifist Approach*. MA Thesis (English), August 2004, University of Saskatchewan. URL: https://harvest.usask.ca/handle/10388/etd-09132004-154040

Sezgin, Erkan. *A Comparative Perspective of International Cooperation against Terrorism.* Ph.D. Thesis, Ph.D. Thesis (English), August 2007, Kent State University. URL: https://etd.ohiolink.edu/pg_10?0::NO:10:P10_AC-CESSION_NUM:kent1185301559

Shafi, Imran Khalid. *Improving Counterterrorism Efforts by Removing Misconceptions About Islam in the Western World*. MA Thesis (English), December 2010, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/handle/10945/5056

Shah, Zahra. *Countering Radicalisation by Engaging Mosques and Imams: The UK's Case*. MA Thesis (English), January 2016, Universiteit Leiden. URL: https://openaccess.leidenuniv.nl/handle/1887/38036

Skoczylis, Joshua Joseph. The Local Prevention of Terrorism in Strategy and Practice: 'CONTEST', a New Era

ISSN 2334-3745 208 February 2019

in the Fight Against Terrorism. Ph.D. Thesis (English), July 2013, University of Leeds. URL: http://etheses.whiterose.ac.uk/6529

Smaney, David Michael. *A Radical Idea: Applying Psychological Strategy to Combat Foreign Fighters Defending the Islamic State*. MA Thesis (English), May 2017, Missouri State University. URL: http://bearworks.missouri-state.edu/theses/3102

Snavely, Christopher B. *Historical Perspectives on Developing and Maintaining Homefront Morale for the War on Terrorism*. MA Thesis (English), June 2002, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/handle/10945/5840

Southers, Erroll Gregory. *Homegrown Violent Extremism: Designing a Community-Based Model to Reduce the Risk of Recruitment and Radicalization*. Ph.D. Thesis (English), December 2013, University of Southern California. URL: http://digitallibrary.usc.edu/cdm/compoundobject/collection/p15799coll3/id/328935/rec/3194

Sowers, Troy A. *Creating a Better End Game Strategy: Fully Exploiting the Capabilities of Multiple Disciplines.* MA Thesis (English), September 2013, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/han-dle/10945/37722

Stalcup, Mary Margaret. *Connecting the Dots. Intelligence and Law Enforcement Since 9/11.* Ph.D. Thesis (English), 2009, University of California – Berkeley. URL: https://escholarship.org/uc/item/0jz201mh

Stephenson, John D. *Countering Terrorism Engagement, Development, Deterrence*. MA Thesis (English), December 2010, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/handle/10945/5019

Taillon, Joseph Paul de Boucherville. *International Co-Operation in the use of Elite Military Forces to Counter Terrorism: The British and American Experience, with Special reference to Their Respective Experiences in the Evolution of Low-Intensity Operations.* Ph.D. Thesis (English), 1992, London School of Economics and Political Science. URL: http://etheses.lse.ac.uk/2592/

Tallis, Joshua. *Muddy Waters: Framing Littoral Maritime Security Through the Lens of the Broken Windows Theory*. Ph.D. Thesis (English), March 2016, University of St. Andrews. URL: https://research-repository.st-andrews.ac.uk/handle/10023/9028

Tamana, Aazar. *US-Pakistan Cooperation and Pakistan's Security Post 9/11*. Ph.D. Thesis (English), June 2010, Curtis University of Technology. URL: https://espace.curtin.edu.au/handle/20.500.11937/501

Tellidis, Ioannis. *Preventing Terrorism? Conflict Resolution and Nationalist Violence in the Basque Country*. Ph.D. Thesis (English), 2008, University of St. Andrews. URL: https://research-repository.st-andrews.ac.uk/ handle/10023/426

Torner, Linus P. *A Network Design Approach to Countering Terrorism*. MA Thesis (English), September 2015, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/handle/10945/47340

Tsukayama, John K. *By Any Means Necessary: An Interpretive Phenomenological Analysis Study of Post 9/11 American Abusive Violence in Iraq.* Ph.D. Thesis (English), 2014, University of St Andrews. URL: https://research-repository.st-andrews.ac.uk/handle/10023/4510

Turner, Carl Peter. *How Terrorism Ends: A Comparative Conflict Analysis of Northern Ireland, the Basque Country and Corsica*. MA Thesis (English), May 2015, University of Hull. URL: https://hydra.hull.ac.uk/resources/hull:13768

Umar, Aminu Mohammed. *Nigeria and the Boko Haram Sect: Adopting a Better Strategy for Resolving the Crisis.* MA Thesis (English), June 2013, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/han-dle/10945/34755

Van Damme, Ashley. *The Securitization of Terrorism in Indonesia: 2001-2006*. MA Thesis (English), December 2008, University of British Columbia. URL: https://open.library.ubc.ca/cIRcle/collections/ubctheses/24/

items/1.0066843

Wahdan, Ghada. Societal Integration and Radical Islam Among Muslim Immigrants in Europe and the United States. MA Thesis (English), October 2011, Regis University. URL: https://epublications.regis.edu/theses/485/

Ward, Michael. *The Impact of "Duty to Warn" (and Other Legal Theories) on Countering Violent Extremism Intervention Programs*. MA Thesis (English), December 2016, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://cal-houn.nps.edu/handle/10945/51635

Watts, Stephen. *Constructing Order amid Violence: Comparative Military Interventions in the Era of Peacekeeping and Counter-Terrorism*. Ph.D. Thesis (English), May 2007, Cornell University. URL: https://ecommons.cornell.edu/handle/1813/5297

Wenthe, Mathew C. *In Harmony with the Population: Ethnomusicology as a Framework for Countering Violent Extremism in the Sahel*. MA Thesis (English), December 2016, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://cal-houn.nps.edu/handle/10945/51637

Wesseling, M. *The European Fight Against Terrorism Financing: Professional Fields and New Governing Practices.* Ph.D. Thesis (English), 2013, University of Amsterdam. URL: http://dare.uva.nl/search?identifier=315cd 595-5ce5-4c9c-b095-f24cacf4b5e3

Wickers, William F., Jr. *A Comprehensive Fusion Liaison Officer Program: The Arizona Model.* MA Thesis (English), March 2015, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/handle/10945/45272

Wiik, Kirsten. *Passasjerkontroll som terrorbekjempelse i norske havner*. MA Thesis (Norwegian), May 2013, Universitetet i Oslo. URL: https://www.duo.uio.no/handle/10852/35936

Wilson, Chase. *The Perceived Threat of Secularism and Militancy Among Religious Fundamentalists*. MA Thesis (English), May 2014, Loyola University Chicago. URL: https://ecommons.luc.edu/luc_theses/2512/

Wise, Charles Dean. *The Impact of Palestinian Terrorism on the Arab/Israeli Conflict*. Ph.D. Thesis (English), 1980, University of Oklahoma. URL: https://shareok.org/handle/11244/4752

Wright, Christopher E. *Hidden Threats: Reframing the Debate on Domestic Intelligence in an Age of Counter-terrorism*. MA Thesis (English), March 2013, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/han-dle/10945/38701

Wright, Dominick' E. *Repression and Network Science: Tools in Fight Against Terrorism.* Ph.D. Thesis (English), 2010, University of Michigan. URL: https://deepblue.lib.umich.edu/handle/2027.42/77898

Wright, Lynn M. *The Emerging Threat of Domestic Terrorism: A Systematic Review of Evolving Needs, Threats, and Opportunities.* MA Thesis (English), December 2014, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/handle/10945/44693

Woodard, Paul B. *To Negotiate or Not to Negotiate: An Evaluation of Governments' Response to Hostage Events, 1967-1987 and the Determinants of Hostage Event Frequency*. MA Thesis (English), December 1997, University of North Texas. URL: https://digital.library.unt.edu/ark:/67531/metadc278633/

Woodhams, Katrina Marie. *Connections Among Communities: Preventing Radicalization and Violent Extremism Through Social Network Analysis in the Threat and Hazard Identification and Risk Assessment (THIRA) Framework*. MA Thesis (English), December 2016, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/handle/10945/51640

Yayla, Ahmet. *Terrorism as a Social Information Entity: A Model for Early Intervention*. Ph.D. Thesis (English), August 2005, University of North Texas. URL: https://digital.library.unt.edu/ark:/67531/metadc4800/#de-scription-content-main

Yildiz, Bahri. Exploration of the Use of Unmanned Aerial Vehicles Along with Other Assets to Enhance Border

ISSN 2334-3745 210 February 2019

Protection. MA Thesis (English), June 2009, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/han-dle/10945/4671

Zacherl, Felicitas. *Leben gegen Leben?* Ph.D. Thesis (German), 2010, Universität Wien. URL: http://othes.univie.ac.at/14426

Zimmermann, Katie. *Terrorist Group Efforts in the Homeland and the Strategy to Combat Them*. MA Thesis (English), December 2014, Johns Hopkins University. URL: https://jscholarship.library.jhu.edu/han-dle/1774.2/37312

2. Policy, Legislation, Law, and Prosecution

Al-Ajmi, Thaqal Saad. *Legal Responses to Terrorism, with Special Reference to the Position of Kuwait*. Ph.D. Thesis (English), April 2003, Aberystwyth University. URL: https://pure.aber.ac.uk/portal/en/theses/legal-responses-to-terrorism-with-special-reference-to-the-position-of-kuwait(b42ce705-b42e-41d5-a3a4-814dd3c496d9).html

Al-Hassan, Abdulaziz. *Money Laundering and Terrorism Financing: Does the Saudi Arabian Financial Intelligence Unit Comply with International Standards?* MA Thesis (English), November 2011, Victoria University. URL: http://vuir.vu.edu.au/19945/

Albayrak, Cagil. *Terrorism is What We Make of It: Construction of Terrorism Designation*. MA Thesis (English), December 2015, University of Kansas. URL: https://kuscholarworks.ku.edu/handle/1808/20912

Alcaide Fernández, Joaquín. *Las actividades terroristas ante el derecho internacional contemporáneo*. Ph.D. Thesis (Spanish), November 1995, Universidad de Sevilla. URL: https://idus.us.es/xmlui/handle/11441/14994

Alkiviadou, Natalie. *Challenging Right-Wing Extremism in England and Wales and Greece: Tools Available in International, European and National Law.* Ph.D. Thesis (English), May 2017, Vrije Universiteit Amsterdam. URL: http://dare.ubvu.vu.nl/handle/1871/55235

Allan, Matthew Wesley. *The Legal-Military Dilemma in the Response to International Terrorism*. Ph.D. Thesis (English), December 2009, Texas A&M University. URL: https://pqdtopen.proquest.com/doc/305119396. https://pqdtopen.proquest.com/doc/305119396. https://pqdtopen.proquest.com/doc/305119396.

Almeyda Velásquez, Daniel Alonso. *Bases para la contención del derecho penal del enemigo: Dialéctica de la interpretación y delito de afiliación a organización terrorista*. MA Thesis (Spanish), 2015, Universidad Nacional Mayor de San Marcos. URL: http://cybertesis.unmsm.edu.pe/handle/cybertesis/4502

Alzubairi, Fatemah. *Kuwait and Bahrain's Anti-Terrorism Laws in Comparative and International Perspective*. MA Thesis (English), 2011, University of Toronto. URL: https://tspace.library.utoronto.ca/bit-stream/1807/30158/6/Alzubairi Fatemah 201107 Master thesis.pdf

Amirault, Joanna Elizabeth. *Criminalizing Terrorism: The Impact of Context and Cohort Effects on the Sentencing Outcomes of Terrorist Offenders.* Ph.D. Thesis (English), August 2014, Simon Fraser University. URL: http://summit.sfu.ca/item/14456

Andrade Becerra, Oscar David. *Conceptualización del terrorismo en Colombia (1978-2010)*. MA Thesis (Spanish), 2014, Universidad Nacional de Colombia. URL: http://www.bdigital.unal.edu.co/40037/1/08905097.2014.pdf

Astacio Cabrera, Jacquelyne Guadalupe. *Tratamiento jurídico-penal de la apología del terrorismo*. Ph.D. Thesis (Spanish), September 2013, Universidad de Granada. URL: http://hdl.handle.net/10481/20998

Avdan, Nazli. *States' Pursuit of Sovereignty in a Globalized Security Context: Controlling International Human Mobility*. Ph.D. Thesis (English), 2010, Duke University. URL: https://dukespace.lib.duke.edu/dspace/han-

ISSN 2334-3745 211 February 2019

dle/10161/3049

Baars, Gijs. *Tradities in terrorismebestrijding; De benadering door Duitsland en Nederland van de links radicale scene in de jaren zeventig.* MA Thesis (Dutch), October 2007, Universiteit Utrecht. URL: https://dspace.library.uu.nl/handle/1874/24979

Bakar, Ayhan. *Justice and Home Affairs: Impact of the European Union on the Internal Security of Turkey*. Ph.D. Thesis (English), 2011, University of Nottingham. URL: http://eprints.nottingham.ac.uk/13103/

Bal, Ihsan. *Prevention of Terrorism in Liberal Democracies: A Case Study of Turkey*. Ph.D. Thesis (English), April 1999, University of Leicester. URL: https://lra.le.ac.uk/handle/2381/30117

Baldwin, Adam. *Terrorism Ideology and Perceptions of Homeland Security in Tennessee Law Enforcement*. MA Thesis (English), May 2010, University of Tennessee – Chattanooga. URL: https://scholar.utc.edu/theses/192/

Bandel, Peter. A Wolf in Military Clothing: A Case Study Examination of Lone Wolf Terrorism and the Roles and Responsibilities of Government Agencies. MA Thesis (English), 2012, University of Central Florida. URL: https://stars.library.ucf.edu/etd/2271/

Barnett, Melissa D. *Uncertain Times: Immigration Policy, Practice and the Resolve to Make America Safe in the 21st Century.* Ph.D. Thesis (English), 2008, Florida State University. URL: http://fsu.digital.flvc.org/islandora/object/fsu%3A405547

Bathily, Muhammad. *Reform of Senegalese Gendarmerie Intelligence Services*. MA Thesis (English), June 2018, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/handle/10945/59645

Baum, Chris W. *Nationalism in United States Foreign Policy in the Post 9/11 Era*. MA Thesis (English), October 2015, Portland State University. URL: http://pdxscholar.library.pdx.edu/open_access_etds/2531

Bean, Jennifer Michelle. *Institutional Response to Terrorism: The Domestic Role of the Military in Consolidated Democracies*. Ph.D. Thesis (English), December 2008, University of Texas – Austin. URL: https://repositories.lib.utexas.edu/handle/2152/23443

Bennett, John Thomas. *Bend but don't Break: Why Obama's Targeted-Killing Program Challenges Policy and Legal Boundaries but Rarely Breaches Them.* MA Thesis, May 2014, Johns Hopkins University. URL: https://jscholarship.library.jhu.edu/handle/1774.2/37221

Benoit, Florian. *Terrorisme*, *séparation des pouvoirs et droit à la justice fondamentale*. *L'évolution du droit constitutionnel canadien dans le contexte sécuritaire résultant du 11 septembre 2001*. MA Thesis (French), 2008, Université Laval. URL: https://corpus.ulaval.ca/jspui/handle/20.500.11794/20087

Berger, Michael Andrew. How Resisting Democracies Can Defeat Substate Terrorism: Formulating a Theoretical Framework for Strategic Coercion Against Nationalistic Substate Terrorist Organizations. Ph.D. Thesis (English), 2010, University of St Andrews. URL: https://research-repository.st-andrews.ac.uk/handle/10023/889

Bergersen, Stine. *Risiko, sikkerhet og nye trusselbilder: Myndighetenes vurdering av terrortrusselen i stortings-meldinger mellom 2001-2008.* MA Thesis (Norwegian), Spring 2012, Universitetet i Oslo. URL: https://www.duo.uio.no/handle/10852/22504

Bergh, M.J.E. van den. *De strafbaarstelling van opruiing: over de vraag of het verheerlijken van terrorisme*, *gelet op de vrijheid van meningsuiting, te kwalificeren is als opruiing tot het plegen van terroristische misdrijven*. MA Thesis (Dutch), May 2016, Universiteit van Tilburg. URL: http://arno.uvt.nl/show.cgi?fid=143876

Beye, Pape Moussa. *Libéralisme et exception: l'état de droit et le système onusien de sécurité collective à l'épreuve du jihadisme international.* Ph.D. Thesis (French), June 2016, Université Panthéon-Assas. URL: http://www.theses.fr/2016PA020027/document

Bin Idris, Mohammad Hussin Ali. Necessity Within the Legal Framework of Self-Defence Against Terrorism.

ISSN 2334-3745 212 February 2019

MA Thesis (English), September 2015, University of Leeds. URL: http://etheses.whiterose.ac.uk/13390

Binodah, Abdullah M. U.S. Foreign Policy in the Middle East and the Bush War on Terror: Elite Opinion and the Failure of U.S. Strategy. Ph.D. Thesis (English), 2006, University of Sheffield. URL: http://etheses.whiterose.ac.uk/4216/

Bourbeau, Véronique. *Le rôle des conseillers juridiques de George W. Bush dans l'utilisation de la torture comme outil antiterroriste*. MA Thesis (French), July 2008, Université du Québec à Montréal. URL: http://www.archipel.uqam.ca/1626/1/M10495.pdf

Bouwmeester, R. Zonder veiligheid geen vrijheid? Mogen personen die terugkeren uit een gebied waar een gewapende strijd gaande is, preventief in hechtenis worden genomen of is dit in strijd met het recht van vrijheid en veiligheid? MA Thesis (Dutch), April 2017, Open Universiteit Nederland. URL: http://dspace.ou.nl/han-dle/1820/7785

Bremen, Joep. *A terrible beauty has gone? Welke doelen de Provisional Irish Republican Army bereikt heeft met de acceptatie van het Goede Vrijdag Akkoord.* MA Thesis (Dutch), June 2009, Universiteit Utrecht. URL: https://dspace.library.uu.nl/handle/1874/34391

Burak, Kyle. *Asymmetric Warfare in an Asymmetric World: A Theoretical Analysis of Canadian Antiterrorism Policy and Spending.* MA Thesis (English), 2014, University of Victoria. URL: https://dspace.library.uvic.ca// handle/1828/5268

Calderón Sánchez, Eduardo Ignacio. *El discurso de la seguridad democrática en el metarrelato de la lucha global contra el terrorismo bajo la retórica del derecho penal del enemigo*. Ph.D. Thesis (Spanish), 2012, Universidad Nacional de Colombia. URL: http://www.bdigital.unal.edu.co/7743/1/eduardoignaciocalderonsan-chez.2012.pdf

Capita Remezal, Mario. *El concepto jurídico de terrorismo: los delitos de terrorismo en el Código Penal de 1995, un análisis doctrinal y jurisprudencial: especial referencia al terrorismo individual.* Ph.D. Thesis (Spanish), 2007, Universidad Carlos III de Madrid. URL: https://e-archivo.uc3m.es/handle/10016/11506

Caraig, Joanna Marie. *The Human Security Act of 2007 of the Philippines: Assessing the Law's Compliance with International Human Rights while Countering Terrorism*. MA Thesis (English), May 2010, Universitetet i Oslo. URL: https://www.duo.uio.no/handle/10852/22869

Carmenates, Leena Almeda. *The Relevance of Militant Islamist Ideology in Crafting Countering Violent Extremism Policy in the U.S.* MA Thesis (English), May 2016, Missouri State University. URL: https://bearworks.missouristate.edu/theses/2360/

Carreon-Diez, Monica. *Immigration and Anti-Terrorist Policies: An Analysis of Canada and the United Kingdom.* MA Thesis (English), 2008, Ryerson University. URL: https://digital.library.ryerson.ca/islandora/object/RULA%3A508

Carter, Brittnee Ashten. *Analyzing the Criminal Justice and Military Models of Counterterrorism: Evidence from the United States.* Ph.D. Thesis (English) May 9, 2017, University of Kansas. URL: https://kuscholarworks.ku.edu/handle/1808/26319

Cengiz, Ilyas. *Legal Responses to 'Terrorist Speech': A Critical Evaluation of the Law in Turkey in Light of Regional and International Standards*. Ph.D. Thesis (English), September 2016, University of East Anglia. URL: https://ueaeprints.uea.ac.uk/60750

Chadwick, Elizabeth. *The Utilization of International Humanitarian Law and, in Particular, the Geneva Convention Treaty Regime, to Deter Acts of International Terrorism, with Special Reference to Armed Struggles by "Peoples" for Their Right to Self-Determination.* Ph.D. Thesis (English), January 1994, University of Nottingham. URL: http://eprints.nottingham.ac.uk/10924/

Chalk, Peter. *Squaring the Circle: West European Terrorism, EC/EU Counter-Terrorism and Liberal Democratic Acceptability.* Ph.D. Thesis (English), December 1994, University of British Columbia. URL: https://open.library.ubc.ca/cIRcle/collections/ubctheses/831/items/1.0088830

Chehade, Ghada. *Anti-Terrorism Discourse and the War on Dissent: A Critical Analysis*. Ph.D. Thesis (English), December 2012, McGill University. URL: http://digitool.library.mcgill.ca/R/?func=dbin-jump-full&-object_id=117017&local_base=GEN01-MCG02

Cho, Harry Yeon. *Human Rights and the War Against International Terrorism: A War Without Rights?* MA Thesis (English), 2009, University of Toronto. URL: https://tspace.library.utoronto.ca/handle/1807/18238

Choquette-Landry, Marilyne. *La guerre en Afghanistan vue de l'intérieur: les relations civilo-militaires sous Barack Obama*. MA Thesis (French), April 2015, Université du Québec à Montréal. URL: http://www.archi-pel.uqam.ca/7685/1/M13882.pdf

Ciftci, Irfan. *The Role of Soft-Line Governmental Policy Interventions Towards Terrorist Organizations During Democratization Period: A Comparative Case Study Between the PKK and ETA*. Ph.D. Thesis (English), May 2013, Rutgers University. URL: https://rucore.libraries.rutgers.edu/rutgers-lib/40403/

Clanton, Michael John. *Political Motive and Bail: The Effect of Prosecutorial Strategies on Pretrial Decisions in Federal Terrorism Trials*. MA Thesis (English), December 2013, University of Arkansas. URL: http://scholarworks.uark.edu/etd/980

Clément, Pierre-Alain. L'État anxieux: le poids de la culture stratégique dans la législation antiterroriste américaine (2001-2016). Ph.D. Thesis (French), May 2017, Université du Québec à Montréal. URL: http://www.archipel.uqam.ca/10480/1/D3273.pdf

Cobane, Craig Thompson. *Terrorism and Democracy: The Balance Between Freedom and Order: The British Experience.* Ph.D. Thesis (English), November 10, 2003, University of Cincinnati. URL: https://etd.ohiolink.edu/pg_10?0::NO:10:P10_ACCESSION_NUM:ucin1070571375

Cody, Stephen Smith. *Hijacking Counterterrorism: The Rise of National Anti-Terrorism Laws After 9/11.* Ph.D. Thesis (English), 2012, University of California – Berkeley. URL: https://escholarship.org/uc/item/21s5t4jv

Cotter, Anna Grace. *The Politics of the Terrorist Watch List*. Ph.D. Thesis (English), 2016, University of Michigan. URL: https://deepblue.lib.umich.edu/handle/2027.42/133354

Cronenwett, Megan R. *Accounting for the Role of the Public in Democratic States' Counterterrorism Policies: A Comparative Case Study Analysis of Spain and the United Kingdom*. MA Thesis (English), 2011, Wright State University. URL: https://etd.ohiolink.edu/pg 10?0::NO:10:P10 ACCESSION NUM:wright1303144037

Crowley, Michael Gerard. *After Nine Eleven 2001: Politics, Law and Australian Democracy.* Ph.D. Thesis (English), October 2016, Macquarie University. URL: http://minerva.mq.edu.au:8080/vital/access/manager/Repository/mq:69705

Crucifix, Elisa. *Les dommages collatéraux des infractions-obstacles de nature terroriste*. MA Thesis (French), 2017, Université Catholique de Louvain. URL: http://hdl.handle.net/2078.1/thesis:12770

Dalby, Andrew K. *European Integrationist Influences on Member States' Counter-Terrorist Co-Operation and Co-Ordination*. Ph.D. Thesis (English), 2004, University of St Andrews. URL: https://research-repository.st-andrews.ac.uk/handle/10023/14394

Dalla-Pozza, Dominique Catherine. *The Australian Approach to Enacting Counter-Terrorism Laws*. Ph.D. Thesis (English), February 2010, University of New South Wales. URL: https://www.unsworks.unsw.edu.au/primo-explore/fulldisplay?vid=UNSWORKS&docid=unsworks 8439&context=L

Deardorff, Robert B. *Countering Violent Extremism: The Challenge and the Opportunity*. MA Thesis (English), December 2010, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/handle/10945/5012

Dehnke, Nathan. *Local Law Enforcement Implementation of National Anti-Terrorism Policy*. MA Thesis (English), April 15, 2011, University of Kansas. URL: https://kuscholarworks.ku.edu/handle/1808/8057

Demirhan, Emirhan. *The Social Psychology of Social Media Reactions to Terrorism*. MA Thesis (English), December 2016, University of North Texas. URL: https://digital.library.unt.edu/ark:/67531/metadc955045/

Dermine, Juliette. *L'extradition des terroristes et le respect de l'article 3 de la Convention européenne des droits de l'homme*. MA Thesis (French), 2016, Université Catholique de Louvain. URL: https://dial.uclouvain.be/memoire/ucl/en/object/thesis%3A3812

Dhillon, Sheila. *Government Responses to the Threat of Terrorism in the Liberal Democratic State: A Comparative Examination of Public Policy Efforts in the United Kingdom, Spain, Italy and the Federal Republic of Germany.* MA Thesis (English), September 1992, McMaster University. URL: https://macsphere.mcmaster.ca/handle/11375/11451

Diab, Robert. *Terrorism and the Administration of Justice in Canada*. MA Thesis (English), January 2007, University of British Columbia. URL: https://open.library.ubc.ca/cIRcle/collections/ubctheses/831/items/1.0077737

Dickerson, Andrew Robert. *Post Arab Spring Examination of American Foreign Aid: Libya and Egypt.* MA Thesis (English), 2017, Wright State University. URL: http://rave.ohiolink.edu/etdc/view?acc_num=wright1504050835338162

Dijk, D.S. van. *Het bevriezen van tegoeden in het kader van de bestrijding van de financiering van het terrorisme en de geboden rechtsbescherming*. MA Thesis (Dutch), 2008, Open Universiteit Nederland. URL: http://dspace.ou.nl/handle/1820/1336

Dunford, David Tyler. *States of Exception and Unlawful Combatants: Biopolitical Monstrosities or the Return of the Sovereign*? MA Thesis (English), June 2015, University of Windsor. URL: http://scholar.uwindsor.ca/etd/5710

Edlinger, Karl. Die völkerrechtliche Klassifizierung von bewaffneten Konflikten und deren Auswirkung auf die Planung und Durchführung militärischer Operationen. Ph.D. Thesis (German), 2014, Universität Wien. URL: http://othes.univie.ac.at/35688

Erron, Rachel Clare. *A Critical Systems Explanation for the Racial Effect of US and UK Counter-Terror Stop, Search and Surveillance Powers.* Ph.D. Thesis (English), 2013, Durham University. URL: http://etheses.dur.ac.uk/8481

Everly, Macklin Keith. *Multicultural Public Policy and Homegrown Terrorism in the European Union*. MA Thesis (English), August 2014, Wright State University. URL: http://rave.ohiolink.edu/etdc/view?acc_num=wright1409088787

Farshid, Syed Kouh Keivani. *A Strong Offence is the Best Defence? Russia's Strategy Towards Countering Terrorism in the North Caucasus*. MA Thesis (English), 2016, Universiteit Leiden. URL: https://openaccess.leidenuniv.nl/handle/1887/53749

Felices Mendoza, María Esther. *La infracción del debido proceso en procesos por terrorismo durante 1992 a 2002*. Ph.D. Thesis (Spanish), 2011, Universidad Nacional Mayor de San Marcos. URL: http://cybertesis.unmsm.edu.pe/handle/cybertesis/633

Finegan, Rory. *Targeted Killings in Northern Ireland: An Analysis of their Effectiveness and Implications for Counter-Terrorism Policies*. Ph.D. Thesis (English), January 2014, Dublin City University. URL: http://doras.dcu.ie/19724

Fontalva Cabeza, Borja. *Pakistán y el terrorismo islamita: dilemas entre la "guerra global contra el terror" y la agenda propia de seguridad nacional (2001-2008)*. Ph.D. Thesis (Spanish), 2013, Universidad Complutense de

Madrid. URL: http://eprints.ucm.es/20052

Fuentes Orozco, Jesús José. *El hecho de un tercero en la reparación directa por terrorismo*. MA Thesis (Spanish), 2014, Universidad Nacional de Colombia. URL: http://www.bdigital.unal.edu.co/41958/1/2674737.2014. http://www.bdigital.unal.edu.co/41958/1/2674737.2014. http://www.bdigital.unal.edu.co/41958/1/2674737.2014. http://www.bdigital.unal.edu.co/41958/1/2674737.2014.

Fuller, Christopher. *The Eagle Comes Home to Roost: The Historical Origins of the CIA's Lethal Drone Programme.* Ph.D. Thesis (English), August 2014, University of Southampton. URL: https://eprints.soton.ac.uk/378626/

Garcia, Colleen Elizabeth. *Regulating Nation-State Cyber Attacks in Counterterrorism Operations*. MA Thesis (English), June 2010, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/handle/10945/5322

Garthus, Tina Erica. *NATO og EU i kamp mot terrorisme: en sammenliknende analyse av EUs og NATOs strategier i kampen mot internasjonal terrorisme*. MA Thesis (Norwegian), 2007, Universitetet i Oslo. URL: https://www.duo.uio.no/handle/10852/14420

Georgsen, Magnus. *Democracy Under Attack? British Counter-Terrorism Measures and Liberal Democratic Values 2001-2006*. MA Thesis (English), 2007, Universitetet i Oslo. URL: https://www.duo.uio.no/han-dle/10852/14525

Gergin, Nadir. *The Nexus Between the Ballot and Bullet: Popular Support for the PKK and Post-election Violence in Turkey.* Ph.D. Thesis (English), 2010, Virginia Commonwealth University. URL: https://scholarscompass.vcu.edu/etd/426/

Giel, Dustin James. *The Tragedy of Beslan 2004: Was this Event a Turning Point in Russia's Approach to Count-er-Terrorism*? MA Thesis (English), 2015, Universiteit Leiden. URL: https://openaccess.leidenuniv.nl/hand-le/1887/33671

Gjerde, Nina Lea. *EF-domstolens kompetanse til å kontrollere EUs svartelistingsprosess i kampen mot terro-risme. Foreligger det en effektiv prøvelsesrett?* MA Thesis (Norwegian), April 2007, Universitetet i Oslo. URL: https://www.duo.uio.no/handle/10852/21055

Gjiknuri, Damian. *Albania's Counter-Terrorism Policy Options: Finding a Strategy of Common Sense*. MA Thesis (English), June 2004, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/handle/10945/1208

Gomez, David C. Should Cops Be Spies? Evaluating the Collection and Sharing of National Security Intelligence by State, Local and Tribal Law Enforcement. MA Thesis (English), March 2013, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/handle/10945/32825

Gordon, Aaron Andrew. *Spaces and Geographers of the "Smart Border": Technologies and Discourses of Canada's Post 911 Borders.* MA Thesis (English), August 2006, McGill University. URL: http://digitool.library.mcgill.ca/R/?func=dbin-jump-full&object_id=99592&local_base=GEN01-MCG02

Grenier, Émilie. *Entre sécurité et droits humains: le Canada face aux dilemmes éthiques et juridiques, dans la "lutte globale contre le terrorisme": analyse de la loi antiterroriste canadienne*. MA Thesis (French), February 2010, Université du Québec à Montréal. URL: http://www.archipel.uqam.ca/2844/1/M11348.pdf

Grøttjord, Elin. *Internasjonal strafferett: En analyse av menneskerettigheter ved bekjempelse av internasjonal terrorisme sett i lys av to FN-konvensjoner og Sikkerhetsrådets resolusjon 1373 (2001)*. MA Thesis (Norwegian), April 2003, Universitetet i Oslo. URL: https://www.duo.uio.no/handle/10852/18833

Guilhem-Ducleon, Erwin. *How Did Obama's Foreign Policy Encourage the Rise of ISIS?* MA Thesis (English), 2017, Universiteit Leiden. URL: https://openaccess.leidenuniv.nl/handle/1887/52569

Guiora, Amos Neuser. *Tolerating Extremism: To What Extent Should Intolerance be Tolerated?* Ph.D. Thesis (English), October 2013, Universiteit Leiden. URL: https://openaccess.leidenuniv.nl/handle/1887/21977

Gurbanbayov, Emin. *Development of Strategic Communication Policy for Countering ISIS Recruitment in the United States: Lessons for the Republic of Azerbaijan*. MA Thesis (English), June 2018, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/handle/10945/59673

Haenflein, Rebecca. *The Cubicle Warrior: Drones, Targeted Killings, and the Implications of Waging a "War on Terror" from a Distance Under International Law.* MA Thesis (English), Fall 2015, Uppsala University. URL: http://uu.diva-portal.org/smash/record.jsf?pid=diva2%3A862385&dswid=-5817

Hager, Anna. *Die MeK (die iranischen Volksmudschahedin, MKO) und die EU (2002 - 2009*). MA Thesis (German), 2012, Universität Wien. URL: http://othes.univie.ac.at/18784

Hameeteman, Don. *Een cultureel-historische duiding van het hedendaagse contra-terrorismebeleid in Nederland.* MA Thesis (Dutch), June 2011, Universiteit Utrecht. URL: https://dspace.library.uu.nl/hand-le/1874/209875

Hargraves, Drew P. Reducing the Threat of Nuclear Terrorism – A Report Card on the Obama Administration's Efforts. MA Thesis (English), December 2016, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/han-dle/10945/51714

Harris, Robert A. *US Terrorism Policy Towards Sudan: Blinded by Islamic Fundamentalism?* MA Thesis (English), December 1999, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/handle/10945/13435

Heesen, Marleen. *De dynamische relatie tussen het anti-terrorismebeleid van Amerikaanse inlichtingen- en veiligheidsdiensten en het beleid van Al Qaida gedurende de War on Terror.* MA Thesis (Dutch), 2014, Universiteit Utrecht. URL: https://dspace.library.uu.nl/handle/1874/288917

Herron, Rachel Clare. *A Critical Systems Explanation for the Racial Effect of US and UK Counter-Terror Stop, Search and Surveillance Powers.* Ph.D. Thesis (English), October 2013, Durham University. URL: http://etheses.dur.ac.uk/8481

Hickman, Peter Lightner. *The Lore of the Laws of War: Textual Constructions of Archetypal Identities in the War on Terrorism.* Ph.D. Thesis (English), April 2014, Arizona State University. URL: https://repository.asu.edu/items/24866

Hough, Gys. *The Systemic Analysis of the Establishment of Torture as Foreign Policy Measure in Modern Democratic Institutions with Special Reference to the Use of Torture During the "War on Terror"*. MA Thesis (English), November 2, 2009, Stellenbosch University. URL: https://scholar.sun.ac.za/handle/10019.1/4284

Hoyt, Melanie Raeann. *A Game of Drones: Comparing the U.S. Aerial Assassination Campaign in Yemen and Pakistan*. MA Thesis (English), December 2014, Angelo State University. URL: https://asu-ir.tdl.org/asu-ir/handle/2346.1/30273

Hucke, Matthias Josef. *Der Schutz der Menschenrechte im Lichte von Guantánamo*. Ph.D. Thesis (German), August 2007, Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin. URL: https://edoc.hu-berlin.de/handle/18452/16384

Hussain, Nazia Hussain. *Tracing Order in Seeming Chaos: Understanding the Informal and Violent Political Order of Karachi*. Ph.D. Thesis (English), Spring 2016, George Mason University. URL: http://mars.gmu.edu/handle/1920/10468

Ilbiz, Ethem. *The Impact of the European Union on Turkish Counter-Terrorism Policy Towards the Kurdistan Workers Party*. Ph.D. Thesis (English), June 2014, University of Nottingham. URL: http://eprints.nottingham.ac.uk/14280

Jackson, Summer. *Have They Said Something? Examining Changes in Citizen Reporting of Possible Terrorism to the Police*. Ph.D. Thesis (English), May 2015. University of Oklahoma. URL: https://shareok.org/han-dle/11244/14572

Jaliff, Pernilla Stamm'ler. The Indigenous People of Chile and the Application of the Anti-Terrorist Law: A Case

ISSN 2334-3745 217 February 2019

Study of the Land-Conflict in Araucanía. MA Thesis (English), August 2013, Linköping University. URL: http://liu.diva-portal.org/smash/record.jsf?pid=diva2%3A680879&dswid=OATDFullTextWindow#sthash.f48n0DD2.dpbs

James, Brian C. *China's Interests in Afghanistan: Current Projects and Future Prospects*. MA Thesis (English), December 2013, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/handle/10945/38955

Jansen, Pia Therese. *The Consequences of Israel's Counter Terrorism Policy*. Ph.D. Thesis (English), 2008, University of St. Andrews. URL: https://research-repository.st-andrews.ac.uk/handle/10023/439

Jennings, Elaine. *U.S. Proliferation Policy and the Campaign Against Transnational Terror: Linking the U.S. Non-Proliferation Regime to Homeland Security Efforts.* MA Thesis (English), December 2013, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/handle/10945/38956

Johanson, II., David R. *The Long and Winding Road: Post-9/11 Intelligence Reforms a Decade Later.* MA Thesis (English), March 2013, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/handle/10945/32841

Johnson, Kirk A. *The Longue Duree: Indonesia's Response to the Threat of Jihadist Terrorism 1998-2016.* MA Thesis (English), June 2016, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/handle/10945/49499

Kao, Albert L. *Increased Anti-Money Laundering Banking Regulations and Terrorism Prosecutions*. MA Thesis (English), March 2013, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/handle/10945/32842

Kabatoff, Mathew. Subject to Predicate Risk, Governance and the Event of Terrorism Within Post-9/11 U.S. Border Security. Ph.D. Thesis (English), 2010, The London School of Economics and Political Science. URL: http://etheses.lse.ac.uk/496/

Kamandy, Jamal. *Islamicodes: The Post 9/11 Racialization of Counter-Terrorism*. MA Thesis (English), 2013, Colorado State University. URL: https://mountainscholar.org/handle/10217/80252

Katouya, Kevin Constant. *Réflexions sur les instruments de droit pénal international et européen de lutte contre le terrorisme*. Ph.D. Thesis (French), October 2010, Université Nancy 2. URL: http://www.theses.fr/2010NAN20008/document

Kavanagh, Jennifer Erin. *The Dynamics of Protracted Terror Campaigns: Domestic Politics, Terrorist Violence, and Counterterror Responses.* Ph.D. Thesis (English), 2011, University of Michigan. URL: https://deepblue.lib.umich.edu/handle/2027.42/84524

Kelly, Robert J. *Applying the Israeli Practice of Reconstruction Following a Terrorist Attack as a Model for Cities in the United States.* MA Thesis (English), March 2013, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/handle/10945/32844

Khan, F. *Negotiating British-Muslim Identity: Hybridity, Exclusion and Resistance*. Ph.D. Thesis (English), August 2015, University of Liverpool. URL: https://livrepository.liverpool.ac.uk/3001177

Khan, Imran. *Post 9/11 Anti-Muslim Racism: A Critical Analysis of Canada's Security Policies*. MA Thesis (English), 2013, Ryerson University. URL: http://digital.library.ryerson.ca/islandora/object/RULA%3A3018

Khan, Muhammad Waqar Khalid. *A Key to Enduring Peace: Reforms in Federally Administered Tribal Areas of Pakistan*. MA Thesis (English), December 2016, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/handle/10945/51554

Kiefer, Lisa. *Muslim NGOs in the Context of the United Kingdom's "War on Terror" - A Case Study on Four UK-Based Muslim NGOs and the Impact of Counter-Terrorism Legislation*. MA Thesis (English), 2015, Universiteit Leiden. URL: https://openaccess.leidenuniv.nl/handle/1887/35142

Kommel-Bernstein, Jeremy. *Law v. Safety: Balancing Domestic Surveillance's Legal Deficiencies Against the Necessity of Counterterrorism.* MA Thesis (English), May 2016, Missouri State University. URL: https://bear-necessity.com/html/bea

ISSN 2334-3745 218 February 2019

works.missouristate.edu/theses/2359/

Koseli, Mutlu. *The Appropriate Use of Human Intelligence in Combating Terrorism*. MA Thesis (English), August 2003, University of North Texas. URL: https://digital.library.unt.edu/ark:/67531/metadc4258/

Kravik, Andreas Motzfeldt. *Den europeiske menneskerettighetskonvensjon artikkel 2 og forestillingen om en implisert rett til sikkerhet mot terrorisme*. MA Thesis (Norwegian), June 2007, Universitetet i Oslo. URL: https://www.duo.uio.no/handle/10852/21306

Krebs, Johannes. *The Right to a Fair Trial in the Context of Counter-Terrorism: The Use and Suppression of Sensitive Information in Australia and the United Kingdom*. Ph.D. Thesis (English), August 2016, Australian National University. URL: https://openresearch-repository.anu.edu.au/handle/1885/117330

Lambert, Polly. *Blurring Social and Security Agendas: An Intertextual Examination of Muslim Perspectives of British Counterterrorism*. MA Thesis (English), 2018, Universiteit Leiden. URL: https://openaccess.leidenuniv.nl/handle/1887/65638

Lamchek, Jayson. *Myth-making and Reality: A Critical Examination of Human Rights-Compliant Counterter-rorism in the Philippines and Indonesia*. Ph.D. Thesis (English), April 2016, Australian National University. URL: https://openresearch-repository.anu.edu.au/handle/1885/110180

Lamontagne, David. "We do talk to Evil": L'inclusion des groupes terroristes dans la stratégie américaine de résolution de conflits. MA Thesis (French), 2011, Université Laval. URL: https://corpus.ulaval.ca/jspui/han-dle/20.500.11794/22963

Lansing, Melissa. *Terrorism, Securitization of the Nation and Refugee Flows: Implications of Policies and Practices in a Post-911 Era.* MA Thesis (English), August 2007, University of Ottawa. URL: https://ruor.uottawa.ca/handle/10393/27872

Lazarus, Wendy. *Extradition as a Method of Combating International Terrorism: A U.S. Perspective.* Ph.D. Thesis (English), September 8, 2001, University of St Andrews. URL: https://research-repository.st-andrews.ac.uk/handle/10023/14339

Ledbetter, Lateef Thomas. *Can the EU Protect Its Citizen's Data While Being the U.S's Partner in the War on Terror?* MA Thesis (English), October 31, 2011, Universitetet i Oslo. URL: https://www.duo.uio.no/han-dle/10852/22942

Legault-Roy, Eliane. *De la possibilité d'un terrorisme éthique: grille d'évaluation éthique de l'acte terroriste*. MA Thesis (French), January 2014, Université du Québec à Montréal. URL: http://www.archipel.uqam.ca/6377/1/M13283.pdf

Lehner, Andrea. *Die Straftatbestände zur Bekämpfung der Terrorismusfinanzierung*. Ph.D. Thesis (German), 2014, Universität Wien. URL: http://othes.univie.ac.at/34952

Lennon, Genevieve. *Policing Terrorist Risk: Stop and Search Under the Terrorism Act 2000, Section 44.* Ph.D. Thesis (English), June 2011, University of Leeds. URL: http://etheses.whiterose.ac.uk/15225/

Leppington, Kristen Nicole. *Bill C-36: The Creation of Canada's 2011 Anti-Terrorism Act*. MA Thesis (English), 2011, Université Laval. URL: https://corpus.ulaval.ca/jspui/handle/20.500.11794/22916

Lesniewicz, Amber Lee Stoesser. *Alternatives to Punishment: Counterterrorism Strategies in Algeria*. MA Thesis (English), 2009, University of Maryland. URL: https://drum.lib.umd.edu/handle/1903/10008

Llobet Anglí, Mariona. *Terrorismo y "guerra" contra el terror: límites de su punición en un estado democrático*. Ph.D. Thesis (Spanish), 2008, Universitat Pompeu Fabra. URL: http://www.tdx.cat/handle/10803/7307

Lopez Rojas, Kevin. *La politique de sécurité de la Belgique envers le terrorisme transnational*. MA Thesis (French), June 2017, Université Catholique de Louvain. URL: http://hdl.handle.net/2078.1/thesis:12588

ISSN 2334-3745 219 February 2019

Lula, Karolina. *Terrorized into Compliance: Why Countries Submit to Financial Counterterrorism*. Ph.D. Thesis (English), January 2014, Rutgers University. URL: https://pqdtopen.proquest.com/doc/1508821208.htm-l?FMT=AI&pubnum=3613909

Lutsenko, Olga Olegovna. *Terrorism from a Russian Legal Perspective: The Implementation of the Council of Europe Convention on the Prevention of Terrorism into the Russian Legislation*. MA Thesis (English), 2008, Universitetet i Oslo. URL: https://www.duo.uio.no/handle/10852/22762

Machold, Rhys A. *Tentative Securities: 26/11, Israel and the Politics of Mobility*. Ph.D. Thesis (English), 2015, Wilfrid Laurier University. URL: http://scholars.wlu.ca/etd/1776

Magdelenat, Jean-Louis. *Les droits et obligations des etats d'assurer la securite de l'aviation internationale contre le terrorisme*. Ph.D. Thesis (French), March 1981, Université McGill. URL: http://digitool.library.mcgill.ca/thesisfile129588.pdf

Mahdi, Ahmed Samir Sayed. *US Foreign Policy and Energy Resources During the George W. Bush Administration*. Ph.D. Thesis (English), January 2010, University of Birmingham. URL: http://etheses.bham.ac.uk/748/

Marchi, Ilaria. *Stato di eccezione, istanze securitarie e diritto penale*. Ph.D. Thesis (Italian), 2013, Università degli Studi di Trento. URL: http://eprints-Ph.D..biblio.unitn.it/1173

Martin, James H. *Terrorism-Related Loss of Citizenship – A Policy Review*. MA Thesis (English), September 2016, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/handle/10945/50589

McFillen, Brian. *Shadow Boxing: How the Risk of Government Intervention Shapes Terrorist Organizational Structures*. Ph.D. Thesis (English), October 2013, Indiana University. URL: https://scholarworks.iu.edu/dspace/handle/2022/18124

McPherson, Jared L. *Indefinite Detention as a Democratic Counterterrorism Policy*. MA Thesis (English), 2014, Wright State University. URL: http://rave.ohiolink.edu/etdc/view?acc_num=wright1416091531

Mezzi, Mohamed. *Jihad: Liberation or Terrorism? The Thought of Sayyid Qutb.* MA Thesis (English), November 2008, University of the Western Cape. URL: http://etd.uwc.ac.za/xmlui/handle/11394/3649

Miller, Allison Denise. Community Cohesion and Countering Violent Extremism in the United States: A Case Study of Metro Detroit. MA Thesis (English), May 1, 2017, Virginia Tech. URL: https://vtechworks.lib.vt.edu/handle/10919/77946

Miller, Nicholas Joseph. *A Criminal Justice Comparative: Post-9/11 Anti-terrorism Legislation Within Legal Traditions*. MA Thesis (English), 2010, San Diego State University. URL: http://sdsu-dspace.calstate.edu/han-dle/10211.10/541

Mnaouri, Abderrafia. *Approche comparée de l'appareil législatif franco-marocain en matière de lutte contre le terrorisme*. Ph.D. Thesis (French), 2015, Université de Perpignan. URL: https://tel.archives-ouvertes.fr/tel-01241149/document

Morandini, Antoine. *Lutte contre le terrorisme: quel impact sur l'équilibre entre méthodes particulières de recherche et droits fondamentaux?* MA Thesis (French), 2016, Université Catholique de Louvain. URL: http://hdl.handle.net/2078.1/thesis:7804

Moussaoui, Rima. *L'attribution au Liban du comportement du Hezbollah selon le droit international de la responsabilité de l'État*. MA Thesis (French), October 2010, Université du Montréal. URL: https://papyrus.bib.umontreal.ca/xmlui/handle/1866/6032

Mouvet, Violette. *Le contrôle des sanctions prises par le Comité du Conseil de sécurité faisant suite aux résolutions 1267 (1999) et 1989 (2011) concernant Al-Qaida ainsi que les personnes et entités qui lui sont associées.* MA Thesis (French), 2015, Université Catholique de Louvain. URL: http://hdl.handle.net/2078.1/thesis:3229

Murray, Kimberly. *The Symbolic Representation, Prosecution, and Punishment of American Ecoterrorists*. Ph.D. Thesis (English), 2015, University of Oklahoma. URL: https://shareok.org/handle/11244/14567

Mwazighe, Charles Lenjo. *Legal Responses to Terrorism: Case Study of the Republic of Kenya*. MA Thesis (English), December 2012, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/handle/10945/27876

Nagel, William C. *The Law Enforcement Approach to Combating Terrorism: An Analysis of US Policy*. MA Thesis (English), June 2002, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/handle/10945/5870

Nater, Anson. *Killing in the Name of ...?: Conscientious Objection in the Age of the "Global War on Terror*". MA Thesis (English), 2016, Brock University. URL: http://dr.library.brocku.ca/handle/10464/9807

Nenov, Svetoslav. *Biopolitics, Counter-Terrorism and Law After 9/11*. Ph.D. Thesis (English), 2013, University of Manchester. URL: https://www.research.manchester.ac.uk/portal/en/theses/biopolitics-counterterrorism-and-law-after-911(02e0d8bc-3c81-4731-bf06-e178de99a594).html

Nimwegen, Cornelis Simon Leonardus van. *Van Mena Muria tot Allah al Akhbar: geschiedenis van terroris-mebestrijding in Nederland 1976-2006*. MA Thesis (Dutch), 2006, Universiteit Utrecht. URL: https://dspace.library.uu.nl/handle/1874/20810

Nisa, Richard. *Demons, Phantoms, Monsters: Law, Bodies, and Detention in the War on Terror.* MA Thesis (English), October 2007, Rutgers University. URL: https://rucore.libraries.rutgers.edu/rutgers-lib/23862/

Norberry, Jennifer. *Law and National Security Crisis in Australia*. Ph.D. Thesis (English), August 2015, University of New South Wales. URL: http://www.unsworks.unsw.edu.au/primo-library/libweb/action/dlDisplay. do?vid=UNSWORKS&docId=unsworks 38552

Norris, Maria. Contesting Identity and Preventing Belonging? An Analysis of British Counter Terrorism Policy Since the Terrorism Act 2000 and the Selective Use of the Terrorism Label by the British Government. Ph.D. Thesis (English), September 2015, London School of Economics and Political Science. URL: http://etheses.lse.ac.uk/3348

Nuñez-Mietz, Fernando Gabriel. *Lawyering Compliance with International Law: Legal Advisors and the Legalization of International Politics.* Ph.D. Thesis (English), 2013, Ohio State University. URL: http://rave.ohiolink.edu/etdc/view?acc num=osu1370528559

Nyaundi, Kennedy Monchere. *How does the Implementation of Counter Terrorism Measures Impact on Human Rights in Kenya and Uganda?* Ph.D. Thesis (English), February 2014, University of Cape Town. URL: https://open.uct.ac.za/handle/11427/12912

Oehmichen, Anna. *Terrorism and Anti-Terror Legislation - The Terrorised Legislator? A Comparison of Count- er-Terrorism Legislation and its Implications on Human Rights in the Legal Systems of the United Kingdom, Spain, Germany, and France.* Ph.D. Thesis (English), 2009, Universiteit Leiden. URL: https://openaccess.leidenuniv.nl/handle/1887/13852

Oeser, Douglas Ray. *The Rhetoric of Perpetual Warfare: A Political Discourse Analysis of the Obama Administration's Legitimation of U.S. Drone Strikes.* MA Thesis (English), August 2016, University of Tennessee – Knoxville. URL: https://trace.tennessee.edu/utk_gradthes/4013/

Oliveira de Sousa, Carlos Henrique. *A Criminal Law Approach to Terrorism in Brazil*. MA Thesis (English), December 2014, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/handle/10945/44636

Opoku, Efua Baboa. *Human Rights Violations Under the Guise of Counter-Terrorism Measures: A Question of Reconciling Security Concerns and Protecting the Fundamental Right to Life*. MA Thesis (English), September 2011, Queen's University. URL: https://qspace.library.queensu.ca/handle/1974/6815

Osman, Ziad. Les approches juridiques de la lutte antiterroriste: les nouvelles extensions du droit international, la coopération européenne et les règlementations du monde arabe. Ph.D. Thesis (French), January 2011, Uni-

ISSN 2334-3745 221 February 2019

versité Lille 2 Droit et Santé. URL: http://www.theses.fr/2011LIL20011/document

Ozguler, Mustafa. *Comparing and Assessing the Preparedness of Police Organizations in Counter-Terrorism (Netherlands and United Kingdom)*. Ph.D. Thesis (English), December 2008, Kent State University. URL: https://etd.ohiolink.edu/pg_10?0::NO:10:P10 ACCESSION NUM:kent1219738755

Pagan, David S. *Effects of UAVs on Interstate Relationships: A Case Study of U.S. Relations with Pakistan and Yemen.* MA Thesis (English), June 2015, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/han-dle/10945/45918

Panov, Stoyan Minkov. *The Obligation Aut Dedere Aut Judicare ('Extradite or Prosecute') in International Law: Scope, Content, Sources and Applicability of the Obligation 'Extradite or Prosecute'*. Ph.D. Thesis (English), 2016, University of Birmingham. URL: http://etheses.bham.ac.uk/6521

Paquet, Nicolas. *La perception qu'a le Congrès américain de la sécurité à la frontière canado-américaine*. MA Thesis (French), December 2009, Université du Québec à Montréal. URL: http://www.archipel.uqam.ca/2611/1/M11224.pdf

Parker, Tony C. [E] *Stablishing a Deradicalization/Disengagement Model for America's Correctional Facilities: Recommendations for Countering Prison Radicalization.* MA Thesis (English), March 2013, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/handle/10945/32881

Pasculli, Lorenzo. *Le misure di prevenzione del terrorismo e dei traffici criminosi internazionali*. Ph.D. Thesis (Italian), 2012, Università degli Studi di Trento. URL: http://eprints-Ph.D..biblio.unitn.it/787

Patel, Shaista. *Legalizing the Racialization of Muslim: An Anti-Orientalist Discourse Analysis of the Anti-Ter-rorism Act of Canada*. MA Thesis (English), July 2007, University of British Columbia. URL: https://open.library.ubc.ca/cIRcle/collections/ubctheses/831/items/1.0100927

Perez, Janelle Sofia. Fighting Terrorism with Foreign Aid: A Case for Continued U.S. Assistance in Latin America. MA Thesis (English), December 2014, Johns Hopkins University. URL: https://jscholarship.library.jhu.edu/handle/1774.2/37232

Perez, Luis Ricardo. *Threat Perception, Non-State Actors, and U.S. Military Intervention After 9/11.* MA Thesis (English), 2016, Virginia Tech. URL: https://vtechworks.lib.vt.edu/handle/10919/73306

Philipupillai, Gillian Geetha. *The Marking of Tamil Youth as Terrorists and the Making of Canada as a White Settler Society*. MA Thesis (English), 2013, University of Toronto. URL: https://tspace.library.utoronto.ca/han-dle/1807/42640

Pincus, Matthew E. *An Examination of Immigration and the Threat to American National Security*. MA Thesis (English), August 2014, Johns Hopkins University. URL: https://jscholarship.library.jhu.edu/han-dle/1774.2/37208

Plöger, Steffi Marianne. *The Prevention of Maritime Terrorism: Is Today's Maritime Security Sufficient?* MA Thesis (English) 2008, Universitetet i Oslo. URL: https://www.duo.uio.no/handle/10852/22765

Potter, George E. *Global Politics and (Trans)National Arts: Staging the "War on Terror" in New York, London, and Cairo.* Ph.D. Thesis (English), May 2005, University of Cincinnati. URL: https://etd.ohiolink.edu/pg_10?0::NO:10:P10_ACCESSION_NUM:ucin1313427243

Premaratne, Nilantha P. *Impact of Changing External Conditions on Counterinsurgency: The Sri Lankan Experience*. MA Thesis (English), December 2015, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/handle/10945/47849

Preuß, Torsten. *Terrorismus und innere Sicherheit*. Ph.D. Thesis (German), April 2012, Universität Leipzig. URL: http://nbn-resolving.de/urn:nbn:de:bsz:15-qucosa-88619

ISSN 2334-3745 222 February 2019

Prosser, Katrina. *Qui est Responsable? Charlie Hebdo, Responsibility and Terrorism in the West.* MA Thesis (English), 2016, University of Canterbury. URL: https://ir.canterbury.ac.nz/handle/10092/12916

Pulungan, Rheny. *The Limitations of the International Law on Piracy and Maritime Terrorism: Options for Strengthening Maritime Security in the Malacca Straits*. Ph.D. Thesis (English), June 2014, University of Melbourne. URL: https://minerva-access.unimelb.edu.au/handle/11343/40765

Qureshi, Ahmed. *United States Detention Policy in Counterterrorism and Counterinsurgency Operations*, 2001 *to 2011*. Ph.D. Thesis (English), May 5, 2013, King's College London. URL: https://kclpure.kcl.ac.uk/portal/en/theses/united-states-detention-policy-in-counterterrorism-and-counterinsurgency-operations-2001-to-2-011(80120271-9d9d-45ad-8319-2ca0e1b2f281).html

Rahman, Waheeda. *Canada's Response to the "War on Terror": A New Era of National Security, Erosion of Rights and Racial Injustice*. MA Thesis (English), 2008, Ryerson University. URL: https://digital.library.ryerson.ca/islandora/object/RULA:872

Ramsey, Haley Jewel. *Effects of Self-Affirmation on Anti-Terror Related Worldview Defense Following Mortality Salience*. MA Thesis (English), May 2018, Western Kentucky University. URL: https://digitalcommons.wku.edu/theses/2452/

Rashid, Naaz. *Veiled Threats: Producing the Muslim Woman in Public and Policy Discourse in the UK.* Ph.D. Thesis (English), March 2013, London School of Economics and Political Science. URL: http://etheses.lse.ac.uk/762/

Reed, Samuel Thomas. *The Nuclear Terrorism Disconnect: Electoral Incentives and U.S. Policy Responses*. MA Thesis (English), April 2013, University of British Columbia. URL: https://open.library.ubc.ca/cIRcle/collections/ubctheses/24/items/1.0071964

Rehman, Faiz Ur. *Essays on the Law and Economics of Terrorism in Pakistan*. Ph.D. Thesis (English), 2015, Università di Bologna. URL: http://amsdottorato.unibo.it/7245/1/Rehman Faiz Ur tesi.pdf

Rentenberger, Albin. *Terrorismusbekämpfung als außen- und innenpolitische Herausforderung für die Europäische Union*. MA Thesis (German), 2010, Universität Wien. URL: http://othes.univie.ac.at/14346

Ricci, Dennis N. *U.S. Military Intervention in the Post-Cold War Era: A Case Study Analysis of Presidential Decision Making.* Ph.D. Thesis (English), April 2014, University of Connecticut. URL: http://opencommons.uconn.edu/dissertations/364

Robert, Emilie. *L'Etat de droit et la lutte contre le terrorisme dans l'Union européenne: Mesures européennes de lutte contre le terrorisme suite aux attentats du 11 septembre 2001*. Ph.D. Thesis (French), February 2012, Université Lille 2. URL: http://www.theses.fr/2012LIL20001/document

Rodríguez Morales, Tania Gabriela. *El conflicto israelí-palestino y la cooperación de EE. UU. en el periodo de Barack Obama (2009-2011): el terrorismo islamista y su implicación en el conflicto.* Ph.D. Thesis (Spanish), February 2012, Universidad de Granada. URL: http://hdl.handle.net/10481/21755

Romero Zuluaga, Carolina. *El discurso sobre la victimización de la mujer afgana como estrategia y justificación para la permanencia de las tropas estadounidenses en Afganistán (2001-2013)*. MA Thesis (Spanish), 2014, Universidad del Rosario. URL: http://repository.urosario.edu.co/handle/10336/10604

Rondou, Benjamin Robert. *Negotiating with Terrorists in the Shadow of American Power*. MA Thesis (English), May 2015, University of Texas – Austin. URL: https://repositories.lib.utexas.edu/handle/2152/32350

Roseman, Katherine T. *The Africa Command: How the Department of Defense has Continued America's Ad-Hoc Foreign Policies in Africa Through Neo-Orientalism.* MA Thesis (English), November 2015, Depaul University. URL: http://via.library.depaul.edu/etd/201

Rosemont, Hugo David. A UK 'Security-Industrial Complex'? A Reassessment of the Origins, Characteristics,

ISSN 2334-3745 223 February 2019

and Consequences of Private Sector Involvement in the Counter-Terrorism Aspects of Contemporary UK National Security Strategy. Ph.D. Thesis (English), 2015, King's College London. URL: https://kclpure.kcl.ac.uk/portal/en/theses/a-uk-securityindustrial-complex(625c69b3-c890-40b7-86cd-417ca567d39e).html

Roudier, Karine. *Le contrôle de constitutionnalité de la législation antiterroriste: Étude comparée des expériences espagnole, française et italienne*. Ph.D. Thesis (French), December 2011, Université de Toulon. URL: https://tel.archives-ouvertes.fr/tel-00694035/document

Ruijs, V. R. M. Agendavorming in de Europese Unie. Een onderzoek naar de ontwikkeling van agendavorming omtrent antiterreurnetwerken in de Europese Unie na de terreuraanslagen in New York, Madrid en Londen. MA Thesis (Dutch), June 2009, Universiteit Utrecht. URL: https://dspace.library.uu.nl/handle/1874/35735

Rumsey, Jessie G. *Aid and International Norms: The Effects of Human Rights and Counterterrorism Regimes on U.S. Foreign Assistance Pre- and Post-9/11.* Ph.D. Thesis (English), August 2014, Kent State University. URL: https://etd.ohiolink.edu/pg 10?0::NO:10:P10 ACCESSION NUM:kent1406245077

Saadat, Muhammad K. *The Drone Dilemma: Investigating the Causes of Controversy Between the United States and Pakistan*. MA Thesis (English), December 2014, Naval Postgraduate School: URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/handle/10945/44660

Sabir, Rizwaan. *Understanding Counter-Terrorism Policy and Practice in the UK Since 9/11*. Ph.D. Thesis (English), March 2014, University of Bath. URL: http://opus.bath.ac.uk/43932

Safer-Lichtenstein, Aaron. *Incorporating Ideas of Displacement and Diffusion of Benefits into Evaluations of Counterterrorism Policy*. MA Thesis (English), 2015, University of Maryland. URL: http://drum.lib.umd.edu/handle/1903/16500

Såma, Kader. *A New Era of Terror: An Investigation of Non-International Armed Conflict and the Islamic State's Transnational Crusade for World Domination*. MA Thesis (English), Fall 2015, Uppsala University. URL: http://uu.diva-portal.org/smash/record.jsf?pid=diva2%3A894283&dswid=7806

Sample, Michelle S. *Canada's Anti-Terrorism Act: Creating a Paradigm of Insecurity?* MA Thesis (English), 2008, Simon Fraser University. URL: http://summit.sfu.ca/item/9023

Sánchez Gómez, Raúl. *Terrorismo* y *derecho de defensa*: *de la garantía de los derechos fundamentales a la investigación penal contraterrorista*. Ph.D. Thesis (Spanish), January 2014, Universidad Carlos III de Madrid. URL: https://e-archivo.uc3m.es/handle/10016/18627

Sanders, Rebecca. *Exceptional Security Practices, Human Rights Abuses, and the Politics of Legal Legitimation in the American "Global War on Terror*". Ph.D. Thesis (English), 2012, University of Toronto. URL: https://tspace.library.utoronto.ca/handle/1807/32880

Satijn, Daisy. Terrorisme; een succesvol politiek pressiemiddel? De effectiviteit van terrorisme getoetst aan de hand van de terroristische activiteiten van de Palestijnse Zwarte September beweging in de jaren zeventig. MA Thesis (Dutch), June 2005, Universiteit Utrecht. URL: https://dspace.library.uu.nl/handle/1874/8351

Sattar-Shafiq, Kaniz Iqbal. *The UK Law on Terrorism and the British Muslim Kashmiri Communities*. Ph.D. Thesis (English), January 2013, University of Leeds. URL: http://etheses.whiterose.ac.uk/12754

Saunders, Lucy. *Limiting Democracy for the Sake of Itself: Fighting Extremism with Extreme Measures*. MA Thesis (English), 2009, University of Toronto. URL: https://tspace.library.utoronto.ca/handle/1807/18872

Schneider, Noah James. *Human Intelligence in Federal Terrorism Cases*. MA Thesis (English), May 2015, University of Arkansas. URL: http://scholarworks.uark.edu/etd/1033

Scott, Sarah. *British Foreign Policy Towards Syria: Its Importance, its Distinctiveness and its Relations to the Policy of Other Actors in the Region*. Ph.D. Thesis (English), May 2016, University of St Andrews. URL: https://research-repository.st-andrews.ac.uk/handle/10023/9903

ISSN 2334-3745 224 February 2019

Seña Salcedo, Cristian Andrés. *La institucionalización de la lucha contra el terrorismo transnacional a través del derecho internacional*. MA Thesis (Spanish), 2015, Universidad del Rosario. URL: http://repository.urosa-rio.edu.co/handle/10336/12574

Seymour, Margaret M. *Beyond Carrots and Sticks: An Analysis of U.S. Approaches to Counterterrorism From 2000-2016*. Ph.D. Thesis (English), August 2018, Old Dominion University. URL: https://digitalcommons.odu.edu/gpis-etds/28/

Sharkey, Kaitlin Kelly. *Fighting Al Qaeda in the Arabian Peninsula on All Fronts: A U.S. Counterterrorism Strategy in Yemen*. MA Thesis (English), August 2014, University of Texas – Austin. URL: https://repositories.lib.utexas.edu/handle/2152/26237

Sharp, Vincent H. Faded Colors: From the Homeland Security Advisory System (HSAS) to the National Terrorism Advisory System (NTAS). MA Thesis (English), March 2013, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/handle/10945/32899

Silva, Derek M. D. *Committing Sociology (of Law): The Autonomy of Law in Canada's 'War on Terror'*. MA Thesis (English), 2014, Carleton University. URL: https://curve.carleton.ca/de22da9c-7cdf-422a-bcef-f3e9f591800f

Skuldt, Amanda C. *State Sponsored Terrorism? Leader Survival and the Foreign Policy of Fear.* Ph.D. Thesis (English), May 2013, University of Texas – Austin. URL: https://repositories.lib.utexas.edu/han-dle/2152/21811

Slater, Laura. *Emergency Powers: 9/11, 7/7 and the Continuity of Counterterrorism in the United Kingdom*. MA Thesis (English), January 2016, University of North Carolina. URL: https://cdr.lib.unc.edu/record/uuid:3b30085f-6f38-4a7e-b92f-d991faf12933

Smith, Christine Kay. *The Role of Feedback in State Support and Sponsorship of Terrorism: Foreign Policy Implications*. MA Thesis (English), September 1991, Virginia Tech. URL: https://vtechworks.lib.vt.edu/han-dle/10919/45337

Smith, David Michael. *Immigrants and Counterterrorism Policy: A Comparative Study of the United States and Britain*. Ph.D. Thesis (English), April 2013, Northeastern University. URL: https://repository.library.north-eastern.edu/files/neu:1834

Smith, G. Davidson. *The Liberal Democratic Response to Terrorism: A Comparative Study of the Policies of Canada, the United States and the United Kingdom*. Ph.D. Thesis (English), 1986, University of Aberdeen. URL: http://digitool.abdn.ac.uk/R?func=search-advanced-go&find_code1=WSN&request1=AAIU366344

Smith, Phillip Andrew. *The Axe Without the Handle: An Exploratory Analysis of Eco-Terrorism and Its Relationships to U.S. Public Policy towards Terrorism (1990-2010)*. Ph.D. Thesis (English), 2014, Nova Southeastern University. URL: http://pqdtopen.proquest.com/#viewpdf?dispub=3646796

Smythe, Leanne Jennifer. *Non-Traditional Security in the Post-Cold War Era: Implications of a Broadened Security Agenda for the Militaries of Canada and Australia*. Ph.D. Thesis (English), University of British Columbia. URL: https://open.library.ubc.ca/cIRcle/collections/ubctheses/24/items/1.0073732

Star, Melissa Rose. *A Policy Analysis of the Changes in Information Sharing Created from the Homeland Security Act of 2002*. MA Thesis (English), Spring 2014, California State University – Sacramento. URL: http://csus-dspace.calstate.edu/handle/10211.3/122202

Stewart, Craig M. Countering Violent Extremism Policy in the United States: Are CVE Programs in America Effectively Mitigating the Threat of Homegrown Violent Extremism? MA Thesis (English), December 2017, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/handle/10945/56816

Strassburger, Brad. The Inadequate Dominance of Realism: An Analysis of the U.S. War on Terror. MA Thesis

ISSN 2334-3745 225 February 2019

(English), May 2005, Brock University. URL: http://dr.library.brocku.ca/handle/10464/1175

Swartzendruber, Paul. *Anti-Terrorism Policy Reform in Indonesia: Consequences and Implications for Internal and External Counterterrorism Cooperation*. MA Thesis (English), May 2018, Harvard University. URL: https://dash.harvard.edu/handle/1/37945107

Syvertsen, Trude Helen. *Pre-aktiv strafferett som tiltak mot terror. En trussel mot demokratiet?* MA Thesis (Norwegian), November 2015, Universitetet i Tromsø. URL: https://munin.uit.no/handle/10037/9106

Tabatabaei, Behzad. *The Political Economy of Oil, Terrorism and Institutional Development in Iran and its Impact on the Middle East.* Ph.D. Thesis (English), August 2010, University of Southern California. URL: http://digitallibrary.usc.edu/cdm/compoundobject/collection/p15799coll127/id/396749/rec/7086

Taskale, Ali Riza. *Neoliberal and Militarised Post-Politics: Four Social Regimes, Four Affects and Radical Politics Today*. Ph.D. Thesis (English), February 2013, University of Sheffield. URL: http://etheses.whiterose.ac.uk/4111

Teklu, Asmelash Yohannes. *Striking the Balance Between Conforming to Human Rights Standards and Enacting Anti-Terrorism Legislation: A Challenge of the 21st Century (an Ethiopian Perspective)*. Ph.D. Thesis (English), January 2014, University of Lincoln. URL: http://eprints.lincoln.ac.uk/14695

Terlizzi, Anthony P. *Terrorism and U.S. Counterterrorism in Southeast Asia*. MA Thesis (English), September 2002, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/handle/10945/2905

Tessier, Simon. État d'exception et crise de légitimité: une analyse politique des évènements d'octobre 1970. MA Thesis (French), September 2007, Université du Québec à Montréal. URL: http://www.archipel.uqam.ca/640/1/M10034.pdf

Therrien-Denis, Simon. *L'autre terrorisme*: la criminalisation de la violation de l'interdiction de terrorisme prévue en droit international humanitaire et les éléments constitutifs du crime. MA Thesis (French), 2011, Université Laval. URL: https://corpus.ulaval.ca/jspui/handle/20.500.11794/22426

Tng, Eng Hock. *Terrorism in the Maritime Domain*. MA Thesis (English), March 2013, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/handle/10945/32910

Tola, Dorian. *Albanian-NATO Relations in the Fight Against International Terrorism*. MA Thesis (English), December 2012, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/handle/10945/27915

Tolboom, Joeri. *Samen sterker? De internationale samenwerking van de Nederlandse politiediensten in de strijd tegen het terrorisme van de jaren zeventig en tachtig.* MA Thesis (Dutch), April 2016, Universiteit Utrecht. URL: https://dspace.library.uu.nl/handle/1874/334247

Topstad, Solveig. *Fattigdomsbekjempelse eller terrorbekjempelse?*: *Endringer i amerikansk bistandsfordeling som følge av krigen mot terror.* MA Thesis (Norwegian), October 2010, Universitetet i Oslo. URL: https://www.duo.uio.no/handle/10852/13198

Treiber, Markus. *Die Gemeinsame Außen- und Sicherheitspolitik der Europäischen Union im Zeitalter von Terrorismus und organisierter Kriminalität*. MA Thesis (German), 2010, Universität Wien. URL: http://othes.univie.ac.at/11364

Trujillo Álvarez, Pedro. *América latina: la organización de los estados americanos y el terrorismo global.* Ph.D. Thesis (Spanish), 2013, Instituto Universitario Gutiérrez Mellado. URL: http://e-spacio.uned.es/fez/view.php?pid=tesisuned:IUGM-Ptrujillo

Tsui, Chin-Kuei. *Tracing the Discursive Origins of the War on Terror: President Clinton and the Construction of New Terrorism in the Post-Cold War Era*. Ph.D. Thesis (English), April 2014, University of Otago. URL: https://ourarchive.otago.ac.nz/handle/10523/4771

ISSN 2334-3745 226 February 2019

Tulich, Tamara. *The Preventive State? Prevention and Pre-Emption in Mental Health, High Risk Offender and Anti-Terror Laws.* Ph.D. Thesis (English), July 2014, University of New South Wales. URL: http://www.unsworks.unsw.edu.au/primo-library/libweb/action/dlDisplay.do?vid=UNSWORKS&docId=unsworks-12047

Tumushabe, Alex Bwoma. *The Dilemma of Combating Terrorism in Democratizing States: A Case Study of the Republic of Uganda*. MA Thesis (English), March 2015, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/handle/10945/45264

Vasiliauskienė, Violeta. *The Fight Against Terrorism in the Context of International Humanitarian Law.* Ph.D. Thesis (English), 2014, Vilnius University. URL: http://vddb.laba.lt/obj/LT-eLABa-0001:E.02~2014 ~D_20140303_135329-20805

Veldhuis, Tinka. *Captivated by Fear: An Evaluation of Terrorism Detention Policy*. Ph.D. Thesis (English), March 2015, University of Groningen. URL: http://www.rug.nl/research/portal/en/publications/captivated-by-fear(b3538ab9-231c-4d03-aca0-d684ad5a6337).html

Volpe, Lauren. *Terrifying Environments, Environing Terrorism: An Ecofeminist Critique of the FBI's Response to the Earth Liberation Front.* MA Thesis (English), May 2010, Texas Woman's University. URL: https://twu-ir.tdl.org/handle/11274/10478

Walewski, Paul M. A. Combating International Terrorism: A Study of Whether the Responses by the UK and US to the Events of 9/11 are Compatible with Respect for Fundamental Human Rights. MA Thesis (English), April 2004, University of British Columbia. URL: https://open.library.ubc.ca/cIRcle/collections/ubctheses/831/ items/1.0077492

Walsh, Bryan Thomas. *The Ephemera of Dissident Memory: Remembering Military Violence in 21st-Century American War Culture*. Ph.D. Thesis (English), February 2017, Indiana University. URL: https://scholarworks.iu.edu/dspace/handle/2022/21242

Walter, Caroline. *La reconnaissance des mouvements de libération nationale comme élément de mise en oeuvre du droit des peuples de choisir leur propre régime politique*. MA Thesis (French), December 2008, Université du Québec à Montréal. URL: http://www.archipel.uqam.ca/2157/1/M10707.pdf

Water, Machiel toe. *Europol als terrorismebestrijdende instantie*. MA Thesis (Dutch), 2007, Universiteit Utrecht. URL: https://dspace.library.uu.nl/handle/1874/25469

Weggemans, Petra. "The war on terrorism": De Amerikaanse grondwet en de oorlog tegen het terrorism. MA Thesis (Dutch), 2008, Open Universiteit Nederland. URL: http://dspace.ou.nl/handle/1820/1351

Wegner, Nicole. *Inter-National Imag(ining): Canada's Military in Afghanistan*. Ph.D. Thesis (English), March 2016, McMaster University. URL: https://macsphere.mcmaster.ca/handle/11375/19710

Weeks, Douglas M. Radicals and Reactionaries: The Polarisation of Community and Government in the Name of Public Safety and Security. Ph.D. Thesis (English), 2013, University of St Andrews, URL: https://research-repository.st-andrews.ac.uk/handle/10023/3416

Wetzel, Jens. *Stolperstein Terrorismusbekämpfung*. Ph.D. Thesis (German), June 2013, Technischen Universität Chemnitz. URL: http://nbn-resolving.de/urn:nbn:de:bsz:ch1-qucosa-157762

Whalen, Michelle. *The Effects of Suicide Terrorism in Afghanistan and Iraq on US Policy and Military Strategy*. MA Thesis (English), 2009, University of Central Florida. URL: https://stars.library.ucf.edu/etd/4120/

Williams, Andrew S. *The Interception of Civil Aircraft Over the High Seas in the Global War on Terror*. MA Thesis (English), 2006, McGill University. URL: http://digitool.library.mcgill.ca/webclient/StreamGate?folder-id=0&dvs=1548952696022~888

ISSN 2334-3745 227 February 2019

va2%3A1107758&dswid=OATDFullTextWindow#sthash.ATJTeTzo.dpbs

Willschick, Elliott. *A Comparative Constitutional Analysis of the Judicial Treatment of Torture Between Israel and the United States: Navigating the Contentious Issue of Legality vs Policy in National Security Matters.* MA Thesis (English), 2010, University of Toronto. URL: https://tspace.library.utoronto.ca/handle/1807/25515

Yarrow, Abdiaziz B. Countering Radicalization and its Impact on National Security in East Africa: The Case for the Diplomatic Approach in Kenya. MA Thesis, October 2017, University of Nairobi. URL: http://erepository.uonbi.ac.ke/handle/11295/98336

Yengejeh, Saeid Mirzaei. *Law-Making by the Security Council in Areas of Counter-Terrorism and Non-Prolif-eration of Weapons of Mass-Destruction*. Ph.D. Thesis (English), November 2016, University of Ottawa. URL: https://ruor.uottawa.ca/handle/10393/35536

Zingg, Genevieve. *Turkey Under Emergency Rule: Politicized Terrorism Prosecutions and Criminalized Dissent.* MA Thesis (English), September 12, 2018, Columbia University. URL: https://academiccommons.columbia. edu/doi/10.7916/D82Z2PF5

About the Compiler: Ryan Scrivens (Associate Editor for Theses) is an incoming Assistant Professor in the School of Criminal Justice at Michigan State University (MSU). He is also a Visiting Researcher at the VOX-Pol Network of Excellence, a Research Associate at the International CyberCrime Research Centre (ICCRC) at Simon Fraser University (SFU), and the Coordinator of the Canadian Network of Ph.D. Theses Writers at the Terrorism Research Initiative (TRI). Ryan received a Ph.D. in Criminology from SFU.

ISSN 2334-3745 228 February 2019

Recent Online Resources for the Analysis of Terrorism and Related Subjects

Compiled and selected by Berto Jongman

Most of the items included below became available online between December 2018 and February 2019. They are categorised under twelve headings:

- 1. Non-Religious Terrorism: Actors, Groups, Incidents and Campaigns
- 2. Religious (mainly Jihadi) Terrorism: Actors, Groups, Incidents and Campaigns
- 3. Terrorist Strategies and Tactics
- 4. Conflict, Crime and Political Violence other than Terrorism
- 5. Counter-Terrorism General
- 6. Counter-Terrorist Strategies, Tactics and Operations
- 7. State Repression and Civil War at Home and Clandestine & Open Warfare Abroad
- 8. Prevention and Preparedness Studies (including Countering Violent Extremism, De-Radicalization, Counter-Narratives)
- 9. Intelligence
- 10. Cyber Operations
- 11. Risk & Threat Assessments, Forecasts, Analytical Studies
- 12. Also Worth Reading

N.B.: 'Recent Online Resources for the Analysis of Terrorism and Related Subjects' is a regular feature of this journal. For past listings, see 'Archive' at https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/perspectives-on-terrorism/

1. Non-Religious Terrorism: Actors, Groups, Incidents and Campaigns

P. Allen. Arsonists firebombs country home of France's President of the National Assembly while he and partner were out – as friend Macron blasts 'violence and intimidation' amid Yellow Vest chaos. *Daily Mail Online*, February 9, 2019. URL: https://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/article-6685537/Arsonist-firebombs-home-Frances-President-National-Assembly-partner-out.html

Russia: fake bomb threats prompt mass evacuations in Moscow. *Deutsche Welle*, February 5, 2019. URL: https://www.dw.com/en/russia-fake-bomb-threats-prompt-mass-evacuations-in-moscow/a-47371782

Suspected potassium cyanide sent to Japanese newspapers, drug and food companies: media. *Reuters*, January 29, 2019, URL: https://www.reuters.com/article/us-japan-crime/suspected-potassium-cyanide-sent-to-japanese-newspapers-drug-and-food-companies-media-idUSKCN1PN08U

N. North. Elderly former IRA terrorists are being coaxed out of retirement to exploit tensions in Northern Ireland over Brexit as New IRA 'plots six week campaign of violence and disruption.' *Daily Mail Online*, January 26, 2019. URL: https://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/article-6635723/Elderly-former-IRA-terrorists-coaxed-retirement-exploit-Brexit-tensions.html

Der Brexit lässt den IRA-Terror neu aufflammen. *AFP*, January 21, 2019. URL: https://www.t-online.de/na-chrichten/ausland/krisen/id-85123866/autobomben-in-nordirland-brexit-laesst-den-ira-terror-neu-aufflammen.html

The crimes that made Cesare Battisti one of Italy's most wanted. *The Local*, January 14, 2019. URL: https://www.thelocal.it/20190114/the-crimes-that-made-cesare-battisti-one-of-italys-most-wanted

K. Singh, A. Thakker. Nagaland's time: a states-led effort to resolve the Naga conflict. War on the Rocks, Jan-

ISSN 2334-3745 229 February 2019

uary 17, 2019. URL: https://warontherocks.com/2019/01/nagalands-time-a-states-led-effort-to-resolve-the-naga-conflict/

Colombia seeks arrest of ELN rebel leaders after bombing. *Deutsche Welle*, January 19, 2019. URL: https://www.dw.com/en/colombia-seeks-arrest-of-eln-rebel-leaders-after-bombing/a-47146113

Democratic Republic of the Congo. Country Report: children and security. *The Romeo Dallaire Child Soldiers Initiative*, October 2018. URL: https://www.childsoldiers.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/10/DRC-October-2018-Report.pdf

D. Brennan. Far-right politician seriously injured in politically motivated assault by masked attackers. *Newsweek*, January 8, 2019. URL: https://www.newsweek.com/far-right-politician-seriously-injured-political-ly-motivated-assault-masked-1283408

Greek urban guerrillas OLA claim TV station attack. *Channel News Asia*, January 9, 2019. URL: https://www.justsecurity.org/62156/terrorists-southern-border-myth-reality/

Chairman of Germany's anti-migrant AfD party is 'beaten nearly to death' after he attacked is 'politically motivated' 'assassination attempt'. *Daily Mail Online*, January 8, 2019. URL: https://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/article-6568129/Chairman-Germanys-AfD-party-beaten-nearly-death-politically-motivated-attack.html

Rakhine rebels kill 13 in Independence Day attack on Myanmar police posts. *The Guardian*, January 6, 2019. URL: https://www.theguardian.com/world/2019/jan/06/rakhine-rebels-kill-13-in-independence-day-attack-on-myanmar-police-posts

Colombia and Venezuela: criminal Siamese twins. *InSightCrime*, May 21, 2018. URL: https://www.insight-crime.org/investigations/colombia-venezuela-criminal-siamese-twins/

FARC dissidents and the ELN turn Venezuela into criminal enclave. *InSightCrime*, December 10, 2018. URL: https://www.insightcrime.org/news/analysis/farc-dissidents-eln-turn-venezuela-criminal-enclave/

Colombia FARC: 85 ex-rebels killed since peace deal. *BBC*, January 1, 2019. URL: https://www.bbc.com/news/world-latin-america-46726118

2. Religious (mainly Jihadi) Terrorism: Actors, Groups, Incidents and Campaigns 2a. Al-Qaeda and Affiliates

A.H. Cordesman. The trends in Islamic Extremism: factors affecting the future threat. *CISIS*, January 29, 2019. URL: https://www.csis.org/analysis/trends-islamic-extremism-factors-affecting-future-threat

T. Hamming. The hardline stream of global jihad: revisiting the ideological origin of the Islamic State. *CTC Sentinel*, 12(10), January 2019. URL: https://ctc.usma.edu/hardline-stream-global-jihad-revisiting-ideologi-cal-origin-islamic-state/

B. Starr. US officials say new al-Qaeda leader video shows terror group is still a threat. *CNN*, February 6, 2019. URL: https://us.cnn.com/2019/02/06/politics/al-qaeda-leader-threat/index.html

Progress and setbacks in the fight against African militant Islamist groups in 2018. *Africa Center for Strategic Studies*, January 25, 2019. URL: https://africacenter.org/spotlight/progress-and-setbacks-in-the-fight-against-african-militant-islamist-groups-in-2018/

E. Graham-Harrison, A. Roth. Taliban say they have no plans to seize whole of Afghanistan by force. *The Guardian*, February 6, 2019. URL: https://www.theguardian.com/world/2019/feb/06/taliban-say-they-have-no-plans-to-seize-afghanistan-by-force

B. Mroue. Al-Qaida's advance in northern Syria threatens fragile truce. Associated Press, January 30, 2019.

ISSN 2334-3745 230 February 2019

URL: https://www.militarytimes.com/flashpoints/2019/01/30/al-qaidas-advance-in-northern-syria-threat-ens-fragile-truce/

S. Cherono, M. Kakah. Kenya: revealed – how al-Shabaab are circulating millions of terror money unnoticed. *All Africa*, January 29, 2019. URL: https://allafrica.com/stories/201901290691.html

Scorecard: 2018 jihadist forecast. *Stratfor Threat Lens*, January 2019. URL: https://cdn2.hubspot.net/ https://cdn2.hubsp

IntelBrief. Jihadist terrorism threatens to destabilize Burkina Faso and its neighbors. *The Soufan Center*, January 29, 2019. URL: https://grayzoneproject.com/2019/01/29/venezuelans-oppose-intervention-us-sanctions-poll/

K. Sengupta. From al-Shabaab to Boko Haram: we ignore African terror at our peril. *The Independent*, January 28, 2019. URL: https://www.independent.co.uk/news/long_reads/islam-terror-middle-east-africa-jihad-al-shabaab-kenya-boko-nigeria-a8745781.html

Jihadism after the caliphate: a joint GWUPOE-FFI discussion. GW Program on Extremism. GW Program on Extremism, YouTube, January 25, 2019. URL: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=_krCxXa5AWo

Messages to Arabia: al-Qaida attacks MBS and the Saudi monarchy. *Jihadica*, January 24, 2019. URL: http://www.jihadica.com/messages-to-arabia/

IntelBrief. Al-Qaeda in the Indian Subcontinent: the nucleus of jihad in South Asia. *The Soufan Group*, January 23, 2019. URL: http://www.soufangroup.com/intelbrief-al-qaeda-in-the-indian-subcontinent-the-nucle-us-of-jihad-in-south-asia/

D. Otto. ISIS & al-Qaeda tactical switch will impact terrorist trends in 2019. *Bulwark Intelligence*, January 22, 2019. URL: http://bulwarkintelligence.com/reports/terrorism/isis-al-qaeda-tactical-switch-will-impact-terrorist-trends-in-2019/

V. Rouget, M. Judson. Islamist militancy in the Sahel: four key trends. *ControlRisks*, January 9, 2019. URL: https://www.controlrisks.com/our-thinking/insights/islamist-militancy-in-the-sahel

Tracking jihadist movements in 2019: al-Qaeda. *Stratfor*, January 22, 2019. URL: https://worldview.stratfor.com/article/tracking-jihadist-movements-2019-al-qaeda

H. Nsaibia. Insecurity in southwestern Burkina Faso in the context of an expanding insurgency. *ACLED*, January 2019. URL: https://www.acleddata.com/2019/01/17/insecurity-in-southwestern-burkina-fa-so-in-the-context-of-an-expanding-insurgency/

P. Kleinfeld. In eastern Burkina Faso, local grievances help militancy take root. *IRIN News*, January 15, 2019. URL: https://www.irinnews.org/news-feature/2019/01/15/eastern-burkina-faso-local-grievances-help-militancy-take-root

Ceasefire deal sees jihadists take over Syria's Idlib. *Daily Mail Online*, January 10, 2019. URL: https://www.dailymail.co.uk/wires/afp/article-6577055/Ceasefire-deal-sees-jihadists-Syrias-Idlib.html

S. al-Khalidi. Syrian jihadists cement grip, forcing deal on Idlib rebels. *Reuters*, January 10, 2019. URL: https://uk.reuters.com/article/uk-mideast-crisis-syria-idlib/syrian-jihadists-cement-grip-forcing-deal-on-idlib-rebels-idUKKCN1P41QS

A. Abubakar, C. Lebur. How to explain the return of Nigeria's Boko

Haram militants? *The Citizen*, January 5, 2019. URL: https://citizen.co.za/news/news-africa/2057774/how-to-explain-the-return-of-nigerias-boko-haram-militants/

Is Iraq's 'Guardians of religion' aiming for a 'Sunni region'? *Al Arabiya*, January 2, 2019. URL: https://english.

ISSN 2334-3745 231 February 2019

- $\frac{alarabiya.net/en/features/2019/01/02/Iraq-Guardians-of-Religion-seeks-to-establish-a-Sunni-region.html? fb-clid=IwAR28lmNSnaaIbS1ZfM6yQXi7OCbms8Flygthrqs2PcNlgmDY2gpOXgp1sEk}{}$
- S. Sargar. In Kashmir, claimed al-Qaeda affiliate Ansar Ghazwat-ul-Hind may be struggling to survive. *Kashmir Report*, January 7, 2019. URL: https://scroll.in/article/907269/in-kashmir-al-qaedas-putative-affiliate-an-sar-ghazwat-ul-hind-may-be-struggling-to-survive
- A. Jawad al-Tamimi. Hurras al-Din's statement of condolences for Abu Julaylib and companions: translation and analysis. *Pundicity*, January 1, 2019. URL: http://www.aymennjawad.org/2019/01/hurras-al-din-state-ment-of-condolences-for-abu
- T. Joscelyn, C. Weiss. JNIM spokesman warns tribes in Mali. *FDD's Long War Journal*, January 3, 2019. URL: https://www.longwarjournal.org/archives/2019/01/jnim-spokesman-warns-tribes-in-mali.php
- E. Mora. Pentagon: Taliban distancing from Sunni al-Qaeda while getting cozy with Iran. *Breitbart*, January 4, 2019. URL: https://www.breitbart.com/national-security/2019/01/04/pentagon-taliban-distancing-sun-ni-al-qaeda-getting-cozy-iran/
- C.P. Clarke. The future of the global jihadist movement after the collapse of the caliphate. The Hague: *ICCT*, December 11, 2018. URL: https://icct.nl/publication/the-future-of-the-global-jihadist-movement-after-the-collapse-of-the-caliphate/
- L. Vidino. 2018: the year in jihadism. *Lawfare*, December 31, 2018. URL: https://www.lawfareblog.com/2018-year-jihadism

2b. Daesh (IS/ISIS/ISIL) and Affiliates

- M. Chulov. 'The fighting was intense': witness tells of two-day attempt to kill ISIS leader. *The Guardian*, February 10, 2019. URL: https://www.theguardian.com/world/2019/feb/10/foreign-isis-fighters-launched-failed-coup-attempt-say-witnesses
- S. El Deeb. Corned in Syria, Islamic State lays groundwork for a new insurgency. *The Times of Israel*, February 7, 2019. URL: https://www.timesofisrael.com/cornered-in-syria-islamic-state-lays-groundwork-for-a-new-in-surgency/
- B. Fitzpatrick. If ISIL is defeated, where is its megalomaniac leader Abu Bakr al-Baghdadi? *National Post*, February 6, 2019. URL: https://nationalpost.com/news/world/if-isil-is-defeated-where-is-its-megalomaniac-leader-abu-bakr-al-baghdadi
- A. Speckhard, A. Shajkovi. Observing the defeat of ISIS in Syria: gone in 30 days or likely to return? *Homeland Security Today*, February 5, 2019. URL: https://www.linkedin.com/pulse/observing-defeat-isis-syriagone-30-days-likely-anne-speckhard-ph-d-/
- M. Chulov. ISIS leader believed to have fled coup attempt by his own fighters. *The Guardian*, February 7, 2019. URL: https://www.theguardian.com/world/2019/feb/07/isis-leader-believed-to-have-fled-coup-attempt-by-his-own-fighters
- F. Kelley. Boko Haram or Islamic State West Africa ...or both? *The Defense Post*, February 1, 2019. URL: https://thedefensepost.com/2019/02/01/boko-haram-islamic-state-west-africa/
- A. Day. Patience: Islamic State's new found focus on Sabr. *The Defence Post*, February 6, 2019. URL: https://thedefensepost.com/2019/02/06/patience-islamic-state-new-focus-sabr/
- R. Hall. 'We will finish them soon': the last days of the ISIS caliphate loom as jihadis face defeat in Syria. *The Independent*, February 2, 2019. URL: https://www.independent.co.uk/news/world/middle-east/isis-syria-defeat-islamic-state-end-caliphate-sdf-kurds-a8757991.html

B. Yuruk. UN report says Daesh evolving into covert network. *Anadolu Agency*, February 6, 2019. URL: https://www.aa.com.tr/en/americas/un-report-says-daesh-evolving-into-covert-network/1384633

Abdullah bin Khaled al-Saud. Saudi foreign fighters: analysis of leaked Islamic State entry documents. *ICSR*, February 5, 2019. URL: https://icsr.info/2019/02/05/saudi-foreign-fighters-analysis-of-leaked-islam-ic-state-entry-documents/

A. Speckhard, A. Shajkovci. ISIS smuggler: sleeper cells and 'undead' suicide bombers have infiltrated Europe. *The Daily Beast*, February 5, 2019. URL: https://www.thedailybeast.com/isis-smuggler-sleeper-cells-and-undead-suicide-bombers-have-infiltrated-europe?source=twitter&via=desktop

R. Browne, B. Starr. Pentagon says ISIS likely to retake territory and claim 'victory' after US Syria withdrawal. *CNN*, February 5, 2019. URL: https://edition.cnn.com/2019/02/04/politics/pentagon-report-isis/index.htm-l?utm_medium=social&utm_source=twCNNp&utm_content=2019-02-04T15:58:37&utm_term=image

Spotlight on global jihad (January 24-30). *The Meir Amit Intelligence and Terrorism Information Center*, January 31, 2019. URL: https://www.terrorism-info.org.il/en/spotlight-global-jihad-january-24-30-2019/

L. Aboufadel. ISIS far from defeated in Syria: 2019 outlook (maps). *Al Masdar News*, January 30, 2019. URL: https://www.almasdarnews.com/article/isis-far-from-defeated-in-syria-2019-outlook-maps/

T. Joscelyn. ODNI releases annual overview of Islamic State and al-Qaeda networks. *FDD's Long War Journal*, January 29, 2019. URL: https://www.longwarjournal.org/archives/2019/01/odni-releases-annual-overview-of-islamic-state-and-al-qaeda-networks.php

IS still has 'thousands' of fighters, seeking comeback: US intel chief. *The New Arab*, January 30, 2019. URL: https://www.alaraby.co.uk/english/news/2019/1/29/is-still-has-thousands-of-fighters-seeking-comeback?utm source=twitter&utm medium=sf

M. Petty. Explainer: who is behind the Philippines church bombings? *Reuters*, January 28, 2019. URL: https://www.yahoo.com/news/explainer-behind-philippine-church-bombings-063902595.html

Violent Islamism: a conversation with Thomas Hegghammer. *POMEPS Podcast*, January 2019. URL: https://pomeps.org/2019/01/28/violent-islamism-a-conversation-with-thomas-hegghammer/

T. Joscelyn. Al-Qaeda ideologue justifies Shabaab's war with the Islamic State in Somalia. *FDD's Long War Journal*, January 23, 2019. URL: https://www.longwarjournal.org/archives/2019/01/al-qaeda-ideologue-justifies-shabaabs-war-with-the-islamic-state-in-somalia.php

R. Callimachi. The new, reconstituted ISIS seems very much alive. *The New York Times*, January 21, 2019. URL: http://www.startribune.com/the-new-reconstituted-isis-seems-very-much-alive/504676962/

A. Jawad al-Tamimi. The killing of Abu Hafs al-Jazrawi by the Islamic State. *Pundicity*, January 19, 2019. URL: http://www.aymennjawad.org/2019/01/the-killing-of-abu-hafs-al-jazrawi-by-the-islamic

C. Winter, A. K. al-Saud. The obscure theologian who shaped ISIS. *The Atlantic*, December 4, 2019. URL: https://www.theatlantic.com/international/archive/2016/12/isis-muhajir-syria/509399/

T. Hamming. The hardline stream of global jihad: revisiting the ideological origin of the Islamic State. *CTC Sentinel*, 12(1), January 2019. URL: https://ctc.usma.edu/hardline-stream-global-jihad-revisiting-ideologi-cal-origin-islamic-state/?fbclid=IwAR2h8kdv0XWZX1pB-KlyBtaBCartu-S-9xfjQdtq6TNsUasIrtb1m3wsT-Aw

A. Jawad al-Tamimi. Dissent in the Islamic State: the testimony of Abu Abd al-Malek al-Shami. *Pundicity*, January 14, 2019. URL: http://www.aymennjawad.org/22240/dissent-in-the-islamic-state-the-testimony-of-abu

B. Hoffman, S.G. Jones. Early withdrawal will lead to more terrorism. The Wall Street Journal, January 10,

ISSN 2334-3745 233 February 2019

2019. URL: https://www.wsj.com/articles/early-withdrawal-will-lead-to-more-terrorism-11547165066

ISIS's response to President Trump's statement: ISIS is not defeated and is determined to continue its campaigns in Syria, Iraq and throughout the world. *The Meir Amit Intelligence and Terrorism Information Center*, January 10, 20189. URL: https://www.terrorism-info.org.il/en/isiss-response-president-trumps-statement-isis-not-defeated-determined-continue-campaigns-syria-iraq-throughout-world/

C. Weiss. Analysis: Islamic State expanded operations in Somalia in 2018. *FDD's Long War Journal*, January 4, 2019. URL: https://www.longwarjournal.org/archives/2019/01/analysis-islamic-state-expanded-operations-in-somalia-in-2018.php

K. Mehlman-Orozco, C. Sampson, T. Schnaubelt. The jihadi next door: how ISIS is forcing, defrauding, and coercing your neighbor into terrorism. *Brilliance Audio*, 2019. URL: https://www.amazon.com/Ji-hadi-Next-Door-Defrauding-Terrorism/dp/B07LC16ZNL

S. Hughes, A. Meleagrou-Hitchens, B. Clifford. A new American leader rises in ISIS. *The Atlantic*, January 13, 2018. URL: https://www.theatlantic.com/international/archive/2018/01/isis-america-hoxha/550508/

Review of destination paradise. Among the jihadists of the Maldives. *European Eye on Radicalization*, December 5, 2018. URL: https://eeradicalization.com/review-of-destination-paradise-among-the-jihadists-of-the-maldives/

M. Svirsky. ISIS releases 'Flames of War' feature film to intimidate West. *Clarion Project*, September 21, 2018. URL: https://clarionproject.org/isis-releases-flames-war-feature-film-intimidate-west/

E. Lemon. Extremism trends in Tajikistan. *Eye on European Radicalization*, December 6, 2018. URL: https://eeradicalization.com/extremism-trends-in-tajikistan/

Death toll in Syria falls in 2018. *Deutsche Welle*, January 1, 2019. URL: https://www.dw.com/en/death-toll-in-syria-falls-in-2018/a-46910498

Interview with ISIS fighter Part 1. *Clarion Project*, December 19, 2018. URL: https://clarionproject.org/exclusive-clarion-interview-convicted-isis-fighter/

Interview with ISIS fighter Part 2. *Clarion Project*, December 30, 2018. URL: https://clarionproject.org/interview-isis-fighter-part-2/

2c. Other

J. Magid. Shin Bet: murder of Israeli teen Ori Ansbacher was a terror attack. *The Times of Israel*, February 10, 2019. URL: https://www.cryptoglobe.com/latest/2019/02/cryptopia-hackers-have-cashed-out-over-2-million-through-a-decentralized-exchange/

P. Gurski. Yes, Jewish terrorism is a real thing. *Borealis Threat and Risk Consulting*, February 9, 2019. URL: https://www.linkedin.com/pulse/yes-jewish-terrorism-real-thing-phil-gurski/

A. Xudosi. Syrian Turkmen groups in Latakia: an overview. *Bellingcat*, February 7, 2019. URL: https://www.bellingcat.com/news/mena/2019/02/07/syrian-turkmen-groups-in-latakia-an-overview/

Hezbollah leader calls on Lebanon to accept arms from Iran to confront Israel. *The Times of Israel*, February 7, 2019. URL: https://www.timesofisrael.com/hezbollah-leader-calls-on-lebanon-to-accept-arms-from-iran-to-confront-israel/

News of terrorism and the Israeli-Palestinian conflict (January 30-february 5, 2019). *The Meir Amit Intelligence and terrorism Information Center*, February 6, 2019. URL: <a href="https://www.terrorism-info.org.il/en/news-terrorism-israeli-palestinian-conflict-january-30-february-5-2019/?fbclid=IwAR03ebGR1CwUzd-news-terrorism-israeli-palestinian-conflict-january-30-february-5-2019/?fbclid=IwAR03ebGR1CwUzd-news-terrorism-israeli-palestinian-conflict-january-30-february-5-2019/?fbclid=IwAR03ebGR1CwUzd-news-terrorism-israeli-palestinian-conflict-january-30-february-5-2019/?fbclid=IwAR03ebGR1CwUzd-news-terrorism-israeli-palestinian-conflict-january-30-february-5-2019/?fbclid=IwAR03ebGR1CwUzd-news-terrorism-israeli-palestinian-conflict-january-30-february-5-2019/?fbclid=IwAR03ebGR1CwUzd-news-terrorism-israeli-palestinian-conflict-january-30-february-5-2019/?fbclid=IwAR03ebGR1CwUzd-news-terrorism-israeli-palestinian-conflict-january-30-february-5-2019/?fbclid=IwAR03ebGR1CwUzd-news-terrorism-israeli-palestinian-conflict-january-30-february-5-2019/?fbclid=IwAR03ebGR1CwUzd-news-terrorism-israeli-palestinian-conflict-january-30-february-5-2019/?fbclid=IwAR03ebGR1CwUzd-news-terrorism-israeli-palestinian-conflict-january-30-february-5-2019/?fbclid=IwAR03ebGR1CwUzd-news-terrorism-israeli-palestinian-conflict-january-30-february-

jA4HpJ6XoaUyOW17aZsRFF0ldK1AHvu79ahffRv2Xba8A

- S. Frantzman. Iranian-backed militias threaten US forces in Iraq. *Middle East Forum*, February 3, 2019. URL: https://www.meforum.org/57734/iranian-backed-militias-threaten-us-forces-iraq
- M. Ayoob. Pashtun nationalism and the American withdrawal from Afghanistan. *The Strategist*, January 21, 2019. URL: https://www.aspistrategist.org.au/pashtun-nationalism-and-the-american-withdrawal-from-afghanistan/
- M. Ayoob. The rise and rise of Hezbollah. *The Strategist*, February 6, 2019. URL: https://www.aspistrategist.org.au/the-rise-and-rise-of-hezbollah/

News of terrorism and the Israeli-Palestinian conflict (January 23-29, 2019). *The Meir Amit Intelligence and Terrorism Information Center*, January 30, 2019. URL: https://www.terrorism-info.org.il/en/news-terrorism-israeli-palestinian-conflict-january-23-29-2019/?fbclid=IwAR3rk6Bv-aSPITJLnQhrdmuiD3xKH-q2V00uENROkUv-Zis0LUzbassmxmKw

New battle map of Libyan war: January 2009. Al Masdar News, January 30, 2019. URL: https://www.almas-darnews.com/article/new-battle-map-of-libyan-war-january-2019/

Full review of Nasrallah's new interview. *Al Masdar News*, January 27, 2019. URL: https://www.almasdarnews.com/article/full-review-of-nasrallahs-new-interview/

- A. Jawad al-Tamimi. Hamas and Salafi jihadi groups. *Pundicity*, January 28, 2019. URL: http://www.aymenn-jawad.org/22290/hamas-and-salafi-jihadi-groups
- L. Bassam, S. al-Khalidi. Hezbollah could 'for years' enter Israel, group's leader says after tunnels found. *ZeroHedge*, January 26, 2019. URL: https://www.reuters.com/article/us-mideast-crisis-hezbollah/leban-ons-hezbollah-says-surprising-israel-took-so-long-to-find-tunnels-idUSKCN1PK0P7?feedType=RSS&feed-Name=worldNews
- J. Sharon. Where is the national-religious outrage about Jewish terror? *The Jerusalem Post*, January 25, 2019. URL: https://www.jpost.com/Israel-News/Where-is-the-National-Religious-outrage-about-Jewish-ter-ror-578600
- M. Myint. Government reports 2nd ARSA attack in northern Rakhine state this month. *The Irrawaddy*, January 24, 2019. URL: https://www.irrawaddy.com/news/govt-reports-2nd-arsa-attack-northern-rakhine-state-month.html
- J. Ari Gross, A. Rasgon. IDF accuses Iran-backed Islamic Jihad of undermining Gaza calm as tensions rise. *The Times of Israel*, January 24, 2019. URL: https://www.timesofisrael.com/idf-accuses-iran-backed-islamic-jihad-of-undermining-gaza-calm-as-tensions-rise/
- S. Macdonald, N. Lorenzo-Dus. Visual jihad: Constructing the 'Good Muslim' in Online Jihadist Magazines. *Studies in Conflict & Terrorism*, January 14, 2019. URL: https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/1057610X.2018.1559508?journalCode=uter20

Norway probes knife attack as possibly 'terror-related.' *The Local*, January 19, 2019. URL: https://www.thelocal.no/20190119/norway-probes-knife-attack-as-possibly-terror-related

D. Boyle. Terrorists 'dressed as police' shoot dead two abbots and wound two monks in gun attack on Buddhist temple in Muslim region of south Thailand. *Daily Mail Online*, January 19, 2019. URL: https://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/article-6610293/Terrorists-dressed-police-officers-kill-two-Thai-Buddhist-monks.html

Thailand: suspected Muslim rebels storm temple, kill monks. *Deutsche Welle*, January 19, 2019. URL: https://www.dw.com/en/thailand-suspected-muslim-rebels-storm-temple-kill-monks/a-47147387

S. Malm. Russian 'Islamist terrorist', 20, 'who wanted to kill several people' is arrested after woman was knifed

ISSN 2334-3745 235 February 2019

while she was buying groceries in Norway. *Daily Mail Online*, January 18, 2019. URL: https://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/article-6607329/Oslo-stabbing-probed-terrorist-attack-police.html

M.E. de Bruijn. Media narratives about Fulani terrorists. *Wordpress*, January 11, 2019. URL: https://mirjam-debruijn.wordpress.com/2019/01/11/media-narratives-about-fulani-terrorists/

A. al-Haj. Rebel drone bombs Yemen military parade, kills at least six. *Associated Press*, January 10, 2019. URL: https://apnews.com/92f491d2794440afaf53967fceb0c1b9

Decline in terrorist acts. *Pakistan Observer*, January 8, 2019. URL: https://pakobserver.net/decline-in-terrorist-acts/

ACLED methodology and coding decisions around the conflict in Afghanistan. *ACLED*, January 2019. URL: https://www.acleddata.com/wp-content/uploads/dlm_uploads/2019/01/ACLED-Methodology-and-Coding-Decisions-Around-the-Conflict-in-Afghanistan_final-1.pdf

29% decline in terrorist attacks in 2018: report. *The International News*, January 7, 2019. URL: https://www.thenews.com.pk/print/415736-29-decline-in-terrorist-attacks-in-2018-report

A. Harel. Israeli 'Jewish terror' incidents targeting Palestinians tripled in 2018. *Haaretz*, January 6, 2019. URL: https://www.haaretz.com/middle-east-news/palestinians/.premium-jewish-terror-incidents-targeting-palestinians-tripled-in-israel-last-year-1.6809367?utm_source=dlvr.it&utm_medium=twitter

Death toll in Burkina Faso ethnic clashes rises to 46. *The Defense Post*, January 4, 2019. URL: https://thedefensepost.com/2019/01/04/burkina-faso-ethnic-clashes-46-dead/

3.Terrorist Strategies and Tactics

119. The Queue. *Mad Scientist Laboratory*. February 7, 2019. URL: https://madsciblog.tradoc.army.mil/119-the-queue/

How quantum terrorists could bring down the future internet. *MIT Technology Review*, February 8, 2019. URL: https://www.technologyreview.com/s/612887/how-quantum-terrorists-could-bring-down-the-future-internet/?utm source=twitter&utm campaign=site visitor.unpaid.engagement&utm medium=tr social

J. Simon. The business of kidnapping: inside the secret world of hostage negotiation. *The Guardian*, January 25, 2019. URL: https://www.theguardian.com/news/2019/jan/25/business-of-kidnapping-inside-the-secret-world-of-hostage-negotiation-ransom-insurance

M. Bloom. Weaponizing the weak: the role of children in terrorist groups. In: M.A. Drumbl, J.C. Barrett (Eds.). Research handbook on Child Soldiers. *Edward Elgar Publishing*, 2019. Washington & Lee Legal Studies Paper #2019-06, January 16, 2019. URL: https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=3316395 - https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=3316395 - XEOHLEQhWYA.twitter

T. Keatinge, K. Danner. Assessing innovation in terrorist financing. *Studies in Conflict & Terrorism*, January 14, 2019. URL: https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/1057610X.2018.1559516?af=R&journal-Code=uter20

A. Stein. Low-tech, high-reward: the Houthi drone attack. *FPRI*, January 11, 2019. URL: https://www.fpri.org/article/2019/01/low-tech-high-reward-the-houthi-drone-attack/ - .XDkLIzCjNwA.twitter

T. Bacon. Is the enemy of my enemy my friend? How terrorist groups select partners. *Security Studies*, January 8, 2018. URL: https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/09636412.2017.1416813?src=recsys

J. Warner, E. Chapin, H. Matfess. Suicide squads: the logic of linked suicide bombings. *Security Studies*, September 6, 2018. URL: https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/09636412.2018.1508632?journal-Code=fsst20

A. Ashraf, A. Filippidou. Terrorism and technology. *NATO Centre of Excellence, Defence against Terrorism*, 2018. URL: https://www.academia.edu/38068060/Terrorism and Technology?email work cardetitle

Forget Gatwick, why the deadliest terrorist threat from drones is not at our airports. *Homeland Security*, December 28, 2018. URL: https://inhomelandsecurity.com/forget-gatwick-why-the-deadliest-terrorist-threat-from-drones-is-not-at-our-airports/

M. Logan, G. Ligon, and D. Derrick. Applying an Organizational Framework to Examine Jihadi Organizations as an Industry. *Homeland Security Affairs*, Volume 13, Article 6, October 2017. URL: https://www.hsaj.org/articles/14097

V, Harmon, E. Mijkic, C. Kaukinen, H. Weir. Causes and explanations of suicide terrorism: a systematic review. *Homeland Security Affairs*, Vol. 14, 2018. URL: https://www.hsaj.org/articles/14749?fbclid=IwAR3-Ga-HuNNOpwv5_GmRQehG0MHEXExuPnb8mRM0qin49MENLjvx10L2eCPA

L. McManus. Resurgent al-Qaeda plan new series of spectacular attacks against airliners and airports including drone strikes and suicide passengers, says security minister. *Daily Mail Online*, December 23, 3018. URL: https://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/article-6524449/Resurgent-Al-Qaeda-plan-new-series-spectacular-at-tacks-against-airliners-airports.html

Experts warn al-Qaeda is looking to make a comeback and reassert itself as the world's most high-profile terrorist group. *Fox News*, December 26, 2018. URL: https://video.foxnews.com/v/5983690453001/? - sp=-show-clips

J. Fitsanakis. Islamic State issues drone bomb warning following London airport chaos. *Intelnews*, December 24, 2018. URL: https://intelnews.org/2018/12/24/01-2463/

T. Shipman. Al-Qaeda terror group returns to target airliners and airports. *The Sunday Times*, December 23, 2018. URL: https://www.thetimes.co.uk/article/al-qaeda-terror-group-returns-to-target-airliners-mlj3lgf87

Fateh al-Sham obtains 100 drones for chemical attacks in Syria: report. *Press TV*. December 3, 2018. URL: https://www.presstv.com/Detail/2018/12/03/581856/Fateh-alSham-terrorists-obtain-100-drones-to-use-in-chemical-attacks-Report

4. Conflict, Crime and Political Violence other than Terrorism

O. Bulloughs. Money: the inside story of the crooks and kleptocrats who rule the world. St. Martin's Press, 2019. 304p. URL: https://www.theatlantic.com/magazine/archive/2019/03/how-kleptocracy-came-to-america/580471/

F. Foer. Russian-style kleptocracy is infiltrating America. *The Atlantic*, March 2019. URL: https://www.theat-lantic.com/magazine/archive/2019/03/how-kleptocracy-came-to-america/580471/

H. Sherwood. Anti-Semitic incidents in UK at record high for third year in a row. *The Guardian*, February 7, 2019. URL: https://www.theguardian.com/news/2019/feb/07/antisemitic-incidents-uk-record-high-third-year-in-row-community-security-trust?CMP=share_btn_tw

R. van der Veer. The crime-terrorism nexus. *Strategic Monitor*, Clingendael, February 2019. URL: https://www.clingendael.org/pub/2018/strategic-monitor-2018-2019/the-crime-terrorism-nexus/

M. Lamoureux, B. Makuch. Online neo-Nazis are increasingly embracing terror tactics. *Vice*, January 28, 2019. URL: https://www.vice.com/en_ca/article/8xynq4/online-neo-nazis-are-increasingly-embracing-ter-ror-tactics?utm_campaign=sharebutton&fbclid=IwAR28qRcPbqNAAergVyiAa5W5tlJf74bxxY5afwqHPwF-PZK1NFo-jULct1ow

J. Ben Yahia, R. Farrah. Africa: has Algeria joined Africa's new 'cocaine coast'? All Africa, January 28, 2019.

ISSN 2334-3745 237 February 2019

URL: https://allafrica.com/stories/201901290131.html

A. Katz. The cost of dirty money. *Bloomberg*, January 28, 2019. URL: https://www.bloomberg.com/graph-ics/2019-dirty-money/?cmpid=socialflow-twitter-business&utm_medium=social&utm_campaign=socialflow-organic&utm_content=business&utm_source=twitter

M. Galeotti. Gangster geopolitics: the Kremlin's use of criminals as assets abroad. *The Moscow Times*, January 18, 2019. URL: https://themoscowtimes.com/articles/gangster-geopolitics-the-kremlins-use-of-criminals-as-assets-abroad-64204?fbclid=IwAR1sGYigDvubOoixwbTl4vMg6By6Nfl8fHegl3bFM7uq7M7Z0KWx-2UBORso

J. Wilson. 'We've dug ourselves a really deep hole'- David Neiwert on the rise of the far right. *The Guardian*, January 27, 2019. URL: https://www.theguardian.com/world/2019/jan/27/american-exceptionalism-has-to-die-david-neiwert-on-the-rise-of-the-far-right

Murder and extremism in the United States in 2018. *ADL's Center on Extremism*, January 2019. URL: https://www.adl.org/murder-and-extremism-2018

C. Kurzman. Muslim-American involvement with violent extremism, 2001-2018. *Triangle Center on Terrorism and Homeland Security*, January 21, 2019. URL: https://sites.duke.edu/tcths/2019/01/21/muslim-american-involvement-with-violent-extremism-2018/

M. Galeotti. The Vory: the interlinkage between criminality and the Putin administration. *Adamskus Library*, YouTube, January 21, 2019. URL: https://disobedientmedia.com/2019/01/death-of-russiagate-mueller-team-tied-to-mifsuds-network/

R. Machnikowski. Extremism in Poland. *European Eye on Radicalization*, January 14, 2019. URL: https://ee-radicalization.com/extremism-in-poland/

A. Merali. Defining extremism: what does 2019 hold for British Muslims? *Middle East Eye*, January 8, 2019. URL: https://www.middleeasteye.net/columns/defining-extremism-what-does-2019-hold-british-mus-lims-1645376607

S. Kasraoui. Polisario conducts provocative military maneuvers east of defense wall. *Morocco World News*, January 7, 2019. URL: https://www.moroccoworldnews.com/2019/01/262598/polisario-morocco-defense-wall-western-sahara/

F. Kelley. Central African Republic: more than 12,000 displaced to 'roads and forests' after Bakouma violence. *The Defence Post*, January 7, 2019. URL: https://thedefensepost.com/2019/01/07/central-african-republic-12000-displaced-bakouma-violence-fprc/

T. Francois Koudouno. Prospect of ISIS fighters returning rings alarm bells in Morocco. *Morocco World News*, December 31, 2018. URL: https://www.moroccoworldnews.com/2018/12/262082/isis-fighters-morocco/

Armed men kill 37 civilians in part of Mali hit by ethnic violence. *Reuters*, January 2, 2019. URL: https://af.reuters.com/article/topNews/idAFKCN1OW08W-OZATP

M. Colborne. Why does no one care that neo-Nazis are gaining power in Ukraine? *Forward*, December 31, 2018. URL: https://forward.com/opinion/416751/why-does-no-one-care-that-neo-nazis-are-gaining-power-in-ukraine/?fbclid=IwAR12fdMZ2R5OXipDKTL0Ac-3p9JYK-1t9gSRGrHhoSmeSfpIhO5tFHHDQjw

5. Counter-Terrorism - General

N.F. Rice. Private military and security companies as tools of strategy. *Georgetown Security Studies Review*, February 6, 2019. URL: http://georgetownsecuritystudiesreview.org/2019/02/06/private-military-and-security-companies-as-tools-of-strategy/

- N. Krohley. Moving beyond the post-9/11 manhunt: translating tactical wins into strategic success. *Modern War Institute*, February 6, 2019. URL: https://mwi.usma.edu/moving-beyond-post-9-11-manhunt-translating-tactical-wins-strategic-success/
- P. Cobaugh. Narrative warfare: a primer and study guide. 2018. URL: https://www.amazon.com/Introduction-Narrative-Warfare-Primer-Study/dp/1721221417
- Chi Zhang. The double-track system of terrorism proscription in China. *Terrorism and Political Violence*, February 5, 2019. URL: https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/09546553.2018.1549547?journal-Code=ftpv20
- T.J. Coles. Terrorism is a 'small price to pay' for world domination. *Counterpunch*, February 1, 2019. URL: https://www.counterpunch.org/2019/02/01/terrorism-is-a-small-price-to-pay-for-world-domination/
- R. van der Veer, W. Bos, L. van der Heide. Fusion centers in six European countries: emergence, roles and challenges. The Hague: *ICCT*, February 4, 2019. URL: https://icct.nl/publication/fusion-centres-in-six-european-countries-emergence-roles-and-challenges/
- CTED. *Research Digest*, Issue 5, January 2019. URL: https://mailchi.mp/145964b789e4/cted-research-digest-issue-2923341?e=fadd44cdd3
- P. Cockburn. The West failed to learn the most important lessons from the rise and fall of ISIS. *Counterpunch*, January 29, 2019. URL: https://www.counterpunch.org/2019/01/29/the-west-failed-to-learn-the-most-im-portant-lessons-from-the-rise-and-fall-of-isis/
- D. McIlhatton, M. Hardy. Special issue: new understandings and methods for counter terrorism. *Behavioral Sciences of Terrorism and Political Aggression*, 11(1), 2019. URL: https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.108 0/19434472.2018.1555180
- J.D. Rayburn, F.K. Sobchak, J.F. Godfroy, M.D. Morton, J.S. Powell, M.M. Zais. The US army in the Iraq war Volume 1: Invasion insurgency civil war, 2003-2006. *United States Army War College Publications*, January 17, 2019. URL: http://publications.armywarcollege.edu/publication-detail.cfm?publicationID=3667
- A. Banka, A. Quinn. Killing norms softly: US targeted killing, quasi-secrecy and the assassination ban. *Security Studies*, 27(4), 2018. URL: https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/09636412.2018.1483633?s-rc=recsys
- T. Scotti. Counter terrorism guide methods and tactics of global terrorism. *Security Driver*, January 2, 2019. URL: http://securitydriver.com/01/counter-terrorism-guide-methods-and-tactics-of-global-terrorism/
- N. Gilman. The twin insurgency. *The American Interest*, June 15, 2016. URL: https://www.the-american-interest.com/2014/06/15/the-twin-insurgency/?fbclid=IwAR03mqOwVgnteD7-E b1TNW5jMy2FnFr2rF-10meDIYw9p-VWFXb-jkFif5A
- D. Sjursen. 2018: a year of forever war in review according to the 'adults in the room.' *Mint Press*, January 2, 2019. URL: https://www.mintpressnews.com/2018-a-year-of-forever-war-in-review-according-to-the-adults-in-the-room/253447/
- UN launches new framework to strengthen fight against terrorism. *The Economic Times*, December 7, 2018. URL: https://economictimes.indiatimes.com/news/defence/un-launches-new-framework-to-strengthen-fight-against-terrorism/articleshow/66982245.cms
- R.H. Shultz. US counterterrorism operations during the Iraq war: a case study of Task Force 714. *Studies in Conflict & Terrorism*, 49(10), 2017. URL: https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/105761 https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/105761 https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/105761 https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/105761
- L.R. Beres. Terrorism as power over death. *The Begin-Sadat Center for Strategic Studies (BESA)*, January 1, 2019. URL: https://besacenter.org/perspectives-papers/terrorism-power-death/

M. Fogel. Document: National Strategy for Counterterrorism 2018. *Lawfare*, October 4, 2018. URL: https://www.lawfareblog.com/document-national-strategy-counterterrorism-2018

C. Hasselbach. Opinion: no country can replace US as world police. *Deutsche Welle*, December 12, 2018. URL: https://www.dw.com/en/opinion-no-country-can-replace-us-as-world-police/a-46894590

Security Counter Counter-Terrorism Committee adopts addenda to principles on foreign fighters. *CTED*, December 29, 2018. URL: https://www.un.org/sc/ctc/news/2018/12/27/security-council-counter-terrorism-committee-adopts-addenda-principles-foreign-fighters/

6. Counter-Terrorist Strategies, Tactics and Operations

B. Quinn. Home Office urged to release leftwing extremism report. *The Guardian*, February 10, 2019. URL: https://www.theguardian.com/world/2019/feb/10/home-office-urged-to-release-leftwing-extremist-report?C-MP=share btn tw

M. Perry. Trump's 'eyeball-to-eyeball' orders to the generals in Syria. *The American Conservative*, February 7, 2019. URL: https://www.theamericanconservative.com/articles/trumps-eyeball-to-eyeball-orders-to-the-generals-on-syria/

L. Ghafuri. How the indirect US-Iran war is dividing Iraq into pieces. *Kurdistan24*, November 25, 2018. URL: http://www.kurdistan24.net/en/opinion/acae0c01-6b2c-4ac4-a162-88d0149ea47e

W. van Wilgenburg. SDF official says ISIS caliphate over but fight will continue. *Kurdistan24*, February 10, 2019. URL: http://www.kurdistan24.net/en/news/46c97db0-12a8-4f7e-b473-540d79103708

Strike tracker. Decode how US-led bombing destroyed Raqqa, Syria. *Amnesty International*, February 2019. URL: https://decoders.amnesty.org/projects/strike-tracker

A. Zaman. What fate awaits Tunisia's returning jihadists? *Al-Monitor*, February 8, 2019. URL: https://www.al-monitor.com/pulse/originals/2019/02/tunisia-jihadis-syria-anti-radicalization-efforts.html

K. Rempfer. Spec Ops launches 'secret surrogate' missions in new counter-terror strategy. *Military Times*, February 8, 2019. URL: https://www.militarytimes.com/news/your-army/2019/02/08/fighting-terrorism-may-re-ly-on-secret-surrogate-forces-going-forward/

C. Fonbuena. 'The fight is not over': fears of ISIS resurgence in Philippines. *The Guardian*, February 8, 2019. URL: https://www.theguardian.com/world/2019/feb/08/the-fight-is-not-over-fears-of-isis-resurgence-in-philippines?CMP=Share_iOSApp_Other

R. Kheel. US envoy hopes for Afghan peace deal by July. *The Hill*, February 8, 2019. URL: https://thehill.com/policy/defense/429191-us-envoy-us-hopes-for-afghan-peace-deal-by-july

J. Bowden. US military to leave Syria by April: report. *The Hill*, February 8, 2019. URL: https://thehill.com/policy/defense/429120-us-military-to-leave-syria-by-april-report

E. Mitchell. Top US general on Africa: airstrikes not enough to defeat al-Shabaab. *The Hill*, February 7, 2019. URL: https://thehill.com/policy/defense/429037-top-africa-general-us-airstrikes-not-enough-to-defeat-al-shabaab

P. Cockburn. Trump says ISIS has been defeated, but he is ignoring the bigger and much more worrying picture. *The Independent*, February 9, 2019. URL: https://www.independent.co.uk/voices/trump-isis-syria-iraq-iran-terror-islamic-state-washington-a8769936.html

P. Wintour. Conflict erupts for control of Libya's largest oil field. *The Guardian*, February 8, 2019. URL: https://www.theguardian.com/world/2019/feb/08/conflict-erupts-for-control-of-libyas-largest-oil-field

A. Bozkurt. Erdogan saves jihadist network: the Vasat terrorist group in Turkey. *Nordic Monitor*, February 5, 2019. URL: https://www.nordicmonitor.com/2019/02/erdogan-saves-jihadist-network-the-vasat-terrorgroup-in-turkey/

A. Bozkurt. Turkish government suspended monitoring of al-Qaeda groups in Turkey. *Nordic Monitor*, February 8, 2019. URL: https://www.nordicmonitor.com/2019/02/turkish-govt-suspended-monitoring-al-qae-da-groups-in-turkey/

D.C. Alexander. Family terror networks. *Western Illinois University Homeland Security*, 2019. URL: http://www.wiu.edu/news/newsrelease.php?release_id=16162 - .XF0KVaaJuiA.twitter

Human rights watch warns against secret transfers of jihadists and families from Syria. *The New Arab*, February 8, 2019. URL: https://www.alaraby.co.uk/english/news/2019/2/8/hrw-warns-against-secret-transfers-of-jihadists-from-syria

Chad president Deby says rebel convoy 'destroyed' by 3 days of French airstrikes. *The Defense Post*, February 7, 2019. URL: https://thedefensepost.com/2019/02/07/france-airstrikes-chad-mirage-2000-rebel-convoy/

Ex-jihadists among 5,000 to sign up for Mali disarmament program. *The Defence Post*, February 7, 2019. URL: https://thedefensepost.com/2019/02/07/ex-jihadists-among-5000-to-sign-up-for-mali-disarmament-program/

M. Duchatel. China's foreign fighters problem. *War on the Rocks*, January 25, 2019. URL: https://warontherocks.com/2019/01/chinas-foreign-fighters-problem/?singlepage=1

US counterterrorism envoy travels to Europe to discuss 'Iran-backed terrorism' *Radio Free Europe/RadioLiberty*, January 30, 2019. URL: https://www.rferl.org/a/u-s-counterterror-envoy-travels-to-europe-to-discuss-iran-backed-terrorism-/29741732.html

S. El Deeb, M. Lee. US calls for repatriation of foreign fighters who joined the Islamic State in Syria. *Time*, February 5, 2019. URL: http://time.com/5520886/us-repatriation-foreign-fighters-syria/

J. Spyer. How Tehran plans to control Syria. *Middle East Forum*, February 1, 2019. URL: https://www.meforum.org/57709/tehran-plans-control-syria

Chad: rebel groups outraged by French airstrikes. *APA News*, February 5, 2019. URL: http://apanews.net/en/news/chad-rebel-groups-outraged-by-french-air-strikes/

Mozambican police arrest 'dangerous' members of armed groups. *Club of Mozambique*, February 5, 2019. URL: https://clubofmozambique.com/news/mozambican-police-arrest-dangerous-members-of-armed-groups/

P. van Wersch. Will Mindanao referendum bring peace to Philippines' restive region? *Deutsche Welle*, February 5, 2019. URL: https://www.dw.com/en/will-mindanao-referendum-bring-peace-to-philippines-restive-region/a-47364839

S. Fröhlich. New hope for the Central African Republic. *Deutsche Welle*, February 5, 2019. URL: https://www.dw.com/en/new-hope-for-the-central-african-republic/a-47373650

How Russia hid death toll from disastrous Syria battle until after Putin's reelection. *Haaretz*, February 5, 2019. URL: https://www.haaretz.com/middle-east-news/syria/how-russia-hid-death-toll-from-syria-battle-until-after-putin-s-reelection-1.6911083

N. Elbagir, S. Abdelaziz, M. Abo el-Gheit, L.Smith-Park. Sold to an ally, lost to an enemy. The US shipped weapons and secrets to the Saudis and Emiratis. Now some are in the hands of fighters linked to al-Qaeda and Iran. *CNN*, February 5, 2019. URL: https://edition.cnn.com/interactive/2019/02/middleeast/yemen-lost-us-arms/

Lead Inspector General for Operation Inherent Resolve. Quarterly Report to the United States Congress, October 1, 2018 December 31, 2018. *Department of Defense Office of Inspector General*, February 5, 2019. URL: https://www.dodig.mil/Reports/Lead-Inspector-General-Reports/Article/1747137/lead-inspector-general-for-operation-inherent-resolve-i-quarterly-report-to-the/

UN set to move toward easing Central African Republic arms embargo. *The Defense Post*, January 30, 2019. URL: https://thedefensepost.com/2019/01/30/un-ease-central-african-republic-arms-embargo/

N. Rupesinghe. The civilian casualty tracking analysis and response cell in the African Union Mission in Somalia. An emerging best practice for AU peace support operations? *Norwegian Institute of International Affairs*, 3, 2019. URL: https://brage.bibsys.no/xmlui/bitstream/handle/11250/2582457/NUPI PolicyBrief 3 2019 Rupesinghe.pdf?sequence=2&isAllowed=y

Battle for Yemeni-Saudi border heats up-map. *Al Masdar News*, January 27, 2019. URL: https://www.almas-darnews.com/article/battle-for-yemeni-saudi-border-heats-up-map/

Eyes on airstrikes: the war on terror in Somalia. January 30, 2019. URL: https://talo.shinyapps.io/airstrikes/

ISIS 'caliphate' in Syria cut to 4 square km, SDF commander says. *The Defense Post*, January 28, 2019. URL: https://thedefensepost.com/2019/01/28/syria-isis-caliphate-4-square-km-sdf/

C. Weiss. Treasury designates Syria-based Iranian proxy groups. *FDD's Long War Journal*, January 25, 2019. URL: https://www.longwarjournal.org/archives/2019/01/al-qaeda-ideologue-justifies-shabaabs-war-with-the-islamic-state-in-somalia.php

L. Brown. Keeping ISIS fanatics at bay: how 30ft UK watch towers on Lebanon's border are part of a £62million drive to repel a terrorist invasion. *Daily Mail Online*, January 26, 2019. URL: https://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/article-6634215/30ft-UK-watch-towers-Lebanons-border-62million-drive-repel-terrorist-invasion.html

Russia confirms 'private security companies' operating amid unrest in Sudan. *RFE/RL*, January 24, 2019. URL: https://www.rferl.org/a/russia-confirms-private-security-forces-sudan-demonstrations/29727768.html

R. Postings. Nigeria's military struggles with Islamic State: part 2 – systemic issues hamper the fight. *The Defense Post*, January 25, 2019. URL: https://thedefensepost.com/2019/01/25/nigeria-military-struggles-islam-ic-state-iswa-part-2-systemic-issues/

A. Cordesman. Losing on all fronts: the Mattis resignation and Trump's failed strategies for America's wars. *CSIS*, December 28, 2018. URL: https://www.csis.org/analysis/losing-all-fronts-mattis-resignation-and-trumps-failed-strategies-americas-wars

J. Ari Gross. After Syria threatens Ben Gurion Airport, Iron Dome deployed in greater Tel Aviv. *The Times of Israel*, January 24, 2019. URL: https://www.timesofisrael.com/after-syrias-airport-threat-idf-deploys-iron-dome-in-greater-tel-aviv-area/

Examination of the list of fatalities in the 'return marches' reveals that most of them are operatives of terrorist organizations, about half of whom affiliated with Hamas. *The Meir Amit Intelligence and Terrorism Information Center*, January 2019. URL: https://www.terrorism-info.org.il/en/examination-list-fatalities-re-turn-marches-reveals-operatives-terrorist-organizations-half-affiliated-hamas/?fbclid=IwAR28xgAIOB0wuKdGzijqtiZqd7ktblF5VKdrcpe7">https://www.terrorism-info.org.il/en/examination-list-fatalities-re-turn-marches-reveals-operatives-terrorist-organizations-half-affiliated-hamas/?fbclid=IwAR28xgAIOB0wuKdGzijqtiZqd7ktblF5VKdrcpe7">https://www.terrorism-info.org.il/en/examination-list-fatalities-re-turn-marches-reveals-operatives-terrorist-organizations-half-affiliated-hamas/?fbclid=IwAR28xgAIOB0wuKdGzijqtiZqd7ktblF5VKdrcpe7">https://www.terrorist-organizations-half-affiliated-hamas/?fbclid=IwAR28xgAIOB0wuKdGzijqtiZqd7ktblF5VKdrcpe7">https://www.terrorist-organizations-half-affiliated-hamas/?fbclid=IwAR28xgAIOB0wuKdGzijqtiZqd7ktblF5VKdrcpe7">https://www.terrorist-organizations-half-affiliated-hamas/?fbclid=IwAR28xgAIOB0wuKdGzijqtiZqd7ktblF5VKdrcpe7">https://www.terrorist-organizations-half-affiliated-hamas/?fbclid=IwAR28xgAIOB0wuKdGzijqtiZqd7ktblF5VKdrcpe7">https://www.terrorist-organizations-half-affiliated-hamas/?fbclid=IwAR28xgAIOB0wuKdGzijqtiZqd7ktblF5VKdrcpe7">https://www.terrorist-organizations-half-affiliated-hamas/?fbclid=IwAR28xgAIOB0wuKdGzijqtiZqd7ktblF5VKdrcpe7">https://www.terrorist-organizations-half-affiliated-hamas/?fbclid=IwAR28xgAIOB0wuKdGzijqtiZqd7ktblF5VKdrcpe7">https://www.terrorist-organizations-half-affiliated-hamas/?fbclid=IwAR28xgAIOB0wuKdGzijqtiZqd7ktblF5VKdrcpe7">https://www.terrorist-organizations-half-affiliated-hamas/?fbclid=IwAR28xgAIOB0wuKdGzijqtiZqd7ktblF5VKdrcpe7">

E.M. Lederer. US: upcoming Middle East conference not aimed at demonizing Iran. *The Times of Israel*, January 2019. URL: https://www.timesofisrael.com/us-upcoming-middle-east-conference-not-aimed-at-demonizing-iran/

J. Calupitan. Filipino Muslims vote on autonomy after long peace effort. *Houston Chronicle*, January 21, 2019. URL: https://www.houstonchronicle.com/news/world/article/Filipino-Muslims-vote-on-autono-

my-deal-for-13548565.php

I. Eichner. INSS: Israel could face a three-front war in 2019. *YNet*, January 21, 2019. URL: https://www.ynet-news.com/articles/0,7340,L-5450323,00.html

Turkey continues anti-terror fight at home, abroad. *Anadolu Agency*, January 21, 2019. URL: https://www.aa.com.tr/en/todays-headlines/turkey-continues-anti-terror-fight-at-home-abroad/1370300

Italy hunting 30 'terrorists' abroad: ministry. *The Local*, January 19, 2019. URL: https://www.thelocal.it/20190119/italy-hunting-30-terrorists-abroad-ministry

F. Kelly. France conducts air operations in Mali and Central African Republic. *The Defense Post*, January 17, 2019. URL: https://thedefensepost.com/2019/01/17/france-air-operations-mali-central-african-republic/

A. Varfolomeeva. Last battlefield: the future of Syria's Idlib after HTS militant takeover. *The Defense Post*, January 19, 2019. URL: https://thedefensepost.com/2019/01/19/syria-hts-idlib-takeover/

J. Hammond. New Ethiopian offensive suggests difficulty in managing peace process. *The Defense Post*, January 18, 2019. URL: https://thedefensepost.com/2019/01/18/ethiopia-olf-offensive-threatens-peace-process/

P. Bergen. An expensive lesson in hubris for the United States. *CNN*, January 18, 2018. URL: https://www.wakingtimes.com/2019/01/04/federal-grand-jury-to-hear-evidence-that-9-11-was-a-controlled-demolition/?fbclid=IwAR3ymu8rNfZ5NzvhYScJ97E9tUQXYfseW73tVyhhMUOCqhx-GmEwgso35fg

A. Aboufadel. Syria military lost over 110 warplanes during war: report. *Al Masdar News*, January 18, 2019. URL: https://www.almasdarnews.com/article/syria-military-lost-over-110-warplanes-during-war-report/

N. Turse. US military says it has a 'light footprint' in Africa. These documents show a vast network of bases. *The Intercept*, December 1, 2018. URL: https://theintercept.com/2018/12/01/u-s-military-says-it-has-a-light-footprint-in-africa-these-documents-show-a-vast-network-of-bases/?fbclid=IwAR0fZLMDMx0N-5GEzR-PR-oatx2MH4SEyXrdGWL-D-2FS4N8Rwe2GLt3mnPA

D. Bandow. Afghanistan, the longest war in American history. *The American Conservative*, January 2, 2019. URL: https://www.theamericanconservative.com/articles/afghanistan-the-longest-war-in-american-history-trump-withdrawal/

J. Ari Gross. In rare acknowledgement. Israel confirms strike on Iran weapons caches in Syria. *The Times of Israel*, January 13, 2019. URL: https://www.timesofisrael.com/netanyahu-confirms-israeli-week-end-strike-on-iranian-weapons-caches-in-syria/

D. Brennan. Russian military wants permission to shoot down passenger planes. *Newsweek*, January 11, 2019. URL: https://www.newsweek.com/russia-military-passenger-jets-shoot-down-kremlin-hijacking-malay-sia-airlines-1288374

Iran intelligence unit on EU's terrorist list. *Asharq al-Awsat*, January 10, 2019. URL: https://aawsat.com/en-glish/home/article/1539971/iran-intelligence-unit-eu's-terrorist-list

D. R. DePetris. The War on terror's total cost: \$5,900,000,000,000. And counting. The real question: is America any safer? *The National Interest*, January 12, 2019. URL: https://nationalinterest.org/blog/skeptics/war-ter-rors-total-cost-5900000000000-41307

C.P. Clark, A.M. Tabatabai. Withdrawing from Syria leaves a vacuum that Iran will fill. *Foreign Affairs*, January 8, 2019. URL: https://www.foreignaffairs.com/articles/syria/2019-01-08/withdrawing-syria-leaves-vacuum-iran-will-fill

M. Hassan. Mike Pompeo lied about the US and the Middle East. Here is the truth. *The Intercept*, January 11, 2019. URL: https://theintercept.com/2019/01/11/mike-pompeo-speech-cairo/

E. Lake. The Pompeo doctrine isn't so different from the Obama doctrine. *Bloomberg*, January 11, 2019. URL: https://www.bloomberg.com/opinion/articles/2019-01-11/pompeo-doctrine-not-so-different-from-obama-doctrine

Turkey finishes construction of 764 km security wall on Syrian border. *Daily Sabah*, June 9, 2018. URL: https://www.dailysabah.com/war-on-terror/2018/06/09/turkey-finishes-construction-of-764-km-security-wall-on-syria-border

Nigeria, China sign MoU on counter-insurgency. *Leadership*, January 11, 2019. URL: https://leadership.ng/2019/01/11/nigeria-china-sign-mou-on-counter-insurgency/

E. Broches, J. Solomon-Strauss. International terrorism prosecutions: 2018 wrap-up. *Lawfare*, January 8, 2019. URL: https://www.lawfareblog.com/international-terrorism-prosecutions-2018-wrap

C. Bayliss. Government considers military-grade anti-drone technology for all airports, prisons and power stations. *Daily Mail Online*, January 10, 2019. URL: https://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/article-6578353/Government-considers-military-grade-anti-drone-technology-airports.html

GW Extremism tracker. Terrorism in the United States. *Program on Extremism, The George Washington University*, January 10, 2019. URL: https://extremism.gwu.edu/sites/g/files/zaxdzs2191/f/December 2018 Tracker.pdf

Protecting the Sulu-Sulawesi seas from Abu Sayyaf attacks. *Institute for Policy Analysis*, IPAC Report, #53, January 9, 2019. URL: http://file.understandingconflict.org/file/2019/01/IPAC_Report_53_Sulu.pdf

Central African government to meet armed groups in Khartoum for peace talks. *The Defense Post*, January 9, 2019. URL: https://thedefensepost.com/2019/01/09/central-african-republic-peace-talks-khartoum-au/

Attempt to smuggle Turkish weapons into Libya foiled. *Al Arabiya*, January 8, 2019. URL: https://english.alarabiya.net/en/News/north-africa/2019/01/08/IN-PICTURES-Attempt-to-smuggle-Turkish-weapons-into-Libya-foiled.html

P. Colomina, O. de France, D. Averot. From criminals to terrorists and back? Quarterly Report: France, volume 2. *GLOBSEC*, January 7, 2019. URL: https://www.globsec.org/publications/from-criminals-to-terrorists-and-back-quarterly-report-france-vol-2/

A. Kennedy. US carried out 36 airstrikes in Yemen last year. *The Defense Post*, January 7, 2019. URL: https://thedefensepost.com/2019/01/07/us-airstrikes-yemen-2018/

Brazil deploys troops to stop violence in Fortaleza. *BBC*, January 6, 2019. URL: https://www.bbc.com/news/world-latin-america-46772508

US deploys troops to Gabon amid fears of unrest in DRC. *Al Jazeera*, January 5, 2019. URL: https://www.aljazeera.com/news/2019/01/deploys-troops-gabon-fears-unrest-drc-190105055926860.html

Y. Jeremy Bob. The IDF's anti-tunnel operation is not about tunnels. *The Jerusalem Post*, January 4, 2019. URL: https://www.jpost.com/Arab-Israeli-Conflict/NORTHERN-SHIELD/The-IDFs-anti-tunnel-operation-is-not-about-tunnels-576308

T. Lazaroff. Netanyahu tells Putin he's determined to oust Iran from Syria. *The Jerusalem Post*, January 4, 2019. URL: https://www.jpost.com/Arab-Israeli-Conflict/Netanyahu-tells-Putin-hes-determined-to-oust-Iran-from-Syria-576360

Egypt destroys 37 tunnels which infiltrated from Gaza in 2018. *The Jerusalem Post*, January 5, 2019. URL: https://www.jpost.com/Arab-Israeli-Conflict/Egypt-destroys-37-tunnels-which-infiltrated-from-Gaza-in-2018-576410

Israel demolished 538 homes, facilities in West Bank in 2018. Middle East Monitor, December 29, 2018.

ISSN 2334-3745 244 February 2019

URL: https://www.middleeastmonitor.com/20181229-israel-demolished-538-homes-facilities-in-west-bank-in-2018/

S. Eilscher. Governing the faithful: state management of Salafi activity in the Francophone Sahel. *Comparative Politics*, 51(2), January 2019, pp. 199-218. URL: https://www.ingentaconnect.com/contentone/cuny/cp/2019/00000051/00000002/art00004

J. Trisko Darden. Humanitarian assistance has a terrorism problem. Can it be resolved? *War on the Rocks*, January 3, 2019. URL: <a href="https://warontherocks.com/2019/01/humanitarian-assistance-has-a-terrorism-problem-can-it-be-resolved/?utm-source=WOTR+Newsletter&utm-campaign=320d9dd936-EMAIL CAM-PAIGN 10 30 2018 11 23 COPY 01&utm-medium=email&utm-term=0 8375be81e9-320d9dd936-82893297

UAE, Saudi Arabia helped Syrian government assassinate 80 opposition leaders: Turkish media. *Al Masdar News*, January 4, 2019. URL: https://www.almasdarnews.com/article/uae-saudi-arabia-helped-syrian-govt-assassinate-80-opposition-leaders-turkish-media/

C. Whyte. Crypto-terrorism: assessing the utility of blockchain technologies for terrorist enterprise. *Studies in Conflict & Terrorism*, January 2, 2019. URL: https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/1057610X
https://www.tandfonline

7. State Repression, Civil War and Clandestine & Open Warfare Abroad

J. Borger, B. McKernan. Saudi crown prince wanted to go after Jamal Khashoggi 'with a bullet' – report. *The Guardian*, February 8, 2019. URL: https://www.theguardian.com/world/2019/feb/07/jamal-khashoggi-saudi-arabia-turkey-united-nations

Iran has arrested at least 860 journalists since 1979 revolution. *The New Arab*, February 7, 2019. URL: https://www.alaraby.co.uk/english/news/2019/2/7/iran-has-arrested-860-journalists-since-1979-revolution

- C. Dyer. Journalist Jamal Khashoggi was killed in a 'brutal and premeditated' way, UN expert charged with probing the murder rules. *Daily Mail Online*, February 7, 2019. URL: https://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/article-6679767/Jamal-Khashoggi-killed-brutal-premeditated-way-expert-probing-murder-rules.html
- R. Austin. Damning Yemen report calls on UK to come clean over arms exports. *The Guardian*, January 31, 2019. URL: KN05uTrBQzqv6S8
- G.A. Bunin. Detainees are trickling out of Xinjiang's camps. *Foreign Policy*, January 18, 2019. URL: https://foreignpolicy.com/2019/01/18/detainees-are-trickling-out-of-xinjiangs-camps/
- N. Houry. Bringing ISIS to justice: running out of time? *Human Rights Watch*, February 5, 2019. URL: https://www.hrw.org/news/2019/02/05/bringing-isis-justice-running-out-time
- J. Petras. US 'regime changes': the historical record. *Global Research*, February 5, 2019. URL: https://www.globalresearch.ca/us-regime-changes-historical-record/5667692
- T. Phillips. 'They are murderers': special forces unit strikes fear in Venezuelans. *The Guardian*, February 6, 2019. URL: https://www.theguardian.com/world/2019/feb/06/lifestyle-putin-aide-wife-property-empire-dim-itry-peskov
- T. Durden. Meotti: the Pope's stubborn silence on the persecution of Christians. *ZeroHedge*, February 6, 2019. URL: https://www.zerohedge.com/news/2019-02-05/meotti-popes-stubborn-silence-persecution-christians
- R. Fisk. How the murders of journalists in the Middle East are brushed aside. Counterpunch, February 4,

2019. URL: https://www.counterpunch.org/2019/02/04/how-the-murders-of-journalists-in-the-middle-east-are-brushed-aside/

M. Aldersley. Saudi authorities 'at the highest level' could be responsible of the torture of women activists, say British lawmakers. *Daily Mail Online*, February 4, 2019. URL: https://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/article-6664987/Saudi-authorities-highest-level-responsible-torture-women-activists.html

Blackwater founder's Hong Kong firm signs Xinjiang training camp deal. *The Guardian*, February 1, 2019. URL: https://www.theguardian.com/world/2019/feb/01/blackwater-founder-erik-prince-to-build-training-camp-in-chinas-xinjiang?CMP=share_btn_tw

Nigeria can't deal with Boko Haram on its own – ex-soldier for hire. *RT*, January 28, 2019. URL: https://www.rt.com/shows/sophieco/449934-isis-affiliate-nigeria-terrorists/?fbclid=IwAR1lr0AQsO_Ki23qM8F9BOyyS-LFG-9oX1-DqL2e-eG-iADhqwGS1O1IBIrA

- S. Ackerman. Detainees describe an American presence in their torture chambers. *The Daily Beast*, January 31, 2019. URL: https://www.thedailybeast.com/detainees-describe-an-american-presence-in-their-tor-ture-chambers?ref=scroll
- J. Burke. Zimbabwean police files implicate army in widespread abuses. *The Guardian*, January 30, 2019. URL: https://www.theguardian.com/world/2019/jan/30/zimbabwe-police-documents-army-abuses
- A. Ibrahim. How likely are Myanmar's general to face prosecution for genocide? *Al Arabiya*, January 26, 2019. URL: https://english.alarabiya.net/en/views/news/middle-east/2019/01/26/How-likely-are-Myanmar-s-generals-to-face-prosecution-for-genocide-.html
- A. Fielding-Smith, C. Black. Death and disappearance: inside the world of privatized war. *The Bureau of Investigative Journalism*, January 29, 2019. URL: https://www.thebureauinvestigates.com/stories/2019-01-29/death-disappearance-inside-world-of-privatised-war
- O. Pawlyk. The days of secret military operations may soon be over. Does that matter? *Military.com*, December 1, 2018. URL: https://www.military.com/daily-news/2018/12/01/days-secret-military-operations-may-soon-be-over-does-matter.html
- T. Meyssan. The use of terrorism according to John Bolton. *Voltaire Net*, January 22, 2019. URL: https://www.voltairenet.org/article204804.html
- G. Grandin, E. Oglesby. Washington trained Guatemala's killers for decades. *The Nation*, January 26, 2019. URL: https://www.thenation.com/article/border-patrol-guatemala-dictatorship/?utm_medium=social-flow&utm_source=twitter
- N. Ghoneim. UN warns Bangladesh Rohingya long-term stay likely. *Al Jazeera*, January 26, 2019. URL: https://www.aljazeera.com/news/2019/01/warns-bangladesh-rohingya-long-term-stay-190126143505968. https://www.aljazeera.com/news/2019/01/warns-bangladesh-rohingya-long-term-stay-190126143505968.
- UN unearths 50 mass graves in Democratic Republic of Congo. *Al Jazeera*, January 27, 2019. URL: https://www.aljazeera.com/news/2019/01/unearths-50-mass-graves-democratic-republic-congo-190126191253233. https://www.aljazeera.com/news/2019/01/unearths-50-mass-graves-democratic-republic-congo-190126191253233.
- G. Clooney, J. Prendergast. Clooney and Prendergast: we're not silent on Sudan –we're going after the regime's loot. *The Guardian*, January 24, 2019. URL: <a href="https://www.theguardian.com/commentisfree/2019/jan/24/clooney-and-prendergast-were-not-silent-on-sudan-were-going-after-the-regimes-loot?CMP=share_btn_tw
- A. de Waal. Mass starvation is a crime- it's time we treated it that way. *Boston Review*, January 14, 2019. URL: https://bostonreview.net/global-justice/alex-de-waal-mass-starvation-crime—its-time-we-treated-it-way
- A. Powell. Witnesses reveal chilling details of Zimbabwe violence. *VOA*, January 22, 2019. URL: https://www.voanews.com/a/witnesses-reveal-chilling-details-of-zimbabwe-violence-/4753854.html?withmediaplayer=1

S.M. Hersh. The vice president's men. *London Review of Books*, 41(2), January 24, 2019. URL: https://www.lrb.co.uk/v41/n02/seymour-m-hersh/the-vice-presidents-men

Israeli snipers killed 180, injured 23,000 Gaza protesters with live fire since March. *Maan Agency*, January22, 2019. URL: https://www.juancole.com/2019/01/israeli-snipers-protesters.html?utm source=dlvr.it&utm medium=twitter

K. Roth. World's autocrats face rising resistance. *Human Rights Watch*, January 2019. URL: https://www.hrw.org/world-report/2019/keynote/autocrats-face-rising-resistance

Human Rights Watch. World Report 2019. Our annual review of human rights around the globe. URL: https://www.hrw.org/world-report/2019

Prominent Saudi cleric likely died of torture in prison: rights activist. *Middle East Eye*, January 21, 2019. URL: https://www.middleeasteye.net/news/prominent-saudi-cleric-likely-died-because-torture-prison-says-rights-activist-1434255758

- J. Ari Gross. IDF to indict 5 soldiers for beating bound and blindfolded Palestinian suspects. *The Times of Israel*, January 20, 2019. URL: https://www.timesofisrael.com/idf-to-indict-5-soldiers-for-beating-bound-and-blindfolded-palestinian-suspects/
- E. Graham-Harrison, A. Rocksen, M. Brügger. Coups and murder: the sinister world of apartheid's secret mercenaries. *The Guardian*, January 20, 2019. URL: https://www.theguardian.com/world/2019/jan/20/south-africa-weird-sinister-apartheid-mercenary-saimr-keith-maxwell?CMP=Share_AndroidApp_Tweet
- N. Turse. A slaughter in silence. How a brutal ethnic cleansing campaign in DRC was made worse by Trump's 'America First' policies and the world's neglect. *Vice*, August 1, 2018. URL: https://news.vice.com/en_us/article/7xq45a/a-slaughter-in-silence-democratic-republic-of-the-congo
- A. Bozkurt. Radical Malatyalilar group wields considerable influence in Turkey's governance. *Nordic Monitor*, January 17, 2019. URL: https://www.nordicmonitor.com/2019/01/radical-stealthy-group-the-malatyalilar-wields-influence-in-turkeys-governance/
- A. Bozkurt. Turkish intelligence used former special ops officers to train, arm jihadists. *Nordic Monitor*, January 19, 2019. URL: https://www.nordicmonitor.com/2019/01/turkish-intelligence-used-former-special-ops-officers-to-train-arm-jihadists/
- A. Nemtsova. Activists: Chechen authorities order families to kill LGTB family members, also pay ransoms. *The Daily Beast*, January 18, 2019. URL: https://www.thedailybeast.com/activists-chechen-authorities-demand-families-kill-lgbt-family-members-also-pay-ransoms
- B. Latza Nadeau. Jamal Khashoggi book details Saudi's killing on tape: 'I have never worked on a warm body until now'. *The Daily Beast*, January 19, 2019. URL: https://www.thedailybeast.com/jamal-khashog-gi-book-details-saudis-killing-on-tape-i-have-never-worked-on-a-warm-body-until-now?via=ios&fbclid=I-wAR1tpUblhPgjKFHqSMWGx2rG4TnhD-AMzbpaxXZ2wllbcuAasuQAVfHqZvE">https://www.thedailybeast.com/jamal-khashog-gi-book-details-saudis-killing-on-tape-i-have-never-worked-on-a-warm-body-until-now?via=ios&fbclid=I-wAR1tpUblhPgjKFHqSMWGx2rG4TnhD-AMzbpaxXZ2wllbcuAasuQAVfHqZvE">https://www.thedailybeast.com/jamal-khashog-gi-book-details-saudis-killing-on-tape-i-have-never-worked-on-a-warm-body-until-now?via=ios&fbclid=I-wAR1tpUblhPgjKFHqSMWGx2rG4TnhD-AMzbpaxXZ2wllbcuAasuQAVfHqZvE
- M. Galeotti. Gangster geopolitics: the Kremlin's use of criminals as assets abroad. *Russia Matters*, January 17, 2019. URL: https://www.russiamatters.org/analysis/gangster-geopolitics-kremlins-use-criminals-as-sets-abroad?fbclid=IwAR2Koka1lUG3-qQF2zBZaTu9byf3ljHDenMj1DQnuc49hKEFgToN0GvkoY0
- ICC trial chamber I acquits Laurent Gbagbo and Charles Blé Goudé from all charges. *ICC*, January 15, 2019. URL: https://www.icc-cpi.int/Pages/item.aspx?name=pr1427
- J. Ari Gross. IDF finally acknowledges that Israel supplied weapons to Syrian rebels. *The Times of Israel*, January 15, 2019. URL: https://www.timesofisrael.com/idf-chief-acknowledges-long-claimed-weapons-supply-to-syrian-rebels/
- L. McDonald. Jamal Khashoggi was killed after his Whatsapp messages critical of the Saudi Crown Prince

were hacked using powerful 'Pegasus' spying software, claims murdered journalist's friend. *Daily Mail Online*, 2019. URL: https://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/article-6585781/Dissident-friend-murdered-journalist-Jamal-Khashoggi-claims-phone-hacked.html

Hamas offers \$1 million for identities of Israeli special ops in November raid. *The Times of Israel*, January 12, 2019. URL: https://www.timesofisrael.com/israel-responds-with-air-strikes-in-gaza-following-rocket-launch/

Ten stages of genocide. Interactive world map. *Genocide Watch*, 2019. URL: http://www.genocidewatch.com/ten-stages-of-genocide-world-map

R. Burns. Genocide: 70 years on, three reasons why the UN convention is still failing. *The Conversation*, December 18, 2018. URL: http://www.genocidewatch.com/single-post/2018/12/18/Genocide-70-years-on-three-reasons-why-the-UN-Convention-is-still-failing

M. Nkurunziza. Anti-genocide commission documents past killing patterns. *The New Times*, January 12, 2019. URL: http://www.genocidewatch.com/single-post/2019/01/12/Anti-Genocide-commission-documents-past-killing-patterns

Comparison survey launch: which countries are most likely to experience new mass killing in 2019? *United States Holocaust Museum*, December 3, 2018. URL: <a href="https://www.ushmm.org/confront-genocide/genocide-prevention-blog/comparison-survey-launch-which-countries-are-most-likely-to-experience-new-mo

Yemeni rights team uncovers Houthi detention centers for torturing women. *Asharq al-Awsat*, January 12, 2019. URL: https://aawsat.com/english/home/article/1542866/yemeni-rights-team-uncovers-houthi-detention-centers-torturing-women

L. Kuo. 'If you enter a camp, you never come out': inside China's war on Islam. *The Guardian*, January 11, 2019. URL: https://www.theguardian.com/world/2019/jan/11/if-you-enter-a-camp-you-never-come-out-in-side-chinas-war-on-islam

A. Bozkurt. Turkish intel agency-linked jihadist charity IHH spotted operating in Greece. *Nordic Monitor*, January 4, 2019. URL: https://www.nordicmonitor.com/2019/01/turkish-intel-linked-jihadist-charity-ihh-spotted-as-operating-in-greece/

A. Bozkurt. Turkish intelligence agency moved busloads of jihadists into Syria as reinforcements. *Nordic Monitor*, January 9, 2019. URL: https://www.nordicmonitor.com/2019/01/turkish-intelligence-agency-moved-busloads-of-jihadists-in-syria-as-reinforcement/

Turkey hushed up the case of intelligence agency MIT arming jihadists in Syria. *Nordic Monitor*, January 11, 2019. URL: https://www.nordicmonitor.com/2019/01/turkey-hushed-up-the-case-of-intelligence-agency-mits-arming-jihadists-in-syria/

Atrocity Alert (DR Congo, Myanmar, Nicaragua), #137, January 9, 2019. URL: http://createsend.com/t/j-365B9B59C1D79FE82540EF23F30FEDED

T. Lister, S. Shukhla. Murdered journalists were tracked by police with shadowy Russian links, evidence shows. *CNN*, January 10, 2019. URL: https://edition.cnn.com/2019/01/10/africa/russian-journalists-car-am-bush-intl/index.html

J. Lynch. Why is Sudan's genocidal regime a CIA favorite? *The Daily Beast*, January 9, 2019. URL: https://www.thedailybeast.com/why-is-sudans-genocidal-regime-a-cia-favorite?ref=home

P. Beaumont. Children 'still being tortured to confess to ISIS links' by Kurdish security forces. *The Guardian*, January 8, 2019. URL: https://www.theguardian.com/global-development/2019/jan/08/children-allegations-tortured-to-confess-isis-links-kurdish-security-forces-human-rights-watch

EU to sanction Iranian intelligence agency for foiled terror plots. *The Tower*, January 8, 2019. URL: http://www.thetower.org/7022-eu-to-sanction-iranian-intelligence-agency-for-foiled-terror-plots/

Dutch Minister: Iran behind two assassinations in the Netherlands. *Al Arabiya*, January 8, 2019. URL: https://english.alarabiya.net/en/News/world/2019/01/08/Dutch-Minister-Iran-behind-two-assassinations-in-the-Netherlands-.html

- G. Sherman. 'I was ordered silent': how Jamal Khashoggi fell out with bin Salman. *Vanity Fair*, October 16, 2018. URL: https://www.vanityfair.com/news/2018/10/how-jamal-khashoggi-fell-out-with-bin-salman?fb-clid=IwAR2Vtd9XEsKoVCtBpmXoprP2XIMZ EaBUNIEHKGUhSnWT fjkNvw-mhPAb0
- A. Ramzy. China targets prominent Uighur intellectuals to erase an ethnic identity. *The New York Times*, January 5, 20-19. URL: https://www.nytimes.com/2019/01/05/world/asia/china-xinjiang-uighur-intellectuals.html?fbclid=IwAR2OnofACYxsUVq3lIHqNJcros6Q-IQIa0SKSUN2NX5WTkXU7xcg4JY1QbI
- F. Kelley. Anti-Balaka militias quit Central African disarmament program over war crimes arrest. *The Defense Post*, December 14, 2018. URL: https://thedefensepost.com/2018/12/14/anti-balaka-militias-quit-central-african-republic-ddrr-program-war-crimes-arrests/

Israeli prison standards to be lowered in effort to deter terrorism. *The Jerusalem Post*, January 3, 2018. URL: https://medium.com/jerusalem-post/israeli-prison-standards-to-be-lowered-in-effort-to-deter-terrorism-f4a1e5b76937

- E. Meixler. UN investigators renew call for Myanmar military officials to face genocide charges. *Time*, September 18, 2018. URL: http://time.com/5399251/myanmar-rohingya-genocide-fact-finding-mission-report/
- G. Grandin, E. Oglesby. Washington trained Guatemala's mass murders and the border patrol played a role. *The Nation*, January 3, 2019. URL: https://www.thenation.com/article/border-patrol-refugees-guatema-la-cia-war-crimes/
- M. Caster. China thinks it can arbitrarily detain anyone. It is time for a change. *The Guardian*, January 4, 2019. URL: https://www.theguardian.com/world/2019/jan/04/china-thinks-it-can-arbitrarily-detain-anyone-it-is-time-for-change
- J. Prescott, N. Price. Declassify the Khashoggi assessment. *Just Security*, December 10, 2018. URL: https://www.justsecurity.org/61794/declassify-khashoggi-assessment/
- P. Ball, M. Price. The statistics of genocide. *Change*, 2018. URL: http://chance.amstat.org/2018/02/statistics-of-genocide/

8. Prevention and Preparedness Studies (including Countering Violent Extremism, De-Radicalization, Counter-Narratives)

Police challenge Prevent critics to 'stand up and be counted.' *The Guardian*, February 5, 2019. URL: https://www.theguardian.com/uk-news/2019/feb/05/police-invite-critics-of-prevent-to-stand-up-and-be-counted?CMP=share_btn_tw

Research at Commission for Countering Extremism. *Gov.uk*, February 2019. URL: https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/commission-for-countering-extremism/about/research

- L. van der Heide, B. Schuurman. Reintegrating terrorists in the Netherlands: evaluating the Dutch approach, *Journal for Deradicalization*, #17, 2018. URL: http://journals.sfu.ca/jd/index.php/jd/article/view/179
- S. Atran. How people become radicalized. *Scientific American*, January 28, 2019. URL: https://blogs.scientificamerican.com/observations/how-people-become-radicalized/

Support and advice for first responders: victims of terrorism. *Home Office*, Gov.uk, January 28, 2019. URL: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/support-and-advice-for-first-responders-victims-of-terrorism

Expert on UK new counter-extremism program: sounds like something out of Stasi. Sputnik, January 24,

ISSN 2334-3745 249 February 2019

2019. URL: https://sputniknews.com/analysis/201901241071758980-uk-prevent-counter-extremism-programme/

J. Grierson, V. Dodd. Prevent strategy on radicalization faces independent review. *The Guardian*, January 22, 2019. URL: https://www.theguardian.com/uk-news/2019/jan/22/prevent-strategy-on-radicalisation-faces-in-dependent-review?CMP=share_btn_tw

F. Hafez. Last round of 'German Islam Conference.' *Anadolu Agency*, January 21, 2019. URL: https://www.aa.com.tr/en/analysis-news/analysis-last-round-of-german-islam-conference-/1367102

W. Stephens, S. Sieckelinck, H. Boutelier. Preventing violent extremism: a review of the literature. *Studies in Conflict & Terrorism*, January 2, 2019. URL: https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/105761 0X.2018.1543144

J. Grierson. Separate jailed Islamist extremists from other inmates, says expert. *The Guardian*, January 10, 2019. URL: https://www.theguardian.com/society/2019/jan/10/call-for-jailed-islamist-extremists-to-be-separated-from-other-inmates-ian-acheson

DPT-Dokumentation. *Der Deutsche Präventionstag*. January 10, 2019. URL: http://www.praeventionstag.de/nano.cms/news/details/3061

V. Pop. Jihadists behind bars pose new threats for Europe. *The Wall Street Journal*, January 9, 2019. URL: https://www.wsj.com/articles/jihadists-behind-bars-pose-new-threats-for-europe-11547035126

Ex-post Beitrag RAN EXIT Erfahrungen aus angrenzenden Fachbereichen: 0n Gangs. 11-12 September 2018, Prague. *RAN Centre of Excellence*. URL: <a href="https://ec.europa.eu/home-affairs/sites/homeaffairs/files/what-we-do/networks/radicalisation_awareness_network/about-ran/ran-exit/docs/ran_exit_adjacent_fields_gangs_11-12_09_2018_de.pdf

Highlights -2018 World Summit on countering violence & extremism. *Mandar Apte*, January 8, 2019. URL: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=HX8UckPaHG0

Ex Post Paper 'Research Seminar RAN Research, October 17, 2018. Amsterdam. *RAN Centre of Excellence*. URL: https://ec.europa.eu/home-affairs/sites/homeaffairs/files/what-we-do/networks/radicalisation_aware-ness_network/ran-papers/docs/ran_research_seminar_17102018_en.pdf

Islamism World Map. URL: https://islamism-map.com/ - !/WMA

J. Adams. Brain scans offer fresh insight into what shapes jihadists as pioneering study reveals they express a greater willingness to fight and die if they are 'socially excluded.' *Daily Mail Online*, January 6, 2019. URL: https://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/article-6562007/Brain-scans-reveal-jihadis-willing-fight-die-feel-socially-excluded.html

M. Townsend. Brain scans show social exclusion creates jihadists, say researchers. *The Guardian*, January 6, 2019. URL: https://www.theguardian.com/uk-news/2019/jan/06/social-exclusion-radicalisation-brain-scans

U. Gaudino. Radicalization and de-radicalization of Italian Muslims. *Mediterranean Insecurity*, December 2018. URL: http://www.mediterraneaninsecurity.it/2018/12/31/radicalization-and-de-radicalization-of-italian-muslims-ugo-gaudino/

J. Khalil, R. Brown, C. Chant, P. Olowo, N. Wood. Deradicalization and disengagement in Somalia: evidence rom a rehabilitation program for former members of al-Shabaab. *RUSI*, January 4, 2019. URL: https://rusi.org/publication/whitehall-reports/deradicalisation-and-disengagement-somalia-evidence-rehabilitation

E. Rosand. The 116th Congress and preventing extremist violence: look north for guidance. *Just Security*, January 3, 2019. URL: https://www.justsecurity.org/62060/116th-congress-preventing-extremist-violence-north-guidance/

Special update. *RAN Centre of Excellence*, December 2018. URL: https://ec.europa.eu/home-affairs/sites/homeaffairs/files/what-we-do/networks/radicalisation awareness network/ran-news/docs/ran update plenary 2018 en.pdf

M. Olimpio. Radicalization in prison: old trends, new threats. *European Eye on Radicalization*, January 3, 2019. URL: https://eeradicalization.com/radicalization-in-prison-old-trends-new-threats/

Stockholm talks on Yemen: what consequences for local CVE? European *Eye on Radicalization*, December 19, 2018. URL: https://eeradicalization.com/stockholm-talks-on-yemen-what-consequences-for-local-cve/

- S. Brzuskiewicz. An interview with Daniel Koehler, German Institute on Radicalization and De-radicalization studies. *European Eye on Radicalization*, January 2, 2019. URL: https://eeradicalization.com/an-interview-with-daniel-koehler-german-institute-on-radicalization-and-de-radicalization-studies/
- M. Lozano Alia. The Spanish approach to preventing and fighting violent radicalization. *European Eye on Radicalization*, December 18, 2018. URL: https://eeradicalization.com/the-spanish-approach-to-preventing-and-fighting-violent-radicalization/
- D. Gadher. Hate preacher Anjem Choudary's acolytes hide behind 150 fronts. *The Sunday Times*, December 29, 2018. URL: https://www.thetimes.co.uk/article/hate-preacher-anjem-choudarys-acolytes-hide-behind-150-fronts-x77wc7b57
- S.L. Desmarais, J. Simons-Rudolph, C. Shahan Brugh, E. Schilling, C. Hogan. The state of science regarding membership in terrorist organizations and perpetration of terrorist attacks. *Homeland Security Affairs*, 2017 UAPI Summit special issue. URL: https://www.hsaj.org/articles/14138
- T.C. Helmus, K. Klein. Assessing outcomes of online campaigns countering violent extremism. Santa Monica: *RAND*, RR-2813-GNF, December 2018. URL: <a href="https://www.rand.org/pubs/research_reports/RR2813.htm-l?utm_source=WhatCountsEmail&utm_medium=National Security and Terrorism+AEM: Email Address_NOT_LIKE_DOTMIL&utm_campaign=AEM:293324911

9. Intelligence

- S. Winer. Mossad pulled its agent out of Iran, MI6 smuggled him to UK on dinghy report. *The Times of Israel*, February 10, 2019. URL: https://www.timesofisrael.com/mossad-pulled-its-agent-out-of-iran-mi6-smuggled-him-to-uk-on-dinghy-report/
- R. Sater. Undercover spy exposed in NYC was one of many. *Associated Press*, February 11, 2019. URL: https://apnews.com/a1d1af4256c04cc5a36347667e966a14?utm_campaign=SocialFlow&utm_source=Twitter&utm_medium=AP
- B. Katz. Policy and you: a guide for intelligence analysts. *War on the Rocks*, February 5, 2019. URL: https://warontherocks.com/2019/02/policy-and-you-a-guide-for-intelligence-analysts/
- E. Schultheis. World's biggest intelligence headquarters opens in Berlin. *The Guardian*, February 8, 2019. URL: https://www.theguardian.com/world/2019/feb/08/worlds-biggest-intelligence-headquarters-opens-berlin-germany-bnd

Former Danish foreign minister recognizes mistakes were made prior to Iraq war. *The Local*, February 7, 2019. URL: https://www.thelocal.dk/20190207/former-danish-foreign-minister-recognises-errors-regrets-streamlining-cited-in-iraq-war-report

S. Surkes. Israel needs new laws to limit intel services' powers to eavesdrop online –IDI. *The Times of Israel*, February 7, 2019. URL: https://www.timesofisrael.com/israel-needs-new-laws-to-limit-intel-services-powers-to-eavesdrop-online-idi/

- T. Durden. How Amazon's ring and recognition set the stage for consumer-generated mass-surveillance. *Zerohedge*, February 4, 2019. URL: https://www.zerohedge.com/news/2019-02-04/how-amazons-ring-rekognition-set-stage-consumer-generated-mass-surveillance
- J. Whitney. The CIA's masterful use of fake news. *Truthdig*, January 31, 2019. URL: https://www.truthdig.com/ articles/the-cias-masterful-use-of-fake-news/
- T. Durden. Ex-NSA spies ran UAE intelligence unit which hacked dissidents. *Zerohedge*, January 31, 2019. URL: https://www.zerohedge.com/news/2019-01-30/ex-nsa-spies-ran-uae-intelligence-unit-which-hacked-dissidents
- UK expansive overseas surveillance bill puts journalists at risk watchdogs. *Sputnik*, January 31, 2019. URL: https://t.co/bnzHf4rJhn&utm_medium=short_url&utm_content=kAGU&utm_campaign=URL_shortening
- R. Satter. Undercover agents target cyber security watchdog. *Associated Press*, January 26, 2019. URL: https://apnews.com/9f31fa2aa72946c694555a5074fc9f42
- S. Harris, J. Wagner. In latest attack on intelligence agencies, Trump ignores where they actually agree. *The Washington Post*, January 30, 2019. URL: https://www.washingtonpost.com/politics/trump-claims-great-progress-on-isis-north-korea-after-intelligence-officials-present-less-optimistic-view/2019/01/30/e95b74c6-23b7-11e9-90cd-dedb0c92dc17_story.html
- C. Bing, J. Schechtman. Inside the UAE's secret hacking team of American mercenaries. *Reuters*, January 30, 2019. URL: https://www.reuters.com/investigates/special-report/usa-spying-raven/
- A. Meister, A. Biselli, M. reuter. Wir veröffentlichen das Verfassungsschutz-Gutachten zur AfD. *Netzpolitik*, January 28, 2019. URL: https://netzpolitik.org/2019/wir-veroeffentlichen-das-verfassungsschutz-gutacht-en-zur-afd/
- M. Chalfant. New intelligence strategy identifies emerging tech as major threat. *The Hill*, January 22, 2019. URL: https://thehill.com/policy/national-security/426491-new-intelligence-strategy-identifies-emerging-tech-as-major-threat
- J. Seldin. US intel strategy highlights funding, cyber, global threats. *VOA*, January 22, 2019. URL: https://www.voanews.com/a/us-intel-strategy-highlights-funding-cyber-global-threats/4754260.html
- T. Durden. Paul Craig Roberts: the National Security Agency is a criminal organization. *ZeroHedge*, January 17, 2019. URL: https://www.zerohedge.com/news/2019-01-17/paul-craig-roberts-national-security-agen-cy-criminal-organization

Richard Dearlove helped Blair kill millions. The security services are a danger to our state and society. *Craig Murray*, January 11, 2019. URL: https://www.craigmurray.org.uk/archives/2019/01/richard-dear-love-helped-blair-kill-millions-the-security-services-are-a-danger-to-our-state-and-society/?fbclid=I-wAR21V4c8y0qEWFrEV_Ziw-roOJc1YkzWGmgpw6ol3NJFMWFmz6SfbdPyV8s

Directorate S: The CIA and America's secret wars in Afghanistan and Pakistan. *Colombia SIPA*, YouTube, December 6, 2018. URL: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=tU7K4Q hN08

R. Bergman. How Mexican drug baron El Chapo was brought down by technology made in Israel. *Ynet News*, January 10, 2018. URL: https://www.ynetnews.com/articles/0,7340,L-5444330,00.html

Toddington International Inc. *Online research and intelligence newsletter*, January, 2019. URL: https://mailchi.mp/4969adafd5f3/tii-online-research-and-intelligence-newsletter?e=62dbd4d5d9

X. Qiang. President Xi's surveillance state. *Journal of Democracy*, 30(1), 2019. URL: http://muse.jhu.edu/article/713722

ISSN 2334-3745 252 February 2019

- C. Pace (Ed.) The threat intelligence handbook. A practical guide for security teams to unlocking the power of intelligence. *Recorded Future*, 2019. URL: https://go.recordedfuture.com/book?utm_cam-paign=THR-BOO&utm_source=Graham Cluley
- C. Bayliss. Russian intelligence 'trying to set up new web of spies in Britain after military unit was broken up in the UK following Salisbury novichok attack.' *Daily Mail Online*, January 6, 2019. URL: https://www.daily-mail.co.uk/news/article-6561219/Russian-intelligence-trying-set-new-web-spies-Britain.html
- S. Micallef. OSINT resources for 2019. *Medium*, December 27, 2018. URL: https://medium.com/@micallst/osint-resources-for-2019-b15d55187c3f?fbclid=IwAR3sWs9NLuTrVYgBOS0eTmV3kpS8XIIXd-3h3Eq9LQDxDH5D_Ng41rCLhVS0

10. Cyber Operations and Information Warfare

- S. King. The war on cyber-crime: we're losing badly. *UberConnectForce, Inc.*, February 10, 2019. URL: https://www.linkedin.com/pulse/war-cyber-crime-were-losing-badly-steve-king/
- H. Bahara, A. Kranenberg, D. Tokmetzis. Zo onderzochten wij radicalisering op YouTube. *De Volkskrant*, February 8, 2019. URL: https://www.volkskrant.nl/nieuws-achtergrond/zo-onderzochten-wij-radicalise-ring-op-youtube~bd8cebe8/
- Steeds een stapje verder: hoe YouTube rechtse radicalisering in de hand werkt. *De Volkskrant*, February 9, 2019. URL: https://www.volkskrant.nl/kijkverder/t/2019/radicalisering-youtube/
- G. Wernick. We need more transparency in cyber security. *Darkreading*, February 8, 2019. URL: https://www.darkreading.com/vulnerabilities---threats/we-need-more-transparency-in-cybersecurity/a/d-id/1333780
- A. Palmer. Nearly every major US cellphone carrier sold precise location data to bounty hunters via a 'secret phone tracking service' for years, bombshell report finds. *Daily Mail Online*, February 7, 2019. URL: https://www.dailymail.co.uk/sciencetech/article-6679889/Bombshell-report-finds-cellphone-carriers-sell-location-data-bounty-hunters.html
- J. Kirk. Report: nation-state malware attack could cripple US. *Bank Info Security*, February 6, 2019. URL: https://www.bankinfosecurity.com/report-nation-state-malware-attack-could-cripple-us-a-12005?fbclid=I-wAR1zc1oKTqqq7H2mGtE6 qtawkz1rBC YN MdSBa5GPuo5uk6eQ2UpFGnZY .XFxud5s95Yk.facebook

Facebook targets 'dangerous' armed groups in latest Myanmar bans. *Reuters*, February 5, 2019. URL: https://uk.reuters.com/article/us-myanmar-facebook/facebook-targets-dangerous-armed-groups-in-latest-myanmar-bans-idUKKCN1PU0WC

- 'Bloated' but not adequate: Pentagon's cyber defenders unfit for real threats. *Sputnik*, February 6, 2019. URL: https://sputniknews.com/us/201902061072159947-pentagon-cyber-defenders-unfit-real-threats/
- S. Vaidhyanathan. Dear Mr. Zuckerberg: the problem isn't the internet, it's Facebook. *The Guardian*, February 5, 2019. URL: https://www.theguardian.com/technology/2019/feb/04/facebook-15-anniversary-mark-zuckerberg
- V. Violino. Cyberattacks to watch for in 2019. *ZDNet*, February 4, 2019. URL: https://www.zdnet.com/article/cyberattacks-to-watch-for-in-2019/
- C. Franklin Jr. New botnet shows evolution of tech and criminal culture. *Dark reading*, February 4, 2019. URL: https://www.darkreading.com/attacks-breaches/new-botnet-shows-evolution-of-tech-and-criminal-culture/d/d-id/1333792? mc=rss x drr edt aud dr x x-rss-simple&utm source=dlvr.it&utm medium=twitter
- N. Harris. Facebook to set up 'war rooms' to fight 'fake news' News Punch, January 28, 2019. URL: https://

newspunch.com/facebook-to-set-up-war-rooms-to-fight-fake-news/

- C. Biancotti. The growing popularity of Chinese social media outside China poses new risks in the West. *Peterson Institute for International Economics*, January 11, 2019. URL: https://piie.com/blogs/china-economic-watch/growing-popularity-chinese-social-media-outside-china-poses-new-risks
- D. Palmer. Ransomware warning: a global attack could cause \$200bn in damage –and we're just not ready. *ZDNet*, January 29, 2019. URL: https://www.zdnet.com/article/ransomware-warning-a-global-attack-could-cause-200bn-in-damage-and-were-just-not-ready/
- L. O'Donnell. Researchers allege 'systemic' privacy security flaws in popular IoT devices. *Threat Post*, January 29, 2019. URL: https://threatpost.com/researchers-allege-systemic-privacy-security-flaws-in-popular-iot-devices/141244/
- A. Hern. Facebook to create 'war room' to fight fake news, Nick Clegg says. *The Guardian*, January 28, 2019. URL: https://www.theguardian.com/technology/2019/jan/28/facebook-war-room-fight-fake-news-nick-clegg-eu-elections-dublin-operations-centre
- D. Boffey. Facebook accused by Brussels over 'patchy' attitude to fake news. *The Guardian*, January 29, 2019. URL: https://www.theguardian.com/technology/2019/jan/29/facebook-accused-by-brussels-over-patchy-attitude-to-fake-news-nick-clegg
- Beginners's guide to Open Source intrusion detection tools. *AlienVault,Inc.* January 2019. URL: <a href="https://www.alienvault.com/resource-center/white-papers/beginners-guide-to-open-source-intrusion-detection-tools?utm_medium=PaidSocial&utm_source=Twitter&utm_content=PT&utm_campaign=Beginners-guide-IDS_RT_EMEA_utm_term=Dark
- A. Capaccio. The Pentagon's cyber security is falling behind. *Bloomberg*, January 28, 2019. URL: https://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2019-01-28/pentagon-s-cybersecurity-found-unable-to-stay-ahead-of-attackers
- R. Keller. AI makes personal privacy a matter of national strategy. *Stratfor Worldview*, May 3, 2018. URL: https://worldview.stratfor.com/article/ai-makes-personal-privacy-matter-national-strategy
- What financial services executives need to know about data-security. *Cyber Security Intelligence*, January 23, 2019. URL: https://www.cybersecurityintelligence.com/blog/what-financial-services-executives-need-to-know-about-data-security-4064.html
- D. Samuels. Is big tech merging with big brother? Kinda looks like it. *WIRED*, January 23, 2019. URL: https://www.wired.com/story/is-big-tech-merging-with-big-brother-kinda-looks-like-it/
- L. Elliott. George Soros: China is using tech advances to repress its people. *The Guardian*, January 24, 2019. URL: https://www.theguardian.com/business/2019/jan/24/george-soros-china-using-tech-advances-to-re-press-its-people
- Briefing Note on the Integrity Initiative. Paul McLeigue, David Miller, Jake Mason, Piers Robinson. *Working Group on Syria Propaganda and Media*. URL: http://syriapropagandamedia.org/working-papers/briefing-note-on-the-integrity-initiative
- A. Johansson. The future of war is cyber. *The Next Web*, January 21, 2019. URL: https://thenextweb.com/contributors/2019/01/21/the-future-of-war-is-cyber/?utm_source=facebook&utm_medium=referral&utm_content=The+future+of+war+is+cyber&fbclid=IwAR0aNJK3EFMMHVKfjOR0MtQ7WV6Udy-5Q-D-af-S2aQ6hjNbimmmZPTS1TAE
- V. Tangemann. How Facebook flags terrorist content with machine learning. But it's not perfect. *Futurist*, November 12, 2018. URL: https://futurism.com/facebook-flagging-terrorist-content-machine-learning
- R. Chesney, D. Citron. Deep fakes and the new information war. Foreign Affairs, January/February

ISSN 2334-3745 254 February 2019

- 2019. URL: https://www.foreignaffairs.com/articles/world/2018-12-11/deepfakes-and-new-disinformation-war?utm source=twitter posts&utm campaign=tw daily soc&utm medium=social
- G. Mott. A storm on the horizon? 'Twister' and the implications of the blockchain and peer-to-peer social networks for online violent extremism. *Studies in Conflict & Terrorism*, December 10, 2019. URL: https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/1057610X.2018.1513986?journalCode=uter20
- D. Tweed. Iranians may be behind unprecedented cyber hacks, FireEyes says. *Bloomberg*, January 10, 2019. URL: https://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2019-01-10/iranians-may-be-behind-unprecedented-cyber-hacks-fireeye-says
- Cyber threat report. Weekly update on cyber threats to American society. Issue 43, January 14, 2019. URL: http://homelandsecurityinsight.com/reports/cyber-threat-report/
- Facebook's secret rulebook against free speech. *Clarion Project*, January 14, 2019. URL: https://clarionproject.org/facebooks-secret-rulebook-against-free-speech/
- P. Paganini. Security expert uncovered a DNS hijacking campaign targeting organizations in various industries worldwide and suspects Iranian APT groups. *Security Affairs*, January 10, 2019. URL: https://securityaffairs.co/wordpress/79722/apt/iran-apts-dns-hijacking.html?utm source=dlvr.it&utm medium=twitter
- R. Bender. German hacking arrest quells fears attack was foreign backed. *The Wall Street Journal*, January 8, 2019. URL: https://www.wsj.com/articles/arrest-in-german-hacking-case-quells-fears-cyberat-tack-was-state-sponsored-11546941722?fbclid=IwAR1m16iTmbD3L23X1gappEYueUqzOEFL6mb6lvXXr-gAUbiP3WzwLZH4coeM
- K. Zetter. How a Russian firm helped catch an alleged NSA data thief. *Politico*, January 9, 2019. URL: https://www.politico.com/story/2019/01/09/russia-kaspersky-lab-nsa-cybersecurity-1089131
- T. Durden. 2019 will be the year of more state control. *ZeroHedge*, January 7, 2019. URL: https://www.zero-hedge.com/news/2019-01-06/2019-will-be-year-more-state-control
- *Cyber Threat Report*, issue 42, January 7, 2019. URL: http://homelandsecurityinsight.com/reports/cyber-threat-report/
- N. Ahmed. Source of pro-Israel guerrilla warriors on social media exposed. *Middle East Monitor*, January 5, 2019. URL: https://www.middleeastmonitor.com/20190105-source-of-pro-israel-guerrilla-warriors-on-social-media-exposed/
- M. Pomerleau. The critical strategic questions for DoD's cyber force. *Fifth Domain*, January 4, 2019. URL: https://www.fifthdomain.com/dod/2019/01/03/the-critical-strategic-questions-for-dods-cyber-force/
- J. Pamment, C. Bjola (Eds.). Countering online propaganda and extremism. The dark side of digital diplomacy. Routledge, 2018. 230 p. URL: https://www.amazon.co.uk/Countering-Online-Propaganda-Extremism-Di-plomacy/dp/1138578630
- D. Cameron. Twitter moves to stop spread of hacked 9/11 lawsuit files. *Gizmodo*, January 2, 2019. URL: https://gizmodo.com/twitter-moves-to-stop-spread-of-hacked-9-11-lawsuit-fil-1831446081

11. Risk & Threat Assessments, Forecasts and Analytical Studies

Identifying and exploring the nexus between human trafficking, terrorism, and terrorism financing. *United Nations Security Council, Counter-Terrorism Committee Executive Directorate*, 2019. URL: https://www.un.org/sc/ctc/wp-content/uploads/2019/02/HT-terrorism-nexus-CTED-report.pdf

P. Bourgeix. Critical infrastructure security in a converged and interconnected world. *Security Infowatch*, February 8, 2019. URL: <a href="https://www.securityinfowatch.com/critical-infrastructure/article/21067817/critical-infrastructure/ar

frastructure-security-in-a-converged-and-interconnected-world

M. Langendorf. Beyond the war: the deep roots of Yemen's economic crisis. *The New Arab*, February 8, 2019. URL: https://www.alaraby.co.uk/english/indepth/2019/2/8/the-deep-roots-of-yemens-economic-crisis

W. Oosterveld, B. Torossian. Political violence in the European periphery. Trends, threats and root causes. *Strategic Monitor 2018-2019*. The Hague Center for Strategic Studies, Clingendael, 2019. URL: https://www.clingendael.org/pub/2018/strategic-monitor-2018-2019/political-violence-in-the-european-periphery/

T. Sweijs, D. Pronk. *Strategic Monitor 2018-2019*. The Hague Centre for Strategic Studies, Clingendael, 2019. URL: https://www.clingendael.org/pub/2018/strategic-monitor-2018-2019/ - contents

E. M. Lederer. UN report: IS responsible for most attacks in Iraq and Syria. *Associated Press*, February 6, 2019. URL: https://www.apnews.com/a6d89d58e8b54f56bc1a4e71e80b685f

America's experts on the biggest threats and challenges facing us in 2019. *Homeland Security Today*, February 1, 2019. URL: https://www.hstoday.us/subject-matter-areas/infrastructure-security/americas-experts-on-the-biggest-threats-and-challenges-facing-us-in-2019/

Freedom in the world 2019 map. Freedom House, 2019. URL: https://freedomhouse.org/report/freedom-world-2019/map?fbclid=IwAR33zE8T5IOQQSe5LgWdit7arpzhChQobEheSL-V5Iv51kzk1EozfRVag_rw

T.J. Coles. Manufacturing terrorism. When governments use fear to justify foreign wars and control society. 2018. URL: https://www.amazon.com/exec/obidos/ASIN/190557097X/counterpunchmaga

Why do terrorists claim credit for some attacks but not others? *The Economist*, February 1st, 2019. URL: https://www.economist.com/graphic-detail/2019/02/01/why-do-terrorists-claim-credit-for-some-attacks-but-not-others

E. Stewart. Terrorism threat & mitigation report 2018. *Pool Re, Data Centre*. January 2019. URL: https://trac.poolre.co.uk/tmr-2018/DataCentre

F. Jegede. Towards a deeper understanding of 21st century global terrorism. *International Journal of Law and Political Sciences*, 10(7), 2016. URL: https://www.theguardian.com/world/2019/jan/31/france-prepares-return-isis-jihadis-us-withdraw

G.J. Abel, M. Brottrager, J.C Cuaresma, R. Muttarak. Climate, conflict and forced migration. *Global Environmental Change*, Vol. 54, January 2019, pp. 239-249. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0959378018301596?via=ihub

M. Sageman. Turning to political violence: the emergence of terrorism. *Philadelphia University Press*, 2017, 540p. (review by M.J. Gallagher) URL: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/323564599 Turning to Political Violence The Emergence of Terrorism

J. Rivinius. DoD awards START nearly \$3 million to enhance critical terrorism datasets. *START*, January 31, 2019. URL: https://www.start.umd.edu/news/dod-awards-start-nearly-3-million-enhance-critical-terrorism-datasets

R.S. Cohen, A. Radin. Russia's hostile measures in Europe. Santa Monica: *RAND*, RR-1793-A, January 2019. URL: <a href="https://www.rand.org/pubs/research_reports/RR1793.html?adbid=10157478900788676&adbpl=f-b&adbpr=55708608675&adbsc=social_20190131_2683041&fbclid=IwAR0mXzkNx9Q6i9n5b641FFLcJm-RamtzVN7QzjU6NeZuvzyZOoSJzLeXo6-s

D.R. Coats. Worldwide threat assessment of the US intelligence community. *DNI*, January 29, 2019. URL: https://www.dni.gov/files/ODNI/documents/2019-ATA-SFR---SSCI.pdf

J.V. Micallef. Islamic State 2019: an assessment. Military.com, January 25, 2019. URL: https://www.military.

ISSN 2334-3745 256 February 2019

com/daily-news/2019/01/25/islamic-state-2019-assessment.html

R. Klein. Zahl der Terroranschläge weltweit deutlich gesunken. *Deutsche Welle*, January 28, 2019. URL: https://www.dw.com/de/zahl-der-terroranschläge-weltweit-deutlich-gesunken/a-47257133

UN's Guterres: fragmented response to global risk a 'recipe for disaster.' *Eurasia Review*, January 25, 2019. URL: http://www.eurasiareview.com/25012019-uns-guterres-fragmented-response-to-global-risk-a-recipe-for-disaster/

Singapore Terrorism Threat Assessment Report 2019. *Ministry of Home Affairs*, January 22, 2019. URL: https://www.mha.gov.sg/newsroom/others/news/singapore-terrorism-threat-assessment-report-2019

An overview of the 2019 NJOHSP terrorism threat assessment. *State of New Jersey, Office of Homeland Security and Preparedness*, January 15, 2019. URL: https://www.njhomelandsecurity.gov/media/pod-cast-2019-njohsp-terrorism-threat-assessment

P.S. Henne. Government interference in religious institutions and terrorism. Religion, *State and Society*, 47(10, 2019. URL: https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/09637494.2018.1533691?journal-Code=crss20

R. Camber. UK security services are investigating 700 live terror plots as counterterrorism bosses reveal they have thwarted 18 since Westminster horror. *Daily Mail Online*, January 23, 2019. URL: https://www.daily-mail.co.uk/news/article-6621287/UK-security-services-investigating-700-live-terror-plots.html

D. Byman. Trump's rhetoric is raising the risk of right-wing terrorism. *Slate*, January 21, 2019. URL: https://slate.com/news-and-politics/2019/01/right-wing-terrorism-trump-rhetoric.html

ACLED Data Update. January 2019. URL: https://www.acleddata.com/data/

J. Valero. World risks sleepwalking into next crisis, Davos report warns. *Euroactiv*, January 17, 2019. URL: https://www.euractiv.com/section/economy-jobs/news/world-may-be-sleepwalking-into-the-next-crisis-da-vos-report-warns/

N. Routley. The top global risks in 2019. *Visual Capitalist*, January 18, 2019. URL: https://www.visualcapitalist.com/top-global-risks-2019/?utm source=twitter&utm medium=social&utm campaign=SocialWarfare

The Global Risks Report 2019. *World Economic Forum*, January 2019. URL: https://www.weforum.org/reports/the-global-risks-report-2019

Global Terrorism Index 2018. Measuring the impact of terrorism. *Institute for Economic and Peace*, December 2018. URL: http://visionofhumanity.org/app/uploads/2018/12/Global-Terrorism-Index-2018-1.pdf

Think tank expects Algeria to see popular unrest in 2019. *Asharq al-Awsat*, January 12, 2019. URL: https://aawsat.com/english/home/article/1542831/think-tank-expects-algeria-see-popular-unrest-2019

R. Kishi, M. Pavlik. ACLED 2018: the year in review. *ACLED*, January 11, 2019. URL: https://www.acleddata.com/2019/01/11/acled-2018-the-year-in-review/

N. Malik. How does terrorism overlap with criminality? *Forbes*, January 9, 2019. URL: https://www.forbes.com/sites/nikitamalik/2019/01/09/how-does-terrorism-overlap-with-criminality/-76b13b002c4d

D. Gardham. There were far fewer terror attacks last year. Here's why. *Spectator*, January 10, 2019. URL: https://www.spectator.co.uk/2019/01/there-were-far-fewer-terror-attacks-last-year-heres-why/

E. Atkin. A database showed far-right terror on the rise. Then Trump defunded it. *The New Republic*, January 3, 2019. URL: https://newrepublic.com/article/152675/database-showed-far-right-terror-rise-trump-defunded-it

Extremism in 2019: new approaches to facing the threat. *Tony Blair Institute for Global Change*, January 10, 2019. URL: https://institute.global/insight/co-existence/extremism-2019-new-approaches

ISSN 2334-3745 257 February 2019

IntelBrief: Terrorism in the West: comparing the threat in Europe and the US. *The Soufan Center*, January 9, 2019. URL: http://thesoufancenter.org/intelbrief-terrorism-in-the-west-comparing-the-threat-in-europe-and-the-u-s/

I. Drury. Radicalized asylum seekers have murdered or injured more than 1,000 in terror attacks in Europe since 2014. *Daily Mail Online*, June 15, 2018. URL: https://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/article-5849611/Radicalised-asylum-seekers-murdered-injured-1-000-terror-attacks-2014.html?fbclid=IwAR2ZNJfnA181LxeBcA1iM4jm93P-WlJp6ExolZtbx7 PKaTTmK9WZzRNWWg

A. Clauset. Trends and fluctuations in the severity of interstate wars. *University of Colorado*. 2018. URL: https://www.mn.uio.no/math/english/research/projects/focustat/the-focustat-blog!/clauset_2017.pdf

Data mining adds evidence that war is baked into the structure of society. *MIT Technology Review*, January 4, 2019. URL: <a href="https://www.technologyreview.com/s/612704/data-mining-adds-evidence-that-war-is-baked-into-the-structure-of-society/?utm_source=twitter&utm_campaign=site_visitor.unpaid.engagement&utm_medium=tr_social_numerical_nume

Ten humanitarian crises and trends to watch in 2019. *IRIN*, January 3, 2019. URL: https://www.irinnews.org/feature/2019/01/02/ten-humanitarian-crises-and-trends-watch-2019

National Security. Long-range emerging threats facing the United States as identified by Federal Agencies. *Government Accounting Office*, GAO-19-204SP, December 2018. URL: https://www.gao.gov/as-sets/700/695981.pdf

Y. Jeremy Bob. Understanding the mind of independent terrorists. *The Jerusalem Post*, January 2, 2019. URL: https://www.jpost.com/Magazine/Inside-the-minds-of-45-lone-wolf-terrorists-576151?utm_source=dlvr. it&utm_medium=twitter

While overall violence has declined in 2018, conflict is spreading. *ACLED*, December 21, 2018. URL: https://www.acleddata.com/2018/12/21/press-release-while-overall-violence-has-declined-in-2018-conflict-is-spreading/

J. Busher, D. Holbrook, G. Macklin. The internal breaks on violent escalation: a typology. *Behavioral Sciences of Terrorism & Political Aggression*, December 11, 2018. URL: https://www.sv.uio.no/c-rex/english/publications/2018/the-internal-brakes.html

Instances of Use of United States Armed Forces Abroad, 1798-2018. *Congressional Research Service*, R42738, December 28, 2018. URL: https://assets.documentcloud.org/documents/5673218/Instances-of-Use-of-United-States-Armed-Forces.pdf

- R. Gunaratna. Terrorist threat assessment for 2019 analysis. *Eurasia Review*, January 3, 2019. URL: http://www.eurasiareview.com/03012019-terrorist-threat-assessment-for-2019-analysis/
- H. Mallinson. Holidays: the most dangerous countries in the world for 2019 revealed. *Express*, January 3, 2019. URL: https://www.express.co.uk/travel/articles/1066152/holidays-2019-most-dangerous-countries-world-fco-travel-advice

Riskmap 2019. ControlRisks, January 2019. URL: https://www.controlrisks.com/riskmap

- B. Johnson. Online jihad: five things terrorists told us in 2018 about future plans. *Homeland Security Today*, December 31, 2018. URL: https://www.hstoday.us/subject-matter-areas/terrorism-study/online-jihad-5-things-terrorists-told-us-in-2018-about-future-plans/
- J. Howcroft. The future of terrorism: the practitioner's view. *Small Wars Journal*, January 2, 2019. URL: http://smallwarsjournal.com/jrnl/art/future-terrorism-practitioners-view
- P. Apps. Commentary: the biggest security threats in 2019. *Reuters*, December 31, 2018. URL: https://www.reuters.com/article/us-threats-apps-commentary-idUSKCN10U121

ISSN 2334-3745 258 February 2019

ISIS terror threats 2019: 'We're coming to America.' *Clarion Project*, January 1, 2018. URL: https://clarionproject.org/isis-terror-threats-2019/

R. Werner. Französischer Experte Gilles Kepel: "Dschihadismus strebt gezielt Bürgerkrieg in Europa an" – UN-Migrationspakt als falsches Signal zur falschen Zeit. *Epoch Times*, December 31, 2018. URL: https://www.epochtimes.de/politik/welt/franzoesischer-experte-gilles-kepel-dschihadismus-strebt-gezielt-buerger-krieg-in-europa-an-un-migrationspakt-als-falsches-signal-zur-falschen-zeit-a2754108.html

T. Clonan. The threat posed by Islamist terrorism is waning dramatically... but what do we worry about next? *The Journal.ie*, December 31, 2018. URL: https://www.thejournal.ie/readme/tom-clonan-islamist-terrorism-fears-4406265-Dec2018/

P. Gurski. A bold prediction for 2019: more terrorism! *Borealis Threat & Risk Consulting*, January 1, 2019. URL: https://borealisthreatandrisk.com/a-bold-prediction-for-2019-more-terrorism/

12. Also Worth Reading

S. Autessere. The crisis of peacekeeping. Why the UN can't end wars. *Foreign Affairs*, January/February 2019. URL: https://www.foreignaffairs.com/articles/2018-12-11/crisis-peacekeeping?utm_source=twitter
posts&utm_campaign=tw_daily_soc&utm_medium=social

W. Hutton. Utopia for realists: and how we can get there by Rutger Bregman – review. *The Guardian*, March 13, 2017. URL: https://www.theguardian.com/books/2017/mar/13/utopia-realists-how-we-can-get-there-rutger-bregman-review

T. Durden. The unseen costs of humanitarian intervention. *ZeroHedge*, January 31, 2019. URL: https://www.zerohedge.com/news/2019-01-31/unseen-costs-humanitarian-intervention

Introducing the Nonviolent Action in Violent Contexts (NVAVC) dataset. *Journal of Peace Research*, January 21, 2019.

Y. Funabashi. The world's think tank dilemma. *Japan Times*, January 22, 2019. URL: <a href="https://www.japantimes.co.jp/opinion/2019/01/22/commentary/world-commentary/worlds-think-tank-dilemma/?utm_source=Daily News Updates&utm_campaign=bf5cf067ea-Wednesday_email_updates23_01_2019&utm_medium=email&utm_term=0_c5a6080d40-bf5cf067ea-333348165_-

Global thinkers. Foreign Policy, January 2019. URL: https://foreignpolicy.com/2019-global-thinkers/

P. Rosenberg. Project Censored examines top censored, underreported stories of 2018. *Syracuse New Times*, January 9, 2019. URL: https://www.syracusenewtimes.com/project-censored-still-fighting-the-ongoing-invasion-of-fake-news/

T. G. Carpenter. Superpower: US support for bogus foreign democracy movements. 2019.

K.P. Clements, Daisaku Ikeda. Toward a century of peace. A dialogue on the role of civil society in peace-building. *Routledge*, 2019.

C. Cardozo. Ten technology trends you should be worried about this year. *SD Times*, January 14, 2019. URL: https://sdtimes.com/msft/10-technology-trends-you-should-be-worried-about-this-year/?utm source=dlvr. it&utm medium=twitter

Democracy Index 2018: Me too? Political participation, protest and democracy. *The Economist Intelligence Unit*, January 2019. URL: https://pages.eiu.com/Jan-19-Democracy-Index registration-page.html?mkt tok=eyJpIjoiTURnNU56SmtZek0xTVRsayIsInQiOiJzVnNmVFc2TjQ2cjNNQVhUMGNYSFhjR0laNkdk-OUJLNThhOWdcL2JGSFJDelczaGtHRFJYaVBaejJaMmoyK25NWGJ5SGp3M0JQQ3BWZldQcXd6bFNZ-SytDUUZxRjJQRHlcL0xiZTJQZU

- B. Fernandez. How capitalism is killing us. *Al Jazeera*, January 2, 2019. URL: https://www.aljazeera.com/indepth/opinion/capitalism-killing-190101101116332.html?utm source=dlvr.it&utm medium=twitter
- A. Chrisafis. 'Vanquished white male': Houellebecq's new novel predicts French discontent. *The Guardian*, January 4, 2019. URL: https://www.theguardian.com/books/2019/jan/04/vanquished-white-male-houellebecqs-new-novel-eerily-predicts-french-discontent
- 2018: the year in humanitarianism at PRIO. *PRIO*, December 28, 2018. URL: https://www.prio.org/News/ltem/?x=2360&fbclid=IwAR3Oah9H2M0ajKIr2XhTiOZRzXy3SPnmbdXZKD9vz9ZvjktXEqzaLkAH2C8
- The 10 most intriguing inventions of 2018. *MIT Technology Review*, December 28, 2018. URL: https://www.technologyreview.com/s/612683/the-10-most-intriguing-inventions-of-2018/
- J. Baker. New global study defines 4 personality types. *Hackernoon*, December 28, 2018. URL: https://hackernoon.com/new-global-study-defines-4-personality-types-from-self-centered-to-role-model-4850fdbff073
- J.K. Gander. Sadists feel sad after they are sadistic. *Newsweek*, December 19, 2018. URL: https://www.news-week.com/sadists-feel-sad-when-they-are-sadistic-1262993
- S. Pinker, A. Mack. The world is not falling apart. Never mind the headlines. We've never lived in such peaceful times. *Slate*, December 22, 2014. URL: https://slate.com/news-and-politics/2014/12/the-world-is-not-fall-ing-apart-the-trend-lines-reveal-an-increasingly-peaceful-period-in-history.html
- Tech trends 2019. Telenor: 7 tech trends that will shape 2019. *Telenor Group*, December 2018. URL: https://www.telenor.com/innovation/research/tech-trends-2019
- B. E. Levine. Noam Chomsky turns 90: How a US anarchist has more than survived. *Counterpunch*, November 23, 2018. URL: https://www.counterpunch.org/2018/11/23/noam-chomsky-turns-90-how-a-u-s-anar-chist-has-more-than-survived/
- B. Hoffman. Walter Laqueur, 26 May 1921-30 September 2018. *Studies in Conflict & Terrorism*, November 26, 2018. URL: https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/1057610X.2018.1532175

About the Compiler: Berto Jongman is Assistant Editor of 'Perspectives on Terrorism'. He is a former senior Military Intelligence Analyst and currently serves as International Consultant on CBRN issues. A sociologist by training, he also worked for civilian Swedish and Dutch research institutes. Drs. Jongman was the recipient of the Golden Candle Award for his World Conflict & Human Rights Maps, published by PIOOM. He is editor of the volume 'Contemporary Genocides' (1996) and has also contributed to various editions of 'Political Terrorism', the award-winning handbook of terrorism research, edited by Alex P. Schmid.

Conference Monitor/Calendar of Events

(February – May 2019)

Compiled by Reinier Bergema

The Terrorism Research Initiative (TRI), in its mission to provide a platform for academics and practitioners in the field of terrorism and counter-terrorism, compiles an online calendar, listing recent and upcoming academic and professional conferences, symposia and similar events that are directly or indirectly relevant to the readers of *Perspectives on Terrorism*. The calendar includes academic and (inter-) governmental conferences, professional expert meetings, civil society events and educational programs. The listed events are organised by a wide variety of governmental and non-governmental institutions, including several key (counter) terrorism research centres and institutes.

We encourage readers to contact the journal's Assistant Editor for Conference Monitoring, Reinier Bergema, and provide him with relevant information, preferably in the same format as the items listed below. Reinier Bergema can be reached at <<u>r.bergema@icct.nl</u>> or via Twitter: <u>@reinierbergema</u>.

February 2019

ARTIS Seminar Series on Political Violence: Tamar Mitts, "Countering Violent Extremism and Support for ISIS on Social Media"

John Jay College of Criminal Justice Center on Terrorism

1 February, New York, United States Website: <u>visit</u> | Twitter: <u>@JohnJayCNow</u>

Fighting the Next War: Defense Against Biological Weapons

Blue Ribbon Study Panel on Biodefense 5 February, Washington DC, United States Website: <u>visit</u> | Twitter: <u>@BiodefenseStudy</u>

Special Representative Zalmay Khalilzad on the Prospects for Peace in Afghanistan

United States Institute of Peace (USIP) 8 February, Washington DC, United States

Website: visit | Twitter: @USIP

Speaker Series: Strategic Stability and the Future of International Politics

Center for Security Studies, ETH Zurich 11 February, Zurich, Switzerland Website: visit | Twitter: @CSS Zurich

Book Talk: Women in the Crossfire: Understanding and Ending Honor Killing

National Consortium for the Study of Terrorism and Responses to Terrorism (START)

11 February, College Park, United States Website: visit | Twitter: @START_umd

2019 Roundtable on Artificial Intelligence

Aspen Institute

11 February, Santa Barbara, United States Website: <u>visit</u> | Twitter: <u>@aspeninstitute</u>

NATO COEDAT Course: Defence Against Terrorism

NATO Centre of Excellence Defence Against Terrorism

11-15 February, Ankara, Turkey Website: visit | Twitter: *n/a*

India's Inter-State Water Wars: Causes, Consequences, and Cures

Center for Strategic & International Studies (CSIS)

11 February, Washington DC, United States

Website: visit | Twitter: @csis

Influence Operations in Cyberspace: Linking Prevention, Response and Resilience

Center for Security Studies, ETH Zurich

12 February, Pisa, Italy

Website: visit | Twitter: @CSS Zurich

Panel "PKK Presence in Iraq and Turkey's Struggle Against Terror"

Center for Middle Eastern Studies

12 February, Ankara, Turkey

Website: visit | Twitter: @orsamtr

Afrin: The First Anniversary of the Olive Branch Operation

Center for Middle Eastern Studies

12 February, Ankara, Turkey

Website: visit | Twitter: @orsamtr

Turmoil in the Middle East

Foreign Policy Research Institute (FPRI)

13 February, Philadelphia, United States

Website: visit | Twitter: @fpri

ASPI Women, Peace and Security Masterclass: In Policy and on Operations

Australian Strategic Policy Institute

13 February, Canberra, Australia

Website: visit | Twitter: @ASPI org

No Afghanistan in the Sahel: An Alternative Perspective on Stabilisation

- Commandant Adrian Jacobs

Centre for Conflict, Security and Terrorism (CST)

13 February, Nottingham, United Kingdom

Website: visit | Twitter: @UniofNottingham

Marvel Comics' Civil War: September 11 Attack, Cultural Trauma, and Fiction as Therapy

National Consortium for the Study of Terrorism and Responses to Terrorism (START)

13 February, College Park, United States Website: visit | Twitter: @START_umd

Report Launch: Risk and Resilience: Advancing Food and Nutrition Security in Nigeria

Center for Strategic & International Studies (CSIS)

13 February, Washington DC, United States

Website: visit | Twitter: @csis

Breakfast Briefing - Hezbollah and Terrorist Financing

Royal United Services Institute (RUSI)
13 February, London, United Kingdom
Website: visit | Twitter: @RUSI_org

Dissident Resilience to Repression: The Case of Pinochet's Chile

Stanford Freeman Spogli Institute for International Studies

14 February, Stanford, United States Website: <u>visit</u> | Twitter: <u>@FSIStanford</u>

Building an Effective Approach to Terrorism Prevention

The Heritage Foundation

14 February, Washington DC, United States

Website: visit | Twitter: @heritage

Preventing Radicalisation through Education

European Foundation for Democracy 19 February, Brussels, Belgium

Website: visit | Twitter: @efdbrussels

Israel's National Security Challenges 2019

Stanford Freeman Spogli Institute for International Studies

19 February, Stanford, United States Website: visit | Twitter: @FSIStanford

Iran's Revolution at 40

Chatham House

19 February, London, United Kingdom Website: <u>visit</u> | Twitter: <u>@ChathamHouse</u>

Planetary Security Conference 2019

Planetary Security Initiative

19-20 February, The Hague, The Netherlands

Website: visit | Twitter: @PlanSecu

NATO COEDAT Workshop: Training Needs Analysis (TNA)

NATO Centre of Excellence Defence Against Terrorism

19-20 February, Ankara, Turkey Website: visit | Twitter: *n/a*

Situation in West Asia with Special Focus on Syria, Yemen and Iran

Centre for Land Warfare Studies (CLAWS)

20 February, New Delhi, India

Website: visit | Twitter: @claws india

The Role of the Arab States in Israeli-Palestinian Peacemaking

Chatham House

20 February, London, United Kingdom Website: visit | Twitter: @ChathamHouse

Russian Political War: Moving Beyond The Hybrid

Royal United Services Institute (RUSI)
20 February, London, United Kingdom
Website: visit | Twitter: @RUSI_org

Not Always Stand Divided: Islamists and Secular Rivals in Tunisia

Stanford Freeman Spogli Institute for International Studies

21 February, Stanford, United States Website: <u>visit</u> | Twitter: <u>@FSIStanford</u>

Russian Hybrid War, Ukraine, and US policy

Stanford Freeman Spogli Institute for International Studies

21 February, Stanford, United States Website: <u>visit</u> | Twitter: <u>@FSIStanford</u>

Military Commissions Today

Center on National Security

21 February, New York, United States

Website: visit | Twitter: @CNSFordhamLaw

Weak States: Rebel Governance and War Economies

Chatham House

21 February, London, United Kingdom Website: visit | Twitter: @ChathamHouse

RAN Meeting: Effective Alternative and Counter-Narrative Campaigns

Radicalisation Awareness Network (RAN) C&N

21-22 February, Berlin, Germany Website: <u>visit</u> | Twitter: <u>@RANEurope</u>

RAN Meeting: Make a Change

Radicalisation Awareness Network (RAN) EDU

21-22 February, Dublin, Ireland

Website: <u>visit</u> | Twitter: <u>@RANEurope</u>

Book Talk: Turning to Political Violence: The Emergence of Terrorism

National Consortium for the Study of Terrorism and Responses to Terrorism (START)

26 February, College Park, United States Website: visit | Twitter: @START umd

Professor Stathis Kalyvas (Oxford) - Highlight Speaker Series

Centre for Conflict, Security and Terrorism (CST) 27 February, Nottingham, United Kingdom Website: visit | Twitter: @UniofNottingham

Afghanistan 2019: The Human Dimension

Chatham House

27 February, London, United Kingdom Website: visit | Twitter: @ChathamHouse

March 2019

Building Resilience and Preventing Radicalisation to Violent Extremism

- An Awareness Raising Workshop

AASW National Office

1 March, Toowoomba Qld, Australia Website: <u>visit</u> | Twitter: <u>@AASW</u>

ARTIS Seminar Series on Political Violence: Mary Beth Altier, "Returning to the Fight: An Empirical Analysis of Terrorist Re-engagement and Recidivism"

John Jay College of Criminal Justice Center on Terrorism

1 March, New York, United States

Website: visit | Twitter: @JohnJayCNow

2019 Chemical and Biological Terrorism Defense Conference

Gordon Research Conference

3-8 March, Ventura, United States

Website: visit | Twitter: @GordonConf

RAN Steering Committee

Radicalisation Awareness Network (RAN)

5 March, Brussels, Belgium

Website: visit | Twitter: @RANEurope

Middle East Policy Series: Today's Challenges

Center on National Security

5 March, New York, United States

Website: visit | Twitter: @CNSFordhamLaw

Launch: Counterterrorism Yearbook 2019

Australian Strategic Policy Institute (ASPI)

5 March, Canberra, Australia

Website: visit | Twitter: @ASPI org

Security & Counter Terror Expo

Clarion Events

5-6 March, London, United Kingdom Website: visit | Twitter: @SCTX19

Security and Policing Home Office Event 2019

UK Home Office

5-7 March, Farnborough, United Kingdom

Website: visit | Twitter: n/a

From Counterterrorism to Conventional Threats: The Future of War

Foreign Policy Research Institute (FPRI) 6 March, Haverford, United States

Website: visit | Twitter: @fpri

Resilience Training: How to Involve the Population in Resilience and National Security?

Royal United Services Institute (RUSI) 6 March, London, United Kingdom Website: visit | Twitter: @RUSI_org

Security and Defence 2019: Patterns, Disruptions, and Responses

Chatham House

7 March, London, United Kingdom Website: <u>visit</u> | Twitter: <u>@ChathamHouse</u>

TSAS Workshop

Canadian Network for Research on Terrorism, Security and Society (TSAS)

7 March, Ottawa, Canada

Website: visit | Twitter: @TSASNetwork

Global Conference on Yemen: Dimensions of the Humanitarian Crisis and Prospects of Peace

Center on National Security

7 March, New York, United States

Website: visit | Twitter: @CNSFordhamLaw

A Tale of Two Caliphates

National Consortium for the Study of Terrorism and Responses to Terrorism (START)

7 March, College Park, United States Website: <u>visit</u> | Twitter: <u>@START_umd</u>

RAN Meeting: Role of Sports, Cultural and Other Leisure Activities in P/CVE

Radicalisation Awareness Network (RAN) YF&C

7-8 March, Lisbon, Portugal

Website: <u>visit</u> | Twitter: <u>@RANEurope</u>

Cybersecurity in the Commonwealth: Building the Foundations of an Effective National Cybersecurity Response

Chatham House

8 March, London, United Kingdom Website: <u>visit</u> | Twitter: <u>@ChathamHouse</u>

Extremism

Foreign Policy Research Institute (FPRI) 12 March, Philadelphia, United States

Website: visit | Twitter: @fpri

International Conference, "Radicalization of Youth: Causes and Prevention"

SALTO Youth

12-14 March, Bratislava, Slovakia

Website: visit | Twitter: n/a

Punishing Atrocities through a Fair Trial:

International Criminal Law from Nuremberg to the Age of Global Terrorism

Center on National Security

13 March, New York, United States

Website: visit | Twitter: @CNSFordhamLaw

RAN: How Are We Doing?

Radicalisation Awareness Network (RAN) LOCAL

13-14 March, Vienna, Austria

Website: visit | Twitter: @RANEurope

RAN: Neuropsychiatric Disorders

Radicalisation Awareness Network (RAN) H&SC

13-14 March, Turin, Italy

Website: visit | Twitter: @RANEurope

The Future of Syria: Towards Inclusive Peacebuilding

Chatham House

15 March, London, United Kingdom Website: <u>visit</u> | Twitter: <u>@ChathamHouse</u>

NATO COEDAT Course: Terrorist Use of Cyberspace

NATO Centre of Excellence Defence Against Terrorism

18-22 March, Ankara, Turkey Website: visit | Twitter: n/a

2019 Threat Conference

The Cipher Brief

24-26 March, Sea Island (GA), United States

Website: visit | Twitter: @thecipherbrief

RAN YOUNG Academy Kick-off session

Radicalisation Awareness Network (RAN) YF&C

25-27 March, Amsterdam, The Netherlands

Website: visit | Twitter: @RANEurope

20th Asian Security Conference

Institute for Defence Studies and Analysis

26-28 March, New Delhi, India

Website: visit | Twitter: @IDSAIndia

ISA 2019 Annual Convention

International Studies Association 27 March, Toronto, Canada Website: visit | Twitter: @isanet

ARTIS Seminar Series on Political Violence:

Edmund Fitton-Brown, "The Evolving Threat from ISIL and Al-Qaida"

John Jay College of Criminal Justice Center on Terrorism 29 March, New York, United States
Website: visit | Twitter: @JohnJayCNow

April 2019

Terrorism Conference: Active Shooter and Terrorism Readiness

*Public Agency Training Council*3-5 April, Las Vegas, United StatesWebsite: visit | Twitter: @PATCupdates

Paul Wilkinson Memorial Lecture: Tore Bjørgo

The Handa Centre for the Study of Terrorism and Political Violence 4 April, St. Andrews, United Kingdom Website: visit | Twitter: @CSTPV

UMD Executive Cyber Summit

National Consortium for the Study of Terrorism and Responses to Terrorism (START)

4 April, College Park, United States Website: <u>visit</u> | Twitter: <u>@START_umd</u>

RAN Meeting: Current and Future Most Used and Most Watched

Narratives and Strategies of Far Right Extremists and Islamist Extremists

Radicalisation Awareness Network (RAN) POL & C&N

4-5 April, Stockholm, Sweden

Website: <u>visit</u> | Twitter: <u>@RANEurope</u>

VIII. International Conference on Conflict, Terrorism and Society

Kadir Has University 8-10 April, Istanbul, Turkey

Website: visit | Twitter: @icctsmedia

Breakfast Briefing - Whatever Happened to Al Qaida?

Royal United Services Institute (RUSI) 10 April, London, United Kingdom Website: visit | Twitter: @RUSI_org

RAN Meeting: Evaluation of the Impact of Victims of Terrorism Testimonials

Radicalisation Awareness Network (RAN) RVT

10-11 April, Turin, Italy

Website: visit | Twitter: @RANEurope

IAFIE Europe 2019

"Mihai Viteazul" National Intelligence Academy (MVNIA)

14-17 April, Bucharest, Romania Website: visit | Twitter: @sri_official

NATO COEDAT Course: Defence Against Suicide Attack

NATO Centre of Excellence Defence Against Terrorism

15-19 April, Ankara, Turkey Website: visit | Twitter: n/a

RAN Meeting: Children Growing Up in an Extremist Family

Radicalisation Awareness Network (RAN) YF&C

24-25 April, Rome, Italy

Website: visit | Twitter: @RANEurope

RAN Meeting: Grooming for Terror - Manipulation and Control

Radicalisation Awareness Network (RAN) H&SC

24-25 April, Bucharest, Romania Website: <u>visit</u> | Twitter: <u>@RANEurope</u>

RAN Kick-off Meeting Prosecutors

Radicalisation Awareness Network (RAN)

25-26 April, Paris, France

Website: visit | Twitter: @RANEurope

Conferences on the Law of Armed Conflict

Israeli Defense Forces

25-27 April, Tel Aviv, Israel Website: visit | Twitter: @IDF

Future of Islamic World in the Horizon of 2035

The Institute for Islamic World Futures Studies

28-29 April, Tehran, Iran Website: visit | Twitter: n/a

Future of War Conference 2019

Arizona State University Center on the Future of War

29 April, Washington DC, United States Website: visit | Twitter: @Future of War

May 2019

III. International Conference on Terrorism and Political Violence

Eastern Mediterranean Academic Research Center (DAKAM)

3 May, Istanbul, Turkey

Website: visit | Twitter: @dakamtr

ARTIS Seminar Series on Political Violence: Michele Gelfand

John Jay College of Criminal Justice Center on Terrorism

3 May, New York, United States

Website: visit | Twitter: @JohnJayCNow

RAN Young Academy session 2 - Challenges & progress

Radicalisation Awareness Network (RAN) YOUNG

7-8 May, Bordeaux, France

Website: visit | Twitter: @RANEurope

RAN Meeting: Police Role in the Reintegration and Risk Management of Released Violent Extremist Offenders and Returnee Fighters Coming Home

Radicalisation Awareness Network (RAN) POL

8-9 May, to be confirmed

Website: visit | Twitter: @RANEurope

Century of the Radical Right: CARR Inaugural Conference CfP

Centre for Analysis of the Radical Right 15-17 May, London, United Kingdom Website: visit | Twitter: @C4ARR

NATO COEDAT Course: Critical Infrastructure Protection from Terrorist Attacks

NATO Centre of Excellence Defence Against Terrorism

20-24 May, Ankara, Turkey Website: visit | Twitter: n/a

24th German Congress on Crime Prevention

Deutscher Praeventionstag 20-21 May, Berlin, Germany

Website: visit | Twitter: @ praeventionstag

RAN Multi-Agency Meeting: Taking Mental Health Issues Into Account in CVE and PVE

Radicalisation Awareness Network (RAN) LOCAL-H&SC

28 May, Paris, France

Website: visit | Twitter: @RANEurope

RAN Policy & Practice Event Correlation Between Violent Extremism and Mental Health Disorders

Radicalisation Awareness Network (RAN)

29 May, Paris, France

Website: visit | Twitter: @RANEurope

NATO COEDAT Conference: Annual Counterterrorism Discipline

NATO Centre of Excellence Defence Against Terrorism

29-30 May, Ankara, Turkey Website: visit | Twitter: n/a

Acknowledgment

Special thanks to Berto Jongman, Alex Schmid, Lorand Bodo, Agnes Venema, and Amarnath Amarasingam for their contributions to this Conference Calendar.

About The Compiler: Reinier Bergema is a Research Fellow and Project Manager at the International Centre for Counter-Terrorism – The Hague (ICCT) and an Assistant Editor of Perspectives on Terrorism. His research interests include, inter alia, radicalisation and Dutch (jihadist) foreign fighters.

Award for Best Ph.D. Thesis Submitted and Defended in 2018 - 31 March 2019 Deadline for Submissions Approaching Fast

The Terrorism Research Initiative (TRI) seeks to enhance the quality of research in the field of Terrorism Studies. For this purpose, TRI established in 2014 an Annual Award for the Best Doctoral Dissertation on Terrorism and Counter-Terrorism. Among the incoming submissions of Ph.D. theses, the TRI Award jury identifies three finalists and from these the winner.

With the present announcement, a call is being made for sending to the jury Ph.D. theses submitted or defended at an academic institution in the calendar year 2018. Doctoral theses in the field of terrorism- and counterterrorism studies can be submitted either by the author or by the academic supervisor. Theses should be sent in electronic form as a Word document to the chairman of the jury at < apschmid@terrorismanalysts.com >, together with a cover letter (1-3 pp.), highlighting the merits of the submitted Ph.D. thesis. Submissions must be in English (or translated into English).

The deadline for entries is **31 March, 2019**. The TRI Award jury - consisting of Prof. Edwin Bakker, Prof. Clark McCauley, Prof. James Forest and Prof. em. Alex P. Schmid - will evaluate and compare the submissions, based on criteria such as originality in terms of introducing new data, theory or methodology, novelty and uniqueness of findings as well as degree of in-depth research.

The chairman of the jury will inform the three finalists identified by the jury's evaluation process before the end of July 2019. The winner among them will be announced during the summer of 2019 and can expect an Award of US \$1,000.-, plus a certificate of achievement, signed by the President of the Terrorism Research Initiative, Robert Wesley, acknowledging the granting of the TRI Thesis Award. The other two finalists will receive a certificate of achievement. For all three finalist theses, TRI will assist the authors in finding a publisher for their theses. The winner of the 2018 TRI ThesisAward will also be invited to submit an article for publication in *Perspectives on Terrorism*, summarising the winning thesis' main findings.

ISSN 2334-3745 271 February 2019

Words of Appreciation from the Editors

Perspectives on Terrorism is entirely the product of volunteers — academics, professionals and practitioners who for twelve consecutive years have been giving their time and providing their expertise to keep this free and independent scholarly online journal alive and increasing in circulation to over 8,200 subscriptions today. While the main burden of producing six issues per year rests on the shoulders of the Editorial Team and those of the Editorial Board members who do most of the reviewing, there are many others who assist us in producing timely Articles and Research Notes six times a year. The more than a dozen members of the Editorial Team and the twenty Editorial Board members alone would not be able to handle and review the growing number of submissions that reach us now on an almost daily basis. We could not function without the selfless help of our esteemed external reviewers who read and critique the articles submitted to us.

Once a year we wish to thank these anonymous reviewers publicly by listing their names. For reviewing article submitted to *Perspectives on Terrorism* in 2018, we sincerely thank the individuals listed here:

Max Abrahms, Amarnath Amarasingam, J.M. Berger, Noemie Bouhana, Frank Bovenkerk, Neil Bowie, Kurt Braddock, Clairissa Breen, Sarah Carthy, Christina Cliff, Maura Conway, Luis de la Corte, Cori Dauber, Danny W. Davis, Sarah De Silva Dissanayake, Bert-Jan Doosje, Benjamin Ducol, Deen Freelon, Boaz Ganor, Rohan Gunaratna, Phil Gurski, William Hansen, Malkanthi Hettiarachchim, Aaron M. Hoffman, Lee Jarvis, Danielle Jefferis, Daniel Koehler, Tommi Kotonen, Genevieve Lennon, Russell Lundberg, Stuart MacDonald, Leena Malkki, David Mallet, Barak Mendelson, Erin Miller, Cerwyn Moore, Feyyaz Muhammad, Brigitte Nacos, Petter Nesser, Brian Nussbaum, Christophe Paulussen, Arie Perliger, Marc-Antoine Pérouse de Montclos, Muhammad Rahim, Fernando Reinares, Mir Sadat, Ekaterina Stepanova, Peter Talas, Ian David Turner, Teun van Dongen, Carlos Vazquez, Roger Warren, Doug Weeks, Daan Weggemans, Gabriel Weimann, James Wirtz, and Graeme Wood.

THANK YOU, Peer Reviewers for Perspectives on Terrorism (2018)!

We also wish to thank our not so anonymous regular members of the Editorial Board: Shazad Ali, Joost Augusteijn, Jeff Bale, Michael Boyle, Jarret Brachman, Richard Chasdi, James 'Chip' Ellis, Leah Farall, Paul Gill, Jennifer Giroux, M.J. Gohel, Beatrice de Graaf, Thomas Hegghammer, Bradley McAllister, John Morrison, Assaf Moghadam, Sam Mullins, Brian Phillips, Thomas Riegler, Simon Shen, and Anne Speckhard. These members of the Editorial Board were approached most often and asked again and again to give us their professional assessment on the quality of submissions reaching our journal. And of course, our team of Associate Editors also served as peer reviewers many times throughout the year: Tore Bjørgo, Gregory Miller, John Morrison, Bart Schuurman, Rashmi Singh, and Aaron Y. Zelin.

Altogether, many authors submitting manuscripts have benefitted from the reviews and constructive criticism provided by everyone listed above. Again, many thanks to all!

Alex Schmid and James Forest

About Perspectives on Terrorism

Perspectives on Terrorism (PoT) is a joint publication of the Terrorism Research Initiative (TRI), headquartered in Vienna, Austria, and the Institute of Security and Global Affairs (ISGA) of Leiden University, Campus The Hague. PoT is published six times per year as a free, independent, scholarly peer-reviewed online journal available at https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/perspectives-on-terrorism.

PoT seeks to provide a platform for established scholars as well as academics and professionals entering the interdisciplinary fields of Terrorism-, Political Violence- and Conflict Studies.

The editors invite researchers and readers to:

- present their perspectives on the prevention of, and response to, terrorism and related forms of violent conflict;
- submit to the journal accounts of evidence-based, empirical scientific research and analyses;
- use the journal as a forum for debate and commentary on issues related to the above.

Perspectives on Terrorism has sometimes been characterised as 'nontraditional' in that it dispenses with some of the rigidities associated with commercial print journals. Topical articles can be published at short notice and reach, through the Internet, a much larger audience than subscription-fee based paper journals. Our on-line journal also offers contributors a higher degree of flexibility in terms of content, style and length of articles – but without compromising professional scholarly standards.

The journal's Research Notes, Special Correspondence, Op-Eds and other content are reviewed by members of the Editorial Team, while its Articles are peer-reviewed by outside academic experts and professionals. While aiming to be policy-relevant, PT does not support any partisan policies regarding (counter-) terrorism and waging conflicts. Impartiality, objectivity and accuracy are guiding principles that we require contributors to adhere to. They are responsible for the content of their contributions and retain the copyright of their publication.

The Editorial Team of Perspectives on Terrorism consists of:

Prof. em. Alex P. Schmid, Editor-in-Chief

Prof. James J.F. Forest, Co-Editor

M.Sc. Christine Boelema Robertus, Associate Editor for IT

Prof. Gregory Miller, Associate Editor

Dr. Rashmi Singh, Associate Editor

Dr. Tore Bjørgo, Associate Editor

Dr. John Morrison, Associate Editor

Dr. Bart Schuurman, Associate Editor

Dr. Aaron Y. Zelin, Associate Editor

Dr. Joshua Sinai, Books Reviews Editor

Dr. Judith Tinnes, Information Resources Editor

Drs. Berto Jongman, Assistant Editor

Mrs. Jodi Moore, Editorial Assistant

Dr. Ryan Scrivens, Associate Editor for Theses

Mr. Reinier Bergema, Assistant Editor for Conference Monitoring